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PREFACE.

It was the original purpose of the editors and publishers of this Cyclopcedia to con-

fine themselves to biographical history, which was all that had hitherto been attempted

in works of this class but finding that the only history of Delaware was that com-

menced by Mr. Vincent, which brought the record no further than 1665
,
and being

urged by many leading citizens to include a full history of the State' in this volume,

we have, at great expense of money, time and labor, complied with this general desire.

The scope of the work has thus been greatly enlarged, and its value proportionately

enhanced. The chronological department, which is very full, und we believe accurate

,

covers the entire period from the discovery of Delaware bay by Hudson to the beginning

of the present century. The ecclesiastical history of the State is all that can be de-

sired. These with the topical and biographical portions, furnish, a very complete record

to the present time. History, if properly written, requires the expenditure of time in

the comparing and weighing of various statements to arrive at the truth ; but biogra-

phy, the foundation 'of all history, is yet more difficult. Inaccurate and imperfect

records meet the writer at every step in regard to those who are gone; while contem-

porary biography has, from the prejudice or indifference of many, peculiar impediments

to overcome. •

A great task was assumed in the preparation of such a work, but we have striven

honestly tv perform it satisfactorily. That it has required more time than the pub-

lishers anticipated is explained by these statements, and by the further important fact

that much time was required for the execution, expressly for this work, of the nearly

one hundred and forty steel plate engravings with which we have enriched these pages.

The history of cities and towns, except that of the county seats, has been omitted,

partly for want of room and partly from the fact that it is already published in Ferris'

Peninsular Directory.
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PREFACE.

The large and pleasant type used in this work, which will be appreciated and en-

joyed by readers of all ages, is unusual by reason of the increased expense attend-

ing it, and the greater space required. And although the volume has attained such

large proportions, the great amount of material gathered has made it necessary to

condense all our matter, and to weed out superfluous words and expressions, we have,

notwithstanding, carefully preserved every fact and important idea. A few biograph-

ical sketches of unusual length, on account of their historic value, have been admitted,

and some of them put in smaller type.

9

To those who have kindly aided us by their valuable historic contributions, we de-

sire to make our grateful acknowledgments
, and we recall, with special pleasure, the

generous hospitality and uniform kindness extended to us by the people in all parts of

the
Cl
iie when gathering our material.

We do not claim to have laid before the public a perfect work, but that it is the
>

best and most comprehensive of Us kind yet undertaken for any State we confidently

believe.

j. m. McCarter
,

B. F~ JACKSON.

December, 1882.
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HISTORY OF DELAWARE

CHAPTER I.

Date of the beginning of History of Delaware—Hudson— What we know of him—Names of

Delaivare ivaters—By whom named-—For whom—Sir Thomas West, 3d Lord Delaware—His

character—Death—Interesting letter of British

Retrospective.

N the twenty-eighth day of August,
j

in the year of our Lord Sixteen hundred

an d Nine, we begin the History of Dela-

I^TJ
9

ware. On that day the Half Moon or

^ Crescent, a vessel of eighty tons burthen !

commanded by Captain Henry Hudson, passed
j

the Capes and entered our waters. This !

is the first discovery of our Bay of which

we have an authentic record. What is now

known as the Delaware Bay and River, was
j

then known, to the aborigines, as Mariskitten,

Pontaxat, or Chickahockee. Hudson was a

bold and skillful Navigator, and was by birth

and rearing, an Englishman, but at this time in

the service of Holland. Our first knowledge

of him is as a Captain in the employ of an

English Company, known as the Muscovy

Company. His earliest command was as mas-

ter of the ship Hopewell, in which he sailed to

discover a route to -China by way of Spitzen-

bergen and the North Pole This was in the

year 1607. In 1608 a second voyage was under-

taken for the same company, which resulted in

making known a portion of Nova Zembla. In

1609 he entered the service of the Dutch East

India Company and made the discovery of

what is now known as the Delaware Bay. Six

days after leaving the Delaware, having re-

mained in the Bay for a day and a night, he

passed within Sandy Hook, and anchored in

the mouth of the river which bears his name.

Under English auspices he, in 1610, again

started to find a Northwest passage, and after

exhausting ten months' provision, was found

Minister at Washington, of June Jth, 1882—

with a starving and mutinous crew, at latitude

sixty degrees on the western coast of the Bay
that now bears his name

;
and “ after he had

divided, with tears, his last bread with his men,”

they thrust him into a frail boat with his boy,

John Hudson, and father and son were heard

of no more. It was on the occasion of his

third attempt to find a westward passage to

the East Indies, that our Bay was ‘discovered

and entered by this persevering and noble

sailor and discoverer. This way to the East

had been the dream of European Navigators

from the time of Christopher Columbus. And
if their direct object was unattained, and their

search was unsuccessful in finding, through

western seas, a highway" to a point in the East-

ern Hemisphere, they" sailed “better than they"

knew,” since their grand and heroic achiev-

ments led, in the Providence of God,' to a New
World and another Hemisphere. Theirs was

an era in history now passed away, because its

possibilities have ceased, and maritime discov-

ery has pushed its adventurous conquests over

almost every latitude of the seas. Yet the

spirit of this vanishing age of maritime dis-

covery still lives, and over the frozen regions

bounding the North Pole, its heroes and its vic-

tims still continue to find their honored and

their icy shrouds. It will pass away
;
yet even

then its heroes and martyrs, like Hudson, will

live ! Rivers and bays, islands, coasts and con-

tinents, will ring and reverberate with the

names of men who, as discoverers, deserve a

place in the history of civilization to which
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10 History of Delaware.

even heroes of the battle-field may not

aspire.

The Half Moon was the honored vesscd of

which Robert Jewett was the mate, and John

Coleman was an able seamen, whose name
alone, of all her crew, is preserved. Accord-

ing to Judge Houston, (Papers of Historical

Society of Delaware No. 2,) Hudson had aimed

to reach Jamestown, Va., for provisions, but fail-

ing of the Chesepioock as the Chesapeake was

then called, he, fortunately, kept close to the

coast, until he found the Delaware. The shores

were in their full-leaved summer beauty, and

noon day brightness, when he approached the

offing. He first reached a point on the north,

that must have been Cape Henlopen, whence

Cape May was visible,and proceeding,he gained

asight of long beaches, and dry sand. He came
up so far as to perceive a strong current set-

ting outward, from which his experienced eye

determined, that a large river, flowed into the

Bay. He found his ship beset with breakers,
n ^ ^ ^ o o rroi* nf i r ^ r turn r>,f rtinninrr nnnnttllu 111 ^ j ^ 4 4 4 » ~ 4 4 44
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shoals, from which, it was concluded, this was

not the highway to the East Indies, and being,

also, probably in want of provisions, the ves-

sel was put about, working towards the South-

eastward and then to the north, in which direc-

tion, Hudson was rewarded, six days later, by

encountering the famous Isle of Manhattan

and the Hudson River; thus making “New
York the younger sister of our Delaware as

Vincent quotes, page 96, from Jno. Meredith

Read’s Lecture, of Oct. 13, 1864.

Before leaving Delaware Bay, our mate,

Roberts, enters upon his log, from which, most

of the above is taken, the wise caution, “he

that would thoroughly explore this great bay,

must have a pinnace, that will draw but 4 or

5 feet water, to sound before him.” We think

he did not get into the channels.

It seems that Sir Samuel Argali next, after

Hudson, and who was, at one time, Governor

of Virginia, in 1610 gave Delaware Bay a call,

and, perhaps, in return for the halibut, cod and

ling fish, which he says, he there caught, gave

a worthy name to the bay, calling it after Lord

De La Ware, the Governor of Virginia
;
and

soon after, Lord De La Ware himself, 16 1 1, vis-

ited the spot, staying but a day or two, with-

out coming inside, when on a voyage to the

West Indies, which was continued, probably,

to England, for his health.

This Lordly English name, all prefer, to the

Indian names already given
;
or the Zuydt or

South river, or Godyn’s bay, or any of the nu-

merous other titles, by which it has been known
in history as given by the two other European

Nationalities who, subsequently, with various

fortune sought and settled its shores.

As to Delaware, if any honor is reflected

from the name, we may congratulate ourselves

on the memory of Sir Thomas West, Earl

De La Ware, a nobleman, distinguished, alike,

for his virtues and rank
;
who administered the

government of Virginia, to which he was ap-

pointed for life, with mildness and decision
;

and whilst at his post, gave himself unremit-

tingly to the duties of his office. But his

health soon failed under the cares of his situ-

ation and the unfriendliness of the climate,

when he was obliged to return to England.

There, ever alive to his responsibilities, he

watched over and advocated the interests of

the colony, and, in 1617, after an absence of

cpyan years, emtarted to return to bi 45 gov-

ernment, which, in the meantime, had been ad-

ministered by Deputies. However, he either

did not live to reach America, or was obliged,

straightway, to return
;
for to give an instance

ofcontradictory authority, whilst all the writers

on Virginia record that he died at sea, and

was probably buried at sea, Walpole’s Royal

and Noble Authors, as enlarged by Tho. Park,

and quoted by Bancroft, Vol, I, tells of his

dying at Wherwell, Hants, in England, June

7, 1618.

That the truth might be ascertained touch-

ing this historical question, the editors of the

Aldine Publishing and Engraving Company
addressed a letter to his Excellency, the Brit-

ish Minister at Washington, who is a distin-

guished member of the West family, and ask-

ing such information as might be in his posses-

sion. They promptly received, through his

courtesy, the following reply in his own hand-

writing.,

Washington, June 7th, 1882.

To Aldine Publishing and Engraving Co.

GENTLEMEN :—In reply to your letter of the

6th inst., respecting my ancestor, the 3rd Lord

De La Ware, (Thomas West,) I beg to say that

there is no record in the family archives of the

exact date of his death, or the place where he

died. He left England for the second time in

the year 1618, to resume the administration of

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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the Colony, and we suppose, died on the pas-

sage out. We have no record of his having

died or being buried in England. My brother,

the present Earl De La Ware, has carefully

searched, but in vain for some precise informa-

tion on this subject.

I remain, gentlemen,

Yours faithfully,

L. S. Sackville West.
It is recorded by Bancroft, volume 1st, that

“his affection for Virginia ceased only with

his life,” and he may be set before us, a man
and a ruler deserving the applause of man-
kind.

Having thus found a perpetuated name for

the bay which has extended itself to the river,

as well as to the territory now known as the

State of Delaware, it becomes a matter of his-

toric interest to enquire after the man who
lifted the curtain and permitted the eyes of

civilized men to explore the interior of our

land and waters. For this part of our narra-

tive we have sure data, ifnot full details, mak-
ing a story not without a touch of almost

romantic interest.

Yet, before we proceed, it migh.t be well, after

thus introducing the certainties which belong

to the domain of history properly considered,

to glance backward over the realm of mingled
incident and tradition, of sunshine and shadow,
in which were actors and verities, as patent to

our minds as though their record assumed the

tangible and enduring forms which we embalm
and dignify with the name and authority of

History.

CHAPTER II.

Scenes in New World—On the Delaware Bay
and River—Contrasted with old World— Un-
certainty as to Actors and dates— Whence
arises our want of Knowledge—Looking
Backward from Stand Point of History—
Columbus—John and Sebastian Cabot— West
India Company s Servants—Hendrickson—Am-
sterdam and Republic of Holland—Origin of
the United Company of—Fleet sent to America—
Building of the Restless—Her Advent into
Delaware Waters—Redeeming Captives—Early
Records of Ventures Lost.

J.0 the early Navigators and Discoverers,

t'V^coming from the Old World, the whole
rj^/Western Continent, with its grand

(Vp clusters of Islands, must have presented
a fair and gorgeous picture

;
and such is

[

their universal testimony. Of our portion of

j

the continent, this is peculiarly true. No
;

small part of such admiration was due to the

Natural Scenery, as they entered the broad

Bay, sailed up the noble River, explored the

various Creeks and Harbors, and on the Dela-

ware side, viewed the firm banks, the elevated

uplands, the natural lawns and savannahs,

with the interminable forest-trees of every

kind and height. These if first viewed in the

spring, bursting in fresh buds and leaves, hav-

ing the ground enameled with flowers in vari-

ous shapes and colors
;
if at fall, painted with

all those various colors of brightest and liveli-

est hues, which make our Autumn the delight

of our eyes, and the wonder of those, who visit

the Western World from other shores.

Those sailing westward in the ancient

times,, whose eyes last saw the low watery
land of Holland, or last left the foggy, half-

sunless isles of Great Britain, or put out from

the rough, cold shores of Sweden and Fin-

land, must have hailed the Delaware, as a

Paradise ! And this is the name given to Mis-

pillion Point, by the first Swedish settlers,

who after their long voyage went ashore to

look about the country and refresh them-
selves before they sailed further up the Bay.

Paradise Point stands on Lindstrom’s Map
of New Sweden, made in 1654 and 55 ;

Lewes Creek is styled Flower River, whilst

the brilliant freshness of the verdure and the

density of the stately forests on all the

Coasts, w.ere constant objects of admiration.

Indeed the navigators preceding and suc-

ceeding them, could scarcely find words, ex-

pressive enough, in speaking of the woods,

the waters and the mountains.

To give the names of those Europeans who
earliest visited and explored what we now
know as Delaware Bay and River, to tell the

order of their coming and settle the value of

their claims, with any degree approaching

certainty would be an impossible thing. Our
information on these points is scanty and

diverse, and therefore uncertain, and what
little is on record, is laid up in various books,

annals, and archives, in widely separated

places, in the New World and the Old
;
and

written in different languages, which remain

untranslated.

For these reasons it is evident that our

earliest knowledge must be imperfect. We
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meet with suggestions here and there, like

footprints in the sand, that are unaccom-
panied with body and record to fill up the

details, and constitute History.

It is said by some one, that New York
History is unreliable till it comes to the

records of 1629, and the beginning of our

History of Delaware we have placed very

properly at the period of the discovery of

our Bay, by Henry Hudson.
We are sure that before Columbus had

found out more than a few Islands of the New
World, the Cabots, John and Sabastian, the

father and the more distinguished son, dis-

covered the North American Coast, from

Labrador, as far South as Maryland, probably

as far as Virginia and North Carolina, pos-

sibly, as far as Florida.

From Robbins in his Ancient and Modern
History, and the New American Cyclopedia,

it seems, they landed at various points and
planted the banners of Venice, of which John

England, in behalf of who^e King, Henry VII,

he took possession, and under whose commis-
sion, he navigated. The natives, also, were
discovered, clad in skins of beasts; and making
use of copper ornaments and implements.

There is no reason to suppose, however, that

these navigators came near the Delaware Bay,

or were aware of its existence.

The first recorded sailing into Delaware
waters was done as already stated in the

year 1609, and yet from Vol. V. of Penna
Historical Soc’y, it seems, that both on the

North and South Rivers, as the Hudson and
Delaware were early called, some adventurers

and traders were to be found as early as 1598 ;

not making fixed settlements, but only build-

ing shelters for the winters, and perhaps

erecting small forts for protection. The first

recorded settlement of the Dutch on the

Delaware, dates only in the year 1630, yet we
are quite certain that before the year 1620,

trading ships came from Holland, and in the

year 1621 the famous Dutch West India

Company of Merchants already had agents

on the River, with men and clerks, and a

large stock of goods and trinkets, who were

furnished with little yachts and sloops fois

trading with the natives up the creeks and

along the shores of Delaware waters. In

proof, we have an Amsterdam record of Sep-

tember 13th 1621 which shows that a ship

was allowed to sail to the great River Dela-

ware, and return by the 1st of July following,

to trade away all they could, of the old stock,

and bring back what remained with the

clerks and seamen stationed there. In con

firmation of this we find from London Docu-
ments, that the English Privy Council were
informed, that the Amsterdam Merchants, as

; early as 1617 and 18, were sending vessels of

60 and 80 tons, to trade with the Indians.

Vincent, p. 110, quoting O’Calligan.

In 1614, the States General of Holland

gave to Capt. Mey and others, the privilege

of navigating and trading between the lati-

tudes of 40 and 45 ;
and the West India

Company as soon as it was chartered, issued

|

special licenses to truck and trade on the

;

great River, (Delaware,) between the latitudes
! of 38 and 40.

These slight indications make it evident, as

indeed might be supposed, without any hints,

^ A7syio* 7 T//-> **//-/ uo t li c r~\ r-vn 'inir i’m o n-in nrl

and fabulous reports hanging over it, stirred

up adventurous spirits and moved many an

expedition, large or small, secret or open, to

brave the long seas in order to reach our

shores
;
but who they were, what was their

history at home and fortunes abroad, what

they saw and what news they carried back,

no records that have yet come to hand, give

us any information. New light on this point,

too, comes from an exploration of the Dela-

ware in 1615, hereafter to be noticed. When
Captain Hendrickson came to the Christiana,

he found three men, in the service of a Holland

Company, in the hands of the Minquas and

Mohican Indians, on the banks of the Chris-

tiana, but who they were and how they came
into such a condition, we are not informed.

' They must have been Europeans, and we may
suppose them to be zealous prospectors, come
out from Manhattan towards the Delaware,

! in search of the gold mountain or diamond

beds, on which adventurous spirits began

early to feed their gloating imaginations.

It is generally stated, by those who have

written of the persons redeemed by Hendrick-

son, that they were natives, but authorities

consulted beyond our State limits have led the

writer of this history to prefer the state-

ment as just given, making them Europeans.

Before reciting the steps taken by Hendrick-
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son as the explorer of our waters, and as

pioneer on our territory, the Historian, con-

scious of the indebtedness of our State to the

States General of Holland, and with a feeling

of almost personal obligation to citizens of

that country, especially the citizens of Am-
sterdam, is tempted to express his obligations,

and pay his tribute of admiration, to the

heroism and worth of that Republic so de-

serving of the praise of mankind. But his

duty at the present is only with the Old

Tradingr Town on the banks of the Amstel.

We see its watery streets, and its brick struc-

tures built on piles in the lower town, with its

multitudinous bridges, docks, and quays, to-

gether with its numerous stores and factories,

all tasting and strongly smelling of raw com-

merce. We mount this flight of stone steps

lifting one in front of the great warehouse.

We enter the dingy office where business is

transacted and where three full dressed Dutch

Merchants sit in Council. On the table at

which they are seated lies a rude map show-

ing a great bay and river, with a strip of

coast, and then another bay and river, mak-

ing the long Island of the Manhattoes. The

South River, (Delaware,) striking oft' to the

Northeast and joining the North (Hudson)

River. See map of 1681.

They ponder the prospects of trade
;
the

balance of gains and losses
;
and, not satisfied

with their already extended trade and inflow-

ing wealth, their commercial ambition uniting

with their greed of gold, they determine to

venture more and go further. Under other

roofs the same process is going on, till at

length, a full exchange is constructed, and out

of various firms and partnerships of practiced

dealers, the United Company of Amsterdam
Merchants is organized for action. A com-

pany whose hand has been felt, and their

voice heard so potentially in the momentous

work of planting our Commercial Institutions !

And justly, may we lament that we cannot

ferret those old pigeon holes, desk covers, and

secret drawers, where consultations, and

plans and lists of ventures, and resolutions

and reports were too safely stowed away,

with no forecasting mind to post and preserve

them, or lay them in archives for our use in

writing of a time gone by forever. Long ago

have they crumbled into dust or turned into

ashes
;

every letter gone into annihilation

that now would be valued as if of golden and

pearly drops.

CHAPTER III.

History Resumed—Edict of the State General

—Sailing of the Fleet to America—Burning of

the Fortune—Building of the “ Restless ”

—

Capt.

Mey, and the Capes.—Hendrickson s Explora-

tio?is—Map of Hendrickson—His Trade with

Indians—Return to Holland.

LT we again find the domain of history
;

L-wfk’ we know that in the year 1614, March
H'i> 27th, an edict of the States General

was passed in favor of all persons who
should enter upon maritime discovery, who
were required, in fourteen days after their re-

turn, to deliver to the state “a pertinent re-

port of their discoveries.”

This movement was made in.response to the

petitions of the merchants; and the Union,

taking advantage of the decree, straightway

dispatched five vessels to the New World.

The names of these vessels are found in Hol-

land documents. There was the “Tiger,”

commanded by Captain Hendrick Cortienson;

the “Little Fox”, Capt. DeWith; the

“Nightingale”, Captain Volkersten
;

the

“Fortune”, Capt. Adrien Block, the discov-

erer of Blocklsland; andanother vessel called

the “Fortune” also, commanded by Capt. Cor-

nelius Jacobson Mey, which is supposed to

have belonged to several merchants of Hoorne,

a commercial town of North Holland, on the

Zuyder Zee. The fleet, after a very quick pas-

age, arrived safely at Manhattan; but whilst

thus favored by the winds and the waves,

one of these ships, the Fortune, commanded
by Captain Block, met an enemy in the shape

of fire, and was unfortunately burned at her

moorings, but whether at Manhattan or at

Block Island, does not, certainly, appear. It

is likely this calamity happened at the latter

place, when separated from the rest of the

vessels. They were obliged to build a new
craft, and as timber was plenty in those days,

with the help of what was saved from the

conflagrated ship, this was no great task. The
new vessel they called a yacht, and gave her

the name of the “Onrest,” or the “Restless;”

which, considering the element on which she

was to live, and the errands she was to make,
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was appropriate. This, Vincent says, in his

History of the State o( Delaware, voi. I p.ioi,

was the first vessel built in this country, by

Europeans. He means within the limits of

what became the United States, for it is cer-

tain, from Bancroft, vol. i p. 140, that Sir

Thomas Gates, when wrecked in 1610, on his

way to Virginia, built two vessels of cedar

wood, at the Bermudas, in which the commis-

sioner and colonists reached their destination.

The Spaniards, also, built ships in the new
world. The little Restless may be regarded

as the first child of America, and her memory
deserves to be cherished in Delaware waters

for the story of her adventures.

She may well be called little
,
for, strangely,

whilst so many important particulars of those

early days have been unrecorded, or the re-

cords lost, we are told the precise dimensions
^

of this vessel, as being 38 feet keel, 44.J feet

long, 1 1 feet wide, making 16 tons burthen, or :

by Dutch measure, 8 lusts
;
as diminutive as

one of our smallest class oyster shallops.

In a short time three of the fleet sailed from

Manhattan to the eastward, on new explora-

tions, and Capt Block, probably, went with

them; whilst the Fortune, Capt. Mey, and

most certainly the Restless commanded by

Captain Cornelius Hendrickson, sailed south-

ward. From the various sources that have

been intimated, there must have been some
rumors of a great Bay and River in that direc-

tion, of which these two vessels are now in pur-

suit. They sailed down the Barnegat coast in

safety and, fortunately, turned into Delaware

Bay. From Capt. Mey, it is said, both our capes

were named; Cape May still adorning the

southern point of New Jersey, Cape Cornelius

being at first given to the Delaware Cape,

which is now called Henlopen.

Other authorities relieve Capt. Mey from

the immodesty of imposing his name on both

the States, declaring that he himself origin-

ated the term Hen or Hindlopen, after a town

of the same name in Friesland, Holland : see

note p. 23, vol. XI, Hist. Soc. Penn'a.

It seems, that after Capt. Mey had located

the Delaware, as far as these additional names
would give us a local habitation

;
without

breaking through the shallow
,
shoaly entrance,

he sailed back to Holland, leaving the Rest-

less to make a minute examination, by explor-

ing the bay and river.

Now, who was this bold man, Capt. Hen-
drickson, that, with so slight a force would

adventure among savages, whose dispositions

were, yet, so little known, and into solitary-

tracts of water, and solemn forests, entirely

unexplored ? We are not certain whether he

was a Swede or Hollander. On the one side,

the name of Hendrickson, as Swedish
,
is found

in a list sent from this country to Sweden
in the year 1693. A gentleman of this name,
living in Wilmington, Delaware, may be re-

membered by some now living, whom all un-

derstood to be of Swedish descent. He was
tall and large framed, but not corpulent; of

large, grave, dignified, pale face, and looked

upon as a true type of that respected race.

But, on the other side, it is found that both
Dutch and Swedish children, at Christiana,

afterward Wilmington, grew up together,

speaking the Swedish language, and were all

called Swedes; and, also, Capt. Cornelius Hen-
drickson is said, in Holland documents, to be-

long to Monnikendam in New Holland, on the

Zuyder Zee, 8 miles northeast of Amsterdam,
and he is found in the service of Holland.

In our uncertainty on this point, and in the

absence of any trace of the Captain’s real per-

son, let us take this noble looking Hendrickson
of later years, and in the person of a vounger
man, place him on board the Restless as com-
mander, and accompany this first known
adventurer as he sails, and lands, and explores

our shores.

It must first be said, that he was a more
distinguished navigator than the exploration

of the Delaware alone, would warrant us to

believe. The small craft, too, could have had
but little leisure, under his active management,
for he not only tells in his report of the land

: adjacent to a bay and three rivers, between 38
and 40 degrees of latitude, but he furnishes a

very curious map (now at Albany New York)
on parchment, two feet by eighteen inches,

done “in an elegant style of art”, showing
with accuracy, the coasts from Nova Scotia to

the Virginia capes. This surveying may have
been done after his Delaware work, when, on
his return home, he may have taken the

present northern route, rather than the long

southern voyage by the West Indies, which
was generally used at that day. The bay and
three rivers spoken of were undoubtedly the

Delaware Bay and River, with the Hoorne-
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kill, the Christiana and the Schuylkill, the 40th

degree carrying him as high as Philadelphia.

Lindstrom’s map shows a multitude of creeks

on both sides of the Delaware, that have now

mostly dried up, but into these a 16 ton vessel

with little freight and a light crew could have

put her bows and looked round, and there is

no doubt but that the Captain’s sharp eye did

take a complete survey of all, at least, on the

Delaware side.

Those familiar with the coast from Cape

HcnJopen northward, will judge what he must

have seen, by making allowance for changes

which the two and a half centuries have made,

fie might have felt himself almost at sea, again,

in his little ship when off Jones Creek, to sur-

vey 30 miles of water, looking eastward. He
must have admired the beautiful cove above

Delaware City, rounding out at New Castle,

the sloping ground covered with a majestic

forest. He found the Christiana much wider

than at present, and whilst exploring her

stream and tributaries, he fell in with the Min-

quas Indians, who belonged to this locality,

and from them he redeemed the three Euro-

pean captives before spoken of. It was a

timely piece of humanity our Captain put forth

when he paid kettles and beads and merchan-

dise for their liberty, thus stamping our shores

with God’s broad seal of brotherhood.

The explorers must have been pleased with

the uplifting of the shores north of the Chris-

tiana. Perhaps they landed at Naaman's Creek
and gave a look through the forest glades.

Tinicum Island must have excited their admi-
ration; then, the Schuylkill opened fairly,

though the Restless must have looked very

sharply to discover an entrance so shrouded
as to give it the name of the Hidden Stream.

Very likely the voyagers went on around that

long point, which gives entrance to Philadel-

phia, and coasted those beautiful banks, then
fringed with pines, “a situation,” Penn said, 67
years later, “not surpassed by one among all

the many places, he had seen in the world.”

In the year 1615 and beginning of 1616,

those discoveries were made
;
for from vol. V,

Penn’a Historical Archives, we learn, that in

August 1616, Hendrickson, supported by the

merchant owners, appeared before the States

General of Holland and gave his written re-

port. What is left recorded is, certainly, but
a meagre summary of that report, but it sup-

15

j

ports the supposition that he made a thorough

!
exploration, landing and walking on our Del-

;

aware soil, and tarrying long enough to give

|

a satisfactory account of what was there. He
! tells how he traded with the Indians for skins

1 of various kinds, sables, furs and robes; he
: marked the kind of trees and declares the

land to be filled with oaks, hickories and pines,

;
having spots abounding in grape vines; the

|

woods are alive with Bucks, Does, Turkeys and

: Partridges, and the climate is very temperate.

We cannot but suppose that the men on

this expedition saw far more than is here re-

|

corded. They doubtless encountered more of

the Americans, as the savages were called,

|

than the Minquas and Mohicans, for twelve

i
different tribes then hunted, fished and fought

on Delaware shores. Vincent : p. 68, and it

is easy to imagine, what stories must have

been carried home about their painted bodies

and feathered heads their looks and language,

j

their wigwams and curious customs, and of the

: many wonders in every department they dis-

cerned. And Delaware readers may congrat-

ulate themselves that this first coming together

of the old and new worlds, was no bloody

ambuscade, but a meeting, conducted in amity

and sealed with an act of good will, that

must have left a wholesome lesson of brother-

ly love on their savage minds.

Before dismissing Capt. Hendrickson who
puts so strong a link into Delaware History,

we will pronounce him a wise, valiant, learned,

persevering, and kind hearted man; lamenting

the want of longer annals, from which-to de-

pict his character and fortune. All has been

i

told except to record that- a dark curtain must

,

be dropped over his subsequent course; for,

asfar as appears, neither he or the merchant-

owners derived any special advantages for

their expenses and toils, in the exploration.

Although their cause was twice pleaded before

1

the Holland Council, the reward was twice

deferred, and if any bright fortune was con-

ferred upon him, it can only arise from our

hope that justice at length prevailed against

the slow moving caution of these old trading

officials.
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CHAPTER IV.

Native Indians— Tribes—Dress—Customs—
Women—Marriage—Ewploymeats—Burials.

EFORE proceeding further it would be

eminently proper to give the render some
knowledge of the people found by Capt.

Plendrickson, as inhabiting the lands

which lie on the Bay, rivers and creeks of which

he speaks in the “ pertinent report ’’made by

him on his return to his fatherland A vast

population of Indians, numbering many tribes,

and thousands of human beings were dwellers

on either side of the Bay and Delaware river,

between Cape May and Gloucester, in New
Jersey, and Cape Henlopen and the mouth of

the Schuylkill, on the Delaware and Pennsyl-

vania side. These are the admitted points,

determining the scope of his memorable survey

and investigation. More than one writer upon

Delaware history has expressed regret that so

few places, whether of headlands or waters in

StT.tC* ^ ^ ° V* mmoc r> f i f V» r r nipff-qn or

1 pie, is that by which the Aborigines of Dela-
ware were known. But this was, in all proba-

bility, a false and inaccurate title in so far as

concerns them if applied to the location in

which Hendrickson found them. Vincent tells

us that tradition, as given jn Thatcher’s Indian

Biography, said “ they came from beyond the

Mississippi and uniting with the Five Nations,

drove off and destroyed the primitive residents

of the country." These Five Nations belonged

to the Iroquois stock which included the

Mohawk, Oneidas, Onondagos, .Cayugas and

Senecas, and their confederation being joined

by the Tuscaroras, from that time were known
as the Six Nations. The Susquehannocks on

the Chesapeake and the Passayontke, the Min-
quas, the Mohicans and the Nanticokes, of

whom mention is frequent in the earlier history

of this State, belonged to this famous family of

the Six Nations whose settlements extended
from the Hudson to the Potomac. The Leni
Lenape was the name designating only a small

subd ivi^Inn of tLplarcrp rnnferiprarv of vvhirhO j

tribe of all those who, as aborigines, hunted in

our forests or fished in our streams. It will be

seen, in the subsequent history of Delaware,

how Kings and Emperors, States General and

Trading Companies and their Proprietors and

Governors, disposed of these people and their

lands, and how, of the Grant to Lord Baltimore

covering our territory, we may say that “a

King, remarkable in history mainly through

the circumstances of his death upon the

scaffold, had granted to a subject what it cost

the monarch nothing to acquire— the homes,

across the sea, of a free and brave people,

whose hospitality and unsuspecting confidence

alone made the grant available
;

and, with

royal magnificence had bounded his gift by 1

parallels of latitude, the courses of mighty

rivers, and the headlands of ocean
;
and the

\

subject, with scale and compasses, apportioned

his territory with his neighbors, settled the

lines of what were to become adjacent sover-

eignties, and thus accelerated the progress of

those events which, at length, extinguished

the council-fires at which his ancestors had

warmed themselves when they were strangers

in the land, and whose last faint blaze was fed

with the unstrung bows and blunted arrows of

the forest princes of the Peninsula.”

The general designation of Leni Lenape

which in our language means t lie original pco-

we have spoken, and while including the

Passayontke, from whom we have Passa-

yur.k creek in the southern part of Philadel-

phia, and who were in the extreme upper

portions of this State
;
the Minquas who were

on the Christina and the Brandywine, and the

Nanticokes, who occupied the southern portion

of the State, yet these branches of the Lenape

|

family were still farther subdivided into various

1 smaller tribes with various names as location

^ or convenience required. Hence, half a century

later when the controversy was going on

between parties in the interest of Maryland, ant!

Dutch and Swedish settlers on the Delaware,

we find the names of many tribes whose histo-

ry is unknown, and even their location in Mary-

land and Delaware, it is impossible for the his-

torian to determine. As many as twelve tribes

were resident “in this State and around New
Castle”,according to Vincent : His. of Del. p.

66. The Passayontke have long since departed

but left a creek and a street in Philadelphia to

perpetuate their name. The Minquas were

blotted out soon after the beginning of the last

century. Christiana usurps their place on our

waters, and the last of the Nanticokes left our

State in 1748. At Laurel, Delaware, “ they

dug up the bones of their principal chiefs and

bore them with them. — “Del. Register,

Huffington.
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The government of the Indians was by chiefs

whom they denominated sachems. Each tribe

had one as its head. They had counsellors,

orators and councils. Everything of import-

ance, as war, peace, and sales of land, was

transacted in the council to which all the

males of the tribe were admitted who had

arrived at years of discretion, or period of early

manhood j
but the aged and the counsellors

and orators had, after the sachem, the pre-emi-

nence. Runners were dispatched to inform

the distant members of the tribe of the fact

and time of meeting. Treaties were concluded,

if of peace, by giving to the party with whom

it was made a lighted pipe of tobacco, which,

when smoked, finally sealed the agreement.

Their dress was of skins for winter, and is

thus described by the celebrated John Smith

of Virginia who, in 1608, the year before

Hudson discovered our bay, and eight years

before Hendrickson’s Restless explored our

waters, met them on the North East, and the

Elk rivers in Cecil County. Md._. at the time

of his explorations on the head waters of the

Chesapeake and when but a few miles from the-

Delaware line. His description of the Indian,

as then in full dress, is quaint and very striking.

We give it it in its original orthoepy. “ Their

attire is the Skinnes of beares and wolves, some

have cossacks made of beares heads and skinnes

that a man’s head goes through the skinnes,

neck and ears of the bear fastened to the

shoulder, the nose and teeth hanging down
his breast, another beares face, split, behind

him, at the end of the nose (the bears we sup-

pose) hung a pawe of the beare, the half sleeves

coming to elbows were the necks of beares,

and the arms through the mouth (of the bear

skins'we suppose) With pawes hanging at their

noses' 4 * * * tobacco pipe, bows, arrows and

clubs “ suitable to their greatness,” and you

have the winter dress of the Indian at the

head of that bay, and we suppose the distance

of a few miles did not alter the fashion in dress

of Nanticoke or Minquas. Their women, ac-

cording to Campanius spun thread and yarn out

of nettles, hemp, and some plants unknown to

the white man. He speaks of a dress worn
by Governor Printz,consisting of coat, breeches

and belt,"made by these barbarians,” which cost

"some thousand pieces of gold,” and we suppose

the summer dress of the Indians, in great part,

was of a stuff prepared by their women.

' The domestic life of these people is sugges-

S ted by the position in which woman was placed

in the social scale. She was the Indian’s only

beast of burden. She reared his children,

raised his corn, cooked his game, and sepanm
,

a kind of hasty pudding made of corn ground

between stones, or beaten in a mortar by her

hands
;
and spun and prepared the material of

his garments, when not made of skins. When
the Indian youth arrived at the age of seven-

teen or eigteen summers or winters, he selected

his wife or wives
;
for polygamy was a custom

among them
;
and she or they were expected

to be in constant attendance upon him when
not on the war path or engaged in the council,

or in the pursuit of game. If guilty of infideli-

ty toward him, she or they were put away,

with blows, and another, or others, taken to

supply the place or places. Some manly feats,

however, in hunting or war was the usual

preliminary, or aboriginaf curriculum passed

though before he could wive very extensively,

or indeed at all
;
and thus graduate to the head

of a wigwam. We live now to smile at the

thought that any manliness enters into the

question at all
;

" love ’’ being the only fitness
;

and proof of manhood in industrial or profess-

ional success before marriage, the modern

novel treats as a " delusion and a snare.” So

that while our laws prohibit polygamy, yet too

often one women is by marriage to a blank

incompetent, conducted to a boarding house,

or to a misfery and degradation below that

ordinarily reached by a squaw in the wigwam
of the red Leni Lenape !

Their dwellings were of tree-branches inter-

laced with bark, or covered with mats made of

the leaves of the maize
;
a pole was set up in

the middle of the tent, with a hole at the

top for letting out the smoke, and at the foot

of the pole was a large, flat stone on which

the fire was built
;
mats were strewed on the

ground on which they sat, and ate, or slept.

When their young women arrived at marriage-

able age, which was early, they indicated by

their head dress that they were maiden candi-

dates awaiting offers. Before marriage they

remained with their mothers, assisting in

the labors of the household in which they

were carefully instructed. When she married,

her altered dress told of the fact, and her

manner of painting her face, also. When a

child was born, it was dressed very simply,



.
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and bound on a board a little longer than

itself, slung to its mother’s back when she

traveled, hung up on the swaying branches

of a tree when she rested, or laid flat

by the mother’s side when she slept. This

treatment was continued until the time of

learning to walk arrived. The food of the

Indian was the game of the forests, and the

fish of the streams, together with bread and

pudding made of corn crushed between two

stones. The bread was made into cakes of

of this meal, and baked, after being wrapped up

in corn leaves, by putting them in the hot

ashes strewed over with live coals. The pud-

ding was made and boiled in the kettle which

was the one cooking utensil of his culinary

department. War, hunting and fishing were

his only occupations. For these pursuits he

was always prepared. Bows, arrows, war clubs

of wood, and hatchets of stone, were always at

hand and were always found on his person.

H is fish were obtained by spearing them,

sometimes with a javelin of reed, oftener

with an arrow shot from the bow, which

rarely failed to transfix the fish seen by

the marksman as it flashed through the deeper

or shallower waters.

In the pursuit of war their keenest suscep-

tibilities were aroused and exerted. They were

cruel in the treatment of their prisoners,

burning them at the stake, or mutilating them

horribly until death came to their relief. Mur-

der, however, was very uncommon among
them

;
and theft and lying were only less

heinous than cowardice. This, with the Leni

Lenape, was the crime of crimes. Among the

Ancients, it is said, “ he who is guilty cf ingrati-

tude can be guilty of but one sin, for that

includes all others;” with him cowardice was

thus regarded
;
and he was approximately

right, since theft and lying are but forms of

cowardice. Hence had grown up among them,

even at that time, the typical manhood express-

ed in calling their warriors braves. They had

fortifications and, sometimes, their villages

were surrounded by palisades
;
yet they did

not possess iron implements of any kind among
the Minquas or Nanticokes, according to all

we can learn of them. Their boats or canoes

were made of bark of the cedar and birch
;

sometimes from a log of cedar and hollowed

out by the action of fire. In religion they

acknowledged a Supreme Being. They wor-

shipped with lamentable cries and strange

contortions, offering sacrifices of meat, fish,

fruits and tobacco. They were believers in a

conscious and immortal future life, and located

their Heaven beyond the setting sun, in the far

distant west. When an Indian died, they put in

or about his grave the most precious articles,

that he might be provided for on his journey,

and when he arrived at its end. The body was

interred in a sitting posture, the grave nearly

round, and there were fixed the memorials

that told of his prowess. Such is an out-line

sketch of the Aborigines, whose wondering

eyes and kindly hospitalities met the Captain

and crew of the Restless as their feet, believed

to be those of the first Europeans, which press-

ed the soil of Delaware as pioneers in recorded

history.

CHAPTER V.

The Hoornekill—Formation of Dutch l Test

India Company—Fort Nassau—Purchase of
T N s] toi/ £7 rtt ->/ 1*r f r cr C /’ D, •

-t-' *- J ^ ' -*—'**' ^ ~ ~ ' -

Vries, Godyn , Blomart and Van Rensselaer,

purchase land in New Jersey— Whale Fishing
—Swanendalc.

HE Dutch settlement on the Hoornekill

^began in 1631.

FJ Before reciting this event, it will be

A) satisfactory to notice a few historical

movements, leading up to the settlement

When the fleet that left Holland early in the

year 1614 returned and gave their report and

showed their map, the States General gave to

Captains Mey, De With, Block and Volker-

sten, united into one company, a new license,

allowing them to navigate and trade for five

voyages during a period of three years
;

be-

ginning with January I, 1615.

The region allotted to them lay between

40 and 45 degrees of latitude, a tract they had

themselves explored and described, including

a faithful delineation of the Hudson river as

far as Albany, which region they called New
Netherlands.

From the documents giving this information,

we learn why the fleet divided at Manhattan

and pursued their discoveries in different direc-

tions. north and south, and why they were in

such haste to get back to Holland.

As Mey left Hendrickson to explore the

Delaware, another, doubtless, was sent up the
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Hudson. Whilst Hendrickson tarried long on

the Delaware, the Hudson explorer must have

rejoined his companions on the way or in Hol-

land, early enough to place his sketch of the

river on their map, and the Providence must

have been designedly favorable, since they

crossed the ocean and returned with their new

discoveries in time to secure a signature to

their new charter so early as the i ith October

of the same year.

As Hendrickson had not returned to tell of

the Delaware, that locality, is not included in

the grant, and it is likely that Hendrickson's

claim of privileges and rewards for discovery

was disregarded, or at least delayed, because

the charter of the other company was still in

force, of which, he might be considered, in

some sense, an employe.

Although the discovery of the Delaware was

known in 1616, no evidence appears that Mey’s

company traded there, and their privileges ex-

pired by limitation in the year 1618.

Voyaging, exploring and trading must have

gone on, licensed or unlicensed, but by whom
and with what fortune or misfortune, we have

no records to show, till we come to the great

event, wide-spreading in its influence, of 1621.

This was the formation of ‘‘ the Dutch West

India Company;” West India, as they persist-

ed in calling America.it being in contrast with

the East Indies.

It was a commanding Institution
;
and when,

after a year or two spent in preparation, it en-

tered fully upon its work, swallowed up all the

other companies and unions,and took possession

of all the points of traffic in the New Nether-

lands. It was invested by the States General,

with almost unlimited authority, and the large-

est executive offices, even to make war and

peace, to form contracts and alliances, and

maintain the administration of government
;

while to its use also was made over, exclusive

navigation and trading on all the West coast

of Africa, together with the whole Eastern

coast of North and South America.

The company was divided into five Cham-
bers, of which the principal was at Amster-

dam. The governing Board consisted of nine-

teen members, called the College of Nineteen;

of which Amsterdam furnished eight, the

States General one, and the other parts of

Holland the remainder. The charter was

signed in June, to go into effect the 1st of July.

Before the company was fully organized with

regulations, capital, ships and seamen, to enter

upon their privileges, they gave special licenses

to individuals to trade on our coasts, not only

within the old boundaries of 40 to 45 degrees,

but they might go to adjacent territories
,
in-

cluding a great river, lying between 38 and 40

degrees of latitude. This was. doubtless, the

Delaware, thus showing that the discoveries

of Capt. Hendrickson were then known and

confirmed. Into the Delaware these pushing

traders came, who, in coming, went so far out

of their way as to be discovered, it is thought,

by the Virginia Settlers, through whom infor-

mation was sent to the Virginia Company in

England This Company made influential com-

plaints to the English government against the

French and the Dutch for invading their .rights

on the Delaware and the Hudson.

Up to this period the whole Delaware Bay

and River was without European inhabitant

or fortification, and the West India Company
having determined to use that region as well

as Manhattan, for a trading ground, the design

of the company in what follows, is clearly seen.

In 1623, our old friend Capt. Mey makes his

appearance again, and leaves ample traces of

his visitation to our waters, and now as an

agent of the great company.

A ship called the New Netherlands was

fitted out, under the command of Capt. Mey,

with Adrien Jones Tienport as colleague di-

rector, and dispatched, with other vessels,

carrying colonists’ stores, provisions, muni-

tions of war, and every necessary implement

directly to the Delaware. Instead of settling

on the bay, they sailed up the river nearly as.

high as Philadelphia, and neglecting the fer-

tile lands of the Delaware side, took to the

sandy downs of New Jersey, on Timber creek,

not far from where Gloucester now stands ;

here landing and erecting their log fort, which

they called Fort Nassau, a name well known

in their Fatherland.

It was not designed as a colony, but a sim-

ple guard and storehouse for their trade with

the Indians It was located as near as possi-

ble to Manhattan, to keep up a connection

with that older settlement and act as its out-

post of observation and defence
;
but it proved

too close to that attractive spot
;
for the garri-

son, feeling their situation to be too solitary,

in the dull, business season, gradually slipped
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away by a cross-cut, to the livelier Manhattan

settlement
;
except, perhaps, a few vagabonds,

who hung about in the savages’ wigwams, or

loafed on the little streams, or found shelter

amid the ruins of the fortification.

In 1633, De Vries found it abandoned ; but

shortly after, Walter Van Twiller, the gover-

nor of Manhattan, seems to have repaired and

remanned the fort, which in 1635 made a suc-

cessful resistance when besieged by some Eng-

lish adventurers.

It is highly probable that constant inter-

course was kept up between the Hudson and

the Delaware, by which the value of the latter

region for settlements and commerce was re-

vealed, besides the discovery that its ocean

waters abounded in the fish that made it valu-

able as a whale fishery. This increased know-

ledge of the Delaware, added to the desire of

strengthening the southern boundaries of New
Netherland, led the West India Company to

make some new offers to such as would plant

colon ii-s incllldincr the nri \;i 1 e<re nf cpnrllnrr
/ O i

- ' —
- b

agents in their ships to view the country and

select lands for purposes of settlement.

Moved by their liberal terms, two Dutch

gentlemen, Samuel Godyn, a merchant of Am-
sterdam, and Samuel Blomaert, were induced

to enter upon an enterprise that proved to us

of notable advantage. Early in the year

1629, three ships
-

sailed from Holland to Man-
hattan, whence, according to contract, one of

them was dispatched to the Delaware, carry-

ing the agents of Godyn and Blomaert, to

make a suitable purchase of land.

In the month of May, the vessel arrived on

the Delaware side of the bay, and discerning

a native village near Cape Henlopen, on the

beautiful Lewes creek, came to and cast anchor

in what was considered the safest roadstead in

all the bay. The strangers were well received

by the natives, and as they landed with a

demonstration of flags, music, and the noise of

cannon, they were met by three chiefs, with

their followers, in corresponding array, of bril-

liant paint and feathers, with shouts of surprise

and welcome. If these are the same chiefs

who afterward, at Manhattan, witnessed the

deed of sale, we can give to the curious the

names of these Delaware aborigines, to be

transmitted, if it is liked, to the present race,

who may rejoice to be called Ouescacous. or

Entquet, or Siconesius. The agents, after

taking the necessary time, and making suitable

investigation, concluded a purchase of land.

The bargain w:as made with these chiefs, in

,

behalf of the native commonalty and their

!

heirs
;
and it may be recorded with pride, that

|

the first grant of territory in Delaware to

Europeans, was honestly bought and paid for,

to the full satisfaction of the natives, by value

received, in the shape of
li certain parcels of

cargoes Of this sale, a solemn deed was

made on the 15th July, 1630, the year follow-

ing, at Fort Amsterdam, in the presence of

the chiefs, and was there signed and sealed,

by the Dutch Governor. Minuet, the Directors

and Council of New Netherlands, and the

Sheriff*, Jan Lampe.
It is edifying to observe how carefully this

deed is worded, to guard themselves from all

the tricks of aboriginal lawyers
;
how it

abounds in all those delicate roundings of law

and technicalities so dear to the profession
;

holding those eloquent repetitious words
ra #=» o rJ rj L r\ nrp\rpnf ro-t ,c LlHcisrStCl.ncilw^ IxidtCc!^

ting that the dictionary of synonyms had been

thoroughly ransacked for their discovery.

Further, to secure this instrument against

native acuteness and learning, it was not

thought sufficient to impound it in the low

Dutch of the period, but, as a double safe-

guard, a w’hole sentence of seven words in law

Latin was introduced into the body of the

document
;
and the closing sentences bound

the grantors against reserving or retaining,

any, even the smallest part, whether of prop-

erty, command or jurisdiction, but, forever and

a day, they must desist and retire from, aban-

don and renounce the same
;
promising to ob-

serve, steadfast and unbroken and irrevocable,

and maintain the said parcel of land against

every one, and to deliver free of controversary,

gainsay and contradictions, all in good faith,

without guile or deceit.

It has been thought fit to give time and

words to the consideration of this document,

because it is the first deed given for the first

purchase of land in Delaware, and its careful

wording may be taken as an instance of wise

and fatherly forecast, to be followed by sub-

sequent settlements. It may, also, be looked
' upon as a monument to the supposed legal
!

sagacity of the natives
;
and if there is a

I

squinting at some fear of reservation or double

;
dealing on the part of the Sachems, it must be
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remembered that the directors were acting for

absent Patroons. Then, too, there being no

military command on the Delaware to enforce

and make them faithful, the power of words

was put forth
;
and for fear the language of

their High Mightinesses, the States General of

Holland, although moulded in most stentorian

shapes of jaw-breaking legality, might not

prove sufficiently forceful, that Latin sentence

was thrown in. that the Leni Lenapes m ight

hear the high-treading tongue of the Ancient

Romans of military fame, at which, in turn,

every nation of the earth had trembled
;
and

tremble likewise !

A more serious and becoming reason for

expending words on this deed of sale, remains,

in the consideration of its real, profound im-

portance, both legal and historical, in connec-

tion with the settlement founded on it, to the

existence of Delaware, as a separate, inde-

pendent State in our great Union. Bancroft,

Vol. II
,

testifies “ that the voyage of De
Vries,” to be spoken of immediatelv. “was
the cradling of a State

;
and that Delaware

exists as a separate commonwealth, is due to

the colony he brought and planted on her

shores.” If occupancy, as well as discovery,

be necessary to complete a title, here it is

found; and although the colony was soon swept

out of being, yet the existence of the colony,

in union with the carefully worded and well

preserved deed, dated three years before the

Maryland Patent was granted to Lord Balti-

more, operated as an impregnable bulwark

against his claim to the territories of Delaware,

to be incorporated into the colony . and terri-

tory of Maryland.

The tract of land thus purchased, extended

along the bay and river from Cape Henlopen

for 32 miles, having an interior breadth of half

a league, comprising a considerable part of the

bay front of Kent and Sussex counties.

When this purchase had been made and

secured by the deed of sale, Godyn and Blom-

aert entered into company with Van Rens-

selaer, De Laet and De Vries, to whom several

others were afterward added, who took mea-

sures for the immediate planting of a colony

in the purchased territory.

De Vries was the naval commander of the

expedition. He was a native and resident of

Hoorne, a port in North Holland, on the Zuy-

der Zee, well-known in the military service of

Holland, as well as a skillful seaman, who had

just returned with much renown, from a pro-

tracted residence in the East Indies.

Pie was at first offered the commandership
and the place of second Patroon, but being

sensible of his own merits and aware of the

perils and responsibilities of the enterprise, he

declined the business, unless admitted to an

equality with the other principals. When this

demand was readily agreed to, he entered with

zeal and ability upon the proposed expedition.

A ship of war, of 18 guns, commanded by

Peter Hays, and a yacht, were fitted out, in

which upwards of 30 colonists embarked, fur-

nished with provisions, and freighted with

agricultural implements and seeds for raising

wheat and tobacco. In addition, they brought

apparatus for catching and taking care of

whales, of which our coast was reported to

have large numbers, the oil from which being

worth sixty (60) guilders per hogshead iri Hol-

land at that time.

We have reason to believe that the number
of these majestic creatures was exaggerated

;

or that they have been since routed by mon-
sters in the shape of clipper ships and steam-

ers. a style of sea monsters we greatly prefer for

neighbors. Perhaps, indignant, that we refuse

to enlighten our darkness from what they can

furnish, they have forsaken our ungrateful

shores, leaving us to the tender mercies of

gas, kerosene and electricity.

The expedition, now furnished with every

necessary that care and money could provide,

set sail from the Texel, that famous starting

place, off the coast of Holland
;

but with

whatever hopes they started, the ultimate ex-

pectations of the settlers were never realized.

Embarking the 12th of December, 1630, they

had a wintry voyage before them, but they

must have been favored by winds and waves,

to reach the Delaware, as they did, in April or

May. But whatever rough experience in

privations and close quarters they necessarily

endured on the way, a wide berth on a smiling,

warm and flowery shore, awaited to give a

friendly welcome to the far-comers.

They passed what is now the Sussex coast,

looking into Indian river, the inlet and Reho-

both bay, rounding Cape Henlopen and sailing

over the Breakwater till they arrived at Lewes

creek, which was named Hoornekill, from the

native place of their commander, where they
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landed and settled. As Fort Nassau was at

this time abandoned, these were the only

Europeans on either side of the bay and river,

and this settlement preceded any in Pennsyl-

vania and New jersey, for Fort Nassau, as we

have said, was not intended as a colony by its

builders.

If any wonder is raised at their choosing this

spot, on which to begin the founding of a

colony, that wonder will be diminished by

learning the superior advantages of the local-

ity. over its present condition
;
nor will com-

mercial men find fault with a selection that

embraced a superb harbor in connection with

nearness to the open sea. This was the region

afterward called Paradise, and the creek was

Flower river. It was navigable a great way
inland

;
being two hundred paces broad at the

mouth, and somewhat higher up twice as wide,

having, also, a fine outside roadstead for ships of

all burdens, close to the Delaware channel, and

the safest and most convenient in all the bay.

Two small islands p-ave the creek additional
«-> «

beauty and value, near which, on the muddy
bottom of the creek, lodged oysters of the very

best kind. Who can tell but that it was on

these beds Wm. Penn obtained those on which

he feasted 50 years later, declaring them six

inches long and very delicious ?

“The like of the soil," he says, “was no

where else to be found,” and to crown the

blessings of the spot, a glorious spring of fresh

water sent out a small rill, which, after de-

scending the hill, made its way, through the

soil, to empty into the creek.

The great abundance of wild swans giving

life and liveliness to the waters, may have been

an additional charm
;

at least they were a

substantial feature on both sides of the river,

sufficient to give a name to the two localities

of Swansdale.

CHAPTER VI.

Time of arrival of Dutch Settlement—Build-
ings—Hosset—Life at the Hoornekill—Death
of the Colony.

fmiJR adventurers arrived so early in the

^\=M’ sP I
‘‘ ng °f 1631, that, finding ground

already cleared, they might have tilled

and sown for that year, and there is a

record that they did gather crops the first fall. !

They had provisions, however, without doubt, I

for the year, and as a shelter and a place of

protection from the natives in case of attack

must be the primary demand, it is more rea-

sonable to contemplate them, as carpenters

and masons, than foresters and plowmen. For
this task we must go with them to the woods,

and listen to the strokes of the axe, and the

falling of limbs and trunks of trees, and then

the shaping and cutting of logs, as the only

accessible material of building. Laborious

shoveling and digging were in demand, but

rough and strong must have been the quali-

ties of houses and furniture, rather than the

refinements of mahogany and the velvety

tread of Axminster carpets. These thirty men,

the first to settle Delaware, are Dutch Protest-

ants
; but how personal is their religious faith,

and zealous and devotional their piety, we
know not a word, nor the name of an individ-

ual of them, with one exception. Their coming
fate is doubly pitiful, that we can do no honor

to their memory. Did some old papers turn

up to give us the particulars of their history

during the few months they lived, or some
authentic and undoubted narrative of how the

swift-coming disaster overtook them, the

melancholy might in part be lightened,

though to relieve it were impossible. Having
built themselves some separate cabins they go

to work upon a strong building situated a little

distance from the mouth of the creek, on the

north side, which we cannot but suppose,

commanded the fresh-water spring. This was

to serve for a magazine and store house, and

also as a defense.

De Vries seems to have placed extraordi-

nary confidence in the Indians, he believing

that, if they were kindly and justly treated,

which he intended to make his policy, they

would be friendly and faithful. It seems to be

well ascertained that he gained the esteem

and respect of the natives, and left them and

the colonists, when he departed, in the best

relations of amity and concord. To show his

confidence, he built only a strong house for

protection, and though it was called a Fort, it

was surrounded simply with palisades, a

strong sort of fence, instead of parapets and
breastworks This fort was denominated
Fort Uplandt.

Bancroft states, that De Vries spent more
than a year in America, before he returned to

I Holland. Judge Houston says, he was obliged
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to return on the Colony’s business, before the

close of the first summer, and that the assault

was made by the savages, before or in the

autumn fall of leaves
;
and both Ferris and

Vincent agree with him, as to the time of De

Vrie's departure. We may be sure that, before

he left, he saw every part of the enterprise

well advanced and securely settled, and con-

sidering the difficulties and labors connected

with a new settlement, a year's residence on

the part of the commander, whose personal

reputation was so much at stake, would not

give him too long a superintendence

At his departure, he left Gillis or Giles

Hosset as Director of the Colony, who, Vin-

cent says, may be called the first Governor of

Delaware. Hosset was not inexperienced in

New World scenery and life, having formerly

been agent for Van Rensselaer,on the Hudson,

for the purchase of lands around what is now
Albany. He may also have been the Com-
pany’s agent for the purchase on the Hoorne-

kill. It is certain that, either before or after

the departure of De Vries, he acted as com-
missioner lor Godyn and Blomaert, to

purchase a narrow strip of land on the New
Jersey side of the Bay, extending several

miles up the shore, from Cape May
;
one writer

suggesting that for the whale fishing they

intended to make the Delaware a “ mare
clausum

,

” for their own use. This purchase

was made and the contract settled, on board

the ship or yacht Walrus or Whale, in the

presence of Hosset and Peter Huysen.the skip-

per or captain of the Walrus. Hosset had, no

doubt,been selected before-hand,totake charge

of the Colony, and was believed to be a compe-

tent man for the important post; and these

notices of him have been carefully • brought

together, that all possible light may be

thrown upon the dark history of the massacre

that followed.

When De Vries left.it was with the promise

of returning shortly with additional settlers
;

and it must have been a source of unbounded

satisfaction to the lonely Colony, that the

Walrus yacht was left behind. Although

this vessel was not to stand guard on the

Hoornekill, but must run out into the Ocean,

and try her fortune at whale catching, yet

she would be looked upon as some great

parent bird, ready, upon any emergency, to

cover the people with protecting wings, or

even give them shelter from sudden assault.

As Hosset had received strict orders to keep

peace with the natives, and his own prudence

would dictate the same conduct, it would ap-

pear that the Colonist's lived in complete

security, and, in the absence of all records, we
must necessarily suppose that it was, whilst

the Whaler was out of sight, and far off on

one of her expeditions, that the uprising of

the Indians took place which ended in the

entire destruction of all the Colonists. Imag-
ine the scene, as upon returning from their

cruise to the Roadstead, before the mouth of

the creek, the crew of the Walrus are sur-

prised to miss the usual tokens of welcome.

The pillar, surmounted by the arms of the

United Provinces of Holland is gone, no noise

whatever is heard, no smoke is seen rising

from forest clearings or curling over the tree

tops, from the cabin chimneys. Cautiously they

sail nearer, to find nothing but the blackened

remains of their buildings, and landing with

swords and muskets in hand, they soon dis-

cover the limbs and heads of their murdered

countrymen lying separately, as though sur-

prised whilst laboring here and there in the

fields. Struck with horror, filled with sickening

sorrow,and not knowing the further designs of

the savages, they stay not to bury the sacred

remains, but take at once to their ship
;
and

thinking it their duty to carry the bad news,

speedily, to the authorities, they sail away to

Manhatten. From thence, either by the Walrus

returning to Holland, or by some other vessel,

the news reaches De Vries before he is ready to

set out on his projected return to the Delaware.

It is said, the commander was so shocked and

disheartened by the disaster, that, for a consid-

erable time, he was unable to give attention

to business. His fidelity to his engagement,

however, forced him to visit the spot and

verify the sad report. Judge Houston has no

doubt but that he brought new Colonists with

him in the winter of 1632, yet it would seem
impossible that any could be induced to

venture, till all the facts of this murderous

case were settled.

He arrived at the entrance of the Bay, Dec.

3rd. On the 6th he reached the Roadstead, and

in a small boat sailed into the Hoornekill, to

the spot where Fort Upland had stood. All

the sad story was confirmed. The bleached

bones and skulls were still unburied. These he
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carefully collected and committed the sacred

relics of life, to the keeping of mother-earth. He
then proceeded to gain some intercourse with

the Indians and find out the causes of the

bloody work. But the savages, without show-

ing hostility, were, nevertheless, very shy. At

their desire, however, De Vries run his yacht

up the creek, and with much persuasion, one

of the natives was made bold enough to come

on board. As a reward for his confidence in

the Dutch, he was habited in a cloth dress,

the sight of which drew others, in the hope of

receiving a similar reward
;
but their tardy

confidence received nothing but some trinkets.

One of them was induced to remain all

night on board the vessel, from whom De

Vries learned the only particulars of the

massacre that could be obtained, or that has

been rescued since then from the silence set-

tlingaround the massacre of Swanendale. The
j

Indian’s story was this: “A piece of tin or cop-

per on which the arms of Holland were

pnerra ved was taken from its place bv a chiefo
and turned into a tobacco pipe

; he not know-
]

ing the impropriety and thinking no harm of

the deed. But the officers of the garrison i

expressed much dissatisfaction at the act, and
j

the Indians not knowing in what way to
j

make amends, went away seized the offender

and put the guilty chief to death. They then
j

brought a proof of what they had done, to the

Colonists which was, probably, his dissevered

head or bloody scalp. They were told, how-
|

ever that they had gone too far that they:

should have brought the criminal to the fort
j

and they would have exhorted him to do so
1

no more. The death of this man, however,
j

inspired revenge on the part of his friends, but
j

instead of punishing the murderers of the chief,
;

they came upon the Dutch, who would have

forbidden the deed, and made them the objects

of their savage fury. On the fatal day, the Colo-

nists had gone out as usual to the fields,

leaving a sick man at home, a large bull dog
chained outside, and a single guard, standing

at the door. The Indian party came treach-

erously, as if to barter some beaver skins, and

succeeded in entering the house. The senti-

nel went into the loft to procure goods for

payment, and whilst descending the rude

steps, one of the Indians, perhaps from above, 1

clove his head with an axe, sending the bloody i

corpse to the floor. They then killed the sick
j

man, and afterward made for the faithful dog,

who resisted with yells and biting, till twenty-

five arrows had riddled his body. After this,

with the appearance of friendship, they

approached the laborers, and left not one to

tell the story of the murder.”

This account of the Indian, most writers

regard as a pure fiction. Mr. Ferris calls it a

very improbable story, fabricated by the

Indians, and then expresses but little doubt

that Hosset had wantonly, or for some triflng

offense, killed an Indian chief, and this led to

the bloody consequence. But, it is impossible

to suppose such an error, on the part of Hos-
set. Many barbarous acts were committed on

the natives, by roving and irresponsible bands

of adventurers, as Mr. Ferris asserts ; but we
must sup.pose that a feeble Colony settled in

the midst of the natives, would be careful to

maintain the peace.

Some necessary or almost unavoidable tres-

passes were made upon the aborigines, and

rough friction ensued, as the settlements pushed

themselves out further and further into the

forests, of which we have particulars in the

history of Manhattan
;
and after ardent spirits

were introduced, and the Indians acquired the

taste,and felt the effects of the fire-wr ater, their

quarrelsome and murderous passions were

aroused as not unusually is the case with white

men, to this day. But cases are recorded of In-

dians being threatened and punished by their

own chiefs, for their excesses and crimes; and

not unfrequently d^d wise Sachems request

the white authorities to interpose, and not

allow the fire-water to be sold or given to

their young men. It may be added to the

evidence, on this tragic affair, that Adrian

Van der Donck, who published a history of

New Netherlands in 1655 is quoted by Acre-

lius, in his history of New Sweden, page 25,

as saying, that the arms of the state were

pulled down by the villiany of the Indians,

when the commissary demanded the head of

the traitor to be delivered. But this history

shows marks of being only of traditional

authority, and the translator of Acrelius

accuses Van der Donck, of not being entirely

devoted to truth and justice. Bancroft says,

volume II., page 282, “contests arose with the

natives, in which a chief lost his life, and the

relentless spirit of revenge prepared an ambush

which resulted in the murder ofevery emigrant.
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De Vries himself must be considered the

most reliable witness in relation to the mas-

sacre. Eleven years later, he had discovered

no more against Hosset than what he called

"jangling'” with the Indians, “ Dy which, he

said, “we lost our settlement on the Hoorne-

kill.” This was a part of his remonstrance

with Kieft.the Governor of Manhattan,against

his contemplated plan of murdering the

Indians of Pavonia. De Vries had, already, in

1641, lost a Colony that he had settled on

Staten Island, in retaliation for.Kieft’s unjust

murders, yet he still maintained, “they will

do no harm, if no harm is done to them. It

seems certain that De Vries sought no retalia-

tion against the Indians of the Hoornekill,

but, although he made no attempt at a second

Colony, he used all the means in his power,

to restore harmony and confidence. Deter-

mined to make a full trial of the whale fishery,

he went so far in trusting the natives as to

put up timber lodges on shore, at Cape Hen-

lopen, for boiling the oil He remained some

weeks in the neighborhood,and whilst his men
were trying their luck with the whales

embarked in his yacht on the 1st, Jan. 1633,

and sailed up the Delaware as far as Fort

Nassau, where he found none but Indians. On
his return to the Hoornekill, finding the

whale fishery unproductive, he gave up the

business and sailed, first to the Virginia settle-

ment for provisions, and thence made his way
to Manhattan. He remained in active service

for several years, passing between the Old and

New Worlds, earnestly engaged in planting

new Colonies, but never, that is known,
returned to the Delaware Territory, which,

with the purchase on the opposite side of the

Bay, was sold by the Patroons in 1635 to the

City of Amsterdam, for 1 5,600 guilders.

Can it throw any light upon this obscure

affair, to suppose the Chief, who commit-
ted the trespass, to have been a stranger? This

would account for his ignorance of the gravity

of his offense, and perhaps allow the local

Indians to be ready to take his life, as a means
of satisfying the angry Dutch, whilst his own
people, necessarily seeking revenge in some
direction, would inflict their wrath on the

exposed settlers, rather than injure and pro-

voke their fellow savages !

With all that can be said, a bloody mystery

remains
;
making futile the attempt of the

4

Dutch to settle our shores, and showing, so

far, that they were destined by a Ruling Prov-

idence, for a different fortune than as the area

of a dependent Province of the States General

of Holland.

CHAPTER VII.

New Sweden—Importance in History—Gus-

tavus A doIphas—Oxenstiern—Usselinx-Prep -

arations in Sweden—How New York was
founded.

5aS|jHE importance of this movement with

tpfej^its accomplishment, can hardly be rated

VAp* above its merits, for its beneficial influ-

CP ence on the subsequent prosperity' of

Delaware and of the whole land to which the

settlers came. This estimation of its impor-

tance arises, in part, from the fact that the

settlement was permanent. Then, too, that

the original Swedish colunists were honest and

religious people, elements of highest moment
in laying the foundations of a State. Further,

because it resulted in bringing to Ameri-

I

can shores, vast numbers of those whose in-

tegrity and industry make them most helpful

to form national character, and develop

national material resources, and are, therefore,

most welcome.

And still further, because of their peaceful

policy toward the Indians, which made it

easy for Wm. Penn to adopt the same meas-

ures, with a warmer application of the princi-

ple, and a more emphatic effect.

The possession of our State byr the Swedes,

which they held for 17 years, gave it for that

time, the name of New Sweden.

Before reciting the actual History, some

account of the principal characters engaged

in the enterprise, is demanded
;
and who can

think of this event, without at once bringing

before his vision, the renowned and exalted

Gustavus Adolphus, King of Sweden, and his

friend, the distinguished statesman, Axel

Oxenstiern ? But in the vastest machinery,

there are little hidden springs and cogs, as

essential to the motion, as the biggest wheels.

It would not be fair, therefore, under this head,

to omit the names of Usselinx and Minuet,

two Hollanders, of inferior worldly standing

and less glorious memory, but for Delaware
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affairs, of vital influence, whose instrumentali-

ty was the efficient power.

William Usselinx, was a native and mer-

chant of Antwerp, a very ancient city of Hol-

land which, when Usselinx was born, was the

centre of European commerce, and comman-
ded an extended trade with foreign nations.

After being taken by Alexander, Prince of

Parma, in 1585, its trading ability was

greatly reduced and many of the business

houses transferred to Amsterdam and other

towns
;
and this may have influenced the re-

moval of Usselinx to Stockholm, the capital

of Sweden, where he established himself as a

merchant, before the year 1624.

But Usselinx was much more than a

merchant
;
and looked further than bartering

hides and piling up Dutch guilders. He
resided, at different times, in Spain and Port-

ugal and at the Azores, then on the high road

to the New World
;
and it is evident, that his

object was to get all the information he could

gcilhei from those who, out of the«e countries,

had navigated the new seas, and cultivated the

spirit of foreign adventure, in lands where

such a spirit pervaded all classes of society.

Being patriotic, he first made his knowledge

and enterprise tell upon his own countrymen.

As early as 1604 he proposed the formation of

a Dutch West India Company, and of that

which was organized 17 years later, in 1621,

he was the chief promoter,and for a short time,

a director, by whose wisdom, and energy, we

are assured, from the testimony of the State of

Flanders, and Maurice, Prince of Orange, its

administration was greatly aided. Unless we

suppose he had been to America, it is surpris-

ing how much he knew of the country, and' to

those interested in Delaware, it is gratifying

that he was able to speak of her Territory

in such glowing and favorable language, as he

used in making his representations.

But it must be remembered, to account for

his knowledge, that he sought information,

even in foreign lands. To Antwerp and

Amsterdam, where he lived for a time, the

American adventurers were contantly resort-

ing, from whom he could learn much
;
his con-

nection with the West India Company would

give him access to all business documents and

reports
;
and to account for his special

knowledge of the Delaware, it bears not the

slightest tinge of extravagance to suppose

that he had intercourse with Hendrickson, the

hero of Delaware exploration in 1616, whose

merits and rights he may, out of justice and

friendship, have upheld. In all his search for

information and investigation of the great

world opening to all eyes, presenting attrac-

tions to move every kind of human passion, his

chief point had been the study of such parts

and points, in Africa and America, as were

best adapted to trade and colonization
;
and

being thus enriched with knowledge, and

moved by the spirit of enterprise, he was the

very man to fire the heart of another as

grand and glowing as himself, and as suscep-

tible of being moved by high considerations !

How long he resided in Sweden we are not

nformed, but he could not have settled in

Stockholm much earlier than 1624.

That, however, was an auspicious year for

presenting colonial plans. Gustavus Adolphus,

from his accession to the throne, i6ir, when
only 17, to his death at 38 years, was almost
constantly engaged in wars with Poland,

Russia and Germany
;
but the Swedish histor-

ian Geijar quoted in Dr. Reynold’s, Introduc-

tion to Acrelius, says, “This was one of the

few years that the King was able to devote

to the internal development of the realm, and

at this season, Usselinx found his way to the

King and proposed his plan.

Gustavus Adolphus, with whom he now
became associated, was well disposed to meet,

sustain and set forward the objects which the

enthusiastic spirit of Usselinx suggested and
his wise plans embraced. The King possessed

what was lacking on the part of Usselinx
;
the

rich*and powerful being always necessary to

supplement the ingenuity, the desires and

zeal of those who have nothing more substan-

tial to contribute, to bring about great ends.

Sweden had not been a commanding power

in the European circle of States, and Gustavus,

whose passion was strong for glory and honor,

desired to advance and exalt her Name,
whilst he made his own illustrious. His per-

sonal presence was made grand, by reason of

a large person and noble countenance
;
having

the bearing of his grandfather Gustavus Vasa,

who had freed his country from the dominion

of Denmark, and whose mental accomplish-

ments and eloquence of speech, the grandson

inherited. His good qualities gained the es-

teem even of his enemies; his wise ruling
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advanced the political standing of his country

and her material interests, whilst his warlike

genius and military successes inspired his

soldiers with irresistible ardor. He was the

greatest Prince of his times, renowned as a

Protestant Christian, a statesman and a soldier,

and the largest benefactor of Humanity, in the

line of the Swedish sovereigns. As the religious

differences of the age shaped themselves, and

secular violence was aimed against the Refor-

mation, he was drawn in to be the leader of

the protestant nations of Europe, in the 30

years' war with the Roman Catholic powers,

and was killed at the battle of Lutzen Novem

ber 16th, 1632, “where” says Bancroft, human-

ity won one of her most glorious victories,

and tost one of her ablest defenders."

Usselinx was large in his representations,

and eloquent in his descriptions when he laid

his plans before the King, and having acquired

special knowledge of the Delaware region, he

called his particular attention to that locality,

anu recommended it for its beautiful aspect

and fine land
;

for its advantages as a place of

residence and trading, as well as fertility to

produce all the necessaries and comforts of

life in overflowing abundance.

The King, having a comprehensive mind,

able to take in something of the grand results

that are now being reaped, entered upon the

plan with all his soul, and succeeded in inspir-

ing all about him with similar ardor.

His mother, Christina, his sister’s husband

John Cassimir, Prince Palatine of the Rhine

the great Chancellor, Oxenstiern, them embers

of the Council, 'the principal Nobility, the

army generals, Bishops and Clergy, Burgo-

masters, citizens and people generally, of

Sweden, Finland and Livonia, were all carried

away, and all ranks subscribed largely and

readily, according to their means, to carry

out the enterprise of settling a colony on the

Delaware shores
;
the government contribu-

ting 400,000 Swedish dollars.

It will reflect honorably on the Swedish

settlement of Delaware, if we contemplate

some of the many and various motives held

out by Providence and followed by men, to

draw them from their old haunts and homes,

to settle and populate distant regions.

After the Flood, the confounding of the one

human language, scattered the people from

Babel, into all quarters. The fame of Rome’s

iriches and of the inviting climate of the soft

Italian skies, started the valorous northern

races from their cold, dark forests, for the

sunny south. The Spaniards clung to Central

and South America for the sake of its gold.

California and the rich interior of Montana
and Colorado are hurrying emigrants to her

Plutean mines. By waving the same golden

,
bait from over long oceans, • Australia has

become settled into a mighty colony; and her

diamond fields have drawn multitudes of ad-

i
venturers to South Africa.

Our great city of New York had no such

dazzling prizes to give her a foundation.

Muskrats, Otters and Beavers, whose natural

work is to undermine, and not like the little

coral insect of the South Pacific, to build up

fairy islands from the ocean depths. Such

gioss animals, strangely operated to found

that world-wide emporium of commerce and

wealth. At first,agents and their subordinates,

who scorned to take up corner lots on Broad-

way and building spots on Fifth Avenue,

made the strand their temporary residence.

Hunters explored the woods of Manhattan,

and Indian traders, drawn by such baits,

scudded about the North and East rivers,

coasted the bay. crept into the little creeks

and inlets of Staten Island and Long Island,

and the New Jersey shores, navigating in

skiffs and yachts, to find the natives and load

themselves with game and peltries. And when

some came to stay awhile, and others to settle,

New York grew up, out of Manhattan and

New Amsterdam, a town of straw roofs and

wooden chimneys, garnished, on the good ex-

posures with wide-winged wind mills; she

growing on through ages and even centuries,

to reach her present stately proportions and

wide-spread renown.

CHAPTER VIII.

Purposes and promptings of Swedish Settle-

ment—Peter Minuet—History of Qualifications.

N the planting of New Sweden on the

I
^Delaware Shores, the gaining of riches

,was not the primary motive, or the

source of the original impulse, but rath-

er the transportation of benefactions over the

flood, to our shores. In accord with the en-

larged and exalted views of Usselinx, Gusta-
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vas Adolphus set forth some of the advantages

of emigration in such terms as these.

The proposed Colony will be a benefit to

the persecuted, a refuge for wives and daugh-

ters whose husbands and fathers have been

made fugitives by war and bigotry, a blessing

to the common man, and an advantage to the

whole Protestant world of oppressed Christen-

dom. He, also, contemplated carrying the

gospel to the heathen Indians, and extending

the boundaries of civilization and religion in

the New World. Still, whilst an intelligent

design, a noble impulse, and a benevolent

temper were at work- in the enterprise, it was

not lost sight of that active trading opera-

tions, extended, perhaps, to Asia and Africa,

as well as America, would enlarge Sweden's

dominion, enrich the Treasury, and relieve the

people’s burdens, even to prosperity. But for

no golden gains were slaves to be employed.

Their policy was too enlightened and humane

'for that
;
“the Swedish nation” it was said, “is

laborious and intelligent, and surely we shall

gain more by a tree people, with wives and

children.”

When the project of Usselinx for a Swedish

Trading Company was adopted by the King,

the projector received full power to carry out

the plan, December 2ist 1624. A contract of

trade was drawn up in 1625, with which the

Company was expected to agree and to sub-

scribe it. Usselinx was allowed to publish a

proclamation to the Swedish people, which

was translated out of the Dutch into Swedish

by the King’s translator, Eric Shraederus, in,

the year 1626. This message made suitable

explanation of the contract, and directed the

peoples’ attention to the Delaware, as being

possessed of all imaginable resources and

conveniences. A charter was secured to the

Company, June 14th, 1626, which made all

contracts legally secure. Then, says Acrejius,

the King’s zeal for the honor of God, and the

welfare of his people, induced him to send out

Letters Patent, July 2nd 1626, in which he

made use ol his distinguished influence, and

invited all, both high and low, to contribute

according to their means. Finally, the pre-

paratory work was finished, when the Diet of

1627, representing the Estates of the Realm,

gave their assent and confirmed all the meas-

ures that had been taken. In addition, an

order was issued, January 1 ith, 1628, requiring

the subscriptions to be paid on the 1st of May,

of the same year.

And, now, all things look as if we might

expect an immediate departure The expe-

dition is certainly forwarded for an early

starting. It is outfitted in military style, and

furnished, as well, with commercial appoint-

ments. In addition to ships and all the

necessary provisions for a settlement, an

Admiral and Vice-Admiral, officers and

troops, commissaries, merchants and assist-

ants were appointed, and how many colonists,

it is not stated. Perhaps such a grand and

war-like show was too much like Gideon’s

large host, and not fitted for the work God’s

wisdom had in view.

It is certain, this expedition never reached

our shores, but it is not so sure, that it did not

sail. Let the reader judge. Campanius says,

“the ships were stopped and detained by the

Spaniards on their voyage to America.”

Campanius was alive at the time, an eminent

Clergyman, born, and then living, in Stock-

holm, and in 1642 was called by the Govern-

ment to accompany Governor Printz to New
Sweden, as the Government Chaplain. There

he remained six years, laboring faithfully for

Swedes and Indians, and after his return, he

was appointed to an honorable place. In

America he wrote a Journal, which was edited

and published by his grandson. He is charged

with ignorance and carelessness, but if such

defects appear, it would seem more just to lay

them to the editor than the author. Then,

again, Harte, in his life of Gustavus, (London,

1807,) declares, that “the Spaniards con-

trived, dexterously enough, to make them-

selves masters of the little Swedish squadron,

that sailed for America.” Harte, however,

may have no authority, but Campanius. On the

other side, Acrelius says, “the arrangements

were in full progress when the German war

and the death of the King caused the impor-

tant work to be laid aside, even to the dissolu-

tion of the Company and the nullifying of the

subscriptions.” Oxenstiern, in a published ad

dress, in 1633, stated, that “the work of Gus-

tavus was almost carried into operation
, but

was delayed by the absence of the King, in

Prussia and Germany, and from other causes.”

Bancroft says, that “in view of the public

dangers, even the cherished purpose of Col-

onization yielded in the emergency.” He adds,
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t h;it, “the funds of the Company were arbi-

trarily applied as resources of the war. ’ Yol.

II : 2S5.

May it not be that the Emperor of Ger-

many, about this time, taking part in the war

against Sweden, created such a sense of im-

pending danger, as drove every other project

from the public mind '! and as the Archives

show the expedition just ready to depart, and

make no mention ot its sailing or not sailing,

some authorities took it for granted that it did

actually set out! From some lately discovered

documents the story is simplified, by the fact

that a part of the outfit did leave Sweden and

was captured by the watchful Spaniards.

It is hard to believe Bancroft’s statement,

that the funds of the Company were arbitrari-

ly applied to the war. The funds were char-

tered against confiscation, even when sub-

scribers were of a nation with whom the King

was at war; also the funds were not to be

used by the Government, even in war, without

the Company’s consent
;
still further, the sub-

scriptions were payable one fourth only on

subscribing,and the remainder in three annual

payments
;
and, finally, Acrelius tells us the

'

subscriptions were nullified, not paid and

Consequently could not be appropriated.

Against such a charge as Bancroft’s, the

character of the King would be a guarantee;

who, although the matter was laid aside, or

rather, driven out of the field for the present,

never ceased thinking of it and cherishing it,
j

in the midst of marches, sieges and battles.
j

The great events transpiring, full of calamity
|

to the common people, enlarged his views of;

emigration and made his plan dearer to his
j

heart
;
and at Nuremberg, but a few days be- :

fore his death, he drew up a new scheme, with

a proclamation to the people of Germany, as

well as the Swedes, in favor of the under-

taking. 4

By a benevolent providence, a man as great I

and well disposed as the King, was left ready

to carry out the great design. This was Count

Axel Oxenstiern, of whose worth we gather
j

unbounded testimony. He was one of the i

best and greatest men of all times and coun-
j

tries, whose wisdom and virture shed glory on
'

the age in which he lived. Bancroft calls !

him “the wise Statesmen, the serene Chan- i

cellor, who, in the busiest scenes, never took

a care with hirn to his couch.” He had been

the friend and prime minister of Gustavus

Adolphus, and succeeded, as Premier, to the

administration of the Kingdom. Whilst Baner,

Torstensson, and Von Wrangel proved to be

the swords, Oxenstiern furnished the brains

that directed all the grand movements, pro-

vided supplies, and brought to a glorious close

the terrible war of 30 years, by the peace of

Westphalia, in 1648 ;
a consummation that set

Protestant liberty on an immovable basis.

He was one of the Council of Regency that

governed during the minority of Christina.

J and though the wayward Queen ill treated

him, he continued one of her best friends and

guardians, till his death, August 28th 1654,

covering her faults with the pitying reflection :

;
“she is still the daughter of the great Gusta-

vus.”

Such a man comes legitimately into the

history of Delaware, as the successor of the

King. Under his wise and persevering enter-

:

prise, the project that had almost become
! extinct, rose from the grave, with a resurrec-

tion power of new advances. The little

Queen, Christina, 6 years old at her father’s

death, gladly consented to carry out her

father's wishes, and lent her authority to the

work. Usselinx, still on hand, brought his old

zeal to bear on the matter, and the great

Chancellor took the Swedish West India

Company into his own hands, renewed the

patent, given under Gustavas Adolphus
;
be-

came, himself, its President, made Usselinx

its first Director, and encouraged the noble-

men to purchase shares, and stt forward the

work. Besides these measures, and to give

them firm foundation, on the 10th' of April,

1633, Oxenstiern, as the executor of the King,

and Plenipotentiary Minister General, signed

and published what the King had left un-

finished. He, also, added an address of his

own, to the same end. When the patent of

the Swedish Company was renewed, June 26th,

its privileges were extended to Germany.

December 12th 1634, the charter was con-

firmed by the deputies of the four Upper Cir-

cles, at Frankfort, and the people were again

aroused to the great undertaking.

According to Acrelius, page 23, everything

seemed to be settled on a firm foundation,

and all earnestness was employed in prosecut-

ing the plans of the Colony. What delayed

the expedition till 1637? Was it the want of a
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qualified leader ? One was so providentially i

provided, as shows a Ruling Hand shaping the

ends, toward the Delaware Settlements. This

was a man not only enterprising, perserving,

and gifted, but possessed of special knowledge

and personal experience in the New World,

who had occupied the highest stations in the

Manhattan Settlements
;
with opportunities

of knowing the comparative value of different

localities, and of the quality of the very

region, on the Delaware, the Swedish Com-
pany thought of occupying

;
of such character

and intelligence, as made him most valuable,

to give the Swedish Scheme w'ise directions

and a practical head.

This was Peter Minuet, another Hollander,

whose high standing and qualifications tor

commercial and administrative affairs are

vouched for, by the fact, that when the Dutch

West India Company first started, and a chief

agent must have been carefully sought, and

his qualities closely inspected, Minuet was

selected as the first Director General and

Governor of New Netherlands. He kept his

place eight years
;
and that he was then dis-

missed by the Dutch Company, does not

prove that he was not a faithful servant, pro-

tecting the interests of his employers. The
testimony looks as if he was misrepresented

to the home authorities
;
that, whilst, in the

midst of much discord on both sides, he strove

to maintain and enforce the rules of the

Company, the just exercise of the regulations

of trade and government, he was opposed by

the large land-owmers. The Patroons as these

were called, had private interests that could

not be advanced under a faithful administra-

tion. They needed a man at the head, either

more dull or more pliant, such as they pro-

cured in Van Twiller their second Governor.

Minuet’s credit, like many another case of in-

justice, was insidiously undermined by in-

terested policy, and his administration brought

to an end. We need not wonder that such a

man was invited to Sweden, or that, knowing

what was on hand, he hastened to that

country and offered his services, and that the

merits of Minuet, and the value of his knowl-

edge and experience, were quickly perceived

and engaged. He laid before the Chancellor

a plan of proceedings, probably a strong

modification of the Chancellor's, which was
adopted, and Minuet was commissioned as

Director and Commander of the expedition

to carry out the design.

Acrelfus says, page 22, that Charles 1st

renounced all the English claims to the Dela-

ware region, in favor of the Swedes. Cam-
panius records, that the Dutch claim was

purchased, and at least, Minuet chooses to for-

get, that a part of the land he soon purchased

from the Indians, for the Swedes, had been

bought in 1629, for the Dutch
;
the deed for

which, he had signed in 1630, and which had

been subsequently transferred to the City of

Amsterdam.

CHAPTER IX.

Delay of Expedition from Sweden—How we
Account for it—Difficulties of Colonization—
Gotheburg— When the Colony Arrived—Chris-

tina.

have supposed that the expedition

might have been delayed for want of a

competent leader. The want of Col-

Effi) onists would prove a more serious and

effectual obstacle
;
and is there no probability

that such ef the proper stamp, at least on the

first expedition,were hard tofind ? Suchadiffi-

culty seems to look out of the fact, that only

about fifty made up the first settlers, and that

some of these are said to have been under

sentence of condemnation, though it was only

for trivial and conventional offenses.

No operation undertaken by the human race

is more difficult than Colonization. Who can

read of the hardships endured by the first set-

tlers of our country in all the various colonies,

without most painful emotions, and tears of

compassion and sorrow!

How forbidding is it to our feelings, to make
a change of the shortest removal from an old

homestead to a new dwelling, even in the same

village! llow formidable to pack up furniture

and make a long transportation, among stran-

gers, in ourown country !

It is but a trip, a jaunty pleasure ride, to

cross the ocean, with steamer accommodations,

at the present day. We go to friends, to the

Old World accommodations, to visit historic

scenes and splendid cities, to be entertained in

|

palace Hotels, and have our minds filled with

novelties, and pleasing and improving adven-

tures. Two hnudred and fifty years ago,
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copiing this way, was a different matter. Long

and round about was the voyage in sail vessels;

.small, cramped, rough and thoroughly incon-

venient, with nothing but tough, salt,hard tood

for their support. People sailed to unknown

shores, knowing only that the land was cov-

ered with dark forests, the soil untilled, houses

unbuilt,and every corner swarming with dark-

skinned, naked and hostile savages, of strange

guttural language, and stranger habits and re-

ligion ;
to put the wide ocean between them

and the land of their nativity, and on arriving

in the New World to be welcomed by none;

themselves to lay the first foundations of soci-

ety, to build houses and mould such institu-

tions as their ancestors, ages before, had done

for them.

It is no wonder that a Century passed after

thev had heard in Europe of the New World,

before colonists were started to North America,

losettle and live. And in the absence of golden

baits, never, probably,would they have come,

ha i not extreme calamities at home, painted

these lonely shores with rosy hues, as a refuge'

from worse trouble, and a place of peace and

liberty. Desolating wars, religious persecu-

tion on the part of those who held the political

and ecclesiastical power, and oppression of the

poor, who were very poor, by the mighty, who
were very overbearing, prevailed : so that peo-

ple were driven by privations and exposures

behind them, to seek the returnless exile of

wilderness life.

Aided by these considerations, mingled with

some higher motives, colonists were at length

procured, and now, leader and people being

ready, they all set out from Sweden, even

hopefully
;
and so happy was their early ex-

perience on the Delaware, that it reflected back

in attractive colors, and made it in subsequent

years, not the want of people willing to come,

but of ships to transport them, that kept the

numbers small.

Two vessels bore the first permanent

settlers to the Delaware; a ship of war, called

the Key of Calmar, named after a Swedish

town, and a smaller transport ship, called the

Griffin, the expedition being well supplied with

provisions, arms and ammunition
;
with mer

chandise for trade and presents for the Indians.

They were simple, pious people, accompanied,

according to the earlier accounts, by their

pastor, a Lutheran clergyman, Rev. Reorus

Tork’llus, of East Gothland, who lived in

America till September 7th, 1643. The latest

authority, however, Prof. Odhneris of opinion

that he did not come over till the second ex-

pedition. A royal surveyor, Magnus K'ling,

accompanied it, who laid out the land and

made a map of the river with its tributaries,

points and islands, which was sent back to

Sweden.

Gotheburg, the place of embarkation still

lives among the rocks, on the south-western

coast of Sweden, whence the ships sailed in

August 1637, and according to the latest au-

thorities, arrived in the Delaware by the last

of March 1638.

Strange, however, as it may appear, these

dates were once held to be uncertain by some

writers, and the very year was disputed. The
time of starting, above given, is supported by

C. T. Odhner’s History of Sweden, published

at Stockholm in 1865, and that of the arrivals

is certified by two original American docu-

ments, and sustained by lately discovered

papers in Europe. One of e documents is a

letter written from Jamestown Va., by the

Colonial Secretary to the English Home Sec-

retary, informing him of the arrival of the

Swedish ships. This letter is dated May 8th

1638. He says he had written home on the 20th

of March preceding, since which time , one of

the ships had arrived, stopping at Jamestown

about 10 days for wood and water. This ship,

we learn from other sources, was the Griffin,

that had already gone up the Delaware, with

the Key of Calmar, and had now come into

Virginia waters to trade for tobacco, as well

as for fresh provisions. The two ships, in the

light of these dates, may have passed into the

Delaware as early as the last of March or the

first of April. The other document is a pro-

test, issued by Wm. Kieft, the third Director

General of New Netherlands, dated,according

to Acrelius, in the old style, May 6th, 1638;

in the records at Albany, N.Y., May 17th, 1638,

in the new style, which adds 10 days to the

old dates. No doubt Gov. Kieft, who had just

left Europe, knew of the design of the Swedes

and was carefully watching the river On the

28th of April
,
says Vincent p. 1 5 1, the Dutch

Assistant Commissary at Fort Nassau, wrote

to the Governor at New Amsterdam, advising

him that a Swedish ship had come up as high

as that fort; and the Governor’s protest could
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have been dated, as above given, making sure

the time of arrival; showing, also, that the

adventurers had spent eight months, including

the fall and spring storms, and the rough

winter cold, before arriving at the land of

Promise. It was then in the middle of spring,

and, apparently, an early spring, that the voy-

agers arrived in the bay. Sweet is the sight

of land, after weeks of wintry ocean, and of

such a land as ours presented itself, when

trees and grass, and flowery plantsand climbing

vines were clothed in the soft, fresh verdure!

And do not our hearts soften in a friendly way

and deliciously sympathize with those, from

whom so many Delaware families have descend-

ed, that they are at the end of a cramped,

damp, suffering voyage, to be welcomed by

the rich soil and the warm climate,with waving

banners of Nature’s own spinning and coloring?

This was the sight sent back home, that in-

flamed the Scandinavian imagination and so

hopefully painted up the New World as made

the peasantry of Sweden and r'iniand, so iong

to exchange their home lands for a settlement

on the Delaware, that at the last large emi-

gration, more than an hundred families, eager

to embark could find no room in the crowded

ships. Bancroft, 224. 287.

No wonder they called the spot, on which

they first landed “The Paradise" for in their

estimation it possessed some such qualities.

This was a point of land, between Murderkill

and Mispillion Creek, in Kent county, where

for a short time, they tarried to take observa-

tions and rest, and refresh themselves a little,

after the rigors of the voyage. Then, all

going on board aeain, they raised their anchors,

spread the heavy sails and proceeded up the

Delaware. Whether they encountered any of

the natives at this stopping place, is not re-

corded. Afterward, they fell in with them

and had friendly intercourse, and it is fully cer-

tified, that holding the inhabitants to be the

true owners of the soil, they made a purchase

from them, of the Western Bay and River

Territory extending from cape Hcnlopen to

the Schuylkill, afterward enlarged to the Falls

of Trenton, then called Santican; at which

points, posts were driven into the ground for

landmarks; “which are there to this day,” we
cannot say, but it might have been said Ac-
crelius tells us in his History of New Sweden,

sixty years_after the purchase.

It should not be concealed, that the Dut'ch

claimed the land on which the Swedes settled,

and Peter Minuet the commander of the ex-

pedition knew that the lower part of the ter-

ritory had been purchased from the Indians,

for their use; but it was completely unoccupied,

and occupancy made the strongest kind of

claim to wilderness soil
;

besides, Campanius

says, the Dutch claim was purchased by the

Swedes, and the deed of purchase was shown

him by the Hon. Mr. Secretary Elias Palm-

skiold. Note to Acrelius, p. 22.

The right of the Swedes to the Delaware

Territory would seem to be conceded by the

Dutch Government, from the fact, that very

soon after the Swedish settlement, Dutch Col-

onists came from Holland to live in their

neighborhood and under their governmental

authority, without objection by the States

General of Holland. But without stopping to

settle all the difficulties, the narrative allows

us to accompany the Swedes, as with good

consciences and the best 111 Lcuuuiis, they pui-

sue their way up the river. They pass the spots

now occupied by Port Penn and Delaware

City. Reedy Island is on hand, but the Pea

Patch had not probably emerged from the

bottom of the river, being formed, as geolo-

gists tell us, entirely by deposit of blue mud,

brought down by the tide. The locality of

New Castle is no doubt inviting tor a settle-

ment, and the grape vines abounding, though

not then in clusters, may have been an induce-

ment to land; but to their agricultural eyes

the sand banks that afterward brought it the

Dutch name of Sandhuken, are forbidding;

so they sail onward, beckoned by the beauti-

ful prospect toward the north north west. If

the tide is up, in three or four miles they come
to a vast area of water running inward and
making a part of the creek, called the Min-

quas
;
and now, the Christiana, corrupted from

Christina. Beyond these waters, themselves

adorned with wooded islands and promonto-

ries, they hold a distant view of the ancient

forests, covering the long slopes, rising with

gradual elevation toward the west and north

and south-west
;
a region, that for very many

late years has been cleared, and occupied by
handsome residences, from which most charm-
ing views of beautiful scenery, are gained, as

one looks southward and westward. Long
ago, likewise, embankments raised along the
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river and creek fronts, had kept out the

tide, turned the marshes into rich meadow

land; and from the same outlook on the eleva-

tions west of Wilmington, looking eastward

toward the river, a landscape, that made one

think of the well watered plains of old Jordan

once, met the eye. Now, the most of this

beauteous region is hidden with brick and

mortar, and obscured by roliing smoke, the

tax imposed upon nature, made by the growth

of the city’s material prosperity.

What was the water prospect to the Swedish

voyagers, from the outside, was, reversely, ex-

hibited to those, who looked eastward from a

residence called Greystone, on the western

heights, on the morning of Wednesday Oct.,

23d, 1878. A wind for 96 hours from the

south-east, assisted by a small tidal wave,

brought a flood of waters, sufficient to over-

flow the river embankments and demolish the

obstructions along the Christiana
;
when the

unchecked tide made its way over all the

meadows, obliterated the lines of the various

creeks, marched up and over some of the city

limits, and gave to the spectator one uninter-

rupted sheen of water, from the Jersey side

of theDelaware to the foot of the Wilming-
ton rising grounds.

CHAPTER X.

Arrived on the Minquas
( Christina)— Trade

with the Natives— Building of Fort Christina.

®S the Swedish voyagers come to this

wide, open harbor, with such an interior

prospect beyond the waters, all looking

ofj and eagerly scanning each mile of coast

they pass—it may be imagined, how every

heart is moved at this unrivaled picture
;
and

knowing that good soil underlies big trees, they

cry out :
“ This is the place!"

Whether from some description and previous

orders, they had before selected this spot, or

were guided wholly by their own inspection,

does not appear. Minuet may, possibly, have
had some information to help him

;
at any

rate, the director is on the lookout. He stands

on the high quarter-deck of the war vessel,

5

and, as a Hollander, not being afraid of water,

he gives the command, “Turn in here and the

Key of Calmar leading, or it may have been

the Griffin, they sail, by a winding channel, for

2 ^ miles, till they come to the Rocks, the

northern cape of the creek, as it then lay
;

a

natural landing, thrown high and dry above the

stream, in the shape of a wharf, with deep

water at its base. This spot, now the foot of

Sixth street, and in the midst of the city water-

front, in the boy-days of those not very old,

was far beyond the eastern limits of Wilming-
ton, the journey to it and the adjoining Old
Swedes’ Church, making a Saturday after-

noon’s excursion for fishing or playing.

On the east side of the Rocks, according to

Lindstrom’s map of the locality, an inlet from

the Christiana run northward, and opened into

a harbor wide and deep enough to give the

ships a commodious berth, safe from the cur-

rent of the creek and the floating ice This

harbor is now mostly filled and dried, leaving

nothing but a slight depression in the ground,

to show where it once stood. The Brandy-
wine, at first called the Fish-kill, had an out-

let into the Delaware, as well as into the Chris-

tiana, but the Delaware channel is now out of

existence, and numerous inlets, runs and rivu-

lets, once connected with the creek, have dis-

appeared
;

and whilst the Christiana, the

Brandywine and Shellpot still throw their

united contributions into the Delaware, the

volume of their waters is most perceptibly

diminished.

What different scenes from the present, were

in agitation, on this spot, two and a half cen-

turies ago! Upon the high, dry level floor of

rock, they step ashore, men, women and chil-

dren, to the number of fifty. Before they land

their property, the little outfit of beds and fur-

niture, we may be assured they erect some
kind of cover to protect them from the weather;

nor would such an experienced man as Peter

Minuet, allow his little colony to be exposed
j

to the assaulting enemies, whether they should
;

come in the shape of Dutchmen or savages.

From the Governor at Manhattan, the paper

protest against settling and building, early ar-

rived; but as the paper is not put in the shape

of cartridges, and Minuet knows it could not be,

he pays no regard to Kieft’s words.

The Swedes take care to conciliate the In-

dians
;

they soon become good friends, and
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continued on such terms, that it is not known,

that, in Delaware, one, on either side, was mur-

derously killed by the other
;

whilst their ar-

rival made a great day for the Swedes, and an

eventful one to us, the immediate effect of their
|

coming on the natives, must not be overlooked.

The sailing in of these monstrous shapes,

though some of them had seen ships before,

excited the unbounded wonder of the Ameri-

cans, and the explosion of the great guns, with

a sight of their execution among the trees,

must have filled the bravest with dread.

It is known how the West India natives

were stupefied by the first sight of Columbus’

vessels. When Henry Hudson first came into

Manhattan bay and river, the Indians, it was

afterward learned,knew not what to make of the

ships. They could not comprehend, whether

they were fishes or sea monsters
;
whether they

had come down from Heaven or were devils.

No doubt, should one of those ships of the

olden time come into our waters, of the same
build, rigging and sails, with their ancient

mariners, it would surprise the eyes of old tars

themselves.

However, the Minquas and other neighbor-

ing tribes gradually made their way to the

new comers, and trade and barter, those natural

inborn arts, were soon in lively operation.

It must not be said of the Swedes, what

Diedrick Knickerbocker, in his veracious his-

history, records of the Manhattan Dutch, that

in making weight, the press of the hand was a

pound, and that of a foot two pounds
;

there

is reason to believe, the Swedes dealt fairly
|

and to their mutual satisfaction
;

for whilst the

natives eagerly grasped the glittering trinkets,

the Europeans as gladly took game, fish, corn

and fruit, so much needed and so delicious,

after the long voyage and the rough fare of

hard tack and salt bacon. And, it must not

be forgotten, they were wonders to each other.

The Swedes had never seen such little, light,

birch canoes, as now came skimming over the

waters, down the Christiana, from the Brandy-

wine and the river shores. And how strange

their skin dresses, their bows and arrows and
stone hatchets; the squaws carrying children in

a basket, strapped to their shoulders; the girls

and boys with black eyes, straight black hair

and tawny skin ! How they managed to inter-

pret their language to each other, we learn in

a roundabout way.

Acrelius tells us, that the deed of the great

purchase of land, from Henlopen to Trenton,

was written in Dutch, because no Swede was
yet able to interpret the language of the hea-

I

then. It follows from this, that some of the

Indians understood the Dutch, which, again,

implies that they had held much intercourse

with that people; and Minuet, being a Hol-
lander, could negotiate between them by means
of this common tongue.

It is not known from records
, whether the

purchase was made whilst they tarried at Para-

dise Point, or after they landed at the Chris-

tiana
;
but when done, Acrelius says the Ind-

ians subscribed with marks, each chief having
a different symbol, and this deed was sent to

Sweden.

As posts were set up to mark the boundaries,

the contract could not have been consummated
before the land was surveyed, and as Vincent
tells us page 151, that a Swedish ship was sent

up the river, as early as the 28th of April, as if

to observe the shores, the bargaining may be
placed at a later date, than their first landing on
the Delaware. Whenever, wherever and from

whomsoever, the grant was made, a curious

little transaction is recorded by Vincent, out

of O’Callighan, Vol. 1st. It seems that an Ind-

ian Sachem named Mattahoon lived on the
Christiana, near the place of settlement

;
no

doubt, on ground necessary for their accom-
modation

;
and instead of driving the native

away, although it was included in the general

purchase, they wisely bought the land. This

I
they could well afford

,
as, with all the improv-

ments, it cost the Swedes no more than a cop-

per kettle and some other small articles. They
also bargained with the same chief for another

parcel of ground, promising him half the to-

bacco it should produce, which, the poor Indian

said, he never got. Must it be that the tobacco

crop was a failure that year ?

The Swedes, doubtless, took every precau-

tion to keep the peace
;

yet, as a defense

against any treachery that was possible on

the part of the savages, until the Fort was
built, the war ship with guns loaded, was no
doubt, so moored as to cover themselves from

assault.

Very early, however, the work on the fort

was begun and the erection was made close to

the Rocks, within a few feet of the Christiana,

and by the side of the little harbor, on the
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east, of which we have already spoken. The

plan was thoughtfully laid out.

The enclosure must be large enough to give

shelter to the whole colony in case of alarm
;

it must be commodious enough to furnish a

market place for the trade and sale of mer-

chandise;to hold the Governor’s residence, and

the great central storehouse in which to stow

all their goods. Besides these accommoda-

tions, the public worship was held, at first,

inside the fort, for which service, it is learned

from Miss Montgomery's “ Recollections of

Wilmi ngton,” a chapel was built within the en-

!

closure. Among the Rocks and perhaps within

the lines of the fort, was a cave, large and

clean, over six feet high, enriched with a deli-

cious spring of fresh water, rising in a corner,

and flowing over the smooth rock bottom, till

it found an opening, to carry it off.

In the neighborhood, was an Indian burial

place, in the shape of a mound, long preserved

from injury, in which the children of a later

generaLioii found many Indian relics, viz

;

tomahawks, hatchets and wampum, as their

bead work was called.

The fort, it is seen, necessarily covered

much ground and was a laborious undertaking;

but, however arduous, it was finished before

the 31st July of the year they landed.

The works were scientifically directed ac-

cording to military engineering, being fur-

nished with bastions, parapets and breastworks,

mounted with cannon taken from the ships, and

stocked with ammunition and muskets.

For lack of bricks and shaped stone, both

of which materials were at first brought from

the Old World, they were obliged to use some-

thing that proved far better for their purpose,

which they found in the shape of pines and

hemlocks,abounding on the shores of the creek.

Lindstrom’s map of these localities furnishes

an agreeable piece of information, in having
“ Pine wood Point" laid down as a feature of

j

the country. It is, evidently, but a little way
up the Christiana, on the south side, as if

growing just back of the spot where the old

Jacquett house stilRstands. Logs were the

only material for many years, for all sorts of

buildings, churches and dwellings
;
these last,

being at first, only two stories high, having the

upper rooms furnished with long, narrow slits,

not very servicable for air or light, but good to
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put the barrels of muskets through, in case of

an attack from the savages.

As the new settlers have to cut down trees

and transport them to the building place, those

of the present day can sympathize with their

satisfaction, that they find a pine forest so near,

and by the side of the water; over which, by

means of rafts, they may float them, like Solo-

mon's cedars, and land them, at high tide, on

the Rocks, where they are to be used. By the

aid of a little imagination, we can almost see

them in their great engagement. It is in the

pleasant season of spring and early summer,

that invites onlookers to go out with the wood

choppers and view an operation that embraces

the nicest calculations of art
;

and though

laborious, is attended with romantic sounds

and fanciful music. Such, at least, is its cast

in the poet’s ears, who tells of stroke on stroke

resounding, cutting into the majestic trunk,

that must humbleitself under the sharp axe of

the early settlers. “Then, rustling, crackling,

crashing, thunders down.”

It may be, there was more of prose than

poetry in those hard working days
;

though

the Swedes and Fins were alive to imagina-

tion, and could be touched by what played

upon the feelings. They were not illiterate
;

they were religious and strictly attentive to

their day of rest and worship
;

they had not

come without their good pastor
;
they had, at

least,aclerk to pitch the tunes, who, in general,

acted as the schoolmaster. The young were

required to be instructed, church discipline was

to be maintained
;

and on the Sabbath they

would recall the past and tax their memories

to produce the old tunes and songs, and re-pe-

ruse the books, on which their younger days

had been nurtured. Those of the higher order,

coming over in later days, brought valuable

plate, for household use, showing tasteful culti-

vation. In the earliest days, also, they kept

up all the pretty, simple and decent fashions

|

of dress and manners, they had known in the

fatherland
;

maintaining them for so many
years, that, to the eyes of new comers from

Sweden, in very late times, the good people in

Delaware showed just like the same classes of

men, women and children, living at home.
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CHAPTER XI.

Colonists Build Houses—Christinaham— •

Tranhook— Trading visits to natives—Discour-

aged—Arrival of Friends from Sweden—
Other Settlers—Arrival of Printz— Tinicutn.

HEN the Fort was finished the Colo-

^^nists gave their uninterrupted atten-

tion to building and furnishing their

£3# family houses. As the water, at high

tide, overflowed the meadows, on the east and

west sides of the Fort, and the creek flowed on

the south, no spot very close to the fortifica-

tion, remained, fit for building on, but the

tract on the north towards the Brandywine.

In this direction the little town of Christina*

ham gradually made its appearance, but as

that region was at first overgrown with timber,

it was long before clearings were made, and

even in Acrelius’ time, a century later, some

of the woods were still standing.
mm rvo rv taI—

’

lowever, w ere nor afraid to

dwell wrherever an open place gave a building

lot, even if it was across the kill, as the Christ-

iana was called, on the south, in the suburb,

called Tranhook. Here the royal surveyor

Kling, built his dwelling, lacing the Delaware,

having a meadow on the left sweeping down

to the creek, and a young orchard planted on

the right
;
and it may ' be supposed, many

followed his example. Thus in time, the

Colonists became sprinkled over the adjoining

regions, in such localities as best suited their

calling, whether in hunting or cultivation; and

as they extended their farms and dwellings, the

Indians withdrew deeper within the forest

shades to denser retreats.

Of all the various tribes that inhabited New
Sweden, the settlers were on the best terms

of friendship with the Minquas. They lived

somewhat intermingled, and Miss Montgom-

ery, p. 46, tells of an ancient Swede, who built

his Cabin and lived, securely, amid the red

men, in Bandywine hundred. Some of the Ind-

ians were with the Colonists, every day; and at

certain seasons of the year, mainly after plant-

ing their corn, in June, they came in great

numbers to trade. In like manner, after affairs

were settled and ways opened, the Swedes,

once or twice a year, made journeys to the

wigwams in the Indian country, carrying their

wares
;
but having bitterly to complain of the

the roads, over sharp grey stones, swamps,

brooks, and unbridged streams. The bartering

articles on the Indian side, were beaver skins,

raccoon and sable, grey fox and wild cat,

lynx and bear and deer. For these, they re-

ceived from the Swedes, awls and needles,

scissors and knives, axes, guns, powder and

ball, beads and blankets of felt or frieze. The
Swedes acquired the confidence of the Indians

and took care to put prices down, so as to

undersell the Dutch traders who came from

the Jersey side and from Manhattan
;
by which

means they injured their business to the

amount of 30,000 florins
;
and were so success-

ful, that, during the first year, notwithstanding

all their extraordinary labor, they exported

as many as thirty thousand peltries.

But notwithstanding their success and the

zeal with which they set out to people the

wilderness and Christianize the heathen
;
ac-

cording to Dutch accounts, the Colonists

became much discouraged. They were few in

number to begin with ; some must have depar-

ted this life
;
they had to toil hard and saw no

end of labor in their day. But worst of all,

they felt themselves cut off from home; and for

two years they had received no word to cheer

them, nor any fresh supplies, nor any new
forces of men, to relieve the unceasing watch-

ing and working. Despondency paralyzed their

hands and despair seized upon their hearts; and,

it is said, they came to the full determination

to forsake the ground they had so far subdued
;

and so Delaware came into sore jeopardy of

being once more left a country, without Euro-

pean inhabitant. They had no ship, it seems,

in which to return to the Fatherland
;
but they

could walk up the Delaware banks and cross

to Manhattan and live among the Dutch
;
and

this was their purpose. They determined to

emigrate
;
every preparation was made

;
they

would start the next day ! But lo ! by a good
Providence, they were stopped. That very

evening, on the 17th of April, 1640, Fort

Christina was startled by the sound of can-

non, from the river, and presently, to their

great joy, they are aware of the approach of a

ship with the colors of Sweden streaming from

her masts. She proves to be their old acquaint-

ance, Key of Calmar, Captain Jansen, fresh from

Swreden, bringing their new Gov. P. Hollen-

dare, with several companies of emigrants, and

laden with cattle and implements of hus-
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bandry. She was also the bearer of a letter from

the home authorities, informing them that two

more ships would soon be on the way. This

is called the Second Expedition, whose arrival

necessarily, made a change in their plans :

they gladly gave up their design of passing

over to New Netherlands, and the Dutch

were disappointed in their hope of the breaking

up of the Swedish Settlement. Instead of

this, New Sweden was soon augmented, and

good neighbors placed within supporting dis-

tance, by the arrival, Nov. 2nd, 1640, of many

Hollanders from Utrecht, to live under their

government. It seems that a charter was

given by the Swedish government to a com-

pany in Holland, composed of Gothbert de

Rehden, William De idorst and others, after-

ward assigned to Henry Hockhammer and

others, for the purpose of sendingoutandestab-

lishing a Colony on both sides of the South-

River, i.e. the Delaware. By the same authority,

Jost de Bogart was appointed chief Director

of all the Hollanders, that might come, who
bound himself to be faithful to the interests of

the Queen of Sweden and obey Swedish laws

and regulations. This Dutch Colony might

have been numerous enough to fill two or three

vessels, with man}'- cattle and abundant neces-

saries. They were required to settle, at least,

18 English miles south of Fort Christina and,

probably, occupied land only on the Delaware

side of the river
;
but the actual number and

names of the settlers are not known, and so

bare are all records and footprints of these

comers, that it is impossible to determine

the localities where they lived
;

.
the closest

search pointing to the neighborhood of French-

town, Delaware City, and the region of St.

George’s, in Appoquinimink Hundred, New
Castle County. The terms of the Charter

were exceedingly liberal for that day
;

for,

although the Dutch were of the Reformed

Calvanistic form of worship, it is pleasing to

see religious toleration maintained by the

Lutherans of Sweden, in allowing them to

teach and worship, on Swedish soil, according

to their own doctrines. They were even

required to support as many ministers and

schoolmasters as the inhabitants needed, and

should be concerned for the conversion of

the natives to Christianity. They came in

the Fredenburg, Capt. Jacob Powelson, and

helped to fill the empty places with people.

and, no doubt, many now living in the State,

are their descendants.

In the Spring of 1642 some English families

settled on the Schuylkill, “with a view to

trade,” says Trumbull, in his history of Con-
necticut, “ and for the settlement of churches

in Gospel order and purity”; vol. I. But out of

jealousy they were violently interfered with, as

intruders, by both Dutch and Swedes, and,

probably entirely driven off.

A Third Expedition is now to be noted under

surveyor Kling who went to Sweden in 1640

and returned in 1641. During the year 1642,

much sickness and mortality afflicted the set-

tlers on the Delaware, but in the next year,

they were encouraged and strengthened by

the coming of a Fourth colony from Sweden.

This formed the Expedition sent in company
with Governor, Lieutenant Colonel John
Printz, who, with his appointment, received

from the Swedish Council of State, many
definite items of instruction for his adminis- i

tration. in all directions. But before all other i

interests, the eminent men then forming the

Royal Council, required the Governor to

consider and see that true and due worship

be paid to the most High God. Two vessels

of war, the Swan and Charitas, and an

armed transport called the Fame, formed

the squadron that brought over the new
Governor, his wife and daughter, and a large

number of emigrants, with troops, arms, am-
j

munition and all necessaries. With this arrival

came an eminent clergyman, Master John

Campanius, selected by the Swedish Council,

to act as government chaplain, and watch

over the Swedish congregation. He remained

in the country six years, laboring diligently,

both for his own’people and the Indians, whose'

;

language he learned, and for their benefit trans-

lated the Lutheran Catechism, which was after-
j

ward printed and used. Of his residence in

New Sweden, he kept a journal, out of which
|

his grandson, Thomas Campanius compiled his
;

“Description of the Province,” which is held 1

to be of great value, although the book is

evidently marred with many mistakes.

Campanius arrived opportunely, to take the

place of Pastor Torkillus, who died at Fort

Christina, September 7th, 1643, and was,

undoubtedly, buried in the ancient cemetery

in the midst of which the Swedes church

of Wilmington was built in 169S.
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There, too, it had generally been supposed

the first Governor, Peter Minuet was buried,

having died, it was said, at the same place,

after three years’ faithful service for the

Colony. Later information, however, brings

us sorrow for the real fate of this noted

man. In the summer or fall of the same
year in which he arrived, it seems he em-
barked in the Key of Calmar to return to

Sweden. Stopping at the West Indies, he

went on board a Dutch ship to dine, when, by

a passing hurricane, the ship and all on board

were buried in the sea. This account is sup-

ported by the fact, that a new Governor came
over so soon afterward, and, until his arrival,

the Governmental affairs seem to have been in

the hands of Kling and Henry Huygheu as an

associate. This second Governor was Peter

Hollendare, a Swedish Knight and Lieutenant

in the Army. He ruled till the arrival of the

third Governor, which gave him an adminis-

tration of more than three years
;
but of this

Ifinmiprirvl no records wha tpver have come toO L ’

hand, unless, by his efforts the boundaries of

the Colony were carried to Trenton Falls, of

which some evidence is to be found. He satis-

fied the Swedish Government; for, upon his

return, he was appointed commander of the

Arsenal at Stockholm.

Printz, the 3rd Governor, was accompanied

by the largest military force that had yet

entered the Delaware. Arriving the 15th Feb.,

1643. Governor Printz made himself famous

by his sharp practice with the Dutch, in

strictly following his instructions to hold the

Delaware on both sides, for the crown of

Sweden. He had a strong will
;
was probably

somewhat rapacious, but acted with boldness,

energy and perseverance. According to Dutch

report, he was great in other respects, being

so large in body as to weigh 400 lbs., and stout

enough to bear three drinks at a meal, and

how many meals a day, it is not said. He
was allowed to choose any spot, in New
Sweden, for his residence he deemed most
convenient for the administration of his office.

The old Fort Christina had been the place

of resort for every kind of business, and the

residence of the two former Governors
;
but

having an enlarged policy to handle and large

forces at his command, Printz comes out from
the creek upon the broad river and chooses
Tinicum Island, as it is now called, and the

I

present Lazaretto Station, for the new Capitol;

where,on the northern extremity of the Island,

he builds a stately house, called “ Printz

Hall.” For the time and place, and indeed,

for any time and place, it would be a grand

mansion. It is built of brick, having a wide

entrance, long corridors and spacious wain-

scotted rooms, with folding doors
;
the panels

hung with stiff looking portraits, the stairs

broad and defended by high balustrades.

The house is surrounded with orchards, having

two locust trees planted before the door, and

adorned with gardens, well laid out, and

furnished with summer houses, and walks, and

whatever else hard labor can accomplish to

make a graceful and luxurious retreat. Here

the Governor lives in state assisted by his

stylish daughter, Madame Armagot, married

to John Papegoija
;
and such is the drawing

influence of his presence and fashionable way
of living, thp.t in time, all the free and richer

classes are moved to make their residences

and plantations upon the same beautiful island.

On the manor grounds, a handsome, wooden
church was built, which Master Campanius
consecrated, Sep. 4th, 1646, and which served

for many years as a place of worship. There,

too, as a matter of equal necessity, a grave

yard was laid out, the first interment in which,

was the body of Catharine, daughter of An-
drew Hanson, buried Sep. 28th, of the same year.

A curious feature of the church erections of

that day, told by Acrelius, page, 176, makes
them “ militant ” in another sense 'than what
is generally understood by the expression.

Not being sure of the Indians, a projection

was run out, at a suitable height, and built up
with a few layers of logs, whence the Swedes
could shoot down upon the heathen, should

they fall upon them whilst at worship
;
who,

using only bows and arrows could do them
little or no injury.

CHAPTER XII.

New Gotheburg, Elsenborg, Korsholm
, Forts

built by Printz—Meeting of the Sachems— Col-
lege of Commerce—Rising—Fort Cassimir Ca-
pitulates.

'JlRINTZ HALL was so substantially

^ Inbuilt that it lasted for 175 years, and

y
'

-y would, by care, have stood twice as

fC/'
1 many more, but was accidentally burned

to ruins in the year 1811.
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The chief reason why Gov. Printz selected
j

Tinicum for his residence was, its nearness to
j

the Dutch fort Nassau, on the Jersey side of

the river a little above
;
as a check to which

he built a strong fort on the island, well armed

with cannon from his ships,which he called New
Gotheburg. And not satisfied with this de-

fense, in order to take proper care ofthe Swedish

territory on the Jersey side, he went down to

Mill Creek, afterward called Salem Creek,

and on the south side of the stream where

it enters the Delaware, erected another fort,

called Elsenborg, which was armed with eight

twelve-pound guns
;
four of iron and four of

brass, and garrisoned by twelve men. So en-

ergetic was he that both forts were completed

within eight months after landing
;
in addition

to which, he had a fortified place at Passayunk,

called Korsholm, under the command of

Lieut. Swen Schute, and another fine fort like

the others, made of logs, with sand and stones

packed between, at Manayunk Beside these,

Upland now Chester,had d fortification around

which some houses were clustered, and still

another fort was placed on an island now
gone, near the mouth of the Schuylkill By
means of the Elsenborg fort, on Salem Creek,

Printz would stop and search the incoming

Dutch ships, making them lower their flags

and pay toll, which the Hollanders looked

upon as a great dishonor : and this did not fail

to excite wrath and nurse the growing spirit

of hostility.

For the time, the Swedish forces on the river

greatly exceeded the numbers of the Dutch.

Besides the squadron that accompanied Printz,

at least three reinforcements, called expedi-

tions, had followed in a few years; viz : The
Black Cat, with warlike stores and goods for

trade
;
the Swan, bringing many emigrants,

and the Key and Lamb with more troops and

ammunition
;
and thisaccession of strength no

doubt kept up the Governor’s arrogant and

exacting temper. We have records up to this

time of Seven different Expeditions. An
Eighth set out with seventy emigrants, but

met with so many misfortunes, that not a

soul reached the settlement, and very few got

back to Sweden.

Finding Fort Nassau no longer of any use,

Peter Stuyvesant, Gov. of New Netherlands, !

at Manhattan, and a manager equal to Printz,

determined to dismantle that fortification, and
j

|
build a new fort on the western side of the

j

river, below Fort Christina, at a place the

Dutch called Sandhukcn, afterward New Am-
stel, the ancient name of Amsterdam, and

which the English afterward named New Cas-

tle.

To carry out this purpose, he himself re-

paired to the Delaware, which was his first

visit. He early waited on Gov. Printz, at Tini-

cum, and endeavored in a peaceful way to

settle all the growing difficulties
;
for, in fear

of the English, both Sweden and Holland

perceived it was their best policy to hold the

Delaware in common. Not being able to get

satisfaction from Printz, he was obliged to

take stronger measures to defend the Dutch
claims. He therefore sailed down the river,

took a survey of the shores on the west side,

below Christiana Creek, and selected Sandhu-
ken as a salient point, most favorable for a

defensive position, and as a good location for

trade and commerce. Here he assembled all

the neighboring Sachems, and upon their

denying that they had ever sold the land to

the Swedes, he made a purchase reaching from

Fort Christina to the rnouth of the river, or

Bombay Plook, a bargain not worth an Indian

lie
;
for, according to Vincent, quoting O'Cal-

lighan, vol. II. page 1 66, it was made on con-

dition, they would repair the gun of the chief

Pemmennatta, when out of order, and give

them a little maize, when it was needed. The
purchase was made on the 19th of Julv, 1651,

and Stuyvesant, against all the remonstrances

of the Swedish Governor, proceeded at once

to erect the Fort, which was armed and gar-

risoned insufficient strength "to resist any at-

j

tempt of the Swedes to assault and gain posses-

sion. The Fort was named Cassimir, after

Prince John Cassimir, the Palatine of the

Rhine. This act, however,was neither ordered

or approved by the Holland authorities.

The Swedish Governor was, by this time, be-

ginning to tire of his labors, and grow a little

scared at the storm he saw gathering with the

Dutch, a storm he had so potent a hand in

raising; and no wonder he thought of a return

to the Fatherland. In addition to his violent

proceedings down the river, stout quarrels, in-

sulting passages, and bloady menaces arose

’between the two parties in the region of the

Schuylkill, where, in the person of Andreas

1

Huddethe Dutch Commissary at Fort Nassau,
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he had to encounter a more active and deter-

mined man than his predecessor, Jan Jansen,

and one worthy to be named with the re-

doubtable Stuveysant himself. The Governor,

it is said, also found himself growing unpopu-

lar with the Swedish colonists, because of the

severe exercise of his authority
;
and for some

time no new reinforcements had arrived, whilst

the power of the Dutch increased. Vincent

says, page 217, that before the building of Fort

Cassimir, the Swedes became so discouraged,

and, perhaps, disaffected toward Gov. Printz,

as to request Stuyvesant to take them under

his care as Dutch subjects, which he declined

to do before consulting with the home authori-

ties
;
who sent their approval of his protecting

all, in their citizen rights, who were willing to

obey Dutch laws and statutes. Moved by all

these annoyances and dangers, and thinking

the Colony abandoned at home, Printz sent

his agents to Sweden, to apprise the govern-

ment of the growing perils, and earnestly to

solicit reinforcements: but before replies could

be returned
,
without a release, he left his post.

It was not a desertion, however, for his com-
mission allowed him to return, if he chose, in

three years, and he had stayed ten. He left

the beginning of Nov. 1653, appointing his

son-in law, John Papegoija, Deputy Governor,

and was honorably received at home
;
being

made a General and afterward promoted to be

Governor of the district of Jonkoping. He lived

till the year 1663. In the mean time affairs

were in the hands of the Deputy Governor,

about 18 months, until the arrival, in May,

1654, of John Claudius Rising, the successor

of Printz.

At this time, a press of' governmental

affairs at home induced the Swedish authori-

ties to commit the colonial department to the

General College of Commerce. By them two

extraordinary officials were appointed, Capt.

John Anunelsen to oversee ship building, and

command the Colonial Navy, and Rising to

be Commissary and Counsellor, to aid Gov.

Printz, on the supposition that he was still on

the ground. From such appointments, it

looks as if these shrewd merchants were not

altogether satisfied with Printz’s doings, and

his unchecked authority
;
although they ex-

pressed regret, if he should see fit
, immediately

to return, before they could make arrange-

ments in regard to his successor.

[
The merchant directors at home, evidently

;
took a wider view of Colonial interests, and
laid out a considerable departure from the old

1 arbitrary controversial ways of management

I

in New Sweden. A division of authority was

|

to be made between the military and civil

administrators, but they were to act in har-

mony. A Council of the best officials, also,

was to be established, for consultation; and
every means must be employed to facilitate

commerce ; for which purpose, duties were
lowered, and in some cases done away, and
new privileges offered to all classes, who
would trade or settle in the Colony.

John Claudius Rising, who had been Secre-

tary of the College of Commerce wras ap-

pointed by the college—to which the business

had been entrusted, on the 12th of December
1653—and sailed the 27th of January 1654,

arriving at the Delaware in the month of May.
This is reckoned the Ninth Expedition. He
came over in the ship of war Aden or Eagle
Captain Swensko, with two or three hundred
people, including officers, troops and new set-

j

tiers,among whom were the military engineer,

Peter Lindstrom and a clergyman named
Peter. Acrelius says, page 62, that over a

hundred families, of good and respectable peo-

j

pie, with wives and children, would have come

|

over with this expedition, but could find no

\

room in the ship.

j

Rising was sent only as Commissioner and

|

Counsellor to Gov. Printz
;
and as Printz had

|

left the Colony before the arrival of Rising,

I

he took upon himself the supreme authority,

i

as he undoubtedly was warranted and com-

j

missioned to do
;

but the first exploit he
achieved, upon entering the Delaware, if he
supposed the old Governor was-on the ground,

i

was marvelously disrespectful of his will, and
entirely at variance with his instructions

;
for,

whilst he might use serious remonstrances
with the Dutch, to abandon Fort Cassimir, he

was commanded not to resort to any hostili-

ties.

But what was his proceeding ? Cap’t. Gerrit
!

Bikker commanded Fort Cassimir with a ear-

rison of ten or twelve Dutch soldiers, around
which were grouped about 22 houses.

As the ship came in sight, he dispatched

Adrien Van Tienhooven and others, to hail

, the vessel and inquire who they were. The

j

Commissioners returned the next day, inform-
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jng the Commander it was a Swedish Ship ot

War, with a new Governor, and that he de-

manded an immediate surrender ot the Fort.

Bikker required time for deliberation, but at

the end of two hours, two guns were fired

from the ship, and Capt. Swensko landed with

30 soldiers. Bikker came out of the Fort and

received them on the beach; when this storm-

ing party hurried in through the open gates,

posted themselves in the different bastions,

and at the point of the sword, demanded a

surrender : and wdien some of the Dutch

leveled their pieces at the Sv'edish soldiers,

their muskets were snatched from their hands,

and their side arms forcibly taken. According

to Holland Documents, the Dutch garrison

were chased out of the Fort, their proper-

ty taken possession of, and all the goods in

the Fort confiscated. Bikker complained to

Stuyvesant, that only by entreaties, was he,

with wife and children, saved from being shut

out, and left almost naked.

Acrelius. on the other hand, records, that a

correct inventory of every thing in the Fort

was made, and every one allowed to carry off

his property. ' The Dutch, also, might freely

remove, or if they took the oath of allegiance

to the Crown of Sweden, they might remain

and be protected in all their rights
;
and this

course was taken by the Dutch residing in the

neighborhood. In this summary way, the

Dutch authority was, for the time, uprooted.

No apology can be entered for Rising
;
but in

such an extraordinary proceeding, whatever

favorable statement may be made, on good

authority
,
seems to be demanded. Rising, ac-

cording to Acrelius, demanded the Fort on

the ground that it had been built against

their protests, on Swredish Territory. O’Cal-

laghan, note to Acrelius, page 63 says, that

Gov. Stuyvesant had acted without orders in

building the Fort, and that the West India

Directors were not altogether disposed to

sustain him in the matter.

It is also said by Vincent, page 227, that Stuy-

vesant. on the 2nd of June, before the capture

of the Fort was known at New Amsterdam,
had proposed to his Council to abandon Cassi-

mir
;
for what reason it is not known, and Bik-

ker, in his letter before mentioned, says, the

“Swedish Governor pretends that her majesty,

(ofSweden) has license from the States General,

that she may possess this river provisionally.”

j
Rising, having got the Fort, determined to

keep it, and to this end it w'as put into the

hands of Lindstrom, who changed the plan,

enlarged the fortified area, and improved the

j

outworks
;
and by adding four fourteen pound

cannon, he made it almost new and much
more formidable than before.

As the Fort was taken on Trinity Sunday,

31st of May, according to Dutch records, the

name of “Trinity” was given it by the Swedes.

According to a well compiled story book,

“life in New Sweden, two hundred years

ago,” the people were worshipping as usual in

their little Church at Christina, on a warm
and brilliant Sabbath day, when just as Lars

Lock, the Preacher, has ascended the pulpit

to announce the text, all are startled by the

sound of a cannon, fired at a distance. Think-

ing only of the Indians, the men rush for

their arms, dispensing with the sermon. As
soon as it is ascertained that no domestic

enemies are near, and another report calls

their attention to the water, they all make
their way toward the river shore

;
and as the

smoke is seen in the direction of Fort Cassi-

mir, some of the men take to their boats, and

by afternoon, the Colonists are gladdened

with the news, that it is their new Governor

Rising, and that the Dutch Fort is in their

hands.

The arrival of the Eagle, with new officers,

soldiers and settlers, make a great, but pleas-

ing commotion in the little Colony. They
gladly open their doors to the new comers

till they can put up dwellings for themselves;

and the Governor keeps all busy, day and

night, not only on the works, just captured,

but in strengthening and multiplying the de-

fenses of Christina.

CHAPTER XIII.

Rising
,
Director General of New Sweden—

Stuyvesant
,
Governor of Neiv A msterdam

,
inter-

feres—Preparations—Fleet sent to the Dela-
ware—Demand the surrender of Fort Cassi-
mir— Dutch victorious—Lay seige to Fort Chris-
tina—Surrender of the Swedes— Terms of the

victors—Conquest of New Sweden.

'fj^LIIORTLY after the arrival of Rising,

Pappegoija the deputy Governor, left the

}
colony and returned to Sweden, when
Rising took the title of Director Gen-

eral of New Sweden and assumed supreme
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authority. His first public act in this capacity

was to assemble the Indians of the region, for

the purpose of strengthening the friendship

and renewing the treaty between them. As

the most central point, they were brought to-

gether on ^inicum Island, and on the 17th of

June, ten Sachems with their followers, were

assembled at Printz Hall. Some complaints

were made against the Swedes, and it took a

profusion of gifts to smooth their ruffled feel-

ings. The usual effect followed, for when the

the chiefs retired to deliberate, it was resolved

to live in friendship with the Governor and his

people.

When they had all met together again, Naa-

man, a distinguished chief from the neighbor-

ing creek, that still bears his name, made an

oration. Pointing to the gifts, he reproached

those who spoke ill of the good Swedes. He
then stroked his arm three times, in token of

perpetual amity
;

striking his breast, he de-

clared the two parties should be as one body
^r. ! r.r.r H.-Tirt- He 4-Roe cnueeyed n I ^ head IuiKi uue 11V.C11 kt a ^ — — — — -

with both hands and made motions like tying

a knot, saying they should be as one head
;
and

not yet exhausting his figures, he took a good

sized calabash for comparison, declaiming, that

as that was round without seam or rent, so

there should be no crack in their dealings with

each other. Upon the Indians raising a loud

and unanimous shout, in assent to these friendly

sentiments, the garrison at the fort gave a

salute of several guns. At this honor, the

Indians were greatly pleased, and cried, “Pu,

hu, hu, mockirich pickon,” meaning :
“ Hear

now, can believe, the great guns are firing.”

They were, then, treated to wine and brandy.

After this, the old deeds of purchase were read

to them, to be confirmed. At the sound of

their own names, like children that had never

seen their names in print before, they were

quite elevated
;
but when some dead chiefs were

called, they hung down their heads, either for

sorrow or shame, as if it was their fault or dis-

grace, that they had departed. I11 the mean-

time, several great kettles of hasty pudding or

sepawn, had been prepared of which the com-

mon Indians, took their fill, whilst the chiefs

sat apart, smoking in quiet dignity.

Another set of praiseworthy acts, Acrelius

ascribes to Rising and the tlnginecr Lind-

strom, consisting of a careful investigation

into the nature of the soil, its capabilities and

productions; a census of the inhabitants of New
Sweden and a map of the river and bay on

both sides, extending from the capes, to Tren-

ton Falls, showing the numerous creeks and

islands, with the names of the localities as

they were then determined. A copy of this

map in smaller dimensions is yet preserved in

Arcrelius, as edited by Dr. Reynolds. The
population of New Sweden, both Dutch and

Swedes, was found to be 368. As there

were only 70 persons when Rising arrived, ac-

cording to his letter to Sweden, July 11th, he

must have brought -with him about 300 ;
whilst

the small number, at his arrival would indicate

avast mortality; nor is this unlikely, for Acre-

lius in a note, page 67, declares the region,

so late as 1682, to be lying waste and to be

most unhealthy.

In the Dutch invasion that soon follows, we

need not be surprised that such small gar-

risons are found to defend the forts
; 47 men

seems to be the strength of Fort Trinity, even

a Per if had been reinforced. Thirty defended

Christina, and some men must have been

stationed to defend Fort Gotheborg on Tini-

cum Island, and the little defenses higher up

the river. As for Elsenborg, on Salem Creek,

that had long been abandoned, the garrison

having been driven away, it is said, by . the

violence of the mosquitoes, which gained for

it the name of Myggenborg ! The Dutch de-

termined to retake Fort Cassimir.

But had Peter Stuyvesant, the Dutch gov-

ernor of New Amsterdam known the weak-

ness of Sweden on the Delaware, the drum

need not tohave been beaten for recruits, in the

cities of Holland, nor the whole garrison taken

from Manhattan
;
they need not have waited

till Sweden was exhausted and the great Oxen-
steirri was dead, and they were at peace with

England, before making the attack : and then,

after long and secret preparations had been

made and pains taken to lull Rising into a

sense of security, to sail away from Manhattan

speedily, with a squadron of seven war ships

and armed transports
,
and an army of 700 men!

As a matter of fact, from the day Fort Cassi-

mir was taken, Stuyvesant began to collect

forces and make preparations for recovering

his property. His ill temper first showed itself

in capturing and detaining the Swedish ship,

Golden Shark, sent with reinforcements to the

Delaware, but, which inadvertently, got into
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Raritarl river. This vessel could hardly have
[

the New Jersey

been the little, leaky old lugger of only 40 or
j

and as this was,

45 tons, the Dutch represented her to be; see-

ing they offered to give her up in exchange for

Fort Cassimir, which, however, Rising refused.

By the 1 6th Nov. letters came from Hol-

land to Manhattan. The Dutch W. I. Com-
pany were greatly exasperated at the Swedes

and ordered Stuyvesant to make every exer-

tion, till they were driven, entirely, from the

river. They promised all kinds of help, and

sent over a ship of war called the Balance,

Capt. Frederick de Koninck, with two or three

other vessels filled with soldiers, gunners and

carpenters and abundance of ammunition
;
and

if anything frightful is in a name, the “ Great

Christopher” and “ King Solomon” ought to

have appalled the Swedes. Even a French

privateer, the L’Espcrance, Capt.- Jean Fla-

mand that happened to be in New Amsterdam,

was hired for the expedition, which authorized

them to raise the ‘Oriflamme” of France

against the Swedes. After the observance of

a fast and prayer day for the success of the en-

terprise, seeing it was undertaken not only for

the security of the Province, but for the glory

of God’s name, on Saturday 5th September,

1655, the squadron set sail. All the eyes in

New Amsterdam must have looked after them

from the Battery, on that fair and brilliant

September day, as the ship passed down the

resplendent bay and off through the Narrows
;

of necessity, under a favoring wind
;

for the

next day, the 6th, they reached the Delaware.

Being delayed a little in the river by the un-

favorable tides, they did not reach Salem Creek

till the next Thursday; where the Governor

landed all his men, at the deserted fort, to give

them some relief from the crowded ships, and

to review and recast the troops into conven-

ient Companies. Salem Creek is nearly op-

posite Delaware City, at the distance of 5

miles, and New Castle, the seat of Fort Cas-

simir, is 7 miles distant from Delaware City,

making a straight line across the beautiful

rounding cove or bight lying between the two
last named points. The fleet lay in full sight

of Fort Cassimir, and Swen Schute or Skitte,

the commander, ought not only to have been

forewarned, but should have sent word to Gov-

ernor Rising, who knew nothing of the enemy,

till Cassimir was fully invested.

The present ship channel from Salem lies on

or eastern side of the river,

probably, the case 200 years

ago, one standing at Delaware City could have
seen the sailing of this Dutch invasion as it

passed slowly up the river. On Friday morn-
ing Captain de Koninck, the naval commander
sailed past the fort, between 8 and 9 o’clock,

when 50 men were landed on a point called

Swanevik, who immediately began to erect

breastworks and plant a battery against the

fort, thus cutting off communication with Fort

Christina. However, word was sent to Rising

in the night. Capt. Smidt and a drummer were
immediately sent to demand the surrender of

Cassimir, whic 1 Stuyvesant claimed as their

own property. When Schute asked leave tc

send for instructions, to Gov. Rising, it was

refused
;

when he asked for a delay till the

next day, it was granted, because the Dutch
batteries could not be ready before that time.

Then, unconditional and instant surrender was
required,and as the Swedish soldiers refused tc

fight against such odds, by noon on Saturday
the Dutch troops marched into the fort. Stuy-

vesant, in his Journal, published in Acrelius,

says, “ Thirty Swedes have surrendered to us

and desire to settle in Manhattan.” He adds,

“It seems that many others may follow them.’

Honorable terms were allowed by the articles

of capitulation, which were signed on ship-

board, Sept. 16, 1655.

After this, feeling pretty sure of the result,

Stuyvesant, was in no hurry to march upon

Christina. He records : “In one or two days,

we shall march thither, but we shall march
slowly, so that our people may not be fatigued,”

which must be very considerate, seeing the

direct distance was but 5 miles.

Can Diedrick Knickerbocker indeed, be in

the right ? We cannot receive his account of

the taking of Fort Cassimir, in the face of

graver authorities
;

but he says, “a boy was
just sent into the cabin for a live coal, to touch

off the swivel, when the Swedish flag was low-

ered ;” but certainly great deliberation was
used in the transaction.

Gov. Rising seems very dull of understanding.

He did not, or would not, see the real object

of the Dutch invasion, and sent Factor Elswyk
to ask “what was the intention, and who did it ?”

Stuyvesant says, “in a polite way,” and sug-

|

gested “that the Dutch ought to rest satisfied

! with what they had got and not go any further ;”
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warning him by the use of the Latin adage
; |

“ Hodie mihi, eyas tibi (mine to-day, yours
j

to-morrow ;) which soon came to pass, in res- 1

pect to Fort Christina, in another way from
j

that which he threatened.

There is some contradiction, too, between
j

j

Gov. Rising's account of the Dutch approach
J

and siege of Fort Christina,and that of Acrelius.
|

The latter records, that the Dutch did not

advance to Christiana Creek, directly in front

of the Fort, but made a circuit, crossing where

the Wilmington bridge is now built, and

thence marching eastward and taking the

Fort in the rear. Nor did they go to much
trouble in forming the siege. The time, which

was only a few days, was mostly occupied in

negotiations, without a single shot being fired

or a single Hollander’s blood being shed.

From Rising’s official statements, New
York, Historical Society, Coll. Vol. I.,the Dutch

came boldly up to the Creek under the muzzles

of the cannon, seized a Swedish sloop and
t-oicori ttip.iV fl-irr to fnn of her mast, andO ~ ' i.

fortified a house, near the old Ferry
;
under

cover of which they threw up entrenchments

and planted a battery. Then the transport ves-

sels were brought into the Brandywine and the

troops landed on the north side of the stream,

and by this route they reached the rear of the

the Fort
;
planting batteries, with supporting

companies of soldiers, on the north, on the

north-west, and on the north-east. Finally,

the armed ships were anchored at the mouth

of the Brandywine, in the Christiana, within

close range of the Fort. Of these four batteries,

as shown on Lindstrom’s plan of the siege, pre-

served in Ferris’ Book, Slangenborg was on the

south side of the Creek, and Myggenborg, Rot-

tinborg and Flmgenborg behind the F'ort. But

with all this complete investment, wisely,

there was neither Slangen nor Flingen, on

either side, except that the Swedes burnt a

little powder to scale a couple of their guns,

and the Dutch fired some volleys of musketry

over the heads of the Swedes. What a grim

humor, too, is seen in the names given by these

fellows to their batteries ! !

Under all these hostile demonstrations, it

was, certainly, boldly done, that the Swedes ,

resolved to make the best resistance and the

longest defense they could. But how this reso-

lution could be carried into effect, it is impossi-

ble to see since, as Rising says, their powder

would scarcely supply a single round of their

guns, some of the 30 men were sick, some

ill-disposed, some had deserted, all were near-

ly worn out with watching and working, pro-

visions were failing, and some signs of mutiny

were apparent among them.

So, as the Dutch, from eminences, had such

complete command of the Fort, as that not a

man could show himself on the ramparts in

safety
;
and Stuyvesant demanded ’a surren-

der in 24 hours, on pain of receiving no

quarter; so a council of war unanimously deter-

mined to surrender to the Dutch on the best

terms that could be obtained. These terms

were the best a conquered people could receive,

and they were altogether just and generous.

The garrison were to march but to the

sound of their own music, under their

own flags and with their arms in their" hands.

Public and private property was untouched.

Those who wished to remain, might do so,

upon taking the oath of allegiance to the

Dutch Government
;
and those who left, might

carry their property with them or have time

to sell it, and be freely transported to

Sweden. They should have the freedom of

their own Lutheran worship and doctrine,

and a minister to take care of their religious

interests if they remained.

To Govenor Rising, money was loaned for his

expenses home, by Govenor Stuyvesant, who
treated him kindly and honorably. It is

not likely that every particular was fully car-

ried out
;
and Rising entered many complaints

asrainst the Dutch. But he was bound to

consider that his own sudden violence at Fort

Cassimir had now brought a host of mer-

cenary soldiers upon him
;
and though deter-

mined, as far as his wooden leg would allow,

Peter Stuyvesant could not keep men, educa-

ted in rough European warfare, from roving

round, robbing roosts and killing pigs, and

even entering and stirring up human nests

with no gentle hand !

But whilst there is one record of a mob of

Dutch on the evening of September 28th,

assaulting and plundering, yet another may be

produced in a letter sent to Sweden, 38 years

later, in which the Swedes say, “we have been

well and kindly treated, as well by the Dutch ,

as by his majesty, the King of England, and

we live in the greatest union, amity and peace

with each other.” Ferris, page 104. Such is
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the story of events by which Delaware ceased

to bear the name of New Sweden, and was

incorporated into the somewhat undefinable

boundaries of the New Netherlands.

Late in the fall, the victorious Stuyvesant

returned in triumph to New Amsterdam,

leaving Captain Derk Smidt to act as Com-

mandant of the Delaware Forts and settle-

ments !

It may be added to this account of the con-

quest of New Sweden, that some authorities

assert that Stuyvesant offered to divide the

Territory, giving to Sweden the portion north

of the Christina Creek, and holding the part

south of that stream for the Dutch. Whether

this offer was really made or not, or was seri-

ously proposed, no such division was ever

made. If it was ever offered it was not ac-

cepted by the Swedes.

LHAnt,R XIV.

them that each party were at liberty to go

where his purse and wares best suited. When
the chiefs claimed the usual presents upon the

confirmation of a treaty, Jaquette courteously

told them the Dutch wished to live in friend-

ship with them
;
and although goods were

scarce, they would do by them as liberally as

they were able.

The laying out of streets and lots and the

building of private and public houses, seems

to have demanded Jaquette’s first attention
;

and by working in such a direction, he laid the

foundation of the town they called New Ams-
tel, after the original name of Amsterdam in

Holland, and which the English afterward

named New Castle. It seems that Fort Cassi-

mir was located on the north of the present

Town, on a promontory of land, long ago

washed away. The Regulations required a

street to be laid out on the south side of the

Fortress, four or five rods wide,making a breadth

from 66 to 82 feet. The lots were to be forty

or fifty feet wide by one hundred in depth, and

Delaware as a portion of Neiv Netherlands—
New Amstel—Colony of the City—Colony of

the Company—Causes of Failure—Maryland

Colony of Lord Baltimore—Altona—English

Claims tc Territory-- Dutch authority over-

thrown— Passes into hands of English.

HE dominion of Holland over New
'Sweden lasted nine years

;
from Sept.

py 25th, 1655 till Oct. 1st, 1664, and the

5^ whole history is a record of misfortune.

Captain Derk Smidt, whatever were his

qualities as governor, for administration, had

but a short time allowed him for exercising

them;foron the29th November following, John

Paul Jaquette was appointed his successor.

Capt. Smidt was left simply for a time, to fill the

place of a permanent commandant, and was ne-

cessarily selected from the military. To this

department he did honor by repulsing an at-

tack of 500 Indians upon Fort Cassimir. He
also showed his hand in the commercial line,

by promising the natives an extension of trade

and higher prices for their furs
;
and if these

promises were not made good, it seems to have

arisen from the extravagant demands of the

savages, who expected a dress of cloth for

two deer. To their altercations, Jacquette

gave forth the principles of free trade, telling

no doubt these directions were observed.

The surveying and building were in full op-

eration by the spring of 1656, and it is record-

ed, that in a year, one hundred houses were
erected. Most of these were dwellings for

families, but among them was a City Hall, of

logs, 20 feet square and two stories high
;

a

Parsonage, a Bake house, and Magazine for

goods
;
a Guard house and Forge, with dwell-

ings for the public officers. Besides these

structures, wharves were built on the river

front; the fort was put in good repair, and bar-

racks, 1
1 9 feet long by 16 wide, were put up

adjoining the Fortress. A house already built

by some one, was bought and enlarged and

made convenient for religious worship. It is

to be noted that bricks were made and stone

shaped at New Amstel, so that all materials

necessary for building, were on the ground.

In the spring of 1656 numbers of Dutch

settlers came from New Amsterdam to New
Amstel, and by August, seventy-five deeds

for lands and lots were assigned. About this

time the Ship Mercurius, with a large number

of Swedes arrived in the river, having left

home before news of the conquest had reached

Sweden
;
and when Jaquette would have pro-

hibited their landing or passing the Fort, they

took some Indians on board and passed safely;

the Dutch being afraid of killing the natives.
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if they should fire on the ship. By such a strat-
]

agem.the Swedes went up the river and landed

with their goods and cargo at Marcus Hook,

having in their company a Swedish Clergy-

man named Matthias This is counted as the

IOth Expedition. In the spring of 1657, Evert

Pieterson came over as school-master and

comforter of the sick ; from whose letter in

August following, we learn that he had 25

scholars, and that the population, south of

the Christina, consisted of 20 Swedish and five

or six Dutch families
;

but so many Dutch

were subsequently sent, that in the fall of 1658

Governor Alrich reported 600 souls within

the same boundaries.

Soon after the conquest of New Sweden,

the Dutch West India Company found them-

selves greatly embarrassed with debt. They
had borrowed money from the City of Am-
sterdam in Holland, to furnish their great

expedition, and now, as a balance to their in-

debtedness, they made over to that City, the
- — U f 1 ^ Tt'la 1 oU pv f pta rl prl •3UULUL1 U pai 1 jLy^iu.taie, 77 - - v tJ 1 1 C! _

from the Christina to Bombay Hook. This

portion of the Territory was called the Col-

ony of the City, as the remainder on the

north was called the Colony of the Company
;

and the name of Christina settlement was

changed to Altona. On the 12th of April 1657,

Stuyvesant, by direction of the Company,

formally ceded to the City of Amsterdam, the

portion purchased by them, and placed the

Grant in the hands of the Hon. Jacob Alricks,

the new Governor of the City’s Colony, who
immediately sailed from New Amsterdam for

New Amstei. When he arrived, Jaquctte

removed to Altona as the Governor of the Com-
pany’s Colony on the north of the Christina

Creek. On the 20th of April following.however.

Jaquette, having been charged with serious

faults, was removed from office: and in Octo-

ber 1658, Wni. Beekman was sent from New
Amsterdam to Altona as the Governor, who
seems to have been allowed to reside at New
Amstei.

On the death of Alricks on the 30th De-

cember 1659, Lieutenant Alexander D’Hino-

yossa took the acting administration at New
Amstei by appointment of the late Gov-

ernor
;
and being afterward confirmed in his

office by the City of Amsterdam, he con-

tinued to rule the Colony as long as it was

in the hands of the Dutch. D’Hinoyossa came

over in the ill fated Prince Maurice with

Alricks, and shared the perils of shipwreck on

the Coast of Long Island, with him and Cap-

tain Krygier, and the company of fifty soldiers

under their command. He was a determined

man, and noted for good and evil report.

It shows the unprofitable condition of both

the Colonies of Delaware, that, in 1659 the

City wished to transfer their purchase back

again to the Company, and the Company was

willing to part with their Territory to the

City; the conference ending in 1664, by the City

of Amsterdam becoming master of the whole

of Delaware. By this transaction, Beekman
was thrown out of employment and D'Hino-

yossa became Governor of theUTited Colonies.

It is painful to study the narrow policy of

the supreme authorities, in their trading regu-

lations and their hard terms with the settlers;

as well as the incapacity, or injustice of the

local rulers
;

all which aided to produce the

unfortunate condition into which the Colony
1 1 1 Or*<=* cfrnnrrl v nnprofnrp /^anc#=» for Qn P Vl A" — ~ — -

result, must be found in the obstinacy, if not

the rapacity, of the Governors. Serious charges

of this nature lie against them; but as no court

ever determined the matter, and the records are

fragmentary and conflicting, it would be unfair

for us to pass judgment upon their adminis-

tration. Another source of weakness arose

from the conflicting claims of authority, on the

part of the two Governors of New Amstei and
Altona; resulting in constant quarrelling and
mutual accusations before the higher authori-

ties. Another, still, arose from the character

and qualities of the settlers sent over from Hol-

land, especially those of the City’s Colony.

Many were women and children, many of the

men had no trades or business
;
they were me-

chanics without skill or knowledge of work;
many were vagabonds swept from the streets

and drafted from the almshouses, sprinkled with

very few practical farmers and able bodied and
industrious citizens. In consequence, little

was done in the way of clearing, planting and
harvesting; and the stock of horses, cows,

sheep, and swine, was suffered to deteriorate

and die out for want of attention and diligent

care. Scarcity of provisions was a constant

attendant, and often famine and starvation in-

vaded their homes. To give weight to the

heavy hand of want, the home company would
send out hundreds of people without a pound
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of extra provision, and these must share the :

crumbs of food with those,already on the verge

of perishing. In addition, an almost annual visi-
j

tation of fever made its grim appearance
;
the

malaria from undrained marshes,and the open-

ing of new ground, giving, to the sickness the
|

fatal forms of bilious and typhoid, to hurry

multitudes into graves, amid the Greenwood,

where they had fondly hoped to find Arcadian

Homes
;

the mortality in the fall of 1658

1

reaching the number of one hundred deaths. 1

They were, also, hemmed in closely by the
j

savages of 12 different tribes, and although
j

public peace between the parties prevailed,

yet the tribes were at war among themselves;

frequent murders of the colonists took place,

and now and then, alarms of an Indian uprising

drove the poor people to the shelter of the di-

lapidated fort. As if all these drawbacks were

not enough to cripple the energy and reduce

the spirit of enterprise, the Maryland Colony of

Lord Baltimore put forth claims to Delaware

soil, and sent arrogant and unfriendly Ambas-
sadors, warning them off the ground, under

thrreats of invasion and bloodshed if they did

not vacate their homes; and to such lengths did

they proceed, as to make an attack on the

Hoornekill Fort, from which the Dutch were

obliged to remove. Still further, the operation

of the narrow policy and severe regulations of!

the Holland authorities, joined to the tyranny

of the local rulers, and aided perhaps by a

restless disposition on the part of the people,

resulted in the removal of many to Mary-

land. Soldiers deserted and servants ran

away, reducing the Colony of New Amstel,

at one time, to the verge of ruin. A re-

view of all these hardships and calamities,

should make an abiding impression on those

who are enjoying the fruits that grew from

such a laborious planting, which were so

many and so formidable as cannot but excite

surprise that the colonies continued in exis-

tence—that life was bridged over— till better

times gave room and opportunity for our little

Delaware to lift her head from the waves, and

give firmness and prosperity to the Territroy of

New Sweden.

Altona seems to have enjoyed a happier for-

tune than New Amstel. The Swedes formed

by far the best settlers, who, in 1660 could

number 150 men capable of bearing arms.;

They were true to the Dutch rulers, yet the
j

object of their constant suspicion and jealousy.

Their fidelity was unfaltering, yet the Holland
Government was constantly vexing them with

attempts to remove them from their scattered

dwellings, and improved farms or bowers, to

live in villages among the Dutch. To this

they constantly refused their consent
;
and it

was but natural for them to consider it a piece

of good fortune, when their much loved New
Sweden fell into the hands of the English.

The Dutch, on the Delaware had, now, two
different Governments planning against their

possessions.

Sweden, it seems, had never submitted to

the loss of the country they had planted.

From time to time they sent over new com-
panies of settlers; and in the winter and spring

of 1664, they made a determined effort to re-

gain possession by equipping and starting a

frigate and a war yacht, under a Vice Admiral,
for the Delaware. Both vessels, however,
being wrecked on their own coast, the expedi-

tion was relinquished and the attempt byforce

of arms, was transferred to the use of diplo-

macy
;
and whilst negotiations were going on,

between Sweden and Holland, a third power
came between the parties and laid its victori-

ous hand upon tne prize !

This was accomplished by the successful

expedition made by England, in 1664. On
the ground of their ancient claims from dis-

cover}', a grant of the whole territory from
the St. Croix river on the north, to the east

side of Delaware Bay, was made by Charles II,

to his brother, James, Duke of York. This
was done on the 12th of March, shortly before

the declaration of war against Holland, and
by September 9th, New Amsterdam, of 1,500

population, with all the adjoining Dutch ter-

ritory was an English possession. Although
the west side of the Delaware, holding new
Sweden, was not included in the grant to the

Duke of York; yet, as the Dutch ruled it,

the English thought it high time to make
them incapable of doing them mischief, as

they had done in other places,and an expedition

was fitted out against the Delaware settle-

ments, immediately after the conquest of New
Amsterdam. This important step was taken

under the authority of the three English

Commissioners, Nicholls, Cartwright and

Maverick. By their instruction, two frigates

sailed from New York, as New Amsterdam
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was now called
;

the Guinea, Capt. Hugh
,

Hyde, and the William and Nicholas, Capt.
;

Thomas Morlay, with all the soldiers that
|

could be spared, under the command of Sir

Robert Carr, to reduce the Forts, Cassimir
j

and Christina. The frigates had a long and

troublous voyage, occasioned by the shoalness

of the water, and the want of good pilotage
;

and it was not till the last day of September,

old style, that they arrived at New Amstel.

The Swedes were already friendly; and as no

hope of successful resistance remained to the

Dutch citizens, they.after some days of negoti-

ation,agreed to give up the town : the agreement

being signed the first day of October, by

Robert Carr on the one side, and six citizens

on the other, viz
;
Hout, Johnson, Van Tiel,

Block, Peterson and Casturier. The Gov-

ernor, D’Hinoyossa and the soldiery refusing

to surrender, and taking to the Fort, the Eng-
lish ships had to bombard it: and the troops

made an assault, when the Fort was carried,

with a loss to the Dutch of three killed and

ten wounded. The articles of capitulation

were exceedingly liberal and favorable, as

were those made to the Dutch of New Am-
sterdam; but the immediate treatment of

the captured people was extremely rigorous.

A scene of general plundering and wasting

followed the surrender; all the provisions and

cattle were seized; and in addition to the

hardships that might have been laid to the

license of the soldiers and sailors, all the

Dutch soldiers and many of the citizens were

sold into the Maryland colony for slaves, with

some of the negroes of New Amstel. By
such steps, and such cruelty was Delaware
gained by the Duke of York,and so the whole

of the North American Seaboard, from Maine
toGeorgia, came under the power of England;
our territory now being destined to a more
illustrious history and happier times.

In the year 1673 the Dutch recovered posses-

sion of New Sweden, but held it for a short

time only: it being restored to the English by
the peace established in 1674 between Eng-
land and Holland.

With this exception, Delaware was an
English Colony for more than a century, till

j

in 1776, it became an independent State, and
one of our great Union of States.

CHAPTER XV.

Delaware as in English Colony—Duke of
York—Koningsviark—New Castle— Courts of
Judicature—Pennsylvania and Delaware come

into the hands of Wm. Penn.

AD New Sweden remained in the hands
of the Swedes, it would not have been

attacked by the English: but now they

were determined to make a clean sweep
of the whole coast, and leave the Dutch no
foothold in the land. The capture ought to

have been made without bloodshed, and would
have been, had not the soldiers made their

defense a piece of reckless bravery
;
for how

could 10 or 12 men behind dilapidated fortifica-

tions, resist the broadsides of two frigates and
a storming party, made up of hundreds of

soldiers and sailors?

Up to this time, but little progress had
been made in the settlement of the country;

and six years later, in 1670. the record testi-

fies to very few inhabitants, and these mostly
Swedes, Finns and Dutch, located for 60 miles

up the river, from New Castle, which was the

principal town and the rival of New York.

Until the granting of Pennsylvania and Del-
aware to Wm. Penn, very little had hap-
pened worthy of going into History and noth-
ing of startling importance. It remained for

Penn’s administration to people the Terri-

tories, give unity of language, customs and
Institutions, with good and stable laws and
abiding and growing prosperity. Penn’s Pat-
ent for Pennsylvania was signed the 4th of

March 1681
;
and by two different Deeds of

Feoffment, signed by the Duke of York, the
24th of August 1682, the whole of Delaware
was made over to him; although the Duke did
not obtain his own regular conveyance of
Delaware from King Charles, till March 22nd,
1683. During this intermediate period of 18

years, the English possessions of the Duke of
\ ork were managed by three successive
Governors, viz: Col. Richard Nicholls, Col.
Francis Lovelace and Sir Edmund Andross.
Under these Governors, whose residence was
New York, a commander of Delaware was
stationed at New Castle, amomg whom we
find the names of Capt. John Carr

,
Wm.

Tom, Peter Alrich, the nephew of the old
Dutch Governor, Capt. Collier and Christo-
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pher Billop
;
and it may be said, in a word,

that the Duke’s administration was conducted

kindly and considerately toward the Dela-

ware settlement. Governor Lovelace suc-

ceeded Nicholls in the beginning of 1667, and

held his office till New York and Delaware

were retaken by the Dutch, July 1673, when

he returned to England. When these lands

were restored by the Dutch the next year, the

Patent to the Duke of York was renewed on

the part of his brother. King Charles, and by

the 31st of October 1674, Andross arrived and

quietly resumed possession of all the forts and

territories. The great Revolution from Eng-

lish to Dutch possession, and the transfer back

again, scarcely produced a ripple in the cur-

rent of affairs on the Delaware
;

for the people

cared but little which of the two powers

ruled, though the Swedish preference fell to

the Gde of the English. New officers were,

indeed, appointed by the Dutch authorities,

but when the English came in again, all the

giants of land previously made were con-

firmed, as well as the Judicial proceedings;

the English laws were restored with the cus-

tomary administration, and all the old magis-

trates were reinstated, except Peter Alrich,

the former sheriff and commander on the

Delaware; who was thought to have played

too readily into the hands of the Dutch, and

acted violently as their Chief Officer. The
year 1667 under Lovelace was happily marked

by the building of a new church. After using

the chapel built in the fort at Christina for 29

years, it became more convenient to hold

worship on the south side of the creek; and

there a new, wooden church was put up, at

Crane Hook, where Rev. Mr. Lock officiated

for several years. He also preached at Tini-

cum, and these two churches with that at

Wicaco seem to-be the only places of worship

on the Delaware, up to the year 1675. We
find notices in the records, of roads being

opened from point to point, and numerous

grants given to individuals and companies, for

settlement; the most noticeable of which is a

provision for Finns and other families from

Maryland, to settle on Appoquinimy
;
a colo-

ony that grew rapidly into a large commun-
ity. The Hoornekill settlement also grew so

largely as to demand very early the appoint-

ment of officers, both for judicial, and mone-
tary affairs. Whilst waiting for a body of

7

laws from England, both for Governor and

people; a few fragmentary regulations were

sent, from time to time, to the Delaware from

the Governor and Council at New York, for

the direction of the commander and his coun-

cil of five or six men
;
who, however, were re-

quired to refer all matters of difficulty and im-

portance to the New York authorities. Fear of

Indians, and occasional riots among the citizens,

with some apprehensions of “ the Long Finn
”

conspiracy, induced the authorities at New Cas-

tle, in 1668, to order a garrison of 20 men, with

one commissioned officer, to keep the fort: of

whom, two-thirds were required to stay in New
Castle, or near it at all hours. Koningsmark,

or the Long Finn, gave much trouble to the

settlement and was considered so dangerous,

that at length, he was apprehended, whipped

and branded, and sent to Barbadoes, to be sold

as a slave.

By the year 1671, the fort at New Castle was

found to be in such decayed and ruinous con-

dition. through the neglect ofCommander Carr,

that a new Block House was called for and

erected at the expense of the inhabitants
;
be-

ing set in the western part of the town
;
and

this again was replaced in 1675 by a new fort

of the same kind, which was built in the mid-

dle of the town, for a perfect outlook and to

defend both ends of the settlement.

Those “forest days” were times of small

things, but the beginning of great affairs are

not to be despised
;
and it was doubtless looked

upon as an important and exciting event, when

in 1671 a little vessel called a Ketch and named

“Prudence.” received a pass to run between

New Castle and New York. That morning

hats were waved and good luck invoked, when

both masts were spread with sails and the fair

wind long waited for, wafted the Prudence

down the Delaware. And no less exciting

was the news, that Gov. Lovelace, early the

next year, would make an overland journey

from New York to the Delaware settlement.

We, taking our three hours ride from New
Castle, behind a locomotive, may smile at the

multitudinous precautions and preparation.

Boats are to be ready at the New York ferry,

to carry his Excellency and retinue over to

the Neversink, which is made the general ren-

dezvous. As many as twenty men with their

officers must be ready in each town, with

horses and arms. Capt. Nicholls is to summon
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his soldiers; and out of these, three men are

to go forward with Capt. John Garland to

make preparations
;
and see that all conven-

iences are ready for his accommodation, in the

way of provisions, boats, &c. A considerable

guard of men, also, are to be assembled at

Mattinicoack, an island in the Delaware, some-

where near Burlington. Then Capt. Carr and

the commissioners are to come up the Dela-

ware to meet Garland,and receive a letter from

the Governor; and these are then to give in-

struction to the whole party. And finally, the

guides, volunteers and commissioners are to

meet his Excellency at the great Indian Plan-

tation : where he hopes, by God’s help, to lodge

on the 24th, and perhaps on the 23d of March.

He is to meet the Indians in order to conclude

a peace among those who were mutinous, and

also to settle affairs among the people on the

River. The Governmental affairs at New York

were intrusted to two members of Council

during his absence; but as no account of the

actual adventures attending this visit has come
down to us, it is hardly allowable to indulge in

a “Sentimental Journey.”

In May, 1672, New Castle comes into the

rank of an incorporated town, with the rights

and privileges of a bailiwick, to be governed

by a Bailiff and six assistants. The Dutch

Scout is converted into the English Sheriff,

and a Constable is chosen by the bench, author-

ized to try causes to the amount of ,£10 without

appeal. It is noticeable that Peter Alrich is

appointed the Bailiff, from which it appears that

his merit is indispensable: and as he is made a

Justice of the Peace under Wm. Penn, ten

years later.it looks as if, in addition to his real

value, he has skill to make himself useful and

acceptable to all the different administrations

that have prevailed from the early day's.

Of the six Justices of the Peace appointed

at New Castle, any three of them may form a

Court of Judicature. Three Courts are to be

held yearly; one at New Castle, monthly: one

at Hoornekill; and one at Upland every three

months. A dark or clerk is to be appointed

for each Court; a High Sheriff and under

Sheriff or Marshal for New Castle district:

and when John Mathews is sworn in as a

practising lawyer, he takes oath to behave as

all Attorneys ought to do.

About this time we find that

pushing her claims to the lower

ware, and even forcibly attacking the settle-

ment at the Hoornekill; in view of which Gov-

ernor Lovelace orders Capt. Carr to put New
Castle into the best posture of defense, by fit-

ting up the fort and keeping his companies

under arms and all ready at an hour's warning.

If the Marylanders fire first, they are to defend

themselves and the place, byr all possible

means
;
and an account of this hostility, he

says, he has just transmitted to the Duke of

York by a ship sailing to London.

In 1672 & 73 our old friend Armgardt Printz

Poppegoija comes upon the record, in a suit in

court against Capt. Andrew Carr and his

wife, for the possession of Tinicum Island.

The New York Court, to which appeal has

been made, decides in her favor; who in ad-

dition to the possession of the island, receives

two extraordinary indulgences, viz :—Her only

man servant is excused from training with his

company; and she is licensed “to distil in her

own distilling kettle some small quantities of

liquor from corn, provided it be done with such

moderation, that no just complaint can arise

thereby.”

In the year 16.77 the number of tydeables

is recorded in New Castle Jurisdiction to be

307, the number in Upland 136. It is a mat-
ter of record that the ship “ Shield ” is the first

English vessel to ascend the Delaware as high

as Burlington. In tacking at Coaquanock, the

“Shield" was brought so near the shore as to

strike the trees with her tackling, and as she

had plenty of water, the seamen declared

this to be a fine spot for a town, which after-

ward became the site of Philadelphia When
the ship arrived off Burlington, she found

no better berth than to be moored to a tree.

During the night of December 26th, 1678,

the river froze so suddenly and firmly, that

the ice formed a bridge over which the

numerous passengers made their way to the

shore This ship came from Hull, and was
commanded by Daniel Towes.

It ought. to be noted, that the ship Martha,

Capt. Thomas Warcup, with 114 passengers

and necessaries for building and settling, ar-

rived at New Castle from Hull the 15th Octo-

ber 1677; and after some discussion among the

authorities was allowed to pass up the River
;

but whether she ascended as high as Burling-

Sixty or

Willing

Maryland is ton does not seem to be settled,

part of Dela- ! seventy settlers came over in the
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Mind, Newcomb, master, later in the year

1677, some of whom settled at Salem, New

Jersey, and some at Burlington. Another ship

arrives with passengers from London, in [678;

and it is estimated that up to this date,

about Soo, mostly Quakers, had been brought

over, through the agency of Wm. Penn.

It is noticeable how constantly plots of

land are purchased from the Indians, within

territories previously bought by wholesale
;

but this is done, if not justly on the part of

the natives, yet with wisdom, to keep at

peace with the savages.

In the years 1681 and 82, Pennsylvania and

Delaware came into the possession of Wm.
Penn, and were in the hands of his heirs down

to the Revolution. By this time very many
ships had crossed with settlers : in 1682 it was

reckoned that nearly a thousand arrived; and

that three thousand Europeans or their de-

scendants, Swedes, Dutch, Finns, and English,

were on the Delaware.

It was a happy event for Pennsylvania and

Delaware, that these territories came into the

possession of Wm. Penn. He had all the

staid consideration and martyr principle of

the early Quakers. He was not only unselfish,

but man-loving and positively beneficent to

the highest degree. The planting of a Colony

was not designed for his own personal dignity,

nor shaped for his personal gains
;

it was con-

templated as a field for the exercise of wise

benevolence, and a wide door opening for new
experiments toward the elevation of every

race. He pursued his plan through many difficul -

ties, trials and losses. By his prayerful devo-

tion he associated his hopes with the power
and benignity of God Almighty, the L'niversal

Father: and trusted that He would bless his

attempts, and make his enterprise the seed of

a nation. And.that nation he intended to be

free and equal in their rights, whose true pros-

perity and happiness should be limited only

by their own will. He gave his capacity,

time, wealth, influence and labor entirely to

this work. Before he became Proprietor, he

was interested in the new settlements, and
when the responsibility of ownership came

!

upon him, he made every preparation to 1

insure success. He consulted with friends: he

carefully sought out the best agents and set-

tlers of the best stuff
;
he wrote many letters

of explanaton and advice ; aided by the best

$1

legal authorities, he carefully framed Laws and

Regulations
;
and ready made Charters, Con-

stitutions, frame of Government and Adminis-

trative Statutes to the minutest regulations,

were transported for immediate use
;
and they

were, positively, of the highest order for free-

dom, without confusion or license, and as

perfect as human nature could bear
;
and this

noble man, even when the people unjustly

pushed him with their complaints and de-

mands, to avoid the very appearance of

selfishness, gave up his own rights.

This same fear of vain glory made him fight

against the name given to his patent. After

a variety of suggestions, Penn would call it

“Sylvania,” in token, no doubt, of the woods in

his new country, but King Charles had the

grace to put Penn before it making “Pennsyl-

vania”. When the Proprietor remonstrated,

the King good naturedly said, “the matter is

past, I take it upon myself and when the

Under-Secretary was offered 20 guineas, he

refused to vary the name.

When everything was ready, alter many
unlooked for, but necessary delays, Penn em-
barked for his new possessions, on board the

ship Welcome, of 300 tons, Capt. Robert

Greenwav, with about 100 passengers, chiefly

Quakers, to settle in Pennsylvania. About
the first of September, 1682, he left the

Thames, and on the 24th of October following,

the ship entered the Delaware Capes. On the

27th, she arrived before New Castle; here Penn

landed, to be welcomed with gladness and

true honor by the people, who joyfully assem-

bled from every quarter to receive him. On
the 28th, the town of New Castle with the 12

miles circle of territory was formally made
over to Wm. Penn,and the inhabitants entered

into a solemn engagement to be his subjects,

under the King, and live quietly and peaceably,

with just obedience. The Swedes, after being

naturalized as English freemen, by their

deputy, Lacy Cock, promised to love, serve

and obey him, with all they had
;
saying it was

the best day they ever saw.

In due time the rest of Delaware and Penn-

sylvania were made over to the Proprietor,

1 by those holding and commissioned to deliver

the Territories.
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CHAPTER. XVI.

First acts of Penn— Visits Nezv Castle—Arri-

val of members of Society of Friends— Three

Lower Counties on the Delaware—Mason and

Dixons Line— Bounds and Area of State—
Settlement of the Welsh Tract—Growth of

Population— English Oppression— Presaging

voices op Revolution and Independence.

JENN’S first act was to appoint six jus-

tices of the peace for New Castle; and

the 2d November a Court was held at

New Castle, composed of the Mayor,

Council and Justices, at which were present

“Right Hdnorabie Proprietary, and Capt. Wm.
Markham, the Deputy Governor.”

Penn, on this occasion, made an advisory

speech, recommending the use of the New
York Laws for the present; but assuring them
that they and “the two counties downward,
should possess the same privileges with Penn-

sylvania, and be governed by such laws, as

they themselves, by their deputies and repre-

sentatives, should consent to.”

This public engagement he followed up by
speedily issuing a writ for all freeholders to as-

semble in the different counties and choose

seven representatives for each
;

persons of

most note for wisdom, sobriety and integrity,

to form a General Assembly. Such an assembly,

representing the three counties of Delaware,

and the three of Pennsylvania, met at Upland,

by that time called Chester, after the English

Chester, on the 4th December, and by the 7th

they had finished the finest piece of Legis-

lation perhaps ever enacted.

The legislation consisted of an act of Union,
Naturalization and Settlement, with “the
Great Law, or body of Laws, ’’put into 69 com-
prehensive or minute articles, which imme-
diately went into operation.

In the meantime Penn made a visit to New
York to pay his “duty” to the Duke of York,
in the person of A. Brockholls, the Deputy
Governor, serving in the absence of Andross.

who was in England.

On the 1 1 th December, after the adjourn-

ment of the Assembly, he traveled to West
River, to meet Lord Baltimore, according to

arrangement. Their object was the settlement

of the boundaries between Delaware and Mary-

land. The Conference was marked with every

civility, Baltimore using a profusion of cour-

tesy;but when the King’s letter was presented,

Baltimore cooly declared the King was mis-

taken; and nothing carne of the learned

discussion by members of Council on both

sides, though Penn says, “they all sat at the

same table.” This vexed question, it may be

added, was not settled till 1750, when Lord
Hardwicke decreed the present boundaries,

according to which the line was run by Mason
and Dixon, in 1764 ;

though Bancroft incor-

rectly says, 1761 . In 1763, August 4th, Charles

Mason, and Jeremiah Dixon, were employed,

by the Penns, Thomas and Richard of the one

party, and Lord Baltimore of the other, then

together in the city of London, “ to mark,

settle and run out and determine” the bound-
ary line between Penn’s Colony and that of

the Colony of Maryland. They reached Phil-

adelphia on the I 5th of November of that year,

and commenced their work in 1764, complet-

ing it in 1767, and not finally marked until

1768. The facts and dates above given are from

the original field notes, by Mason and Dixon,

preserved at Annapolis, and examined and
quoted by Latrobe in his address before the

Historical society of Pennsylvania, page 31,

1854.

This line, made famous in the history of the

slavery controversy, was only the division

between the slave and free states in a westerly

direction from the northern boundary of our

State, inasmuch as Delaware territory had
slaves, and slavery existed therein from the

period of the first overthrow of the Swedish
Colony 1656, until, at least, the begining of

our late civil war, in 1861.

Two other partial surveys had been made
previously: the first in 1750 and the other in

1751, in which William Killen was one of the

surveyors, then a young man, who afterward

rose to the merited distinction of being the

first, in the order of time, of the Chancellors

of Delaware. Johnson’s History of Cecil

County, page 306, 1881.

The difficulties of settling the boundary be-

tween us and Lord Baltimore’s Maryland col-

ony were many, and had introduced border

feuds, incursions, and reprisals in Delaware
and the Maryland portion of the Peninsula.

On the border of Cecil County, also, in 1684,

Talbot had upheld the authority of his Kins-
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mart, Charles Calvert with outrage, and built a

fort near Christiana bridge and lorded it over

a portion of New Castle County. Col. Cresap s

quarrel had involved the provinces in almost

open war. An invasion of this territory

occurred by authority of Maryland as early

as 1673 when Swanendale (Lewes) was at-

tacked, and this border quarrel had been con-

tinued. involving Swedes and Hollanders
;

Indians too, Susquehannocks, Minquas, and

Delawares had joined in the quarrel in the

long years of active strife, until in 1736 on the

death of Governor Gordon of Pa , the in-

invasions became more terrible and more fre-

quent. “Hazzard’s Register, Vol. II, page 212.’’

In March 1681, Penn had received from the

Duke of York his grant of “ that extensive

forest lying twelve miles north of New Castle

on the western side of the Delaware.” In

August of that year he obtained through

Markham, his kinsman, from the Duke of York’s

Governor at New Castle, the boundaries, and

authority to enter on his estate. A year later,

1682, he, after much solicitation, had granted

him the town of New Castle with the territory

of twelve miles around it, and the tract of land

southward from it, upon the river Delaware, to

Cape Henlopen, i. e. Fenwicks’ Island, as, in

effect, decided by Lord Hardwicke.

Delaware, as defined by this settlement of

her boundaries, is but ninety-five (95) miles in

length, by thirty-five at her southern bound-

ary
;
she holds this width for twenty-six miles

coming north
;
and then by reason of the bay

and river cutting in, diminishes to ten (10)

miles in Red Lion Hundred and widens to

twelve ( 1 2 j
miles, westward, from New Castle

Court House, making her area to be a little

over 20OOsquare miles in extent. If importance

is to be measured by size, she cannot boast,

for she is the smallest of the fair sisterhood of

the thirty-eight states, except Rhode Island.

But the history of the world shows us, that

the principles on which states and govern-

ments are founded, and not their size, attracts

the attention of mankind. Attica has influ-

enced the thought, manners, and civilization

of the world to a greater extent than every

realm outside of her on the broad earth, as ex-

isting in her day
;
and tested by those princi-

ples early manifested, and finding expression

in the constitution of the State of Delaware,

(created in the same year which saw our nation’s

birth, and adopted by her in that instrument,)

we have no cause to be other than satisfied.

“The location of the Capital City, or great

town,” was a matter of early thought and

close consideration. Commissioners were ap-

pointed by Penn in 1681, in connection with

Gov. Markham, to determine the spot. Ches-

ter was favorably Considered, but the whole

River side was to be sounded, and search

made for a spot that was high, dry and healthy,

where ships of deepest draught might lie, to

load and unload at the very bank side.

The spot was evidently selected before Penn

sailed
;
streets and lots were laid out by the

Surveyor General, in accord with Penn's direc-

tions, in the summer and fall of 1682
;
on the

19th of Sept, a distribution of 216 lots was

made by lot, on four different streets
;

the

first house was begun but not finished when
the Proprietor arrived, but within less than a

year 80 houses were erected.

It is not strange that Penn should wish to

see the spot selected for the City, and so it

appears, that very early in November 1682,

he visited Chester and thence made his way
to Philadelphia, tradition says, in an open

boat, accompanied by a few friends. The Ab-
ingdon Minutes, however, say that about 1 8th

November (new style) the Governor with a

multitude of friends arrived : which both from

the date and the number accompanying, would

indicate that they came by land
;
and it was,

probably, at this time, or in the following

month, that the famous Indian gathering was
held under the Elm tree at Shakamaxon and

the Treaty made, the only one, says Voltaire,

“not sworn to and never broken.”

Penn’s City house was to be built in the

middle of the plat designed for Philadelphia,

facing the Great River; but a villa was already

prepared for him by his Nephew.at Pennsbury,

opposite Burlington, which he at once made
his residence.

In the spring of 1683 a second General

Assembly was held in Philadelphia, made up of

nine Delegates from each of the six Counties

when further legislation was done, in the shape

of a New Charter of Liberties. As this Char-

ter stipulated that no law should be passed but

by the direct consent of the whole community,

it was received with gratitude by the people,

who confessed that it gave them more liberty

than they expected.
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It must be understood that two incompati-

ble elements lived in the Government, and

for 90 years produced constant friction and

conflict; one of which was the feudal character

of the Proprietor, which made him a kind of

sovereign; and the other the Democratic spirit

and independent claims of the people. Penn,

however, could not renounce his feudal char-

acter without fatally impairing his title and

forfeiting it to the Crown of England. But he

made the operation of his authority as easy as

possible; under the shadow of his proprietary-

ship the people exercised all popular rights,

and he left to time and the people the solution

of the question. Although the foolish and

passionate on the Delaware, possessed equal

liberty with the just and prudent, and the bad

elements were as desperately bent on making a

licentious use of their privileges as the better

class to prevent mischief, happily, prosperity

prevailed and freedom and justice were safe,

till, in the end, Delaware declared herself in-

dependent both of the Proprietor and the

King.

Up to 1691 the two Provinces were united in

one Assembly, under one Governor; but so

many disputes had arisen, and Delaware was

so jealous of the superior weight of Pennsyl-

vania, that in April of that year, Penn, then

in England, reluctantly consented that the

Delaware counties should have a separate

Assembly and a separate Government, under

Markham.
In 1693, on account of disturbances on the

Delaware, a Royal Governor, under William

and Mary, was sent over, by the name of Ben-

jamin Fletcher, by whom the two colonies

were reunited. The General Assembly, of the

“three lower counties," however, resisted the

change of government, and by their persistence

acquired the right of originating their own bills.

The same Assembly of 1694 was more imprac-

ticable, and after a session of two weeks was

dissolved.

Moved by a consideration of the political

troubles in England, and the trials of his

Quaker friends, Penn returned home in 1684

and did not return to America till late in the

fall of 1699. In England, he suffered great

afflictions and losses from private,political and

religious causes. He was greatly vilified for

his friendly and grateful attachment to James

II, from whom, when Duke of York, he had

received many favors. He was even imprison-

ed and deprived of his government; which

however was restored to him, August 24th,

1694, accompanied with the expression of

good will, on the part of King William, who
declared him to be his old acquaintance,

against whom he had no complaint.

When Penn left for England in 1684, Thos.

Lloyd was entrusted with the great Seal, and
the Executive power placed in the hands of a

committee of the Council.

When Penn recovered his Governmental
rights, being delayed in his purposed return to

America, March 26th 1695, he commissioned

Markham with the executive authority. The
old conflict of authority and popular rights

still went on, til! in 1696 the Assembly estab-

lished a purely Democratic Government, sub-

ject only to' the assent of the Proprietor. The
Assembly of 1697 met by its own writ of elec-

tion, and Markham assented to this new step

in popular action.

When Penn returned in 1699, he proposed to

Pennsylvania and Delaware to give up their

old Charter and form a new Constitution, in

which they should keep what was good, lay

aside what was burdensome, and add whatever
was necessary for the common good

;
pledg-

ing himself to refrain from his peculiar and
personal claims, to divest himself of all power
to injure their interests, and grant everything

that was demanded for full political liberty.

All this was done
;
Penn’s noble mission was

ended, and in 1701 he returned to England
whence he came back no more !

It was in this same year that the Baptists,

who afterward settled the Welsh Tract in

New Castle County, left Wales for America.

Before coming they formed themselves into a

church, embarking with their pastor, Rev.

Thomas Griffith, and after residing near

Philadelphia for a short time, they, in 1703,

settled near Iron Hill, in the neighborhood of

Newark. See Cook’s “ Del. Baptists,” and
sketch of same history in this vol. From this

settlement came many who did honor to our

State and gave us men distinguished in eccle-

siastical as well as civil affairs. The cele-

brated Dr. Davies, President of Princeton

College, among others. All things having been

previously arranged, in 1702 Pennsylvania

convened its Assembly apart, and the two

Colonies were never again reunited.
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The lower counties were almost completely

independent, for they possessed this advan-

tage over the others; that the Proprietor’s

authority over them was established on suffer-

ance and not by the Royal Patent
;

and. in

consequence, the Governor of Pennyslvania

had too feeble a hold of Delaware to control

the power of the people. Whilst Pennsylvania

kept up constant collision with the Proprie-

tor’s claims, Delaware, with its own untram-

meled Legislature, Tribunals and Subordin-

ate Executive Offices, enjoyed an almost ab-

solute self-government: and so, doubtless, con-

tinued up to the Revolution, by which time it

had become thoroughly schooled to take its

part and lift its voice in the cry of Independence.

In the mean time, people flocked to the

Delaware, lodging, principally, it would seem,

on the Pennsylvania soil, to enjoy a govern-

ment whose fame had been sounded as
‘ ‘Happy

and Beautiful,” and as perfect as human nature

could bear. By the late fall of 1682, 2000 had

arrived at Philadelphia, where, for a time, hol-

low trees and caves served for dwellings
;
but

houses were going up rapidly, so that in 2

years, 600 habitations were erected, and as for

living, flocks of pigeons and shoals of fish nour-

ished them, and the Indians hunted, for the

friends of William Penn.

By 1688, about 12,000 people were on the

River, and in 1754, 195,000 Europeans and

11,000 Africans made the population of Penn-

sylvania and Delaware.

The liberties of the land were often threat-

ened, but the name and memory of Penn’s vir-

tues and sacrifices saved them from the grasp

of unscrupulous English statesmen, till they

grew too strong to be handled from abroad.

Delaware shared all the growing oppressions

of the mother country, in her impositions of

military government, judiciary usurpations, the

wrongs of trade and taxation, and took a cour-

ageous part in opposition, and in the assertion

of Independence.

We learn that in September before the meet-
ing of the session of the Legislative body of

the province which was to convene on the 20th

of October 1762—which is the first of which
the records have been preserved—its members
met to consult together upon the impending
misfortunes of their country, occasioned by
the Stamp Act and other offensive and tyran-

nous measures of the British Government.

They, as representing the freemen of the

province, appointed a committee to meet the

delegates of the other provinces at New York,

in a General Congress. Ccesar Rodney, Thos.

McKean, and Speaker Kollock were appointed

and instructed to join with committees sent

by other provinces, in a “ united and loyal peti-

tion to His Majesty, and remonstrance to the

honorable House of Commons of Great Brit-

ian against said acts of Parliament.”

Joy was universal in Delaware and the coun-

try when the Stamp Act was repealed, and

Read, Rodney, and McKean were appointed to

frame an address of thanks and congratula-

tion to the King. But soon the aggressions

of the British ministry overthrew all expecta-

tions of future safety, and the same gentlemen

were appointed to the task of “ dutifully re-

monstrating” on behalf of the freemen of Dela-

ware. Constant intercourse with Virginia,

New York and New England was kept up by

a committee on correspondence and communi-
cation with the rest of t he Colonies.

In 1774, a large number of delegates assem-

bled at New Castle on the first of August, and

appointed delegates to a General Congress to

be held in Philadelphia on the first Monday of

September in that year; to consider the rights

of the colonies and fix on the means for the

redress of their grievances.

In the lower part of Delaware, were many
disaffected to Congress, and opposed to the

measures of their own Legislature. They
were beginning to be known as royalists and

took no part in favor of, but in fact were hostile

to the active exertions made to obtain a redress

of grievances. Military companies were now
raised to meet this exigency; and here began
the -organization, and drill of the soldiers,

who on many a hard fought field from Massa-
chusetts to South Carolina wore the honors,

which covered with fame the heroes of the

Delaware Line. The thunders of the rising-

storm began now distinctly to be heard roll-

ing through our sky. and a change of govern-

ment was demanded by the patriots of this

province. Rodney was at the head of the

Military organization of the province, and
Colonel Haslet and Major McDonough, father

of the Commodore of that name, were taking

possession of arms and ammunition; arrest-

ing the ringleaders among the tories in the

lower part of the State, and keeping them as
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hostages for the better behavior of their

dependents The following were elected dele-

gates to the memorable congress of 1 776,

which met in Independence Hall, Philadel-

phia, it being a Congress of the United Colo-

nies, viz : George Reed, Caesar Rodney and

Thomas McKean.
The Congress of 1776 had met in Philadel-

phia, and to give it moral support, C;esar Rod-

ney obtained leave of absence and went to

the town of Lewes and succeeded in calming

the excitement the tories had occasioned.

He organized the troops and prepared the

people for coming changes in the relations of

the provinces to Great Britian. Engaged in

this duty McKean’s messenger from Philadel-

phia found him
;
and Rodney’s famous ride to

Philadelphia occurred in order that the vote of

our delegates might be unanimous for Inde-

pendence. On the 4th of July 1776 the names

of George Read, Caesar Rodney and Thos.

McKean were affixed as representatives from

tne v^uioiiy Gi i^CiAwarc T m nrfnl

Declaration. On the nth day of September

a convention of the freemen of the three

counties published a Declaration of Rights,

and on the 20th, a constitution of the “Dela-

ware State,” under' a Governor or President of

her own election, independent of all parties

in Great Britain or America, was established.

But as no one has told of the “ time that tried

men’s souls,” in a History of Delaware, we shall

proceed more in extenso in the following

chapters.

CHAPTER XVII.

Delegates to the Revolutionary Congress of

1775

—

“ The Black Catalogue" of English op-

pressions—Loyalty of the Colonies— Efforts

far peace unavailing—Gage in Boston—At-

taoks the Colonists— War inevitable—George

Washington appointed Commander-in-chief—

The Delaware Regiment— The first Naval en-

gagement—Brave Boys— 7he British Engatcs

driven away Independence Delateare not

ready— Tories—Efforts of Rodney and McKean
—Signing the Declaration—Delaware estab-

lishes an independent government.

MN the 16th of March, 1775, the assem-

bly at Dover elected Caesar Rodney,
|

George Read and Thomas McKean 1

** their representatives to Congress, which

was to meet the 10th of May, in Philadelphia,
j

They refused to believe at that time that war

was inevitable for the maintenance of their

rights and liberties. But early in April the

final acts of Parliament were received which

completed “ the black catalogue" of measures

that had constituted the English plan of coer-

cion. These measures consisted of thirty-

nine distinct laws, or acts of Parliament, of

the most odious and oppressive character, and

were held by the colonists to be subversive of

their natural rights as men, and of their char-

tered rights as British subjects
;
and that there-

fore they were illegal and void. These acts

revoked their charters ;* prohibited manu-
factures

;
commerce, except with England

;

the printing of newspapers
;
the establishment

of banks
;
the coining of money and emitting

bills of credit
;

the revenue acts
;
the stamp

acts
;
restraining and starving acts ;f Boston

port acts
;

acts for disfranchising legislatures,

for quartering soldiers in private houses, for

abolishing trial by jury in many cases, drag-

cine men to E nrr^ r1r' to be tried for caoital

offenses, prohibitory custom duties, taxation

without representation, and the whole policy of

arbitrary rule, which, during a long series of

years, had resulted in establishing a “ cumula-

tive despotism” that Mr. Burke so justly des

scribed as “a perfect uncompensated slavery,

by joining together the restraints of an univer-

sal internal and external monopoly, with an

universal internal and external taxation.”

Indeed, from 1635 to the Revolution, the

King and Ministry of England, upheld by a

majority of the Lords and Commons, had

treated the American Colonies rather as the

refractory inhabitants of a subjugated State

than, as they truly were, a loyal and affection-

ate portion of their own people. Their loyalty

was attested by their long and patient endu-

rance, by their efforts to secure redress through

petitions and protests to the heart and consci-

ence of their rulers who were their brethren

and kindred in England, rather than by force,

and by the alacrity with which the colonies had

raised armies and money to defend our continent

against the French, which secured in 1763

all this vast and rich domain, not for them-

*“As early as 1635, Charles I. assailed that of Massachusetts; and Charles

II. repenting of his prodigal and heedless distribution of freedom, continued

the warfare upon colonial liberties in general. All the charters of New Eng-

land were vacated by James 1 1. whose plan it was to reduce the colonies un-

der one arbitrary government.” Walsh’s Appeal, p. 46.

(Walsh’s Appeal, pp. 46 and 179.
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selves, but for their gracious sovereign of the

house of Hanover. But all these efforts peace-

ably to maintain their rights and liberties

were unavailing. Gen. Thomas Gage, who

had been appointed the royal governor of

Massachusetts in [763, and Commander in

Chief of all the British forces in America, was a

willing tool of the crown, and took a malig-

nant pleasure in trying to enforce the

acts of Parliament. He gradually gathered

an army of several thousand men which

he quartered in Boston, regardless of the

protests of the people. His despotic military

government, the insolence of his officers, and

the outrages of the soldiery, became insuffer-

able to a free people. Conflicts between the

populace and the soldiers were frequent. Gage

openly declared his purpose to subject the

colony by force of arms. Early in 1775 the

port of Boston was closed, and the city

became a military camp. Hancock, Adams,
Warren, Otis and other leading patriots

had left the city, and were organizing an

army throughout New England to resist their

oppressors. All the colonies were united

against their common enemy. On April 19th

Gage sent a large force to destroy military

stores at Concord. On the way there, at Lex-

ington, a company of Militia was fired on and

eight of them killed. This was the first blood-

shed in the Revolution. The British reached

Concord about noon, found a few stores which

they destroyed, and were driven back by the

patriot militia with great loss. On the 25th of

May Lord Howe arrived with a large naval

and military reinforcement to supersede Gen.

Gage. He led the English army in the battle

of Bunker Hill, June 17th. The war had now
begun in earnest and the whole country sprang

to arms.

At that time there were arrayed against the

thirteen colonies a fleet of a hundred armed
vessels, and an army of fifty-five thousand dis-

ciplined soldiers, backed by all the resources

of the British Empire.

On the 15th of June, 1775, two days before

the battle of Bunker Hill. Congress made Geo.
Washington Commander-in-Chief of all our

armies. He immediately repaired to Cam-
bridge opposite Boston,assumed command,and
soon after, General Howe evacuated Boston
and went to Halifax.

The following year was one of great activ-

8

= ity in all the colonies, in the preparation for a

long and determined struggle. The popula-

tion of Delaware at that time was about 37,-

500. She was requested by congress to raise

and equip a regiment for the Continental

army. This regiment was raised two months
before the Declaration of Independence,

:

placed under the command of Colonel John
Haslet, and most thoroughly drilled for active

|

service in the field. It contained eight com-

|

panies and eight hundred men. Gunning
Bedford was the Lieutenant Colonel, and Dr.

Thomas McDonough, (father of Commodore
McDonough,) was its Major

;
Joseph Stidham,

Nathan Adams. Samuel Smith, Charles Pope,

Jonathan Caldwell, Henry Darby, Joseph
Vaughn and David Flail were the captains.

The first naval engagement of the Revolu-
tion took place May 8th, 9th, and 10th, 1776,

in Delaware waters. Two English frigates,

the Roebuck and the Liverpool, came up the

Delaware river, when they were impetuously-

attacked off the mouth of the Christiana by
a number of long-boats or rov/-gaiiey's, ied by
young Captain Houston. They were armed
with muskets, and some small brass cannon,

and by' their intrepid courage and bravery,

kept up for three days, compelled the frigates

to retreat down the river.

In the hottest of the fight, a row-boat came
from the shore, manned with four boys, who
placed themselves directly under the stern of

the Liverpool and fired incessantly into her.

The officer of marines, calling the. Captain’s

attention to the juvenile assailants,excla ;med,
“Captain, do you see those young rebels ?

Shall I fire upon them ?” “No, no,” cried brave

old Captain Billew, “don’t hurt the boys
;

let them break the cabin windows.”

The shore was lined with thousands of peo-

ple who witnessed the battle, and applauded

our brave men. In the heat of the engage-

ment a militia major rode up at full speed,

sprang from his horse, and persuaded two men
to take him to the galley nearest the enemy,
and as soon as he was on board, stationed him-

self at a gun The cartridge failed—cartridge

paper was called for, but it was all expended.

Instantly thegallant major pulled off his boots,

filled them with powder and rammed them
into the gun. He boasted afterward, that he

had not only' been in the battle but had fired

his boots at the enemy.
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Active preparations were now made by the
|

Committee of Safety to provide means of de-

fense for the whole coast of Delaware, and to

replenish Lewistown with an abundance of

powder and lead. The result of this battle in-

duced a feeling of greater security, and as the

war was thus brought home to the people of

Delaware, they rallied to the standard of Inde-

pendence.

The majority of the delegates to Congress

which assembled in May, 1776, in Philadelphia,
'

had been instructed by the colonies they rep-
'

resented, to declare for a separate and indepen- '

dent government. But for this radical consti-
!

tutional change a portion of the people of
j

Delaware were not yet prepared. They were

an eminently conservative people, largely de-

voted to agriculture. Kent and Sussex partic-

ularly, were situated outside of the great high-

ways of travel; they were but slightly affected

by the Parliamentary acts, and it required the

most earnest labors of Rodney, McKean, Has-

let, Bedford and other advanced patriots, to

bring them up to the point of sustaining so

summary a measure. But in this they were

successful, and the legislature elected the first

of June was Whig by a large majority.

The instructions of the Assembly on March

22d to her Congressional delegates were for re-

dress with reconciliation, and,impliedly ,against

independence. On the 7th of June Richard

Henry Lee, of Virginia, introduced his cele-

brated resolution, “that the United Colonies

are and of right ought to be free and independ-

ent States : and that the political connec-

tion between them and Great Britain is, and

ought to be, dissolved.”

This resolution was debated for several days,

but as Mr. Jefferson says in his memoirs, “it

appearing that New York, Pennsylvania, Del-

ware and Maryland were not yet matured for

falling from the parent stem, but were rapidly

maturing to that state, it was thought prudent

to wait awhile for them, and to postpone the

final decision until July the first.” The com-
mittee was then appointed, of which Jefferson

was chairman, to draft the Declaration of In-

dependence.

Congress had already, on the 15th of May,
resolved that as the colonies had been by act

of Parliament excluded from the protection of

the British crown, that all authority of the

said crown should be suppressed, and “that it

be recommended to the respective assemblies

and conventions of the colonies to adopt such

government as shall, in their opinion, most

conduce to the happiness and safety ot their

constituents in particular, and of America in

general.”

At the close of the debate on Mr. Lee's

resolution, Rodney at once started for Dover,

and chiefly through his influence, says Col.

Wm. G. Whiteley, in his “Soldiers of the Revo-

lution,” the General Assembly, then in Session,

passed unanimously, on the 14th of June, 1 776,

new instructions to our deputies in Congress,

authorizing them “to concur with the other

delegates in Congress, in adopting such meas-

ures as shall be judged necessary for promot-

ing the liberty, the safety and interests of

America, &c.”

Under these instructions, the representa-

tives were left free to exercise their own judg-

ment. Rodney, as has been seen, was inde-

fatigable in Delaware and among the members
of that august body, working for the success

of the measure. Of course he voted for Inde-

pendence, and gladly signed the great instru-

ment. McKean, able and earnest, had taken

advance ground from the first. He had voted

for the measure, but was with the “ Flying

Camp,” in New Jersey, on the Fourth of July.

He, however, soon returned, and affixed bis

name. Mr. Read was cautious and conserva-

tive, in his judgment the people were not

ready and the time had not yet come when
this necessary step should be taken. Hence,

he voted against the Declaration of Indepen-

dence, but when it passed, he joined his col-

leagues and signed the immortal document.

But Delaware wOnt farther than to instruct

her deputies on the 14th of June towards in-

dependence. Mr. McKean had presented to

the assembly a certified copy of the resolutions

of Congress, above referred to, when it was
unanimously resolved that : “whereas, it has

become absolutely necessary for the safety of

the good people of this colony, forthwith to

establish some authority adequate to the exi-

gencies of their affairs, until a new Govern-
ment can be formed

;
and whereas

,
the Rep-

resentatives of the people, in this Assembly
met, alone can, and ought, at this time, to es-

tablish such temporary authority,” therefore,

Resolved unanimously
,
That all persons holding

any office, civil or military in this colony, on
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the 13th of June, instant, may and shall

continue to execute the same, in the name of

the Government of the Counties of New

Castle, Kent and Sussex upon Delaware, as

they used to exercise them in the name of the

King, until a new Government shall be formed,

agreeably to the resolution of Congress of the

15th of May last.” This was a Declaration of

Independence and the establishment of a sep-

arate Government by Delaware three weeks

before Congress took the same action.

CHAPTER XVIII.

Great joy at Dover—Public burning of the

King's portrait— The teaction— Constitutional

Convention— The Whigs defeated—Rodney and

McKean removed from Congress—Read Presi-

dent of the Convention— The Tiew Constitution

—Its provision and defects—McKinley elected

first President of Delaware— The two Dela-

ware regiments— The “Flying Camp"— Their

battles and bravery— Col. Haslet killed—
Hall's regiment organized for the War—It

joins Washington—American affairs desperate

— The British Army in Delaware—Battle of

Cooch's Bridge—Battle of Brandywine— Wash-

ington defeated—President McKinley captured

—Battle of Germantown.

N the same day that the Declaration of

Independence was passed, Caesar Rod-

ney transmitted a copy of it to Do-ver

where it was received with the greatest

demonstrations of joy. The brave and noble

Colonel Haslet, who was an intimate friend

and compatriot of Rodney, wrote to him on

the sixth inst., an enthusiastic letter, -in which

he says : “I congratulate you, sir, on the im-

portant day which restores to every American

his birthright
;
a day which every freeman will

record with gratitude and the millions of pos-

erity read with rapture. Ensign Wilson arrived

here last night
;
a fine turtle feast at Dover;

anticipated and announced the declaration of

Congress; even the barrister himself laid aside

his airs of reserve, mighty happy.”

At the time Gen. Rodney’s letter reached

Dover, the election of officers of a new battal-

ion was going on
;
the committee of safety,

however, immediately met, and after receiving

the intelligence, proceeded in a body to the
j

court house, where (the election being stop-

ped) the President, read the Declaration of

Congress, and the resolution of the Assembly

for the appointment of a convention, each of

which received the highest approbation of the

people, in three cheers. The Committee then

went in a body back to their room, where they

sent for a picture of the king of Great Britain,

and made the drummer of the infantry bear it

before the president
;
they then marched two

and two, followed by the light infantry, with

slow and solemn music, round the square, then

forming a circle about a fire prepared in the

middle of the square for the purpose, pronoun-

ing the following words, committed it to the

flames : “Compelled by strong necessity, thus

wre destroy even the shadow of that king who
refused to reign over a free people.” Three

tremendous-cheers were given by the great

crowd present,and the friends of liberty gained

new courage to support the cause in which

they had embarked.

But the enthusiasm which greeted the Dec-

laration was dampened by the reaction which

soon followed. It shows the fickleness of

public sentiment. A convention had been

called to frame a new constitution and elect

delegates to the succeeding Congress. It

consisted of ten members from each county

and met at New Castle, August 27th, 1776.

In the election for this convention the Whigs
were defeated. The leading Whigs were stal-

wart and aggressive, and had incurred the bit-

terest opposition of the Tories. These were

joined by the weak and timid whose fears and

prejudices had been excited, and by others of

firmer Whig principles from motives of ambi-

tion.

By this means, says Huffington, they con-

trived to secure a majority of the Convention,

and one of their first acts was to remove from

Congress Gen. Rodney and Mr. McKean, two
delegates who had, in every instance, shown
themselves the uncompromising advocates of

liberty. This action was received by the

leading patriots of Delaware with great indig-

nation, and serious apprehensions, not only for

the State itself but for its influence on the pa-

triot cause. Haslet writes from camp to Rod-
ney on hearing this news, “I am not at all

surprised at the Tory strategem to leave you

out of the Convention ticket
;
’tis like the rest

of their doings, dark, low, dirty, illiberal.
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What a wretched struggle must they have

had in Convention
;

their prejudices drawing

one way, and the influences of Congress

another. I’m told they have done as little as

possible, and modeled their new government

as like the old as may be.”

Mr. Read was president of this Convention

and wrote the Constitution, which, with a few

amendments, was adopted, September 20th,

without submitting it to the people. By this

Constitution the Legislature was made to con-

sist of two houses, the Council and House of

Assembly; the Chief Magistrate was called

the President of Delaware and was elected

each year by the Legislature, which body also

elected the members of Congress. The courts

consisted of fourteen judges.

The chief defects of that constitution were

its provision for a cumbersome and expensive

judiciary, the large appointing power conferrd

on the President of the State, the immense
authority given to the General Assembly and
the few powers reserved to the peoole : defects

which, to a considerable extent, have marred
all the constitutions of this State.

That convention, however, did much besides

“ordain and declare the future form of Gov-
ernment for the Delaware State. ” It took

upon itself legislative, judicial and executive

functions. It ordered the raising, equipping

and marching of the quotas of militia required

from the State by Congress
;
appointing offi-

cers and borrowing money for war expenses.

Among other things, “ they restored forty

persons who had risen in insurrection in Sus-

sex county, in June, 1776, to the favor of their

country, upon profession of their penitence,

and promise of future obedience to the As-
sembly of Delaware and the continental Con-

gress.
”

Under this Constitution General John

McKinley was elected the first President of

the State, and William Killen the first Chief

Justice. General McKinley, a prominent phy-

sician of Wilmington, was, in 1775, made a

Brigadier General and was active in raising

the militia for service in the field.

The new constitution made Dover the capi-

tal of the State, but as yet the State possessed

no public buildings. Arrangements were made
with the Levy Court of Kent county for the

Legislature to hold its sessions in the Court-

house. By some failure of the Assembly to i

! comply with certain terms and conditions

l agreed upon, the Sheriff, John Clayton, put-

ting on his sword as the emblem of his

authority, drovfe the Legislatuie -from the

building. That body then repaired to Smyrna,

in which town its sessions were held
;
but in

! what building authorities differ. Chief Justice

;

Comegys says the Legislature sat in the large

room of the brick hotel now known as the

Mansion House; while Mrs Speakman the

present owner of “Belmont Hall,” says the

family tradition is that Thomas Collins, then

a member of the council, and afterward

Governor of the State, invited that body to

hold its sessions in his large and beautiful resi-

dence “Belmont Hall,” located half a mile

south of Smyrna, and which is still standing

and in a state of fine preservation as shown
in the opposite engraving.

While the citizens of Delaware were thus

engaged in organizing the Civil Government
of the State, two regiments were bravely

fighting her battles; the regiment of Colonel

Haslet and the Flying Camp under Colonel

Patterson. The regiment of Colonel John

Haslet marched from Delaware the first of

August and joined the army of General

Washington at Newr York. On the 27th of

that month they were in the battle of Long
Island, and won deserved and lasting fame,

fighting with the bravery and firmness of vet-

eran soldiers. At the time of the battle,'

Colonel Haslet and Lieut Colonel Bedford

were on duty attending a Court Martial, much
to their regret, and the regiment was com-
manded by Major McDonough. It lost thirty-

one ‘men. The Americans retreated to New
York, and the regiment was next in the battle

of White Plains, and in the battle of Trenton

on Christmas day, 1776, in which our armies

gained a brilliant victory. On January 3rd,

1777, it took part in the battle of Princeton,

in which Washington was victorious, and in

which Colonel Haslet was killed while lead-

ing a charge on the English lines. Lieut.

Colonel Bedford had been appointed on

Washington’s staff. Major McDonough about

this time resigned his commission and retired

to private life. Several companies had per-

emptoriL left the regiment to join the battalion

of Col. Hall, organizing for the war
;
some

had deserted, many had fallen in battle, and

as it was now reduced to less than one hundred
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men, the regiment was disbanded. It is sup-

posed that to Captain Jonathan Caldwell’s

Company, in Haslet’s regiment, we owe the

name of the “Blue Hen’s Chickens.” The tra-

dition is that his soldiers took with them to

camp game chickens, the brood of a blue hen,

celebrated in Kent for their fighting qualities,

and that the officers and men when not fighting

the enemy amused themselves fighting chick-

ens. Hence Delaware soldiers, and finally

Delaware people came to be known as “Blue

Hen’s Chickens,” which continues to this

day.

When Rodney was recalled from Congress

he intended to retire to his home in Kent

county for rest. He had long been suffering

from a cancer, which began on his nose, and

spread over one side of his face, from which

he died in 1782. It was very painful, and he

wore a green cloth or patch tohide it. Besides,

although he uttered no word of complaint, he

must have keenly felt the stab of his removal

from Congress But the voice of his friends

and the woes of his country fired his patriotic

heart and he found no time for rest. Colonel

Haslet wrote him, “I acknowledge the justice

of your reasoning, and the ingratitude of the

people as well as the malignity of their pres-

ent leaders. I know you have already sacri

ficed a large share of private property to the

evil and unthankful,” but “how can you lay

out a part of it to more noble purposes than

in serving your country, guarding her rights

and privileges, and forcing men to be happy

against their will.” Mr. Rodney remained a

member of the Council of Safety, and of the

Committee of Inspection. He had been made
a Brigadier General in 1775, and was now ac-

tive in organizing the militia for the “Flying

Camp,' purchasing clothing and army equip-

ments and hastening them to the field.

This “Flying Camp” was the second regi-

ment furnished by Delaware, and was com-
manded by Col. Samuel Patterson. This reg-

iment was stationed at Amboy, New Jersey,

and at first made but a poor reputation. Some
of its officers and men were brave and patri-

otic, but cowardice, insubordination and nu-

merous desertions, stained its earlier record.

It was enlisted during the summer of 1776,

and its term of service expired December 1st.

However.it greatly redeemed its reputation by

its bravery in the battle of Staten Island.

|

We find Rodney with Washington at Trenton

and Princeton, as a Brigadier General, active

j

and efficient under all circumstances. Mr.

j

McKean had been elected Chief Justice of

i Pennsylvania, although he still was speaker of

the House of Assembly, in Delaware.

In January 1777, the Legislature elected Geo.

Read, John Dickinson, and John Evans as

delegates to Congress. Messrs. Dickinson

and Evans declined the high trust, and on

I

February 22nd, Nicholas VanDyke and James
Sykes were elected to fill the vacancies.

The regiments of Haslet and Patterson were

State troops enlisted for short terms of service.

They served with, but were never incorpora

ted into, the Continental Army. On Septem-
ber 16th, 1776, Congress made a requisition on

the Colonies for eighty-eight battalions of

eight hundred men each. Of these, Dela-

ware was appointed to furnish one battalion,

to be incorporated into the Continental army,

under the control of Congress, and to serve

during the war. This regiment was mustered

in November 30th, 1776, with David Hall as

Colonel, and became the justly celebrated

“Delaware Line,” and the flower of the Rev-
olutionary army. This regiment absorbed

many of the choicest officers and men of the

first two regiments, and explained, in part,why
Haslet's regiment was so small when it dis-

banded. It joined Washington in the spring

of 1777, in New Jersey, and during that summer
participated in the battles of Brandywine, Ger-

mantown and Monmouth. The other officers

of this battalion; Charles Pope, Lieut. Col.,

Joseph Vaughn, Major, George Purvis, Adju-

tant, Edward Roche, Paymaster, Reuben Gil-

der, surgeon, John Platt, surgeon’s mate: Cap-

tains, John Patten, Robert Kirkwood, John

Learrnonth, Peter Jaquett, John Wilson, John

Corse, John Rhodes and George Purvis.

General gloom pervaded the country at this

!

period. By the frequent defeat of our army,

j

and the successes of the enemy, the affairs of

1
America seemed desperate. New Jersey had

been overrun by the British, and appeared

|

subjugated, while thousands of neutrals, par-

I

ticularly in the Middle States, had joined the

Royalists. The Tories were jubilant and the

1 Whigs correspondingly depressed. Recruit-

ing was at an end, and the only hope was

drawn from the victories of Washington at

I

Trenton and Princeton.
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The Legislature at Dover, judging from

their indifference in failing to provide for their

soldiers in the field, contained a sufficient num-
ber of Tories to block Legislation, while the

Laws of the General Assembly commanded
too little support and obedience among a con-

siderable portion of the people.

Lord Howe now determined to attack Phil-

adelphia and sailed with a large fleet from

New York to the head of the Chesapeake bay,

where his army disembarked, August 25th.

1777. As soon as Washington received intel-

ligence of the arrival of Howe’s army in the

Chesapeake, he marched his army through

Philadelphia, to encourage his friends and in-

timidate the disaffected by its numbers and

martial appearance. He halted for a short

time at Brandywine, and thence moved to

Wilmington and encamped on the hills around

the city. He had his headquarters in the

“Happy Return” Hotel, on Market street, near

Third, where he and Lafayette often slept in

their travels through Wilmington. This old

revolutionary landmark was occupied many
years by Mr. John Moore as a clothing store,

and was replaced by his new building in

1879 -

Meantime, Howe was marching his army to

give him battle. With one division he

marched on the 27th of August from the place

of debarkation to Elk, now called Elkton. On
the 28th. his vanguard occupied Gray’s Hill

two miles east of it, while Knyphausen moved
by Cecil Court House to within eight miles of

the Christiana, and Grant was left with six

battalions to guard the baggage and keep

open communication with the fleet. Gen-
erals Cornwallis and Knyphausen united their

divisions on the 3d of September at Pencader,

being joined on the 8th by General Grant.

During this passage of Howe’s army through

Delaware, they were constantly annoyed by

the Delaware and Maryland Militia, under

General Rodney, which kept up a continual

skirmish with their guards, and out-posts. A
sharp engagement took place at Cooch’s

Bridge, between Cornwallis and General Max-
well’s light corps, the latter retreating across

White Clay creek.

On the 5th of September the American
army was posted behind White Clay creek,

1

with its right on Newport, with its left on

Hockesson
;
Rodney having previously been I

ordered to annoy the enemy’s rear, and the

Pennsylvania militia to co-operate with the

American Army in front.

General Howe tried, by a feigned attack in

front, to mask his movement to turn the

American right. This movement, if success-

ful, would have enclosed Washington in a

narrow strip of territory, where he would have
been forced either to fight at a disadvantage,

or allow Howe to pass on and occupy Philadel-

phia without a battle. He, therefore, with-

drew in the night to the high grounds above
Chadd’s Ford, where, on September 11th, the

memorable battle of the Brandywine was
fought. The American army was defeated

with a loss of 900 killed, wounded, and taken

prisoners, while the British lost about 500.

This was doubtless due largely to the im-

mensely superior force of the British, the want
of vigilance of General Sullivan, and a heavy
fog which concealed the movements of the

enemy.

On the 13th of September, 1777, Wilmington
was occupied by a detachment of the British

army. The Tories pointed out the residences

of the leading Whigs and patriots, who were
made prisoners. Dr. McKinley, the President

of the State, was captured, and kept a prisoner

till after his term of office expired.

George Read, vice President was, at the

time, in his seat in Congress. In the absence

of the President and Vice President, the duties

of the Chief Magistracy devolved, by the Con-
stitution, on the Speaker of the Assembly,
Mr. McKean. This office he administered

with great vigor till the arrival of George
Read, nearly two months afterward. He kept

the militia in fighting order and one half of it

constantly on duty. He strengthened the

military posts. With the approbation of

the Privy Council, and to strengthen the

Whig party for the coming elections, he

appointed Caesar Rodney Major General, and

Messrs. Dagworthy, Dickinson and Patterson,

Brigadiers, and borrowed 3,000 pounds for

military expenses. He arrested deserters and

Tories, and exerted all the powers of his

office to encourage the friends of Independ-

ence in that dark hour.

In the battle of Germantown, which took

place soon after that of Brandywine, Colonel

Hall was severely wounded. In that battle

the British were also victorious and took pos-
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session of Philadelphia, while Washington

with his army proceeded to.Valley Forge, where

he spent the Winter.

CHAPTER XIX.

The dark hour—Insurrections quelled—
Bounties for Soldiers— The Articles of Con-

federation—Rodney Elected President—Dela-

ware nearly lost to the American cause— The

battle of Monmouth— Washington Victorious—
Treaties with Foreign Powers— Their efforts

to Circumscribe the Union fail—High prices

— Vessels and Supplies for the Army— On the

verge of Famine— The Campaign in the South

— The Delaware Regiment in South Carolina—
Their unparalleled bravery—Major Vaughn

taken prisoner at Camden—Robert Kirkwood

takes command—His Immortal Braves—Sur-

render af Cornwallis— Capt. MeLane's Com-

pany—Cheney Clow—Peace at last.

CD

K HE Winter of 1778 was one of the dark-

C^pj^est periods of the Revolution. New
York, Philadelphia, and Wilmington

(y)' were in possession of the enemy. In-

surrections had repeatedly occurred in Kent
and Sussex, where the disaffected to Congress

were numerous. With the British armed ves-

sels in the Delaware Bay and River, the

Royalists were in close and constant communi-
cation and concealed and aided emissaries

from these vessels, who instigated many to re-

bellion, while payment in hard money for

cattle, grain and vegetables was an almost

irresistible temptation to illicit traffic.

The ardent and active Whigs were ex-

posed to great peril. The State was infested

with spies who furnished lists of prominent

patriots to the British, many of whom were

seized and taken to their loathsome prison

ships.

The elections for members of the Legisla-

ture, in the Autumn of 1777, were unfortunate

for the patriots. In Sussex the election was
broken up by the militia, doubtless to prevent

a Tory victory. The members elected from

the other counties, refused to vote either men
or money for the army, and Vice President

Read did not have the executive force to

compel obedience to the laws.

In Sussex the civil authority was declared,

in December, 1777, to be totally ineffectual,

and this defiant and open insurrection led

Congress to order the Board of War to reduce

this portion of the State of Delaware to obe-

dience.

In January Washington ordered General '

Smallwood into Delaware with a detachment
of Maryland troops, to make a requisition upon
the State for militia to reinforce him. Mr.

Read immediately issued orders for the march-
ing of General Patterson’s Brigade, consist’ng

of thirty-one hundred of the militia of New
Castle county, to join General Smallwood at

Wilmington
;
yet so great was the spirit of in-

subordination that very few obeyed. Another
order followed soon after, including the militia

of Kent, which still obtained but a small force.

Active measures were now taken to subdue
the rebellious spirit in Sussex, and at the

special election held soon after, the patriots

were cheered by a Whig victory, and the

Legislature.with a strong majority, stood with
her sister States, once more, for a vigorous

prosecution of the war.

Mr. McKean, although Chief Justice of

Pennsylvania, was again elected by Delaware
as one of her representatives in Congress,

which position he held till after the war, and
in July, 1781, was made president of that body,

which was a fitting tribute to his distinguished

abilities and his untiring devotion to the

“glorious and virtuous” cause of Indepen-

dence.

Congress, in February, 1778, sent ten thou-

sand dollars to Delaware, to be used exclu-

sively as bounties to volunteers, which, with

the efforts put forth, had the effect of adding a

considerable number to the Delaware Battal-

ion. The Legislature had refused to resort to

the summary process of drafting, although

Read, Rodney and even Washington had re-

quested it and Congress had ordered it. Also

most of the States had adopted it.

The articles of confederation had been adopt-

ed by Congress and submitted to the States

for ratification. The Statesmen of Delaware,

during the winter of 1778, were occupied with

having engrafted upon this important instru-

ment such limitations as would prevent any

one or two States from acquiring a preponder-

ating and dangerous influence in the Union,

through their vast, and as yet, unbounded ex-
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tent of territory
;
and such guarantees as would

insure the perpetual equal standing of such

States as Delaware and Rhode Island, which

possessed small and limited territory. In this

our Representatives were finally successful,

and on those terms the State ratified the Arti-

cles of Confederation, in February, 1/79- This

position of equality in the family of States,

Delaware has ever proudly maintained.

In April, 1778, Caesar Rodney was elected

President of Delaware for one year and re-

elected ior four successive years. The office

though honorable was exceedingly arduous.

The Legislature though well disposed was

tardy where energy and promptness were

demanded. Constant insurrections took place.

The British, or the royalists in league with

them, made frequent descents all along the ex-

tensive shore of the state, and troops could

not be collected in time to repel them. Scarce-

ly a day passed but some patriot Whig,

near the Bay, was carried off and his house

nlundered ADn w<»rp> r|ranrcr*=-n from their beds

at night, and outrages without number and

of the most atrocious character were commit-

ted, till few were bold enough openly to iden-

tify themselves with the patriot cause, and

Congress was appealed to in vain to furnish

troops for their protection, for it had not the

troops to send.

The first battle of the year 1778 was fought

at Monmouth, June 28th, in which Washing-

ton was victorious, and in which over three

hundred of the enemy were killed The Del-

aware soldiers participated in that action, and

displayed great bravery.

The persistence with which the American

patriots prosecuted the war, the strength gained

by their union under the articles of Confeder-

ation,and their determination never to lay down

their arms till England acknowledged their

Independence, secured them the respect of

France, Holland, Russia and Spain, and trea-

ties of friendship were secured with those

powers, in which the nationality of the United

States was acknowledged. It is true that

their jealousy of England and a desire to see

her crippled by the loss of her American Colo-

nies was a leading motive
;

still they had

many misgivings as to the propriety of permit-

ting a powerful Republic, with its broad and

just principles of freedom, producing already

the most prosperous, happy and intelligent

people in the world, to take its stand in the

great family of nations. Hence an attempt

was made by Spain and France in a proposed

treaty to restrict the United States to the

Allegheny mountains as their western limit.

All the leading men of Delaware united their

influence with Congress to defeat this perilous

scheme, which was finally abandoned

During the year 1779 the Legislature of

this State seems to have had a prepondera-

ting Whig majority which supported the war

measures of Congress, kept the Delaware

Battalion full, and succeeded in suppressing to

a large extent the spirit of disloyalty. For-

tunately the State was not invaded by either of

the contending armies. Our representatives

in the Continental Congress that year were

Thomas McKean, John Dickinson and Nicho-

las Van Dyke.

Aside from these events the greatest ca-

lamity of the time was the wonderful depre-

ciation of the continental paper money. Every
effort was made bv the Government to make
this paper money equal to gold and silver by
making it a legal tender for all debts, but it

rapidly depreciated till its purchasing value

was not more than five or six cents to the

dollar. For example, sole-leather was ten shil-

lings a pound, calf skins ninety shillings each,

flour $300 dollars a barrel, Vattel’s Law of

Nations sold for $400 dollars, jean or “habit

Cloth” sixty dollars a yard, indifferent writing

paper ,£75 a ream. Exchange between Phila-

delphia and London was fourteen to fifteen

hundred per cent, while bills on France could

be purchased at nine hundred.

Delaware not only furnished soldiers for the

army, equipping and supporting them, but the

needed vessels for the Merchant Marine,

and Navy. These vessels were built at Wil-

mington, and in ship-yards on almost every

creek which penetrates her coast. Lea’s flour

mills on the Brandywine, built in 1762 and

enlarged in 1770, were, during the Revolution,

the largest in the United States, and furnished

thousands of barrels of good wheat flour ar\d

ground corn for the army. When Howe ap-

proached Wilmington, Washington removed

the runners, or upper stones, to Chester

County, Pennsylvania, lest they should fall

into the enemy’s hands
;
so valuable were they

to the army and people. They were returned

after the British left Philadelphia.
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The Winter of 1780 was intensely cold and

the American army, quartered at Morristown,

New Jersey, was subjected to the greatest

privations, which were borne with admirable

patience. They were half clothed, ill fed and

at times on the verge of famine; the commis-

saries being without money or credit. With

hi< army in this condition, Washington could

not avail himself of the favorable opportunity

afforded by the rivers and inlets of the ocean

being bridged with ice, to attack New York.

The patriot army had been generally suc-

cessful in the campaign of 1779, and greatly

encouraged by the devotion to our cause of

La Fayette, and the assistance he had obtained

for us from France
;
but in the Spring of 1780

they were appalled to find that the British

were determined to remove the theatre of war

to the Southern States.

In pursuance of this change, Charleston, S.

C., was attacked by Sir Henry Clinton, and

surrendered on the 12th of May The conse-

quence of its loss was the apparent submission

of that State to the royal authority. The

soldiers of Delaware and Maryland had been

chosen to operate in the South, and left for

their destination under command of Major

Vaughn
;
Colonel Hall not having recovered

from the wounds received at the battle of

Germantown, and Lieut. Colonel Charles Pope

being absent on a furlough, hence neither of

them went south with the regiment

With the forces from the Southern States,

they were placed under the command of Gen.

Gates, the “hero of Saratoga”. He proved a

rash and injudicious officer. Their first battle

was fought at Camden, S. C., and although

the issue was disastrous to the Americans, the

Delaware and Maryland troops won imperish-

able renown. This battle was a mistake, and

was fought by Gates against the advice of his

officers. Armand’s corps and the militia as

soon as they saw the flashes of the enemy’s

guns threw down their loaded weapons, some
basely retreating and others running into

the enemy’s ranks, without so much as firing

a gun. The whole brunt of the battle

was left to be fought by the Continentals.

These consisted of the Delaware, two Mary-
land, and one North Carolina regiments, and, :

says Whitely, “they stood as men never stood

before or since.” With Armand’s corps and
three thousand militia tearing through their

j

9

ranks, with Britain’s best soldiers pressing

them, “they held their ground, charging and
repelling charges, broken more than once, and

|

borne down by superior numbers, but rallying

again and fighting bravely to the end.” In

vain did Otho Williams cry to his men, “Take
to the trees, men, choose your trees, men, and
give them an Indian charge!” In vain did the

gigantic De Kalb cry, “give them the bayonet,
men, give them the bayonet!” What the
bayonets of the enemy’s foot could not do the

;

charge of Tarleton’s cavalry did; they broke
before it, and the remnants of the Delaware
and Maryland regiments retreated. In this

battle the Delaware regiment was nearly an-
nihilated. It went into the fight five hundred
strong,and came out with twenty-three officers

and one hundred and forty-five rank and file.

Forty-seven had been taken prisoners, leaving
a dead-roll of two hundred and sixty-five in

one hour’s fight. DeKalb was killed, but well
might he, as he expired, breathe benedictions
on his faithful brave divisions.

Vaughn, who had been promoted and made
Lieut. Colonel, and commanded the regiment,
was taken prisoner

;
so, also, was Major Patten.

The command now devolved on Robert Kirk-
w ood as Senior Captain. At Charlotte and
Hillsboro he collected what remained of the
regiment, and three companies of Light In-
fantry being formed out of the different corps,
Kirkwood was assigned to the command of
one ot them, composed of the remnants of the
Delaware and Second Maryland regiments.
They were in all the battles under General
Green (who had succeeded Gates in com-
mand) from that time till the surrender of
Charleston. They were at Cowpens with
Morgan, and that battle was made a vic-

tory by Kirkwood. Not only did his troop
“give them the bayonet, but Seymour says
“Tarleton endeavored to outflank us on the
right, to prevent which Captain Kirkwood
wheeled his company to the right and at-

tacked their left flank so vigorously that they
were soon repulsed.” Kirkwood was from Con-
cord, Sussex county, and his fame, which be-
came national, dates from that battle.

The Delawares were with Green in the bat-

tle of Guilford and in his famous retreat before

Lord Cornwallis, which was managed by Gen.
Green with such genius as to turn the current

of adverse fortune, and contributed so greatly
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to the speedy and felicitous issue of the war. I

They were assigned the most responsible posi-

tion in the battle of Hobkirk’s Hill, sometimes

called “the Second battle of Camden," and re-

ceived the thanks of the General in published
j

orders for their gallant behaviour. They also
j

participated in the siege of Ninety Six, and

the battle of Eutaw Springs, which virtually

closed the war.

History is loud in the praises of Kirkwood,

and his men
;
they “were reckoned the most

efficient in the Continental army," and re-

ceived the thanks of Congress for their “un-

paralled bravery and heroism."

Captain Allen McLane, father of the late

Hon. Louis McLane, enlisted a partisan com-

pany early in the war, throughout which they

served bravely and faithfully. He was com-

missioned, January 13, 1777, and was in most

if not all the battles in the Northern Depart-

m'ent, and in the battle of Yorktown.

With the surrender of Cornwallis at York-

town. October 19th, 1781. and the defeat of

the British at King’s Mountain by Washington,

the same month, the contest of arms was

ended, although the treaty of peace was not

signed till November 30th, 1782.

The delegates from Delaware, in Congress

in that year were Ccesar Rodney of Delaware,

and Thomas McKean, Philemon Dickinson

and Samuel Wharton, citizens of Pennsyl-

vania. The bitter hostility existing between

the Whigs and Tories was shown by the arrest,

trial and execution of Cheny Clow. Clow was

a leader of the Tories of Kent and Sussex coun-

tks and resided in a strong log house known
as “Clow’s Lort,” situated in the forest about

twelve miles south west from Dover. He was
accused of treason in 1782 and arrested by

the sheriff, John Clayton, and his posse, after

having made a heroic defense. During the

attack a man named Moore was shot and
instantly expired. At his trial Clow exhibited

his commission as a captain in the British army
and demanded to be treated as a prisoner of

war. He was tried for high treason by a jury

before Judges Killen and Linney, but being

acquitted at this trial, was immediately indicted

for the killing of Moore
;
and although it was

not proved that Clow killed him, such was the

public clamor against him that he was found

guilty and executed, greatly to the regret of

many after the political rancor had subsided.

The close of the long and bloody struggle

terminating so happily for America, was hailed

with delight by all the people of Delaware.

Independence was secured, the fear of foreign

interference was gone. Delaware had suc-

cessfully maintained her position of equal

powers and standing in the Union, and the

people, with one accord, became devoted to

her fortunes under her Republican Institutions.

CPIAPTER XX.

The War- debt and the Territories—Calling

in bills of credit— The weakness of the Confed-

eracy—Delaware not represented in Congress
— Constitutional Convention— Defending the

rights of Delaware—Equal Representation—
Franklin's Compromise— Wisdom of the Fram-
ers of the Constitution—Fitch s Steamboat in

Delaiuare Waters in 1786

—

Peaeefid close of the

Centurv.

OMf HE Representatives of Delaware in the

cMf*' Continental Congress, in 1783, were
James Tilton, Eleazer McComb, and

- Gunning Bedford. Jr.*

The two questions of vital importance be-
fore the country for the next few years, were
the payment of the immense war-debt, and
the proper disposition of the vast Territories of

the West as yet unsettled and unsurveyed.
The large States claimed these Territories

under their English Charters, yet were unable
to settle among themselves what should be
the bounds and extent of their claims. On
the other hand the smaller States' earnestly

held that the Territories should belong to the

Confederacy, and the lands sold for the benefit

of the common Treasury, because wrested
from the British Sovereignty by the blood,

money and sacrifices of all.

During this year, 1783, Delaware enacted a
law for calling in, paying and destroying all

the bills of credit, heretofore issued by the
State, by giving one pound sterling for every
*NOTE.— There were two Gunning Bedfords, of Delaware, who be-

came distinguished; one, the Lieutenant-Colonel of Haslet’s regiment, was
one of the bravest and most patriotic officers of the Revolution. He wrote

a letter to George Read from the camp on Morrisiania Heights, October 1,

1776, in which, speaking of a former letter, he says, “I delivered it to my
co .sin, Gunning Bedford, who, I understood, went to Philadelphia two days
after.” This cousin was the Statesman, Attorney-General and United
States Judge.
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seventy pounds thus called in. Richard Bas-

sett and George Read, entered an elaborate

written protest against the injustice of the

measure, but it shows how nearly the credit of

the State was destroyed, and of how little

value its paper money had become.

Nor was the continental money of more
worth. The whole country had settled into

a condition of gloom and anxiety. The states

were united little more than in name. Ex-
hausted by an eight years’ war, almost without

credit, the country was rapidly drifting, help-

less and hopeless, to confusion and anarchy.

The continental war debt was forty-two mil-

lions of dollars, the- foreign debt eleven mil-

lions, and the war debts of the states twenty-

five millions.

Congress strongly urged the maintenance

of the public faith, and honest men desired a

national government strong enough to protect

all classes and all interests. But the class

opposed to the payment of the debts were

naturally jealous ol cn^rc 3 s. and constantly

fomented prejudice against it. Rodney had

died in 1782, before taking his seat in the Con-

gress to which he had been elected. General

Patterson, had while he held the position of

Continental Loan Officer, rather tardily col-

lected and paid the dues to the General Gov-

ernment. He died while in that office in May,

1785. Dr. James Tilton,who succeeded him,was

a state-rights man and so bitterly opposed to

Congress and the Union, that he refused to

pay over the money in his hands to the Gen-

eral Government. The above was a Conti-

nental office, but was filled by appointment of

the Legislature. For nearly a year from the

first of November, 1785, the State of Delaware

was unrepresented in Congress. The dele-

gates appointed -failed to attend, though ap-

pealed to in the strongest manner by leading

citizens of this State, and the critical con-

dition of the country. The President of the

State, Nicholas Van Dyke, was urged officially

to call these public servants either to a per-

formance of their duty or to resign, but he

declined to do more than to privately urge

them. The probability is that he and they

were anti-union men, as no reason appears why

they could not attend to their duties in Con-

gress which was then sitting in Philadelphia.

Affairs had reached such an alarming crisis,

by the weakness of the General Government

and the preponderating power of the States,

that the country was brought to the brink of

ruin. The British still held the military posts

of the western frontier, Massachusetts was
in open rebellion, the country was convulsed

by the Shay insurrection and civil war was at

the door of every State. For this condition

of affairs a majority of the people finally real-

ized that a strong and efficient national Gov-
ernment was the only remedy. A convention

had been called to meet at Annapolis to har-

monize the differences between Maryland and
Virginia, as to the navigation of the Potomac
River and Chesapeake Bay. John Dickinson,

George Read, Jacob Broom, Richard Bassett

and Gunning Bedford, jr.
,
represented Dela-

ware in this Convention, of which John Dick-

inson was made President. After discussion

they decided to take no action on the business

for which they assembled, but, instead, to re-

commend that the States should choose dele-

gates to meet in Philadelphia in May follow-
r m Q ‘‘f o r«o th o A **fmloe rs I" _11 AS> 1 /°/» C ^ - *-*

eration.” By this fortunate circumstance the

convention was called which framed the Con-
stitution of the United States.

On February 3rd, 1787, the Legislature of

Delaware appointed George Read, Gunning
Bedford, jr., John Dickinson, Richard Bassett

and Jacob Broom deputies to the proposed

convention. There was but one limiting

clause in their instructions, viz : that under

the new constitution, Delaware should not

be deprived of her equal voice in Congress.

The wisdom and necessity of this instruction

was afterward apparent, for no sooner had

the convention entered upon its business than

the question arose, “what ought to be the

right of suffrage in the National Govern-

ment.” Mr. Read reminded the body that the

deputies from Delaware were restrained by

their commission from assenting to any change

in the rule of suffrage, and in case of such

change it might be their duty to retire from

the convention. The fear of losing the

smaller States led to the postponement of the

subject for a time. When the question again

arose, near the close of the convention,

the debate was long and vehement. The
larger States claimed representation ac-

cording to population, and any other rule

they denounced as unjust. Thus the contest

of the larger States was for power, that of
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the smaller States for existence. Finally

a spirit of accommodation, prevailed, but not

till the State-rights party were on the

verge of withdrawing. At this critical junc-

ture Benjamin Franklin proposed, as a com-

promise, the present plan, that each State

should have an equal voice in the Senate, and

representatives in the lower house according

to their population. “Of all political expedi-

ents,” says Parton, in his life of Franklin, “this

was, perhaps, the happiest ever devised. Its

success has been perfect, so much so that

scarcely has any one remarked it, unconscious

of its workings as a healthy man is of di-

gestion.” “The little States have carried their

point" said Mr. Grayson, in the Virginia con-

vention afterward, and William T. Read, in

the life of his grandfather, adds, “if they car-

ried this point, it was by the ability, zeal and

determination they manifested in contending

for it, and wanting it they would have been

without safeguard against the ambition or av-

arice of the laigci Stales, ana to nave ueiiev-

ed that they would always rise above this

passion, must have manifested not magnanim-
ity but folly.”

The purity, patriotism and wisdom of the

framers of the Constitution, has justly passed

into a proverb with the American people.

With the exception of their leniency to sla-

very, which has borne such bitter and bloody

fruit, they constructed a government well nigh

perfect, combining strength with freedom in a

manner that gave stability to our institutions,

while the happiness of the people, their gen-

eral intelligence and prosperity, has made our

country an example to the world, and an

asylum to the oppressed of every land. Dela-

ware had the honor of being the first State to

ratify the Constitution, which it did unanimous-

ly in the convention called for that purpose,

December 7th, 1787. Two other States, New
Jersey and Pennsylvania, ratified it later in

the same month, and the last, Virginia, not

till June, 1789.

In January following, Gunning Bedford, (the

elder,) John Banning, and George Mitchell

were chosen electors, and cast their votes for

George Washington for President, and John

Jay for Vice President. George Washington
received the unanimous vote of the electoral

college, and John Adams a majority vote for

Vice President. John Vining was elected first

Representative to Congress under the Consti-

tution, and George Read and Richard Bassett

the first senators.

The feeling of confidence and security which

succeeded these stirring political events was
soon manifest in the impetus given to all me-
chanical arts and industries. The efforts of

practical and scientific men were particularly

turned to utilize steam power in navigation,

and it is a noteworthy fact that the first experi-

ments which gave any promise of success took

place in Delaware waters. Mr. Fitch, the in-

ventor, laid his plans before Congress in 1785.

In 1786 he obtained from Deleware. Pennsyl-

vania, New Jersey and New York the exclu-

sive privilege ol those States and navigated

the Delaware river up and down till 1791,

sometimes making speed as high as eight miles

an hour. It was, however, reserved for Robert

Fulton in 1807, to triumph over all difficulties,

and make steam navigation the marvelous

success and blessing it has become.

From 1780 to March 1789, the chiet execu-

tive office of the State, then known as President

of the Delaware State, was held by Thomas
Collins, one of the most unselfish and worthy

public men of the times. On his death, Dr.

Joshua Clayton, father of Chief Justice Thomas
Clayton, was chosen, (May 30th, 1789,) to fill

the vacancy. Since 1792 the title has been

that of Governor of the State of Delaware.

The General Government, in 1790, assumed
the war debts of the States, which relieved

Delaware of an oppressive burden. The rep-

resentatives of Delaware favored this step and

also voted for the Bank of the United States,

which was incorporated January 24, 1791.

The event of chiefest moment to Delaware

in 1792 was the adoption of a new State Con-
stitution to supersede that of 1776. The most
prominent members of this convention were

John Dickinson, Kensey Johns, alterward

Chancellor of Delaware, Nicholas Ridgely,

who also became a Chancellor of the State, and
Richard Bassett.

In September, 1793, Mr. Read resigned his

place in the United States Senate, where he

was serving his second term, to accept the

position of Chief Justice of the Supreme Court

oi the State to which he was appointed by

Governor Clayton. William Killen was ap-

pointed Chancellor at the same time. The
succeeding Legislature elected John Vining to
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Succeed Mr. Bassett to the Senate of the United !

States, but for some reason, unknown to the

writer, neglected to fill the vacancy caused by-

Mr. Read’s resignation.

After consulting the most eminent jurists of
|

the State, Governor Clayton appointed Kensey
j

Johns to the vacancy, but this was held by the
,

Senate not to give a valid title to the seat,

and for a year, Delaware had but one represen-
j

tative in the Senate of the United States.

Afterward the elections took place regu- i

larly, the offices were filled by men worthy and
j

patriotic if not great. The people of Dela-
j

ware, as has been shown, exhibited the most
j

sterling qualities of heroism, and love of lib-

erty during the war for Independence, and in

the dark hours that followed the war; dur-

ing the changes and vicissitudes that threat-

ened her extinction, her statesmen, by their

courage and wisdom, maintained her honor so

triumphantly that she has ever stood a re-

spected and equal member of the Federal

Union. Her people now devoted themseives

to the arts of peace, and since have advanced

in prosperity.intelligence and happiness equally

with any other portion of that Republic, of

which it is their pride and glory to form a part.

CHAPTER XXI.
HISTORIC SUMMARY.

Governors of Delaware since the adoption of

the Federal Constitution— Term
, 4 years—Seat

of Government ,
Dover—Senators, Representa-

tive s and Delegates to Congress—Presidential

Electors:

GOVERNORS.
From To

1 Joshua Clayton, ...1789 1796

2 Gunning Bedford . . 1796 *
1797

3 Daniel Rogers .1797 1798

4 Richard Bassett, . . .1798 1801

5 James Sykes, (acting.) .... . .1801 1802

6 David Hall, . . . 1802 1805

7 Nathaniel Mitchell, . . . 1805 1808

8 George Truitt, . . 1808 181

1

9 Joseph Haslett . . . 1811 1814

10 Daniel Rodney, . . . 1814 1817

II John Clark . . .1817 1820

12 Jacob Stout, (acting,) ... . . . . 1820 1821

13 John Collins . 1821 1822

14 Caleb Rodney, (acting,).. . . 1822 1823

15 Joseph Haslett, . 1823 1824

69

16 Charles Thomas, (acting) .... 1823 1824

17 Samuel Paynter, 1824 1827

18 Charles Polk 1827 1830

19 David Hazzard, 1830
. 1833

20 Caleb P. Bennett, 1833 1837

21 Cornelius P. Comegys, 1837 1840

22 William B. Cooper, 1840 1844

23 Thomas Stockton, 1844 1846

24 Joseph Maull, (acting,) 1846 1846

25 William Temple, (acting) ... C 46 1846

26 William Tharp, 1846 1851

27 Wm. PI. Ross, 1851 1855

28 Peter F. Causey, 1855 1859

29 William Burton, 1859 1863

30 William Cannon, ....1863 1865

31 Gove Saulsbury, (acting) .... 1865 1867

32 do. 1867 1871

33 James Ponder, . 1871 1875

34 John P. Cochran, 1875 1879

35 John W. Hall, 1879 1883

SENATORS, REPRESENTATIVES
GATES TO CONGRESS

Bassett, Richard

Bates, Martin W.
Bayard, James A.

Bayard, James A.

Bayard, Richard H.

Bayard, Thos. F.

Bedford, Gunning

Broome, James M.

Biggs, Benj. T.

Clayton. John M.

Clayton, Joshua

Clayton, Thomas
Comegys, Joseph P.

Cooper, Thomas
Dickinson, John

Evans, John

Fisher, George P.

Hall, Willard

Horsey, Outerbridge

Houston, John W.
Johns, Kensey

Kearney, Dyre

Lattimer, Henry
Lofland, James R.

McComb, Eleazar

McKean, Thomas
Milligan, John J.

AND DELE-

Mitcheli, Nathaniel

Martin, Pldward L.

Naudain, Arnold

Nicholson, John A.

Patton, John

Peery, William

Read, George

Riddle, George Read
Ridgely, Henry M.

Robinson, Thomas
Rodney. Cresar

Rodney, Csesar A.

Rodney, Daniel

Rodney, George B.

Rodney, Thomas
Saulsbury, Willard

Smithers, Nathaniel B.

Spruance, Presley

Sykes. James
Saulsbury, Eli

Temple, William

Tilton, James

Van Dyke, Nicholas

Van Dyke, Nicholas

Vining, John

Wales, John

Whitely, W. G.

PRESIDENTIAL ELECTORS.

First Presidential Election , 1789—John Ban

ning, Gunning Bedford, George Mitchell.
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Stroud Presidential Election

,

1793—William
Hill Wells, James Sykes, Gunning Bedford.

Third Presidential Election
, 1797—Thomas

Robinson, Richard Bassett, Isaac Cooper.

Fourth Presidential Election, 1801—Samuel

White, Kensey Johns, Nathaniel Mitchell.

Fifth Presidential Election, 1805—George

Kennard, Maxwell Bines, Thomas Fisher.

Sixth Presidential Election, 1809—Nicholas

Ridgely, James Booth, Daniel Rodney.

Seventh Presidential Election, 1813—Benja-

min Blakiston, James L. Clayton, Thomas
Fisher, James Sykes.

Eighth Presidential Election, 1817—Isaac

Tunnell, Nicholas Ridgely, Thomas Robinson, 1>

Andrew Barratt.

Ninth Presidential Election, 1821—John

Clark, Andrew Barratt, Peter Robinson, Nicho-

las Ridgely.

Tenth Presidential Election, 1825—Joseph G.

Rowland, John Caldwell, Isaac Tunnell.

Eleventh Presidential Election, 1829—John

Adams, James Canby, David Hazzaiu.

Twelfth Presidential Election
,
1833—H. F.

Hall, George Truitt, C. P. Comegys.

'Thirteenth Presidential Election, 1837—H. F-

Hall, William W. Morris, William Dunning.

Fourteenth Presidential Election, 1841— Peter

J. Causey, Benjamin Caulk, H. F. Hall.

Fifteenth Presidential Election, 1845—Enoch
Spruance, Alfred DuPont. Thomas Davis

Sixteenth Presidential El ction, 1849—G. H.

Wright, P. Reybold, Samuel Catts.

Seventeeth Presidential Election, 1 8 5 3—Henry
Bacon, J. Merritt, William J. Clark.

Eighteenth PresidentialElection, 1857—Chas.

Wright, George C. Gordon, H. Ridgley.

Nineteenth Presidential Election, 1861—Robt.

B. Houston, Samuel Jefferson, John Mustard.

Twentieth Presidential Election, 1865— Har-

beson Hickman, Victor DuPont, Ayers Stock-

ley.

Twenty -first Presidential Election, 1869

—

Andrew C. Gray, James P.Wild, Wm. A. Scrib-

ner.

Twtnty-second Presidential Election, 1873

—

Benj. S. Booth, Wm. T. Collins, D. W. Moore.

Twenty-third Presidential flection, 1877

—

John H. Rodney, John W." Sharp, Geo. W.
1 1 7 • 11 ;

v v mill.

Twenty-fourth Presidential Election, 1881—
Charles B. Lore, Albert Whiteley, George
Russell.

THE JUDICIAL SYSTEM OF DELAWARE.
BY HON. N. B. SMITHERS, LL. D.

N the 15th of May, 1776, the Conti-
i

nental Congress, on the motion of

John Adams, adopted the following

Resolution :

i

“ That it be recommended to the re-

“pective Assemblies and Conventions of the

“ United Colonies, where no Government suffi-

“ cient to the exigencies of their affairs have
“ been hitherto established, toadopt such Gov-
“ ernment as shall, in the opinion of the repre-

sentatives of the people, best conduce to the

“happiness and safety of their constituents in

“ particular and America in general.”

In conformity with this Resolution the As-

sembly of “ the Counties of New Castle, Kent

and Sussex upon Delaware,” in July, 1776,

advised the people to choose deputies to meet

in Convention to ordain and declare the future

Form of Government for this State.

The Deputies chosen in pursuance of this

recommendation met on the 27th of August,

1776, and on the 20th of September, ordained
“ The Constitution or System of Government

of the Delaware State formerly styled the Gov-

ernment of the Counties of New Castle, K
and Sussex upon Delaware.”

The authorship of this Instrument, accord-

ing' to tradition, belongs to Thomas McKean.
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The Legislature, called “The General As-

sembly of Delaware," then, as now, was com-

posed of thirty members, divided into two
branches : one, styled “ The House of As-

sembly,” consisting of seven representatives

chosen for each County annually
;
the other,

called “The Council,” composed of nine mem-
bers, three ofwhom were provided to be chosen

for each County at the first election, with a va-

cancy occurring each year, when one should be

supplied at each annual election The style of

the Government was “The Delaware State.”

The Chief Magistrate was called “Presi-

dent,” and was chosen by joint ballot of both

branches of “The General Assembly,” for

three years and until the sitting of the General

Assembly thereafter.

There was a Privy Council to the President,

consisting of four members, two of whom were

chosen by the Legislative Council and two by

the House of Assembly.

The President and General Assembly were

required to appoint, by joint ballot, three Jus-

tices of the Supreme Court for the State, one

of whom should be Chief Justice, and a Judge

of Admiralty and also four Justice^ of the

Court of Common Pleas and Orphans’ Courts

for each County, one of whom in each Court

should be styled Chief Justice, and all of whom
should continue in office during good be-

havior.

It was further provided that the House of

Assembly should name twenty-four persons

for each County, of whom the President, with

the approbation of the Privy Council, should

appoint twelve as Justices of the Peace, who
should continue in office for seven years, if so

long they behaved themselves well, with power

in the Legislature to increase the number.

The members of the General Assembly and

Privy Council were also declared to be Justices

of the Peace for the whole State, and the Jus-

tices of the Court of Common Pleas were con-

stituted Conservators of the Peace, in their re-

spective Counties.

The Justices of the Court of Common Pleas

and Orphans’ Court were invested with the

power of holding inferior Courts of Chancery
as theretofore, unless the Legislature should

otherwise direct.

In all matters of law and equity there was
an appeal from the Supreme Court to a Court

of seven persons styled “The Court of Ap-
J

'peals,” consisting of the President of the

State, who presided therein, and six others, of

whom three were appointed by the Legislative

Council and three by the House of Assembly.
This Court had all the authority and powers
belonging, in the last resort, to the King in

Council under the old government.

To understand the clause conferring equit-

able jurisdiction on the Courts of Common
Pleas and Orphans’ Court, as theretofore, it will

1

be proper to notice briefly the powers of the
1 Courts under the colonial government.

By an Act for establishing Courts of Law
and Equity it was provided :

1. That there should be a Court styled

“ The General Quarter Sessions of the Peace a?id

Gaol Delivery ,” to be held in each countyr four

times in every year. This Court was com-
posed of a competent number of Justices,

nominated by the Governor, of whom any
three were constituted a quorum empowered
to hold the said Court, and from whose judg-

ments, as well as those of the ether Courts of

Record, writs of error were granted return-

able to the Supreme Court.

2. A Court of Record in each County called
“ The County Court of Common Pleas," consist-

ing of a competent number of persons com-
missioned by the Governor, tobe held four times

in each year in each of the counties. Three
of the Justices constituted a quorum and had
jurisdiction to hold Pleas of Assise, scire facias,

replevin, informations and actions upon penal

statutes, and hear and determine all manner
of causes, real, personal and mixed, as fully

and amply as the Justices of the King’s Bench,
Common Pleas and Exchequer in England
could do.

3. The Justices of the respective Courts of

Common Pleas were authorized to hold a Court

of Equity four times a year, in each County,
with power to hear and decree all such maH
ters and causes in equity as should be brought
before them. The proceedings were by Bill

and Answer and such other pleadings as were
necessary in Chancery Courts, according to

the rules and practice of the High Court of

Chancery in Great Britain, but it was provided

that there should be no jurisdiction to hear

any matter in equity when sufficient remedy
might be had according to the course of the

common or statute law.
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From any decree or sentence of the Justices

of the common Pleas, in equity, there was an
appeal to the Supreme Court.

4. By an act amendatory of this Statute

the Constitution of the Supreme Court was
regulate^, and it was provided that there

should be a Court of Record held twice in

every year, in each of the Counties, styled

"The Supreme Court of the Counties of New
Castle

,
Kent and Sussex,upon Delaware," com-

posed of four persons and having power to

hear and determine all causes removed or

brought by certiorari, writs of error, appeal

or other remedial writ from the Quarter Ses-

sions of the Peace and County Courts of Com-
mon Pleas, or from any other Court of law or

equity, and to exercise such jurisdiction and

powers as fully as the Justices of the King’s

Bench and Common Pleas at Westminster,

or the Chancellor of England might do, with

an appeal from any final judgment or decree

to the King in Council, or to such tribunal as

might be appointed to hear such appeals from

the King’s plantations.

The Judges of this Court or any two of

them were empowered to try capital offenses

as fully as Justices of Assise or of Oyer and

Terminer and Jail delivery in Great Britain.

5. By another act the Justices of the Court

of General Quarter Sesions of the Peace, in

each County, were directed to hold a Court of

Record therein, styled, “The Orphans' Court,”

which had cognizance of guardians, executors

and administrators,and the adjustment and set-

tlement of their accounts. To this Court was

committed the appointment of Guardians

and the partition of intestate estates, and

it was invested with equitable powers so far

as necessary to the jurisdiction. From any

definitive sentence or judgment there was an

appeal provided to the Supreme Court.

6. Another Court of Record was establish-

in each of the Counties called “The Court of

Delegates,” composed of three persons who
were authorized to hear and determine all ap-

peals from the Register for the Probate of Wills

within the County for which they were ap-

pointed.

This summary efficiently shows the division

of the judicial power among the several Courts

under the Colonial administration, as they ex-

isted previously to the adoption of the first

Form of Government.

On the 12th day of June, 1792, the second
Constitution was ordained. By this Instru-

ment the Legislative power was vested in a
General Assembly, consisting of a Senate and
House of Representatives, the same number of
members in each being preserved as under the
old system and apportioned in the same man-
ner between the several Counties.

The Executive power was vested in a Gov-
ernor, who, instead of being chosen by the
General Assembly, was ordained to be elected
by the citizens and to hold his ofifice for three
years.

The Privy Council was abolished and the
name of the Government changed to “ The
State of Delaware.”

The judicial power was vested in a Court of
Chancery,, a Supreme Court, and Courts of
Oyer and Terminer and General Jail Delivery
—a Court of Common Pleas—an Orphans’
Court—a Court of Quarter Sessions of the
Peace for each County—in Justices of the
Peace and in such other Courts as the Legis-
lature, two-thirds of all the members of each
branch concurring, might establish.

Under a general provision the appointment
of the Judges was given to the Governor.

So far as the distribution of judicial powers
was concerned, the most material change,
worked by this Constitution, was that the
equity jurisdiction, which had theretofore been
mainly originally exercised by the Judges of
the Court of Common Pleas, was separated
from the Common Law Courts and vested in a
Chancellor, who, it was ordained, should hold
Courts of Chancery in the several Counties,
but in any case where the Chancellor was in-

terested, cognizance thereof was left in the
Court of Common Pleas.

The Supreme Court was made to consist of
not fewer than three nor more than four

Judges, who, by virtue of their offices, should
be Justices of Oyer and Terminer and General
Jail Delivery in the several Counties.

The Court of Common Pleas was composed
of the same number.

Suits could originate in either. One of the
Judges of each Court was styled Chief Justice,

and of each Court one Judge was required to

reside in each County. The jurisdiction of

each extended over the State and any two of

the Judges could act as if all were present.
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Tin 'Orphans' Court was composed of the

Judges of the Court of Common Pleas, with

power in any two to act, and was invested with

the equity jurisdiction theretofore exercised by

the Orphans' Court,except in adjusting and set-

ling the accounts of executors, administrators

and guardians. Appeals were allowed from this

Court, in any case where it had original juris-

diction, to the Supreme Court, whose decision

was declared to be final. By an amendment to

this Constitution, ratified February 5th, 1802,

it was ordained that the Chancellor should

compose the Orphans’ Court in each County.

The Registers' Courts were to be held by the

Registers, respectively, in the several Counties,

and in these was vested the probate of wills

and granting letters of administration, and the

settlement of the accounts of executors,

administrators and guardians. In case of a

cause litigated, an appeal was allowed to the

Supreme Court and in case of accounts, to the

Orphans’ Court. When the Register was

interested the original cognizance was in the

Orphans’ Court, with an appeal to the

Supreme Court.

A Court was also ordained, styled “ The

High Court of Errors and Appeals ,” which

consisted of the Chancellor and of the Judges

of the Supreme Court and Court of Common
Pleas, with power in any .four to proceed to

business, but if any of them had rendered

judgment or passed a decree, in any case be-

fore its removal into that Court, he should not

sit, but might assign the reasons upon which

the judgment or decree was founded.

This Court had power to issue writs of error

to the Supreme Court and Court of Common
Pleas, and to receive and determine appeals

from interlocutory or final orders or decrees of

the Chancellor or of the Court of Common
Pleas exercising equity jurisdiction.

The third Constitution was ordained on the

2d day of December, 1831. By this Instru-

ment the judicial power was vested in a Court

of Errors and Appeals—a Superior Court—

a

Court of Chancery—an Orphans’ Court-—

a

Court of Oyerand Terminer—a Court of Gen-
eral Sessions of the Peace and Jail Delivery

—

a Register’s Court—Justices of the Peace and

such other Courts as the General Assembly,
j

with the concurrence of two-thirds of all the
j

members of both houses, should from time to
1

time establish.

To compose these Courts of superior juris-

diction it was ordained that there should be

five Judges.

The Chancellor holds the Court of Chan-

cery and the jurisdiction includes the full

power to hear and determine all matters and

causes in Equity and, when the Chancellor is

interested, the Chief Justice sitting in the Su-

perior Court without the Associate Judges,

has jurisdiction, with an appeal to the Court

of Errors and Appeals which, in such case,

consists of the three Associate Judges, the

Senior Associate presiding.

The Supreme Court and Courts of Common
Pleas were abolished and the Superior Court

instituted instead, with the jurisdiction fomerly

vested in those Courts. To constitute this.

Court four judges were provided, of whom
one is styled Chief Justice, who may reside

in any part of the State and who sits in all the

Counties. The other three are called Asso-

ciate Judges, one of whom must reside in each

County, and no Associate can sit in the County

in which he resides. Two of the Judges Cuii-

stitute a quorum, and in the absence of the

Chief Justice, the Senior Associate, capable of

sitting in the county, presides.

The Court of General Sessions of the Peace

and Jail Delivery is composed in each county

of the same Judges and in the same manner

as the Superior Court. Its jurisdiction and

powers are those theretofore vested in the

Court of General Quarter Sessions of the

Peace and Jail Delivery.

The Court of Oyer and Terminer consists of

all the Judges except the Chancellor. Three

constitute a quorum. The jurisdiction is the

same as was vested in the Court of Oyer and

Terminer and General Jail Delivery, being

the trial of offenses capital in their nature, and

of the crime of manslaughter and of being ac-

complice or accessor}' to such offense. This

Court has no regular terms but is held upon a

precept issued by the Judges.

The Orphans' Court in each County is held

by the Chancellor and the Associate Judge

residing in the County. The Chancellor pre-

sides. Either may hold the Court. When they

concur there is no appeal from their decision,ex-

I
cept in the matter of real estate, but upon such

j

matter, or when a decision is made by one of

them, there is an appeal to the Superior Court

j

for the County whose determination is final.

IO
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The jurisdiction is the same as was formerly

vested in the Orphans’ Court.

The Register's Court remains the same as

under the preceding constitution except that

the appeal is to the Superior Court instead of

the Supreme Court as therein provided.

The Court of Errors and Appeals has juris-

diction to issue writs of error to the Superior

Court and to receive appeals from Chancery,

and to determine such matters finally. Upon
a writ of error to the Superior Court, this Court

must be composed of three Judges at least,

that is to say, the Chancellor, who presides

;

the associate Judge who did not sit in the

Court below on account of his residence, and

one of the Judges who did sit in the cause,

originally. This Judge is indicated by a

scheme contained in the Constitution. In case

any Judge entitled to sit in the cause below

did not there sit, such Judge is required to

sit in the Court of Errors; and if any Judge

who did sit below, and whose turn it is to sit

in the Court of Errors be absent or disquali-

fied, then either of the other Judges who sat

below may sit.

Upon an appeal from Chancery, the Court

of Errors and Appeals consists of the Chief

Justice and three Associates.

By this Constitution it is further provided

that whenever the Superior Court shall consid-

er that any question of law ought to be heard

before all the Judges, power is given, upon the

application of either party, to direct it to be

heard in the Court of Errors and Appeals.

In such case the Chancellor and four Judges

compose the Court and any four of them form

a quorum.

In any case where there is legal exception to

the Chancellor or any Judge, the Governor

is authorized to commission a Judge ad litem
,

provided such appointment is necessary to

constitute a quorum in either Court.

The General Assembly is empowered to

give to inferior Courts, or to one or more Jus-

tices of the Peace, jurisdiction over nuisances

and other minor offenses, specially enumerat-

ed, and to provide the mode of proceeding by

indictment or information, and that the trial

might be with or without petit jury, and to

grant or deny the privilege of appeal.

The chief defect of this system is the con-

struction of the Court of Errors and Appeals,

when sitting in causes removed by writ of

error from the Superior Court. Each of’ these

Courts consists of three Judges, practically,

and except in the case of a Judge who, being

entitled, did not sit below, the Court of Errors

and Appeals, upon the hearing of the cause,

is composed of the Chancellor, the Associate

Judge residing in the County where the origi-

nal trial was had, and one of the Judges who
sat in the case. If the Judges below were

unanimous, and upon the hearing on the

writ of error, the Judge whose turn it be to sit

in the Court above maintain his opinion,

then, in case of the reversal of the judgment
below, the undesirable result is produced

that the question of law receives final adju-

dication by a minority of the Judges against

the opinion of the majority.

It will also be observed that on the hearing

of cases in error, the Judge residing in the

County where the question was originally

determined, is one of the Judges ordained to

sit in the Court above, while he is expressly

inhibited from sitting in the Superior Court of

his own County, although, together with the

Chancellor, he forms the Orphans’ Court, hav-

ing jurisdiction of matters of equal importance,

and, in practice, is almost exclusively en-

trusted with their consideration and decision.

To remedy these evils the Convention which

sat in 1853 ordained that the Superior Court

should consist in each County of the Chief

Justice and the resident Judge of the County,

with power in either to hold the Court alone,

in case of the absence or interest of the

other, and also provided that when they

differed in opinion, the point should be cer-

tified to the Court in Banc for final decision,

but in the meantime the cause to be proceeded

with as should be best for expediting justice.

It was further ordained that upon a writ of

Error to the Superior Court, the Court of

Errors and Appeals should consist of the Chan-
cellor and all the Judges who did not sit in

the Court below; and that, upon the hearing

of questions certified because .of disagreement,

the Chancellor and all the four Law Judges

should form the Court.

The Instrument containing this scheme was
submitted to the people for ratification, but

was rejected without reference to the propriety

of the proposed alteration in the Judicial

System.

July, 1882.
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FREE SCHOOLS OF DELAWARE,
BY J. H. GROVES,

State Superintendent of Free Schools of Dclaivate.

5x3

N historian writes: “Of all the early

settlers in America, none were more
cheerful, intelligent and virtuous than

the Swedes.” The fact that Delaware

was settled by the Swedes, or at least that the

early settlement was made by this people, will,

in the absence of sufficient data, confirm a be-

lief that the subject of education was primarily

one of the greatest importance during the early

days of our colony. To be sure the opportunities

afforded to the colonists for general education

at that time were limited, but in New England
and Pennsylvania

( Delaware being the three

lower counties of Pennsylvania) every village

furnished facilities for the acquirement of

knovvdedge. Private schools were established,

and tutors were employed in many families.

“ Many men—Scottish reformers, Irish liberals

and French patriots—despising the bigotry

and intolerance of their countrymen, fled for

refuge to the New World, and there by the

banks of the Housatonic, the Pludson, the

Delaware, the Potomac, the Ashley and the

Savannah taught the lore of books and the

lesson of liberty to the rugged boys of the

American wilderness.”

The following extract is taken from the

Colonial Record :

“ Petition to Council held at Phila., ye 26th

of ye 10th month, 1683, Wm. Penn, Propor &
Govr : The Govr and Provll Council having

taken into their serious consideration the great

Necessity there is of a School Master for ye

instruction and Sober education of youth in the
towne of Philadelphia, sent for Enoch Flower,
an Inhabitant of said towne, who for twenty
year past hath been Exercised in that care

!
and Imployment in England, to whom having

! communicated their Minds, he Embraced' it

!
upon the following Terms : to Learne to read

' English 4s by ye Quarter
;

to Learne to read

and write, 6s by ye Quarter
;

to Learn to

read, write and Cast accot, 8s by ye Quarter
;

for boarding a Scholler, that is to say, dyet,

Washing, Lodging, & Schooling, ten pounds
for one whole year.”

From the time the lower counties on the

Delaware became a separate colony, 1703,

until the year 1792, the record contains but

little in regard to the subject either of private

or public education. That men were educated

during these years, no one can doubt. Enough
is known to justify the statement that Dela-

ware not only had brave men in those trying

years of gloom and want, of hope and sadness;

but educated men, who were honored by
seats in the councils of the young nation.

George Read, Ccesar Rodney and Thomas
McKean did not ignorantly append their sig-

natures to that great scroll, that hangs in the

innermost courts of this great nation’s temple,

but they deliberately wrote their names, actua-

ted by cultured thought, and knowing full well

the responsibility of such an act.

The intelligence of Delaware was notably

recognized by Congress in June, 1776, when a

committee of twelve gentlemen were appoint-

1
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ed to draft the articles of confederation and

perpetual union. Thomas McKean and John

Dickinson, intelligent, patriotic and honored

citizens of Delaware, assisted in framing that

memorable document. In whatever degree

the subject of education may have engrossed

the thoughts, and its importance has been

felt by the people after the war of the Revo-

lution closed, the time did not admit of its im-

mediate prosecution. The long and sanguin-

ary conflict through which the colonists had

passed, had not not only drained the life-blood

of Delaware’s noble sons, but had exhausted

the substance of the soil as well, so that

for many years following, the people were

poor and illy prepared to spend their money
for educational purposes. In addition to the

State’s private indebtedness, and the money
necessarily appropriated towards reimbursing

its returned veterans, its share of the national

debt had to be paid. Perhaps at this day no

one scarcely can imagine, much less realize,

trie condition of* tlie cornmonwenlth 2. n 2.
r

~

ter of a century following the war of freedom.

The poor and neglected lands yielded but a

scanty sustenance. The vast uninhabited por-

tion not being taxed, mechanical pursuits al-

most abandoned, commercial enterprises yet

in their infancy—these impediments to pros-

perity all tended seriously to retard the recu-

peration that would readily come at this day.

FIRST LEGISLATION.

In framing the Constitution of the State of

Delaware in 1792, the people specifically charged

the General Assembly upon the subject of pop-

ular education. Among other objects of prime

importance, the Legislature was directed to pro-

vide by law“for establishing schools and promo-

ting the arts and sciences.” Thus nobly . spoke

the people, but it was not heeded by the

Legislature that first met under the new Con-

stitution. But four years, afterward, Febru-

ary 9, 1796, an act was passed by the Legisla-

ture with the following provision : That the

money paid into the State Treasury on

account of marriage and tavern licenses, be-

tween February 9, 1796, and January 1, 1806,

be and is hereafter to be applied, under the

direction of the Legislature, for establishing

schools in the State. The money thus accru-

ing was directed to be put into shares of

the Bank of Delaware, United States Bank,

Pennsylvania Bank or North American Bank.

Subsequently the same was modified by putting

the residue arising from the sale of licenses,

after paying the salaries of the Judges and

Chancellor, into the school fund. A supple-

ment was passed in 1806 to continue in full

force the modified act, of 1795 until January

I, 1820. There is no record to show that

these sums were ever diverted from the school

fund. So that more than four score years ago

Delaware started a fund for establishing free

schools in the State. Though small the be-

ginning, yet it contained wonderful possibili-

ties.

Governor Cochran, in his message to the

General Assembly of 1877, remarks: “That

was, as it may seem to us now, a day of small

things
;
yet with a steadiness of purpose under

great discouragement, which we cannot too

much honor, the investments of these small

sums were faithfully made from year to year,

until at length a fund was accumulated, yield-

I'nrrnn inrnmp qflpnnatp tncnmmeiii'e the work i— 1> 1

of a more general education.”

The school fund, with its yearly additions,

was not disturbed until the year of 1817, when

it had increased to an amount sufficient to

yield an available income. The Legislature

began to devise means for appropriating it to

some use. Accordingly an act was passed,

February, 1817, giving each county the one

thousand dollars to furnish instruction to the

children of poor parents, in reading, writing

and arithmetic. The Legislature appointed
;

trustees in the several hundreds to disburse

these amounts, and to report from time to

time the number of children and the state of

the schools. This act was in force for several

years, yet it did not meet the views of the

people
;

in fact it became very unpopular.

Governor Cochran, in his message in 1877-

says :
“ It is not surprising that a provision

which invited an independent people to have

their children schooled as paupers proved a

failure. Perhaps the best fruit of this effort

was that it excited a wide-spread discontent,

which served to quicken interest in the sub-

ject, provoking discussion and stimulating to

an earnest effort for a better matured and

more efficient system.”

As is expressed in the above quotation,

discontent prevailed until it became so wide

spread that the school fund, which had been





HISTORY OF

accumulating for years, was itself in danger of

being diverted from its legitimate purpose.

The line that marked the distinction between

poor children and those of the richer class,

was so clearly defined in the following act

passed in 182 r, and in the operation of the

same, that a “high spirited and brave people”

could not endure this indignity to their self-

respect :

“ Be it enacted. That for each and every

white child taught at any incorporated school

or any other regular English school within

this State, and for whose tuition the teacher

could not in any other way receive compensa-

tion, by reason of the indigence of such child,

the teacher should receive one dollar per quar-

ter or four dollars annually, to be paid out of

the unappropriated money in the school fund,

established for schools. And no one teacher

should be paid for more than twenty children

during each year.”

This act was even worse than the former;

so much so that the children who were bene-

fited became marked, and' were the subject

of taunts and jeers by their more fortunate

mates. The fund was called the “ pauper’s

fund.” Such were the feelings of the people

at that day, that Governor Collins, in his mes-

sage to the Legislature in 1822, forcibly and

aptly says :
“ The charitable nature of the

appropriations and the benevolent views with

which they are made, command our esteem
;

but it is wisdom to consider that the general

purposes of education in which the whole com-

munity are interested, demand more than our

school fund can afford, and that duty there-

fore requires that no part of it should be

diverted from its legitimate course.”

Governor Rodney, in his message to the

Legislature in 1823, thus concludes his remarks

upon the importance of a system of education

having for its object the general welfare of

all :
“ It is not my design to suggest that the

State ought gratuitiously to provide for the

education of its citizens, but that it should

found a system that may be accessible to all.”

Governor Thomas, in 1824, follows in these

very appropriate words :
“ I would earnestly

press upon your attention the propriety of

adopting some plan by which the means of

education may be accessible to every member
of the community. This is a subject of prim-

ary importance, and I trust will receive from
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you the serious consideration to which it is

justly entitled.”

Governor Polk, in his message, in 1829,

says : Any plan that can be devised by which
the business of improving the education and
morals of our people shall be reduced to a

permanent system throughout the State, will

be a public blessing. We have been so long

without any, that some who were once advo-
cates of the fund for the establishment of

|

schools, in despair of ever arriving at a suc-

cessful system, have been willing to divert

the fund from its legitimate purpose, and those

who have observed the growing diversity of

opinion in regard to its destiny, may estimate

the danger of its eventual application to exe-

cute some favorite measure, unless a seasonable

plan is adopted in the performance of what
has been so long promised, be interposed to

prevent it.”

But the subject of education, comprehend-
ing a broader and more general plan, was
placed at length in the front ranks, with other

issues of the day. Long and ardently had the

friends, of education labored, and the time was
at hand when their reward would more than
compensate them for their continued labor.

The lamented Judge Hall, while Secretary of

State, under Governor Collins in 1822, devised

a plan for the promotion of general education,

the ideas of which were eventually incor-

porated in the free school law of 1829. Well
may he be called the Father of the Free

School System of Delaware, the founder of a

system which essentially has been in force

more than half of a century. Could the child

have a more honored and worthy father ? The
man whose education had cost him years of

toil, and in securing which he had to grapple

and combat with poverty, was well and highly

endowed to be the people’s exponent of this

important step. A man whose life and labors,

running through a period of forty eight years

among us gave the highest proof of his sin-

cerity, and the desire for the elevation of the

rising generation.

From 1822, when he gave to the Legislature

what in outline and principle became the

present free school law, until 1829, did he per-

sist in the grand undertaking, until the Legis-

ture invited him to mature his plan in detail

and embody it in a statute. Thus was pro-

duced and thus became in 1829 the

—
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FREE SCHOOL LAW OF DELAWARE.

SYNOPSIS OF THE LAW.

Divisions of the State into School Districts .

—

Five commissioners were appointed in each

county, whose duty it should be to divide the

counties into school districts. In making this

division “it shall be a general regulation to

form each district so that the most remote

parts should be two miles or about that dis-

tance from the centre, except districts com-
prehending a town, which may be of such di-

mensions as shall be just, having respect to

the size of town or towns.

Annual School Meetings .—The school voters

in each district were privileged to meet and

hold a stated meeting every year on the sec-

ond Monday of October at I o’clock in the

afternoon, at the school house or any place

designated by the Levy Court, to elect by bal-

lot (majority vote) a clerk and two commis-
sioners. Also in the same manner declare

how much money shall be raised by subscrib-

tion or voluntary contribution for the support

of free schools in the district during the year.

Every person residing in the district and hav-

ing a right to vote for Representative in the

General Assembly should be a school voter of

said district.

Duties of the Clerk and Commissioners .

—

I. To determine a site for school building and

erect a building. 2. To keep the building in

good repair. 3. To provide a school for as

long a time as the funds will admit. 4. To
collect all monies and apply the same. 5. To
do all acts requisite to the maintenance of a

school.

State Appropriations .—Each district should

have from the school fund an amount equal to

that resolved to be raised by the voters, and

no greater.

Opening Schools—Each school shall begin

on the first Monday of November of each and

every year.

Corporations .—Each school shall be a cor-

poration by the name of School District No.

. Said corporation by said name shall

take and hold grounds, buildings, &c., and pro-

tect property as any other corporation.

County Superintendents .—The Governor was

directed to appoint on or before the first Mon-
day of March a superintendent of each county.

DELAWARE.

! Acts Repealed.—All acts that had been here-

tofore passed appropriating any money of the

school fund for aid of poor children or encour-

agement and support of schools, from 1817 to

February 12, 1829, were repealed.

This school law seemed to meet the wants
of the people at that time. It was simple and
plain. It gave the people a system adapted

to the spirit of the times. Resting as it did

on the popular will, it threw the responsibility

entirely upon those having children to educate

to say to what extent they should use their

privilege. The State, to encourage and help,

offered to share equally in the expense.

Thus by this law Delaware ranged herself

side by side with other States in making her

schools free, and in the pecuniary encourage-

ment which she gave year by year. Various

amendments and supplements were made from
time to time. In 1830 $300 was made the max-
imum amount that any school district could

raise by taxation in any one year. In 1833 priv-

ilege was given two or more districts to unite

for school purposes. Also the time for holding

the annual meeting was changed from the

second Monday in October to the first Mon-
day in October. A supplement was made in

1 837 giving the voters the privilege of draw-
ing in each district their share of the school

fund by raising twenty-five dollars by taxation.

In 1845 the time of holding the annual stated

meetings was changed from the first Monday
in October to the first Saturday in April, 2

o’clock in the afternoon, which time still re-

mains as the date of the annual school meet-
ings throughout the State.

The term “free” was applied to the school

law to indicate two facts : First—that the peo-

ple were left free to choose the length of time

their schools should be in operation during any
one year, and the amount of money to be raised

by taxation for the support of the same; thus

placing upon the people themselves, voting in

the school meetings, the power and responsi-

bility of determining whether they would have
a good school, an inferior one, or no school.

Second—making the title show that the

schools in the State were free for every white

child to attend, without reference to any
money having been paid by its father or guar-

dian.

But irresponsible and ignorant voters, to-

gether with men who had no direct interest in
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education, labored strenuously year after year

in the annual meetings to vote down tax, by

so doing to deprive the community of both the

aid of the State and assessable property within

the districts. Even the poor man, who repre-

sented in many cases a large family of chil-

dren, whom a public or free school law

especially benefited, was found voting against

tax. Voting away money, that was lawfully

placed within his reach, which would give to

his offspring means for future support and hap-

piness. Men interested in the prosperity of

the State, and the education of the rising gen-

eration, petitioned Legislature after Legisla-

ture to change this feature of the law. So

great, indeed, were the complaints, and so

numerous the petitions, that the Legislature

of 1 86
1
placed the matter of voting a portion

of the money yearly for the maintenance of

the schools beyond the caprices, the narrow-

heartedness and the prejudices of the voter;

thus securing to every district in the State,

without reference to the opinions of the voter,

means of maintaining a school a portion of the

year. This act of 1861 emphatically made it

the duty “of the school committee in each of

the school districts, in their respective coun-

ties, in each and every year, in the month of

April, and after each annual school meeting,

to assess and levy in each of their respective

school districts in New Castle County, the

sum of seventy-five dollars
;

in each of the

school districts of Kent County, the sum of

one hundred dollars
;

in each of the school

districts of Sussex County the sum of thirty

dollars, to be applied to the support of the

schools in their districts.” Further, giving

each district the power by vote to raise by tax

more than the amount set apart, “provided

said sum does not exceed four hundred dollars,

exclusive of the amount designated by law.”

Still further authority was given to the voters

to raise by tax “any sum of money not exceed-

ing five hundred dollars, for the purpose of build-

ing or repairing a school house in their district.”

This act of 1 86 1 was a long and grand step

in the cause of education in the State. By its

provisions no child was to be deprived of an

opportunity of attending school or of securing

a common school education, throwing the re-

sponsibility entirely upon the parent for any

neglect. The State fully measured up to her

power and responsibility by her action in pro-

viding for the education of her subjects. That

this avenue should not be closed, wherein the

future citizen and voter might allege that an

education was impossible, she plainly indicated

by these provisions. Further, she declared that

it were better to build school-houses, employ

teachers and maintain schools than enlarge

the almshouses tmd prisons
;
that the amount

of illiteracy should be smaller, and that fraud

in the ballot, with covered head, should take

its place behind the intelligent voter. Before

this date it was indeed a critical period an-

nually on the first Saturday in April for the

youth of the State. Fathers, anxious and

considerate for the welfare of their children,

with nervous tread and painful forebodings,

wended their way yearly to the school meet-

ing. The State herself was in suspense and

awe awaiting the result of the actions of her

subjects. The weal or woe of society hung

tremblingly in the balance to be decided by

the day’s action.

It will be noticeable in tracing the history

of the free school system in this State, as seen

in the different acts and supplements, to the

year 1 86 1 inclusive, that the privilege of voting

annually for the maintenance*of a free school,

was repeatedly abridged, and finally removed

from the voter. That the requirement by the

State that each district should raise an amount

equal to that given from the school fund, was

so modified that finally only the sum of

twenty-five dollars was required to be raised by

taxation to secure a share of the school fund.

Under the law of 1829 the clerk and two

commissioners were elected for one year, and

at each annual meeting an entire board was

elected. This limitation of the term of office

of the school committee prevented the ap-

pointment of teachers until after the election,

or the continuance of the same teacher, no

matter how well he suited
;
consequently an

act was passed in 1867 making the term of

office three instead of one year.

There was also, in the general school law,

provision made for the appointment of county

superintendents, whose duties were to look

after the schools in their respective counties.

These officers were not to receive any com-

pensation, only necessary expenses being al-

lowed them
;
consequently but few men felt

themselves in a position to give their time to

this work.
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Judge Hall, however, for a number of years

accepted the position as Superintendent of the

schools of New Castle County. In school

conventions he met delegates from all parts

of the county
;
discussed methods

;
minutely

examined their reports with reference to the

condition of the schools they represented
; i

classified their work and published them in

pamphlet form for distribution in each district

of the county; thus diffusing the needed in-

formation, which wonderfully quickened an in-

terest in the growing cause. Truly it has

been said of this noble man that “the care of

the schools was paternal.” But with the ex-

ception of New Castle County, the office of

county superintendent was not filled.

EDUCATIONAL CONVENTION.

In this condition of educational affairs, a

number of educators and warm friends of ed-

ucation issued a call for an educational mass
meeting to be held at Dover, December 23d,

1867, “for a mutual interchange of opinions
;

to receive and discuss suggestions of niipiuvc-

ments in the then existing law.” The conven-

tion was held at the time and place desig-

nated. Among the prominent gentlemen

present were J. Alexander Fulton, Esq., Prof.

E. D. Porter, Dr. J. E. Clawson, W. F. Causey,

Esq., Allen Gawthrop, H. C. Jones, Prof. W.
A. Reynolds, Prof. J. C. Harkness, Rev. J. E.

Williams, and Rev. Wm. B. Gregg. This

convention, remaining in session two days,

was highly interesting, and its “proceedings

were conducted with signal unanimity, har-

mony and good feeling.”

A committee was formed to draft a general

school code, expressive of the changes desired

in the existing school system. This commit-

tee, at a meeting of the convention, July 13,

1868, reported such changes in, and additions

to, the old free school law as are essentially

found in the act of 1875. Two important pro-

visions, adopted by that committee, were not,

however, incorporated in what is familiarly

called the new school law. One was the

mode of assessing and collecting taxes for

school purposes. Yhe whole matter was taken

out of the hands of the uncertain voter, and

the uncertain method at that time and now in

use, and was transferred to a board of school

commissioners of each hundred and town, thus

abolishing single school districts and substitu-

ting hundred and town districts instead. The
other measure proposed was the appointment

j

of county superintendents, in addition toa State

Superintendent, whose duties were dispensed

in the counties in which they were appointed.

This convention began a grand work, from
which great results sprung. A work that

looked towards the ultimate reform of our

public school system. This is clearly shown

i

in the fact that in seven years afterward the

|

General Assembly incorporated into a school

law substantially the same ideas that were

!

presented by that body, thus proving that the

men composing that body were abreast of the

times. The result of their labors was placed be-

fore the Legislature as early as 1 869, in the shape

of what was then called “The New School

Law,” and its adoption was strongly urged, but

to no purpose. Also similar efforts were made
in 1871 and 1873, which met the same fate, al-

though such men as John Hickman, Leander
F. Riddle, Charles C. Stockley, Dr. Hugh
Martin, and many others, raised their voices

in behait ot and lent their influence to this ora
like measure. All honor is due those noble

men, seconded by many outside of the Gen-
eral Assembly for their efforts in behalf of

measures for the improvement of our educa-

tional system.

Early in the session of the General Assem-
bly in 1875, Mr. H. A. Nowland, Chairman of

the Committee of Education in the House of

Representatives, reported a bill entitled “An
j

act in relation to free schools in Delaware,”

and five hundred printed copies were scattered

over the State. This was the beginning of a

struggle which was to end in the complete

triumph of the friends of education. Conse-

quently on the 25th of March 1S75, the act

was passed now familiarly known as

“THE NEW SCHOOL LAW OF 187*5.”

SYNOPIS OF THE LAW.

State Superintendent .—A State Superinten-

dent is, by this law, to be appointed annually

by the Governor, “to hold his office one year

or until his successor shall in like manner be

appointed.” His duties are to visit every

school in the State once a year, noting in a

book the modes of discipline, government and

plans of instruction in use, to advise with

teachers as to the best methods for the

advancement of their pupils
;
to examine all
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that may desire to teach; to hold a Teachers’

Institute in each of the counties, at least

once a year, of at least three days session,

for imparting information and having a general

interchange of views of teachers as to the

wants of the various schools
;

to report in

writing to the Governor on the first Tuesday

in December in each and every year, the con-

dition of the schools, and make such recom-

mendations and suggestions as he may think

proper in regard to a thorough completion of

the system.

State Board of Education .—The President

of Delaware College, Secretary of State,

State Auditor, and State Superintendent com-

prise the State Board of Education. The
President of Delaware College, by virtue of

his office, is President of the Board, and

the Auditor is Secretary of the same. The
latter officer receives a salary of one hundred

dollars per annum. The other members re-

ceive no pay The duties of the Board are

to determine what text-books shall be used

in the schools
;
to issue blanks and forms for

distribution to the local commissioners, and to

demand returns to be made in pursuance

thereof; to hear all appeals, and determine,

finally, all matters of controversy between

the Superintendent and teachers or between

commissioners and teachers.

Teachers .—All teachers are required to have

a certificate from the State Superintendent,

countersigned by the County Treasurer in the

county issued, upon the payment of two dol-

lars, said certificate setting forth his or her pro-

ficiency in the common English branches
;

to

make out and hand to the commissioners of the

district a report setting forth the whole num-
ber of pupils attending school during the quar-

ter, the text-books used and branches taught.

Revenue .—The manner of raising revenue is

the same as in the old law, except that in Sus-

sex County each school district is required to

raise by taxation not less than sixty dollars

annually, instead of thirty, as formerly, and in

New Castle County one hundred dollars in-

stead of seventy-five, as formerly.

In 1879 an amendment was made to the act

of 1875 requiring the Superintendent to issue,

as occasion demanded, three grades of certifi-

cates, known as the first grade, good for three

years, the second for two years, and the third

for orie year. He was also granted the privi*-

1

1

j

lege of issuing temporary permits to teachers

j

to teach for thirty days, when in his judgment

[

the interests of education required it.

In 1881 further amendments were made to

the same act, as follows :

1 The Governor was directed to appoint an

Assistant Superintendent of schools, at a sal-

ary of eight hundred dollars a year.

2. The State Superintendent was required

to purchase all books necessary to be used in

the schools, at the lowest price, and sell them
to the clerks of the District upon their written

order, at the same price at which they were

bought.

3 The minimum age of children attending

school, was placed at six instead of five years,

as formerly:

The act of 1875, ar<d amendments of which

the above is a synopsis, did not abrogate the

free school law of 1829, but was merely sup-

plemental.

CONCLUSION.

During the years between 1796 and 1829,

the annual accretions to the school fund

amounted in all to one hundred fifty-eight

thousand one hundred and sixty dollars and

fifteen cents. ($158,160.15.) The interest of

which sum thereafter and the revenue arising

from the sale of tavern and marriage licenses

were annually disbursed to the schools in the

different counties.

Congress of the United States, by an act of

June 23d, 1836, authorizing the deposit of the

surplus fund in the Treasury of the United

States with the several States, placed to the

credit of Delaware the sum of two hundred

eighty-six thousand seven hundred and fifty-

one dollars and forty-nine cents. ($286,75 1.49.)

This amount, by an act of the Legislature of

Delaware, was put into the school fund. At
this time the permanent school fund amounts

to four hundred ninety-five thousand seven

hundred and forty-nine dollars. (495,749.00.)

The proceeds of this sum, together with the

revenue accruing from licenses this year,

amounts to the sum of twenty-eight thousand

eight hundred and seventy dollars and thirty-

five cents, (28,870.35,) to be distributed

among the schools in the State. This fund

obviates the necessity of assessing and collect-

ing what in other States is called State tax

for educational purposes.
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Time has, indeed, produced a marked change
[

To-day the people own three hundred and
in educational advantages and privileges. 1 sixty-one school houses. These with school
Fifty years ago there were not more than grounds and furniture are worth four hundred
twenty school houses in the State, and these forty thousand seven hundred and eighty-eight
were owned by private individuals. Children dollars, {$440,788.) This amount added to

were taught mostly in private houses, and the permanent school fund makes a total in-

none but the wealthier classes could afford, to vestment of nine hundred and thirty-six

any great extent, the expenses of tuition. . thousand five hundred and thirty-seven dol-

The number of children of school-age was
j

lars, ($936,537,00) for school purposes,
about fifteen thousand in a population of fifty- During the past six years, under the ad-
eight thousand. The branches taught were vanced system of education, the public schools
very primary

;
the books were of the crudest of Delaware have improved beyond the ex-

kind, and furniture of the rudest material and
;

pectations of the most sanguine, and educa-
structure. The teachers were themselves tional interests are second to no others in the
posessed of limited education, and candidates State,

for college courses but rare.

History of the Education of the Colored Population.

BY HENRY C. CONRAD, ESy., Actuary.

President of the City Council of Wilmington.

ELAWARE having been a slave State,

no provision was made during the slave

holding days to educate the colored

people. On the other hand, every ob-

stacle was put in the way of their advance-

ment and improvement, so that at the close

of the war in 1865, a large number of colored

children were growing up in the State without

any school advantages, giving but little, if any

more promise than their fathers before them.

Toward the close of the year 1866, after

the establishment of the Freedman’s Bureau

in Washington, and when an organization

had been formed in the city of Baltimore

looking toward the aiding and assisting of the

colored people of Maryland, it entered into

the minds of several gentlemen residing in

Wilmington, whose philanthrophy and gener-

osity were well known, to organize an associ-

ation having for its aim, the establishment and

maintenance of schools for the colored people

residing in Delaware. The initial meeting

was held at the house of William S. Hilles, an

influential citizen, on theeveningof December 1

13th, 1866, and the following gentlemen were
present: Samuel Hilles, Thomas Kimber,
William S. Hilles, William H. Corse,

John R. Tatum, Edward Tatnall jr., Joseph
Tatnall, William A. Reynolds, Howard M.
Jenkins, Richard S. Griffith, Charles W. How-
land, Joseph Griffith, Samuel Woolman, Ash-
ton Richardson and Dr. William R. Bullock,
all residents of Wilmington, and Francis T.
King and Dr. Thomas of Baltimore. Out of

this preliminary gathering grew a public meet-
ing which was held in the Scientific Room of
the Wilmington Institute on the evening of

December 27th, two weeks later. At this

meetingthe venerable Judge Willard Hall pre-
sided, and addresses, giving full particulars as

to the work among the colored people of

Maryland, were made by Francis T. King and
Judge Bond of Baltimore, and Major General
Gregory of the Freedman’s Bureau. At a

meeting held one week later, Jan., 3d, 1867, the

“Delaware Association for the Moral Improve-
ment and Education of the Colored People”
was regularly organized with Thos. Kimber as

President, and Wm. R. Bullock as Secretary.
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At that meeting the number of colored

schools in the State was reported as seven.

Three in Wilmington, one at Newport, one at

Odessa, and two at Camden. Contributions

were asked from persons interested in the

work, and the aid of the Freedman’s Bureau

and other charitably disposed associations was

solicited and the progress of the work at once

began to appear in the building of school

houses, and the opening of schools in diff-

erent localities throughout the State. Rev.
°

j

John G. Furey was appointed to superintend

the work, and at the end of the first six

months he was able to report that fourteen

Schools were open and in good condition,

seven of which were in New Castle County
;

(two in Wilmington,) three in Kent, and lour

in Sussex county, containing an aggregate of

over 700 pupils.

The rule at first adopted was to pay

the teacher from the funds at the disposal of

the Association, a certain sum per month,

leaving the colored people in the virini|^

of the schools to pay the teachers’ board

and the incidental running expenses of the

schools. During the first six months the

Freedman’s Bureau had furnished lumber for

school houses in ten places, under the care of

the Association.

Thus was the work started and so it con-

tinued from year to year, until 1875, when
an Act was passed by the General As-

sembly of the State providing for the tax-

ing of colored people for the support of their

own schools. The Association during these

years received large sums of money from in-

terested individuals, and in some instances,

from benevolent societies. The colored peo-

ple throughout the State heartily seconded

the work of the Association. The pittance

which was donated by the Association from

month to month was added to by the contri-

bution of those of the colored people who had

children in the schools, and thus a sufficient

sum was raised to keep the schools open for

a short term during the winter months. Rev.

J. G. Furey was the first Actuary or Superin-

tendent of the colored schools. Under his

wise direction the beginning was made, and

many of the most important points were well

covered before he gave way to Samuel Wool-
man, his successor. Mr. Woolman’s efforts

were crowned with abundant success. His

task was indeed a wearisome one. but by

dint of perseverance and good management
he accomplished much. He was succeeded by

Miss Abbie C. Peckham, who became Actuary

in the fall of 1868, and continued to serve, ren-

dering valued service, until 1874, when Miss

Mary S. Casperson succeeded her, who in turn

was succeeded by Mrs. Kate Irvine, and in

1876 Henry C. Conrad was elected Actuary,

and has continued in the office until the pres-

ent time. (July, 1882). As before stated, the

General Assembly of the State passed an Act

at the session of 1S75 taxing colored people

for the support of their own schools. The
money arising from this source is paid to the

Association and by it distributed to the re-

spective schools. The amount raised by taxa-

tion has not been sufficient to meet the ex-

penses of the schools
;
on the contrary it has

only met about one-third of the expenses, the

other two-thirds being raised by the colored

people among themselves. It can readily be

seen that this has imposed a very heavy bur-

den upon the colored people, and the spirit of

heroism and sacrifice shown by them in their

efforts to advance their children’s welfare is

deserving of the highest praise and commenda-

tion. The Act referred to, which provided

for the taxing of the colored people for school

purposes, was the only recognition ever given

by the law-making powers of the State as re-

regards colored education, until during the

winter of 1881, when the General Assembly

made an annual appropriation of $2400 to be

distributed share and share alike to the colored

schools of the State. This appropriation has

served as a great incentive to the colored

people. It has resulted in relieving them

somewhat from the burden of carrying the

schools, and has materially increased the num-
ber of schools and the number of pupils.

During the last school year 67 schools have

been open in the State, with an enrollment of

about 3500pupils. The work of the Association

has been thoroughly and efficiently done. With
the limited means at its disposal it has sought

to lend a helping hand to a cause which has

been dear to the heart of each one of its mem-
bers. With a quietness which of itself be-

tokens earnestness, the work has continued

from year to year, arrd looking back over the

fifteen years in which the work has gone on, it

is a matter of congratulation to see the col-
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ored schools of the State a recognized institu- by the times. A system should be devised

tion in which the great majority of the people,
;
whereby white and colored people would bear

regardless of party lines, take a just pride, equally the burdens of taxation, and out of a

The achievements made are but a sound common fund, schools for both classes should

beginning. The near future it is hoped has in be maintained. To this end the friends of the

store much better things. A revised school colored schools who have borne “the heat and

system for the entire State, which will include burden of the day” are anxiously looking, and
separate schools for the colored people, with the evidences of darkness and prejudice now
every facility accorded the colored children as

i
disappearing, lead to the encouraging hope

are allowed to the white children, is demanded
j

that the day is beginning to break.

Wilmington, July 28th, 1882.

HISTORY OF DELAWARE COLLEGE.

ing the subsequent part of that year, the main
portion of the present edifice was erected, and
the necessary arrangements made for opening
the Institution tor the reception of Students.
As it was not deemed expedient to elect a
President of the College at first, Mr. Nathan
Munroe was elected a Professor, and author-
ized to act as Principal, on the 20th of Decem-
ber. i833 1

anb having duly accepted the posi-
tion, was formally inaugurated on the 8th of
May, 1834, and the collegiate course there-
upon properly commenced.
The first President of the College, Rev. E

W. Gilbert, D. D., was elected in September,
1834, and appears to have accepted and enter-
ed upon his duties in October following. Thus
the Institution was fully organized as a Col-
lege, and prepared to pursue the objects of its

founders.

In reviewing its past history, when we con-
sider the difficulties it had to contend with,

and which are incident to all new institutions;

its long-established and powerful rivals for

public favor
;
and its slender endowment, we

are bound to admit that the College has
achieved a good degree of success. Many of

its graduates and former students are useful

and honorable members of society, and can
bear testimony to the faithfulness and ability

with which they were instructed. In the year

1851, the Trustees of Delaware College were
re-incorporated, and the objects and powers of

the Institution, as set forth in the Charter of

J|tS ORIGIN.—In the year 1833 the Leg
islature of Delaware granted a charter

to Ephraim J. Bee, George S. Bryan,

William W. Ferris, Peter B. Delany,

Luke C. Graves, Manlove Hayes, John B.

Le Fevre, Alfred P. Robinson, William D.

Sherrerd and Edwin S. Stevens under the title

of Newark College
,
said charter to continue

twenty years. By the terms of the Act of In-

corporation, the Delaware College” Fund,

which was raised, or was intended to be raised,

under the provisions of the Acts of Assembly

of 1818, 1821, and 1S24, and which was de-

signed for the founding and support of a col-

legiate institution of Newark or in its vicinity,

was transferred to the Trustees of Newark
College.

It was also provided that the Board of Trus-

tees should consist of not more than thirty-

three members
;
and the gentlemen named as

Corporators, were among the most eminent

and influential citizens of Delaware and Mary-
j

land. The object of establishing the College
Jwas declared to be “for instructing students in
|

Languages, Arts, and Sciences.” The faculty
j

of the College, with the approbation of the !

Trustees, was authorized to confer Degrees. '

Pursuant to the directions of the Charter, a

majority of the gentlemen named as Trustees

met in Newark, in April 1833, and organized
;

j

Willard Hall being appointed Chairman, and
^

James R. Black Secretary of the Board. Dur-
j
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1833, were reiterated. At the same session ofj port, the annual interest arising from the pro-

file Legislature, the Trustees were authorized
|
ceeds of the said donation; the Trustees

to establish, in connection with the College, a

“Scientific School,” for such students as might

not desire to pursue the regular Collegiate

Course. This was accordingly done, and many
young men availed themselves of the oppor-

tunity offered ; and the prosperity of the Col-

lege was consequently enhanced, and its prac-

tical usefulness greatly increased.

Temporary Suspension.—In 1852, the

Trustees, thinking to increase the popularity

and usefulness of the Institution, adopted a

system of scholarships. The injurious effect

of the system was not at once apparent, but in

the course of a few years, when the greater

portion of the certificates had been transferred

by their original holders, and students began

to enter under them, it was manifest that the

rates at which they had been issued were

wholly inadequate, and that the enterprise was

faulty; and, in fact, it finally resulted in such

serious financial trouble as to compel the clos-

ing of the College, in the summer of 1859.

The Trustees called in the certificates of

scholarships, and promptly redeemed them
;

but the College remained closed from that

time to the re-organization.

During the late civil war, the necessary

effect of which was to embarrass and discour-

age such institutions of learning in this section

agreeing to carry out the Act of Congress, and
to convey to the State a joint and equal inter-

est in all the College property of every de-

scription.

Such an arrangement was entered into, and
the Legislature, on the 14th of March, 1867,

passed an Act to consummate it. That Act
re-incorporated the Institution under its old

name of “Delaware College,” provided for a

Board of Trustees to consist of thirty mem-
bers, one-half of whom should be appointed

by the Governor of the State, and the other

half be members of the old Board, or be ap-

pointed by it, the Governor and the President

of the Faculty, thereafter elected, should ex-

officio be members of the new Board
;
and the

College was required to provide gratuitous in-

struction for one pupil from each Hundred in

the State. It was also stipulated, “that said

Institution shall never be managed or con-

ducted in the interest of any party, sect or

denomination/'

A subsequent amendatory Act was passed

in February, 1869, defining more fully and ex-

plicitly the powers and duties of the Trus-

tees
;
and in March of the same year a sup-

plementary Act passed, giving the appoint-

ment of the beneficiary pupils to the members
of the General Assembly from the several

of the country, several efforts were made to Hundreds.

resuscitate .the College, but without success.

Re-establishment.—At length, the nu-

merous friends of the college were rejoiced to

believe that the opportune moment had ar-

The Governor, exercising the authority

vested in him by the law, appointed as Trus-

tees on behalf of the State, some of her most

distinguished and honored citizens : and the

rived for its revival. At a meeting of the
j

Trustees holding under the old organization

Board of Trustees, held on the 19th of Febru- l filled the vacancies in their number with gen-

ary, 1867, the Board was led to consider the
j

tlemen well known for their intelligence, busi-

Act of Congress donating public lands to such
|

ness capacity, and devotion to the cause of

of the States and Territories as should provide
;

education.

Colleges for the benefit of Agriculture, and

the Mechanic Arts
;
and their attention was

also called to the fact that the State of Dela-

ware had accepted the said grant on her part,

and was prepared to direct the proceeds to

such Institution within her limits, as might

reasonably undertake to comply with the re-

quirements of the Act of Congress. Conse-

quently a committee was appointed with in-

structions to visit the Legislature, then in ses-

sion, and to make an arrangement by which

The new Board met and organized on the

12th of January, 1869; Rathmell Wilson, Esq.,

was elected President of the Board, and Hon.

John Hickman, Vice President, and Geo. G.

Evans, Esq., Secretary and Treasurer
;
and at

the same meeting the Trustees took the neces-

sary steps to perfect their organization by the

appointment of Committees, &c.

Since its re-organization the College has

had about seventy graduates In 1872, the

Trustees admitted girls to the College classes,

Delaware College should receive for her sup-
j

and quite a number have availed themselves
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of the privilege. They board in the town and

attend recitations in the College buiiding.

The Faculty is composed of five members,

among whom the work of instruction is dis-

tributed. Courses of lectures on literary and

scientific subjects are delivered by distin-

guished non-residents, and by a rule of the

Faculty the students are admitted free of

charge to all such lectures.

The friends of the Institution are convinced

that at no time in the history of the College

has there been more faithful and thorough in-

struction given, and they trust that its useful-

ness and influence will be extended and per-

petuated. The present faculty consists of the

following gentleman, viz.

William H. Purnell, A. M., LL. D., President.

Professor of Mental,Moral and Political Science.

! . Professor of Agri-

culture, Physics and Civil Engineering.

Rev. William D. Mackey, A. M., Ph. D.,

Professor of Ancient Languages and Classical

j

Literature.

|

Theodore R. Wolf, M. A., Ph. D„ (Heid.,)

: Professor of Chemistry, Geology, Mineralogy,

and Natural History.

Rev. Wm. McCaulley Jefferis, M. A., Pro-

|

fessor of Mathematics and Modern Languages.

i Rev. J. L. Polk, A. M., Ph. D., Principal of

Newark Academy.
Theodore R. Wolf, Librarian and Ex-Officio

j

State Chemist.

Professor Jefferis, Secretary of the Faculty.

I
Dr. L. P. Bush, of Wilmington, is President

of the Board of Trustees.

ACADEMY OF NEWARK.
Newark Academy had its origin in the efforts

made in the early part of the last century, to

establish a system of education by which young

men who were called to the ministry might be

properly trained for their high and noble mis-

sion.

In 1739, the Synod of Philadelphia, which

represented at that time the Presbyterian

Church of America, adopted an overture, hav-

ing in view the organization of a Seminary of

Learning, but owing to the sparsity of popu-

lation, inconveniences of communication, and

want of necessary funds, but little was done

towards carrying out the design. About this

time the Rev. P'rancis Allison, a native of Ire-

land, and a distinguished graduate of the

University of Glasgow, came to this country

and entered the family of John Dickinson,

Governor of Delaware, as tutor to his son.

Soon after, he received a call to become pas-

tor of the New London Church, and having

been installed pastor there, he received a num-
ber of young men into his family as students,

and companions for Gov. Dickinson’s son.

From this beginning originated an Acad-
emy, the first of its kind in the country, and
at which many leading men of that day re-

ceived their education.

In 1744, the Synod adopted Dr. Allison’s

school as its own, and appointed him Rector,
a position which he held until 1752, when he
was appointed Vice Provost and Professor of

Moral Philosophy, in the Philadelphia Acad-
emy now the University of Pennsylvania.

The Rev. Alexander McDowell succeeded
him as the principal of the Academy, and hav-
ing been called to become pastor of the

Churches of “ White Clay Creek” and “ Elk-

River,” he removed the Synod’s school to Elk-
ton, for a short time.

In 1767, it was located permanently at

Newark, where it has since remained in regu-

lar operation, except for a sjiort time during

the Revolutionary War, when the Academy
building was used for manufacturing shoes for

;

General Washington’s army,

j In 1769, the Academy was chartered by
1
Thomas and Richard Penn, proprietaries of
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Pennsylvania and the “ Lower Counties.” In
j

The influence of the school thus early

the original Board of Trustees are found the founded has been felt throughout the whole
names of men celebrated in the early relig- surrounding region of Delaware and the ad-

ious, educational and political history of our joining States. Probably five thousand young
country.

i
men have been educated within its walls, most

In 1773, the Rev. Dr. Ewing and Dr. Hugh of whom have finished their course, but many
Williamson, men distinguished for their piety still remain scattered through Delaware, Mary-
and learning, were sent to England and Scot- land, Virginia, and. perhaps, in almost every

land to secure funds for the Academy, and the State in the LT nion.

result of their labors, and the generous dona- FACULTY OF INSTRUCTION.—Rev.J.L Polk,

tions of the Penns and of Dr. Benjamin Rush, A. M.. Ph. D., Principal. Prof. H. S Goldey,

of Philadelphia, formed the basis of its present Prof. W. S. Prickett, Miss S. C. Grinnell.

endowment. Teacher OF Music.—Miss G. Benneson.

WILMINGTON CONFERENCE ACADEMY.

ISTORY.—The thought from which this

School grew was first put in language in

an essay, read by the Rev. C. W. Buoy,

A. M.,at the Peninsular Convention, held

in Smyrna, in 1870. The following spring, the

Conference, at its session in Dover, appointed

a commission to consider the suggestion, and,

if it was thought feasible, to secure a location.

This commission selected Dover, and so re-

ported to the Conference held in Laurel, Del.,

in 1872. A Board of Trustees was then

elected. The following winter a charter for

the Academy was granted by the Legislature

of Delaware, and in August, 1873, the ground

was broken for the building. The building is

in the form of a cross. The entire front is 89

feet and the total depth of centre is 94 feet
;

the width of centre 42 feet, and of wings 39
feet. It is built solidly of brick, and is four

stories high besides the cellar. This runs

under the entire building. There are alto-

gether fifty-four rooms, besides pantries, store

rooms, etc. Of these thirty-five are dormi-

tories, devoted exclusively to students and

teachers. The building is heated by hot air

throughout, is lighted with gas, and supplied

with hot and cold water, bath-tubs, water-

closets, &c. The ventilation is complete. A
cupola surmounts the building, thirty-six feet

high above the roof, making a total height of

one hundred feet from the ground. There are

six acres of Grounds. These are laid off hand-

somely in walks and plats, and trees are

planted. Ample room is allotted to students

for play grounds. The Academy is situated

in the north part of Dover, in lull view of the

Delaware Railroad, and about half a mile from
the depot.

Its Board of Trustees, elected by the An-
nual Conference, consists of Laymen and
Clergymen. Its pupils are of both sexes, and
its curriculum is of a character to satisfy the

friends of advanced education.

It has been very successful under the able

management of Principal Skinner, and its

future looked to as assured. The Wilmington
Annual Conference of the Methodist Episco-

pal Church is deservedly proud of its now
flourishing Institution. The following is the

faculty of the Academy :

Robert H. Skinner, A. M., Principal
, Pro-

fessor of Mental andMoral Science . W Lam-
bert Gooding, A.M., Associate Principal. Chas.

S. Con well, A. M., Professor of Latin and Eng-
lish Literature. Coates Caldwell, A. B., Pro-

fessor ofGreekandHigher Mathematics. Emma
R Potter, B. P., Preceptress , French ,

Drawing
and Painting. Miss Jennie L. Corbett, Eng-
lish and Mathematics. Miss Jennie C. Wilson,

A. B., Lnstrumental Music. ,

Professor of Violin and Vocal Music.

For further information respecting institu-

tions of learning, see “History of Cities and
Towns,” in which they are located, as pub-

lished in this volume.
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ECCLESIASTICAL

PROTESTANT EPISCOPAL CHURCH.
BY RIGHT REV. ALFRED LEE, D. D.,

Bishop of the Diocese of Delaware.

ff>HE Protestant Episcopal Church in the
j

) State of Delaware is derived from a

XffS two-fold source. While in much the '

(D * larger proportion it is descenuea, as in

most of the older states, from the church of

England, it has a connection of great interest

with the Swedish colonists whose arrival ante-

dated that of the British immigrants. The
oldest of the houses of worship in which her

liturgy is used, perhaps the oldest Protestant

place of worship in the United States, is the

venerable Swedes’ Church, in the city of Wil-

mington. In Benjamin Ferris’ “ History of

Original Settlements on the Delaware,” we
have the following interesting description.

“Almost the only monument remaining to

show that there ever was a Swedish colony

on our shore, is the old Swedes’ Church on

the bank of the Christiana. Very few of

their old dwelling houses remain. Their

posterity, a mixed race, cannot now be distin-

guished : But there stands their venerable old

Church !
” (See Engraving.)

When the first Swedish Colony under Min-

uet, in 1638, landed at the point of rocks on

the shore of the Christiana, (originally the

Minquas,) the site of the present church and

burial ground, and erected there a fort named
Fort Christina, one of their first cares was

to provide a house for divine worship, which

was built within the walls of the fort. Minuet

was accompanied by a clergyman named Tor-

killus who officiated till his death in 1643, so

j

that at the church within the fort the emi-

]

grants gathered themselves together for

prayer and praise, until the erection of the

!
church at Crane Hook, on the south side of

the mo u lli of the Christiana. "This church

wras not built until 1667, and was supplied wfith

religious services by Lock, the only Swedish
clergyman in the Colony, who also had to

supply as well as he could, the congregation

that still met in the fort, and that at Tini-

cum, near the mouth of the Schuylkill. He
died, or returned to Sweden, in 1688, after

w'hich they had no preacher among them but

Jacob Fabritius, a Dutch clergyman, w’ho came
from New York and officiated, principally at

Wicaco, Penna. fourteen years, the last nine of

which he wras totally blind. From 1691 when
Fabritius retired, until the arrival of the mis-

sionaries Biorck, Rudman and Auren they had

no regular service.

William Penn showed his liberality and

kindness by sending them a parcel of books

and catechisms with a folio Bible for their

church, and by petitioning the Swedish am-
bassador in London for ministers and books

for them. (Rudman’s Memoirs.) In their letter

the Colonists asked spiritual aid not tem-

poral.

They came not before the King “ as suppli-

ants for pecuniary favors, but as asking for

what, as fellow members of the Church, they

had a reasonable right to claim.” Measures
were at once taken by the Archbishop to

procure suitable persons who might be willing
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to venture their lives in such a perilous under-

taking— for such it tjien seemed to be. Three

persons were found who had the requisite zeal

and courage. They were Andrew Rudman,

Eric Biorck and Jonas Auren, who reached

the shores of America, June 2, 1697, when they

anchored in James river, Virginia. Then it was

quite a voyage up the Chesapeake to Elk river,

so that some weeks elapsed before they were joy-

fully welcomed by those to whom they came.

The people came from 50 to 60 miles to receive

their new pastors, and could hardly believe

the tidings were true until they really saw them.

Of the three missionaries Biorck took charge

of the congregations on the Christiana. This

was in the Crane Hook church, but he says,

that site being often overflowed, he had per-

suaded them to build a stone church in a more
convenient place. The corner stone of the

proposed building, the present church, was
laid March 28th, 1698, on the site of the orig-

inal house of worship, and was formally dedi-

cated or. Trinity Sunday, of the year follow-

ing, 1699, and was named Trinity Church.

Eric Biorck served his congregation as

their faithful friend and pastor for 16

years, when he returned to Sweden. He
was succeeded by Andrew Hesselius, sent

over by Charles XII, 1712, who acted as pastor

until his recall in 1723. “During this period

the English Episcopal churches and the Swed-
ish Lutheran churches found themselves so

nearly united in doctrine and sentiment that

there was no obstruction to free religious

intercourse, and they occasionally officiated in

each others’ churches. His brother Samuel
succeeded him 1723— 1731. The next minister

was John Eneburg, who continued until 1742.

Eneburg was succeeded by Peter Tranberg,

who had for about ten years previous labored

at Raccoon Creek, N. J. He died in 1748, and
was interred in front of the chancel, where his

epitaph may be read on a marble slab. The
successor of Tranberg was the justly distin-

guished historian of the colony, Israel Acre-
lius, who officiated from 1748 to 1756, when
he was recalled. He died in Sweden aged 86
years, A. D. 1800. Eric Unander followed and
continued pastor until 1760. Andreas Borell

was rector in 1762, and died in 1767. Laurence
Gereleus was the last, and returned to

Sweden about the year 1790. By this time
the Swedish language had ceased to be in-

I 2

telligible to the hearers, and the congrega-

tions in Pennsylvania and Delaware, were
able to sustain themselves.

Thus terminated the long intercourse be-

tween the Swedish Churches in America and
the ecclesiastical establishment in the father-

land. Like the intercourse between parent

and child it had been warm and affectionate,

and the final separation was with filial grati-

tude on the one hand, and with parental

benediction on the other. After the departure

of the last Swedish Missionary, Trinity Church
naturally came under the care of clergymen of

the Protestant Episcopal Church.

In the second Convention of the Diocese of

Delaware, Dec. 1 8th, 1792, of three clergymen
attending,' one was the Rev. Joseph Clarkson,

Rector of Trinity Church, Wilmington, from
whose report it is inferred that he began his

ministry there, Sept. 25th, 1792. He reports

500 adults as parishioners. In the Convention
of 1794 Mr. Clarkson presided, the Rev.
Sydenham Thorn, President of the preceding

Conventions, having deceased. The last Con-
vention attended by Mr. Clarkson was in 1799.
In 1S00 the Rev. William Pryce was present
as Rector of Trinity Church and was elected
Secretary. In the Convention of 1804 Mr.
Pryce presided, and in several subsequent
Conventions. He was a Clerical Deputy from
the Diocese to the General Convention of

1814. He was succeeded in Trinity Church
by the Rev. William Wickes, who was also

Clerical Deputy in 1817. Next came Rev.
Levi B ull, who uTas elected President of the

Diocesan Convention of 1818, and under
whose brief but earnest ministry, the church
greatly prospered. It is not until 1818 that I

find the congregation represented by Lay
Delegates and remitting its quota for Conven-
tional expenses. From which it may be in-

ferred that while ministered to by clergymen
of the Episcopal Church, the full union of the

Parish as such with the Convention, was not

perfected until that time. It was then repre-

sented by John Ramsey and William D.
Brinckle.

After the regions bordering on Delaware
Bay came under English rule, in 1664, there

was an influx of immigrants from that country,

many of whom were members of the Church
of England. While they would of course de-

sire the worship and teaching to which they
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had been accustomed, it does not appear that I

effectual steps were taken to supply this want

until the foundation of “The Society for the

Propagation of the Gospel," chartered by

King William HI, June 1 6th, 1701. The for-

mation of this society was an era in the his-

tory of the Mother Church, and gave an im-

pulse to the spread of the Gospel and

the planting of the Episcopal church on

this continent of which we feel to this day

the beneficial results. It is the oldest existing

English Missionary Association, and had for

its object both the spiritual needs of scattered

members of the household of faith and the

conversion of the heathen.

The former has been its principal work. An
extensive missionary exploration was made
on behalf of the society in 1702 by the Rev.

George Keith and the Rev. John Talbot. Mr.

Keith originally embraced the principles of

the Society of Friends, and was at one time

associated with Penn and Barclay. He came

to Luis country in 1688, and was a zealous ur.d

indefatigable preacher. In 1692 he withdrew

from the Friends, and in 1700 was ordained a

minister of the Church of England by the

Bishop of London. From Mr. Keith’s narra-

tive of his tour we get the earliest authen-

tic information respecting the foundation of

the English branch of our church. In his

“Summary account of Travels, Services and

Successes in North America, ”he says, I traveled

and preached in all the dominions and gov-

ernments belonging to the Crown of England

betwixt North Carolina and Piscataway river

in New England, in length about eight hun-

dred miles, in ten distinct governments.” Mr.

Talbot writes, “Mr. Keith and I have preached

the gospel to all sorts and conditions of men;

we have baptized several scores of men women
and children.” He speaks of church buildings

to be erected, and says, “They are going to

build three more in these lower counties about

New Castle, besides those at Chester, Burling-

ton and Amboy.” f'rom a letter of the Rev.

George Ross we learn that inhabitants of New
Castle of the Communion of the Church of

England, feeling the want of a person in holy

orders petitioned the Bishop ot London to take

compassion on their deplorable circumstances.

This was done Aug., [ 1 , 1703, and in confidence

of a favorable answer they took measures to

build a house of public worship. In the year

1704 Emanuel Church was founded, and by

the charitable contributions of several gentle-

men in Pennsylvania, as well as by large col-

lections from inhabitants of New Castle, not

only churchmen but Presbyterians, was finished

and opened in 1706 with the solemnity of a

sermon preached by the Rev. Andrew Rud-

man, Swedish Missionary at Oxford, Pa. The
congregation consisted of about 20 families.

The Rev. Evan Evans of Philadelphia de-

scribed the church as “a large and fair struc-

ture.”

The Rev. George Ross was sent by the so-

ciety as a Missionary to New Castle in 1705.

He speaks in 1 70S of his Congregation being

much diminished by epidemical sickness, and

for this and some difficulties that occurred he

removed in 1709 to Chester. The disapproval

of this step by the Society led to his return to

England, and having successfully vindicated

his conduct, he was restored to his mission.

On his voyage back to America he was

taken prisoner by a French cruiser fFeb. 9,

171 1) and carried into Brest, stripped of all his

clothes and treated in the most inhuman man-
ner. On his release he returned to Chester,

but not long after, by direction of the Society,

resumed the Mission at Newcastle.

During this interval, while Mr. Ross was ab-

sent, the Rev. Robert Sinclare and the Rev.

Jacob Henderson officiated in Newcastle.

With this interruption of about four years, the

Rev. Mr. Ross continued to minister at New-
castle until his death in 1754.

In addition to the charge of Newcastle

Church Mr. Ross had during much of his in-

cumbency the care of White Clay Creek
Church. This excellent and faithful man was
succeeded in 1757, by his son, the Rev. /Eneas
Ross, who went to England for ordination in

1739—and was first appointed to the charge of

the congregations at Oxford and Whitemarsh,
Pennsylvania.

During the interval between the death of

the father and the entrance of the son upon
the charge, the Parish was visited by the Rev.

Aaron Cleveland, who had been a Congre-
gationalist minister. Mr. Cleveland visited

England and was ordained in 1755, and was
shipwrecked on his return voyage and suffered

greatly. He was appointed to Lewes, but

after a brief stay there was transferred at his

own request (o Newcastle. On his journey to
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Connecticut for the purpose of removing his

family he was overtaken by illness at Phila-

delphia, and stopped at the home of his old

friend, Dr. Franklin. This illness terminated

fatally Aug. 1 1 , 1 757.

The Rev. vEneas Ross was in charge of the

church at Newcastle for about twenty-five

years, from 1757 to 1782. His ministry em-

braced nearly the whole period of the Revo-

lution.

The Rev. Charles Henry Wharton, D. D., was

Rector of the church from 1784 to 1788 He
removed to Burlington, where his long and hon-

ored ministry was terminated by death in 1833.

He represented the diocese of Delaware in the

first General Convention held in 1785. The
Rectorship of his successor, the Rev. Robert

Clay, continued from 1788 until 1824, and that

of the Rev. Stephen Wilson Presstman from

the latter date until 1843. The Rev. Geo. W.
Freeman, D. D., the next Rector, within a

year after entering upon the charge of the

parish, was called to the arduous and respon-

sible position of Missionary Bishop of Arkan-

sas and Texas by the General Convention of

1844. He died in 1858.

The inhabitants of Appoquinimink were so

zealous as to build a convenient church about

the year 1705.. The church for a considerable

time had only occasional services rendered by

Mr. Biorck, Mr. Ross and others. The next

ministry of any permanence was that of the

Rev. Mr. Hackett, which lasted five years.

He died in 1733 and was buried in the grave

yard of Immanuel church, New Castle, where

his monument has been carefully preserved,

bearing an epitaph in Latin written by his

father-in-law, Mr. Ross. The last Missionary

sent out to this station by the Society was the

Rev. Philip Reading who arrived in 1746.

His Memorial stone in the churchyard in good

preservation records that “ In full hope of

the glorious inheritance above he left this

world Oct 29, 1778, in the 58th year of his

age.” But as the troubled times of the

Revolution came on he experienced much
tribulation. It was perfectly natural that many
of the Clergy of our church, and especially

Missionaries of the Society, who had been

occupied with their pastoral duties and had

taken little part in the agitating question

which broke out into so fierce a flame, should

consider their allegiance still due to the

mother country. While Bishop White and
others of eminence justified the Revolution,

and recognized in their public worship the

authority of Congress, there were many who
considered themselves under obligations to

use the whole liturgy, such as it was when
they were ordained. Whatever may be our

judgment as to their decision, we must admire

their fidelity to the convictions of conscience

and their patient endurance of obloquy and

peril.

St Anne’s Church, the venerable edifice in

which Mr. Reading ministered for so many
years, is still standing in a good state of

preservation, the burial ground overshadowed
by majestic oaks. For the convenience of

the Congregation a new and handsome church

has been erected in the neighboring town of

Middletown, which was consecrated to the

worship of God, April 4th, 1872.

The beginning of the church at Dover was
the appointment of the Rev. Thomas Craw-
ford as Missionary of the Propagation Society

in 1704, in response to a petition signed by

twenty-two inhabitants, dated Aug. 30th,

1703. In 1708 he reports, “our church is now
finished, it is all glazed and almost full of

pews.” This church was a slight frame struc-

ture and did not last thirty years. There is

reason to believe that Mr. Crawford’s labors

were abundant and successful. He evinced

much solicitude for the spiritual welfare of the

African population, as did several of those

who followed him.

Under the ministry of the Rev. Geo. Frazer

in 1733, a subscription was started to build a

new brick church, which was not completed

for some years. In 1744 the Rev. Arthur

Usher reports, “at my first arrival there was

a brick church begun at Dover, which is now
finished, and two wooden chapels begun which

I hope to see finished before Spring.” These

chapels were, the one at Duck Creek at the

northern extremity of the county, the parent

of St. Peter’s Church, Smyrna; the other at

Mispillion on the southern border, from which

sprang Christ Church, Milford. Mr. Usher

reports that there are 382 adults of the Church

of England in his parish, his parish including

the whole of Kent County.

Then arrived a season of extreme depression

of which Dover has experienced more than

one. When the Rev. Hugh Neil came, 1750,
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he “found the church in a miserable condition, i

more like a refuge for wild beasts than a house

dedicated to the worship of God. ’ His re-

ports however soon wear a less sombre hue.

He estimates those inclined to the church to be

about half the population ot the county, and

says, “it is with the utmost pleasure I can

acquaint you that in this extensive mission,

my Congregation appears in a flourishing con-

dition.” The number of his communicants

had doubled. He had baptized 177 white

children and 10 adults. He shows great in-

terest in the African race and blesses God

that his labor has not been lost. They gave

constant attendance from the different parts

of the country, and he had baptized of them

109 adults and iy children.

In 1758 Mr. Chas. Inglis, from Lancaster,

Penna., crossed the ocean to obtain Holy

Orders, and speedily returned as missionary

to Dover
;
with a salary promised of $50 per

annum. This was the modest commencement
of a career of o-roudno- renntation and distin-- - -• 0— • —O ' i

guished service. The six years of Mr. Inglis’

ministry at Dover seemed to have been the

most prosperous in the history of the parish for

at least a century and a half from its formation.

The next resident minister was the Rev. S.

Megaw, afterward Rector of St. Paul’s Church,

Philadelphia, who was in charge from 1767 to

1775. He was the last Missionary thereof

the Propagation Society.

The Parish was probably vacant during the

Revolution. In 1786 the Rev. Samuel Roe
was called to the Rectorship by the Vestry.

He departed this life Feb. 8th, 1791, and his

monument is in the churchyard.

The Vestry of Christ Church, Dover, united

with the Rev. John Bissett, Rector of St.

Anne’s Church, Appoquinimink, in calling the

first convention of the Protestant Episcopal

Church in the State of Delaware, which was

held in Dover, December 3, 1791. The Parish

was then vacant.

It was therefore with great satisfaction that

lay delegates therefrom were welcomed in the

Diocesan Convention of 1859. On Ascension

Day, May 17, i860, the renovated church,

scarcely to be recognized in its new arrange-

ment, was solemnly and joyfully consecrated

to the worship of the Triune God.

In 1717, the Rev. Mr. Ross was invited by

Colonel Keith, Governor of Pennsylvania, to

accompany him in a tour through Sussex

and Kent counties. August 6th, he attended

the Governor to the Court House in Lewis

Town and read divine service. Mr. Ross

was so impressed with their spiritual wants

that he returned in April of the following

year for a week’s visit, held frequent ser-

vices and baptized more than one hundred,

amongst whom were seven in advanced life.

Col. Keith transmitted a copy ot the journal

of Mr. Ross to the society, and warmly sec-

onded his appeal for aid. In consequence, the

Rev. William Beckett was sent out as mission-

ary in 1721. He fixed his residence at Lewes,

“a large and handsome town on the banks of

the Delaware,” the centre of a mission which
comprised the whole county of Sussex.

A subscription was at once commenced for

a church. He writes Sept. 1, 1722, “The
frame of our church was' raised on a hleh

bank, in the centre of our town, on the 6th

October last, and we hope to finish it the next
S ,

v!
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raised at distant places. We intend to fit

them up with all convenient speed.” These,

no doubt, were St. Matthew’s, Cedar Creek,

and the first St. George’s Chapel, Indian

River, May 19, 1724.

A fourth church, built in the middle of the

forest, was opened by the name of St. John
Baptist. In one of his last letters, Sept. 26,

1 742 >
he vvas enabled to assure the Society

that his “ four churches were filled on Sundays
and holy-days, and that in summer time as

they were unable to hold the congregations,
he was often obliged to preach under the
green trees.” Mr. Beckett probably died soon
after this date. In 1745, the Rev. Arthur
Usher was at Lewes. He reports the Sussex
churches as flourishing, full on Sundays of

devout attendants.”

Mr. Inglis writes to the Society in 1765,
l,

I

hear a missionary is appointed for Lewis
Town. I am extremly glad of it. A mission-

ary is much wanted there. For three years
past, I have preached three or four times each
year at Cedar Creek, in the upper part of Sus-

sex county.” At his instance that congrega-

tion had set about building a new church. In

that church the writer officiated several times,

but it has now vanished from sight. Mr.

Inglis also informs the Society in 1765, that

[“the lines between this province and Mary-
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land are now run out and fixed according to a

decree in Chancery. By this division Sussex

will be twice as large as it is at present, and

one or two Maryland churches will be thrown

into the lower end of it.” Accordingly since

that time there have been included within the

limits of the Diocese the church at Dagsboro,

previously in Worcester Parish, Md., Christ

Church, Broad Creek, before in Stepney Par-

ish, and St. Mary's Chapel, N. W. Fork Hun-
dred, not far from the present site of Seaford.

The last missionary of the Society in Sussex

county was the Rev. Samuel Tingley, who
came not later than 1776, and continued

throughout the trying period of the war. He
was not in favour with the patriots, and gives

a touching description of the privations and

indignities to which he was exposed. “With-
out exaggeration he could say that he had

scarce bread to eat or raiment to put on.” By
substituting general supplications for those in

authority in place of the specific mention of

the king, he was able to keep his churches

open, and was almost daily employed in trav-

elling and preaching. In 1782 he visited New
York, and writing from thence the first com-
munication he had been able to send to the

Society for six years, he says that “ he had not

the Registers of his churches with him. With

regard to Baptisms there had been several

thousand since he wrote last. There was not

one clergyman of the church officiating for

a hundred miles in length except himself.

For which reason wherever I preached, for

the purpose of givng the parents opportunity

to present their little ones to the Lord, it will

not be thought strange that I have baptized

from thirty, forty, to fifty at one time
”

The exploration of the early annals of the

Church in Delaware is calculated to heighten

our estimate of the diligence, zeal and godli-

ness of the first ministers. That such men
were in the field was greatly owing under God
to the watchful care and supervision of the

venerable Society. Where the church was

by law established and sustained, as in Mary-

land and Virginia, unworthy men often crept

and occasioned great harm and scandal. This

is an admitted fact. The eviljreport thus

occasioned has led some persons to judge

unfavorably of the general character of the

Episcopal Clergy during the colonial period.

Such an impression, as regards Delaware, is

93

erroneous and unjust. The tone of morality
and religion throughout the State is higher
and purer for their influence. And even to

this day where the traces of their ministry
had seemed obliterated, churches start up in

the field that had long lain fallow. The shock
of the Revolution and the withdrawal of the
important aid so long extended by the So-
ciety for the Propagation of the Gospel, and the
interruption of regular pastoral ministrations
were of necessity disastrous in their effects.

PART SECOND.
In the measures taken for uniting and

organizing the Protestant Episcopal Church in

the United States, the congregations of Dela-
ware participated from the outset. Representa-
tives were present at the preliminary meeting
in the city of New York, in October, 1784, from
which issued the call for the First General
Convention. This Convention, which assem-
bled in the city of Philadelphia, from Septem-
ber 27th to October 7th, 1785. was composed
of clerical and lay deputies from New York,
New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Delaware, Mary-
land, Virginia and South Carolina. The dep-
uties from Delaware were the Rev. Charles H.
Wharton, D. D., and Messrs. Thomas Duff,

James Sykes, John Reece, Joseph Tatlow,
Alexander Reynolds and Robert Clay. This
important Convention laid the foundations of
the Protestant Episcopal Church as a national
Church in the United States of America.
They prepared and proposed a constitution,

which is essentially the basis of that now
established. They revised the Book of Com-
mon Prayer, and although “The Proposed
Book, as it was called, then issued, was not
adopted, many of the alterations were after-

wards retained and constitute the difference

between the worship of the Church of England
and our own, differences however not affecting

any essential part of doctrine or discipline.

The Convention also adopted an earnest anJ
respectful application to the Archbishops and
Bishops of the Church of England, asking
them “ to confer the Episcopal character
upon such persons sufficiently qualified, as

shall be recommended by this Church in the

several States here represented.” On the

Committee for the consideration of these

momentous subjects are found the names of

the Rev. Dr. Wharton and Mr. Sykes of Del-
aware.
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In the General Convention of June, 17S6,

which ratified the Constitution, there were

present from Delaware the Rev. Charles H.

Wharton, the Rev. Sydenham Thorne, Messrs.

Robert Clay and Nicholas Ridgely. This

Convention returned an answer to the Bishops

of the Church of England, intended to obviate

some difficulties which they found in granting

the prayer for the transmission of the Episco-

pate. The individual signatures of the mem-
bers are subscribed to this letter. It was de-

termined by ballot that Wilmington, in the

State of Delaware, be the next place of meet-

ing. This Convention, the only General Con-

vention which ever met in Delaware, assem-

bled on the 10th of October, 1786. It consist-

ed of ten clerical and twelve lay deputies from

six States, viz : New York,. New Jersey, Penn-

sylvania, Delaware, Virginia and South Caro-

lina.
#
The representatives from Delaware were

the Rev. Charles H. Wharton, the Rev. Syden-

ham Thorne, Messrs. James Grantham and

James Sykes. The Convention met in the

Academy Hall, a building which stood on

Market street, between Eighth and Ninth, and

which was removed about fifty years ago.

They attended divine service in the Old

Swedes’ Church, the sermon being preached

by the Rev. Dr. Magaw. This Convention

took final action with regard to the corres-

pondence with the English Archbishops, the

forms of testimonial forwarded for persons to

be consecrated to the Episcopate, and the ob-

jections made by the English Bishops to cer-

tain alterations in the Book of Common
Prayer. Of these alterations the most im-

portant concerned the Creeds. The Conven-

tion restored in the Apostles’ Creed the words

that had been omitted,. “He descended into

Hell,” by a close vote. Of five Dioceses, three

were divided, New York, Pennsylvania, and

Delaware
;
New Jersey and South Carolina

voted affirmatively. Numerically the clergy

stood nine Ayes, one No
;
the laity five Ayes,

six Noes. The negative clerical vote was that

of the Rev. Dr. Wharton. The Convention

unanimously restored the Nicene Creed, and

refused to adopt what is called the Athanasian

Creed, with nearly equal unanimity, there

being only three dissenting votes. The Con-

vention signed the testimonials of the Bishops

elect, viz: the Rev. Samuel Provost, of New
York, of the Rev. William White, of Pennsyl-

vania, and of the Rev. Daniel Griffith, of Vir-

ginia.

In the important Convention of October,

1789, when Bishop Seabury of Connecticut

and the deputies from New England acceded

to the Constitution and came into union with

the Convention, and the Book of Common
Prayer was carefully reviewed and put into its

present shape, there were present as clerical

deputies from Delaware, the Reverends Jos-

eph Cowden, Robert Clay, and Stephen Sykes,

and as lay deputy, James Sykes. As no Con-

vention of the Diocese had yet been held,

their appointment must have been by the Ves-

tries of their respective Parishes. The first

Convention of the Diocese, held Dec. 2, 1791,

did appoint four clerical and five lay deputies

to thi Gmeral Convention of 1792. The
only one who attended was the Rev. John
Bissett, who was elected Secretary. The
names of the Rev. S. Thorne and Nicholas

Ridgely, Esq., appear in the list of the Stand-

ing Committees appointed by the Genera! Con-
vention, to act during the interval between

its sessions.

The Diocese was regularly represented in

all General Conventions until that of l8ir.

The Church had been constantly declining

since the Revolution, and was at this time

greatly depressed. In the General view of

the state of the Church reported by the House
of Deputies is found the following statement.
“ There being no representatives from the

States of Delaware, Virginia and South Caro-

lina, and no copies of the journals of the Con-
vention of those States, the House is unable

to speak with certainty as to the situation

of the Church in those districts. They fear

indeed that the church in Virginia is from va-

rious causes so depressed that there is danger

of her total ruin. The church in Maryland is

still in a deplorable condition, but the zeal

manifested in some parts yields a hope that

she will again rise.” There is no reason to

suppose that a fuller statement respecting

Delaware would have been more hopeful. In

the General Convention of 1814, Delaware

was represented by the Rev. William Pryce

and the Rev. Robert Clay. The report says,

“ The condition of the church in this State is

truly distressing and the prospect gloomy.
1 There is however an increasing anxiety mani-

j

fested for obtaining clergymen. Some of the
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vacant congregations have the service per-

formed on Sunday; by laymen. Where the

Lord’s Supper has been administered by visit-

ing clergymen, the communicants have been

numerous.” In the report made to the Gen-
eral Convention of tS 17, there is little evidence

of improvement. In this Convention there

was present but one clerical deputy from the

Diocese, (Rev. William Wicks,) and no lay-

men. “There are,” it is stated, “ the remains

of eleven congregations, but only two of them
are supplied with ministers. From the year

1810 to 1S16 there was no regular Diocesan

Convention held. Distressing as is the condi-

tion of the Church in this Diocese there is

reason to believe that her prospects are bright-

ening. Within the last eighteen months there

have been admitted as candidates for orders

four young men of piety and talents, and an

Episcopal Missionary Society' has been estab-

lished in Wilmington.” In the General Con-

vention of 1820, there were present two cleri-

cal and two lay deputies from Delaware. The
tone of the report is decidedly more encour-

aging'- “ Several churches had been repaired

and had received considerable additions of

families and communicants. There are four-

teen churches most of which have regular ser-

vices, and those not thus favored are visited

occasionally byr the clergy of the State. The

Conventions have been better attended. On
the whole great reason to be thankful.” And
yet to this more hopeful representation it is

subjoined, “ There are four officiating clergy-

men and about two hundred communicants.”

The Diocese is henceforth regularly repre-

sented in the General Convention, and although

for some time no material changes for the bet-

ter are noted, the reports do not breathe the

tone of despondency of a few years before.

In the General Convention of 1829, we find

the names of gentlemen who were thenceforth

usually continued as deputies from the Diocese

until removed by death. Of the clergy such

was the Rev. Stephen W. Presstman, and of

the laity, William T. Read, John Cummins,

Richard Mansfield and Samuel Paynter. Num-
ber of communicants about 217.

The first Convention of the Diocese met at

Dover, Dec. 3rd, 1791. The call came from

the Rev. John Bissett, Rector of St. Anne’s

Church, Appoquinimink, and the Vestry of

Christ Church, Dover. A previous summons

! had been issued for a Convention to be held

J

in Dover on the last Tuesday of Sept. 1786,

!

but there is no evidence to show that it

assembled. The first Convention was com-
posed of three clerical, and eleven lay dele-

gates. The clergy present were Sydenham
Thorne of Christ Church, Mispillion, John
Bissett of St. Anne’s, and William Skelly of

Christ Church, Broad Creek. The Rev. Mr.

Thorne was elected President, and the Rev.

Mr. Bissett, Secretary. The churches repre-

sented were Emmanuel, Newcastle Co., by
Kensey Johns, St. Anne’s, byr Joshua Clayton,

St. James, by Thomas Duff. In Kent Co.,

Dover, by James Sykes, Mispillion, by John
Davis. In Sussex Co., Christ Church, by
Jonathan Waller, St. Matthew’s (Cedar Creek)

by Isaac Beauchamp, Prince George’s (Dags-

boro) by Samuel Derrickson, St. George’s

(Indian River) by Woodman Stockly, St.

Mary’s Chapel (N. West Fork) by William

Bradley, St Peter’s Church (Lewes) by Phillips

Kollock. A Constitution was framed, adopted

and signed by the members, and a few canons

were enacted. A standing committee was
elected, consisting of four clergymen, the

Rev. Robert Clay being added to the three in

attendance. This Convention compares favor-

ably in numbers and efficiency with those

that followed for some forty years. The next

Convention was held in 1794, two that had

been appointed, having failed to meet through

the prevalence of sickness and other causes.

It consisted of two clerical and eight lay

members. The Rev. Sydenham Thorne had

departed this life, and Rev. Joseph Clarkson

of Trinity Church, Wilmington, presided.

Convention met at Dover, until 1796, when it

assembled at Lewes, and from that time in

different parishes. The first Confirmation

mentioned is in the report of Trinity Church.

Wilmington, of sixty-three persons confirmed

by Bishop White, of Pennsylvania, July, 1793.

It is added, “though not required by the Con-

stitution, this is here inserted at once to show
the practice of the church in general, and the

state of this church in particular.” It was

evidently' something quite novel. The Con-

vention of 1797 directed an address to be

drawn up by the Standing Committee, and

presented to Bishop White, requesting him to

visit the State for the purpose of adminis-

tering this Apostolic rite. I do not think



.



96 HISTORY OF DELAWARE.

Bishop White ever visited Kent and Sussex.

Probably some Confirmations were held on

the southern borders of the State by the

Bishops of Maryland, and Bishop Claggett

confirmed once in Wilmington.

In 1800 on account of the difficulty of com-

plying with the 7th Article of the Constitu-

tion, requiring the standing committee to

consist of four regularly settled and officiating

clergymen, it was proposed to alter the Article

so that two of each order should constitute

that body, which amendment was adopted the

year following. In the Convention of 1803

the Rev. William Pryce was appointed to

attend the next Convention of the Diocese of

Maryland and to propose, “ if deemed exped-

ient by that Convention that we cheerfully join

and associate with the same, for the purpose

of electing a Bishop for the Eastern Shore of

Maryland and the State of Delaware.”

To the Convention of 1804 the Rev. Mr.

Pryce reported that he attended the Conven-

tion of Maryland in June last, and was re-

ceived with attention and politeness, but that

convention “ deemed a union of the two Dio-

ceses at this time premature and inexpedient.”

Bishop Claggett however promised to visit

congregations in Delaware as often as his

extensive duties and infirm health would per-

mit. The Convention of Delaware then put

the Diocese under the charge of Bishop Clag-

gett. I have not found any record of Episco-

pal acts performed by him in consequence.

As already stated the declining condition of

the church was such that no Conventions

assembled for five years 1811 to 1815 inclusive.

This seems to have been the time of lowest

ebb, and the tide henceforth is setting the

other way, although not very rapidly. The
Convention of 1 8 r S passed aresolution “highly

disapproving of theatres, public balls, gaming,

and every species of dissipation, and urged

members of this Church to avoid indulging in

the use of vinous or spirituous liquors.” The
most notable feature in the Journal for 1821 is

the Report of the Rev. Richard D. Hall, indi-

cating the prospering condition of Trinity

Church, Wilmington There had been two

Confirmations held by Bishop White, the

whole number confirmed being 163, and he

gives the number of Communicants as 170.

This bright gleam does not seem however to

have extended beyond Wilmington. In the

Convention of 1 S 2 3 ,
there were present but

two clergymen and eleven laymen. One of

the clergymen, the Rev. Daniel Higbee, had

the charge of six parishes.

A missionary association was formed which

issued an address to the diocese, but the re-

sponse was feeble. In the convention of 1830,

the Rt. Rev. H. U. Onderdonk, Assistant Bishop

of Pennsylvania, preached the sermon and pre-

sided. This is the first instance found in the

Journals of an Episcopal Address. Bishop

White sent a communication in which he

mentioned that on the 1st October, 1829, he

had consecrated to the service of God, St An-
drews Church, in the borough of Wilmington.

Bishop Onderdonk reports that on the sixth

April, 1830, he had consecrated Trinity Chapel

in the same borough. With the increase of the

population of Wilmington, the inconvenience

became more felt of going the considerable

distance, as it then seemed, to attend pub-

lic worship at the old Swedes’ Church. To
that part of the congregation who drove in

from the country the site was no objection.

But the dwellers in the town were very anxi-

ous for a house of worship nearer at hand.

This led, after several years of agitation, to

the founding and erection of St. Andrew’s, and

soon after to the building of Trinity Chapel.

In the Clergy list of 1830 are six names,

an J the list of churches and chapels numbers
fifteen. The convention of 1832 was the only

occasion on which Bishop White presided.

Bishop Onderdonk was visiting a remote dis-

trict of Pennsylvania, but forwarded a report

of his third visitation of Delaware, during

which he had confirmed thirty-seven persons.

This convention was held in Trinity Chapel,

Wilmington. It was then the rule to meet on
Saturday and adjourn on Monday. On the

Sunday thus included Bishop White preached.

In the convention of 1834, Bishop Onderdonk
presided, and reported quite a number of con-

firmations in Sussex Co., also that the Rev. Jos.

Glover had entered upon labors as a missionary

at Seaford, Laurel, and vicinity. This is the first

appointment of a missionary in Delaware since

the abandonment of the field by the venerable

Propagation Society. Mr. Glover’s services,

highly acceptable, were brought to a speedy

end by his lamented death, Aug. 19th, 1834.

His remains rest in the church yard at Seaford.

Bishop Onderdonk reported the ordination to
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the priesthood, April 27th, 1835, in St. An-
drew’s Church, Wilmington, of the Rev. Wm.
C. Ru ssell, rector of said church. In 1836

Bishop Onderdonk reported the consecration,

January 26th, of Christ Church, Milford, which

after remaining unfinished for nearly half a

century had been handsomely remodled and

completed. Also that a building had been

purchased near the Northern line of the State

to be appropriated to the worship of God un-

der the name of Grace Church. The Mission-

ary society had been revived with more spirit,

had received over five hundred dollars, and was

sustaining’the Rev. Corry Chambers as Mis-

sionary in Sussex.

In the convention of 1837 mention is made
of a visit from Bishop Stone of Maryland, at

Bishop Onderdonk’s request, and his confirm-

ing seventeen persons at Laurel and four at

Seaford. The revised Constitution and Can-

ons were adopted by this convention. These

were again reviewed and put nearly in the

present shape in 1844.

The most note-worthy feature in the Con-

vention of 1838 was the ordinatipn of three

Presbyters by Bishop Onderdonk, in St.

Anne's Church, Appoquinimink—viz. The
Rev. John Linn McKim, the Rev. Wm. Nel-

son Pendleton, and the Rev. Wm. James

Clark. Mr. McKim was officiating at Lewes,

Georgetown, St. George’s, I. R. and Dagsboro.

Mr. Pendleton was Professor in Newark Col-

lege. Mr. Clark was rector of St. Andrew’s,

Wilmington.

Although there were reasons for encourage-

ment in regard to the prospects of the church

in the upper part of the state, yet in his

address to the Convention of 1839 Bishop On-

derdonk stated that the lower half of the Dio-

cese was then entirely without Clergymen. No
Church indeed south of Smyrna was supplied

with a minister. “This fact,” he says, “may
require greater vigor in your missionary oper-

ations, and it certainly requires our fervent

intercession to the divine Head of the

Church.” This convention consisting of two
Clerical and twelve lay members met at Sea-

ford, and commended the unfinished Church

there to the assistance of the brethren in this

and other Dioceses.

The showing at the Convention of 1840 was

considerably better. It was held at Milford

and consisted of eight Clergymen besides

13

Bishop Onderdonk and seventeen layman.

The Rev. John Reynolds had taken charge of

Milford and the parishes in the Eastern part

of Sussex County, and the Rev. Samuel Cal-

lahan, of Seaford and Laurel. Bishop Onder-

donk reported the ordination of one Presby-

ter, the Rev. Wm. H. Trapnell, and two
Deacons, Mr. Callahan and Mr. Erastus B.

Foot. He also reported the first Ecclesiastical

trial ever held in the Diocese, which resulted

in the deposition from the ministry of a very

unworthy Clergyman. St. Andrew’s Church,

Wilmington, had been destroyed by fire, Jan.

25, 1840, but energetic measures had been

taken to replace it.

PART THIRD.

In the Convention of 1841, held at George-

town, steps were taken to complete the

organization of the Diocese by the election of

a Bishop. There were present, Bishop On-
derdonk, seven Clergymen and twenty three

lay delegates, representing thirteen parishes.

St. Andrew’s Church, Wilmington, had been

consecrated and Trinity Chapel enlarged and

improved. Thirty-nine persons had been

confirmed.

The motion to proceed to the election of a

Bishop was made by the Rev. Stephen W.
Presstman, Rector of Immanuel Church, New-
castle, and the proposition received the hearty

concurrence of Bishop Onderdonk. The Rev.

Alfred Lee, Rector of Calvary Church, Rock-

dale, Delaware county, Pennsylvania, was

nominated. He received- the unanimous vote

both of the Clerical and Lay Deputies,

the two orders voting separately, and was de-

clared by the chair to be duly elected.

This election having taken place within six

months of the session of the General Conven-

tion, came before that body for confirmation.

The General Convention met in St. Paul’s

Church, in the city of New York, October 6,

1841. Twenty-seven Dioceses were repre-

sented. The Clerical Deputies from Delaware

were the Revs. S. W. Presstman, J. Reynolds,

J. W. McCullough and W. H. Trapnell. The
only lay deputy attending was Samuel Payn-

ter. The House of Deputies signed the Testi-

monials of the Bishop-elect of Delaware on

the 8th of October. In the House of Bishops,

the Testimonials being transmitted on the

same day, it was resolved, on motion of Bishop

Onderdonk of Pennsylvania, seconded by
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Bishop Whittingham, “That the House con-

sent to the consecration of the Rev. Alfred

Lee to the Episcopate of Delaware.”

The following Tuesday, October 12, was ap-
!

pointed for the service in St. Paul’s Chapel.

On the day named, October 12, 1841,

both Houses of the General Convention met in

St. Paul’s at 10 a. m. Morning Prayer was

read by the Rev. S. W. Presstman, of Delaware,

assisted by the Rev. Dr. Crosswell, of Con-

necticut. The Ante-Communion Service was

begun by Bishop Onderdonk, of Pennsylvania,

the Epistle being read by Bishop Chase, of

Ohio, and the Gospel by Bishop Moore, of Vir-

ginia. The sermon (from the text, I Tim. IV.,

16) was preached by Bishop Mcllvaine, of

Ohio. The proceedings of the Diocese of

Delaware, and of the House of Bishops, and

of the House of Clerical and Lay Deputies

were read by the Rev. Dr. Wainwright and

the Rev. Dr. Mead, Secretaries respectively

of the two Houses. The Litany was read by

Bishop Browneii, of Connecticut. The ques-

tions were propounded to the candidate by

Bishop Griswold, of the Eastern Diocese, the

presiding Bishop, who consecrated the Bishop-

elect : Bishops Moore, Chase, Brownell and

Onderdonk, of Pennsylvania, uniting in the

imposition of hands.

Bishop Lee took his seat in the House of

Bishops, October 13th, making the number of

members twenty-one, and being the 38th in

succession of American Bishops. lie offi-

ciated in the Diocese for the first time in

Immanuel Church, New Castle, October 26th,

having, however, visited all the churches pre

viously to giving his answer to the invitation of

the Convention. He presided, for the first time,

in the 51st Diocesan Convention held May25th,

1842, in St. Andrew’s church, Wilmington.
This Convention was attended by seven

Clergymen,beside the Bishop,and by nineteen

lay deputies from twelve parishes. Of ten

Clergymen whose names were on the list in the

Journal of the year preceding, two were not

then residing in the Diocese, two were without
charge, and .two had resigned soon after, so

that on his first visitation Bishop Lee found but

four acting ministers (only one below New
Castle) and only seven Patishes supplied with

regular services. The number of Communicants
reported to the General Convention of 1841

was three hundred and thirty-nine.

The progress of the Protestant Episcopal

Church in Delaware during forty years, from

1

October, 1841, to October, 1881, may be esti-

mated from the formation of new Parishes, the

erection, restitution and enlargement of church

buildings, the number of baptisms and con-

firmations, the number of ordinations to the

ministry, and the amount of money raised

for church support, Missions and charities.

Under the first head, starting from the north-

ern border of the State and going southward,

we find the following marks of church exten-

sion :

In Brandywine Hundred two Parishes have
been formed and three churches built. Church
of the Ascension, Claymont, Parish organized

Nov. 7, 1850, church consecrated Sept. 14,

1854. Calvary Chur^Ji, organized in 1862, the

corner stone laid Sept. 25, 1862, and the

church consecrated Jan. 29, 1863. The di-

minutive frame building, the cradle of Grace
Church, has been succeeded by a large and
solid stone edifice of handsome architecture

situated about 5 miles from Wilmington, on
the Concord Turnpike.

The corner stone was laid Oct. 1, 1874, and
the church was opened for divine service Sun-
day 4th, 1875.

In the city of Wilmington two new parishes

have been formed. St. John’s Church is a

memorial of a most active and large-hearted

layman, Alexis I. DuPont. The building is

one of the finest church edifices in the State,

constructed of the blue rock of Brandywine
Hundred, in Gothic style. The corner-stone

was laid by the Bishop, the convention of the

Diocese present and assisting, June 4, 1857,

and the church was consecrated Nov. 3, 1858.

The earnest and generous founder had mean-
while been suddenly removed from this world
by an explosion, and sad regrets for the great

loss occasioned by this mournful event min-

gled with the joy of such a solemnity.

Calvary Church, in the southwestern part of

the city, was originally started as a mission of

St. Andrews. A chapel was built and opened
for divine service, Oct. 30, 1859, which has

been since enlarged and improved. In 1865

the' church became an independent Parish and
w'as admitted into union with the Convention.

The venerable Old Swedes’ Church was put in

good repair in 1842, and made convenient and
comfortable for use. It has since, for most of
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the time, been opened for worship. Trinity

Chapel was much enlarged and improved in

184S, and again in 1866. St. Andrews, of

which Bishop Lee has been Rector since

August, 1S43, was enlarged and renovated in

1854. Five Episcopal Churches are now open

in Wilmington every Sunday, with accommo-
dation for about 2200 worshipers.

In his address to the Convention of 1851,

the Bishop stated that a Parish had just been

organized at DuPont's Mills. The Rev. Sam-
uel C. Brinckle had been officiating there as

Missionary in a building wherein one of the

earliest Sunday Schools established in this

country had been regularly taught. The Par-

ish was admitted, with the name of Christ

Church, Christiana Hundred,, and a church

was erected and opened for divine service May
4, 1856, which in the words of the Bishop’s

address, “for beauty of situation, good archi-

tecture, chaste and simple elegance and com-
pleteness of finish was not surpassed by any

in the Diocese.”

Immanuel Church, New Castle, of venerable

antiquity, has been enlarged to double its for-

mer capacity and greatly improved. In 1869

a chapel was built in West New Castle at a

cost of $2300.

A church had been partly finished in New-
port before the era of the Revolution. After

the battle of the Brandywine the incomplete

building was used as a stable by the British

Cavalry. On the 17th June 1875, the corner

stone was laid upon the old site of St. James’

Church, Newport, and a modest structure of

much beauty and convenience was opened for

divine service Oct. 23rd, of the same year.

At the convention of 1843, the parish of St.

Thomas, Newark, was received into union with

this Diocese. The corner stone of the church

building was laid August 24, 1843, and it was
consecrated to the worship of God, Feb. 25,

1845. It has been since enlarged and im-

proved.

To the list of Parishes, Christ Church, Dela-

ware City, was added in 1848, and a neat and

commodious church edifice, the fruit of much
exertion and self denial, was finished and con-

secrated, Dec. 13, 1857, to which a convenient

Rectory was afterward added.

St. Anne’s Church, Appoquinimink, erected

in colonial times, has been preserved in good
condition, but as mentioned above the loca-

99

tion became inconvenient to the large major-

ity of the worshipers.

A beautiful and good sized church was there-

fore built in the village of Middletown, and

consecrated on the 4th April, 1872. It was
consumed by fire in 1882.

At Smyrna, the old chapel at Duck Creek
was succeeded by a church of rather small

dimensions in the town. The necessity of

enlargement was felt, and the church, almost

wholly rebuilt on a larger scale and much im-

proved appearance, was consecrated, May 6th,

1859.

The revival of the church at Dover has been

already noticed. The renovated church edi-

fice was consecrated on the 17th of May, i860.

Christ .Church, Milford, sprung from the old

Mission Chapel upon Mispillion Creek, was re-

built upon an improved model during the rec-

torship of the Rev. J. Leighton McKim in

1866. A neat, inexpensive chapel was conse-

crated at Harrington, June 6th, 1876.

The first church at Georgetown, a frame

buiiding, was creeled in 1794. It was suc-

ceeded by a brick edifice which was conse-

crated November 19th, 1844. This, like the

first, becoming decayed and unsafe, has been

entirely rebuilt under the rectorship of the

Rev. B. J. Douglass. The present church of

beautiful architecture was opened for divine

service October 13th, 1881.

The old church at Lewes, of quaint appear-

ance and arrangement, in which the Mission-

aries of the Propogation Society ministered for

so many years, was moved from its foundation

to the rear of the lot and replaced by a church

of brick, which was consecrated July 15th,

1858. This again was rebuilt and improved by

the erection of a tower and spire in 1870.

The church at Dagsboro’, a large edifice of

wood, erected during the colonial period, is

unfit for use, although still standing. Two
Parishes have been organized in the vicinity

;

St. Mark's, Millsboro’, and Grace Church, Bal-

timore Mills. A church building was erected
j

in Millsboro’ in 1849, and has been since re- :

placed by a much better one, now occupied

by the congregation but not quite finished.

Grace Church, Baltimore Mills, was conse-

crated May 2d, 1853. St. John’s Church at

Little Hill or Greenville, an offshoot from

Christ Church, Broad Creek, was founded by

the Rev. Hamilton Bell, an earnest, faithful



.



IOO HISTORY OF DELAWARE.

laborer, who died in 1 8 1 1 at an early age.

The church, not completed, became decayed

and ruinous, and services were discontinued

for a number of years, insomuch that the Par-

ish was pronounced defunct by the Convention

of 1841. Upon a visit made by Bishop Lee in

July, 1S42, so large a congregation gathered,

and there were such indications of vitality that

immediate measures were taken to repair the

church and make it a missionary station. The
result of these efforts was the completion and

consecration of the church Nov. 5th, 1843, and

the confirmation within the year of forty-five

persons, many of whom were heads of families.

The congregation has ever since continued

good, and is now proposing to erect a new
church.

St. Luke’s Church, Seaford, was organized

in 1835. There had been churches in the

neighborhood at St. Johnstown and Chapel

Branch, which had fallen into ruins. Meas-

ures were taken to erect a substantial brick

church, which in 1841 was still unfinished.

The work on the- church was resumed, and the

building completed and consecrated, May 28,

1843 I
the missionary appointed to the charge,

Mr. John Long, being at the same time ad-

mitted to the Diaconate. A handsome and

convenient rectory was added in 1873. Christ

Church, Broad Creek, is a venerable relic of

Colonial days, and although built of wood, is

still in excellent preservation. It is of large

dimensions, beautifully situated, about two

miles distant from Laurel. The centenary of

the church was celebrated by the Bishop and

a number of the Clergy, and an interesting

historical discourse delivered to a large congre-

gation by the Rev. Benj J. Douglass, July 2d,

1873. As the village of Laurel was more con-

venient for most of the worshipers, a building

was erected there and consecrated as St. Phil-

ip’s Chapel, May 22d, 1850. This was found

to be too small for the congregation, and was

replaced by a more spacious and desirable ed-

ifice, the corner stone of which was laid at the

close of the session convention, June, 1874.

This is a church in the possession of which the

congregation may be congratulated.

In 1853 the Rev. Richard F. Cadle, who had

been the first missionary of the Church to the

Indians, took charge of the mission in the

South Western part of the State. He was

abundant in labors and his holy and blame-

less character left a deep and lasting im-

pression. He finished his course November
9th, 1857, and was interredin the church yard

of St. Luke’s, Seaford. At the time of his

decease he was engaged in building a modest

sanctuary in Little Creek Hundred. This was

consecrated by the name of St. Mark’s

Church, May 28th, 1858, and remains as a

memorial of this faithful servant of Christ.

St. John Baptist Church, Milton, which

was consecrated June 5th, 1877, a neat and

convenient frame building, may be considered

the resuscitation of the vanished chapel of the

same name, built in the forest by one of the

early Missionaries, the Rev. Mr. Beckett.

Besides these churches, two chapels have

been built in Sussex County. One on Long
Neck, attached to St. George’s Parish, was

consecrated by the name of the chapel of the

Comforter, May 25th, 1847. St. Andrew’s

Chapel, Ellis Grove, Little Creek, a neat and

attractive rural sanctuary was opened for

public worship. June. 1S80.

SUMMARY. 1841— l88l.

During this period of 40 years there have

been :

Churches Consecrated 23
“ built 24
“ left incomplete, finished... I

“ virtually abandoned, reoc-

cupied 2

“ enlarged 8

Baptisms reported, 10,082

of which were adults, 1379

Confirmed 4 . 3 27

Ordained, Deacons 35
“ Presbyters 31

At present there are living Parishes.- 27

Churches and Chapels 36

Ministers, Canonically resident 27

Rectors, Assistants, and Missionaries 21

Candidates for Holy Orders 2

Sunday Schools, Teachers 290
“ Scholars 2500

Contributions reported for year ending June

1st, 1881 :

Missions $4,432 03

Disabled Clergy Fund and Charities. 1,255 °5

Bible and Education Societies, &c... 700 00

Diocesan Charges 1,523 00

Parochial objects 18,164 91

As some of the Parochial Reports do not

embrace the items of ministerial support and
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current expenses, from $12,000 to $15,000 may
be added to this amount, making the average

of contributions about $40,000 per annum.
The Diocese has now an invested Fund for the

endowment of the Episcopate of $14,500, and

one for the Relief of Disabled Clergy, their

widows and orphans, of about $5000.

This imperfect historical sketch is closed

with an extract from the Bishop’s Address in

1879. “There is much in the present aspect

and condition of the Diocese to call for thank-

fulness. Our church is no longer, as some of

us remember her, a feeble remnant, struggling

for bare existence. She has risen from the

dust, and is wakening to the responsibility im-

posed by her high privileges, her goodly herit-

age of pure scriptural doctrine, primitive order

,

and worship. There is growing courage,

zeal and hopefulness. While her numerical

strength, although still small, is steadily in-

creasing, and sanctuaries once deserted are now
filled with devout congregations, her power

for good is developing still more largely and

rapidly. And if we are faithful to our trust, a

wider and more effectual door, we may well

. believe, will be opened unto us.

July, 1882.

THE REFORMED EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

BY REV. J. L. ESTLIN.

EORGE DAVID CUMMINS, D. D.

was the founder of this denomination.

f
He was born in Smyrna, Delaware,

1822, graduated at Dickinson College,

took orders in the Episcopal Church, in 1845,

and in the same year was ordained by Bishop

Lee of Delaware. He was Rector of several

Episcopal churches in Virginia, Washington

and Chicago. He was chosen Assistant Bishop

of Kentucky in 1866. He was an earnest,

eloquent preacher, and one of the ablest de-

fenders of the principles of the low church

party, in the P. E. Church. He resigned from

the ministry of the P. E. Church in 1873, and

withdrawing from the denomination, founded

the Reformed Episcopal Church, on December

2d, 1873, of which he became the Bishop. He
labored very hard to establish new churches

all over the country, and died after a brief ill-

ness in 1876. Up to this date this denomina-

tion has over onp hundred ministers. The

parishes, not counting those in England, dot

the Dominion of Canada, as well as our own

country, extending from Nova Scotia to Van-

couver’s Island in British America, and from

New England to South Carolina. In the last

mentioned State there are twenty-two con-

gregations of colored people. The number of

communicants is between 6000 and 7000. At-

tendants on public worship between lo,000

and 12,000. Sunday School scholars nearly

10,000. Contributions for two years, $200,000

and over. Property, exclusive of that in Eng-
land, nearly $1,000,000. Delaware may well

be proud of Bishop Cummins under whose
brave leadership it was that so many came
forth out of the P. E. Church, and who be-

queathed to the denomination he brought into

existence, these dying words, “go forward, and
do a grand work.”

The Reformed Episcopal Church of the

Covenant, located on 2nd street near West
street, Wilmington,was the first church of this

denomination organized in the State of Dela-

ware. About thirty members of Calvary P. E.

Church, located at 3rd and Washington streets,

withdrew for the purpose of organizing a Re-

formed Episcopal Church. The first service was

held in the Masonic Building, on Market street,

in July, 1878. On September 26th the church

was regularly organized, and September 27th,

1878, the Rev. J. L. Estlin was elected as

Rector. The congregation bought the church
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property, where they are now iocated on 2nd

street, and in two years from the date of or-

ganization, the membership increased from

thirty to one hundred and fifty, and the

Sunday School from sixty-five to nearly four
j

hundred scholars. In the year 1881, about

forty of the members of the church of the

Covenant withdrew, with their Rector, to or-

ganize the second church of the denomination,

in the upper part of the city. The new church

was organized May 23rd, 1881, a vestry elected,

the Rev. J. L. Estlin was chosen Rector,

and it was resolved, at the meeting for organi-

zation, that the corporate name of the church

should be, “The Reformed Episcopal Church

of the Redeemer.” The church is located at

the S.. W. corner of Eighth and Monroe

streets. A frame building that had been

used for a carpenter shop, and was formerly a

chapel, was purchased at a cost of $4,000,

which amount of money was paid down, the

building rapidly repaired, and was open for

divine services the first Sunday in June, 1 8S I

.

The church now has a membership of fifty, a

Sunday School of more than 200, and is en-

tirely out of debt.

[Note : Bishop Cummins was the ’leader of a strong party in the Protes-

tant Episcopal Church, who, for several years prior to the division, had

labored to effect certain radical changes in the Prayer Book, for the purpose

of bringing it more into harmony with the doctrines of Evangelical Protestant

Churches. Particularly did they desire that part expunged, which teaches

Baptismal Regeneration and the efiicacy of the Sacraments. These reforms

they agitated, in the press and in the conventions of the church, on the ground

that the Prayer Book, as it stands, was unscriptural, and its manifest tendency

toward Ritualism and even Romanism. Failing to secure the changes they

desired they withdrew from the Protestant Episcopal Church, as stated

above, and revised the Book of Common Prayer, expunging from it all

objectionable features. This, as we understand it, is the historic reason for

the existence of the Reformed Episcopal Church.

—

Eds. Aldine Publish-
ing and Engraving Company.
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BY REV. J. L. VALLANDIGHAM, D. D.

f
ll N writing a history of the Presby-

p, terian Church in the State of
S) Delaware, or rather brief sketches of

the several churches of that denomina-

tion, it will not be necessary to set forth the

doctrines, order, government, and discipline of

that church. These are to be found in the
|

“Westminster Confession of Faith,” a book
j

well known and widely circulated. Presby-

terianism in Delaware is the same as Presby-

terianism in every other State of the Union

—

the same as Presbyterianism in every land

where it is to be found. And never before

have its doctrines been more firmly believed
,
or

cordially embraced, by those who have ranged

themselves under its banner.

The first Ecclesiastical Court of the Presby-

terian Church of this country was the Presby-

tery of Philadelphia, organized in 1705 or 6,

and consisting of seven members. In 1716,

the number of ministers and churches having

considerably increased, it was deemed ex-

pedient to divide the Presbytery. This was

accordingly done, and four Presbyteries were

constituted—the Presbyteries of Philadelphia,

New Castle, Snow Hill and Long Island. To
the Presbytery of New Castle was assigned the

supervision of all the churches of Delaware.

This Presbytery was organized at New Castle,

March 13th, 1717. The members present at

that time were—Ministers, James Anderson
of New Castle, George Gillespie of Head of

Christiana, Robert Witherspoon of Appo-
quinimy, and David Evans of Welsh Tract:

with Elders David Miller from New Castle,

John Steel from Head of Christiana, and

William Williams from Welsh Tract. Daniel

Magill and Hugh Canon, ministers of Patuxent

and Patapsco, were absent. The Presbytery

thus constituted consisted of six ministers,

and had under its care six churches. Its terri-

torial limits were not strictly defined. The
same Presbytery now, covering the whole

j

State of Delaware, and the whole of the East-

i

ern Shore of Maryland, consists of 48 min-

isters, and has under its care, 52 churches. Of
! such of these churches as are located in the

j

State of Maryland, we have nothing at present

to say, our object being to present brief

sketches of those that are located in the State

1 of Delaware.
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The Church of New Castle was the first

Presbyterian Church in the State of Delaware

It is supposed to have been organized as early

as 16S4 or 5. Previous to that time the Pres-

byterians of New Castle and vicinity wor-
j

shiped with the people of the Dutch Church,
J

which was founded there in 1657. And we I

have satisfactory reason to believe that this
!

same Dutch Church was, about 16S4 or 5,

merged into the Presbyterian Church, as we
find no trace of its existence after that time.

The first pastor of the New Castle Church

was the Rev. John Wilson, a native of Scotland.

He probably commenced his labors in New
Castle about 1700, and with the exception of

a short interval in 1703 remained as pastor

till his death in 1712. Part of this time he

also supplied the Head of Christiana Church.

The second pastor was the Rev. James An-

derson, also a native of Scotland, where he

was ordained by the Presbytery of Irvine, and

came to this country in 1709. He labored in

New Castle from 1713 to 1717 when he ac-

cepted a call to the Wall Street Church, New
York city. Rev. Robert Cross, born in Ire-

land in 16S9, was ordained and installed pas-

tor in 1719. This was probably the first or-

dination in the Presbytery of New Castle,

He remained till the fall of 1723, from which

time to 1746 the church depended on supplies.

Rev. Hugh Stevenson was with them for one

year, and Rev. Gilbert Tennent for some

months, to whom they gave a call which he

agreed to accept, but afterwards left them in

a manner irregular and disorderly, with which

both the people and presbytery were dissatis-

fied. Other calls were probably extended but

the records of the Presbytery are lost from

1731 to 1760.

Rev. John Disk, was pastor of that church

and Drawyers from 1746 till his death in 174S.

Rev. Daniel Thane was pastor at New Castle

and Christiana Bridge, from 1756 till 1763,

soon after which he died. He was a native of

Scotland, and a graduate of Nassau Hall. He
preached and taught in Orange county, New
York, and among his pupils was that eminent

statesman, DeWitt Clinton.

For some years the churches were without

a pastor. Among those who in the mean time

supplied them were Revs. Morgan and Kirk-

patrick. At the meeting held for choice of a .

pastor Mr. Morgan was chosen by the Church

1

of New Castle and Mr. Kirkpatrick by Chris-

tiana Bridge. Contention ensued, and finally

the Presbytery placed the call in the hands of

Mr. Morgan. He at first accepted, but after-

j

wards declined it.

|

The churches then gave a call to the Rev.

j

Joseph Montgomery, who accepted and was
' installed April j,6, 1769. The Revolutionary

war interfering with his labors as pastor, he,

on the 29th day of October 1777, resigned and
became a chaplain in the American army.

After the war he settled in Pennsylvania and
became prominent as a politician, serving both
as a member of the State Legislature and also

as a member of Congress For some years

after his resignation the churches were vacant.

In 1784 the Rev. Samuel Barr arrived in this

country from Ireland, a licentiate of the Pres-

bytery of Londonderry. After laboring for

some years in various parts of Pennsylvania,

he was, on the 9th day of August, 1791, in-

stalled as pastor of the two churches. On the

9th day of August, 1796. the pastoral relation

was dissolved He continued to reside in New
Castle till his death, May 31, 1818.

Rev. John E. Lattawas the able and faithful

pastor from 1800 till his death, September 20,

1824, and Rev. Joshua Danforth from 1825 to

1S28, when he resigned to accept a call from
one of the churches of Washington City. In

May, 1830, the Rev. John M. Dickey became
pastor for 18 months, and Rev. John Knox
from 1832 till 1834.

The next pastor was the Rev. John Decker,

who was ordained and installed February 24,

1835. In the spring of 1842 the pastoral rela-

tion was dissolved.

His successor was the Rev. John B. Spots-

wood, D. D., who still remains, beloved by his

people, and enjoying the respect and esteem
of the whole community.

Head of Christiana Church is one of

the oldest Presbyterian Churches in Delaware.
The precise time of its organization is not

known. We know, however, that as early as

1708 it was' supplied every alternate Sabbath
by Rev. John Wilson, who was then pastor of

the church at New Castle. He continued thus

to supply it till his death in 1712. The first

pastor was the Rev. George Gillespie. He
was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1683, and
educated in the University of that city. On
the 6th of June, 1711, he was licensed by the
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Presbytery of Glasgow, and in the spring of

1712 came to this country. In the spring of

1713 he became pastor of Head of Christiana

Church. Here he labored faithfully and suc-

cessfully till his death, January 2, 1760. He
was a man of talents, learning and piety, and

during his long pastorate of 47 years exercised

a most salutary influence not only on his

own congregation but also throughout the

bounds of the Presbytery. His descendants

residing in Delaware, Maryland and Pennsyl-

vania occupy honorable and useful positions in

society.

Rev. John McCrary became pastor of Chris-

tiana and White Clay Creek Churches in 1769,

which he served acceptably till his death, June

18, 1800. He was a candidate for the office of

moderator of the General Assembly sitting in

Philadelphia in 1791, but was defeated by Rev.

John Woodhull, D. D. He left two sons and

three daughters. His eldest son removed to

the South where he became prominent in com-
mercial and political life. For a time he was

~ M ~ 1 4-1 uan uv on v,u ninuci, uu 1. n uj cuuvu u.u un uu^u
the instrumentality of a pious wife and became
a devoted member and elder of the church

The Hon. George W. McCrary, a member of

President Hayes’ Cabinet, and now U.S. Judge,

is believed to be one of his descendants. Mr.

McCrary was pastor of the church of Head of

Christiana during the whole of the Revolu-

tionary war, and he and his people were warm
friends and advocates of Independence. Some
of them served in the army during the whole

of the war
;
others fell on the field of battle.

After the death of Mr. McCrary the church

was vacant eleven or twelve years. Rev. John
Waugh, principal of Newark Academy, sup-

plied it part of the time.

In the churchyard lie the remains of two

other Presbyterian ministers who, during that

long vacancy or afterwards in the temporary

absence of the pastor, occasionally supplied

the church—the Rev. Charles Wallace, and the

Rev. Pierce Chamberlain. Mr. Wallace was
an Irishman, and for complicity in the rebel-

lion of 1798, against the British government,

was tried and convicted and was about to be

executed, when through the earnest interces-

sion of a young lady, he was released, and im-

mediately came to this country. He labored

for some time on the eastern shore of Mary-
land. Mr. Chamberlain was pastor for a num-

ber of years of a church in Erie, Pa., and

afterwards Principal of a Female Seminary in

Newark. He was the father of the Rev.

George W. Chamberlain now a Missionary of

the Presbyterian Board in Brazil.

Rev. Andrew K. Russell became principal

of Newark Academy in 1811, and also pastor

of this and White Clay creek churches till

1839, when his death occurred. A biograph-

ical sketch of Mr. Russell will be found in this

volume.

For three or four years the churches were
supplied part of the time by Revs. Alexander
Hoberton and Wm. R. Work, both now of

Philadelphia.

In 1842, Rev. Elijah Wilson became pastor

of Head of Christiana and Newark churches.

In the spring of 1845 he assumed the super-

vision of a Female Seminary in Newark, and
his labors proving too arduous he relinquished

the care of the churches in 1846. He pub-
lished a book entitled “ The Living Pulpit.”

He now resides in Jackson, Ohio.
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of Head of Christiania Church, March 22, 1848,

and installed May 8th, following. He was
born near New Castle in 1791, graduated at

the University of Pennsylvania in 181 i,and be-

gan the ministry in 1812. Being in feeble

health he resigned in 1853. His death occur-

red in 1854, Rev. J. L. Vallandigham, who
was then pastor of the church, preaching his

funeral sermon from Rev. xiv : 13. He was
a godly man and faithful in the ministry, often

laboring beyond his strength.

In October, 1853, the Rev. James L. Val-
landigham was elected pastor of Head of

Christiana Church, and also of White Clay
Creek and Newark Churches. The arrange-

ment was that he should give one-half of his

time to White Clay Creek, and the other half

to Head of Christiana and Newark. In ac-

cordance with this arrangement, he com-
menced his labors in the united charge on the

first Sabbath of December, 1853. On the 4th

1
day of May, 1854, he was installed pastor of

the three churches—in the morning at White
Clay Creek, and in the afternoon at Head of

Christiana, the people of Newark attending at

the latter place and uniting with that congre-

gation in the installation services. The pas-

|

toral relation of Mr. Vallandigham with New-

j

ark Church was dissolved on the 3d day of Oc-
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tober, i860; and his relation with White Clay

Creek Church on the third day of May, to take

effect on the thirty-first of that month; and

since the first of June, 1875, the whole of his

time has been given to Head of Christiana

Church.

All that we have to say further in regard to

Mr. Yallandigham will be found in the follow-

ing extract from the Historical Discourse de-

livered by Prof. Wm. D. Mackey at White
Clay Creek Church on the 9th day of July,

1876 : “James Laird Yallandigham is a native

of New Lisbon, Ohio, a son of the Rev. Clem-

ent Vallandigham, who was for thirty-two

years pastor of the First Presbyterian Church

of that place. His mother’s maiden name was

Rebecca Laird. His paternal ancestors were

Huguenots, and among the early settlers of

Virginia. His maternal ancestors were Scotch-

Irish, and settled in Pennsylvania. He gradu-

ated at Jefferson College, taught a number of

years in New Lisbon, Ohio, and in the Buck-

ingham and Snow Plill Academies, Worcester

county, Maryland, studied law with Irving

Spence, Esq., and Hon. Andrew W. Loomis,

and practiced some five or six years in his na-

tive town. He was married Sept. 24, 1839, to

Miss Mary E. Spence, of Snow Hill, Md.

Having united with the church, he relinquished

the law, and studied theology with his pastor

the Rev. A. O. Patterson, D. D. He was li-

censed April 16, 1845, by the Presbytery of

New Lisbon, but continued teaching in various

places, and in the meantime, supplied vacant

churches. He was ordained by the Presbytery

of Baltimore April 3, 1850, and installed pas-

tor of the Monokin Church, Princess Anne,

Maryland. Soon afterwards he also became

pastor of the Rehoboth Church. His pastoral

relation with those churches was dissolved in

November, 1853.” He immediately removed

to Newark, Delaware, where he still resides, is

at this writing, January, 1882, still pastor of

Head of Christiana Church.

The Drawyers Church. The precise time

at which this church was organized is un-

known. We have documentary evidence that

it existed in 1708, and was supplied by Rev.

John Wilson, who was pastor of the church in

New Castle. It was then known as the

Church at Appoquinimy. It was afterwards

called Drawyers from the creek of that name
near which it stands. Though the building is

105

|

still there, the congregation now worship in

an edifice in the village of Odessa. An
annual pilgrimage, however, is made to the

Old Church, where a day is spent in religious

services and social enjoyment,

i
The Rev. Robert Witherspoon was the

I

second pastor of this church, from 1714 till

1718. He was succeeded by Rev. Samuel
: Young, who served the congregation till his

;
death in 1721, and Rev. Henry Hook, from

1722, till his death in 1741. Both Mr. Young
and Mr. Hook were from Ireland. The Rev.

John Dick, to whom reference has already

been made, labored for a short time in this

church in connection with that of New Castle.

The Rev. Hector Allison was pastor from

1753 to 1758. For the following ten years the

church was without a pastor. From 1768 to

1796 the Rev. Thomas Read was pastor, part

of this time acting as Principal of Newark
Academy. The Rev. John Burton was stated

supply from 1804 till 1822, and Rev. Joseph

Wilson was pastor from 1822 till 1830.

From the first of July, 1832, tiii April, 1833,

the church was supplied part of the time by

Rev. Nicholas Patterson, and part by Rev.

David DeForrest Ely. During this period a

revival occurred resulting in an addition of

about thirty persons to the membership of the

church. The Rev. Warren G. Jones was

pastor from 1833 till August 14th, 1835, and

the Rev. Charles Brown from the November

following, till May, 1839. The Rev. George

Foote was installed November 1 8 1h , 1839, and

labored here and at Port Penn till April, 1848.

Rev. Isaac W. K. Handy served from June,

1848, till April, 1853, preaching part of this

time also at the Forrest Church, Middletown.

Rev. David McClure was pastor from 1853 to

September, 1854, and Rev. Hemingway J.

Gaylord from April, 1855, till April, 1861.

From this time till April, 1867, the church

was supplied successively by Rev. Fraitcis

Hendricks, Rev. Michael Burdett, and Rev.

H. L. Howard. Rev. John Crowell was pastor

from 1867 till April, 1878. His successor was

Rev. W. V. Louderbaugh, the present pastor,

who was ordained and installed September

24th, 1879.

The present church edifice, in the town of

Odessa, was dedicated May 9th, 1861.

The Pencader Church, originally called

WELSH Tract, was organized as early as
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1710, perhaps earlier. The first pastor was

the Rev. David Evans. He was licensed in

1711, supplied the church for some time, then

went to Yale College, and graduated in 1713,

and on November 3d, 1714, was ordained and

installed as pastor serving the church till 1720.

He was stated Clerk of New Castle Presby-

tery for a number of years. He labored for

some time in Pennsylvania and New Jersey,

and died in 1751.

The next pastors were Rev. Thomas Evans,

from 1720 till his death in 1743, and Rev.

Timothy Griffith, from 1743 till his death in

1754. The following twelve years the church

was without a pastor and depended upon sup-

plies.

From 1 767 till 1773, the church was sup-

plied by the Rev. Alexander McDowell, who
was then Principal of Newark Academy. Rev.

Samuel Eakin was called May 22d, 1 776, and

remained till his death in 1783. He was suc-

ceeded by Rev. Thomas Smith, who ministered

till 1801. Rev. John Burton was pastor from

1801 till 1808; Rev. John Collins from 1803

till 1805; Rev. Samuel Bell from 1808 till

1833. Mr. Bell labored also at St. George’s.

Rev. Hugh Hamill was pastor from 1833 till

1837, serving also the church at Elkton. Rev.

James Mclntire was pastor from 1837 till 1849;

and Rev. Horatio S. Howell from 1849 till

1852. Mr. Mclntire and Mr. Howell while

laboring here gave also a part of their time to

the churcRin Elkton. Rev. J. B. Jervis was

pastor of the Pencader Church from 1852 till

1855 ;
Rev. George Foot from 1855 till 1866;

Rev. Edward Webb from 1866 till 1871 ;
Rev.

Jason Rogers from 1871 till 1879. In Novem-
ber, 1880, Rev. George Rogers, formerly of the

Lutheran Church, was installed and is now
serving as pastor.

The Presbyterian Church of Lewes
was organized at an early period in the history

of this country: the precise time,however,can-

not now be ascertained. Its first pastor was

the Rev. Samuel Davis, a native of Scotland

or of the North of Ireland. When he com-

menced his labors here we do not know. He
resigned in 1715, and removed to Snow Hill,

where he died in 1725.

The second pastor was the Rev. John

Thompson. He came from Ireland in 1715,

and in April, 1717,was installed as pastor. He
remained till 1729. It was during his pastorate

j

that the old Brick church was built. He was

a man of mark in his day :
“ able, learned, judi-

cious and evangelical,” the author of several

books that evinced his soundness in the faith,

and his ability as a writer.

The next pastor was the Rev. James Martin,

also from Ireland, settled here in 1734. It

was during his pastorate that the Cool spring

church was organized, though the precise date

is not known. It has generally been united

with Lewes in one pastoral charge, but of late

years connected with the church of George-

town. Mr. Martin died in May, 1743, and was

buried in front of the pulpit in the old Brick

church. In disposition he was amiable and

gentle, but firm and decided. Some of his

descendants still remain, esteemed and hon-

ored members of the church of which he was

once the pastor. In the town of Lewes, on

the 19th of November, 1735, the Presbytery of

Lewes was organized.

On the 5th of May, 1756, the Rev. Matthew

Wilson was installed pastor of Lewes and Cool

Spring Churches. It was his first and only

charge. He remained till his death, March

31, 1790. He was eminently useful and by

every one much beloved.

Rev. Francis Hindman was pastor of the

united congregations of Lewes, Cool Spring

and Indian River, from 1791 to 1795. His pas-

torate was not harmonious or successful. His

successor was the Rev. John Burton, from 1795

till 1805. He was a Scotchman, very eccen-

tric, but frank and kind-hearted, and highly

esteemed. His death occurred in Wilmington

in 1825, and he was buried at St. George’s.

The Rev. James P. Wilson, son of the Rev.

Matthew Wilson, for a short time supplied the

churches of Lewes, Cool Spring and Indian

River. He afterwards become pastor of the

First Presbyterian Church of Philadelphia, and

was greatly distinguished for learning and

ability as a preacher.

Rev. Joseph Copes was pastor of these three

churches from 1807 till his death, 1812. He
was a man of great strength of character and

earnest piety
;
a sketch of his life will be found

in this volume.

The Rev. Benjamin Ogden was pastor from

April, 1823, till some time in 1826, and Rev.

John Mitchelmore from May, 1827, till his

death March 4th, 1834. He was one of the

passengers on board the steamer Wm. Penn,
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which was burned on that day, and in endeav-

oring' to escape, he was drowned. His body
was recovered and interred in the cemetery of

the Third Presbyterian Church of Philadelphia.

It was remarked by one of his elders that

“ his daily life was a sermon.” Such sermons

tell. The Rev. Adam De Witt was pastor

from June, 1834, till November, 1838. He lives in

Cecil County Maryland, esteemed and beloved,

though unable to perform pastoral labor. The
Rev. Cornelius H. Mustard was pastor from 1 839
till 1851. Then for two years he was in the

employ of the Bible Society, but in 1852 re-

commenced his labors at Lewes and Cool

Spring, and continued as stated supply till 1856.

He died in 1870. He was a faithful pastor,com-
manding the respect and esteem of his people.

The Rev. Wm. C. Handy was pastor from

1857 till 1859 ;
Rev. Andrew Thomas from

1860 till 1861
;
and Rev. G. H. Nimmo from

1861 till 1870. From this time till the spring

of 1873, the church was supplied successively

by Llie Rev. W. E. Gaylord, Rev C. F. Boyn-

ton, and Rev. G. L. Wolf. The Rev. C. F.

Boynton commenced his labors as pastor in

April, 1873, and resigned Jan. 30, 1876. The
Rev. Daniel Tonny supplied the church for a

few months in 1876. The Rev. W. W. Reese

was pastor from March, 1877, till March, 18S1.

The Rev, Austin C. Heaton, D. D., was elected

pastor,Nov. 6, 1881, and has just entered upon

his new field of labor. The time of the organiz-

ation of the churches of Cool Spring and Indian

River is not known : they were generally united

with Lewes, forming one pastoral charge.

Bethel Church was organized May nth,.

1876. It also has generally been connected

with Lewes church.

Lower Brandywine Church was organ-

ized in 1720, and was known as the “Presby-

terian meeting in Birmingham.” Its first church

edifice was erected the same year, and was

east of the Brandywine. It was at first supplied

by Rev. Daniel McGill, who came from Eng-

land in 1713. He died Feb. 10, 1724. Rev.

Robert Laing was supply for a short time, and

then Rev. Thomas Craighead, (at that time

pastor at White Clay Creek), from 1724 to 1727.

The first pastor was Rev. Robert Cathcart,

who served this in connexion with Middletown

Church, Pennsylvania, for a number of years,

commencing in 1730, and continuing, probably,

till his death in 1754. Rev. Joseph Smith was

1 pastor from April, 1768 till April, 1778, five

years of that time laboring also in the Second
Church of Wilmington. Mr. Smith was a

graduate of Princeton College, a popular

preacher and highly esteemed. He was one
of the noble band of ministers who laid the

foundations of Presbyterianism in Western
Pennsylvania. Rev. Wm. R. Smith became
pastor in 1780 of this church, and of the Sec-

ond church of Wilmington. He was released

from the care of Lower Brandywine in 1785,

continuing with the second church of Wil-
mington, until 1795. He then removed to

New Jersey where he died in 1815. He be-

longed to a family distinguished in the annals

of the Presbyterian church, being a son of

Rev. Dr." Robert Smith, and a brother of Rev.

Samuel Stanhope Smith, and Rev. John Blair

Smith, all eminent divines. Rev. Samuel
Henderson was pastor a short time in 1813 ;

with this exception the church depended
on supplies from 1785 to 1825, when Rev.

Thomas Love became pastor of this and also

of Red Clay Creek churches. In the fall of

1831, and again in 1832 there were large

accessions to both churches, the fruits of a

gracious visitation of the Holy Spirit. In

October, 1856, Mr. Love relinquished the pas-

torate of Lower Brandywine, and gave the

whole of his time to Red Clgy creek. In

November, i860, the present neat and comfort-

able building was completed and dedicated.

The church was without a pastor from 1856

till April, 1861, when Rev. David W. Moore,
a graduate of Princeton college and seminary,

was ordained and installed.

During his ministry several powerful revi-

vals occurred, resulting in large accessions to

the church. In October, 1872, he resigned,

and was succeeded by Rev. George E. Jones,

who served in the Union army during the civil

war. At its close he entered LaFayette

college, graduated with honor in 1869, and at

the Theological Seminary, Princeton, in May,
j

1873, and June 19th commenced his labors at

Lower Brandywine. After a faithful and ac-

ceptable pastorate of a little more than four

years, he resigned to accept a call to the

Broadway church, Baltimore, where he now
successfully labors. The next pastor was the

Rev. Robert Graham, who was installed Jan.

2 2d, 1S7S, and still remains diligently cultiva-

ting his extensive and important field.
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White Clay Creek Presbyterian

CHURCH was organized, probably, in 1721. F'or

the first two or three years the people de-

pended on supplies, among whom we find the

names of Rev. Daniel McGill and Rev. Rob-

ert Laing. The first mention of a church edi-

fice is found on the minutes of the Presbytery,

June 5th, 1723. The first pastor was the Rev.

Thomas Craighead, from 1724 to 1733 - He
was for a time a physician, then a minister of

the Gospel in Ireland, and came to this coun-

try in 1715. Mr. Craighead’s numerous de-

scendants have been distinguished for patriot-

ism and piety, and many of them have occu-

pied high and honorable positions in both

Church and State. The next pastor from 1737

to 1763 was the Rev. Charles Tennent, of a

family greatly distinguished in the annals of

the Presbyterian church. He was the young-

est son of the Rev. Wm.Tennent, Sr.,and was

born in Ireland May 3d, 1711. He died Feb-

ruary 25th, I77l,at Berlin, Maryland. He was
enrreerl^d hv Rev. Tohn McCrerv in 1 760.'

- j •> * f s

From that time till 1875, (with the exception

of a few years in which the Rev. W. R. Work
was pastor of White Clay Creek, and the

Rev. E. Wilson of Head of Christiana,) these

two churches were united as one pastoral

charge,and were served by the following named
pastors: the Rev. John McCrery,from 1769 till

1800
;
Rev. Andrew K. Russell, from 1812 till

1839 ;
Rev. Joseph Barr, from 1846 till 1853 ;

and Rev. James L. Vallandigham, from 1853

till 1875. From 1840 till 1846 the Rev. W. R.

Work was pastor of White Clay Creek. Since

the first of June, 1875,the church has been sup-

plied by the Rev. Wm. D. Mackey, Professor

in Delaware college.

The history of White Clay Creek Church
abounds in incidents of a highly interesting

character. We have not space for their recital.

They will be found in Prof. Mackey’s thorough

and exhaustive Historical Discourse, pub-

lished in 1876.

Rf.d Clay Creek Presbyterian Church
was organized, probably, in 1722, allhough

there was occasional preaching there as early

as 1713. They depended on supplies till Rev.

Wm. McKennan was ordained and installed

pastor, Dec. 17, 1755, who remained till his

death, May 15, 1809. Part of this time he was
pastor also of White Clay Creek, and the first

|

church of Wilmington. Mr. McKennan lived
j

to an advanced age, esteemed and honored in

the community. His descendants have occu-

pied high and honorable positions in the

country, one of them having been a member of

the cabinet of President Harrison, and another,

Hon. Wm. McKennan, being now a-circuit

Judge of the U. S. Courts.

Rev. Samuel Henderson supplied the church

two years from 1809. The next pastor was

Rev. Thomas Love, from December, 1823, till

1862. He was also pastor of Lower Brandy-

wine till 1856. He was a faith lul minister, and

died in 1879 in his 84th year.

Mr. Love was succeeded by Rev. Sterling

M. Galt, who served this church, and the one

at Newark, from August, 1863, till his death,

Oct. 24, 1865. The church was then supplied

by Rev. W. A. Rankin till May, 1866, and

from that time till April, 186S, by Rev. Dr. S.

H. Higgins, when Rev. A. C. Jenkins became
pastor till the spring of 1871. In December
of that year Rev. R. P. Kennedy began his

labors, and remained till his death. December

31, 1881. The Church is now vacant.

The Presbyterian Church of Chris-
tiana Bridge was organized sometime be-

tween 1730 and 1738. A site for a building

was secured in 1738, but the church edifice was
not erected till 1745. The first pastor was

Rev. Charles Tennent, who probably com-
menced his labors here at the organization of

the church and continued till 1756. He was
at the same time pastor at White Clay Creek.

This church continued under one pastoral

charge with that of New Castle, from 1757 till

1828. Rev. Daniel Thom was pastor from

1757 to 1763. Revs. Morgan, Kirkpatrick and
others supplied till 1769, when Rev. Joseph
Montgomery was pastor till 1777. The pulpit

was vacant till 1791, when Rev. Samuel Barr

was pastor till 1796. From August, 1800, till

his death, Sept. 20, 1824, Rev. John E. Latta

was pastor, and Rev. Joshua N. Danforth from

November, 1825, till May, 1828, when he re-

ceived a call to Washington City. The union

of the two churches in one charge having last-

ed seventy years, was now dissolved, and this

church was afterwards served by Rev. Morris

Williamson 18 months, Rev. Mr. Carpenter

three months, Rev. Mr. Crosby one year, and
Rev. Samuel Bell, in connection with Pen-

|

cader, from 1832 to 1834, Rev. Nicholas Pat-

j

terson from November, 1834 (installed 1 S3 5)
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till April, 1845. The pastors of White Clay

Creek, Revs. W. R. Work and J. Barr, sup-

plied the church for some years. From 1850

to 1 8^4 the supplies were Revs. George Foote,

J. Elliott, V. D. Collins, and W. A. Crawford.

Rev. J. H. Beal was pastor from 1865 to i868>

and Rev. David Kennedy from 1868 to 1870.

Rev. Wm. D. Mackey supplied two years, Rev.

Robert Graham was pastor from 1873 to 1877

and in 1878 Mr. James S. Eaton (a licentiate)

for a few months. Rev. A. J. Snyder com-

menced supplying the church in March, 187^

and still remains laboring with very encour-

aging success.

The present church edifice, which is 60 by

40 feet, was erected during Mr. Foote's minis-

try. The corner-stone was laid Sept. 8, 1857,

and the house dedicated June 8, 1858. The

dedication sermon was preached by Rev. J-

Jenkins, then pastor of the Calvary Church’

Philadelphia.

The Presbyterian Church of Smyrna,
(originally called DUCK CREEK,) was organ-

ized, probably, in <733. In that year a church

edifice was built. The first pastor was the

Rev. Robert Jamison, from Dec. 26, 1734, till

his death in 1744. -

The next pastor was the Rev. John Miller,

who served this church, and also the one at

Dover from 1747 or 48 till his death in July,

1791. He was the father of the distinguished

Rev. Samuel Miller, D. D., so long one of the

Professors in the Theological Seminary at

Princeton. After his death a new and com-
fortable house of worship was erected, and an

effort was made to secure the services of his

son, but without success. For many years the

church was without a pastor. The congrega-

tion dwindled, the house became dilapidated,

and it seemed as though the organization

would become extinct. In 1818, however, re-

pairs were made, and the church was for a time

supplied by the Presbytery. Afterwards it

was supplied, how long it is not known, by the

Rev. Joseph Wilson, and then by the Rev.

Alexander Campbell.

Again the church was, for some years, with-

out pastor or supply, the building decayed and
was sold, and the ground where it stood con-

verted into a burying place. In 1846 the

present house of worship was purchased, the

church re-organized, and the Rev. Thomas G.

Murphy became pastor, and served as such

till Oct. 5, 1859. The Rev. J. C. Thompson
was pastor from 1860 till Oct., 1864 ;

and' the

Rev. John McCoy from Jan. 1865 till Feb. 1869.

1 he Rev. G. W. Kennedy was stated supply
from August, 1869, till October, 1870 ;

Rev. S.

S. Sturges from June, 1871, till December of the

same year
;
the Rev. John Squire for about one

year, and the Rev. R. A. Brown from January,

1874, till April, 1875. The present pastor, Rev.

Justus T. Umsted, was installed May 15, 1877.

1 he following are the names of the elders :

Messrs. Nathan L Underwood, E. V. Cooper,

John Heitshur, Dr. Wm. B. Collins, and George
W. Taylor.

The First Presbyterian Church of
Wilmington. The lot of this church, at

Tenth and Market streets, was purchased in

1737, and in 1740 a brick church erected which

is now used by the Historical Society. The
church being feeble depended on supplies for

some years
;
among others, Rev. Robert Cath-

cart. Rev. Wm. McKennan was the first pas-

tor and for thirty years, from 1761 till 1795,

labored faithfully,the first twelve years in con-

nection with Red Clay Creek. Then desiring

preaching every Sabbath, Rev. Joseph Smith
was called to alternate with Mr. McKennan.
This arrangement failed and resulted in organ-

izing the second Presbyterian church of Wil-

mington. Rev. P’rancis A. Latta was pastor

from 1796 to 1803. He was popular and suc-

cessful. With the exception of a few months in

1813 when Rev. Mr. Henderson preached, and
one year by Rev. Mr. Snowden, the church

had neither pastor nor supply for fifteen years.

In 1817 Rev. Thomas Read became pastor,

preaching for four years as his health permitted.

After his death Rev. James Taylor supplied

one year. Again for about five years the

church was without a pastor, when from 1829

to 1831 it was supplied by .Rev.Thomas Love,

pastor of White Clay creek. The next six or

seven years were years of sore trial : an

attempt was made to merge the church into

a larger and more flourishing organization, and
then to force a sale of the building

;
and

but for the zealous and earnest efforts of the

Rev. S. M. Gayley and a few other friends of

the church, it would probably have become
extinct. In 1838 the second Presbyterian

church, worshiping at Fifth and Walnut was
dissolved, and the members united with the

P'irst church. Thus strengthened they re-
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solved to secure a pastor, and gave a unani-

mous call to Rev. John R. Wynkoop in Jan.,

1S39. In February arrangements were made
to erect a new house of worship, and the

seventh of May, following, the corner stone of

the present building was laid, and early in 1840

completed. Mr. Wynkoop labored with great

success for nearly twenty years, when broken

in health he resigned in 1858. In October
j

Rev. Wm. C. Roberts became pastor. He
resigned in 1862, being called to the First

church of Columbus, Ohio. Rev. C. D. Kellogg

served with acceptance from 1S63 till May,

1867, when after a year of contention and

trouble, Rev. S. H. McKown in May, [868,

began his labors. He was ordained and in-

stalled July 3, 1869, resigning in 1874. The
three pastors last named were yoking men, but

earnest and faithful in their difficult and trying

field. Rev. F. B. DuVal was ordained and in-

stalled June, 1875, and still remains laboring

with ability and zeal, and is steadily building

up his church.

The Forest Presbyterian Church, was
organized in 1742, by members withdrawing

from Drawyers during the old and new side

controversey. The site of the first building,

a short distance north of Middletown, was

secured in 1750, the people up to that time

worshipping at St. George’s or Back Creek.

The first pastor was Rev. Wm. Robinson. After

he left these two churches united in a call to

Rev. John Rodgers. He served them with

great acceptance from 1749 till 1765, when he

accepted a call to the Wall street church,

New York city. The following four years

Rev. E. Spencer was pastor, when the churches

separated, and Rev. Thomas Smith was pas-

tor till 1792, followed by Rev. Mr. Cheally,

under whom the church rapidly declined. For

a short time after his departure the pulpit was
supplied by Revs. Burton and Wilson, when
services ceased and the church seemed extinct.

In 1840 a congregational meeting was held in

the grove in front of the old church. As the

building could not be repaired, it was sold, the

proceeds used to enclose the ground and the

spot abandoned as a place of worship. In

1851 the church was resuscitated and a new
building erected, not on the old site,but in the

town, principally through the labor of Rev. I.

W. Handy. After Mr. Handy, Rev. John At-

kinson supplied a few months. Rev. Thomas

DELAWARE.

Fosster was pastor from Oct., 1854, to Oct.,

1856; Rev. W. A. Rankin, 1857 to 1861; Rev.

Isaac Riley from March, 1862, to Sept., 1S64.

Rev. John Patton,who had assisted at the dedi-

cation ot the church,was installed in Oct., 1865,
and for fifteen years faithfully, acceptably and
with success, occupied the pastoral office.

They reluctantly accepted his resignation in

j

April, 1S80. His successor, the present pastor,

Rev. W. C. Anderson, was installed Dec. 7,

1880.

Connected with Forest Church first, and
under the same pastor is Forest Church second,
organized September 30, 1877.

St. George’s Presbyterian Church. The
early history of this church is involved in

obscurity. In 1742 it was supplied in connec-
tion with Appoquinimy by Rev. Henry Hook.
1 he first pastor, Rev. Henry Robinson, was
the son of a Quaker physician near Carlisle,

England. He taught school in New Jersey
after coming to this country, was converted
and ordained as an evangelist in 1740.

His labors in Pennsylvania, Maryland and
Virginia were wonderfully blessed. He was
pastor from 1743 to his death in 1746. The
church called Rev. Samuel Davis but he de-
clined and went to Virginia. Mr. Davis was
born near Summit Bridge in 1723. He was a

man of great ability and a profound scholar.

He died in 1761, yet young as he was, several

volumes of his sermons have been published,

widely circulated, and greatly admired.
The second pastor, Rev. John Rodgers, was

ordained and installed pastor in March, 1749,
and served the church for sixteen years with
ability, and built up a large and flourishing

church. He died in New York City, in 1811,

aged 84. Dr. Rodgers was moderator of the

first General Assembly of the Presbyterian

Church of the United States. He married, in

1752, a daughter of Col. Peter Bayard of

Bohemia Manor. The following were the

pastors from 1766 to 1798, part of the time the

church being vacant. Revs. Elihu Spencer,

four years—Thomas Smith, one year—John
Burton, nine or ten years. Rev. John Collins

was pastor from 1798 till his death, April, 1804.

Rev. Samuel Bell from 1808 to 1830. He was
also pastor of Pencader Church. Rev. James
C. Howe from 1830 till his death, 1855. He
also ministered to the church in Delaware

j

City. That church was organized chiefly
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through his labors, as were those at Elkton

and Milford. Rev. D. H. Emerson was pastor

from 1855 to 1868. Rev. D. J. Beale till he

was called to the Light Street Church, Balti-

more, in 1872. Rev. Justus T. L^msted from

1872 till 1S76. Rev. Henry Runner was called

in 1876, ordained in 1877, and still remains

acceptably performing his duties as pastor.

The Presbyterian Church of Dover
was organized, probably, about 1743. On the

J2th of May of that year the lot on which the

church edifice was erected was conveyed to

“Robert Jamison, minister, and John Caton

and Robert Bohannon, elders of the Presby-

terian congregation of Dover.” The first pas-

tor was Rev. Robert Jamison, who was at the

same time pastor of the church at Duck Creek,

now called Smyrna.

He was succeeded by the Rev. John Miller,

who for 43 years was pastor of both these

churches. After his death the church was for

many years without pastor or stated supply.

Part of the time, between 1820 and 1 830.it was

supplied by the Rev. Alexander Campbell.

Rev. Thomas G. Murphey was pastor from

1844 till i860, and Rev. John Pomeroy from

1861 till Oct. 1862. The present pastor, Rev.

Cyrus Huntington,commenced his labors here

in 1863. A sketch of Mr. Huntington will be

found in this volume. The present church

edifice is the second erected for the use of the

congregation In it the convention of 1831

for the amendment of the State Constitution

held their sessions, and in compensation for

its use made some repairs and improvements.

Other improvements have been made since.

The elders now in service are the Hon. John

A. Nicholson, and Mr. Richard M. Jones.

In 1880 George V. Massey, Esq., a leading

lawyer of Dover, and for several years Super-

intendent of the Sabbath School, erected at

his own expense the beautiful building stand-

ing on the grounds belonging to the church

for the use of the Sunday School.

Hanover Street Church, Wilmington,
dates its origin in 1772. Originally it was

called the Christiana or Second Church
;

it

received its present name in 1831, the new
church being erected on a street then known
by that name. Rev. Joseph Smith was pastor

from 1 774 till 1778. Then Rev. Wm. S. Smith

from 1779 to 1795 ;
both these ministers serv-

ing the Lower Brandywine part of the time.

He was succeeded in 1798 by Rev. Thomas
Read who retired in 1817. The next pastor,

Rev. E. W. Gilbert, served from 1818 till

May, 1841, when he resigned to become Presi-

dent of Delaware College. He was very able,

a diligent student, and the church greatly

prospered under his ministry. Rev. Arthur
Granger was pastor from 1S32 to 1835, and
Rev. Wm. Hogarth from 1841 till 1846. He
was an able man and zealous pastor. From
1847 t° 1851, Rev. Joel E. Rockwell was in

the pastoral office, and then became the pastor
of the Central Church. Brooklyn. Rev. A. D.
Pollock, D. D., from 1852 to 1855, and Rev
Wm. Aikman, D. D., from 1857 to 1868, were
the pastors The present pastor, Rev. Lafa-
yette Marks, D. D., commenced his labors

here, January, 1869. Dr. Marks is a sound
theologian and faithful pastor.

The Hanover street church has been distin-

guished for its zealous spirit of church exten-
sion, having aided in the organization of three

interesting and flourishing churches, the Cen-
tral, the Olivet and the West.
The Rockland Presbyterian Church.

Our knowledge of the early history of this

church is very meagre. Originally it belonged
to the Seceders who, in 1802 or 3, built a sub-
stantial stone edifice which is still used for

public worship. It was supplied by ministers

from Philadelphia. When it passed into the
hands of the Presbyterians we have not been
able to ascertain. In 1820, Rev. John Smith,
of the Presbytery of Philadelphia, became a

stated supply. After him was Rev. R. W.
Landis, and he was succeeded by Rev. S. M.
Gayley. Since 1854 it has been united with
Green Hill church, under one session and one
board of trustees.

Green Hill Presbyterian Church was
organized by a committee of New Castle Pres-

bytery, June 5, 1849. Alexander Stephens,

John Wood and James Scanlan were elected

elders, and John McCartney and John Mc-
Keowan, deacons. The church was supplied

by Rev. S. M. Gayley till 1851 when Rev. W.
C. Windle became pastor till 1854. Then Rev.

A. Tudehope supplied till 1855 Rev. James
Otterson was pastor from 1856 till 1863

;
and

Rev. H. B. Scott from 1S64 till September
1869. The present pastor, Rev. G. L. More,

commenced his labors here November I, 1869.

The corner-stone of the present church edifice
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was laid November 15, 1848, and the church
[

dedicated September 14, 1851. Rev. G. L.

More preached the dedication sermon on Ps.

xxvii. 4.

The Misfillion Presbyterian Church,
in Kent county, Delaware, was organized

|

April 4th, 1S25. The organization was some-
j

what irregular, and it was regarded as a branch !

of the church at Milford, and was under the

care of its session. P'or the first two years it

was supplied by Rev. Alexander Campbell,

and from May, 1833, to 1835 by Rev. Charles

Brown. Rev. Henry C. Fries was pastor from

1838 to June, 1840. Rev.G.L.More was stated

supply from the spring of 1842 till the spring

of 1844. From that time until the spring of

1851, the church was without a supply, and

then for about five years it was supplied on

every alternate Sabbath by Rev. G. W. Ken-

nedy. Rev. John W. Mears was supply from

1857 to i860, and Rev. J. Garland Hamner
ministered here and at Milford from June, i860,

until October, 1863. The church was then

supplied successively, for short periods, by

Rev. L. P. Bowen, Rev. G. S. Sturges, and

Rev. E. P. Elcock. The present supply is

Rev. W.PI. Edwards who commenced August,

1880, preaching also at Federalsburg and

Bridgeville.

The First Presbyterian Church of
Delaware City was built in 1835. For sev-

eral years before, Revs. Samuel Bell and J. C.

How had held services in private houses or a

school house. After the building was erected

Rev. Mr. How preached in it Sabbath after-

noons for ten years. The church was organ-

ized Sept. 4, 1846, with forty-seven members,

and John Addison, Wm. D. Clark and John

Exton were made ruling elders. Rev. Wm. R.

Durnett was the first pastor from 1847 to 1851,

followed by Rev. T. R. Smith for over two
years, closing Oct. 1853. Rev. James Morton

received a call in 1854. On account of frail

health he was not settled, yet supplied the

church till July, 1859, his labors being greatly

blessed. Rev. H. J. Gaylord was pastor from

1861 till 1867. A revival increased the mem-
bership considerably during his ministry. This

church and that at Port Penn was supplied

from February till October, 1867,by Rev. S. R.

Schofield, when he became pastor of Delaware

City Church till 1875. Though in feeble
j

health he was a laborious and faithful pastor,

and in 1868 a revival added largely to the

communion of the church. Rev. W. W. Tay-
lor began his labors here in 1875, unanimously

elected pastor in March, 1876, and resigned

April, 1881. The church is now vacant.

The Village Presbyterian Church of
NEWARK was organized by the Presbytery of

Wilmington, June 10th, 1835, and was com-
posed of sixteen members. Messrs. Thomas
D. Bell and James Robinson, were elected,

ordained and installed ruling elders. Owing
to adverse circumstances, the removal of Pres-

byterians from the village, and the strife be-

tween the old and the new school, its growth
was slow. In October, 1842, Rev. Dr. Gilbert,

President of Delaware College, became stated

supply, and under his able ministrations, the

church enjoyed a season of prosperity. At
first the services were held in the College
Oratory, but in 1843 arrangements were made
for the erection of a house of worship.

The corner stone was laid September 25th,

1843, an d the edifice dedicated March 28th,

1S44. Dr. Gilbert was a native of New York,

a graduate of Union College, and of Princeton

Theological Seminary, a man of ability, and
popular both as a preacher and teacher. He
was succeeded by Rev. James P. Wilson, D. D

,

(who had been President of the College,) and
who supplied the church for about two years.

Rev. George Foote was installed pastor here

and at Christiana Village, April 30th, 1750
He was the only pastor the church ever had,

and his pastorate was very brief, as the rela-

tion was dissolved September 30th, 1851.

After the removal of Mr. Foote, the church
was supplied successively by President

Graham, Rev. Messrs. J. W. Elliott, Henry A.
Barnes, Nicholas Patterson, V. D. Collins,

Prof W. A. Crawford, President E. J. Newlin
and others. Under this system of supplies

the Church gradually declined, and was ulti-

mately merged in the First Church. In addi-

tion to the two already named, Messrs John
A. Reynolds, George Janvier, and J. W. Wes-
ton served as elders.

The Presbyterian Church of Port
Penn was organized July 16, 1837, with seven-

teen members—eight of them from St.

The first pastor was Rev. Charles Brown, who
served here and at Drawyers from 1837 till

1839. Rev. George Foot from 1839 till 1848.
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Rev. Isaac W. K. Handy was stated supply

here, and pastor at Drawyers, from 1848 till

1851: Rev. T. Ralston Smith, stated supply

here and at Delaware City from 1851 till 1852.

Rev. David McClure was pastor from Nov.

9, 1853, till Oct. 6, 1854; and Rev. H. J. Gaylord

pastor here, with Drawyers part of the time,

from June 29, 1855, till Jan. 1, 1867. Rev. S.

R. Scofield, while pastor at Delaware City,

was stated supply here from May till Oct.

1867 ;
Rev. N. S. Moore stated supply from

Jan. 1, 1868 till July 1, 1868
;
and Rev. Sam-

uel M. Gould from Aug. I, 1868 till May 1,

1869. Rev. R. C. Allison was pastor from

Oct. 28, 1869 till April 19, 1871. The present

pastor, Rev. S. G. Boardman commenced his

labors here, June 25, 1871, and on May 21,

1872 was ordained and installed. The follow-

ing are the names of the elders, from the or-

ganization of the church to the present time:

Wm. Cleaver, Samuel Jefferson, John M.

Woods, Dr. David Stewart, Henry Walter,

ana joim u. v anuc^iut.

The First Presbyterian Church of

Newark was organized in August, 1839, by a

committee of the Presbytery of New Castle.

It was composed of nine members, principally

from the churches of White Clay Creek and

Head of Christiana. Col. Alexander Craw-

ford and Mr. James McCullough were elected

ruling elders. Rev. Alexander Hoberton was

for a short time stated supply. Rev. Elijah

Wilson commenced his labors in Newark, in

connexion with Head of Christiana, in June,

1842, and on the 12th of October following was

installed. He resigned in 1846. For the seven

years following, the church was most of the

time closed, having only occasional supplies.

On the first sabbath of Dec. 1853, Rev.

James L. Vallandigham began his ministra-

tions here and at White Clay Creek and Head

of Christiana, and on the 4th of May follow-

ing was installed pastor of the three churches.

In Oct. i860, he resigned this part of the

charge in order to give the whole of his time

to White Clay Creek and Head of Christiana.

Rev. Sterling M. Galt was pastor from 1861

till his death, Oct. 1865 Rev. John Hamil-

ton was elected pastor, Aug. 2, 1866, and re-

signed March, 1870. During his pastorate

arrangements were made for the erection of a

new church edifice, and the work was com-

menced. For some months the church was

15

supplied by Rev. Michael Burdett. On the

3d day of July, 1871, R.ev. George J. Porter

was elected pastor. The new church edifice

was dedicated June 13, 1872, and in the even-

ing of the same day Mr. Porter was installed

by a committee of New Castle Presbytery.

He still remains laboring faithfully and zeal-

ously in his interesting and important field.

The following, in addition to the two already

named, have been elected and served as rul-

ing elders. Prof. Daniel Kirkwood, Wm. A.

Musgrove, Andrew Rambo, Prof. Wm. H. Pur-

nell, Prof. E. D. Porter, David J. Murphey,

George B. Clark, James Lockhart.

The Presbyterian Church of Milford
was organized by a committee of the Presby-

tery of Wilmington, December 19, 1S49. Wm.
V. Coulter was elected ruling-elder. At a

very early period there was a Presbyterian

church in this vicinity called “Three Runs.”

Of its history nothing can now be ascertained.

“The old Brick Church” stood about a quarter

of a mile west of Milford, on a lot now owned
by that church and used as a cemetery. The
corner-stone of the present church edifice was

laid July 4th, 1850, and the building completed

and dedicated in August, 1851. The Rev. G.

W. Kennedy was stated supply for about seven

years. It was through his diligent and praise-

worthy efforts that the church was organized,

and the church edifice and manse were erected.

His health having become impaired through

severe labor he removed, and was succeeded

by the Rev. C. H. Mustard, who supplied the

church every alternate sabbath till November,

1857. The Rev. G. W. Mears was stated sup-

ply from November, 1857, until February 15th,

i860. The Rev. J. G. Hamner was pastor from

i860 to September 1863. The Rev. John F.

Severance from 1866 to 1868. The Rev.

Richard A.Mallery was pastor from February,

1868, until hisdeath June 9th, 1872. Mr.George

E. Jones, licentiate from Princeton Seminary,

supplied the church for four months. The
Rev. A. A. Dinsmore was supply from April,

1873, till November, 1875. The Rev. Charles

Boynton was pastor from February, 1876,until

February, 1879. The Rev. FI. L. Buntline was

called December 7th, 1879, commenced his

labors February, 1880, and still serves the

church though not yet installed as pastor.

The Central Presbyterian Church of

WILMINGTON was organized by the Presby-
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tery of Wilmington, Dec. 6, 1855. It was

composed of a colony from Hanover street

church, and one of the elders of that church,

Dr. Lewis P. Bush, was elected and installed

as elder of the new organization. In Jan.,

1856, the eldership was increased by the

accession to that office of Messrs. Charles

Stewart, Edward T. Taylor, and Joseph W.
Day. The first pastor was Rev. George F.

Wiswell who commenced his labor in March

1856, and was installed on the Sth of May, of

the same year. The first place of worship

used by the congregation was a small church

on Fifth and Walnut streets once the property

of the Hanover street church, but which at

that time belonged to the Baptists.

On the 1 Sth of June, 1857, the corner stone

of the present handsome and commodious
edifice was laid; and on the ioth of the fol-

lowing November, the church was dedicated.

The lecture room had been completed in

February, and used for public worship. After

a successful pastorate of eleven years, during

which several interesting revivals were

enjoyed, Dr. Wiswell resigned in order to

accept a call to Green Hill church in Philadel-

phia. He was succeeded by the Rev. Charles

D. Shaw who faithfully served the church

about five years. During his pastorate a large

Colony was sent out to organize the West
Presbyterian church. Dr. Shaw is now pastor

of the 2d Presbyterian church of Paterson,

New Jersey. He was succeeded by the Rev.

J. P. Conkey now of Dubuque, Iowa. The
present pastor, the Rev. J. H. Nixon,D. D. was

installed, Oct. 10, 1S76. While laboring dili-

gently and earnestly for the prosperity of the

Central, Dr. Nixon, encouraged and aided by

his congregation, is making most commenda-
ble efforts for church extension in the city.

The Presbyterian Church of George-
town, Sussex county, was organized by

a committee of the Presbytery of Lewes,

January 27, i860, and Hon. Elisha D. Cullen

was made ruling elder. The Rev. J. Balie

Adams was installed as pastor, by a committee

of the Presbytery of New Castle, April 27,

1873, and resigned March 1st, 1881. The
church at Cool Spring was also during those

years under his pastoral care. On the death

of Mr. Cullen the Hon. John R. McFee was

constituted ruling elder, and still serves the

church in that capacity. Since the departure

of Mr. Adams the church has been without a

a pastor.

The Presbyterian Church of Felton
was organized Nov. 15, i860. Its first supply,

from the organization till 1863, was Rev. J. G.

Hamner, then pastor at Milford. From January

1S64, till January, 1866, it was supplied by Mr.

L. P. Bowan, a licentiate of the Presbytery of

Lewes; and from the spring of 1868 till the

spring of 1873, by Rev. S. Murdock. For two
years the church was dependent on occasional

supplies sent by Presbytery, or secured by
themselves. In Dec. 1875, Rev. S. S. Sturges

became stated supply, and remained, laboring

very acceptably, till his death, June 20, 1877.

His successor was Rev. L. A. T. Jobe from

October, 1877, till October, 1879. Since his

resignation the church has been without pastor

or stated supply.

The Presbyterian Church of Bridge-
VILLE, Sussex county, was organized Dec. 20,

1865. The first pastor, Rev. Alexard Gu

-

lock, was installed in the spring of 1866. serv-

ing till the fall of 1867. Rev. G. W. Todd was
a stated supply for a few months in 1869.

Rev. Robert White commenced his labors here

in December, 1871, was installed the following

spring, but very shortly after retired from the

field. Rev. E. P. Elcock was stated supply

from the fall of 1873 till June 1875 ;
and Rev.

S. R. Schofield for eighteen months. Rev. E.

L. Bowing, pastor of Federalsburg church,was
stated supply here from January !, 1878, till

September 28, 1879. His successor was Rev.

W. H. Edwards who commenced in March,
1880, and still supplies the church.

The Lincoln Presbyterian Church was
organized December 19, 1867. From its or-

ganization till April, 1871, it was under the

pastoral care of the Rev. H. J Gaylord. Af-

terwards the Rev. R. Mallory and the Rev. C.

F. Boynton, each supplied it about one year.

It is now without pastor or supply.

The Olivet Presbyterian Church of
WILMINGTON, was organized by the Presby-
tery of Wilmington, January 31, 1868, with
sixteen members. The enterprise originated

with the Hanover street church. As early as

1849, a small building was erected on Mary-
land avenue at the foot of Chestnut street.

The ground was given by Messrs George Jones
and David C. Wilson, and after the erection of

the building the property was deeded to the
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trustees of Hanover street church. Here a

sabbath-school was taught for many years,

superintended successively by Messrs. E. T.

Taylor, J. P. McLear, Wm. W. Dowe, Wm. M.

Pyle and others. This first building was re-

moved, and in 1864, February 7th, the present

church edifice was dedicated It was built

while Rev. Mr. Aikman was pastor of Han-

over street church, and chiefly through his in-

strumentality. It was at first supplied for

about six months by Rev. W. H. Edwards,

and then for about the same length of time by

Rev. D. W. Moore. Rev. A. J. Snyder was a

stated supply from September 1, 1867, till

March 17, 1878. During his ministry the

church edifice was enlarged and otherwise im-

proved, many members were added both on

certificate and on profession of faith, and the

church was greatly prospered. Mr. Snyder

was succeeded by Rev. Charles P. Mallery who
still remains. The house of worship has been

recently renovated and made more attractive,

and the prospect for the future is highly en-

couraging The first elder was Mr. Andrew
L. Muir, elected in 1868. Afterwards Messrs.

George Morrison and Newton C. Sample were

elected to the same office in 1872.

The West Presbyterian Church, Wil-
mington, was organized by a committee of

the Presbytery of Wilmington, in October,

1868. It was composed of a colony of sixty-

six persons, who left the Central Church for

the purpose of joining the new organization,

who were joined by a number of members

from Hanover Church. The first public ser-

vice was held on the 25th of October. Rev.

George H. Smyth was called, May I2th, 1869,

and installed September 30th of the same

year. He resigned September i8th,i872. Rev.

J. M. P. Otts, D. D. was installed June 25th,

1873, and closed his pastorate, January 27th,

1878. Dr. Otts is now pastor of the Chambers

Presbyterian Church, Philadelphia. Rev. A.

N. Keigwin was installed November 19th,

1878, and is still pastor. With a faithful

pastor, an active session, a fine church edifice,

and a good congregation, the prospects of the

church are highly encouraging.

Harrington Presbyterian Church, was

organized November 25th, 1872. The first

supply was Rev. Samuel Murdock, who, owing

to failing health, was obliged to retire in the

Spring of 1873 For the four months following,

1

1

5

this together with the Felton Church, was

supplied by Mr. Wm. Stewart, a licentiate of

the Presbytery of New Brunswick. In 1873

the church edifice was erected, and on the

7th of December of that year was dedicated.

Rev. S. S. Sturges was stated supply from

December, 1874, till his death, June 20th, 1877.

In September, 1877, Rev. Wm. H. Edwards be-

came stated supply, and still remains, sup-

plying Harrington and several neighboring

churches.

The Presbyterian Union Chapel of

Stanton was organized May 26th, 1877, with

sixteen members. Four elders were elected,

ordained and installed, viz : Benjamin W.
Dickey, James R. Foote, L. W. Lawrence and

George C. Wr
alter. The corner-stone of the

church edifice wras laid April 24th, 1877, and

the house dedicated September 10th, 1878.

The enterprise was originated by Rev. Robert

Graham, pastor of Christiana Church, and he

supplied it every Sabbath afternoon till Dec.,

1878. It was then supplied by Rev. A. T.

Snyder in connection with the Christiana

church. In March 1879, Mr. Snyder received

a call from these two churches to become

pastor. He still supplies them though not

yet installed.

The lot on which the church is built

—

45

feet front, 95 feet deep—cost twro hundred and

seventy-five dollars, and the edifice itself

about two thousand dollars. It was dedicated

free of debt.

We have thus given the dates of the or-

ganization, and the names of the pastors

and stated supplies of all the Presbyterian

churches of the State of Delaware, with the

exception of two or three, in relation to which

vre could obtain no reliable information.

In 1741 the Presbyterian church in this

country was divided into what was called the

“Old Side” and the “New Side.” This was

caused by differences not as to doctrines, but as

to measures. The churches of Delaware were

affected as were the churches of all the other

States by this division, and there were at one

time two Presbyteries of Nezv Castle covering

the same ground. In 1758 the breach was

i healed, and the church re-united.

The church was again divided in 1837 into

i “Old School” and “ New School.” The dif-

|

ferences this time were doctrinal. A majority

|

of New Castle Presbytery adhered to the Old
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School, and the minority connected them- 129: churches 37 : communicants 3448. Nearly
selves with a Presbytery then recently organ-

|

all those churches are supplied with pastors,
ized, called the Presbytery ot Wilmington. 1

and many of them are large and flourishing.

In the re-union of 1870, it was merged into These sketches have necessarily been brief.

New Castle Presbytery, as was also the Pres-
;

Those who desire fuller and more minute irr-

bytery of Eastern Shore, then covering a part
|

formation must await that complete and
of the State of Delaware. exhaustive “ History of New Castle Pres-
The following are the latest statistics of the bytery,” which will doubtless, before long, be

Presbyterian church in Delaware : Ministers written.

Newark, Del., May, 1882.

THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.
BY REV. GEORGE A. PHOEBUS, D. D.

ETHODISM first entered Delaware

through the preaching of Captain

Thomas Webb, a soldier in the Brit-

ish army, and an evangelist under the

leadership of the Rev. John Wesley, A. M.,of

England. Mr. Webb gathered a congregation

at New Castle in the year 1769,and soon there-

after a class was formed, and a religious feel-

ing developed that led its votaries to seek

after an experimental knowledge of the power

of godliness, through the impartation of the

Holy Ghost, rather than through the ordi-

nances and services of the church.

During the following year, under the ministry

of John King, also an evangelist from England,

Wilmington, Isaac Hersey’s, Thomas Web-
ster’s, David Ford's, the Cloud’s, and other

places in the vicinity of Wilmington, became
stand points for the proclamation of Bible

truths, from the Methodist preachers,

In giving a summary view of the history of

this movement in our State, it is necessary for

the observer to bear in mind the fact that

there are two distinct periods, along the lines

of which the eye must be cast, namely: ( 1 st
,)

the period from 1769 to 1785, during which

Methodism was ecclesiastically under the

Church of England
,
and (2d,) the period

when, and after a distinct church was or-

ganized, separate from, and independent of

the church of England. During the first

period the classes formed were “ Societies,”

the houses built for religious worship were

“ meeting-houses,” the evangelists were “ lay-

preachers,” and both preachers and people
were mainly dependent on the “ established

church ” for the sacraments and other eccles-

iastical ordinances.

All the classes formed under the Wesleyan
plan were united together having the same
common bond, and under the supervision of

Mr. Wesley, and such assistants as he from
time to time sent to America. These were
called the United Society, and embraced
not only the Methodists of Delaware but those
of other parts of the Continent. Such a
society “is no other than a company of nun
having the form and seeking the power of

godliness
,
united in order to pray together

,
to

receive the word of exhortation
, and to watch

over one another in love, that they may help

each other to work out their salvation.” (Meth.
Disc. Art. Gen. Rules.) By reason of the few
ness of the itinerant band in America, several

years elapsed before the southern portion of

the State received the message of salvation

from the lips of the Methodist itinerant
;
and

even those places in New Castle County,
where classes had been formed, were often

without their instruction for several months
during the year. The advancement of the

work therefore was mainly dependent on the

local element raised up at the several points

where classes had been formed. A distinctive

feature of Methodism from the beginning has

been that it is the duty of all members of the

Church of Christ to work for its advancement,
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so that not only were laymen permitted to

preach and exhort in public assemblies, but

old and young, male and female, were en-

couraged to bear .testimony and to offer

prayer in social meetings established for these

purposes. The effect of this policy soon

became apparent in enlisting the sympathy
and co-operation of persons holding influential

positions in social life, while the great moral

change wrought in their natures attracted the

attention and commanded the admiration of

their ungodly neighbors. There was opposi-

tion, it is true, sometimes from the rector of

the parish, sometimes from the civil officiary,

who, as at New Castle, refused the petition of the

Methodists to use the Court House for re-

ligious assemblage, sometimes from that class

of citizens who asserted that the Methodists

were a body of enthusiasts, and from other

sources; but in the main all were disposed to

favor the development of a higher form of

spiritual life, as it wras apparent among those

who embraced the tenets of Methodism.

Actuated by this spirit, Robert Furniss, the

proprietor of a public Inn in New Castle, J.

Stedham of Wilmington, Isaac Tussey of

Shell-pot Hill, Isaac Hersey who lived west

of Christiana on the Delaware river, and

others already mentioned, exerted all their

influence to support and exemplify the

teachings of the preachers to whom their

houses and hearts were open Thus the

Methodistic spirit was taking hold of the

consciences of individuals in the various com-
munities when as yet there was no system-

matic plan of union adopted throughout the

whole body. The visits of the itinerant

preachers being irregular for several years,

their pastoral oversight was necessarily lim-

ited until at least the year 1774, when Kent

Circuit in Maryland was formed, on the

western line of Delaware, and Chester Circuit

in Pennsylvania', on the eastern line. It had

been made a rule, however, by the preachers

in their first Conference in 1773, that “every

preacher who acts in connection with Mr.

Wesley, and the brethren who labor in

America,” should “strictly avoid administering

the ordinances of baptism and the Lord’s

Supper,” and, also, that “all the people among
whom we labor, be earnestly exhorted to at-

tend the Church,” meaning thereby the Church

of England, “and to receive the ordinances I

I

there.” The Methodists in Delaware there-

fore, while distinct in their classes, were pro-

vided with all needful church aid
; and under

this system William Gill, a native of New
Castle Co., and the first of a noble band of

itinerant ministers from the State, was pre-

pared to enter the Conference on trial as early

as May, 1777.

The Methodist fraternity was now, however,

by the spirit of war and revolution which

raged alarmingly in the country, impelled to

enter upon an untried experience. The rec-

tors in most of the parishes being English

clergymen, abandoned their charges and re-

turned to England, as did, also, all the

preachers who had been sent to America by
Mr. Wesley, except Mr. Asbury. So great

was the feeling against them that they were
canstantly liable to arrest, and Mr. Francis

Asbury, though resolved to remain in this

country, was left by the action of the preach-

ers in their conference in 1778, without any
appointment, and without any recognition of

his position as Mr. Wesley’s assistant. In this

state of affairs he found a retreat in Delaware,

and in February, 1778, found an asylum at the

residence of Thomas White in Kent county.

Methodism had been previously introduced

into this section of the State and a few classes

organized which were under the spiritual over-

sight of the preachers of Caroline circuit, that

had been formed between the years 1777 and

1778. Into this field Mr. Asbury was brought

providentially, and though his protection by
Mr. White caused the arrest of the latter as

“an enemy of the country”, yet he soon had
the satisfaction not only of seeing Mr. White
restored to the bosom of his family, but also

of awakening a deep and fervent religious

spirit in both of the lower counties of the

State Mr. Asbury s reason for his retirement

to Delaware is thus tersely expressed in his

Journal (vol. I. p. 272) “From March 10th,

1778, on conscientious principles I was a non-

juror, and could not preach in the State of

Maryland, and therefore withdrew to the Del-

aware State, where the clergy were not re-

quired to take the State-oath
;
though with a

clear conscience, I could have taken the oath

of the Delaware State had it been required;

and would have done it had I not been
prevented by a tender fear of hurting the

scrupulous consciences of others.” For alittle

1

;
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more than two months he was comparatively

silenced, but the prejudice against him having

gradually subsided, he soon went forth, and

formed the Delaware circuit, which in 1779,

was supplied by the following ministers :

Francis Asbury, Caleb B. Pedicord, Freeborn

Garrettson, Lewis Alfrey and Micaijah Debru-

ler, and reported a membership of 795. While

connected with Caroline circuit, Mr. JohnCoo-

per, one of the preachers appointed thereto, vis-

ited various parts of Delaware forming societies

near Dover, Milford, North West Fork, at Robert

Layton’s, and other places; where Mr. Asbury,

the following year, ministered to the people,

and extending the field of his operations, es-

tablished preaching at Lewis’s, in Murderkill
;

Bowyer’s, near Dover; Hillyard’s, above

Dover; Shockley’s, in Slaughter Neck
;
Ross’s;

White Brown’s
;
Turpin’s, in North West Fork ;

and Broad Creek. To aid him in the great

work before him, the Rev. Freeborn Garret-

son, then a young man, joined him, and being

full of the missionary spirit, did much service

in organizing new' societies, especially m bus-

sex County. The work had spread so rapidly

that before the close of 1778, a circuit was

formed for Mr. Asbury in Kent County, upon

which he entered in January, 1779, and thus

within the following four months established

societies in Dover and other places within a

circle of twenty miles. While in the execu-

tion of this work he was favorably received by

the Rev. Mr. McGaw, “a kind, sensible, friend-

ly minister of the Episcopal Church,” who
both encouraged him in his work, and subse-

quently aided him in the erection of a chapel

for the use of the Methodists.

On the 28th of April, 1779, was held the

first Annual Conference of the Methodist

preachers in Delaware. It was convened at

Thomas White’s, and was held in Delaware,

“for the convenience of the preachers in the

northern stations, that all might have an op-

portunity of meeting in conference, it being

unadvisable for brother Asbury and brother

Ruff, with some others, to attend in Virginia.”

Among the important decisions of that Con-

ference, the following are of great historic

value : In answer to the question “Shall we
guard against a separation from the church di-

rectly or indirectly ?” that Body said “By all

means,” and in harmony with that sentiment,

Mr. Asbury, who was well known to be op-

posed to separation, it was declared, “ought

to act as General Assistant in America, on ac-

count of his age, and his original appointment

to that position by Mr. Wesley.” It will here-

after be seen, that in less than five years, in

the same State, in the same county, and by
the full and hearty endorsement of the same
General Assistant, the important step was
taken which led to the organization of the

Methodist Episcopal Church in the United

States of America. Methodism was now
spreading rapidly throughout the State. Socie-

ties had been formed in Appoquinimink, at

Smyrna (then Duck Creek), probably through

the energy of Mr. Geo Shadford, who had

gone back to England
;
and along the whole

line of the State from Wilmington, to the

Sound in Sussex, where in March. 1779, the in-

defatigable Freeborn Garretson preached the

gospel to a family of Williams’s,most of whom
he had the satisfaction of seeing organized

into a class, with Mr. Williams as leader.

The years 1779 and 1780 became noted as

the time when chapel building began to en-

gage the attention of the Methodists and their

friends. Six of these buildings, viz : Forrest

or Thomas’s near Dover
;
Brown’s or Bethel

in North-West Fork, Sussex; Moore’s in

Broad Creek, Sussex
;

Barratt’s
;

Whites
;

and Cloud’s
;
were begun, though some of

them were not completed for several years.

Forrest Chapel was built mainly through the

instrumentality of the Rev. Mr. McGaw, then

rector of the Episcopal Church in Dover, and

was given over into the hands of the Metho-
dists for their use. This interest was develop-

ing so rapidily that in the Annual Conference

held in April, 1780, a resolution was passed

instructing all the Assistants, i. e. those who
had charge of the circuit, “ to see to the settling

of all preaching houses by trustees,” and pro-

viding that the deeds for the property be

drawn “in substance after that in the printed

minutes.” These buildings were not called

chapels because of the comparatively inexpen-

sive cost of their structure, but because, some-
times they were built mainly through the

enterprise of a private person, or family, and
because they were considered as ecclesiasti-

cally connected with the Episcopal Establish-

ment of the country. Many of Delaware’s

most conspicuous families who, previous to the

Declaration of Independence, were members of
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the Church of England, cheerfully took part

in their construction, and at least one build-

ing, White’s Chapel, had a vestry room at-

tached to it, and was pronounced by Mr. As-

bury, who preached in it for the first time in

Oct. 17S2, to be “ one of the neatest country

chapels the Methodists have on the whole

continent.” The distinct recognition of this

attitude of the Delaware Methodists toward

the Church of England is necessary to account

for the position that the Methodist Episcopal

Church gained from the beginning, in the

hearts of so many of Delaware's chief citizens.

The earnest zeal with which Mr. Asbury and

orther northern preachers withstood the spirit

of separation in Virginia, and other points south,

gave to the Methodists, Dr. Edward White
;

his brother Thomas, afterward Judge White
,

Dr. Ridgley
;

Mr. Smithers
;
Governor Bas-

sett
;
White Brown

;
the Bayards and Cooks

;

and many others, whose prejudices gave away
under the persistent attachment shown by the

Methodists to the church of their fathers. In-

stead of being despised and persecuted, they

became popular, their religious tenets were

examined and embraced, and the services of

the_Church itself became more intensely inter-

esting, as the broken-hearted penitents sought

the table of the Lord, and partook of the

elements typical of the broken body and shed

blood of the Savior of mankind.

As illustrative of the popular regard of all

classes toward the Methodists, a brief his-

tory of a Quarterly Meeting held near Dover,

in 1780, is here given. Mr. Asbury, who had

been overlooking the interests of the work in

Maryland and Virginia, returned to Delaware

his adopted “ home,” for he had become a citi-

zen of the State, and was regularly returned

as such, and to Dover his favorite “place” in

November. Dining with Dr. Ridgley, and

meeting with the Rev. Mr. McGaw, he took

the latter to the quarterly meeting, Saturday,

Nov. 4th, at Barratt’s Chapel, then in process

of construction. Three hundred people were

in waiting. Rev. Mr. McGaw preached the

sermon, and was followed in exhortations by

Messrs. Hartley and Glendenning. On Sunday

there were between one and two thousand

people present, crowding the house “above

and below” while many remained outside.

The love-feast lasted for two hours. Four

hundred people were assembled again on Mon-

day, to whom Mr. Asbury preached, as also

on the previous day. Everywhere the spirit

of affiliation was growing, and despite the noise

of battle heard in all quarters, the flames of

the Methodist fire were ablaze and attracting

the now aroused people to her altars.

In 1781, the Second Annual Conference held

in Delaware was begun at Mr. White’s, April

16th, and afterward adjourned to, and the

session closed, in Baltimore. It was begun in

Delaware, in order “ to examine those who
could not go to Baltimore, and to provide sup-

plies for those circuits where the Lord was more
immediately pouring out His spirit.” The
number of Methodists in Delaware were re-

ported to be 1,052, or about one-tenth of the

whole membership in the country. During
the following years,down to the period of the

organization of the Methodist Episcopal

Church, the number of members, and the work of

evangelization constantly increased, while like-

wise, a spirit of ministerial and ecclesiastical

care arose, which took hold of the children,

and prepared the way for that important

branch of church work, the Sabbath School.

In Delaware, first of all the States, began

this initial movement, as may be seen by the

following extract from the minutes of the Con-

ference of 1779.

Quest. II. “What shall be done with the

Children ?
”

Ans. “Meet them once a fortnight, and ex-

amine the parents with regard to their conduct

towards them.”

In 1780, Mr. Asbury arranged to preach

to the children, at Barrett’s, appointing a

place for them to sit in the chapel, and

requesting the parents “to send a note with

each child,” informing him of “the temper,and

those vices to which the child might be most

subject.” It was the constant course of Mr.

Asbury from this time forward to urge the

preachers to care for the children, and in a few

years schools urere opened for their religious

instruction.

Methodism continuing in its onward course

was gradually preparing, under the superin-

tending care of God, for the step which,

in 17S4, led to the organization of the Metho-

dist Episcopal Church in the United States.

This act was not an act of separation from the

Church of England in America, for, by the

Peace which in 1 7S3 ,
was established between
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Great Britain and the United States of Amer- i

ica,wherein the Independence of the latter was
|

recognized, the Church of England ceased to
j

be a State Church among us, and the parishes
j

and property of that Establishment together
|

with its members, save those who had become

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church,

were subsequently embraced in the Protestant

Episcopal Church. At the time when initia-

tory proceedings were had in Delaware in

1784, the Methodists were without church or-

dinances, and being Episcopalians, as were most

of the inhabitants of the entire Peninsula, were

needing, greatly, such an ecclesiastical sys-

tem as that which Mr. Wesley had devised for

them, in accordance with the earnest petition

of the Methodists of this country. In Barratt’s

Chapel, Kent County, Delaware, on Sunday,

Nov. 14th, 1784, after public worship, and the

Sacrament of the Lord’s Supper, Dr. Thomas
Coke, LL.D., disclosed to Mr. Asbury “the

design of organizing the Methodists into an

Independent Episcopal Church," and this being

communicated to the picacheis preseiu, it was

agreed to call a General Conference to meet in

Baltimore, during the ensuing Christmas. In

this convention the Methodist Episcopal

Church was established, and the Rev. Francis

Asbury, a citizen of Delaware, having been

previously ordained Deacon, and Elder, was,

on the 27th day of December, -A. D. 1784, by

the imposition of the hands of Dr. Coke, as-

sisted by ordained Elders, set apart for the

office of Bishop in the Methodist Episcopal

Church. To the State of Delaware belongs

the honor of giving to the church her first resi-

dent Bishop, the immortal P'rancis Asbury,

while also rests within her consecrated soil the

remains of the venerable Richard Whatcoat,

the second of the line of resident Bishops, who
died at the house of Richard Bassett, Esq., in

Dover, July 5th, 1806, and, from thence, was

buried in the grounds of Wesley Chapel,

Dover. And with equal delight her citizens re-

joice in the saintly character, spiritual wisdom

and might, of her venerable, long loved citizen,

the Rev. Levi Scott, D. D., who, at the time of

his death, July 1 3th, 1882, was Senior Bishop of

the Methodist Episcopal Church.

n.

We proceed now to trace briefly the second

period mentioned in the beginning of this

Article, after the Methodist Episcopal Church

was organized into a separate and indepen-

dent church. It will be seen that the develop-

ment in the State has been uniform, during

the century now closing. To account for this

it must be premised
;
first, that from the be-

ginning of her ecclesiastical life the Metho-
dist Episcopal Church was under such rules as

required a deliberate planning, or system of

Christian life for both the ministry and the laity.

It was demanded of the former that sub-

mission to all ecclesiastical appointments
should govern them

;
that they should do the

work in the field whereunto they might be
sent, and in the manner arranged for them

;
and

of the latter it was required that they, each
of them, should constantly attend the means
of grace, both in the family, and in the church.

Persistent refusal on the part of either class

involved separation from the church, as the

object was not to gain in numbers so much as

to lead men into a deep, solid and useful

Christian life. A second and powerful agency
in her growth, was the spiritual activity, and
intense zeal of the ministers, and officers of

the church, which inspired the private mem-
bers, giving to them such a spirit that from
individual to individuals, and to the whole
the flame of revival was communicated, and
the joyous upbuilding of the whole was ad-
vanced. It u'as this that made the Annual
Conferences, and Quarterly Meetings, held in

the State, seasons of great power, and periods

of the ingathering of souls into the Kingdom
of Christ

;
and that has sent down to posterity

the glowing historical accounts of “big days”
in our earlier Methodist History.

Under the new organization, Methodism in

Delaware, was for the most part placed under
the ecclesiastical supervision of the Rev.
William Gill, (himself a native of Delaware,)

as Presiding Elder. His jurisdiction was over

Dover
;

Caroline, which extended over the

greater part of Sussex County; Somerset,

and Annamessex Circuits. The preachers

associated with him were, for Dover, Samuel
Dudley, and Joseph Wyatt; and for Caroline,

William Cannon, Jesse Lee, and Shores

Bright. William Gill, (see Stevens Hist. M. E.

Church, Vol. II page 36,) was one of the most
eminent itinerants of his times

;
a man of

superior intellect and acquisitions, which so

impressed Dr. Rush, who attended him during

a period of sickness in Philadelphia, as to dis-
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pose that great man ever afterward to defend

the Methodist Ministry against the prevalent

imputations of ignorance and fanaticism. Rush

pronounced him “the greatest divine he had

ever heard.” He was esteemed the most pro-

found, the most philosophic mind in the

Methodist Ministry of his day. He died in

1788, declaring “all is well.”

Among the Converts this year, was Miss

Eunice Tindale of Sussex County, who after-

ward married Mr. Joshua Jefferson, also a

member of the Church. They settled near

Port Penn, in New Castle county,and were in-

strumental in establishing the Asbury chapel

of this region, in the cemetery of which they

are both buried. Many others were also ad-

mitted to membership during this year, of

whom mention may be made as: Garrett Jones,

Elijah Truitt, who set up the family altar in

his father’s home, and was instrumental in

turning the whole family to the Methodist

Church. Eli Shockley and Edward Wheatly,

through whose agency Wheatly’s Chapel, in

North-West-Fork Hundred, was erected. The
work thus encouragingly advanced, continued

to spread during the years immediately follow-

ing, without, however, any new circuits being

organized until 1789, when Milford, Dover and

Duck Creek, were added to the others,and Wil-

mington was entered as a station with William

Jessup as the pastor. The membership in Wil-

mington was 43 whites,and 19 colored. In his

annual visits to these charges, Bishop Asbury
was greatly pleased as he witnessed their pro-

gress, informing us that in 1787, a comfortable

church costing about 20o£ ,
P. C.had been erec-

ted in Smyrna; in 1788, one was in process of

erection at Lewis, and in 1789 he dedicated

the new chapel, Asbury, in Wilmington. The
revival spirit during this year was widely prev-

alent throughout the larger part of the State,

the services in some instances being attended

with the shoutings of the people, and new
fields of labor being opened for the itinerant. It

was about this time that preaching was estab-

lished by the Methodists at Middletown. The
membership of the church, in the State, had
grown to about 3,700.

In 1790, the first Annual Conference was
held in Smyrna

;
where for three years in

succession the citizens entertained the preach-

ers in their Annual session. These were all

seasons of power. Within three weeks after

16

the close of the session of 1790, thirty Mem-
bers were added to the church, while through

the State the marvelous increase of the work

of God was such that 200 members were

added in one year. The spirit of devo-

tion so widely prevalent in the southern por-

tion of the State, did not, it seems, affect the

citizens of Wilmington
;
and for several years

there was no very manifest prosperity. Bishop

Asbury, visiting it in 1791, says “Alas for poor

Wilmington ! when will this people open their

eyes.” Rev. T. Ware, who was stationed in

Wilmington in 1791, described their condition

in the declaration, that the borough was infec-

ted “with a mystical miasm on the subject of

religion which had a deleterious effect on many,

and especially on the youth. They had im-

bibed this moral poison until it broke out in

supercilious contempt of all who were by one

class denounced as hirelings and will-wor-

shippers, and by another as free-willers and

perfectionists. Hence the house in which we

worshiped was surrounded bv hundreds of

these sons of . Belial night after night, w'hile

there were scarcely fifty within. I had, how-

ever, the pleasure of numbering among those

of my charge some of the excellent of the

earth, and much satisfaction in marking their

growth in grace.” (Life of T. Ware, p, 185 et

Seq
)

In 1794, Wilmington was again placed

on Chester Circuit, and was alternately a

station, or embraced in the circuit until 1806,

when a permanent station was formed. In

1795,William Jessup, their first stationed minis-

ter was called to his reward in heaven. He
was a native of Sussex County Del. and united

with the Methodists in 1779 Being greatly

opposed in his religious life, by his father, his

embarrassments were many, but he persistenly

pursued his course, was admitted into the

traveling ministry in 1784, and after serving

the church for eleven years in that capacity

died shouting with his expiring breath “My
work is done ! Glory

!
glory

! glory !”

In 1797, Rev. Ezekiel Cooper was appointed

to Wilmington, which position he held until

the latter part of the ensuing year. Under
his ministry a membership was also raised at

Newport, and weekly sabbath services held,

first in a hall, and afterward in the church of

that place erected in 1798. He found the

church in Wilmington to be embarrassed, by
a spirit of discord and murmuring. The so-
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ciety at Newport was small but very much
united. At that time there was but one white

man in membership, Mr. Miller, but a few se-

lect ladies, such as Mrs. Lattimore, Mrs. Rob-

ertson and Mrs. Miller made the society very

desirable. In 1798, Mr. Cooper, finding that

preaching at Newport every sabbath afternoon,

and at Wilmington twice during the same day,

was too great an undertaking, made his plan

to give the former public service once in two

weeks. In Wilmington the church estab-

lished a singing school, to which the whole

society had free access; it met on Tuesday

night after the close of the prayer meeting,

the object being to practice the singing of

Wesleyan hymns. Wilmington suffered much
during these two years from the malignant

fever, which prevailed so alarmingly that all

who could do so left the town
;

the churches

suffered greatly, and at one time the Metho-

dist population was reduced to twenty persons.

These and other circumstances so affected the

society that after a period of thirty years from

the introduction of Methodism in the borough

only 134 members were reported, 87 whites,

and 47 colored.

The growth of the church was more encour-

aging in other parts of the State, and mem-
bers were added from year to year. Confer-

ences whether Annual or Quarterly, were sea-

sons of great power
;
love-feasts, prayer meet-

ings, and class meetings overflowed with the

melting influences of the Holy Spirit, and the

testimony of the saints who were called to

their heavenly reward impressed those who
witnessed their triumph in the dying hour,

with the solemn, solid and blissful reality of a

life devoted to God and His cause. Among
the many that were thus called away, was

Bishop Asbury's “ dearest friend in America,”

Judge Thomas White who died in 1795. In

speaking of this, the bishop said
;

“ This news
was attended with an awful shock to me. I

have met with nothing like it in the death of

any friend on the Continent. * * I have

lived days, weeks, and months in his house.
* * * He was about sixty-five years of age.

He was a friend to the poor and oppressed
;

he had been a professed churchman, and was

united to the Methodist connection about sev-

enteen or eighteen years. His house and

heart were always open
;
and he was a faith-

ful friend to liberty in spirit and practice
;

he

was a most indulgent husband, a tender father,

and an affectionate friend. He professed per-

fect love, and great peace, living and dying.”

During the Annual Conference held in

Smyrna, in 1792, a new feature was introduced

by Bishop Asbury, that of holding a Confer-

ence with the leaders, local preachers and ex-

horters. In this meeting an account was given

“of their present and past experience
;
the

state of their respective families
;
of the classes

of which they had charge, and of the prospects

of religion where they lived.” The meeting

was attended with great power. In Camden
there had been erected “a neat, economical”

church, mainly through the instrumentality of

Dr. Barratt, son of him who had built Bar-

ratt’s Chapel. As the Bishop pursued his way
through the State, he met everywhere en-

couraging assurances of the advancement of

the cause. Thus it was in the subsequent

visits for the year prior to the period of sick-

ness, and emigration which specially prevail-

ed toward the close of the 1 8th century. In

1795, there was a great revival of religion at

Smyrna, where also was held, in 1797, the An-
nual Conference, during which there was al-

most continual service in the church, night

and day, and many professed conversion.

This Conference session had been appointed

for Philadelphia, but the yellow fever being

prevalent there, was changed to Smyrna. A
clear view of the growth of the Church in the

State may be gained by the following figures :

In 1785 the membership was 1,350; in 1800 it

had increased to 2,800. These figures are ap-

proximative, because the circuits lying con-

tiguous to Delaware, embraced (most of

them) societies within the State, which were

reported in the Annual Minutes, for the cir-

cuit with which they were connected.

The year A. D. 1800 was one of remarkable

success to the church in Delaware. Every-

where the spirit of revival seemed to prevail,

and in some places the most wonderful dis-

plays of divine power were exhibited. In

Dover the Capital, and in Smyrna, the seat of

the Philadelphia Conference for that year, sea-

sons of such glory were experienced, as had

never before been witnessed. In the latter

town, during the.whole week of the Conference

session, said one who was present, the church

was never “empty of people night or day.”

‘T have seen,” he adds, “the people going to
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meeting at r o’clock in the morning. Every
day there was preaching at 5 o’clock, and 11

o’clock A. M., prayer meeting at 4, and

preaching at 7 o'clock P. M. But the congre-

gation continued from one meeting to the

other, some going and others coming contin-

ually. Those who went home could not stay

away but would return again. Worldly busi-

ness of every kind appeared at a stand
;
the

people were singing and praying in almost

every house. Several times a large company
of them went through the streets singing and

rejoicing as they went from private houses to

the preaching house. Numbers of the most re-

spectable and influential people in the State

were there and were as zealous and lively as

any others. The Governor, Mr. Bassett,

was among them, and all in a flame of

love, Zealand faith; the Secretary of State,

Dr. Ridgley, and the Collector of the United

States Revenue for the Delaware District,

Mr. McLane, and various others of the first

station and respectability were full of zeal to

support the glorious work. Multitudes were

awakened and converted, and some of the

most obstinately wicked men in these parts

were conquered by the all prevailing grace.

The Sabbath after Conference there were more

than one hundred who came forward to join

the church in one day, and during the follow-

ing week a number more. Surely, Lord,

this is Thy doing, and it is marvelous

in our eyes. Such shouts of joy, and tri-

umphs of praise ! such harmony and mel-

ody in the midst of the assemblies

!

while some were exhorting, others praying !

some mourning, others rejoicing in salvation

found ! all in (if I may be allowed the paradox)

confusion, and regular order.” These remark-

able scenes were also witnessed at Milford,

where, too, was a large ingathering, and the

increase of members on the three charges into

which the State was divided, was 1,630 in one

year. During the following year the increase

was more than 1,200, and a new circuit was

formed out of Milford, called at first Broad-

kiln, but afterward Lewistown.

The year 1801 is also remembered for being

the period when was first established at

Dover the “Yearly Meeting,” so famous in

Methodist Peninsula Annals. It had been

determined upon at the Smyrna Conference of

1800; and at the earnest solicitation of Gov-

enor Bassett, Dr. Ridgley and others, was to

be inaugurated in the following May. It was
held according to agreement for one week,
and was in charge of the Presiding Elder of

the District. The Rev. Thomas Ware, then
in charge thus describes it : “The meeting was
no less extraordinary' than the one held at the

Conierence” (at Smyrna the previous June.)

“There were but few of the principal houses in

this metropolis, in which there were not

some converted during the meeting
;
and more

than once the whole night was employed, both

in the church and in private houses, in prayer

for penitents and in rejoicing with those who
had obtained an evidence of pardon, or were
reclaimed from their backslidings.” (Life of

T. Ware, p. 234.)

In 1802 another union meeting was held in

Dover, (they began usually' every y
7ear on

Sabbath in Pentecost,) at which much good
was done. There were present about twenty

preachers, who ministered daily to a con-

gregation of three or four thousand persons.

On the Sabbath succeeding torty-tour mem-
bers were taken into the Dover Society on pro-

bation, and others were added in other parts

of the circuit
;
more than one hundred and

fifty having been converted. Dover Circuit

was at this time a six week’s circuit, and was

served by three preachers. To the Rev.

Thomas Smith, who was one of the appointees

for 1802, we are indebted for the following

facts as to the number of classes and preach-

ing places embraced in this field. They were,

Dover, Farrow’s Chapel, Raymond’s, Smyrna,

Blackiston’s Chapel, Guen’s Chapel, Camden,
Thomas’s Chapel, Purnell’s, Fredericka, Bar-

rett's Chapel, Banning’s, and Garrettson’s

Chapel. In describing the circuit Mr. Smith

say's, “never was I among a people who more

cordially received the gospel, and acted out its

principles more fully in their lives. The more

wealthy' and influential part of the community

in this State embraced Methodism at its rise in

the Peninsula
;
this had a happy influence on the

common people —they had less opposition

from the world, and a more ready access to

the means of grace.” This year was one of

great prosperity on the circuit. In less than

five weeks after their entrance upon the work

of the charge, Mr. Smith and his colleagues

took in on probation two hundred and forty-

seven members. In August a season of re-
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markable power was witnessed at Black-
j

iston's. In two days’ services eighty-five per-

sons became the subjects of pardoning mercy,

and gave their names and influence to the

church. A great revival followed, and Black-

iston’s was restored to its old position and

influence in the State. A church was built at

Banning’s during the year, and, at the close,

it was found that four hundred and thirty-

three members had been added to the cir-

cuit.

This year, also, began the Methodist Church

in Laurel, Sussex Co., Del. A class had been

organized in 1801, at George Adams’, who
lived about one mile from Laurel, but the

church having been built in Laurel, the class

at ‘‘Daddy Adam's house ol glory” was dis-

banded, some of the members going to

Moore’s Chapel, and others to Laurel. In no

part of the State, however, was the increase

in membership sc marked, as on Milford Cir-
'

cuit, where during the year nearly eleven
j

hundred were added to the church, and a new
[

circuit, Broadkiln, was formed. So remarkable

was the work of God in the State, that Bishop

Asbury sought to inspire the congregations

in other parts of the country, by publicly

reading to them an account of these remarka-

ble out-pourings of the Spirit.

Success attended the efforts of the ministry

and laity throughout the bounds of the State

during the years 1803 and 4. Broadkiln circuit

was changed to Lewistown Circuit : St. Mar-

tin’s circuit which embraced the larger portion

of Worcester County, Md., included certain

points in lower Sussex
;
and in 1804, Duck

Creek (subsequently Smyrna) circuit was cre-

ated out of Dover circuit. This latter charge

had been connected with Dover for twenty-

five years, and the town of Smyrna, itself, was

regarded as one of the most important stations

in the whole State. The Philadelphia Confer-

ence of 1803, was held here, and like its pre-

decessor of 1800, was remarkable for its spirit-

ual influence. Methodism was supported in

the community, by Joseph Wyatt, in whose

house religious services were held until the

church was built, by Alexander McLane, father

of Hon. Louis McLane, who gave the site on

which the church was erected; by Dr.Cook who
married a daughter of Judge Thomas White,

Mr. Asbury’s fast friend, and by George Ken-

nard, an influential merchant of the town, whose

house, heart and hands were ever open to the

Methodist preachers, and to the cause he rep-

resented. Near this town in 1805, was -held

the first Camp-meeting on the Peninsula. It

commenced on the 25th of July, and was the

beginning of a series that were greatly honored

of God, and instrumental in spreading the

flame of revival in scores, if not hundreds, of

congregations. It was held in a beautiful

grove three miles south of Smyrna, on Far-

son’s hill, near a chapel called Parson’s, and

was attended by thousands from Delaware,

Maryland, Pennsylvania and Virginia. It was

introduced by Rev. Jesse Lee, who also

preached the opening sermon. The following

description of the meeting, from the pen of

: an eye witness, furnishes the only authentic

I
account we have of this great meeting. Says

the writer :

“The camp was formed in a beautiful piece

of woods, as if nature had prepared it lor the

purpose. The trees were large and so nigh

together that their foliage extended to each

other and formed a natural bower sufficient to

shade more than fifty thousand persons. Under

those trees it was clear of under-brush, also

level and agreeable
;
on the side was a brook,

and several living springs to supply both man
and beast with water. There were seats pre-

pared for about 4000 people, and a stand

erected for the preachers in the most eligible

place and manner. Around these seats at a

suitable distance were about 200 tents erected

for the people to sleep and live in. There

were about 1000 carriages ol different descrip-

tions. The meeting continued four days and

nights with .very little intermission. There

were 29 traveling and 34 local preachers be-

sides the official characters, exhorters, leaders

etc., and there were supposed to be from eight

to ten thousand people. Here I am at a loss

to give a description of the work. The divine

presence, grace and power made the place

truly awful, wonderful and astonishing. Such

a time my eyes never beheld. It far exceeded

any idea I had formed of the American Camp-
meetings, although I had heard and read

wonderful accounts of them in the Magazines.

The power and grace of God were so conspic-

uous in the conviction and conversion of sin-

ners, and in the sanctifying of believers that

light and glory appeared to fill the camp both

day and night.
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The order of proceedings from day to day

was as follows : At five o’clock in the morning

two trumpets blew as a signal for morning
prayer; at 8 o’clock preaching; at 3 o'clock

preaching
;
and at 8 o’clock p. m., preaching.

Signals for each were given by the blasts of

trumpets. The intermediate times were taken

up in praying, singing, and other religious

exercises in the camp and tents. The camp was

illuminated all night with lamps or candles.

I presume that no one can form a correct

idea of the grandeur and solemnity of the

scene who was not an eye-witness. I candidly

confess that I have not language to depict it in

its full and august appearance. From time to

time scores were struck to the ground,some ap-

pearing lifeless, others, again, crying, with the

most lamentable anguish, to God for mercy,

others finding peace and shouting praises and

glory to God, while happy believers in ecsta-

cies of joy and gladness were mingling their

tears and voices in praises and hallelujahs to

God and the I amb. Tn the course of the four

days, the preachers calculated from three to

four hundred who were converted to God, be-

side the numbers who were awakened and left

the place without finding peace. To give a

minute detail of the whole meeting would

make a volume. It was very remarkable that

in such a concourse of people of all descrip-

tions, there was the greatest order and gov-

ernment. However, for the purpose of keep-

every thing in proper order, there were seven

justices of the peace, and seven constables,

and two sheriffs, together with a large guard

of men constantly on the ground, so that any

person or persons who might have been dis-

posed to disturb, or breed disorder were kept

in awe and terror. Men of the first respecta-

bility gave their constant attendance, some of

whom were as much engaged in the work as

any on the ground. Especially, I could but

remark, in a particular manner, the Hon.

Richard Bassett, Esq., who had filled a num-

ber of the first offices of State, and was lately

Governor of the State where the meeting was

held
;
this gentleman appeared like an humble

child among God’s people, singing, praying,

exhorting, etc., etc., and Abraham Ridgley,

Esq., late Secretary of State, and brother

to the present Chancellor, was remarkably

zealous and headed the civil authority to keep

good order, and suppress any who might at-

tempt to interrupt or disturb the meeting.

This meeting closed at 7 o’clock on the morn-
ing of the 29th of July, and a most affecting

scene it was. After blowing trumpets round

the camp, the preachers collected at the stand

before all the assembly. They fell on each

others necks and wept, and then dismissed a

weeping congregation. O, my God ! what a

scene ! the impressions it made upon my heart

and soul are indelible.”

The writer of the above was an English-

man, on a visit to the United States, who on

his return East, prepared the description, for

the Wesleyan Magazine.

Three months later, October 25th, was be-

gun at Moore’s Chapel in Sussex county, the sec-

ond camp meeting, which like its predecessor

was a season of revival, the influence of which

was felt in all parts of the Peninsula. From
this time they became fixed seasons in the

work of the church, and for many years an-

nual gatherings were held at places, such as

Red Lion, Concord, etc., which have become
famous in this respect. In 1806, the vestry of

Christ’s Church (Episcopal) invited the Meth-
odists to hold a camp meeting on the grounds

of that church. It was in Broad Creek Hun-
dred, about two miles from Laurel, and such

was the power attendant upon the exercises

that Methodism received new impulse, and

fields hitherto unopened were made accessi-

ble. The increase in membership during the

year was not less than one thousand.

While the church was rejoicing over the vic-

tories won for the Lord, she was called to

drop tears of affection over the departure of

some of her most efficient workers. In Octo-

ber, 1804, the Rev. Wilson Lee, a native of

Sussex County, was called to his eternal re-

ward. He had attained to great distinction

in the ministry, and was noted for the correct-

ness of his life, the affability of his manners,

the fervency of his spirit, the energy of his

ministry, and his power of adapting his dis-

courses to the condition and character of his

hearers.

On the 5th of July, 1806, at the residence of

the venerable Richard Bassett, Esq., in Dover,

the beloved Bishop Whatcoat gave his soul to

God and his body to the dust. His remains

were deposited under the altar of Wesley
Chapel, Dover. He was as the venerable

Henry Boehm tells us, “As a man most re-
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markable, for in him was blended a dignity

that commanded reverence, and a humility

and sweetness that inspired affection.” His

first Episcopal service was rendered in the

State where lie his remains. As a bishop he

was skillful in presiding, safe in council, and
wise in judgment. As a preacher, few ex-

celled him in melting and moulding an audi-

ence to perfect sympathy with his theme. As
a Christian he walked in the light of God, and

had tenderest fellowship with his brethren.

His knowledge of the Bible was so extensive

and accurate that he was regarded as a “ walk-

ing concordance.” His virtues were celebrated,

known and honored, and though his career in

the episcopacy was short, he inspired all who
knew him with the deepest respect, and ad-

miration for him as an officer, a Christian, and

a man.

In i8c6, Methodism on Dover Circuit was
greatly advanced by means of two camp-meet-
ings, one held in June, at which there were

eleven hundred conversions, and one in July,

near Dover, at which there were one thousand

three hundred and twenty conversions. The
additions to the church within the bounds of

the State were about fifteen hundred. In the

latter part of the year, another of the veteran

itinerants, a native of New Castle County, was

called to his reward, the Rev. James Lattomus.

He was a man of delicate constitution, but had

a vigorous mind, and was upright in his walk,

and demeanor.

During this year the spirit of controversy

disturbed, as it did in following years, the

whole Peninsula. There were two subjects on

which the disputants were engaged, viz

:

“The validity of Methodist Episcopacy,” and

“Shouting.” The controversy on the first sub-

ject was begun in the “Easton Star,” March

2 5 th. 1806, and continued till Nov. 1 8 1 h ,
1806.

It is questionable whether in any age of the

church a more exhaustive treatment ol the mat-

ter discussed was ever had. The strong men
of both the Protestant Episcopal, and Metho-

dist Episcopal Churches were called out, both

clerical and lay, all of whom displayed culti-

vation and research, as well as a delicacy of

expression so essential to gentlemen. Among
the clergy who were known to be engaged in

the controversy were the Rev. Simon Wilmer,

Dr. Kemp and Bishop White, of Pennsylvania,

on the part of the P. E. Church, and Revs.

Joseph Wyatt, John McCloskey and J. Polhe-
mus, of the M. E. Church. 1 he controversy
on “Shouting” began in August, 1805, and was
continued for several months, until the subject

had stirred up much animosity against the

Methodists, on the part of their opponents,
and decided spiritual independence on the part

of the Methodists themselves. These stric-

tures served to draw the lines between the de-

nominations very closely
;
and soon the es-

trangement between the P. E. Church and the

M. E. Church was so marked, that the churches
of the former Body ceased to be opened to the

latter. It was not so prior to the introduction

of the controversies' above mentioned, except
in a few rare instances.

Notwithstanding these controversies, the

Methodist Episcopal Church continued to
!

prosper and develop her power in great re-

ligious revivals, in church building and in pre-

paring the way for the firm establishment of

the Kingdom of Christ throughout the entire

State. From year to year new classes were
formed in new places for preaching

;
and I

though there was no numerical increase in the

agg regate >
the status of the Church bore the !

same relative relation to the population that i

it had hitherto gained. Says Bishop Simpson,
(Cyc. of Methodism, p. 283), “In no State in

the Union has Methodism a larger member-
\

ship in proportion to the population than in

Delaware.” For more than a quarter of a cen-

tury the population of the State was but
j

slightly increased, and for the same period

there was only a maintenance, on the part of

the Church, of her numerical strength. An
approximative estimate may be seen by the

following comparison: In 1810 the member-
ship of the M. E. Church in the State was
nearly 6,00c; in 1820, 7,000; in 1830, less

than 6,000, the deficiency through the latter

decade being almost wholly confined to the

diminution of colored members. There were,

however, many churches erected, and the gen-

eral spirituality maintained, while those who
were called away by death bore the testimony

in the hour of departure that filled all hearts

with gladness. Of these, two must be men-
tioned, at least,because of their official relation

to the Church in Delaware; the Honorable

Richard Bassett and the Rev. Bishop Francis

Asbury. The former died in the summer of

1815.
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Of Bishop Asbury, it is eminently proper

that mention be made, herein, because he was

a citizen of Delaware, having adopted it as

his state during the stormy days of the Ameri-

can Revolution, and having traveled uninter-

ruptedly through other States under a pass

issued by the governor of his adopted State.

(See Biographical Department for both.)

On the 2ddayof July, 1 8 r 8, another of Del-

aware’s favorite sons, the Rev. Daniel Moore,

the uncle of the late Chancellor of Delaware,

Daniel Moore Bates, who bore his name,

was called to his reward in Heaven. He was

a descendant of the family in whose house

Methodism first began in Sussex County. He
was a “good minister of Jesus Christ,” and

though physically frail, was spiritually strong,

lived a life of purity and devotion to God and

his works, and died in the possession of uninter-

rupted peace of soul, and the strongest confi-

dence in God. His character was deserving

of the high encomiums it received, and his

life vvds worthy of that spirit of imitation

which his relatives and others sought to im-

press upon their children.

While, during this decade, the M. E. Church

made not its usual progress, in the State, the

apathy was upon other denominations also, an

illustration of which may be seen by an ex-

tract from the report of the Peninsular Con-

vention of the P. E. Church, held in Cam-
bridge, Md., October 13th, 1819. From that

report it will be seen that of the thirteen

churches of that denomination in the diocese

of Delaware, there were but four parish minis-

ters; one in Sussex county, one in Kent, and

two in New Castle.

In 1816, the African Methodist Episcopal

Church was formed, and was composed of

members who withdrew from the Methodist

Episcopal Church. (See African Methodist

Episcopal Church.) This caused a diminution

of colored members from year to year, until

in 1854, the Delaware Conference was organ-

ized, when they ceased to be reported in the

minutes of our Peninsular clergymen as un-

der the charge of white pastors. (See Dela-

ware Conference of M. E. Church, colored.)

The Philadelphia Annual Conference of 1S20

was held in Smyrna, and in 1821, in Milford,

Del. In 1827, the Body again met in Smyrna
;

and, as has been seen, such was the favor with

which the preachers looked upon the inhabi-

tants of this town, that their Conference visits

have been more frequent than to any other

borough in the State. The following histori-

cal record will furnish a cause for their devo-

tion to this part of the State. Says a writer

:

“On the part of the inhabitants of Smyrna no

attentions were wanting to render the preach-

ers comfortable and happy. The members of

this Conference will long retain in grateful and

pleasing remembrance the kindness and hospi-

tality of their Smyrna friends.

“The labors of the preachers in Smyrna
seem to have been blessed. The word of

reconciliation administered by them was made
the power of God unto the salvation of

many, and a number of souls gave evidence

that they were savingly converted to God.

Many more, after the rising of the Conference,

remained with the arrows of the Almighty

sticking fast in their consciences, and groaning

the publican’s prayer, God be merciful to me
a sinner.’

”

There was much controversy during the de-

cade from 1820 to 1830, on the subject of an

elective presiding-eldership. Memorials were

sent to the General Conference from time to

time, asking for a change, and the petitioners,

failing in their prayer, took steps toward the

organization of an independent church. This

was consummated in 1830, and, by it, the nu-

merical strength of the elder church was less-

ened, in Delaware, and on the whole Penin-

sula. Moore’s Chapel, the first chapel built in

Sussex County, was turned over into the

hands of the new denomination, until, by the

recovery of the original deed, the property

was proved to belong legitimately to the

Methodist Episcopal Church, and thereafter

was held without disputation. (See History of

Methodist Protestant Church.)

In April, 1828, Rev. Jacob Moore, father of

Hon. D. M. Bates, fell asleep in Jesus at the

house of his beloved friend, Dr. Bates, in

Dover. He was born in Sussex County in the

year 1791. In 1815 he entered the itinerancy

in the Philadelphia Conference. His minis-

terial labors were chiefly in New Jersey and in

the Peninsula, composed of the State of Dela-

ware and the Eastern Shores of Maryland and

Virginia. “He was an exemplary Christian,

and an able minister of the gospel. His appli-

cation to study was intense, and his proficiency

great. But he had an extremely feeble body
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and was several times, during the course of his

ministry, brought to the verge of the grave,

and almost miraculously raised up again, to

pursue his sacred vocation. He gave the most

satisfactory assurances, (when brought to his

death sickness.) that he was dying in the

Lord.” (See An. Conf. Minutes, 1S29, p. 41.)

Methodism in Wilmington, Del., during

these years made considerable progress, as the

following figures will show : In 1810 the mem-
bership in the one church, Asbury, was, whites,

132 ;
colored, 134. In 1829 it was, of whites,

347 ;
colored, 90.

In 1832, the first session of the Annual Con-

ference in Wilmington was held; Bishops
!

McKendree and Hedding presiding, and Rev.

George G. Cookman acting as secretary. Mr.

Cookman, after the close of the conference,

made a report to the Christian Advocate, an

abstract from which is here given. He said :

“ The preachers are all agreed in affirming

that this has been one of the most delightful
j

seasons they recollect. The romantic situa-

tion of this pleasant town, the hospitality of

our friends, the general harmony of sentiment

and feeling, and above all, the gracious pres-

ence of the great Head of the Church, in all

the services connected with the Conference,

leave upon our minds a delightful retrospect

as we go forth to fields of future labor.”

The progress of the Methodist Episcopal

Church in Wilmington, though during the

first thirty years of its existence tardy, began

now to spread with rapidity, as a brief review

of its history will show. In 1845, under the

pastoral care of the Rev. John Kennady, St.

Paul’s M. E. Church was begun
;
in 1848, the

Orange Street Church, afterward called Union,

started out from Asbury. In 1 866 the old

property was sold, and a beautiful church was

erected at the corner of Fifth and Washington

streets. Scott Church was organized in 1854;

Brandywine in 1856, and Grace Church, one of

the finest specimens of church architecture in

the United States, was built in 1866, as a cen-

tenary offering.

To follow out in detail the work of the

Methodist Episcopal Church in Delaware,

would swell this article into a volume
;

it is,

therefore, necessary to omit much that might

be given, and chiefly to embrace the history

of the last half century in tabulated state-

ments. This course will be acceptable to the

reader when it is considered that the many
thrilling historical facts all through the State

are familiar to the citizens and may be learned

in conversation in many households. The
period for these tables is herein set forth in

two forms, the first extending from 1832 to

1869, the time of the organization of the Wil-

mington Annual Conference of the Methodist

Episcopal Church, and the second, from the

latter date to the year 1882. The figures for

1832 are necessarily meagre because there was

not at that time the same scrupulous care to

publish the statistical facts of the work of the

church, as afterward obtained. The facts for

|

that year will be, therefore, limited :

' '

Church
Charges. Members

Churchos
and

Parsonag’s
Value.

j

S. Schools Scholars.

1832

1869
5 6, 100

37 10,898 123 $602,200.00
1

»37 11.752

The number of church members in 1869,

while showing a large increase, would have

|

been greater, had the colored members been

|

included as in 1832 ;
but they had withdrawn

after 1854, and ceased to be reported except

in their own Conference records.

While in 1832, there were five charges in the

State, only one of these, Wilmington, was a

station. During the interval between that

year and 1869, the four circuits had been con-

verted into thirty-six charges of which the

following were stations ; Mount Salem, New-
port, New Castle, Delaware City, Port Penn,

Smyrna, Middletown, Odessa, Dover, Felton,

Milford, Seaford and Laurel; while from the Wil-

|

mington charge, had grown, St. Paul’s Union,

!
Scott, Grace and Brandywine. In the State,

! outside of these stations, the following circuits

had been formed : Newark, St. George’s and
Summit, Christiana, Smyrna circuit, Camden,
Fredericka and Barrett’s Chapel, Willow
Grove, Harrington, Leipsic and Raymond’s,
Bridgeville, Bethesda and Bethlehem, Frank-
ford, Millsborough, Lewes, Milton, George-
town, Lincoln City 'and Gumborough. In

1832, the whole church in the State was served

by eleven ministers
;

in 1869, the number had
been increased to forty-nine. The number of

local preachers scattered throughout the State

had grown to forty-seven, and these with the

many official members were capable of exert-

ing an influence in every direction, that has

proved vital to the maintenance of the most

j

influential denomination in the State.
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Of the period between the years 1869, and
1882, a fuller exhibit may be furnished, as will

be seen in the following table.

Year.

Charges.

|
Ministers.

|

Members.
Churches.

Value.

1

O

,-S

*

3nI
R
A

I
5
"5

c/>

cA

Scholars.

JU

ill
A

I869
1882

37 49
53

10,898; ic8

13,820 1 1

5

$55*.6co 00
685,500.00

15

24

$50,600
55,60O

121 n.752
*37 *3.294

$28,956.39 !

42,082.00
;

If this table be compared with the popula-
j

tion of the State in 1880, it will be perceived

that the ratio of increase within the church,

has been equivalent to that within the State

as compared with the previous decade.

The educational and benevolent work of

the Church may be mentioned with grateful

thought, and with cherished regard for the

noble spirits that have given their attention
!

and means in this direction. The Wilmington

Conference Academy, located at Dover, is a

monument of the enterprise and talent of men
some of whom have entered into the Church

Triumphant in Heaven, while the vigorous

pursuits of methods to spicad our Holy Chris -

tianity show that the Methodist Episcopal

Church in Delaware, is fulfilling her mission

with equal earnestness and assiduity, and

proportionate responsibility with the sister

churches in the State.

DELAWARE CONFERENCE OF THE
METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

(COLORED.)

HEN freedom was proclaimed “through-

out a11 tlie land to the ’^habitants

thereof,” and from its baptism of blood

and fire, the American Nation rose to

the actual of that ideal furnished and taught

in her Declaration of Independence, simul-

taneously there rose new conditions for the

colored people of the United States, in eccle-

siastical, as well as in civil matters. From

Mason and Dixon’s Line, Southward, and up

as high as the boundary Northward of the

Delaware State Line, colored members of the

Methodist Episcopal Church were counted in

Conference and Statistical reports with the

Conference returns of the white membership,

under the general cognomen of colored mem-
bers. Believing that a separation which would

*7

give them colored ministers, and conferences,

and churches, and Sunday schools, would oc-

casion the development of self-reliance, in-

telligence, and a larger enthusiasm in church

work, such separate but not independent

organization occurred by direction and pro-

vision of the General Conference, of the

Methodist Episcopal Church, held in May,
1864. In that year Bishop Edmund S.

Janes, of blessed memory, organized the

Delaware Conference. The first session was
called together in Philadelphia, and the

success of the separate organization of the

colored members into churches of their own,

demonstrated this as a wise measure in the

present church.

The geographical bounds of the Delaware

Conference are not indicated by its name,
but its territory embraces portions of Mary-
land and Virginia on the South, of Pennsyl-

vania on the North, and of New Jersey on the

East. It has twelve distinct pastoral charges in

the State of Delaware
; and members in every

hundred, in the several counties of the state.

The names of the charges are as follows :

Dover, Milford, Ezion Wilmington, Wilming-
ton Circuit, New Castle, Odessa, Middletown,

Smyrna. Townsend, Bridgeville, Laurel, Leaves,

and Dover Circuit. There are thirteen pas-

tors, (traveling preachers,) and thirty-seven

churches, two thousand eight hundred mem-
bers, and thirty (30) local preachers, with 34
Sunday Schools, and 1849 scholars.

THE AFRICAN METHODIST EPISCO-
PAL CHURCH.

Rev T. G. Steward, D. D.

HE African Methodist Episcopal Church

. .
was formally organized in Philadelphia,

Pa. on the 9th day of April 1816, by a

(£)' convention composed of the following

named delegates, to wit : Richard Allen, Jacob

Tapsico, Clayton Durham, James Champion,

and Thomas Webster of Philadelphia
;
Daniel

Coker, Richard Williams, Henry Harden,

Stephen Hill, Edward Williamson and Nicho-

las Gailliard of Baltimore, Md
;
Peter Spencer

of Wilmington, Del
;
Jacob Marsh, Edward
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Jackson and William Andrew of Attleborough,

Pa
;
and Peter Cuff of Salem, New Jersey.

Richard Allen was chosen first bishop and

set apart for that office on the it of April 1 8 1 6.

The present bishops of the church are Daniel

A. Payne, D. D., LL.D., Alexander W. Way-
man, D. D., Jabez P. Campbell, D. D

, LL D.,

James A. Shorter, Thomas M. D. Ward, D. D.,

John M. Brown, D. D., Henry M. Turner, D. D.,

William F. Dickerson, D. D., and Richard H.

Cain, D. D.

There are at present 34 Annual Confer-

ences, occupying nearly all the territory of the

United States. The Conferences- are grouped

in nine Episcopal Districts, each presided over

by a Bishop, subject to change every four years^

at the sitting of the General Conference.

There is one Publishing House at 631 Pine

street, Philadelphia, where the Christian Re-

corder, the weekly church organ, is regularly

published. Rev. B. T. Tanner D. D., author

of several important publications, has occupied

the position of Ediior in the chief for nearly

sixteen years.

The Churches of this denomination in Dela-

ware are included within the Philadelphia An-
nual Conference, and are located in all the

important towns, and country settlements.

There are fourteen appointments within the

State, including Missions. The largest churches

are in Wilmington and Smyrna.

The church in Wilmington, known as

“Bethel Church,” of this denomination is, per-

haps, the handsomest church built by colored

people in the country. It is nearly 50 ft. by

70 ft., constructed in the most modern style,

costing over $20,000, including the value of

the lot, and the old building torn down and

used in building the new church.

Among the present bishops, bishops J. M.

Brown and J. P. Campbell, are natives of this

State
;

the former having been born near

Odessa and the latter in Slaughter’s Neck.

The church government, while indepen-

dent as an organization, is regularly Meth-

odist Episcopal, having bishops consecrated

for life, to whom is given the power of

stationing the ministers. Wilberforce Univer-

sity, near Xenia, Ohio, B. F. Lee, D. D., Presi-

dent, is the principal denominational school,

with several minor schools in various parts of

the South : The ministry numbers about 1200

regular itinerants, and the membership is

reported at 400,000.

METHODIST PROTESTANT CHURCH.

j? HIS branch of Methodism obtained an

organized form in the city of Baltimore,

November 12th, 1828. A convention

of Ministers and Laymen met in that

city at this date, and seventeen Articles of

Association were drawn up and agreed to,

which were ta form a Provisional Government
for the new organization. This organization

was known as “The Associated Methodist

Churches,” and was to subsist only until a

Constitution and Book of Discipline could be

provided by a subsequent Ecclesiastical Con-

vention. But provision was made that in ail

things done toward completeness of denomin-

ational organization, the lay element should

have an equal voice with the ministers; and

from the first, the equal rights of the laymen in

I

all church councils were to be secured, as well
' in framing as in carrying out her Constitu-

|

tion and Discipline. On the 2d day of No-
: vember 1830, in the same city in St. John’s

I
church, Liberty street, such a convention met

|

and was organized. Its President was Rev.
1 Francis Waters, D. D., of Baltimore, its Sec-

retary, Rev W. C. Lipscomb, of Georgetown,

Va
,
and its Assistant Secretary, Mr. W. S.

Stockton, of Philadelphia.

After a session of three weeks, there was

adopted and published the Constitution, and

Book of Discipline, of the Methodist Protest-

ant Church. It is noticeable in the History of

the Church of Wesley that all divisions since his

i death, whether occurring in Europe or Amer-
'

ica, and they have been numerous, have in-

|

variably retained the Doctrinal System of



.
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Methodism. This Doctrinal System is the

creed of 5,000,000 members
;
and an aggregate

of 23,000,000 of persons are under its teach-

ings in the world. The Methodist Episcopal

Church as organized in Baltimore, Mch, in

1784, it was claimed, placed all the legis-

lative, judicial and executive power in the

hands of the ministry, to the exclusion of the

laity. From 1820 some of the ministers and

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church,

North and South, and especially in Pennsylva-

nia, Maryland and Virginia, desired to reform

that church in some of the chief features of its

Government. These ministers and laymen

wished organic changes made, making the

church more democratic or republican in its

government, and sought to bring about such

change by petition to the General Conference

of 1824, and to that of 1828. Considerable bit-

terness ofspirit was engendered on both sides

—

there was really no principle at stake in the

matter, as is shown in the fact that the Metho-

dist Episcopal Church has,within 25 years past,

admitted laymen to both her Annual and Gen-

eral Conferences; yet at this period many of

those who then sought these and other re-

forms in the Parent Church were expelled

from her communion, not for immoral acts,

but, as it was technically called in “charges”

upon which they were tried, “for inveighing

against the Discipline :
” (meaning form of gov-

ernment of the Methodist Episcopal Church.)

Many others withdrew, and of those thus ex-

pelled, and withdrawn, the Methodist Protest-

ant Church was organized. Among them

were men distinguished for piety and talent.

Revs. Nicholas Snethen and Asa Shinn, intel-

lectually, had few superiors in any of the pul-

pits in America, while such laymen as VV. S.

Stockton and his compeers were men of great

intelligence and high social standing.

The late Rev. Thos. H. Stockton, D. D.,

131

one of the most eloquent preachers in Amer-
ica, who for many years was an itinerant min-
ister of the Methodist Protestant Church, and
at one time Chaplain to Congress, was the son
of the assistant secretary of this first Conven-
tion held for the purpose of organizing the

Methodist Protestant Church, in the City of

Baltimore
;
and the Annual Conferences have

had, from their earliest History, men of such

reputation and brilliant talents as would reflect

credit on any church.

Classes, Churches and Conferences were
rapidly formed, and a great degree of success

attended this form of Methodism up to 1858,

which year saw it dismembered, as Slavery

had dismembered almost every other church

organization of prominence in America, before

this period.

In this division they lost about one-half

their membership. This church was re-united

in 1877. After half a century its “Jubilee”

or semi-centennial Conference, held in Cen-
treville. Md., in 1879, recorded 44 Annual Con-

ferences, 1300 itinerant, and 900 unstationed,

ministers, and 120,000 in church membership,

with a church property of $3,000,000 dollars.

That portion of this church lying in the

State of Delaware, belongs to the Maryland

Annual Conference, and consists of the fol-

lowing pastoral charges
;
Wilmington, Clay-

ton, Harrington, Laurel, Leipsic, Seaford, Mil-

ton, Sussex, besides three others within the

State of Maryland, but some of whose members

are resident citizens of Delaware.

These charges represent seven traveling

or itinerant ministers, fifteen churches, and

one thousand one hundred members. There

are seventeen Sunday Schools and eleven hun-

dred and seventy-seven scholars, and church

property valued at Thirty-five Thousand Three

Hundred Dollars.
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THE BAPTISTS OF DELAWART J.

HE Baptists of Delaware, in common
with all Regular Baptists in the United
States, accord in their belief, so far as

the.doctrines of grace are concerned,

with the Presbyterians,while their form

of church government is Congregational. They i

hold, besides, that the Ordinances of Baptism
|

and the Lord’s Supper are exclusively for the

regenerate, that Bible baptism is the immer-

sion only of none but believers in water, and

that the baptized believers only should be in-

vited to the Lord's table. Judging no man,

they would yet stand firmly for the truth as

they understand it, asking for themselves no

more than the liberty which they cheerfully

accord to and maintain for all others.

The Baptists of Delaware may be divided

into early and later, in respect to the date of

the origin of their churches.

I. The Early Baptist Churches.

The Welsh Tract Church.

Sixteen Baptists in Wales, about to mi-

grate to America, formed themselves into a

Baptist Church in 1701, with Rev. Thomas
Griffith, one of their number, as pastor. They
came to Pennypack, now in Philadelphia,

Penna., where there was a Welsh Baptist

Church. Leaving in this place some of their

number, and receiving accessions in return,

they removed, in 1703, to Iron Hill, in the

Welsh Tract, New Castle County, Delaware,

at that time and till 1776 a part of Pennsylva-

nia. A small meeting-house was then erected

upon the sight now occupied by the present

one, built in 1746. Their principles soon spread

in Delaware, and into Pennsylvania and Mary-

land, and to Pedee river, South Carolina.

“The number and influence of the denomi-

nation in this State for many years was small,

yet it was for a long time equal in proportion

to the population, to any of the Middle I

States.” Benedict’s History of the Baptists,
j

The following, while exhibiting their

j

patriotism, shows also their strength and influ-

ence : “John Adams, of Massachusetts,’’says Dr.

Wm. Cathcart, (Centennial Vol., p. 62,) “was
on some occasions the bitterest enemy of the

Baptists in Revolutionary days, and yet he

gives them considerable credit for bringing

Delaware from the gulf of disloyalty, to the

brink of which he declares ‘The Missionaries

of the London Society for the Propagation of

the Faith in Foreign Parts’ had brought her,

to the platform of patriotism.” “Life and
works of John Adams by Charles Francis

Adams, X., 812.
”

“The community at Welsh Tract, in early

times, held a respectable stand among the

American Baptists
;

it was one of the five

churches which formed the Philadelphia Asso-
ciation

;
its ministers were among the most

active in all Baptist operations, and the whole
concern was not behind any of the members of

that quintuple alliance.” Benedict’s Baptist His-

tory, p.626. In i79oMorgan Edwards wrote:

“The Delaware Baptists are Calvinistic in doc-
trine, and differ little or nothing in discipline
from their brethren in neighboring States.”

Materials for a Baptist History, Delaware,

p. 224.

The following is a list of the pastors of

Welsh Tract Church and the period of their

service in the order of their succession. For
seventy years the pastors were of Welsh ex-

traction:—Rev Thos Griffith,from 1701 to 1725;

Rev. Elisha Thomas, from 1725 to 1730; Rev.

Enoch Morgan, from 1730 to 1740; *Rev.
Owen Thomas, from 1740 to 1748 ;

*Rev.
David Davis, from 1734 to 1769; Rev. John
Sutton, from 1770 to 1 7 77 ;

Rev. John Boggs,

from 1781 to 1802
;
Rev. Gideon Ferrell, from

1802 to 1820; Rev. S. W. Woolford, from 1822

to 1830; Elder Samuel Trott, from 1831 to

1832; Elder Wm. K. Roberson, from 1833 to

*Associate pastors for a part of the time indicated.

BY REV. RICHARD B. COOK, D. D.

:
p. 626
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1836; Elder Thomas Barton, from 1839 to

1869; Elder G. W. Staton, from 1871 to 1872;

Elder Wm. Grafton, in 1S77; no pastor in

1879.

In 1778 Rev. Elijah Baker, and in 1779,

Rev. Philip Hughes, both of Virginia, came to

Delaware, and preached for about a year.

Many were converted and baptized, and sev-

eral churches were organized. They received,

in their work, the hearty co-operation of the

Baptist ministers and churches.

The First Wilmington Church.
The first Baptist church organized in Wil-

mington was formed mainly through the efforts
|

of Thomas Ainger, (a Presbyterian from Phila-

delphia, whose wife was a Baptist. He main-

tained worship regularly in his family, which

his apprentices attended, and a religious

interest was awakened ) Messrs. Fleeson and

Boggs, Baptist ministers, preached by invita-

tion at his house, and Mr. Ainger and others

were baptized upon profession of their faith in

Christ. Rev. Phillip Hughes preached in the

town school-house, and at Mr. McKennan’s
(Presbyterian) church, and baptized several

belonging to Mr. Ainger’s household. Finally

sixteen were constituted a church, October 8,

1785. Their meeting house, then built, still

stands on King street, opposite the new Court

House. One of the constituent members was

Mrs. Elizabeth Way, a woman of superior

mental and moral worth, and well known in

her day. The pastors of the church have

been : Rev. Thomas Fleeson, from 1785 to

1788 ;
Rev. Thomas Ainger, from 1788 to

1797 ;
Rev. Joseph Flood, for a short time

;

Rev. Daniel Dodge, from 1802 to 1819
,
Rev.

Sami. R. Green, from 1819 to 1824 ;
Rev. D.

D. Lewis, from 1824 to 1826
;

Rev. J. D.

Strumpfer, from 1826 to 1827; Rev. John P-

Peckworth, from 1827 to 1838, including an

intermission
;
and between the years 1838 and

1862, Revds. John Miller, Alfred Earle, Joseph

Smart, Wilson Housel, William Matthews,

Samuel Earle, and Elder E. Rittenhouse who
came in 1858.

From 1862 to 1878 this church alternated

between the Philadelphia and the Delaware

Associations, belonging first to the one and

then to the other. It is now connected with
j

the latter, 1

List of the Early Churches.
The following is a list of the early churches,)

with the date of organization : Welsh Tract,

New Castle Co. 1701 ;
Sounds, Sussex Co.

1779 ;
Broadcreek, Sussex Co. 1781 ;

Mount
Moriah, Kent Co. 1781

;
Bryn Zion, Kent Co.

1
17S1

;
Mispillion, Kent Co. 1783 ;

Gravelley-

branch, Sussex, Co. 1785 ;
First Wilmington,

1785, and Bethel, New Castle Co. a mission

of Welsh Tract established in 1786, but not

constituted a church until 1839. Besides, there

were formed, in the early part of this century,

three other churches, the Bethel, in Sussex

Co.; Little Creek and Millsborough. The
three latter, with the Sound and Broad Creek
churches belonged to the Salisbury Associa-

tion, which was formed in 1782, and composed
mostly of churches in Maryland.

The Delaware Baptist Association.

“The Delaware Baptist Association” was
formed in 1795, of 5 churches in Delaware and
one in Maryland. Three of the churches with-

drew from the Philadelphia Association for

the purpose, and one Delaware Church from

Lhe Salisbury Association, with which three

Delaware Churches continued their connec-

tion. The new Association was soon joined

by several churches in Pennsylvania. Only
since 1856 has it borne the name of The Dela-

ware Old School Baptist Association.”

It was composed—In 1801 of 5 churches

with 293 members. In 1825 of 9 churches with

596 members. In 1879 of 7 churches with 197

members. Of the early churches in the State

belonging to the Delaware and Salisbury As-
sociation, six remained in 1879 with a total

membership of 200.

The cause of their decline is thus stated by

the Rev. Morgan J. Rhees then in Delaware,

and himself a Welshman, in Benedict's History

of the Baptists, page 630 : “They withhold

from the Lord's cause that which he demands.
“These churches oppose all Missionary, Bible,

Sunday School, Tract and Temperance or-

ganizations.”

This was written about 1845, and is true of

them to-day.

A Missionary Body.

The minutes of the Delaware Association

show that formerly they regarded favorably

both Missions and Missionary Societies, and

that they had undergone a change.

In 1804 a Missionary Sermon and a collec-

tion for Missions was provided for in each of
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the churches. In iS 12 a plan for a Baptist Edu- !

cation Society was adopted. In 1S14 Foreign

Missions, and a State Missionary Society were

endorsed. In 1815 they rejoiced over the report

of the Board for Foreign Missions, and re-
;

commended that a Missionary Sermon be

preached annually in each of the churches,

“and a collection raised and forwarded to

the Branch Society of Delaware.” In

1817 the constitution of “ The^ Delaware

Society for Domestic Missions” was, adopted.

In the Corresponding Letter of 1820, Rev.

Jethro Johnson writes for the association :
“ It

appears by the information we received during

the session, from different parts of the conti-

nent, that a union in sentiment and practice

generally prevails among our churches
;
and

j

that although additions are not numerous, yet 1

peace almost universally prevails, and most of

the meeting-houses among us are commonly
crowded with attentive hearers.” “ The grad-

ual increase of the gospel together with the

missionary spirit, that in almost every place

appears to prevail, leads us to believe that

prophesies are actually fulfilling, ‘Thy kingdom

come.’” In the Corresponding Letter of 1822 they

say: “The accounts we have from different

sources, and especially from the Mission Board,

are truly refreshing.” “May we feel ourselves

deeply interested in this, and esteem it not

only our duty to put up our prayers, but to

use all the means God has placed in our power,

believing at the same time, that he who hath

said He must increase, hath also declared, Be

workers together with God.” In 1825 the design

of the Baptist General Tract Society, now the

American Baptist Publication Society, was

highly commended. In 1830 the Association,

by the unanimous approval of the churches,

ordered to be printed the Constitution and Rules

previously adopted in 1795, which contains a

summary of doctrines, the final article of which

reads :
“ Finally,we approve ofthe Confession of

Faith adopted by the Philadelphia Association

September 25th, 1742, as generally expressing

our opinion of the Holy Scriptures which we

hold above all as the only certain rule of faith

and practice.”

So then, the views of the Delaware Baptists

were unchanged from 1742 to 1830,throughout

which period they were in accord with the

Philadelphia Association, which has ever been

regarded as the exponent of the views of the

Regular Baptists throughout the United

States, and with which the present Missionary

Baptist Churches of Delaware are in fellowship

and in connection. And in the same year

(1830) of this action on the part of the Dela-

ware Association, that body was in fellowship

with the New York, Hudson River, New Jer-

sey, Central New Jersey, and Philadelphia

Associations, all Regular Baptist Associations.

Before the change of views and practice

mentioned took place, the Baptist Churches

of Delaware formed a centre of Christian ac-

tivity and progress from which radiated into

other States a great influence for good. Their

pastors, beside their 'work at home, traveled

extensively, preaching injdestitute places,gath-

ering converts and establishing churches,

while a host of ministers was raised up among

them to preach the gospel at home and

abroad.

Distinguished Men.

Among the many distinguished men who

during this period labored in ‘the State or

went from it to other fields of usefulness,

may be mentioned the following : Rev.

John Davis, who became pastor of the

2nd church, Boston, Massachusetts, in 1770,

was the son of a pastor at Welsh Tract,

and was born in the State. He was a

graduate of the University of Pennsylvania.

Rev. Jenkin Jones, for years pastor of the

1st Church, Philadelphia, was “called to the

ministry” at Welsh Tract in 1724. He was

Moderator of the Philadelphia Association in

1756. Rev. David Jones, A M., was one of the

most distinguished sons of Delaware. He was

born in New Castle County in 1736. and was

united by baptism upon profession of faith

and repentance, with the Welsh Tract Church

in 1758. After a jliberal education he entered

the Baptist ministry and became pastor, first

at Freehold, N. J., and afterward at Great

Valley, Pa. He was father of Horatio Gates

Jones, D. D., and grand-father of Hon. H. G.

Jones, of Philadelphia, Penna, State senator

and vice president of the Pennsylvania His-

torical Society. David Jones'has been styled

the “Famous Old Warrior Chaplain” of the

Revolution. Espousing the cause of the col-

onists he became chaplain of a Pennsylvania

regiment, followed Gates through two cam-

paigns, and served under Wayne as brigade

chaplain. He was as frequently at the post of
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danger as in the hospital with the sick and

wounded. He was in the battle of Brandy-

wine, was present, but escaped the massacre

of Paoli, and in every action with his brigade

until the surrender at Yorktown. General

Howe, learning that he was a tower of strength

to the Revolution both in and out of the army,

offered a reward for his capture. He was witty,

eloquent, patriotic and fearless. He died in

1824 at the ripe age of 84, and was buried at

Great Valley, Penna. Sprague’s Annals, vol.

6, p. 85.

Rev. Abel Morgan, A. M., was born, educa-

ted and ordained at Welsh Tract, and became

pastor at Middletown, N. J. He, too, was mod-

erator of the Philadelphia Association, was one

of the most noted men of his day, and is said

by Benedict (Bpt. Plist’y., p. 582) to be ‘the

boldest writer * * * * among American

Baptists in defense of their sentiments. Be-

tween this learned writer and Rev. Samuel

Finley, a Presbyterian minister, and after-

ward President of Princeton College, N. J., a

controversy was held, which was carried on

with much spirit on both sides for years.

One of Mr. Morgan’s works, produced on this

occasion, of 174 pages, was published in Phila-

delphia in 1747 by the famous Benjamin

Franklin, and is valued now at $1500 per.

copy.

Rev. Morgan Edwards, A. M., the well-

known “pioneer” Baptist historian, after ably

serving the First Church, Philadelphia, as pas-

tor for over ten years, removed to his farm at

Newark, Delaware, in 1772, where he resided

23 years, until his death. Most of his celebra-

ted historical works were written here. He
was a learned man, and a great student of the

Scriptures in the original Hebrew and Greek.

He continued to preach, and gave lectures on

divinity in the principal cities of the country,

after coming to this State. In 1762 he was

moderator of the Philadelphia Association.

He is justly regarded as the founder of

Brown University, Rhode Island. Rev.

Thomas J. Kitts, for fourteen years pastor of

the Second Church, Philadelphia, moderator

of the Philadelphia Association in 1828, and

in character and preaching ability second to

none, was ordained at the First Church,

Wilmington, in 1817. Rev. Joseph H.

Kennard, D. D., for nearly thirty years

pastor of the Tenth Church, Philadelphia,

:

and a leader among Baptists in Philadel-

;

phia, was converted and baptized and licensed

:

to preach in 1818, in Wilmington, by the First

: Church. His first labors were performed

I

as a missionary in the Peninsula. The
name of Captain Calvin Tubbs will be im-

|

mortalized in connection with that of the

justly famous J. G. Oncken, D. D
, of Hamburg,

Germany. Capt. Tubbs was a member of the

Welsh T tact Baptist Church, having been con •

verted and baptized in I S r 5 . He married the

daughter of Rev. Gideon Farrell, pastor of the

church, and husband and wife with their children

lie buried in the rear of the meeting house. In

the winter of 1830 and 1831, Capt. Tubbs was
ice bound with his vessel, and boarded in the

family of J. G. Oncken, then a colporteur.

With true missionary spirit, Capt. Tubbs talked

and prayed with his host, and became under
God, the means of his conversion to Baptist

views. The world knows the rest.

Baptists of the American type have sprung
up all over Germany, Holland, Austria, Den-
mark, Switzerland, Sweden, Russia, and even
Turkey. And Oncken the originator of this

work has been its impulse and moving spirit,

until now, in his old age he but awaits the call

of God to his final reward and rest.

Of the later Baptist Churches.

The early Baptist Churches, in their origin

and up to a comparatively recent date, appear
to have been missionary in principle and in

practice. It was after 1830 that a change took
place in the Delaware Association and in all

the Baptist Churches of this State, and they
became anti-mission and non-effort, or Anti-
nomian.

Second Church, Wilmington.
Some did not approve of this change, and

division of sentiment led to separation, and to

the formation, in 1835, of the Second Church,
Wilmington, the first of the later Missionary
Baptist Churches of this State. It was formed
September 7th, of thirteen (13) members dis-

missed, by request, from the First Church, for

the purpose
;
and was recognized by a council

composed of Rev. J. H Kennard, Rev. J. J.

Woolsey. Rev. L. Fletcher and Rev. G. I.

Miles, all of Penna. The new church was re-

ceived into the Philadelphia Association in

1836.

The pastors have been : Rev. C. W. Denni-
son, from 1836101839; Rev.. George Carleton,
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from 1839 to 1841 ;
Rev. Sandford Leach, from

1841 to 1842 ;
Rev. Morgan J. Rhees, from

1843 to 1050 ;
Rev. Jonathan G. Collom, from

1850 to 1853 ;
Rev. Frederick Chariton, from

1853 to 1857 ;
Rev. George M. Condron. from

1858 to 1859 ; Rev. James S. Dickerson, D. D.,

from 1 86 r to 1865 ;
Rev. W. H H. Marsh, from

1865 to 1871
;
Rev. James Waters, from 1872

to 1873; Rev. Alexander McArthur, from 1S74

to 1875 !
Rev. Richard B. Cook, D. D., the

present pastor, who came in 1S75.

Their present house of worship, corner of

Fourth and French streets, was dedicated in

1855. Prior to the organization of this church,

sixteen members withdrew from the First

Church and formed what was known, on the

minutes of the Delaware Association, as the

Second Wilmington, but its existence was of

short duration.

Other Missionary Churches.
January 25, 1852, the Dover Church was

formed with eight members, and the same day

their new house of worship was dedicated. It

was mainly through the efforts of Rev. J. P.

Walter who became their first pastor, that the

church was organized and the house built.

The pastors, after Mr. Walter, were: Rev. D. A.

Nichols
;
Rev. E. R. Hera

;
Rev. C. J. Hopkins ;

Rev. H. C. Putnam
;
Rev. D. B. Purington

;
Rev.

O. F. Flippo
;
Rev. C. Harris

;
Rev. J. J. Reeder;

Rev. B G. Parker, who came in 1876.

The First German Church, Wilmington, was

organized April 17, 1856, with 13 members
through the efforts of Jeremias Grimmel, and

Rev. C. Fleichman. Their church edifice is on

the corner of Fifth and Walnut streets.

The pastors of the church have been : Rev.

F. A. Bauer
;
Rev. J. C. Haselhuhn

;
Rev. H.

Trumpp
;
Rev. R. Piepgras

;
Rev. J. Fellmann ;

Rev. J. M. Hoefflin
;
and Rev. Henry W. Geil,

called in 1881 but took charge in 1882. In the

meantime Rev. G A. Guenther supplied the

pulpit. The membership in 1879 was 77 -

The Delaware Avenue Church, Wilmington,

was constituted May, 1865, with fifteen mem-
bers, dismissed, by request, from the Second

Church. Rev. G. W. Folwell became pastor,

April 1, 1866, and resigned October I, 1874,

the church numbering 246 when he left them.

Also during his pastorate the substantial house

of worship of the church was erected, on the

corner of Delaware Avenue and West street.

He was succeeded by Rev. I. M. Haldeman,

1 April 11, 1875, who is the present pastor, and
under whose administration the membership

j

has increased to over 1000.

j

The coming of Rev. O. F. Flippo into the

|

State in 1868 was followed by an awakening

|

that led to the increase of Baptist member-
ship and churches. The church at Dover, of
which he then became pastor, had no baptism
or accession for nearly two years, and the
church doors had been closed. Through his

labors nearly 100 believers were baptized and
added to the church. He was instrumental in

the formation of several new churches, one of
which, the Zion, Rev. R. H. Merriken, pastor,
came over to the Baptist from another denomi-
nation, pastor ana all. He was also the means
of purchasing for the Baptists the Wyoming
Institute, of which he was the first president.
Mr. Flippo became General Missionary of the
“American Baptist Home Mission Society”
for the State of Delaware, in September, 1870,
which position he held till his removal from
the State, in March, 1873. He was aided in

his work by Rev. Dr. Isaac Cole, Rev. George
Bradford and Rev. N. C. Naylor. Mr. Flippo
also ably conducted the “ Baptist Visitor,” a

monthly ^religious paper, of which he was both
editor and proprietor. The churches organized
through his instrumentality besides the Zion,

at Vernon, in 1871, were the Wyoming, wor-
shiping in the Chapel of the Institute, in 1872,

and the Magnolia, in 1873.

The Plymouth Church, which was formed in

1867, through the labors of Rev. O. B. Purino--

ton and others, disbanded to unite with the
Magnolia. Rev. M. Heath and Rev. J. M.
Hope served as co-pastors for a while, both the

Magnolia and Wyoming Churches at once.

The Zion and the Wyoming Churches were
both served by Rev. George Bradford, assisted

at the latter place by students from Crozer
Seminary. The Zion has a neat Gothic Chapel
as a place of worship. The Rev. J. M. Hope
is the present pastor of Zion and Magnolia
Churches, and the Rev. Joseph Perry pastor

at Wyoming. The latter church has lately

dedicated a neat chapel at Camden, costing

;

about $3,000, and the gift of George Parris, of

j

Dover. The Milford Church was organized June
14, 1873, and its house of worship dedicated 1875.

The church at Lincoln, formed in 1869, Rev.

W. H. Spencer, pastor, disbanded to unite

i

with the new interests. The pastors at Mil-
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ford have been Rev. II H. Leamy, Rev. L.

Thorne, Rev. W. H. Young, Rev. A. S. Bas-

tian and Rev. W. H. Eldredge. In 1S73 was

also formed the Elm Street Cliurch, Wilming-
ton. It had but two pastors during its exist-

ence, Rev. N. C. Naylor and Rev. R. E. Bartlett.

The first African Baptist Church in Dela-

ware— the Shiloh—was formed in Wilmington

in the Centennial year, 1876, with 21 members.

It numbers now 80, with Rev. B. T. Moore as

pastor. They have a lot on which they are

building.

September 30, 1876, the New Castle Church,

composed of 14 members, was recognized.

This church was collected in the Court House

through the labors of Rev. B. MacMackin and

Rev. W. H. Young, then students at the

Crozer Theological Seminary at Chester, Pa.

Mr. MacMackin became pastor of the church

upon its organization in 1877, and has since

been instrumental in building a handsome

chapel for them, costing over $6,000, and which

was dedicated, free of debt, December 19,1879.

In July, 1868. a few persons withdrew from

the Delaware Avenue and other Wilmington

churches, and were admitted as members into

the old First Church, which was re-admitted

into the Philadelphia Association in 1870.

They maintained a Sunday School and con-

tributed to various Baptist benevolent socie-

ties, while the arrangement lasted. The pas-

tors during this period were Rev. E. E. Mary-

ott and Rev. Thomas M. Eastwood. In De-

cember, 1876, the new members of the resus-

citated church removed from King street to

Elm Street Chapel, and there disbanded, as

did also the Elm Street Church, the members

of the two mostly uniting in the formation of

the Bethany, which was recognized January

2nd, 1879, with Rev. T. M. Eastwood as pas-

tor. Some of the old members of the P'irst

Church remained in the King street house,

where they still maintain an organization,

which has resumed its connection with the

Delaware Association.

A City Mission Society.

A Baptist City Mission was formed among

the churches in Wilmington on the Newark

(N. J.) plan in 1870, which bought a lot on

Elm street, built thereon a chapel, and deeded

the whole to the Bethany Church upon its or-

ganization. Its officers are Washington Jones,

President, and Wm. H. Gregg, Treasurer.

18

In 1869 the Baptists purchased the Wyoming
Institute

,
at Wyoming. A new and liberal

charter was obtained in 1S75, since which time

the Institute has had its annual graduating

classes. There are two departments: the

Preparatory for common branches, and the

Seminary course of 3 years for graduation.

For several years past it has enjoyed a high

degree of prosperity, at times reaching its ut-

most limits of accommodation. The Rev. M.
Heath, A. M

,
who held the position of princi-

pal for eight years, is a native of New Jersey,

and a graduate of Madison University. For
the past fifteen years lie has been successfully

connected with educational interests. The
present principal is Rev. Joseph Persey, who
is well qualified every way for the place.

In 1874 was formed “The Delaware Baptist

Missionary Union” of churches within the

State only. It was merged or expanded into

the following organization.

The Delaware Baptist Union.

In 1878, the “Delaware Baptist Union ' was
formed in the Second Church, Wilmington,

and is composed of eight churches in Dela-

ware County, Penna., and eleven in Delaware

State, with a membership of 3,000. The
objects of the “Union” are, the promotion of

fraternity among the churches, and the evan-

gelization of the field. Its meetings are held

semi-annually, in May and November. The
churches connected with this organization

retain their connection with the Philadelphia

Association. The first officers of the body
are Rev. Thomas M. Eastwood, Moderator

;

Rev. H. B. Harper, Secretary; and George
Parris, Treasurer. There has been but one

change. Rev. A G. Thomas, moderator, in

place of Mr. Eastwood, who has removed to

New Jersey. The meetings of this youthful

organization have been well attended and of

a profitable and pleasant character. Among
those ministers and laymen who have partici-

pated in the deliberations of the Union, beside

those already mentioned are : President H. G.

Watson D. D., of Crozer Theological Semi-

nary
;
Professor George D. B. Pepper, D. D.,

Rev. A. G. Thomas
;
Rev. Professor J. R.

Downer
;
Wm H. Gregg, Esq.

;
Samuel M.

Crozer, Esq.
;
Wm. Cathcart, D. D.

; J. M.

Pendleton, D D.
;
Rev. C. J. W. Bishop; Rev.

C. M. Deitz
;
Rev. John Brooks

;
Washington
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Jones, Esq.
;
Professor George R. Bliss, D.D.

;

Rev. Miller Jones; Alfred Gawthrop, Esq.
;

Rev. G. W. Fohvell
;

H. L. Wayland, D D.
;

Rev. Dr. S. Dyer
;
James Irving, Esq.

;
Thomas

Swain, D. D.
;
Professor J. C. Long, D. D.

;

G. M. Spratt, D. D.
;

G. J. Johnson, D. D.
;

Rev. R. W. Patton
;
Harry Emmons, Esq.

;

Benjamin Gartside, Sr.
;

Dr. J. B. Weston
;

Ward R. Bliss, Esq.

Two Missionaries appointed by the Ameri-

can Baptist. Publication Society, No. 1420,

Chestnut Street, Philadelphia, are laboring

within the bounds of “The De-laware Baptist

Union,” and for the most part in Delaware

State, and under the direction of the “Union;”

one among the colored population, and the

other among the whites : Rev. J. T. Craig,

and Rev. Henry C. Jones, (colored). Their

salaries are paid by the churches of the

“Union,” and by the Baptist Publication

Society. Their work is among such Baptists

as are in the State, and among the destitute

and perishing. They expect to co-operate with

other Christians in State Evangelization.

The ladies of the churches have not been

inactive, but have organized for work among
women. In the short time of the existence of

these societies—One Foreign and another

Home Mission
;
over $1,000, have been raised

for the work at home and abroad.

Growth of the Missionary Baptist.

The separation of the Second Church from

the First Wilmington, the withdrawal of the

missionary element from those who had be-

come anti-mission, has been justified fully by

the results. In 1835 there was but one Mis-

sionary Baptist Church in the State, with thir-

teen members
;
whereas, now, (1882,) there are

eleven churches with over two thousand mem-
bers. Besides, the Missionary Baptists of Del-

aware belong to a great people—progressive

and growing, at home and abroad. In 1832,

about the timejof the separation, the Baptists

numbered in the United States 384,926,

but numbered in 188 1, 2,296,327. Then the

societies, the agents of the churches, have
great results to prove the wisdom of their

foundation. In 1814 there were but two Mis-

sionaries among the heathen supported by the

American Baptists, and no converts. In 1879
one Baptist Foreign Missionary Society alone

(the “Union”) reports 160 missionaries, 990
native preachers, 904 churches, 80,864 mem-
bers, all converted heathen, and 18,000 bap-
tisms during the year.

The Home Mission Society of the Baptists

for the North and West alone reports in 1882

as the result of a half century of work—2,700
missionaries employed

;
800,000 sermons

preached; 1,817,412 religious visits made;
2,838 churches organized

; 87,056converts bap-

tized
;
and hundreds of thousandsof adults and

children gathered into congregations and sun-

day-schools, at a cost of nearly $2,000,000.

In addition, $900,000 have been spent in edu-
cational work among the colored people and
the Indians

;
and 425 churches have been

assisted in building houses of worship. The
total amount contributed, exclusive of income
from investments, $3,898,687.53. And this in

addition to Home Mission work exclusively

South, and of state conventions, and individual

churches.

Another Society, closely connected in its

operations with Baptists in this State is the

American Baptist Publication Society. For
the year ending April I, 1882, books, tracts

and periodicals were issued by the Society

equal to over 589,500,000 pages, i8mo. size,

while the income of the business and benevo-
lent departments has aggregated for the same
period, $449,416.71.

When we consider the growth and pros-

perity of the Missionary Baptists of this

country, we exclaim :
“ What hath God

wrought !
” August 17th, 1882.
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SOCIETY OF FRIENDS IN DELAWARE.

p
HIS body of Christians took its rise in

J England about the middle of the

,-\yy seventeenth century, and rapidly

found its way into other countries in

Europe and into the English settlements in

North America and also the West India

Islands. They first called themselves Seekers
,

from their seeking the truth
;

but after the

society was formed they assumed the appella-

tion of Friends. “ George Fox is supposed to

have been their first founder
;
but after the

restoration, Penn and Barclay gave to their

principles a more regular form.” (Cyclopedia

of Rel igious Knowledge.) Fox in his journal,'

page 85, volume 1, describes the circumstances

under which they were first called Quakers.

He was in prison at Derby for conscience

sake, “and ” says he, “ the keeper was greatly

enraged at me
;

but it pleased the Lord

one day to strike him so that he was in

great trouble and under great terror of

mind.

When the morning came he rose and went

to the justices and told them ‘that he and his

house had been plagued for my sake,’ and one

of the justices replied (as he reported to me)

that the plagues were on them too for keeping

me. This was Justice Bennett, of Derby, who
was the first that called us Quakers

, because I

bid them tremble at the word of the Lord.

This was in the year 1650.” It was a name
given to them in derision, but one they have

retained to the present day.

George Fox came to America in 1672, ten

years before the arrival of William Penn.

During that year he visited Delaware twice
;

first in the early spring when going from Mary-

land to New England, and the second time on

his return to Maryland. We will give the

account in his own words: “The next day

we passed over a. desperate river [doubtless

the Brandywine] which had in it many rocks

and broad stones, very hazardous to us and

our horses. Thence we came to Christian

River, where we swam over our horses, and

went over ourselves in canoes
;
but the sides

of this river were so bad and miry that some
of the horses had like to have been laid up.

Thence we came to New Castle, heretofore

called New Amsterdam, and being very weary

and inquiring in the town where we could buy

some corn for our horses, the Governor came
and invited me to his house

;
and afterward

desired me to lodge tb^re. saving- he had a

bed for me and I should be welcome. So I

stayed there, the other friends being taken

care of also. This wras on the seventh day of

the week; [being the 13th of 7th month, 1672;]

and he offering his house for a meeting, we had,

the next day, a pretty large one, for most of
! the town were at it. There had never been a

meeting here before, nor any within a great

way of it
;
but this was a very precious one,

i

many of the people were tender and confessed

to the truth; and some received it
;
blessed be

the Lord forever!” (Journal of George Fox,

p. 1 16.) The Friends who accompanied him

on this journey were : Robert Widders, James

Lancaster and George Pattison, ministers,

who had come with him from England, and

John Jay, a Friend from Barbadoes, and their

Indian guides. They remained till the middle

of the week when they continued their journey

to Maryland, and soon after returned to Eng-

land. Fox does not speak of finding any

members of the Society in Delaware; he, how-

ever, sowed the seed in New Castle, and,

probably, some of his hearers joined -the

Friends when a meeting was organized in

that town, “for,” he says, “many of the peo-

ple were tender and confessed- the truth
;
and

some received it.”

Newark Monthly Meeting.—We learn

s from the records as quoted by Ezra Michener,
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in his “ Retrospect of Early Quakerism," that

about the year 16S2 several families of Friends

arrived and settled on the east side of Brandy-

wine, in New Castle county, and held meet-

ings for worship at private houses till 16S8,

when Valentine Hollingsworth gave the ground

fora Meeting House and grave-yard. This was

known by the name of Newark (or New Ark)

Meeting and lasted till 17 54, when the members
being better suited elsewhere, it was discon-

tinued. This meeting house was a few

miles north of Wilmington, in the neigh-

borhood of the late Joseph Shipley’s resi-

dence, but the name Newark has long ceased

to identify the locality. The Newark Monthly

Meeting was held there regularly till 1704,

when it was held alternately at Centre, and

sometimes also at Kennett, beginning in 1721.

The last monthly meeting held at Newark was

in 1707, although it retained the name of New-
ark Monthly Meeting till 1760, when it was

changed to Kennett Monthly Meeting.
jjEV r £ \.ST-LF In 1 684 the Quarterly ]\I c e

t

ing at Philadelphia established a Meeting

at New Castle. Friends being settled at

or near that town held meetings at each

others houses till 1705, when a house of wor-

ship was built. This meeting ceased in 1758,

its members attending at Wilmington. The
house was sold by the Wilmington Monthly
Meeting about the middle of the present

century.

Centre Meeting.—George Harlan and

others settled on west side of the Brandy-

wine, and attended Newark Meeting till 1687,

when they requested to have a meeting on

the west side, during the Winter, on account

of the “dangerousness of the Ford,” which was

granted, as it was also in the Winter of 1689.

In 1690 the meeting was made a permanent

one, and a house of worship built in 1708.

This has been a Monthly Meeting for nearly

two centuries. It is connected with the

Western Quarterly Meeting of Chester County

Pa.; in which also are included Kennett, Lon-
Grove, New Garden, Penn’s Grove and Fallow

Field Monthly Meetings.

AproQUiNiMiNK Meeting.—The Friends of

George’s Creek applied to Kennett Monthly

Meeting, in 1703, for the establishment

of a meeting in their midst. This request

was granted in 1707. and the meeting was

joined to the Monthly Meeting of Duck Creek.

As early as 1762, and again in 1772 efforts

were made to remove the Meeting to a more
convenient locality. In 1783, by consent of

the Quarterly Meeting, it was removed to

Appoquinimink Bridge, now Odessa. This

continued till 1S30, when it was united with

that of Duck Creek.

Duck Creek Monthly Meeting.—(For-

mer name of Smyrna.) The record says

:

“The tenth month, 19th, 1705. This day was

held the Monthly Meeting of Friends at Duck
Creek; it being the first Monthly Meeting, by

approbation and order of the Quarterly Meet-

ing of the people called Quakers at Chester,

for the establishing and keeping up the good

order of Truth.” In 1830 the Monthly Meet-

ings of Duck Creek and Motherkiln were

united in one, under the name of Camden
Monthly Meeting, and thenceforward held al-

ternately at Camden and Little Creek.

Camden and Little Creek.—These meet-

ings were established in the early part of the

1 8th century Little Creek was organized in

1710, but the exact date of the first meetings

for worship at Camden has not been obtained.

They remained Preparative Meetings for many
years, but afterwards the Camden Monthly
Meeting was established, which held its meet-

ings alternately at Camden and Little Creek,

and in 1830 absorbed the Duck Creek Monthly
Meeting. Southern Quarterly Meeting is held

at Camden and Easton. Under its jurisdiction

are the Camden, Third Haven, Cecil and

North West Fork Monthly Meetings.

Cold Spring.—On the application of Duck
Creek Monthly Meeting to the Quarterly

Meeting of Chester, in 1720, the Friends of

Lewes, Cold Spring and vicinity, had their

meeting established, although it is probable

that a meeting was held at Lewes as early as

1712. After continuing nearly a century the

meeting declined and finally ceased.

HOCKESSIN.—The earliest record of a meet-

ing at this place was in 1730, when a week-day

meeting was allowed at the house of William

Cox. In 1737, Henry Dixon and other P'riends

being settled in Mill Creek Hundred, a meet-

ing was established among them. It was known
by the name of “Hockessin Meeting, so called

from an Indian town that was formerly near

that place.” The following year a meeting-

house was erected, and enlarged in 1745. In

1786 the Preparative Meeting of Centre and
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Hockessin was divided into two ; one being-

j

held at each place. In 1S08, Kennett Monthly
Meeting was divided, Kennett and Marlbor-

ough Meetings composing one, and Centre and

Hockessin the other, which was called Centre

Monthly Meeting, which is held alternately at

the two houses in Centre and Hockessin. It

belortgs to Western Quarterly Meeting.

Wilmington Monthly Meeting —We
find that in 1738 William Shipley and David

Ferris with others, requested liberty to have

a meeting for worship settled among them at

Wilmington. This was allowed and first held

at the house of William Shipley, a small, one-

story brick dwelling at the corner of Fourth !

and Orange streets, and for a time at his new
house corner of Fourth and Shipley; but the

same year, 1738, the F'riends built a house of

worship on the east side of West street, be-

tween Fourth and Fifth. It was a one-story

brick building, 24 feet square, and was used

for a school -house many years after the new
meeting-house was erected in 1748. The new

i

house was 48 feet square, and was built on

West street opposite the first. “ The form of

the building,” says Ferris, p. 299, “was very

singular. The four sides being equal, the roof

was a truncated pyramid, the angle of ascent

on each side being about the same as the great

pyramid at Memphis. On the top of the pyra-

mid was another house about six feet square,

its roof also pyramidal, with a chimney rising

out at the apex, and a window in each of its

sides to light the garrett.” It was replaced by

the present large house in 1817.

In 1750 Wilmington was constituted a

Monthly Meeting, and made a constituent

part of Concord Quarterly Meeting, one ses-

sion of which is now held at Wilmington each

year.

In 1827, after the ministry of Elias Hicks,

the society divided
;
those known as Hick-

sites being the more numerous, retained the
\

old property, while the Orthodox Friends

withdrew' and built their house of worship at

the north-easterly corner of Ninth and Tatnall 1

streets. It is a wooden structure, enclosed
;

within a high wall, and much retired from the

noisy part of the town. This is the only or-

ganized Meeting of those known as Orthodox

Friends in the State.

Milford Meeting.—(Mispillion, formerly
1

Mushmelon.) The record says that in 1760
\

iqr

“Mushmelon and Cedar Creek Friends

requested liberty to build a meeting-house.”

After continuing seventy two years, the Mil-

ford Preparative Meeting wras, in 1S32, discon-

tinued, and the members united to Camden
Preparative meeting.

Stanton (Formerly White Clay
Creek) Meeting.—A meeting for worship

was allowed at Christiana Bridge in 1772, and
established in 1781, by consent of Chester

Quarterly Meeting. In 17S4 they were

granted the privilege of holding a Preparative

Meeting, and in 1803, the name of the meeting
was changed from White Clay Creek to that

of Stanton.

Motherkill (Formerly Murderkill)
Monthly Meeting,—Was established in

1760, and embraced the Motherkill and Tit-

berry Meetings. A house of wrorship was
built the same year near the stream of that

name, and doubtless meetings had been pre-

viously held in that locality in private houses.

The meeting for worship was discontinued in

182S, and the Monthly Meeting was officially

joined to that of Duck Creek in 1830, and the

name changed to Camden Monthly Meeting as

above stated. Michener, in his “ Early Qua-
kerism.” quotes a letter from a friend in which

the w'riter essays to explain the change from

Murderkill to Mother kill, and refers to the

fact, or legend, that a bloody battle was

fought, by the Indians, on the banks of this

stream, from which it received the name of

Murderkill
;
Kil being the Swedish name for

creek. The letter continues, “The Friends,

being a murder-hating, peace-loving and sim-

ple-minded people, and not approving of the

w'ord murder, adopted in lieu thereof that of

Mother as a prefix to kil, making the name
Motherkil for their meeting. But the word

kil is often, and I believe mostly, spelled kill,

which in connection with mother makes it a

very inappropriate name for a Friend’s meet-

ing, more objectionable than the one intended

to be softened and improved. It is sometimes

written Motherkiln, a name that conveys a

totally different idea, and is not objectionable

in itself.”

Mill Creek.— In 1838, James Thompson
and thirty-two other I'riends produced a writ-

ten request to New Garden Monthly Meeting

for the indulgence of a meeting for worship in

Mill Creek Hundred, to be composed of mem-
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bers of New Garden, Centre and Wilmington

Monthly Meetings, which was accorded them;

the following committee making the favorable

report, viz : Sarah Michener, Sarah Wilson,

Martha Ililles, Jonathan Lamborn, Ephraim

Jackson and Benjamin Ferris. In 1S41 a com-
modious meeting house was built, and the

meeting being the same year established, with

the privilege of a Preparative Meeting, was

removed thereto, having been previously held

at the house of James Thompson.
The Nicpiolites or New Quakers.

—

About the middle of the last century there

lived in Kent county, in this State, a young
man named Joseph Nichols. He possessed a

mind endowed with uncommon strength and

energy, and being of a genial and vivacious

disposition, he naturally became the leader of

his companions in all their sports and projects.

The instrumentality or occasion of his conver-

sion is not certainly known, but it was in his

early manhood, when he began to exert an

influence for good upon his companions, and

soon after felt called by the Spirit to become
a preacher of righteousness. The fervency of

his zeal and his heart-searching appeals soon

occasioned his meetings to be largely attended,

and his followers multiplied to several hundred.

As a sect they soon acquired the name of

Nicholites from their leader, but they styled

themselves Friends or New Quakers. Their wor-

ship, principles, church government and manners

were copied closely after the Friends, but they

carried some of their notions, particularly of

dress, to such an extreme as to make them
conspicuous in the community for their singu-

larity. In maintaining their testimony against

the evils of the times, or what they considered

errors in other churches, they sometimes suf-

fered persecution, and William Dawson, one

of their preachers, endured a long imprison-

ment on this account. They built houses»of

worship at Centre, North West Fork and

Tuckahoe Neck, part of their membership

being in Delaware and part in Maryland.

They formally united their organization with

that of the Friends, in 1797. They were an

uneducated people, but adorned the doctrines

of the Christian religion by singularly pure and

upright lives.

The census of the Monthly Meetings of the

Friends in Delaware in 1880 was, Wilmington,

402 members, of whom 21 were at Stanton
;

,

Centre Monthly Meeting, the meetings being

held alternately at Hockessin and Centre Sta-

tion, 112 members
;
Mill Creek Meeting, held

in the northern part of Mill Creek Hundred,
near the State line, 69 members

;
Camden

Monthly Meeting, 64 members; Northwest
Fork Monthly Meeting, 36 members. Besides

these there are a few Friends residing in the

northern part of Brandywine Hundred who
belong to a meeting in Pennsylvania. Total

about 600 in the State who are known as

Hicksite Friends. The number of members in

the Orthodox Meeting at Wilmington is 146,

and over 50 in the State besides.

It will be seen by the foregoing that the

Friends began to settle in Delaware soon after

the grant of this territory in 1665 by the

Duke of York, and early in the 1 S th century

they had established their meetings in nearly

all portions of the State.

From the arrival of William Penn in 1682

to the Revolution, in 1775, Delaware formed a

poruon 01 ms Pi ujji ic la.i y Govci miieul. As
was natural during that period, important
offices were bestowed on Friends, and they

exercised a decided influence in the covern-
ment. They, however, withdrew from all par-

ticipation in public affairs on the approach of

war; and to the determination of the Ameri-
can patriots to throw off the yoke of British

tyranny, which had become insufferable to a

free people, they opposed their principles of

non-resistance. They not only refused to do
military duty, but also to pay the taxes levied

on them, as on all other citizens, for the pros-

ecution of the war of Independence. (See re-

cords of Yearly Meeting 1778, and other years )

Those who joined the army, or paid taxes,

or paid fines for not appearing under military

orders, or accepted the continental, or state

money issued for carrying on the conflict, or

furnished anything to the army for pay, were
subjected to discipline, and required to confess

their fault in writing to the meeting, in order

to retain their membership. A number ot

papers of this character are quoted by Miche-
ner : for example in 1778, the Wilmington
Monthly Meeting received a written acknowl-
edgment of this kind as follows :

“ Dear
friends,—Whereas, I have paid a fine imposed
on me for not appearing in a militant order

with Andrew Lanburg and company, for which
act of so doing I have received considerable
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condemnation, and am sensible that it is not

consistent with a Christian life to do so
;
there-

fore, for the clearing of Truth and my own con-

science, I thus give my testimony against that

misstep, and hope for the future to keep

nearer the Spirit of Truth, that leads, and

not astray. I am your friend, I H
[Michener p. 302.]

This sturdy and uncompromising opposition

to war led many to class them with Tories and

Royalists in that supreme hour. Whether
this was true or not we cannot affirm. We do

know that the Friends of Delaware and those

adjacent in Pennsylvania, held a meeting two

days after the battle of Brandywine
,
and

appointed a large committee to search out
|

cases of want and suffering within the track of
j

the devastating British Army. This com-
j

mittee soon reported that “the sufferings of
J

many have been great, although none appear

to be in want of the necessaries of life except

one,” and add “that they generally appear to

bear their sufferings wirh a good degree of;

cheerfulness.”

It should not be forgotten, however, that
j

during the late war the Friends in Delaware
'

were unanimously in favor of the Union and

emancipation. They furnished to the cause of

their country and of freedom many of their

choicest young men,whose spirit of patriotism

and deeds of valor were not excelled in the

struggle which resulted in the overthrow of

slavery.

As a society they have taken very advanced

ground on all the great reforms of the age
,

They were among the earliest friends and ad-

vocates of Temperance, and we find the ques-

tion of moderation in the use of spirituous

liquors made a subject of preaching, and reso-

1
lutions, now on record, as early as 1679 and

;

16S5. The evil of intemperance is frequently

! referred to, and opposition to the manufacture,

|
sale and use of alcoholic liquors as a beverage
appears in the minutes of the Wilmington
Monthly Meeting in 1788.

They took strong grounds against the in-

iquity of human slavery at a very early period.

Germantown, Pa., was settled by German
Friends in 1688, who “revolted at the idea of

good men buying and selling human beings,

heirs with themselves of immortality.” It is

true that Penn, and many members of the

society, held slaves for a time, but the senti-

ment against the practice grew so strong that
“ the memorable year of 1780 found Friends

nearly, if not entirely, clear of slave holding,”

and up to the year of emancipation, 1863,

they not only contributed largely to the anti-

slavery agitation, but were the friends and
helpers of all fugitives from bondage to the

extent of their ability
;
and since the war the

education of the colored race in Delaware has

depended very largely on the liberality of the

members of this society.

In all movements for bettering the condition

of humanity they generally take an advanced
position, and in politics range themseves on
the side of Reform, Education, Equal Rights

and the broadest justice.

We close this brief and imperfect account of

this interesting Christian order by saying that,

in proportion to their numbers, no class has

exerted upon the body politic a more health-

ful, moral and social influence than have they,

for a period of two hundred years. Their

industry, economy, thrift, temperance, integ-

rity and high sense of honor, has caused them
to be loved and respected by all our people.

HISTORY OF THE CATHOLIC CHURCH.
BY RIGHT REV. THOMAS A. BECKER.

HE oldest Catholic Church in the State

of Delaware is St. Mary’s, It was

called “Coffee Run” by Rev. P. Kenny,

who was the second pastor, he having

succeeded Father Whalen about the year 1796

Th© first Church was a log building, and at

what time, precisely, it was erected we do not

know. The cemetery, however, dates back to

the year 1786, as appears from the tombstones

there. The land, it seems, was originally

bought by the Catholic Clergy of Maryland,

since a deed is still extant signed by the Rev.
' Robert Molynensy, a well known missionary
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of the Society of Jesus. The first Catholic
]

family residing in Delaware, was that of Cor-

nelius Hollehan, a wealthy gentleman from

Cork, Ireland, who came here in 1730. His

residence was “Cuba Rock', on Red Clay

Creek, purchased from Letitia Penn, and was

part of the manor given her by her father,

William Penn.

After disposing of Cuba Rock, Mr. Hollehan

bought the “Old Homestead,” on part of

which the Church now stands. Here he en-

tertained many of the Catholic Clergy, chiefly

from Baltimore, where the names of Moly-

nensy, Rossiter, Von Keating, John (after-

ward Archbishop) Carrell and Fathers Whalen
and Kenney were well known.

Meanwhile the town of Wilmington began

to grow apace, and a small house on the cor-

ner of Hanover (now Sixth) and West streets,

was used by the Catholics, chiefly of French

origin, who had fled from San Domingo at the

time of the insurrection of the blacks.

Among those who came at that time, was a

clergyman, Rev. E. Favre (or Faure) who
signed himself invariably on the Baptismal

and Marriage Registers as “pretre francais,”

and kept the early records of the church in

French
;
in them we find the names of Du Pont,

Bauduy, Gareschie, Keating and others, as

well as that of Bayard. All these seem to

have received the Sacraments of the church at

Peri Faure’s hands.

The Rev. P. Kenny, educated in France,

took definite charge of the Church in Wil-
i

mington in the year 1804, and attended Con-

I

cord (Willcox’s House) and West Chester once

a month, having two Sundays at St. Mary’s
j

when five occurred in one month. Occasion-
j

ally he said Mass near the Brandywine at

Madame Victor du Pont’s house, until 1828,

when he received as curate the Rev. George

A. Carrell (afterwards the first Bishop of Cov-

ington, Ky.) The venerable Father Kenny
remained pastor until his death, sending

Father Carrell to New Castle, Del., when he

came on a fixed Sunday to Wilmington.

The Rev. P. Reilly followed Father Carrell

in the year 1834. He was prefect at Mt. St.

Mary’s College during the time of his Emi-
i

nence, Cardinal McCloskey’’s studies at the

same Theological school. After Father Reil-

ly’s ordination in 1834, he had the task of at-

tending Wilmington and New Castle, as well
j

as those who were employed in building the

Philadelphia, Wilmington and Baltimore Rail

Road as far as Havre de Grace, Md., and in-

tervening stations.

Years of toil intervening, he built St. Mary’s

College in Wilmington. It was regularly

chartered by the State of Delav-are. and con-

tinued to flourish under his care and that of

Prof. Edward Roth and other able teachers,

until the outbreak of our civil war, when, from

a number of combining unfavorable circum-

stances, the College ceased to exist about the

year 1867. The grounds, which wrere the per-

sonal property of Father Reilly', burdened by
mortgages, were sold out to a number of

Catholic gentlemen in 1868.

In the time of Father Carrell, some addition

was made to St. Peter’s Church, (the name
given to the building on Hanover and West
Streets,) and from a marble slab, we see that

the date is 1832.

The church of St. Joseph, near the banks of

the Brandywine, was built in 1841, and owres

its commencement to the forethought and
earnestness of P. N. Brennan Esq., (now' in the

Lobdell Car-wheel Company,) who u'as then

clerk for Messrs. Charles I. Du Pont & Com-
pany, large woolen manufacturers on the east

side of the creek. Mr. Charles I. Du Pont
gave one acre of ground on which St. Joseph’s
Church now stands.

Another half acre, on each side, w'as bought
from him, at the same time, for one hundred
dollars, of which land the westerly side lot

was to be used for a school house, the easterly

for a pastor’s residence. Messrs. E. I. Du Pont
De Nemours & Company, gave one hundred
and fifty dollars in money, besides helping in

many other ways to improve the building.

Two of this firm, Messrs. Henry and Alexis I.

Du Pont were members of the Building Com-
mittee. Eight dwelling houses were built for

different parties, one year after the Church was
in use, and these houses were in four blocks of

two each, one half of them east, the other

west of the church. All on the east side, after

having been occupied some time, caught fire

and were destroyed. The ruins, merely the

walls, with the lot were bought for ($500)
five hundred dollars by Madam Amelia E Du
Pont, sister of Charles I. Du Pont, and a prac-

tical Catholic, and given to the Church with a

!

proviso that a residence for the sisters in
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charge of the school should be erected. The
sisters of St. Francis are now in charge, having

both a home for themselves and a school for

the parish. An additional piece of ground
was also given to the Church in 1876 by Mr.

Charles Dougherty.

In Wilmington, the wants of the Catholics

demanded a new Church, and St. Mary’s, Sixth

and Pine, was begun in 1858. To this a large

school-house was added, and placed under the

control of the Sisters of St. Joseph. The ven-

reable P. Reilly, V. G. is still pastor.

As early as 1804, a few Catholics at New
Castle, Del., had secured a place for worship,

and Mr. B. Murphy, father of the eminent

“Printer and Publisher,” John Murphy of Bal-

timore, Md
,
was one of the most generous

and efficient members. This building had,

however, become so dilapidated, that in 1870,

an entirely new Church was erected, and in

1876,a handsome pastoral residence was added.

In Newark, Del., chiefly by the generosity

and labor of Mr. Charles Murphy, (now of

Baltimore,) a Presbyterian Meeting-house was

bought, and converted into a church in 1868.

It is attended from Elkton, Md. A house for

the Priest has also recently been built.

At Delaware City, during the early part of

the war, a neat brick Church was built, and is

still attended from New Castle, Del.

The Catholic Female Orphanage in Wil-

mington, was begun by the Rev. George A.

Carrell, and several Sisters of Charity under-

took to support it by opening a boarding

school at Sixth and West Sts.

The property of Rev. P. Kenny, had -by

some legal inaccuracy, escheated to the State
;

but upon the showing of Mr. Charles I.

DuPont, then Representative of the District,

it was sold, and the proceeds given over by

the State of Delaware, to the Orphanage, for

the use and behoof of the “ Catholic Female

Orphans,” and for educational purposes. The

average number of children there, for many
years, has been about forty.

When the Second Plenary Council of Balti-

more was held, in 1866, it was proposed that

a new Diocese, under the name and title of

Wilmington, should be erected, to comprise

all the Peninsula (or Chersonese, as the old

maps have it) lying between Delaware and

Chesapeake Bays, together with the State of
j

Delaware.

19

}
Accordingly, in the year 1868, the late

Sovereign Pontiff Pius IX, by apostolic letters

bearing date March 3, 1868, trusting to the

information given him by the Prelates of the

aforesaid Council, erected ail the parts clipped

from the Dioceses of Philadelphia, Baltimore
and Richmond, Va., into a Diocese, and ap-

pointed Dr. Thomas A. Becker, a student, and

1

Priest of the Propaganda, Rome, as the first

Bishop. He was consecrated in the Cathedral

of Baltimore by the Mt. Rev. Martin John
Spalding, Archbishop of Baltimore, on the

15th of August, 1868, and installed on the fol-

lowing Sunday, August 22d by that Prelate in

person

Since his. arrival, the Churches of St. Paul,

St. James, that of the Sacred Heart, for Ger-
mans, under the charge of the Benedictines, an

orphanage for the girls, renewed, one for

orphan boys begun, schools at various

Churches, a new Church and Pastoral residence

and school house at Dover, an Academy for

young ladies on Delaware Avenue, controlled

by the Sisters of the Order of the Visitation,

B. V. M., and other works have sprung up
and are in good condition.

The Church of St. Patrick, King street near

Fourteenth, Wilmington, was consecrated in

April, 1882. It is an edifice reflecting great

credit as well on its builders as on the society

in Wilmington, of which it is a conspicuous

memorial.

The diocese is small, but may yet be of im-

portance.

The Catholic population in Delaware is

about 12,000.

ZION’S GERMAN EV. LUTHERAN
CHURCH OF WILMINGTON.

By Rev. P. Isenschmid, M. D.

HIS Church was founded in the year 1848

g'wby the Rev. Fr. Walz—now in Sellers-

\J\±

y

ville, Pa. After worshipping for a

while in a public hall, the congregation

built a church in Walnut street above Sixth.

In 1852 Mr. Walz was succeeded by Rev. C.

M. Jaeger. In 1856 R.ev. Thomas Steck

took charge of the congregation, which he
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served for three years. He was succeeded by

Rev. Dr. W. Hasskarl, 859—61 : Rev. J. J.

Kucher 1S61—64; Rev. H. Weicksel, 1864

—

67. While Mr. Weicksel had charge of the

church, the congregation thought it expedient

to establish a week-day school for the instruc-

tion of its children in their own language as

well as in the English. There being no base-

ment in the church-building where the school

could be held it was resolved to look lor more

suitable quarters. The Public School building

located on corner Sixth and French streets,

then being for sale, was purchased and the

necessary alterations made to adapt the build-

ing to its new purposes. The basement was

reserved for school rooms
;
and the upper part

made the church. The school, held by Rev.

Weicksel himself with a son and a daughter as

as assistants, soon came into a flourishing

condition, numbering about 100 scholars. The

congregation also by that time commenced

to grow by immigration from Germany and
r-r* o r-» o rr rl f r\ Q C<P If-sustaining *

charge. In 1867 Mr. Weicksel was succeeded

by Rev. H. B. Kuhn who remained till 1870.

During his ministry the school had to be

closed, he being no school-man and the con-

gregation not being able to give a salary to a

teacher besides him.

Since 1871 the present pastor, Rev. P. Isen-

schmid, M. D. has had charge of the congre-

gation.—In 1874 the church building was

enlarged and improved at a cost of $2,500. and

is now a neat place of worship. The congre-

gation, consisting mostly of hard working

people, is now, after having got rid of some

peace-disturbing element, in a better condition

than ever before. The number of communi-

cant members is over 200.—The Sunday

School numbers over 200 scholars with 20

teachers.—Mr. Fr. Weil Sr. being its much
esteemed superintendent.

The present vestry is composed of the

following members: Fr. Weil, Sr. (Pres.) Geo.

Steinicken, (Sec.) John F. Bush, (Tres.) Chr.

Strobel, John Pfeiffer, C. Krapf, H. Bush, Th.

Fueckel, M. Gropp, L. Haman, Th. Hanf, G.

Refuss.

Of all those who were members from the

beginning and who survive to this day, only

two, Mr. John F. Bush, baker, and Mr. John

Fullmer, shoemaker, have remained true and

faithful to their church.

ST. JOHN’S REFORMED CHURCH,
WYOMING, KENT COUNTY.

By Rev. E. PI. Dieffenbacher.

C?B. N the spring of 1868 a small colony of

t people, mainly from central Pennsylva-

nia, settled in Delaware. They were

) attracted to this garden spot by their

agricultural habits and tastes. Being deprived

of the peculiar church privileges to wrhich

they were accustomed in their former homes,

they soon provided for themselves and their

children a Church where they might worship

the God of their fathers according to their

well settled reformation faith and historical

culture. A Sunday School was first organized

in the summer of 1S6S by the election of Hon.

J. G. Brown as superintendent. The next

April Rev. Dr. G. B. Russell, then of Phila-

delphia, first visited among this people and

preached for them. This service he continued

at stated intervals for more than a year. The
y /A f U c
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organized July 18, 1869, under the name of

St. John’s Reformed Church. The Philadel-

phia Classis of the Reformed Church in the

United States, sent Rev. Dr. S. R. Fisher to

perform this official act. Twenty-two persons

entered into the organization. Rev. C. C.

Russell became their first pastor. He entered

upon his labors in the fall of 1870 and con-

tinued with them one year, when he was

removed by death. For several years the con-

gregation was without a pastor. Services were

occasionally held by ministers from different

sections of Pennsylvania, and by the professors

and students of the Theological Seminary at

Lancaster, Pa.

The second pastor, Rev. W. F. Lichliter,

began his labors in August, 1875. At the end

of the first year he resigned.

Rev. E. H. Dieffenbacher, the present pas-

tor, entered upon his duties in November, 1876.

The corner stone of the church was laid

June 9th, 1872, and the Church, a neat and

substantial building, was consecrated to the

worship of the Triune God April 19, 1874.

The congregation now numbers 87 commu-
nicant members and 50 baptized youths. The
pastor is the superintendent of the Sunday

school, numbering iooscholars and 12 teachers.

Their symbol of faith is the celebrated

Heidelberg Catechism. They have an order
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of worship in a liturgy following the churc
year and keeping its festivals. They baptize

their children and train them in Christian nur-
ture

;
and at a proper age, when duly instruc-

ted and prepared, they are received into full

membership by the rite of confirmation ad-
ministered by the pastor. They celebrate the
Lord’s Supper four times a year. They acknowl-
edge all other evangelical Christians as breth-
ren, entitled to fellowship. They aim, in

short, to practice the pure and undefiled re-

ligion of Christ. While they do not engage
in the questionable amusements of the world,
they yet are a genial, social, neighborly, hos-
pitable and cheerful people.

HISTORY OF THE FIRST UNITARIAN
CHURCH OF WILMINGTON.

d^p^HIS church, which is the only one of

that denomination in the State, was or-

WU£> ganized in February, 1866. In that

(£ft month a number of the friends of the

movement, having met at a private house, ini-

tiated the enterprise by signing the following

paper, viz: “The undersigned propose to as-

sociate themselves for the purpose of forming

and sustaining a Church and Society of the

Unitarian Faith:” signed by Rev. F. A. Far-

ley, D. D., Edmund O. Sewall, Charles P.

Bent, N. M. Gookin, Cyrus Pyle, Thos. Y. de

Normandie, and their wives, and Mrs. J. P.

Wales and others.

At a subsequent meeting, attended by about

thirty individuals, the following Declaration or

Statement was adopted, viz: “The under-

signed persons living in and near Wilmington,

in the State of Delaware, wishing to perpetuate

and enjoy the privilege of that form of Chris-

tianity, commonly called Unitarianism, and

believing that this end can be better accom-

plished by the formation of a Society, do here-

by, in the Spirit and love of Christ, unite and

form themselves into a Society that shall be

known under the name of the First Unitarian

Society of Wilmington. And may Grace,

Mercy and Peace from God, our Father, and

the Lord Jesus Christ, be with us. Amen.”

To sign this statement constitutes one a

member of the church. It is the only creed

or doctrinal statement the church has, and no

exclusive interpretation is put upon this.

Baptism is not practiced unless desired, but
the Lord s Supper is celebrated.

The first sermons before the Society, were
preached by Rev. Thos. Y. de Normandie, the

!

following April, followed by Rev. Dr. F. A.

j

Farley, of Brooklyn, New York. September
9th, 1S06, a call was extended to Rev. Fielder

1 Israel to become their pastor, which was
accepted; he continued most faithfully and ac-

;

ceptably as the teacher and pastor of this

people for a period of about 10 years, resigning
in December, 1876. Under his ministry the
church enjoyed a good measure of prosperity,
and gained a substantial and assured foothold,
bringing into its fold some of the leading and
influential people of the city. It was also du-
ring his pastorate that the church was built

by this Society in West above Eighth street;

the corner stone of which was laid October 18,

j

1867, and the church dedicated March 9, 1868.

After Mr. Israel left, in December, 1876, the
church was without a pastor for about one

1 year, when Rev. J. M. W. Pratt, accepted a

j

ca B, November, 1877, and was ordained to the

|

ministry in the church, January 28th, 1878.

!
On this occasion the Ordination Sermon was

!
preached by Rev. H. W. Bellows, D. D., of

j

New York, on “The Nature and claims of

Jesus Christ,” from Matt. 16: 13. “Whom do
men say that I, the Son of man, am?” which
was an exceedingly able exposition of the

Unitarian faith. The members of the church,

had the sermon printed in pamphlet form. Mr*
Pratt remained till June, 1880, when he resigned*

The present pastor, Rev. H. R. Wilson,

M. D., became the pastor, June, 1881. This is

his first charge, and besides performing his

ministerial duties he is practicing the profes-

sion of Medicine as a specialist in the city of

Wilmington. The church has a membership of

about sixty, and a Sabbath School of 100.

The Board of Trustees are Thomas McClary,

President
;
Heywood Conant, Clerk : Lea

Pusey, Treasurer
;
Dr. W. W. Thomas, George

W. Stone, John Wainwright and David Craig.

This church like others of the denomination,

is founded in liberality and freedom of thought

and action. The members take an advanced

position and active interest in all benevolent

enterprises, and in all measures for the educa-

tion, prosperity and happiness of their fellow

men.
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“THE HOUSEHOLD OF FAITH,”

OF WIMINGTON.

Str'J
HE occasion of the organization of this

church was the withdrawal of Rev.

George R. Kramer from the ministry

and membership of the M. E. Church,

which occurred June 20th, 1877. He was then

in the third year of his pastorate of the As-

bury church of that city, a large number of

whose members followed him into the new
field he had chosen. The church was organ-

ized with a membership of seventy, on Sunday

June 24th, 1877, and first worshiped in a tent

on the corner of Fourth and Lombard streets.

Their views differ from those held by the

great body of Christians, principally, in the be-

lief that man sleeps after death till the resur-

rection, and that after the judgment the

wicked are destroyed in the second death, and

not kept alive in endless punishment. The
church is independent. They reject infant

baptism and believe only m immersion. In

August of the same year they rented the Mc-
Clary building, 605 Market street, where the

church prospered and increased in member-

ship to over three hundred. As soon as means

and numbers would permit they purchased a

lot on Tatnall street, between Seventh and

Eighth streets, and laid the corner stone of

their new building, October 20th, 1880, with

appropriate ceremonies. Mr. Kramer preach-

ed to the large company assembled,' and read

a poem composed by himself, after which the

choir sang the hymn, “Satisfied,” also written

by the pastor. The latter then deposited in

the cavity left in the corner stone, the articles

selected for that purpose, which were
;
The

Holy Bible, the Constitution of the Church,

its roll of membership, and hymn book, and a

history of the church, which was first read

aloud
;
next a written prayer, the hymn “Sat-

isfied,” copies of several religious papers, to-

gether with copies of the Wilmington Dailiq^,

of the day previous.

The new church, the first of its denomina-

tion in Wilmington, was dedicated on Sunday,

December 3, 1881. Much outside interest had

always been attached to the church, largely

through the zeal and eloquence of the pastor,

his lectures and writings, and the warmth and

fervor with which the meetings were con-

ducted
;

the members all participating, and

so deeply moved, themselves, that the observer

could not fail to be affected by the influences

around him. Now assembled in their own
church building, feeling still more at home,
and indeed like one “ household,” they were
more united and happy than ever. Therefore

the disappointment was great when the first

break in their strong bond of union and affec-

tion occurred in the resignation of the pastor.

He had received a number of calls to churches
in other places, and finally accepted one to

the “Church of the Blessed Hope,” Brooklyn,

N. Y. His farewell sermon was preached on
Sabbath evening, July 30, 1882, to a deeply

affected audience. With their new and pleas-

ant place of worship, and constant accessions

to their numbers, this congregation is undoubt-
edly but in the beginning of its strength, and
will long continue to exert a good influence

in the community.

THE DELAWARE BIBLE SOCIETY.

N the sixty-fifth annual meeting of the

Delaware Bible Society, held in the

_ Forest Presbyterian Church, Middle-
town, September 13, 1877, a sketch of

its history from its organization to that time,

was read by Hon. D. M. Bates, from which the

following is compiled. On the 22nd of No-
vember, 1813, a small number of Christians of

different denominations, within New Castle

County, met ; n Wilmington to form a society

for the diffusion of the Bible among the desti-

tute of this State. Agreably to this object it

was organized as the Bible Society of Dela-

ware. Rev. John E. Latta was appointed

Chairman, and John Rumsey, Secretary. Rev.
Messrs. Daniel Dodge, William Pryce, John E.

Latta, and Samuel Henderson, and Messrs.

Samuel Hilles, Robert Porter, and Matthew
Kean were appointed a committee to prepare

a constitution and an address to the public,

which were reported and adopted, and another

committee was thereupon appointed to revise

the address and superintend its publication,

composed of Rev. Dr. Thomas Read, Rev
Messrs. Wiliiam Pryce, Daniel Dodge and

John E. Latta. and Messrs. James Cowper,
George Monroe and Robert Porter. The
meeting adjourned until the last Monday of
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December. In the proceedings of this ad-

journed meeting other names appear, such

Dr. William McKee, Richard Bassett, John
Hagany, James M. Broom, Gideon Farrell,

Alexander Draper, Hugh Gemmel. Samuel
Taylor and Jared Chestnut

;
also Rev. Andrew

K. Russell, Mr. Samuel Bell, David Sebo and

Leonard Vandegrift. An organization under

the Constitution was then completed by the

choice of Rev. John E. Latta as President,

and John Rumsey as Secretary; also by the

choice of a Board of Directors. The address

to the public, issued by the newly-formed so-

ciety, is still extant.

The infant society received early and seas-

onable encouragement from its co-laborers in

the work. December 2 7, 1813, “a letter was

received from the managers of the Bible

Society of Philadelphia, advising of the estab-

lishment of their stereotype press for printing

the scriptures
;
and also an extract from their

minutes, making a donation to this Society

of twenty-five English Bibles, and rhe like

number of New Testaments for gratuitous

distribution.” The fraternal spirit of the Phil-

adelphia Society was gratefully acknowledged,

and an order was made on that Society for

fifty copies of the stereotype impression of the

Bible, and as many of the New Testament.

At the next meeting, January 31, 1814, the

Delaware Society received a friendly greeting

from the Bible Society of New York. The

annual report of that Society was received
;

also a circular address communicating a pro-

posal to print the scriptures in French, for the

benefit of the French inhabitants of the newly

acquired territory of Louisiana, and asking

the advice and aid of other Societies. In

accordance with this request the extracts

from the circular were published in the news-

papers
;
and a contribution of $100 was

ordered to be made out bf the very moderate

resources of the Society. It also began to

extend its sympathy and aid in the general

work. In December, 1814, learning that a

Bible Society was about to be formed at Snow

Hill, the Directors were authorized, for the

encouragement of the new Society, to make

it a donation of twenty-five Bibles and as

many Testaments. At the same meeting the

first essay seems to have been made, in a

small way, toward local supply by an order

to furnish twelve Bibles for distribution in

' Georgetown. Under advice contained in a

! letter from the Treasurer of the Bible Society

of Philadelphia, this Society put itself into

;

official communications with the British and
Foreign Bible Society, to which it transmitted

a copy of its constitution and address.

A prompt and generous response was received.

By a letter dated February 24th, 1815, the

British and Foreign Society tender their friendly

congratulations, and gratefully acknowledge
their unbroken harmony and co-operation with

the British Society throughout the war be-

tween the two nations, then just closed. A
very substantial token of their sympathy and
friendship was given to the infant society by a

donation of one hundred pounds sterling. In

1815 the American Bible Society was organ-

ized, and measures were taken to bring into

connection with it, as auxiliaries, the various

local societies which had been previously

formed. This the Delaware Society accepted,

and remitted to the larger society $250.00 as a

donation. We notice in the minutes of this

period (1816,) the accession to the Society of

some who are still remembered as prominent

in the history of the State, and active in good

works, such names as those of Dr. David

Stewart, Nicholas Van Dyke Kensy Johns, Jr.,

and Dr. James Couper. The first object of

the society after organization had been to pro-

vide a depository in Wilmington, from whence

to supply all special demands for Bibles and

Testaments, and, in addition, it had contrib-

uted both in books and money to assist newly

organized and feeble societies, having sent

at one time one hundred Bibles and as many
Testaments to very destitute portions of

Tennessee. They now began to consider the

question of supplying more at large the desti-

tute of their own state, and the churches

were requested to assist and to take an annual

collection for the Society. At the meeting

of October 20, 1818, there first appears the

name of Rev. E. W. Gilbert, pastor of the

Hanover Street Church for more than twenty-

two years, through all of which period he was

a very active member of this Society, and

most of the time its Secretary. In October,

1819, it was noted in the minutes, that during

the six years of its existence the Society had

distributed 1560 Bibles and Testaments.

There was a deepening sense, from year to

year, of the necessity of giving the Bible to all
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the destitute within the State, with strenuous
\

efforts made to extend its influence and in-

crease its resources. In 1828 the society

resolved to supply the whole State, and the

pledge was renewed in 1829. The efforts

which had been made to organize local auxil-

iaries began then to be successful. Favorable

reports were received from the associations of

White Clay Creek, Lower Brandywine, Pen-

cader, St. George’s and Newark. To these the

society acknowledged itself much indebted,

and so great was the encouragement felt that

a resolution was taken to raise $300 to aid the

American Bible Society in a proposed effort to

supply the whole United States within the

two years to come. Five persons on the spot

pledged themselves to raise half the required

sum, and the $300 was afterward remitted to

the National Society. In the succeeding five

years there was considerable increase of con-

tributions, and in 1835 the society made its

first direct attempt to distribute the Bible

throughout the State. Richard H. Merriken.

a preacher of the Protestant Methodist Church,

was engaged in the work about ten months,

and was reported by the Board of Managers
as having prosecuted it with “ industry, fidelity

and zeal.” He distributed 800 Bibles and 917
Testaments. This was followed by some
years of inactivity. In 1842 a committee, con-

sisting of Rev. Mr. Wynkoop, Judge Hall and

Rev. Mr. Hogarth, was appointed to prepare

a circular addressed to the pastors and churches

within the State with the hope of reviving an

interest in the subject. At the meeting of

1844 it was resolved “that a second thorough

survey should be made with a view to ascer-

tain and supply the wants of all the families

in the State in reference to the word of God.”

To the great encouragement and aid of the

society at this juncture, a renewed interest in

the subject was awakened by Rev. J. P. Knox,

one of the agents of the American Bible

Society, who visited the churches at large

within the State, and as the result of his

labors, “contributions were made which ex-

ceeded the expectations of the Board.” Mr.

Joseph Gregg was employed for the second

Bible distribution. He completed his work in

New Castle county in 1845, and in 1848 it was

reported that the debt incurred was nearly

liquidated, and that the work of re-supply had

also progressed through Kent. The work in

Sussex was thoroughly done under the efficient

labors of Rev. Mr. Mustard, than whom few

men have brought to such a work equal quali-

fications—none superior.

The society in 1849 acknowledged his faith-

ful services by a cordial vote of thanks, and by
raising his salary to $50 a month. With re-

spect to Sussex county it is but just to ac-

knowlege the faithful and valuable services

voluntarily rendered through a series of years,

by Rev. T. P. McColley, who in that county
held much the same relation to the Bible cause

as was sustained by the venerable Judge Hall

in the interests of the State Bible Society.

At the annual meeting held in 1859, .in Dover,
it was recommended by the State Societies

that County Bible Societies should be formed,

and a gentleman from each county, Hon. C. L.

Layton, from Sussex; Rev. Dr. Cook, from

Kent; and Rev. Mr. Wiswell, from New Castle,

were appointed to take measures to form such

societies. This was accordingly done, and
the work went on separately in each county

In i860 the third direct and thorough supply

of the State was accomplished. This was a

season of universal prosperity and the society

rejoiced in its success. In 1861 and the years

following, Testaments were supplied to the

troops raised in Delaware for service in the

civil war. In 1869 a re-supply of New Castle

county was undertaken, which occupied nearly

two years. It may be considered that since

the organization ol the Society in 1813 there

have been four thorough supplies of the desti-

tute by means of agencies. Edw. T. Taylor,

Esq., was Treasurer from 1847 till 187*8, when he

resigned. Dr. L. P. Bush is now the President

of the Society.

NEW JERUSALEM CHURCH.
By Col. W. A. La Motte.

e/»||HE First Society of the New Jerusalem

Church in Wilmington, Delaware, was
organized in the beginning of 1857.

UP Daniel Lammot was the first President,

Hon. Edward W. Gilpin, Treasurer, and Daniel
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Lammot, Jr., Secretary. There were in all

about twenty members. A room was rented,

where services were held by Rev. D. K. Whit-

taker, and Rev. E. A. Beaman.

On August 6th, 1857, the corner stone of

the present church, corner of Delaware Avenue
and Washington Street was laid, and on 29th

April, 1858, the church was dedicated
;
the

Rev. Abiel Silver was called as pastor and re-

mained till March 16th, i860, when he accepted

a call to New York.

The pulpit was temporarily supplied until

September 1st, [860, when Rev. J. T. Eaton

came for one year. In September, 1 86 1 ,
Rev.

R. N. Foster became pastor, and remained until

July, 1863, when he determined to leave the

ministry. The church was closed until the

following spring, though the Sunday School

was continued. In May, 1864, Rev. Abiel

Silver returned, and remained with the Society

until May, 1866, at which time Rev. Willard

H. Hinckley, of Baltimore, grandson of the

Rev. John Hargrove, the first oruM iit Li clergy-

man of the New Church in the United

States, accepted a call and remained until

May, 1873.

The church was without a settled pastor for

some months although the services were Regu-

larly held by the Rev. B. F. Barrett and Rev
E. P. Walton.

In January, 1874, the Rev. S. S. Seward be-

came pastor and remained until November,

1878. The pulpit was again temporarily sup-

plied till February, 1879, when the Rev

I. B. Parmalee, the present pastor accepted a

call.

The present officers are William H. Swift,

President
;
Ferdinand L. Gilpin, Treasurer

;

W. A. La Motte, Secretary.

James H. Cameron is Superintendent of the

Sunday School which numbers about fifty

scholars.

The church is entirely free from debt.

THE WESLEYAN FEMALE COLLEGE,
AT WILMINGTON.

HIS is one of the earliest institutions in

f t: ^ e coun1:ry, for the higher education

of women. Rev. Solomon Prettyman,

d) ' of the M. E. Church was conducting a

Female Seminary, at Seaford, which he was in-

duced to remove to Wilmington as a more de-

sirable location. It was opened in October

1837, at No. 175 Market street, in a hired house

which was soon found to be too small, and a

larger building was secured. In 1839 a large

edifice was erected, especially adapted to

school purposes on French street, above Sixth

street, and here the school was established as

The Wesleyan Female Collegiate Institute.

It grew and prospered, drawing students from

all parts of Delaware and the adjacent States,

and soon its reputation extended throughout
the country.

In 1851 it passed into the hands of a Board
of Trustees, representing the M. E. Church,
and a new charter was obtained and the name
changed to Wesleyan Female College. Under
this management, for thirty years, it has done
excellent educational work, and its graduates

are found in all parts of the Union.

In 1882, the property passed from the cor-

porate body to private ownership, having been
purchased by Mr. William Bright, of Wilming-
ton,one of the original Board of Trustees, and
always a warm and zealous friend of the insti-

tution. This change, however, does not affect

the character of the school, which is continued
on the same general principles as under the

former control. The present owner has

greatly improved the buildings and-accommo-
dations, and with superior advantages for

acquiring an English, Classical and Art educa
tion, the Wesleyan College will open in Sep-
tember, 1882, in charge of Rev. John Wilson,

A. M., Ph. D., formerly, for many years, Presi-

dent under the old organization.
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HISTORY OF DELAWARE RAILROAD,
INCLUDING A SHORT ACCOUNT OF

COISnSTECTUSTGL PENINSULAR ROADS.
BY M. HAYES, Secretary and Treasurer.

K) HE original charter of “The Delaware

Railroad Company,” enacted by the

General Assembly at Dover, June20th,

1836, authorized the construction of a

railroad “from any point on or near The Wil-

mington and Susquehanna Railroad, or The

New Castle and French Town Railroad, to

the southern line of the State in a direction

towards Cape Charles, with full power to con-

struct lateral branches, to Lewes, Seaford, or

to any other points or places within the limits

of the State of Delaware.”

The commissioners appointed by this act

were John M. Clayton, William D. Waples,

and Richard Mansfield. They employed John

Randel, Jr., a distinguished civil engineer,

whose corps of assistants surveyed a line

from a point near the village of Newark, on

the Wilmington and Susquehanna Railroad,

—

now constituting part of the Philadelphia,

Wilmington and Baltimore Railroad,—south-

wardly passing through or near the principal

towns of the State on the route to George-

town, the county seat of Sussex, and from

thence surveyed branch lines, as contemplated

by the charter, to Lewes, to Miflsboro and to

Seaford.

The Chief Engineer’s report gave a descrip-

tion of the route and the distances, by the sur-

vey to the places mentioned. Maps and pro-

files of the lines and estimates of the cost of

construction are still preserved.

Referring to the general features of the
country, Mr. Randel says—that, by his exami-
nation of the Peninsula, “he was confirmed in

the opinion he had previously formed as to a

large portion of the State of Delaware being
almost a level plane and peculiarly favorable
for the construction of railroads, with gentle
grades and curves of large radii, at moderate
cost. * * * * this feature of the coun-
try is particularly applicable to the dividing
ridge which extends nearly the whole length
of the State, and separates the waters which
flow into the Chesapeake from those which
empty into the Delaware Bay.”
The cost of the projected Railroad, esti-

mated by Edward Staviy, Assistant Engineer,
was $1,069,462. This was on the circuitous

route surveyed from the “Wilmington and
Susquehanna Railroad ” to the Maryland
State line south of Millsboro, measuring 94J
miles. From a reconnoissance made of the
the ridge route to Seaford on the Nanticoke
River, it was found to be more direct and
consequently shorter, and the cost of grading
much less expensive than it would be were
the line surveyed adopted. The report of the

Commissioners to the Legislature sets forth

the advantages of this work to the people of

the state, acknowledges the liberality of the

preceding Legislature in granting a charter

exempting the property of the Company from

taxation for fifty years, and with the right to
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construct lateral branches from the main line
;

“and having appropriated an amount sufficient

to pay the expenses of the survey, and author-

ized a subscription of ^25,000 to the stock of

the company, in the opinion of the Com-
missioners, “no further pecuuiary aid was re-

quired of the State.” Mr. Clayton, the author

of the charter as well as of this report, gave

as a reason for not asking further aid from the

State that, “a corporation of this character, if

its capital be entirely or chiefly composed of

State funds, must want that stimulus to suc-

cessful exertion which the private interests

of enterprising individual stockholders can

alone supply:” and this would seem to have

been adopted as the settled policy of the

State for many years thereafter. The Com-
missioners made an earnest appeal to the

citizens of the Eastern Shore of Maryland, to

unite their energies with those of our own
people, in the construction of a road designed

for the benefit of the whole Peninsula
;
which

by its extension to the waters of the Chesa-

peake, as it was shown, “would open the

shortest, safest and cheapest possible line of

communication between Norfolk and the

northern cities:” Unfortunately this enter-

prise was not viewed with favor by the people

of Maryland
;
the State had refused to grant

a charter to extend the Delaware Road through

her limits to the Virginia State line
;
acting

upon the belief that the travel and trade

would be thereby directed to the northern

cities, and operate injuriously upon the in-

terests of Baltimore.

To secure this trade the Maryland Legisla-

ture had anticipated the action of Delaware,

and granted a charter in 1833 for a line of

Railroad from a point on the Wilmington and

Susquehanna R. R., near Elkton, through the

tier of Eastern Shore Counties, to the Anna-

messex River, and in 1835 the State appro-

priated one million dollars for the prose-

cution of this work The surveys had already

been made, and some work had been done on

the located line, and whilst this rivalry con-

tinued, co-operation on the part of the people

of Maryland with the projectors of the Dela-

ware R. R. could not, reasonably, be expected.

Subscriptions to the stock of the Delaware

Railroad Company were solicited by the Com-
missioners, but the citizens of the country

through which the route was surveyed, were

26
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mostly farmers, or country merchants of small

means ; they had as yet given little thought

to the benefits they would derive from the pro-

jected improvement, and could not be induced

to invest their money in the enterprise; the

fair representations of the commissioners and

Mr. Clayton’s persuasive eloquence and per-

sonal influence failed alike to inspire confi-

dence in its success. Their hopes were next

turned to the cities of Philadelphia and Wil-

mington, believing the prospect open to their

commerce of easy access to the Breakwater

harbor, with all the advantages to be derived

on the other hand by railroad connection with

the waters of the Chesapeake, would insure

the required subscription, but owing, in part,

to the bad financial condition of the country

in 1837, no a*d could be obtained from the

cities
;
and the enterprise, failing of this sup-

port, was abandoned for want of capital. At
the same time the Maryland project also

failed, on account of the financial troubles

which embarrassed the affairs of States, as well

as the fortunes and enterprises of individuals.

The Company was dissolved and its property

became vested in the State, and the prospect

of a Peninsular Railroad seemed for many years

hopeless.

Steamboat Line from Dona.
The citizens of Dover and the vicinity, as

well as those residing further south, felt

greatly the need of better traveling facilities,

as no steamboat line existed further down the

bay than Smyrna landing, on Duck creek; from

whence the “Kent,” a small steamboat, had

been running since 1840. In the summer of

1846 a public meeting was held at Dover, and

a Committee was appointed to examine the

seven and a half miles from the Capital, to

inquire into its condition and the probable

cost of repairing the road and rebuilding the

old wharf. This was the point where passen-

gers from Philadelphia to Norfolk, by the old

Philadelphia Steamboat and Transportation

Line, were transferred from steamboats to

stage coaches and posted through.to Seaford,

on the Nanticoke River, where they again em-

barked on steamers for Norfolk. This line

was in operation in 1825, before passenger

railways were built in this country
;
and the

tally ho post-coaches, drawn by four horses

an well filled with passengers, traveling at
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the high speed of 46 miles in from 6 to 7 hours,
j

over the level county roads of Rent and Sus-

sex, attracted great attention, and some of

the most enterprising and highly honored citi-

zens of Dover became enthusiastic stock-

holders in the Company, of which the Hon.

Thomas Clayton, afterward chief justice, was

President. Unfortunately the steamboats,

either from defects in their construction or

Irom bad management, seldom arrived at their

landings at the appointed time
;
and these

delays and irregularities in making connections

with the stage line at the points of transfer,

had the effect of soon diminishing the number

of passengers, and the loss in operating the

line constantly increasing, became so great

that, after little more than a year’s service,

the boats were withdrawn and the Company
was declared insolvent :—their property was

taken under execution and sold by the Sheriff.

The wharves and other structures at Dona

were abandoned to the encroachment of the

tides, and in a few years the place was over-

grown with salt grass. Dona was in this con-

dition when the Committee of 1846 examined

the property, some of the piling and a few

of the old wharf logs remained. The esti-

mated cost of rebuilding the wharf and cause-

way was moderate
;
a small amount was ob-

tained by subscription for that purpose, and

in the hope of establishing a steamboat line

to Philadelphia, the Levy Court of the county

appropriated a sum sufficient to put in good

repair the road from Dover to the Landing.

A company chartered and organized in 1847

called “The Dona Steamboat and Transporta-

tion Company” took charge of the work at the

Landing, and as it progressed the owners of

shares became limited to three stockholders:

Hon. Samuel M. Harrington, Caleb H. Sipple,

Esq., and the writer of this sketch, who super-

intended the improvements. On their comple-

tion the owners entered into negotiations with

the managers of “The Smyrna Steamboat and

Transportation Company,” which resulted in

leasing the wharf at Dona to that Company
and uniting with them in the purchase of a

fast and commodious steamboat, the “Zephyr,”

for the new line from thence to Philadelphia.

The Zephyr made her tri-weekly trips from

Dona in good time, and with great regularity:

the affairs of the company were well managed,

and the success attending this enterprise led

those engaged in it to look forward to its ex-

tension by railroad further down the Penin-

,
sula, and opened the way to an improvement,

J

which, in its development, as will be seen,

turned the course of travel from this route to

another, which has proved to be of far greater

public advantage and general benefit to the

people of Delaware and the Peninsular Coun-

ties of Maryland.

The Delaware Rail Road.

The Delaware Railroad, when the charter

was revived in 1849, was designed tocarry out

the old project of connecting two Steamboat

lines by rail, as formerly by post-coaches, from

Dona to Seaford, making a through route for

passengers from Philadelphia to Norfolk. The

distance by this route was estimated at two-

hundred and fifty miles and the time at six-

teen hours. Hon. Samuel M. Harrington,

the late distinguished Chancellor of Delaware,

may be justly regarded as the leader of this

project,and chief among the enterprising men
who conceived the plan and undertook its

execution; first, by obtaining from the Legis-

lature of 1849 a modification of the charter of

1836, which, as has been shown, was exceed-

ingly liberal in its terms, and by amendment,
was easily adapted to the purposes of this im-

provement; which formed the connecting link

between the Delaware and Chesapeake bays

in the projected line of travel. By the

terms of the amended charter, the Com-
missioners were required to open subscrip-

tion books, and on obtaining subscriptions

to stock to the amount of five thousand

shares at $25, par value, the subscribers,

their successors, and assigns were declared

to be incorporated by the name and title

of “The Delaware Railroad Company.” But

little progress was made for several years

in obtaining stock subscriptions, and it was not

until the act of February 20th, 1852, was
passed, authorizing a conditional subscrip-

tion on behalf of the State, that an organiza-

tion of the Company was effected. By this

“act” the Commissioners were directed to re-

open the books,and on obtaining subscriptions

to the amount of seventy-five thousand dol-

lars, the State Treasurer was authorized and

directed to subscribe “for such number of

shares at their par value, as would amount,

with the subscriptions of others, to the five

thousand shares” requisite to enable the
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Company to organize. The State’s subscrip-

tion was based upon the annual payment of

certain sums of money into the treasury by

the New Castle and French Town T. & R. R.

Company, in consideration of an act of the

Legislature designed to protect that Company
from rival or competitive lines within certain

limits. The appropriation to be applied to

the State’s subscription from this source

amounted to $6,500 per annum
;
the Dela-

ware Railroad Company, would realize $1 30,-

000, in the twenty years to which the “act”

was limited. To make this sum available, the

company was authorized by the “act” to issue

its bonds from time to time, and the

State Treasurer was directed to endorse the

same. The bonds to be made payable only

out of the aforesaid fund as the same should

accrue, and not to exceed the amount at any

time subscribed by the State.—The Legisla-

ture at this session resorted to the pernicious

expedient of raising money by a lottery grant,

and from the revenue thus to be derived, the

Company was promised $50,000 payable in in-

stalments of from $8,000 to $10,000 per

annum in a series of years, beginning with

1854. After this favorable legislation, the

friends of the enterprise called public meetings

in many of the villages on the proposed line

of road. The people were earnestly solicited to

subscribe to the stock,and addresses were de-

livered. printed and extensively circulated,

setting forth the character and object of the

work and its importance to the Peninsula.

Judge Harrington wrote with great facility

and every sentence proved his entire faith in

this enterprise. His public addresses were

earnest and impressive, and his enthusiastic

devotion to the work inspired his associates

with confidence in its ultimate success, and by

their energetic efforts, in a few weeks the

amount subscribed by individuals was sufficient

to secure the State’s subscription, and a meet-

ing of the share-holders was called at Dover,

May 22nd, 1852, when the company was or-

ganized. Judge Harrington was elected Presi-

dent
;
Ex-Governor William Tharp, Treasurer;

and Thomas B. Bradford, Henry Ridgely,

Alexander Johnson, Charles Wright, William

Cannon, Wm. Oi Redden and Beniah Tharp,

Directors. The Board proceeded at once to

employ engineers to make the preliminary

surveys for the location of the road. Mr. Plor-

ace Bliss, the engineer, entered on this work
the 24th of June. 1852, and had completed the

surveys, and presented to the Board his re-

port of the cost of the road on the first of

the following October. By his estimates the

grading of the located line from Dona to Sea-

ford forty- three miles, with a branch to Mil-

ford of eight miles, in addition, would cost but

little over $40,000. The entire cost of the

whole work, including grading, track, bridges,

turnouts, depots, and other structures, includ-

ing also the equipments of the railroad was

stated at less than $380,000 for the Main Line,

and $57,000 for the Milford branch, which was

considered an essential part of the work, as

opening the way for its extension to Lewes.

Proposals for letting the work were issued and

the road was put under contract, in November,

1852, and McCullough and Lentz, the con-

tractors, commenced work on that part of the

line between Dona Landing and Dover.

About this time the attention of President

Felton of the Philadelphia, Wilmington &
Baltimore Railroad Co. was directed to the

progress of this new enterprise,and he quickly

perceived the importance of seeking a connec-

tion with a railroad, which would not only by

means of Branch Roads command all the in-

land transportation of the Peninsula south of

Dover, but would open the most direct com-

munication with the South,and might possibly

become part of a rival line of travel between

New York and Norfolk. As the extension of

the Delaware Railroad northwardly from

Dover had been long contemplated, President

Harrington, and the Board of Directors were

prepared to receive propositions, looking to a

connection with the upper Companies, and it

was an easy matter to begin negotiations

where the mutual interests were so apparent:

though some grave questions as to the terms

of an agreement, stood in the way of an

immediate arrangement.

The Board had rigidly adhered to an eco-

nomical expenditure of the Company’s funds. In

the employment of agents, and in their con-

tracts for materials and labor, they had

experienced great trouble and inconvenience

in obtaining sufficient means to prosecute the

work, and at the 1st annual meeting of stock-

holders, January 10, 1853, the Treasurer’s

report shows only $12,683 as the amount

received from stockholders, including two pay-
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ments by the State Treasurer of $3,250 each;

on the State’s subscription. An instalment of
j

$3 per share had been called and many of the

shareholders, still incredulous as to the suc-

cess of the road, delayed the payment ot this

small assessment. The Legislature of 1852

having, as before stated, consented to invest

a part of the “bonus" derived from the N. &

F. T. Co. assumed the ground that the State

had contributed her share towards an improve-

ment from which only a part of its territory

was to be benefited. Conflicting personal in-

terests seriously interfered with the selection

of a line from Dover to Seaford
;
surveys had

been made with a view to reconcile these

differences, but it was found to be a difficult

matter to effect a compromise, and at the same

time to locate and establish the best line at-

tainable between the places mentioned. The

Board was obliged to confront many unforeseen

difficulties and needed the help of a stronger

organization
;
and this opportunity offered at a

seasonable Lime. Anticipating an agreement

and union between the Companies, the Board

had applied to the Legislature of 1853 for a

supplement to the Charter, and after a long

and excited session, in which the representa-

tives of every public or local interest, either

claimed some special favor as a condition of

support, or assumed to exercise a watchful

care lest the State should be involved, or lose

some advantage by granting railroad privi-

leges, the “Act” was finally passed (Feb-

ruary 4th, 1853) authorizing the Company to

extend the Delaware Railroad northwardly

and connect it with the N. C. & F. T. Railroad.

At this session another bill of equal impor-

tance was enacted making it lawful for either

the N. C. & F. T. or the Philadelphia, Wil-

mington & Baltimore Railroad companies to

“guarantee the bonds of the Delaware Rail-

road Company, and to hold stock in- said

company,” and also “to contract and agree

for the construction, equipment and mainte-

nance of the road.”

In the mean time, resolutions were passed

at a meeting of the Board, (on the 26th of

January,) appointing President Harrington and

Charles Wright, Esq., a committee to negoti-

ate with the Philadelphia, Wilmington & Bal-

timore Railroad Company, the terms of an

extension of the road to the New Castle and

Frenchtown Railroad.

Negotiations between the Delaware
and Philadelphia, Wilmington and
Baltimore Railroad.

The negotiations between the Companies

involved propositions for aid and assistance

from the Philadelphia, Wilmington and Balti-

more Company, to secure the building of the

Delaware Railroad, of a character that required

deliberate consideration
;
and though frequent

conferences were held by the committees, it

was not until March 4th, 1853 that a formal

communication was received from President

Felton, by the hands of Edward W. Gilpin and

A Campbell. Esqs., (the last, Treasurer of

the Philadelphia, Wilmington and Baltimore

Railroad Company,) submitting in brief “that

if one-half the stock required to build the

Delaware Railroad as extended should be first

subscribed, and the Company would discourage

and prevent as far as possible the building of

any rival line between Philadelphia and Balti-

more, the Philadelphia, Wilmington and Bal-

timore Company, would agree to guarantee

the bonds of the Delaware Railroad Company
to an amount sufficient to build the other half

and, if desired, would equip and run the road

when completed.” Or if the Delaware Rail-

road Company should conclude to equip the

road on its own account, the Philadelphia, Wil-

mington and Baltimore Company “would
guarantee three-fifths of the amount necessary

to build and equip the road.”

This proposition was favorably received and

the Directors of the two Companies with An-
drew C. Gray, Esq., President of the Newcas-
tle and Wilmington Railroad, met at Wilming-

ton, April 1 1 th, 1853, when the terms of a

union of the three railroads were fully dis-

cussed and the agreement (modified by fixing

the amount of the additional subscription to

the stock at $200,000 as a condition for the

guarantee of the company’s bonds) was signed

by the Presidents of the two Companies, Messrs.

Harrington and Felton, -with the understanding

that it should be submitted to their stockhold-

ers respectively for ratification. This was subse-

quently done and the agreement was ratified.

The first article provided that a plank road

would be substituted for “ iron rails” from Do-
ver to Dona Landing, the road to be under

the management and control of the Delaware

Railroad Company. The abandonment of

Dona as one of the termini of the railroad had
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long stood in the way of a settlement, and the

question being thus disposed of, it seemed to be

understood that the discontinuance of a steam-

boat line would unquestionably follow the

opening of the road for travel between Wil-

mington and Dover. It will be seen that such

was in fact the result. The Delaware Railroad

Company became the purchaser of the prop-

erty of the two “Steamboat Transportation

Companies,’ and as there was no further need

of a plank road it was never constructed.

As soon as arrangements with the Philadel-

phia, Wilmington and Baltimore Company
were concluded, vigorous measures were taken

to carry out the provisions of the agreement

for extending the road, and to place it upon a

surer and firmer financial basis.

The supplement to the Charter (Act of Feb-

ruary 24th, 1853) had been ratified by the

stockholders, and under its provisions the

board of Directors, now to consist of 13 mem-
bers, was re-organized on the 8th day of June,

1853, and Messrs. Samuel M. Felton and Ed-
ward C. Dale, of Philadelphia, Edward W-
Gilpin and Charles I. DuPont, of Wilmington’

and Andrew C. Gray, of New Castle, were

added to the old Board of which Hon. Samuel

Harrington was President, and Dr. Henry
Ridgely and Thomas B. Bradford, of Dover,

Col. Henry B. Fiddeman, and Alexander John-

son, uf Millord, Charles Wright, of Seaford,

and William Cannon, of Bridgeville, were the

members. James F. Al'lee was elected Secre-

tary and Treasurer, ex-Gov. William Tharp

having resigned the latter office.

Immediately after the new organization of the

Board, subscription books were re-opened and

placed in the hands of agents to canvass the

State
;
a corps of engineers under Major Isaac

Trimble was soon in the field, and as fast as

the line was definitely located and the right of

way obtained, it was put under contract.

Work was commenced at its junction with the

N. C. & F. T. R. R., to render the road avail-

able and productive as it progressed.

The work advanced rapidly and the expen-

ses were consequently largely increased. It

was found necessary to obtain by a loan suffi-

cient means to meet the increased demands

on the treasury
;
a mortgage of the road and

other property of the Company, bearing date

the 6th of November, 1854, was made to Trus-

tees to secure the payment of bonds to the

amount of $500,000—endorsed by the Phila-

delphia, Wilmington and Baltimore Railroad

Company, payable in twenty years, and bear-

ing six per cent, interest per annum, payable

semi-annually. These bonds ranked with the

best railroad securities in the market, but

owing to the depression caused by financial

embarrassments and failures throughout the

country at that time, they could only be sold

at a sacrifice,and the Board declined any sales,

as the Montour Iron Company had agreed to

accept them at their par value for railroad

iron needed to Construct the road.

The condition of the Company and of their

road, as well as the narrow views entertained

by some of the landholders on its line, in the

beginning of the year 1855 will be best de-

scribed by giving a few extracts from Presi-

dent Harrington’s Annual Report to the

Stockholders. After referring to the agree-

ment by which a practical union had been

formed with all the railroads of the State hav-

ing a common interest with the Delaware

Railroad, the President says :

“ The Company had a right to expect that

“ this extension of their labors, involving as

“ it does almost a duplicate of cost, would

“have been met by a local subscription of

“stock, and by liberal concessions of the right

“of way, similar to what was obtained on the
“ road, as originally contemplated, and com-
“ mensurate with the interests of the several

“sections; but in both these the Board has

“been disappointed; very little stock has been
“ taken on the line above Dover, except in the

“city of Wilmington; and in regard to the

“right of way the same spirit of speculation

“ practiced on other companies has been ap-

“ plied to the extension of ours without regard

“to its different character, and has resulted in

“the same imposition of onerous burdens.

“There are several honorable exceptions to

“this remark; but on the whole the right of

“way through a part of New Castle county,
“ which will receive the same general benefits

“from this improvement, will cost the com-
“ pany many times the amount of subscriptions

“made by that section towards building- the
“ road."

Messrs. Gray, DuPont and Sharpe, had been

appointed a committee to obtain releases of

the right of way in New Castle county. In

many instances the land owners were unrea-
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sonable and exacting in their demands, to
|

which the committee were obliged to submit

or settle the claims by compromise, in order to

avoid the delay attending a resort to juries:

moreover, in several cases where appeals had

been taken, the landholders had been sus-

tained by the verdicts of juries; and as the

Company could not well afford to be involved

in lawsuits, the committee proceeded to settle

the claims by the aid of commissioners on the

best terms practicable.

The expenses thus incurred at the outset,

and the delinquencies of many of the stock-

holders, hampered the Company, and but for

the liberality and credit of the Philadelphia,

Wilmington & Baltimore Company its finan-

cial condition would have been seriously if

not fatally embarrassed.

President Felton had by his intercourse with

Judge Harrington, Charles I. DuPont, Esq.,

and other members of the Board, become bet-

ter acquainted with the Delaware Peninsula

;

thefertilityofthesoil, and the extent and value

of its forests and fisheries as well ofthe State as of

the adjacent counties of Maryland. By his long

expedience in railroad management he could

readily estimate the value of the business

which would pass over the road, when the re-

sources of the country to be opened by it

should become fully developed, and he was
convinced that its early completion would add

materially to the revenues of the Philadelphia,

Wilmington and Baltimore Railroad, over

which the travel and trade must pass to reach

Philadelphia and other Northern cities. To
avoid delay his Company had set aside the

condition of the agreement, requiring the

Delaware Railroad Company to obtain sub-

scription to their stock to the amount of

$200,000, before guaranteeing their bonds, and

his Company had also liberally subscribed on

their own behalf, $50,000 to the capital stock

of the Delaware Railroad Company. With
this important aid the Board applied itself to

the work with renewed energy, and in a short

time the whole line was put under contract

and one-fourth part of it graded. Cross ties

and iron for the track had been purchased and

a part delivered. The President, moreover,

stated in his annual report of January, 1855,

“That the Company could at any time lease

the rqad permanently when finished, “on
terms guaranteeing to Stockholders and to the

State six per cent, on its cost.” The Stock-

holders were greatly encouraged, and at their

meeting on the same day, resolutions were

passed authorizing the Board to make the

lease upon the guarantees proposed and “upon

such terms, stipulations and conditions as

should be agreed upon.” It was further re-

solved, “That a committee be appointed to

present to the Legislature a memorial for aid

to finish the road in the shortest time practi-

cable, and that the board be directed to re-

open the subscription books and solicit further

subscriptions of stock based on the ample

guarantees which it was now in the power of

the Company to give, of the certain payment
of interest.

”

The Legislature in answer to the memorial'

of the Stockholder’s committee, passed an act

February 28th, 1855 setting forth—“That as

the State subscription of $130,000 would be

unproductive until the road is finished, and

the Company has the ability to secure by
leasing the road at a certain rent, a sufficient

amount from the interest on the fund now
unproductive, in less than twenty years to pay

the additional subscription now to be made,

and through which the said unproductive fund

will be made available : Therefore to aid the

Company by a loan of the State's credit, the

State Treasurer be authorized and required, to

issue and deliver to the company the bonds of

the State to an amount not exceeding $170,-
000."The bonds were made payable in twenty-

one years with interest, at 6 per cent per

annum. To secure the payment of the bonds

at maturity and the interest thereon, the

Company was required to deposit with the

State Treasurer a certificate for 6,800 shares

of their capital stock assigned to the State,

and also the bonds of the Company to the

amount of $200,000, guaranteed by the Phila-

delphia Wilmington & Baltimore Railroad

Company
;
and further, to execute and deliver

to the State Treasurer, a second mortgage on

all the property and estate of the Company.
The State’s loan was authorized, with a per-

fect understanding that the lease should be

made at an annual rent, sufficient to insure the

payment of six per cent, interest thereon.

The act further provided—“That to enable

the Delaware Railroad Company to comply
with its engagements in this behalf, and to

insure the completion of the road,” the State
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released for a period of twenty-one years, all
f

interest, income, and dividends upon the capi-

tal stock of the company before subscribed for

by the State
;

“it being distinctly understood

that the Delaware Railroad Corn pan}', shall

not directly or indirectly ask the State for

any other pecuniary aid within the said period

of twenty-one years.” The Company was

thankful for this boon, though ungraciously be-

stowed, and when it is considered that the

“loan of the State’s credit” was amply se-

cured, and that it was in fact a preferred debt

to be paid at maturity by a sinking fund, to

be derived from the earnings of another Rail-

road Company, in payment of interest on the

State’s subscription, we can not but wonder

at the extreme caution that inspired the last

restrictive clause of the “act” quoted.

At this session the Charter was amended so

as to authorize the Company to borrow money
to an amount not exceeding one million

dollars. The original act had limited the

amount to half a million. The question of

“leasing the Delaware Railroad” was virtually

decided by the company’s acceptance of the

act of February 28th, which required it as a

condition on which the State’s loan was author-

ized, but other considerations also led to this

result.

President Harrington, though recently ap-

pointed to the highest judicial office in the

State, continued to perform the duties of Presi-

dent, with a resolution and perseverance which

seemed never to tire. He had accomplished

much by his personal influence and labors, but

his experience in the construction of public

works was confined to that of the Delaware

Railroad : he had none whatever in their equip-

ment or after management : his associates of the

old Board labored under the same disadvanta-

ges
;
beingselected for their ability and business

capacity in the different occupations in which

they were engaged. They were often compelled

to neglect their private affairs, to attend to the

urgent calls which seemed to threaten the suc-

cess of the enterprise.

At length they saw before them the way

opened for its early completion and subse-

quent management, and felt that in placing the

Road in skillful and practiced hands, they

would not only relieve themselves from a great

responsibility, but should be serving the Stock-

holders best, by securing to them the highest

l 59

rate of interest allowed by law on their in-

investment.

These views were concurred in by the mem-
bers of the Board elected after the passage of

the supplement to the charter in 1853, viz.

Messrs. DuPont, Gilpin, Gray and Sharpe. They
represented the northern part of the State

;

and were in frequent consultation with Mr.

;

Felton, who, as President of the Philadelphia,

1

Wilmington & Baltimore Railroad Company,
I had indicated to the Board the terms upon
which a lease of the Road would be taken bv
that Company. Some of these gentlemen were
officers in other Railroad organizations, and all

had large experience in financial transactions

and exfensive business concerns, which emin-

ently fitted them for the directorship
;

their

opinions were entitled to great weight, and at

the next meeting of the board the policy of

the Company was determined. Messrs. Gil-

pin, Gray and President Harrington, were ap-

pointed a committee to confer with a like com-
mittee of the Board of the Philadelphia, Wil-
mington & Baltimore Railroad Company upon
the conditions proposed for leasing the Road
to that Company. At a subsequent meeting,

held May 4th, 1855, the President submitted

to the Board a draft of the lease as agreed
upon by the two committees, which, after a

full discussion, was adopted; and the President

was authorized and directed to execute and
deliver a copy of it to the Philadelphia, Wil-

mington & Baltimore Railroad Company.
Lease.

The lease of the Delaware Railroad was
made for a term of 21 years, with the right of

renewal, on one year’s notice being previously

given by the Lessee, for 21 years longer. In

terms—“It granted and demised the railroad :

extending from the Nanticoke river near Sea-

ford, to the New Castle and French Town
Railroad with such branches and appendages !

as may be built within the time aforesaid, the

Lessee paying therefor as the yearly rent, a

sum equal to six per cent, per annum on the

capital stock paid in, and on all bonds, debts

or liabilities of the Company bearing interest,

including the State bonds loaned to said Com-
pany amounting to $170,000—till the same
shall be paid, and also one half of any surplus

over six per cent, of the net earnings and. prof-

its arising to said party from operating said

road, after deducting the expenses of so oper-
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ating it and damages recovered from casual-

ties.

The rent to commence on opening the line

through, and payable semi-annually on the

first of January and July.

The Lessor was bound to have first obtained

the consent of the Lessee before increasing the

capital stock to an amount exceeding $300,000

over and above the collateral stock to be

issued to the State, or before increasing their

expenses of organization or indebtedness

beyond the amount then authorized by the

Board. The Lessee was required to equip, use,

run and work the road and branches to the

best advantage, and according to the require-

ments of the charter, and to keep the road and

its appendages in good repair.” It was further

agreed, “ that all the rents paid on account

of the State’s stock should be set apart as a

sinking fund, for the extinguishment of the

principal of the State Bonds, which on

redemption are to form no part of the capital

of said Company.”

The interest on the State’s stock and bonds

being thus secured by the execution of the

lease, under instructions, of the Board, the

President deposited with the State Treasurer

the securities required by the act of February

28, 1855. And State Bonds to the full amount

of $170,000 were received and deposited with

the Treasurer of the Company.
Progress of Construction.

Some delay in the progress of the work had

been caused, by the unforeseen demand on the

funds of the Company for land damages in

New Castle County, and complaint was also

made of the slow progress and inefficiency of

several of the sub-contractors, whose engage-

ment had not been assented to by the board.

To prevent further delay it was found nec-

essary to offer a “bonus” to the principal

contractors, as an inducement to take the

work in their own hands and push it forward

more rapidly.

The draw bridge at the crossing of the

Chesapeake and Delaware canal, the most
important on the line of the road, was at

length completed, and the track laid to Mid-
dletown by the last of August. A formal and
satisfactory agreement had been made with

the JSTew Castle and French Town Turn-
pike and Railroad Company, for a junction of

the two roads at a point about 7 miles from

New Castle
;
the tracks were joined and be-

fore the middle of September, trains were

running between Wilmington and Middletown.

The Company had built a tank house at that

station, and a depot for the accommodation
of passengers and freight, and was erecting

temporary structures both at Smyrna station

and at Dover.

The citizens of Dover, where the enterprise

took its start, felt a peculiar interest in the

progress of the road, and its completion to

their town was, perhaps, the most important

event that had happened in its history, since

it was selected to be the Capital of the State.

The first train of general merchandise arrived

at the Dover station on the 23rd of January,

1856, and was hailed with delight as the har-

binger of a future business prosperity. Pas-

senger and freight trains soon commenced
running regularly, and though the business of

the road was at first comparatively light, the

structures erected at the way stations, which
were of the roughest and simplest description,

could not accommodate it, and box cars were
used frequently for storing freight.

Having progressed thus far successfully with

their work the directors did not relax their

efforts, but renewed their exertions that the

road might be opened to Seaford by the mid-

dle of summer.

Steps were also taken to secure connections

with the railroads projected on the Eastern

Shore of Maryland, and to extend the Dela-
ware' Railroad to other important points by
branch lines. A survey for a branch to Mil-

ford had been made, and the cost of the eight

miles of road required was estimated at about

$80,000. Negotiations were also pending for

a steamboat line from Seaford to Norfolk. A
railroad line had been surveyed from Oxford,

near the mouth of the Choptank River on the

Eastern Shore of Maryland, by way of Easton
and Greensboro, to Smyrna station. And
other roads were in contemplation on the

Eastern Shore to connect with the Delaware
Road, which would bring to it, as a trunk line,

the business of a large territory embracing
immense tracts of woodland and a soil of al-

most unequaled fertility; since found to be

adapted to the growth and perfect ripening

of fruits of every variety produced in this

climate. With fairer prospects in view, the

Company entered vigorously upon the last
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year of its labors in the construction of the

Road.

At the Stockholdeis’ meeting in January,

1856, the report of Mr. Allee, Treasurer, shows

the aggregate amount expended to January

1st as $870,623.60. Of this amount,

Received from capital stock $144,458.02
“ from bonds, including State

bonds *... 655,700.00

Received from donations, (lottery

grant) 25,000.00

Received balance, consisting of bills

payable and other items 45,465.58

$870,623.60

“Less than $15,000 of the mortgage and

State bonds, and but little over $9,000 of cash

remained in the hands of the Treasurer, and

over two-thirds of the cash would be required

to finish up the work above Dover.’'

During the preceding year nearly all the

State bonds had been sold at their par value,

but large drafts on the treasury which had to

be promptly' met, obliged the finance commit-

tee to dispose of the residue, about $22,000, at

a slight discount, and a few of the bonds of

the Company at 75 per cent, of their face value.

The first issue of the first mortgage bonds were

accepted at their par value by the “Montour

Iron Company” for railway iron as delivered

under the contract, at $77 per ton, and the

Board was averse to disposing of the remainder

at so heavy a discount. It now became nec-

essary to raise money promptly and by means
of temporary loans. In December, (1855,) the

President was authorized to borrow $50,000,

and to pledge as collateral the Company’s

bonds, and again in February, 1856, the Finance

Committee (Messrs. Felton, Sharpe, Gray and

the President) waited upon the Banks of the

State to obtain accommodations on the pledge

of the Company’s guaranteed bonds. It was

also found expedient to anticipate the pay-

ments on the State’s subscription, and in

March the Treasurer was directed to confer

with the State Treasurer and obtain drafts on

the Philadelphia, Wilmington & Baltimore

Railroad Company, for the payments coming

due on the 1st of July and January. The
holders of the lottery grant responded

promptly to a similar request and anticipated

the payment of $10,000 falling due January,

1857, for which they received the thanks ofj

21

the Board. These drafts were pledged for

loans from the Banks. A committee was ap-

pointed to meet in conference a committee
of the Philadelphia Board of Trade, on the sub-

ject of obtaining subscriptions to the stock of

the Company. This conference seems not to

have brought the desired aid; but the personal

solicitations of Messrs. DuPont, Gray and
other members of the committee were atten-

ded with better success, and liberal subscrip-

tions were made by many of the merchants
and other business men of Philadelphia and
Wilmington. It was during this period, that

several of the members of the. committee
were said to have gone from house to house,

soliciting subscriptions to stock, and some of

the Directors in their anxiety to save the

credit of the Company lent their individual

names as endorsers upon its paper at the State

Banks. The Board was forced by its necessi-

ties to consider the expediency of pledging

all the rents to be received of the Lessee for

the payment of loans to complete the road,

but this expedient was dropped ana other

means resorted to for raising funds. Drafts on
the State Treasurer anticipating the semi-

annual payment of the “bonus” applied to

the State’s subscriptions had, as before stated,

been pledged for loans, but up to this time no
bonds had been issued as contemplated by the

“Act of February 28, 1852.” The Board now
found it necessary to avail itself of the author-

ity given by- the “Act,” the Lessee consenting

to pay the interest on the loan contemplated,

and by resolution of
_

September 4th, and sub-

sequently of December 18th, 1856, bonds were
authorized to the amount of $91,000 and were

issued in sums of$3,250, payable semi-annually,

with interest at 6 per cent., for which the

“bonus” derived from the State in like

amount, semi-annually, was pledged. These

bonds were issued without other guarantee

than the resolutions of the Board, but the

pledge was inserted in the bonds, and their

dates of maturity corresponded with the semi-

annual payments by the State until January

1st, 1872, when the “Act” from which this

revenue was derived would expire. The bonds

were sold at 6o@yo per cent, of their face,

and were largely used in the liquidation of the

Company’s debts.

By the means thus resorted to, the Company
was in a good degree relieved from its financial
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difficulties. In the mean time the contractors

had pushed forward the work with commenda-

ble zeal and energy ,
and by the first of De-

cember the rails were laid to the Nanticoke

River, at Seaford. A formal opening of the

Delaware Railroad in its whole length was

appointed for the 1 ith of the month ! Unfortu-

nately the weather was stormy, and a day less

favorable could not have been set for the cele-

bration of so grand an event, yet it is said by

the reporter of the proceedings that all partici-

pating seemed to enjoy themselves to the ut-

most. Two trains of cars laden with guests

arrived at “ Nanticoke Station,” passing under

an arch handsomely decorated and inscribed

with appropriate mottoes. Their arrival was

the iron track, over which they had passed,

would teem with cereal products, truits and

vegetables intended for the exhaustless markets

to which access had been given.” In referring

to the importance of this traffic to the City of

Philadelphia, he remarked that, “ it would be

imputing to her a criminal want of energy to

suppose that she would fail to secure the boun-

ties that Providence had thus, as it were, cast

into her lap by means of this road, and the

enlarged intercourse which it would give with

Delaware and places further south.” At the

close of his address Mr. McMichael paid an

earnest tribute to President Harrington and

the Directors who were associated with him,

and especially to President Felton, of the Phil-

greeted by a salute of 13 guns, and the guests adelphia, Wilmington and Baltimore Railroad,

were met by a large concourse of the citizens

of Seaford and the surrounding country.

Opening Ceremonies at Seaford.

A meeting was organized with Governor

Peter F. Causey as chairman, and after appro-

priate ceremonies, the President of the Com-
pany (Chief Justice Harrington) delivered an

eloquent address, congratulating the stock-

holders and all who felt an interest in the pros-

perity of the State, upon “ the achievement

of the enterprise through many difficulties and

embarrassments.” He gave a short account

of the origin, progress, present condition, and

future prospects of the work, and dwelt espe-

cially on the effect it had already produced in

appreciating the value of real estate. “The in-

crease of assessable wealth,” he estimated,

“ had been already equal to the cost of build-

ing the road.” Hon. Morton McMichael, the

late Mayor of Philadelphia, an invited guest
(

expressed his great satisfaction in being pres-

ent, both, because of the event intended to be

celebrated, and of the interest he felt in every

thing relating to the welfare of Delaware. “He
believed this improvement was destined to be-

come one of the chief sources of its pros-

perity
;
he was impressed with the rare adap-

tation of the country for the neighborhood of

a great commercial and manufacturing city,

whose wants it would, very soon in a large

measure, supply and he felt certain that before

many years the stately forests of oak through

which they had traveled, would yield to the

woodman’s axe and the land be brought into

cultivation, and the whole region bordering

‘whose co-operation, he knew, had been of

great service in surmounting the difficulties the

work had encountered in the early stages of

its progress.” Addresses were also delivered

by his excellency Gov. Causey, President S.M.

Felton. Plons. Charles I. DuPont. John W.
Houston, W. G. Whiteley, and by Willard

Saulsbury, Esq.: the last in behalf of the cit-

izens of Seaford, welcomed to their town

the stockholders and invited guests. The pro-

ceedings of this meeting were afterward pub-

lished in pamphlet form for circulation. The
Delaware Railroad was now open for travel and

the transportation of freight to Seaford; but it

would require a considerable outlay to com-
plete it, and erect the necessary buildings and

fixtures for the accommodation of business.

At the Stockholders’ annual meeting, Janu-

ary 8th, 1857, Mr. Allee, the Treasurer, sub-

mitted his annual statement by which it ap-

pears the cost of the work to January 1st was

$1 ,146,310.57, on a stock subscription paid in

of $252,560.94. The entire subscription when
paid would amount to $317,375, as follows:

Subscribed by the State of Delaware
.
$130,000

“ “ corporations 62,500
“ “ contractors 10,000
“ “ citizens of other States 6,525
“ “ “ “ Wilmington

and New Castle Co. . . 27,725
“ “ citizens of Kent Co. .

.

44.750
“ “ “ “ Sussex Co. 35,875

The bonds issued by the Company, including

the State bonds of $170,000, amounted to

$759,000. Of these bonds $500,000 were se-

cured by a first mortgage, $65,000 were guar-
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anteed by the Lessee, and $24,000 were of the

loan anticipating the funds of the State.

Changes had frequently taken place in the

Engineers’ department during the progress of

the work. Major Isaac Trimble was appointed

Chief Engineer in 1853, immediately after the

new organization of the Board, but resigned

January, 1854, before the road was definitely

located. He was succeeded by his assistant,

David Kennedy, Esq., who soon after resigned,

and in March, 1854, £. Q. Sewall, Esq., was

appointed Chief Engineer and continued in

charge of the work until November, 1855,

leaving the road to be completed by John

Dale, Esq., who had been his assistant and

more recently his associate engineer. The fol-

lowing are the chief characteristics of the

road, given in Mr. Sewall’s report submitted to

the Board of Directors in September, 1854, to

which I have added a further description of

the railroad from other reports: “The
length of the road from its junction with the

New Cystic and Frenchtown Railroad to Sea-

ford, 70^0 mhes
;
Grades Level, 19^%

miles.

Grade from 2*4 to 5 feet per mile, 11 88-100 miles ? 28 per cent, of the
“ “ to 11 feet per mile, 13 miles > road level.
“ “ 13 to 1854 feet per mile, 8 64-100 miles 1 62 per cent, level or of
“ “

21J/6 feet per mile, :6 41-100 miles > grades less than 11
“ “ 36 7-10 feet per mile, 95-100 miles ) feet per mile.

The specified width for embankments was 16

feet, for cuts 20 feet. The track was laid with

white oak cross ties 2 feet apart, and iron rails

50 lbs. to the yard, fastened with Trimble

joint blocks and ballasted with gravel.

Of the whole length of road 67^^ miles are

of straight, and 33^ of curved, lines
;
and no

curve except at the junction with the New
Castle and Frenchtown Railroad of less radius

than half a mile. Nearly 94 per cent, of

straight line in 71 miles of road, free from

heavy grades, shows it to be eminently favora-

ble for the cheap and easy transportation of

passengers and freight.

In the annual report of 1857 the President

deemed it a proper occasion to refer to the

early history of the Delaware Railroad. Still

clinging to the first design, he dwelt upon its

importance as the shortest and most direct

line of travel between the North and South.

The policy of starting the road from Dona is

admirably expressed in the following extract

from this report :

“The practical movement of starting this

road on the line of the old coach route
;
con-
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necting the Bays by the nearest travel, on the

shortest railroad that could effect this
;
putting

under contract the middle link, and beginning
the w'ork where it afforded the best prospect

of success
;
and where, if successful, it would,

be dangerous to other and powerful interests,

is the policy which has made the Delaware
Railroad. Whatever may be said of the per-

severing, self-sacrificing efforts of its Mana-
gers in carrying out this improvement, it owes
its existence to a line of policy which was
contemplated in the movement of 1849, which
was expressed in the first contracts, byreserv-

ing the right to abandon the Dona terminus,

and which was adopted as soon as parties

interested .were willing to meet the additional

cost of a connection with them. This was
desirable as a thoroughfare railroad between
Philadelphia and Seaford

;
as connecting the

lower with the upper part of our State, and as

giving us access to our own city of Wilming-
ton and to Philadelphia, where were most of

our business transactions : but it was more
than double the cost of a road terminating at

Dona, which, though less desirable as leading

us away from our accustomed markets, was
yet attainable, and would have been made
through other combinations of interest, which

were aroused by the importance of the work
itself.

The second great cause of the successful

accomplishment of this road is the policy which,

at the right time, and on fair terms, changed

its direction so as to connect it with the Phila-

delphia, Wilmington and Baltimore road. Un-
der this arrangement a direction has been

given to this improvement beneficial to all,ex-

cept those locally interested in the Dona
terminus. The road, though increased in cost,

has been made much more available for gen- 1

eral travel, and this travel, already considera-

ble, soon to be very great, is kept in the line

of the cities, and carried, to a large extent,

over existing roads now to be benefited, in-

stead of injured. By the same means the

public advantages of the road became general

instead of local; it being made part of a sys-

tem of internal improvements in which all the

railroads of the State have a common interest,

and to which public patronage might be ex-

tended without injury to others
;
becoming in

its turn the trunk from which other branches

might be fostered for the common good.”
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The time had now arrived for the Lessee to

to take charge of the road, and a committee

was appointed at this meeting- to settle the

accounts between the two Companies to the

30th of November 1856, and to arrange for

the transfer of the Railroad to the Lessee.

The settlement left a balance due the Phila-

delphia, Wilmington & Baltimore Railroad

Company of $54,929.46, and the note of the

Company was accepted for this amount of in-

debtedness. The transfer of the Delaware

Railroad was effected on the following terms :

The Philadelphia, Wilmington & Baltimore

Railroad Company “assumed the payment of

the rent from January 1st, 1857, under the

lease,except, in consideration of the imperfect

and unfinished state of the road, the Delaware

Railroad Company was to be at the expense

of repairs of road and fixtures for six months,

and to assume and also pay after the said

six months, any item of expenditure fairly

chargeable to construction.”

Purchase of Dona Landing, and Steamer
Zephyr.

Soon after the road was opened for travel to

Dover, the Steamboat, “Zephyr,’.’ which had

continued her regular trips between Dona
Landing and Philadelphia, was bought by the

Company. Seventeen thousand five hundred

dollars was paid for the Steamer, her furniture

and fixtures in stock of the Company at par; she

was sold soon afterward to the Philadelphia

Wilmington & Baltimore Company, and, as

elsewhere stated, was withdrawn from the

line.

Under a resolution of the Board, negotia-

tions were at once opened by a committee
,

Messrs. Du Pont, Ridgely, and Gray, for

the purchase of the capital stock of the

Dona Steamboat and Transporation Company.
Chancellor Harrington and the writer were

the sole owners of this property, (the shares

formerly held by Mr. C. S. Sipple then de-

ceased, having been bought by the Chancellor.)

There was some delay in effecting this pur-

chase on satisfactory terms, but, finally, the

owners accepted an offer of four hundred

shares of the stock of the Delaware Railroad

Company, as in full payment of their entire

interest in the property, and executed to the

purchasers a release of all claims against the

Lessee of their wharf and buildings. These

transactions resulted in breaking up a well

established line to Philadelphia, and gave the

Company the control of a landing on the Dela-

ware, which (in the words of the committee)

“might be used greatly to the disadvantage

of the interests of the Delaware Railroad and

its Lessee.”

Branch Railroad
The 2 1st Section of the Charter imposed

on the “President and Directors the duty of

inviting the co-operation of the States of

Maryland and Virginia in the construction of

Railroads for the improvement of the Penin-

sula.”

The State of Maryland had, in 1835, made
a liberal appropriation amounting to $ 1 ,000,000

for internal improvement on the Eastern Shore.

As elsewhere stated, a part of this fund was

expended in the surveys of 1836, and some

work on the line between Elkton and the

Annamessex River; after this work was aban-

doned, the balance, nearly $850,000, was de-

vided among the several counties of the East-

ern Shore, insuring to each a sum quite suffi-

cient to induce its citizens to unite with others

in organizing companies with chartered privil-

eges to build railroads to the State line, and

the Delaware Legislature was petitioned for

the further right to connect with the Delaware

Railroad at the nearest points practicable.

Every encouragement was given to the pro-

moters of these improvements to carry out the

general system of Peninsular Roads by which

the Delaware Railroad would become the

main or trunk of the lateral lines projected
;

but the Company watched with jealous care,

and opposed, strenuously, any attempt on the

part of a Maryland branch road to obtain by

legislation in Delaware, the right to cross the

Delaware Railroad and extend its line to the

Bay shore. The Delaware Railroad Company
was, in fact, under obligations to the Lessee,

to guard against the opening of any opposi-

tion or rival line, “ and in accordance with this,

a restriction was embodied in the proposed

agreement with the Maryland & Delaware

Railroad for connecting the two railroads at

Smyrna Station,” that, the “ Maryland & Dela-

ware Company should not apply for legislation

from the State of Delaware, authorizing the

said Company to extend the line of its road

eastwardly of the line of the Delaware Rail-

road, nor countenance or encourage any rival

line.” The fears entertained by the Dela-
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ware Railroad Company, at that period, of a [ and a counter; proposition made on the part

dangerous interference with the business of

the road, have since vanished
;

the Company
no longer apprehends any danger to its traffic

from cross lines, and would place no obstacle

in the way of any other Company disposed to

risk its money in such an enterprise.

The Delaware Railroad Company was
pledged to the building of a branch to Milford,

and as before stated, a survey and estimate of

its cost was made by E. 0 . Sewell Esq., at the

Company’s expense ;but their finances were not

in a condition to promise the speedy prosecu-

tion of this work, and the Company was hap-

pily relieved from further expense by the ac-

tion of the friends of the enterprise, living in

Milford. Hon. J. W. Houston, Gov. Peter F.

Causey, Bethuel Watson Esq
,
and Col. H. B.

Fiddeman (the last also a Director of the Dela-

ware Railroad Company) having determined

that it would be better to construct this sec-

tion of the road in connection with the exten-

sion from Milford to Lewes under a separate

Railroad organization, obtained a charter from

the Legislature of 1857, and raised by sub-

scription a sufficient amount, with the addition

of a small loan, to build the 8^ miles from

Clark's Corner, (now Harrington station,) to

Milford. This section was completed in 1859,

and was operated in connection with the Dela-

ware Railroad under an agreement with the

Lessee.

The Delaware Railroad having been success-

fully opened to Seaford, the Directors, in pur-
j

suance of the original plan of connecting the
|

line by means of steamboats to Norfolk with i

the Seaboard, Roanoke and other Southern
;

Railroads terminating at that seaport, had

soundings taken of their river front on the

Nanticoke and materials were purchased for

the wharf Measures were also taken for^he

removal of a bridge at Vienna, about 20 miles

below Seaford, and to cut off such points and

projections of the river shore as would ob-

struct its navigation by boats of a large

class.

Mr. Felton, from the committee appointed

to negotiate for a line of steamers, submitted

a proposition from the principal owner of the

steamboat St. Nicholas, at that time on the

line from Philadelphia to Lewes, offering to

sell the boat to the Company, and submitting

his terms: the offer was rejected by the Board,

of the Company ;(i. e.) to guarantee the owners
from loss to the extent of $2,oOO, if they

would consent to run the boat in connection

with the railroad from Seaford to Norfolk un-

til January 1st, 1 S 58, “ provided a guarantee

of like amount was obtained from other

parties supposed to be equally interested in

this enterprise.” The terms were not agreed

to, and no further attempt was made at that

time to establish a Bay Line from Seaford.

In the meantime the citizens of Somerset

county, Maryland, had organized a Company
to build a railroad from Somers’ Cove, on Tan-
gier Sound, to the State line of Delaware,

under the old charter of The Eastern Shore

Railroad of 1833, revived and amended in

1 853, giving the Company authority to con-

nect their line with the Delaware Railroad.

They had received assurances from the Dela-

ware Railroad Company “that it was the

policy and interest of the Company to ex-

tend their road from the Nanticoke River

to the State line,” to make this connec-

tion
;
and in March, 1859, E. Q. Sewell,

again Engineer in Chief of the Company,
was directed to make the necessary sur-

veys for the extension: and in April a contract

was entered into with George A. Parker, Esq.,

(late in the employment of the Philadelphia,

Wilmington & Baltimore Railroad Company,)

to build the road; the “Extension” was built

under the authority granted the Delaware

Railroad Company by the original charter.

Legislative Aid.

The stock subscribed, mainly by citizens of

Laurel, amounted to $10,000: (the subscriptions

were subsequently increased to $27,000). This

sum would not go far towards building 13

miles of railroad, and as the Company was

daily increasing the amount of its indebted-

ness in finishing the work on the main line, it

was found necessary to ask aid from the Legis-

lature in view of the enlargement of the

improvement by this extension. The State

consented to assign and transfer to the Com-
pany the dividends on the State Stock,

heretofore subscribed and paid for by the tax

on the NewCastle and French Town Turnpike

and Railroad Company : the act declaring

that “ the dividends should form a permanent

sinking -fund to pay off any debt created by

the said Delaware Railroad Company.”
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This was merely “ the residuary interest of

the State in the stock of the Company ” after

the expiration of twenty-one years, for which it

was granted by the act of February 28th 1855;

the benefit to be derived from it was therefore

very remote, and could be of no present use.

A proviso was appended to this “act ” similar

to that of the former grant, “that the Dela-

ware Railroad Company shall by resolution

duly passed and entered on its minutes, bind

itself not at this or any further session of the

Legisture, to ask for precuniary aid from the

State or the loan of the State’s credit."

The refusal of this and several preceding

Legislatures to make appropriations adequate

to the necessities of this great public improve-

ment, which had already' contributed so much
to the value of assessable property, can hardly

be excused on the usual plea that the State

would be involved thereby in a debt which

would ultimately become a public burden.

There was the least possible risk of such a re-

sult in the loan of the State’s credit.secured by

the guarantees which the two Companies were

prepared to give.

The Lottery Grant.

The session of 1859 will be long remembered

as the only one when the State Legislature

quite “gave way” to the advocates of a mon-

strous Lottery Scheme
;

it is true that in for-

mer years lottery grants had been made, but

on a scale trifling and insignificant compared

with this one. Richard France was the ap-

plicant, and Stephen Broadbent, his associate,

(and subsequently his surety,) organized the

“lobby,” that made the raid upon the general

assembly. The plan was premeditated and pre-

arranged
;

a majority of the members'repre-

sented constituencies that were interested in

some one or more of the special objects to

which the lottery fund was to be applied.

The amount, to be distributed in the 20

years for which the grant was authorized, was

$720,000; the bill was entitled “an act for

the encouragement of Internal Improvements,”

and a large part of the revenue to be derived

from the nefarious business, was appropriated

to railroads either building or projected, in-

cluding the “ Maryland and Delaware Rail-

road.”

The bill combined many other objects as

“ beneficiaries ,” such as improving the naviga-

tion of the creeks, erecting fences, granaries,

academies, and a church also in New Castle

County.

It was evident the chief manager of the

lottery bill entertained no scruples as to the

means employed for the success of the scheme

;

regardless of public opinion he held the forces

he had organized strictly' to their work, by all

the arts and inducements at his command
;

liberal in gifts, and more liberal in promises,

he was trusted because the source of his rev-

enues seemed to be inexhaustible.

There were rumors of bribery and the use of

corrupt means. The influences, whatever they

were, brought to bear on a majority of the

Legislature were not resisted, and the “act”

was passed . against the protest a few of the

members, and of that class of citizens who
believed “that the end would not justify the

means.” Of those who voted for the bill some,

doubtless, believed that no immoral principle

was involved, but the time had arrived when
public opinion and the press in most of the

States condemned lotteries as a legalized sys-

tem of gambling, which under protection of this

and some other States, had, by means of agents

and the use of the post-office,spread a demor-

alizing influence far beyond the limits of the

State where the grants were made, into other

communities, and the evil consequences of

this “act” were justly charged upon the State

of Delaware.

Among the numerous “beneficiaries,” the

extension of the Delaware Railroad was not

overlooked. An appropriation of $106,000,

payable $2,650, semi-annually for 20 years, by

the State Treasurer, in the distribution of the

revenue to be derived from the grant, was di-

rected to be used exclusively for the extension

of the road below Seaford.

The Board had not asked for aid by a lot-

tery grant, but, in the words of the President,

“acting as the Trustee of the fund and trusting

to be reimbursed out of the installments as

paid,”—on the 16th of April, 1859, authorized

the issue of bonds to the amount of $40,000,

called “bonus bonds,” which were endorsed,

as “specially charged upon any fund to be de-

rived from the State not already appropri-

ated.” These bonds were disposed of as col-

lateral for loans to be applied to the payment

for work under contract, on the “extension.”

and a sinking fund was provided to meet the

bonds at maturity, called the “extension sink-
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ing fund.” Five installments of $2,650 were

paid by the State Treasurer: the whole
amount, therefore, realized from this appro-

priation was $13,250. By a failure to pay the

installment of July, 1861, when due, or within

thirty days thereafter, the grantee .rendered

himself liable to a forfeiture of the lottery

grant, and the Legislature of 1862, taking ad-

vantage of this failure, though the money was

subsequently paid into the State Treasury, de-

clared the “act” forfeited; thus reversing the

action of the Legislature of 1859, *n accord -

ance with what was believed to be the public

sentiment as to the pernicious policy of such

schemes for raising money. Work on the

“extension” was progressing rapidly, and as

the Legislature had provided no means except

the lottery grant,To meet the demands on the

Treasury, the President was authorized, June

16, 1859, to execute a mortgage to Trustees

of that part of the road, and bonds were issued

to the amount of $100,000, having twenty

years to run, interest at 6 per cent, per annum,

payable semi-annually. Messrs. Bringhurst,

Sharpe, and Ross were appointed a committee

to negotiate the sale of these bonds which

were disposed of at 60 per cent, of their face, a

considerable amount being used in payment of

the contract or as the work progressed. The

Company was greatly assisted in building the

“extension” by the authority given the New
Castle and Frenchtown Company, to take up

and sell the iron rails on a part of their rail-

road not used : these were bought by the Del-

aware Railroad Company and paid for in its

stock. The iron was used south of Seaford,

and proved to be of the best quality English

railway iron, a part of which has remained un-

til recently in the track.

The bridges over the Nanticoke River and

Broad Creek were completed, and the rails laid

to “Delmar,” the new station at the Dela-

ware and Maryland State line, by December

20th.

The Eastern Shore Railroad Company had

put under contract the 1st section of their road,

from the State line to Salisbury, so the

Company was assured of the early completion

of a continuous railroad to “Somers Cove,”

eighty-four miles from Norfolk by steamers,

which in the opinion of President Harrington,

“would realize the idea of a southern route of

travel by the most perfect line.”

Mr. Se wall’s estimate of the cost of the
thirteen miles of railroad, from Seaford to the
State line, including the bridge over the Nan-
ticoke River was “$[30,000, provided contracts
were made for cash.” The actual cost as

shown by the Treasurer’s statement was $164-
073. The extension mortgage bonds ($100,-

|

000) issued to pay for this work were sold, as

we have seen, at 60 per cent, of their face; a

discount of $40,000; had the State lent its credit !

to the Company the bonds would have sold at I

par, as in a former instance, and the saving of I

discount would have reduced the cost of the ex-
tension to less than the engineer’s estimate; the

Lessee had generously consented to accept this

part of the Delaware Railroad under the lease,

and to pay the interest on the mortgage loan,

and to this security was added the further guar-

antee of a perpetual sinking fund
,
to pay off the

debt at maturity—such were the guarantees

proposed and rejected by the State.

1 he length of the Delaware Railroad from
j

Delmar to its junction with the New Castle

and F. Town Railroad, measures 83444- miles. 1

From Philadelphia to Delmar, the distance by
railroad is 125 miles, add to this “The Eastern
Shore Railroad from the State line to Somers
Cove, thirty-eight miles, measuring in all 163

miles by railroad and 84 miles by steamers to

Norfolk, and we have the whole distance from
'

Philadelphia to Norfolk by this route, 247
miles.

Though the Board had every reason to be-

lieve that the Eastern Shore Railroad would
soon be completed, they still kept in view the

;

route by steamers down the Nanticoke River,

which presented the real or fancied advantage
of having the steamboat terminus within the

State, at their own wharves, and under the

immediate control of the Lessee. Several

thousand dollars had been expended in obtain-

ing the removal of the bridge over the Nanti-

coke River at Vienna, before referred to, and
in cutting off a point projecting into the river

near the wharf.

It was understood that “the Seaboard and
Roanoke Railroad Company” was building

steamers for this route, and had nearly com-
pleted one of them

;
sometime in the follow-

ing year, i860, the President reported to the

Board that “a steamboat connection had been

made with Norfolk, which was altogether in

the hands of other parties, and though not
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hitherto conducted with much regularity, has
j

added considerably to the business of the road.”

Soon after this the war broke out. and all com-

munication with Norfolk by passenger steamers

from Seaford was suspended, never afterward

to be resumed.

Since 1854 the President had been greatly

annoyed by a law suit brought against theCom-

pany by McCullough, Lentz & Co., contractors.

Under the first contract to build the road and

wharves at Dona and Seaford, after the union

with the upper Companies, a refusal on the

part of the contractors to prosecute the work

with sufficient force had given cause of dis-

satisfaction, which ended in a resolution by

the Board declaring the contract forfeited.

The suit for damages claimed by the con-

tractors had been for some time pending in

the United States Circuit Court in Philadel-

phia
;

at length, in the latter part of 1858 a

compromise was effected on favorable terms,

and the contractors, on their executing a re-

lease of all claims against the Company were

paid $3500 and the suit was dismissed.

The Stockholders in April 1857 had passed

a resolution, agreeing to apply the dividends as

they accrued for two years on their stock,

toward finishingthe road.

The rent had been promptly paid by the

Lessee,and the dividends due after January 1st

1859 were received in cash until the failure of

the lottery grant, when another suspension of

cash dividends was found necessary, to meet

the large floating debt contracted on the faith

of its being met by the appropriation from this

fund. The dividends of July 1S62,and January

1863, were, applied to the payment of the

Company’s debts; but an equivalent in stock

was credited to the shareholders with the

consent of the Lessee, and the dividends,

thereafter, were paid in cash, subject to the

deduction of the United States Tax.

As we have seen, the Delaware Railroad

was completed, to the State line,just before the

commencement of the war. The Eastern Shore

Railroad was opened from the State line to

Salisbury, Md., in i860, leaving 32 miles to be

completed. It was supposed by the managers

of the Companies interested, that the United

States Government would deem this safe and

convenient line for the transportation of troops

and army supplies to Fortress Monroe, of

sufficient importance to undertake, on Govern-

ment account, the completion of the Eastern

Shore road to Somers Cove. In this their

hopes were not realized, and this enterprise

shared the fate of many others of the kind,
j

projected at that period; work was suspen-

ded until after the war, and the road was

not opened to Crisfield, its terminus, until

November 1866. In 1861, the Government

deeming it important to have Telegraph com-

munication with the Capes of the Delaware

Bay, erected a telegraph line which was greatly

needed by the Company
;
and extended it

down the Delaware Railroad line as far as

Harrington Station, and thence by the line of

the Junction and Breakwater Railroad to the

harbor at the Delaware Breakwater. Their

wires were soon after carried to Seaford.

The Planting of Peach Orchards.
Notwithstanding the general depression in

business during the early years of the war, the

local travel and transportation on the Dela-

ware Railroad continued to increase, and in

1864 was much larger than in any previous

year; we find enumerated among the principal

articles of produce transported 736,000 baskets

of peaches. A sketch of “Delaware Railroad”

history would not be complete without giving

to this industry, so intimately connected with
^

it, a passing notice.

The cultivation of this popular fruit for the

city market had been introduced into the State

from New Jersey by Messrs. Ridgway and

Reeves, whose extensive orchards on their 1

farms near the Delaware River, a few miles

south of New Castle, were planted as early as

1835; their example was followed by the Rey-
j

bolds and others near Delaware City, and their

success induced a few of the enterprising land

owners near Dover to engage in the business.

The orchards of Henry Todd, Esq., on the

fine loamy soil near the town of Dover, Dr. G.

Emerson on the heavier alluvial lands near the

Delaware Bay, and of Jehu Reed, Esq., on

the sandy loam near Frederica, all coming
into bearing before the steamboat line was

opened from Dona, proved by the fine quality of

the fruit produced, that any of the dry, arable

soils of Kent County were admirably adapted

to the cultivation of peach trees. The fruit

shipped to Philadelphia at that time by sail

boats was readily sold at remunerative prices.

After opening communication with the city

by the steamboat line from Dona in 1847, other
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orchards were planted east of Dover, and the

transportation, of the fruit in its season afforded

an important part of the freight, and added

largely to the earnings of the Company.
It was not at first believed, by the peach

growers, that the products of their orchards

could be carried to market by rail in the same

good condition as by steamboats
;

it was

thought the close packing of the cars would

heat the fruit, or the peaches would be bruised

and spoiled by the jolting of the trains
;
they

therefore gave up water carriage reluctantly,

and after the Railroad line was opened, efforts

were made to re-establish regular steamboat

communication with Philadelphia and New
York from Mahon River, and other landings

on the Delaware Bay. But this prejudice

against the Railroad as a carrier of peaches

did not continue longer than it was shown by

actual experience, that by the use of the cars,

which had been especially fitted up for their

transportation, the fruit could be carried with

perfect safety, in good condition, and with

greater expediton by rail than by steamboats.

The profits derived by the growers who first

engaged in these shipments, were far greater

than from any other products of the farm raised

at equal cost : their success soon became known
to the farmers and land owners on the line of

the road, and in a few years peach orchards

had multiplied to such an extent that it be-

came a question, whether the immense product

could be transported by rail in season, and

delivered safely, or if delivered, such large

shipments would not glut the the City market,

and render the fruit valueless.

As I have said, nearly three quarters of a

million of baskets of peaches were shipped

over the Railroad from Delaware in 1864, to

Philadelphia and New York. This was by far

the largest crop that had ever been forwarded

to market from this State, and as, perhaps,

not more than one fourth of the trees planted

were in full bearing, some estimate could be

formed of the enormous quantity for which

transporation would have to be provided in

future years.

Suits Brought Against the Lessee by

Peach Growers.
The capability of the road was fully tested

at this time, the season for shipment only last-
j

ing about six weeks, and at one period of the
j

ripening of a large quantity of fruit in ex-

22

tremely hot weather, the Company being em-
barrassed for want of the requisite number of

cars, in consequence of a large and unexpec-

ted demand on their rolling stock by the

United States Government for transportation

of army supplies, they were unable at once to

accommodate the peach growers, and a part

of the fruit was left over night at the stations

on the road, and a considerable quantity was
damaged by exposure and delay. As prices

had been well maintained, this was a great

disappointment to the owners of the peaches,

who claimed damages of the Lessee of the

road for the loss sustained. On the part of the

Lessee, it was shown that the growers had

estimated the crop before it ripened at little

more than half the number of baskets de-

livered, and that the Company had for the first

time, this season, effected an arrangement for

the peach growers, by which, in connection

with three other railroads, direct communica-
tion had been opened with New York

;
and

that even with the disadvantages attending

the first year of this experiment all the fruit

would have been safely delivered, if the crop

had at first been fairly estimated, and timely

notice given to provide for its transportation.

It would have been wise to have settled

these claims out of court; but suits were insti-

tuted by some of the peach growers against

the Philadelphia, Wilmington & Baltimore

Company. They came to trial in the following

year, and the damages awarded by the juries

in the “peach suits” were, in some instances,

so exorbitant as to surprise even the plaintiffs.

The Company settled the claims of other

parties by compromise, thus ending the contest.

Legislation in 1865.

During the session of the Legislature of

1865, renewed efforts were made to influence

that body to grant aid for building railroads

to connect those already projected in this

State and in Maryland, with the harbors on

the Delaware Bay and River. This action

was deemed to be hostile to the interests of

the Delaware Railroad Company. The Board

of Directors requested the president to lay

before the Legislature the remonstrance of the

Company presented at a former session against

such grants, and further resolved, “That the

building of these side lines, except the Junc-

tion and Breakwater Railroad, will not only

tend to impair the profits of the company, but
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I
i

will also impair the value of its stock and se-

curities, by endangering its lease with the

Philadelphia Wilmington & Baltimore Rail-

road Company, as well as its ability to con-

tribute its share of the tax which the Legis-

lature has imposed on passengers." The
Legislature paid little or no regard to the

Company’s remonstrances
;
partaking largely

of the the extravagant spirit that prevailed

throughout the country after the war, and

started into life so many railroad schemes of

no practical importance; they granted charters

to no less than three new companies, with the

right to connect with any other railroad upon

such terms and conditions as should be agreed

upon between the companies so uniting, “with

the privilege of extending their roads to navi-

gation on the Delaware Bay.”

At this time the people of the State were

heavily taxed for the payment of interest, and

for the gradual reduction of the “war debt”,

and the positive exemption from taxation by

the terms of the charter, did not relieve the

Railroad from being required, indirectly, by

State enactment to pay into the Treasury, as

taxes levied upon the Lessee, a large portion

of the annual revenues of the State.

The fear of “ State debt ” seems to have sub-

sided as the means were discovered for its ex-

tinguishment. The Legislature at this session

(1865) granted substantial aid to the Junction

and Breakwater Railroad Company to com-

plete their road to Lewes. The State Treas-

urer was directed to cause bonds of the State

to be issued to the amount of $400,000 and to

deliver to the Directors of the Junction and

Breakwater Railroad Company said bonds, to

the amount of $352,000 in four instalments, as

subscriptions to the capital stock of the com-

pany should be made and paid in, in amounts

“of $50,000 until the stock subscriptions

should amount to $200,000,” when he was di-

rected to deliver the last instalment of said

bonds. As security for the above loan, “the

State required a first mortgage for four hun-

dred thousand dollars on the railroad and its

appurtenances, and that the forty-eight thou-

sand dollars of bonds retained by the State

Treasurer from the loan be sold, and the pro-

ceeds applied to the payment of interest for

two years on the Company’s mortgage.”

This act of the General Assembly secured

the completion of a connecting road, which

had always been considered an impoitant part
j

of the system of railroad improvements in the
j

State, and as especially needed in opening, by !

rail, easy communication between the cities of i

Philadelphia and Wilmington, and the Dela-

ware Breakwater.

Though the Delaware Railroad had not

shared the benefits derived by other railroads
!

more directly in the line of Government trans-

portation during the war, which had proved a

profitable source of their revenues, yet the local

business had steadily increased, and now that

peace was restored to the country the Board

was looking forward to large accessions to the

earnings of the road from the general revival

of business.

Death of President Harrington.
Near the close of the year 1865, when these

prospects were brightest,the Company lost their

President,and the State one of its most distin-

guished citizens in the death of Chancellor

Harrington. For several years he had been in

feeble health; but with his usual energy and
courage he continued to give strict attention

to the duties of his high Judicial position, and
had by no means relaxed his interest in the

improvements that were making on the line of

the road. Judge Harrington had held the

office of President of the Company from the

date of its organization, except for a few

weeks in December, 1852, when in deference

tothe opinion frequently expressed that a “Cor-

poration office was regarded as conflicting

with his judicial position,” he resigned. The
vacancy was filled by the appointment of

the Rev. T. B. Bradford, a member of the

Board, until the annual meeting of Stock-

holders January 10, 1855, when Judge Har-

rington was unanimously re-elected.

Filling Vacancies in the Board.
Soon after the death of the President, a

meeting of the Board was called and appropri-

ate resolutions were passed, expressing their

high appreciation of his services in the lead-

ing part he had taken from the beginning, in

an enterprise which had proved to be of such

great public importance, and as a record of

their high estimation of the talents, virtues,

and integrity for which he had been eminently

distinguished. The Board at this meeting

filled the vacancy by unanimously electing

Samuel M Felton Esq., President of the Com-
pany. Mr. Felton had one year before resigned
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the office of President of the Philadelphia, Wil-

mington and Baltimore Railroad Company on

account of ill health, from which he was now
happily recovering.

Since the re-orsranization of the Board of

of new improvements, and the differences in

weight of the new iron rails used in the track

to replace the old 50 pound rails first laid, and
which were found to be too light for the heavy
freight trains required to move the crops.

Directors in 1853, few changes had taken

place in its members. Hon. E. W. Gilpin, in

accepting the office of Chief Justice, tendered

his resignation as a Director of the Company
in 1857, and was succeeded by Jesse Lane
Esq., who declined a re-election in 1859, and

Joseph Bringhurst Esq., was appointed in his

place. Vacancies, caused by the resignation

of Ex-Governor W. W. Ross, in 1863 ;
and by

the death of Albert Curry Esq., in 1864, the

latter having succeeded Rev. Thomas B. Brad-

ford in 1857, were filled by the election of

Jacob Moore, of Georgetown, and Manlove

Hayes of Dover.

The following Directors were chosen at the

annual meeting of Stockholders, January 11,

1S66. Samuel M. Felton, President, Isaac

Hinckley, Andrew C, Gray. Charles I. DuPont,

Jesse Sharpe, Joseph Bringhurst, Henry B.

Fiddeman, Manlove Hayes, Isaac Jump, Al-

exander Johnson, William VV. Ross, Charles

Wright and Jacob Moore.

At this meeting, President Felton submitted

a brief report to the Stockholders, giving the

following summary of the earnings and ex-

penses for the year ending October 31st, 1865,

to wit

:

EARNINGS.
From Passengers. . .

.

• $173,507-13
“ Freight • 137 . 552.99
** Express .......

U. s. Mail.

$323,774-00'

Loss to Lessee

$326,489.82!

EXPENSES.
Operating Roads $241,587.24
Interest on Liabilities and
dividend on Stock 92,902.58

I334.489.82
Less value of old rails ... . 8,000.00

$326,489.82

The Sinking Fund amounted to $52,549.68.

Treasurer Allee’s balance sheet of January 1st,

1866, shows a considerable increase in the con-

struction account since the road was opened

in 1856, which will be seen by referring to the

financial statement of that year:

Delaware Railroad Co., Jan. 1st, 1866.

Cost of construction of 84 miles of railroad,

including the extension to the State line :

DR. CR.
Construction $1,561,971.76 Capital Stock $ 594,261.0

6

Bonds, including Exten-

i

sion Mortgage Bonds. <>12,251.00
[Sundry amounts from

other sources 55,459.70

$1,561,971. 76 $1,561,971.76

The construction account had been con-

siderably augmented by charging up the cost

Branch Railroads.
The Railroad Companies on the eastern shore

of Maryland had resumed work, and were
making rapid progress toward the State line,

three of these Companies had solicited aid of

the Delaware Railroad Company to assist them
in completing their roads, and it was deter-

mined by the Board of Directors to render aid

so far as to construct, at the expense of the

Company, the parts of the connecting railroad

lines located within the limits of Delaware.

The Board also consented to accommodate the

town of Smyrna by building a short branch
railroad from the station into the town. The
business men of the place had organized a com-
pany to build this branch for the want of which
they had suffered great inconvenience. They
had lost the advantage of a proposed line of

survey running nearer the town, when the

road was located; by not giving sufficient en-

couragement to the Company to warrant the

additional expense, which would have been

incurred by changing the direction of the line

for their accommodation.
In June 1866, Messrs. Felton and Hinckley,

(the Presidents of the two roads,) were author-

ized to contract for the construction of the

branch Railroad, from Smyrna Station, (now
Clayton,) to the town of Smyrna, a distance

of one and a half miles. And at a subsequent

meeting, December 20th, full authority was
given the President, with the consent of the

Lessee, “to locate and construct a single track

road, from Townsend Station westerly to the

State line,” to connect with the “Kent County
(Maryland) Railroad

;
and to issue stock of

the Delaware Railroad Company, to an amount
sufficient to pay for building the road.” This

branch was afterward extended to Massey’s

about four miles within the limits of the State

of Maryland, at the junction of the Kent
County Railroad, with the Queen Anne and
Kent Railroad.

A branch Railroad from Seaford to the

State line, to connect with the Dorchester

and Delaware Railroad, was also authorized

June 24th, 1S67, and to further assist the last

mentioned Company, in the building of their
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road from the State line to Cambridge. The
Board of Directors of the Delaware Railroad

Company, with the consent of the Lessee,

loaned to the Dorchester and Delaware Rail-

road Company, a certificate for 2,500 shares of

Delaware Railroad stock, to be used as collat-

eral * in obtaining money to prosecute the

work. The Dorchester and Delaware Rail-

road Company, deposited with the Delaware

Railroad Company their bonds for $100,000, as

security for the loan. The stock thus issued was

carried on the book of the Delaware Railroad

Company until 1873, when the bonds were

redeemed and the certificate of stock can-

celed.

Though separate charters were obtained for

each of the branch Railroads, above men-

tioned, they were built under the auspices of

the Delaware Railroad Company, and the cost

of their construction paid by the sale of the

Company’s stock. When completed they were

included in the lease by consent of the Lessee

as. constituting a part of the Delaware Rail-

road.

At the annual meeting in January, 1870,

President Felton had the satisfaction to report

to the Stockholders the completion of the

three branch roads referred to, as well as of

the Junction & Breakwater Railroad to its

terminus at Lewes, and the Maryland & Dela-

ware Railroad, from Smyrna station to Easton,

Md., carrying into practical effect the first in-

tention of making the Delaware Railroad the

“trunk line” for all the Railroads on the

Peninsula.

Soon after the completion of the Eastern

Shore Railroad an attempt was made to estab-

lish a through route to Norfolk, and in 1867

an express train was run from Wilmington to

Crisfield, 135^- miles, in connection with a

daily line of fast steamers.

The time made between Norfolk and New
York by this route was from 3^ to 4^ hours

shorter than by any other; but to run in close

connection with the Southern roads termina-

ting at Norfolk, it was found necessary that the

steamboats should leave that harbor at about

7 o’clock in the evening, and the trip to Cris-

field requiring but 7 hours, it was near mid-

night when the passengers were transferred to

the cars. The inconvenience of this arrange-

ment, by which travelers coming North were

disturbed at an unseasonable hour was con-

sidered so objectionable that preference was

given to the route by the “Old Bay Line’’ of

steamers
;

which, though less expeditious,

gave better opportunities for /rest before

reaching Baltimore, where close connection

was made with the early morning trains.

The Southern railroads entering Norfolk

were operated in the interest of the competi-

tors of the “new line,” and as no better

arrangement for passengers could, under the

circumstences, be expected, after continuing

the experiment for a year or more at consider-

able loss, in 1868 the steamboats and fast

trains were withdrawn, and the through route

to Norfolk was abandoned, except as a freight

line.

Loss to the Lessee.

It was found by the Lessee in operating the

Delaware Railroad that the gross earnings,

after paying the operating expenses, some-

times exceeded, but more frequently fell short

of paying the rent. The great value of the

road to the Lessee in adding to the traffic and
consequently to the revenues of their main
line was fairly acknowledged and highly appre-

ciated; but the question above referred to had
given rise to a difference of opinion between
the two Boards, as to the proper mode of

adjusting this account under the contract.

The following extract from the President’s

report of 1869 presents the question at issue

and the manner in which it was settled, to wit:

“The question how to treat the loss to the Lessees in

operating the road arose some time since,—the Dela-

ware Railroad contending that each year was to be con-

sidered by itself, without reference to any other year
;

that if there was a loss it was to be borne by the Lessees,

while if there was a gain it was to be divided equally be-

tween the Lessee and the Lessor. The contract leaving

the matter in doubt as to its legal interpretation, it was,

after much discussion, agreed to leave the decision to

Chancellor Bates and the President of the Philadelphia

and Reading Railroad. The referees did not agree as to

the legal construction of the contract. They were then

asked to decide the matter upon its equity. Here they

also disagreed as to the manner of making up the losses

to the Lessee
;
one contending that the whole surplus

should be credited to the loss account till it equaled the

losses, without interest on either side ; and the other con-

tending that only one-half of the surplus should go to

the credit of losses, while the other half should belong

directly and wholly to the Lessee. In this dilemma the

President of the Lessor and the President of the Lessee

agreed to divide the difference between the referees, to

wit : that one-quarter of the surplus should go to the

Lessee and the other three-quarters should go to dim in-
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ish losses, without interest on either side, till said three-

quarters shall equal the losses, and then that the surplus

shall be equally divided, so long as there shall be any

surplus, annually. Should losses again occur at any

time during the lease, they will be treated in the same
way as those now and heretofore existing.”

Resignation of Officers.

In 1870, E. Q. Sewall and A. Brown Esq.,

the Assistant Superintendent and Freight

Agent, respectively, in immediate charge of

the construction and transportation on the

Delaware Railroad under the Lessee, resigned

the offices they had held since the road was
opened, to accept more responsible positions

in another company. Mr. Sewall had been

connected with this Company as Engineer and

Assistant Superintendent for fourteen years,

and his valuable services, in both capacities,

had been frequently acknowledged by the

Board. Mr. Brown had also the entire confi-

dence of the Company in his Department.

From this time forward the road has been

operated as the “ Delaware Division ’ of the

Iphia, Wilmington and Baltimore Rail-D 1- . } ^1 n 1 n h 1

road, under the immediate control and man-
agement of H. F. Kenney Esq., Superintend-

ent, with Isaac Mills Esq., as General Agent.

In March of this year, ( 1870,) the Company
was deprived of the services of Mr.Allee, Sec-

retary and Treasurer, who was disqualified by
a severe stroke of paralysis, from performing

his offical duties, and in May following the

Board appointed Mr.Hayes(one of the Directors

of the Company) to fill these offices tempora-

rily, and at the next annual meeting he was
elected Treasurer and Secretary of the com-
pany. Mr.Allee being permanently disabled,

the Board passed resolutions “tendering to

him their thanks for his long and faithful ser-

vices rendered the Company, and their sympa-
thies with him on account of his illness.”

Improvements and Repairs—Damage by
the Great Rain Storm.

The improvements on the line of the Del-

aware Railroad and its branches under the lib-

eral policy and admirable management of the

Lessee, were more and more apparent every

year. Renewals and repairs, wherever needed,

were supplied without stint. As an evidence

of this, 40,265 new cross-ties and 698 tons of

railroad iron were, in 1870, used in the track
|

now being re-laid, with 57 pound rails, and
fish-joint fastenings—a great improvement
over the old superstructure. To make the im-

j

i

provements referred to, and afford ample ac-

commodations for the increased and growing
business of the road, the Company found it

I
necessary to acquire by purchase additional

1
grounds at Clayton,Smyrna, Dover, Wyoming,

!

and several of the less important places.

1
Sidings were lengthened, and new ones laid at

many of the stations, in anticipation of heavy
peach crops.

1 The planting of peach trees and other fruits,

on a large scale had extended far down the

I

Peninsula, and on the branch roads, wherever

j

the soil was adapted to their growth.
In the month of August 1873, during the

!

season of the heaviest peach shipments,a local

rain-storm, unprecedented in force or rain-fall,

occurred in that part of New Castle county
near the Chesapeake and Delaware canal, re-

sulting in great damage to the road. Twenty-
four culverts,many of them built of stone, were
washed out between St. George’s Station and
Middletown, and a torrent of water from the

adjoining slopes, and from the canal reservoir,

caused by the breaking of its banks, overflow-

ed the low ground above the railroad bridge

and rushing with irresistible force against the

north abutment, carried it away and utterly

demolished the embankment, in that place 30
feet in height and 200 feet in length. This
disaster stopped the running of the trains for

seven days, during the height of the season

for fruit transportation, and to the loss and
damages to the Lessee by the flood, was to

be added the diminished receipts from freight,

on this perishable commodity amounting to

many thousands of dollars.

The Officers of the road with a corps of well

trained men soon erected a superstructure of

trestle work, to replace the embankment at

the canal, and repaired or bridged over the

breaches in the road
;
and in a shorter time

than was thought possible from the extent of

the damages, the track was put in good order

for trains. This is the only interruption to

transportation, for more than a few hours at

anyone time, from accident or disaster of any
kind, to be recorded during the twenty-five

years of the operations of The Delaware Rail-

road.

Insolvency of Connecting Railroads.
Some of the railroads on the Peninsula

connected with the Delaware road, were en-

cumbered with debt
;
and it was not improba-

1
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ble they would be sold for the benefit of their

Stockholders or Bondholders at a period more

or less remote “and in order that the Directors

might have authority to acquire, by purchase,

such roads if their acquisition was desired by

the Board,” at the Stockholders Meeting

January 8th 1874 full power was given the Di-

rectors to negotiate and complete the purchase

of any such roads, and to arrange a mode of

paying for the same without further action of

the Stockholders, but with the consent of the

Lessee of this road”

Renewal of Lease.

It may be proper here to state that notice

was duly given by the Lesee of the road, that

in accordance with the provisions of the orig-

inal contract they had “elected to renew the

lease of the Delaware Railroad for twenty one

years longer, at the expiration of the first

term, May 4th 1876.”

Improvements on the Line of the Road.
The aspect of the country near the Dela-

ware Railroad had undergone many important

changes in the twenty years since the opening

at Seaford. During that period, and more

especially in the years of active business pros-

perity that succeeded the war, and before the

financial disasters of 1873 overtook the country

and paralyzed business, improvements were

everywhere to be seen springing up in town

and country on the line of the road. Well

cultivated farms had succeeded to the dense

forests and jungle that stretched for miles to-

gether on the borders of the roadway when it

was first opened. New villages had grown up

at Clayton, Wyoming, Felton, Harrington,

Farmington and other principal stations.

Tasteful residences, public schools, academies

and churches in the larger towns presented in-

ducements to people seeking new homes, and

brought many settlers to their neighborhood.

The substantial and attractive appearance of

the new brick Passenger Depots and grounds,

ornamented with plants and flowers, which

were now to be seen at many of the stations,

showed the traveler that the managers of the

railroad were performing a commendable part

in thus educating, cultivating and refining the

tastes of the people. In all the plans for im-

proving the Delaware Road, the Presidents of

the two Companies were in full accord, and

Superintendent Kenny’s instructions were

promptly and ably carried out by the General

Agent, Mr. Mills, and the employees of the

Company.
Fruit Traffic.

The plantations of small fruits as well

as of peaches, which everywhere abounded,

proved to be a great blessing to the people

of the Peninsula in the period of the “ Hard

times.” The ready money returned from their

sale in the cities was distributed largely for

labor among all classes in the country, and the

operations of numerous fruit canning, and evap-

orating establishments, gave employment to

many hundreds of women and children.

The quantity of fruit shipped by railroad

from year to year varied greatly
;
the crop of

peaches, especially, was subject to disaster, by
frost and other climatic influences, as well as

from the attacks of curculio. Sometimes the

fruit was only destroyed in certain sections of

the country, leaving enough unharmed at

other places to supply the markets
;
at other

times, perhaps, but half a crop was left
;
and if

if it so extended throughout the peach grow-

ing region, the returns from sales would prove

more satisfactory than from a full crop by
which the markets would have been glutted

with inferior fruit and the prices consequently

low. The heaviest crop of peaches ever

grown on the Peninsula or shipped over the

Delaware Railroad was in 1875. Conferences

were held between committees appointed by

the fruit growers, and the railroad authorities,

to arrange for the shipment and distribution of

so large a crop, estimated at five or six mil-

lions of baskets.

The schedule of freight charges, embraced

all the large cities within the distance to Chi-

cago and Cincinnati in the West, and to Bos-

ton at the East. The extent of the shipments

will be shown by the following items from

President Felton’s report of 1876.

“The total number of baskets of peaches

sent to market over the Delaware Railroad was

4,536,75 1, and of car loads, 9,072. The highest

number of baskets shipped in one day 209,000,

and of loaded cars, 418 beside peaches, 905
car loads of berries and other fruits were sent

to market in this prolific year.

The season for fruit shipments was short

;

for peaches, not exceeding six weeks
;

the

moving of this crop requiring the use of an

unusually large number of cars, as those

sent to distant places could not be unloaded
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and returned in less time than from two to

four days. All the arrangements were com-

plete, and neither accidents nor delays hap-

pened to the trains following each other in

rapid succession.

The entire business of the season was suc-

cessfully accomplished, but unfortunately for

the profits of the Delaware Railroad Company,

the greater part of the crop was grown in the

northern part of the State: the haul was short,

and its portion of the earnings comparatively

small.

Financial Affairs.

The results of the Centennial year, 1876,

fell short of the expectations of the Company.

The gain in the transportation of passengers,

as compared with the previous year was

$11,762; over \ 2 h percent.; but the loss in

freight, &c., was $29,777 ;
nearly 2S per cent.

The loss in freight earnings this year was in

consequence of a light peach crop, and a con-

siderable reduction in freight charges.

The first mortgage and guaranteed loans of

the Company amounting to $600,000 became

due July 1st, 1875; and the Board provided for

the payment, of the bonds by authorizing a

new 6 per cent, loan of $650,000 payable in

twenty years, and secured by a mortgage on

the main line of the Delaware Railroad and

on all its branches.

The Lessee of the road guaranteed the pay-

ment of the principal when the bonds mature,

and interest semi-annually as it accrues. These

bonds are convertible into the capital stock of

the Company, or can be registered at the

option of the holders. The mortgage was

made to “The Fidelity Insurance Trust and

Safe Deposit Company,” of Philadelphia, in

trust
;

and that Company was constituted

the agent of the Delaware Railroad Com-

pany in negotiating the new loan, and in re-

deeming the two classes of bonds above refer-

red to, as well as for registering and trans-

ferring the bonds of the new loan.

The accumulations of the Sinking Fund

January 1st, 1876 amounted to $183,559,40.

from this sum $175,100 was set a side to pay

the State loan of $170,000 with interest to

July 1st 1876, when the bonds matured. It

was estimated this would leave a balance of

about $26, 500 to be applied with its accumu-

lations to the payment of the extension mort-
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gage bonds when they matured, January 1st,

1880.

To the cost of the Delaware Railroad has

been added that of the Townsend Branch to

Massey’s Junction : the Dorchester Branch from

Seaford to the State line: and the Smyrna and

Smyrna Station Railroad, as well as the cost of

the improvements before referred to, and also

the difference in price between steel and iron

rails on eleven miles of track, where steel rails

have been substituted for iron.

These additions to the construction account

have been paid for by the issue and sale of the

Company’s stock.

The branch Railroads when completed were

accepted by the Lessee, but underlet to the

companies or parties operating the. connecting

roads.

The Dorchester and Delaware, and the Kent
County Railroad, as well as the Chesapeake

and Delaware, extend to the navigable waters

of the Chesapeake Bay: and the Delaware

Railroad has been subjected to the rivalry and

competition of river navigation, in obtaining

the traffic over these lines.

Seashore Resorts.

The Junction and Breakwater Railroad with

its extension to Rehoboth, and connecting

roads from Georgetown to Franklin City, on

Chincoteague Sound, have passed into the

hands of the Old Dominion Steamship Com-
pany, and is operated in connection with a line

of steamers from the Delaware Breakwater to

New York.

A popular sea shore resort, has been estab-

lished under the auspices of a Methodist

Association at Rehoboth beach. And another

sea side resort is located further South on a

strip of beach between Assateague Bay, or

Sound, and the Atlantic Ocean, on the Mary-

land sea-coast, called “ Ocean City”. It is

reached by the Eastern Shore, and the Wico-

mico and Pocomoke Railroad and is about 120

miles from Wilmington. The travel to and

from these sea side resorts, over the Delaware

and connecting roads,has afforded a considera-

ble addition to their annual revenues.

Conclusion.

In concluding this sketch, the writer has

presented a statement showing the cost of the

Delaware Railroad, its branches and im-

provements, to the 1st of January, 1880,

to which has been added the length of the
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main line and its branches, as well as of the

connecting railroads on the Peninsula: embra-

cing an extent of territory in Delaware and

Maryland, estimated at 5,388 square miles;

upon the local business of which, these roads
.

and others projected, must mainly depend for

their earnings, with the prospective advantages

that must be derived from their further exten-

sion through the more southern counties of

the Peninsula in Maryland and Virginia, and

ultimately by the renewal of a steamboat line

to Norfolk.

This system of railroads, comprising 430

miles already completed, if combined under

one intelligent management, (as it is probably

destined to be at some future day,) would more

perfectly and rapidly develop the resources of

a country, which though separated from other

States by intervening bays,yet is so located as

to reap the advantages derived by easy access

to the markets of three great cities for the

varied products of its fertile soil, and the inex-
j

haustible supply of fish, and shell-fish, which

abound in the waters of its numerous bays

and rivers.

Since January, 1866, some changes have

taken place in the names of Directors, that

have not been mentioned.

In 1870, Charles Warner was elected to fill

the vacancy caused by the death of Hon. Chas.

I. DuPont, who was, from its re-organization

in 1853, a zealous and influential member of

the Board. In 1871, J. Turpin Moore, of Laurel,

was elected a Director in the place of Jacob

Moore, of Georgetown. James J. Ross, suc-

ceeded his father Ex-Governor Ross the same

year. And after the decease of Jesse Sharpe,

in 1873, Edward Bringhurst, Jr., was elected to,

fill the vacancy.

In the financial statement of Treasurer

Hayes, of January 1st, 1880, the cost of the

Delaware Railroad is given, as follows :

THE DELAWARE RAILROAD.

DR.
Construction Delaware Railroad $1,836,843.85
Smyrna Branch 33,847.14
Dorchester Branch 109,993.75
Townsend Branch 223,641 00

$2,204,335.74
Sundries chargable to construction 2,394.15

CR.

Capital Stock
Bonds, Extension Mortgage, January, 1880...

** Guaranteed Convertible Mortg., July,

*895

$2 206,719 89

i

$1.456, 7 '9- 89
$ 100,000

650,000
$750,000.00

$2,206,719.89
Sinking Fund to be applied to payment of Extension Mortgage

Bonds $56,361.67

LENGTH OF THE DELAWARE RAILROAD AND CONNECTING
PENINSULAR RAILROADS

Miles.
The Delaware Railroad, from Rodney Station. {Junction with New-

castle and French Town Railroad,) to Delmar, (Delaware and
Maryland State line) . . 8382

The Townsend Branch Railroad, (to Massey’s Junction, Md.) 9 50
1 he Smyrna Railroad, (Clayton Station to Smyrna)... 1.51
The Dorchester Railroad, (Sealord to Maryland State line) 5.67

Total Delaware Railroad and Branch Railroads 100 50
Eastern Shore Railroad, ( Delmar to Crisfield, Md.) 38.
Kent County Railroad, (Delaware Bay to Nicholson, Md., via

Clayton) 50
Queen Anne and Kent Railroad, (Massey’s Junction to Centreville,

Md. ) . . 26
Delaware and Chesapeake Railroad, (Clayton Station to Oxford, Md.) 53.75
Dorchester and Delaware Railroad, ( Delaware State line to Cam-

bridge, Md.) 28
Junction and Breakwater Railroad, (Harrington to Rehoboth) 45
Breakwater and Fraukford Railroad, (Georgetown to Shelbyville ... 19.03
Worcester Railroad, Shelbyville to Franklin, Md.).... 36
Wicomico and Pocomoke Railroad, (Salisbury to Ocean City, Md.). . 23
Worcester and Somerset Railroad, (Junction Eastern Shore Railroad

to Newtown) 10

Length in miles of single track Peninsula Railroads. . .
.
429.28

The editors of the Aldine Publishing and
Engraving Co ., express their great apprecia-

tion of the foregoing paper. As a history of

the Delaware Railroad, it is full of facts and
data,. presented in a readable form, and deals
also with the general material interests of the
State. It presents in a clear and instructive

manner much that could not, in an equally
limited space.be put before the reader touch-
ing the peach and other crops of the State.

We think no one can rise from its reading
without a feeling of greater interest in the
success of the Road. Such publications cannot
fail to be of great interest to the citizen and of

benefit to the Corporation. We regard the arti-

cle as ofgreat literary as well as historical value.
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OTHER RAILROADS

—

Summary.

It only remains for us to speak of the Rail-
j

roads referred to in the foregoing article as
j

being in the State of Delaware, or connecting :

with roads in the State. The New Castle ,

Turnpike Company was chartered in 1S09 with
|

Capital Stock of $200,000. Frenchtown and

New Castle Railroad Company—chartered by

the Legislature of Maryland 1S28—finished

1831. The charter of this Railroad Company!
contained a provision intended to compel the

Company to keep open a turnpike 20 feet wide

alongside the Railroad. Hence, sometimes

called the New Castle & Frenchtown Trans-

portation and Turnpike Company. In 1833

the first locomotive, called “Delaware”—built

in England—was put together at New Cas-

tle and run on this railroad, and other engines

were built here for its use.

The Wilmington and Susquehanna Railroad

was chartered by the Legislature of Delaware

in 1832. Its route was from the Pennsylvania

State line, through Wilmington toward the
j

Susquehanna River, and had its western termi-

nus at Perryville.

The Baltimore and Port Deposit Railroad

Company was chartered by the Legislature of

Maryland, March 5th, 1832. Its eastern ter-

minus became Havre de Grace.

The Delaware & Maryland Railroad Com-
pany—chartered by the same body the 14th of

May, 1832—intended to run from the said Dela-

ware State line to Port Deposit or some other

point on the Susquehanna:—did not organize

until April 1835, but in 1836 was united with

the Wilmington and Susquehanna Railroad

Company.

The Legislature of Pennsylvania chartered

the Philadelphia and Delaware County Rail-

road in 1831. It was organized in 1835 ar*d

the Company surveyed a route from Philadel-

phia to the State line. In January 1836 this

Company having occasion to apply for power

to increase their capital, the title of the Cor-

poration was changed by the Legislature of

Pennsylvania to the Philadelphia, Wilmington

and Baltimore Railroad Company. Then it

obtained a right of way from the State line to

Wilmington from the Delaware and Maryland

Company, and the Road was opened from

Philadelphia to Wilmington on the 15th, of

January, 1838. The Road from Wilmington
|

23

to Perryville, Cecil Co., Md., was opened on the

4th of July, 1837, and that from Baltimore to

Havre de Grace on the 6th of July 1837.

Here was now one line of Road and three

Companies, viz : The Philadelphia, Wilming-

ton and Baltimore, from Philadelphia to Wil-

mington
;
the Wilmington and Susquehanna,

from Wilmington to the Susquehanna River
;

and the Baltimore and Port Deposit, from Bal-

timore to Havre de Grace. These Companies

were consolidated in February, 1838, under the

name of The Philadelyhia , Wilmington and
Baltimore Railroad Company.

Wilmington and New Castle Railroad—This

road was completed in 1854, and during that

season was operated in connection with the

New Castle and Frenchtown P_ailroad.

The Delaware Western Railroad Company
was first chartered by the Legislature of Dela-

ware, as the “Delaware and Chester County

R. R. Company.” On March 10, 1869, it became

known as the Wilmington & Western R. R.

Company. On the 7th of March, 1877—was

sold by a decree of IT. S. Court, and a new
company formed, known as the “Delaware

Western R. R. Company.” Its eastern ter-

minus is Wilmington, extending westward 20

miles to Landenberg, Chester county,and there

connects with the Pomeroy and State Line

Railroad Company’s Road a branch of the

Pennsylvania Railroad Company.
The Wilmington and Northern Railroad—

Extends from Wilmington to Reading, Penna.,

and runs north to the Anthracite Coal Regions.

Ihe Pemisylvania and Delaware Railroad—
A branch of the Pennsylvania Railroad,running

from Pomeroy, Chester county, Penna., south

to its terminus at Delaware City, New Castle

county, Del.—which completes the mention of

the Railroads in the State.

CHESAPEAKE AND DELAWARE
CANAL.

F the present Chesapeake and Dela-

ware Canal it may be said to have been

begun on the 15th day of April, 1824.

The Canal Company employed John

Randal, Jr., civil engineer, of Albany, New
York, to make the survey in 1823 ;

and on the

26th day of March, 1824,the Company employed

I
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him to excavate the Canal, and executed arti-

cles of agreement with him for its construction.

But a canal connecting the Chesapeake with the

Delaware waters had a long antecedent history.

As long ago as 1760, when Augustine Herman
was lord of Bohemia Manor, the construction

of-a canal to connect the waters of the two

Bays was contemplated by that astute and

accomplished surveyor and engineer. The
earliest settlers along these waters had felt

the need of a better method of transportation

than they possessed. This want was felt by

Swedes, Finns and Dutch, on the Delaware, as

well as by the English, of the Maryland Colony,

all along the upper portion of the Chesapeake,

in what is now Cecil county. One historan

supposes that the selection of Bohemia Manor,

and its survey and purchase by Herman, was

not less influenced by this project as seen by

him as a grand possible event, than was the

soil of the rich and beautiful tract to which the

name of the “ Manor” still attaches. Nor was

this improvement an anticipated thing bv the

founder and seater of Bohemia Manor, and a de-

sired matter by the inhabitants of both Colonies

only, but while yet Philadelphia was a small

town in 1769, before Revolutionary days, some
of its enterprising citizens induced the Ameri-
can Philosophical Society to order a survey to

be made, with a view of constructing a canal

across the Peninsula. The eight long years of

struggle succeeding, put it for the time out of

men’s minds, as may be supposed, yet in 1799,

steps were taken for its construction
;

and in

that year Maryland granted a Charter for it,

whose force depended for its being carried out,

on the passage of a law by the State of Dela-

ware authorizing the canal to be cut through

her territory. Two citizens of Cecil, and two
citizens of other Eastern Shore counties,

together with others of the city of Baltimore,

and certain citizens of Wilmington and Phila-

delphia, were authorized to open subscription

books and inaugurate the enterprise. The
Company was allowed to raise a capital of

$500,000, in shares of $200 each, and then to

proceed with this public improvement.

In the year 1801, Benjamin H. Latrobe,

father of I. H. B. Latrobe, the distinguished

lawyer of Baltimore, Md., and grandfather of

Mayor F. C. Latrobe of that city, was em-
ployed by this Company. He was a Hugueno;
by extraction, but an Englishman by birth,

and arrived in this country about 1800. He
soon after married the daughter of Isaac

Hazlehurst, the law partner of Ro'bt. Morris,

the financier.

This gentleman had associated with him

Cornelius Howard, and John Thompson, who
together surveyed various routes across the

Peninsula for the proposed canal. The direc-

tors of the Company decided upon the route

lying, for its beginning, on the Chesapeake

side, between Welsh Point, at the junction

with Back Creek and the Elk River, and run-

ning in a N. E. direction, intersected the waters

of Delaware at a point on the Christiana River

known as Mendenhall's Landing.

This place was four miles west of Wilming-

ton. The purpose of the engineers who loca-

ted this route was to supply the water needed

from the Big Elk Creek. The supply was to

be had by means of a reservoir, extending over

about 100 acres of land.

It is said $100,000 was expended on the con-

struction of this feeder and aqueduct. The
intended reservoir was located about one mile

from the present village of Glasgow, New
Castle county.

The Company was obliged to purchase the

right to use this water from the Big Elk Forge

Company, and notes were issued by the Com-
pany, of the character of promissory notes, in

payment of such right.

Work was began on the feeder in 1802. An
aqueduct was needed to convey the water

across the channel of the creek to reach the

reservoir. This work was done in a substan-

tial manner, and arches are still standing,

through which the water of small streams were

to pass under the aqueduct.

After the construction of the aqueduct and the

admission of water through it at great expense,

work was discontinued in 1803, in consequence

of want of funds and the diversity of opinion

touching the route of the canal on toward the

Delaware.

Nothing further was done, and the whole

business of its construction laid aside until

1812. Then the Legislature of Maryland, im-

pelled by the probability of war with England,

passed an Act supplementary to the original

Charter
;
but nothing more was done toward

the completion of the work until 1823, when the

project was again revived under the circum-

stances narrated in the beginning of this article.
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The Legislature of Delaware, and her citi-

zens, became deeply interested in its success

at this time, and all along the contemplated

line in the State, as well as north and south of

it, leading citizens of both States took large in-

terest in having the work pushed forward to

Completion. It was this unflagging interest,

more especially in Delaware, which made it a

speedy success notwithstanding the immense

obstacles encountered.

In their contract with Mr. Randal, the Com-
pany allowed four years from the signing of

the contract for its completion. Mr. Randal

was accused, however, of under-estimating the

work and route of his predecessors, for the pur-

pose of carrying the line further down, and to

the place it now occupies, and thus obtaining a

larget sum for the work.

To such removal the citizens of Wilmington

were strenuously opposed, believing that if

built without using the Christiana river, it

would injure the trade of their city, by having

its outlet so far beiow them on the Delaware.

It is said that Mr. Randal’s purpose was to

cut the canal so deep that a good supply of

water could be obtained from the Delaware

river at high tide, thus using the Atlantic as

its feeder
;
and had this been done it would

have obviated the expense of the vast ma-

chinery now used in pumping its supply by

engines at Chesapeake City
;
but the great

cost of excavating so deeply, was the true

reason of not carrying out his plan, and the

present system of locks and pumps adopted in

its stead. When work was resumed it was

under the presidency of the same gentlemen

who, 2i years before, was at the head of the

Company, and the due-bills given at that time

for a large amount of the indebtedness of the

Company, and of which we have spoken, were

taken up and paid at their full value, though so

many years had elapsed since those early

efforts.

Work was begun, as we have stated, on the

15th day of April, 1824, and the excavation

started at the deep cut at Buck Bridge.

The Company took the work out of the

hands of Mr. Randal in the fall of 1825, and

employed others to complete it. This led to

the memorable law suit tried at New Castle:

one of the most memorable ever occurring in

this State, as well for the amount involved, as

the legal talent employed on either side.

Over two hundred and twenty-six thousand
dollars were paid Mr. Randal as damages.
Benjamin Wright was employed by the

Company as Engineer, under whose superin-

tendence the work was completed, on the

17th day of October, 1829. This canal is

thirteen and five-eighths of a mile long
;
and

its construction cost, in round numbers, Two
Million, Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand
Dollars. To those who, beginning at Chesa-
peake or Delaware City, now examine this im-

portant work, there will arise the question :

How could such a vast sum have been ex-

pended ? It has but three sets of locks :

Delaware City, St. George’s, and Chesapeake
City! The buildings and engines at the last

named place, though expensive and of great

power, yet do not suggest the expenditure of

such vast sums, and its width and depth are

not such as to prepare one for an explanation

of this great cost. But one now, can realize

but very imperfectly, the great outlay, from

the fact that great changes have been under-

gone in the lands adjacent to the canal and

and upon its banks, especially toward its east-

ern terminus. When it was being excavated

large sections embracing thousands of cubic

feet of the excavated earth, when put up as

embankments, sunk down at some places as

much as, probably, 100 feet in depth, and

caused the elevation of the earth in the bed

of the canal to rise as much as forty feet above

its natural position
;
and this took place not

in one section but in many, on the first five

miles of the canal, as you go from Delaware

City. To this must be added the difficulties

experienced at the point known as the deep

cut at Buck Bridge. This deep cut had to

be excavated to the depth of seventy-six and

a half feet, and of course of the needed width

for such depth, and when the vast masses of

earth were piled on the surface in contiguity

thereto, the sliding back of large portions,

occasioned great expense as well as delay. It

is estimated that during the construction of

the work at this one point, not less than three

hundred and seventy five thousand cubic

yards of excavated earth, slid back into the

channel. Even after the canal was an accom-
plished fact, again and again the vast piles of

earth were liable to this back-sliding habit,

until one could see almost mountain piles of
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excavation, thatched like an Irishman’s cabin

that it might be kept dry enough to obtain

lodgment and permanence.

The Summit or Buck Bridge, spanning the

canal at this point, was ninety feet above the

bottom of the canal, and two hundred and

forty feet in length
;
and at the time of its

building was regarded as an imposing struct-

ure, suitable for engraving in the Geographies

and other School Books of the period.

The Chesapeake and Delaware Canal Com-
pany have their office in Walnut street, Phila-

delphia. Of this Company Andrew C. Gray,

Esq., of New Castle, is President, and has held

that important office continuously since 1S53.

Upon rts financial exhibit we have not

spoken, presuming that its reports will furnish

all needed imformation.

SHIP-BUILDING.

ITIZENS of Delaware residing on the

Christiana river and the many naviga-

ble creeks which indent the Eastern

$ Shore of the State, early turned their

attention to vessel-building. Despite the ar-

bitrary enactments of Parliament, which pro-

hibited all inter-colonial commerce, and the

British policy which sought to prevent the

existence of a merchant marine in the New
World, the growing business of the colonies

made transportation by water a necessity.

Tradition tells us that vessels were built on

the Murderkill, St. Jones’, Mispillion, Broad-

kiln and other creeks, before the close of the

17th century. This is doubtless true. The
settlements were all located on the navigable

streams
;
the country was a wilderness

;
there

were no roads through the forests, or bridges

over the streams, and had there been both, the

pioneers had few teams and fewer vehicles, and

for one hundred years transportation by water

was the cheapest and best mode of convey-

ance. Hence from the beginning sailing craft

were indispensable, and they were supplied

by the skill of the settlers from the abundance

of the choicest materials grown at their very

doors. The names of these early builders not

even tradition has preserved, but the facts

have been handed down from generation to

generation.

As population and the demands of commerce

increased, vessel-building became a steady

and profitable business. Not only was the

local demand supplied with vessels of 20 to So

tons, for trading with the larger towns and

cities, but it began to be profitable to build

vessels of from 200 to 400 tons for their earn-

ings in the coasting, West India and foreign

trade.

In 1740 William Shipley, David Ferris,

Joshua Way and others, built the brig Wil-

mington. This was the first vessel constructed

on the Christiana for “ the foreign trade,” and

the following year she sailed for the West
Indies, and probably continued her voyages

for several years. (Ferris page 231), The ship

Liberty, built at the foot of Market street, was

one of the early ventures in this line, and was

considered one of the greatest marine enter-

prises of that day, while her name is signifi-

cant of the growing spirit of the Colonists.

The brig Naticy, built about the same time,

figured in the R.evolution, being the first craft

to hoist the A.merican ensign in a foreign port.

Mr. Charles Moore, who, with his brother

Enoch, has been engaged in ship-building in

Wilmington for half a century, under the name
of “E. & C. Moore,” has given the writer some

of his “recollections” which are full of interest.

He is now (1882) 76 years of age, and when he

was a boy, Barney Harris, his grandfather,

William Woodcock and Simon Cranston, were

retired ship-builders, and very aged men. He
often heard from them the history of ship-

building in Wilmington during the latter half

of the 1 8th century. One of their ship-yards

was on Bread and Cheese island in White Clay

creek, near Stanton. Being driven from that

place by the British, they retired to Jones’

creek, where they built a brig. They were

zealous patriots, and spent part of the time of

the war navigating the waters of the Delaware.

Harris, who was born in 1744, was then in the

prime of life, and although taken prisoner,

escaped from the British ship and returned to

Wilmington, where, after the war, he followed

ship-building many years. Mr. Cranston con-

tinued his ship-yard at Bread and Cheese is-

land after the war. At a later day John Har-

ris, son of Barney Harris, took the yard of Mr.

Draper at Brandywine, who removed to Duck
creek, (Smyrna,) where he continued the

business.
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1

After the adoption of the Federal Constitu-

tion in 1787, business of all kinds revived.

Foreign commerce was remarkably flourishing.

During the war, and the prostration and

poverty which followed, little had been pur-

chased from abroad. The demand for vessels

which now sprang up gave a great impetus to

ship-building, and for several years Wilming-

ton reaped a rich harvest. She had at one

time twenty-two square-rigged vessels en-

gaged in the West India and direct European

trade, besides numerous schooners and sloops

in the coasting trade. This continued till the

war of 1812, when her foreign commerce was

gradually diverted to the larger cities. •

In the beginning of the present century we
still find Barney Harris, William Woodcock,

Simon Cranston and John Harris, the principal

ship-builders. Enoch Moore came to the city

from Trenton, N. J. about 1825, and learned the

business of Harris and Woodcock at the foot

of Orange street. From 1812 to 1832 there

was very little ship building in Wilmington.

During that period Thompson & Young was

the only firm thus employed
;

a few small

craft being built by a number of individual

builders. In 1832 the partnership of E. & C.

Moore was formed, and a ship yard located at

the foot of Poplar street (now occupied by the

Pusey and Jones Company). Mr. Thompson
having died in 1833, Mr. Young became a mem-
ber of the E. & C. Moore firm till 1834, when
they separated, Mr. Young continuing at the

foot of Poplar street, and the Moores locating

at the foot of Fourth street, where they have

continued for nearly fifty years. About that

time the firm of J. & J. A. Harris started at

the foot of Orange street
;
also the firm of

W. & A. Thatcher at the foot of Pine street,

each devoted to building coasting vessels.

About this time the whale ship company
was formed. They purchased merchant ships

from New England which were changed to

whale ships in Wilmington. They owned
the ships Ceres

,
Thomas Jefferson

,
Lucy Ann

and North American
,
and the bark Superior.

The first steamer ever built in Wilmington

was the propeller Richard Stockton
, by the

Ericsson Propeller Company, about 1833.

The Harlan and Hollingsworth Company
constructs iron steam and sailing vessels, and

employs the largest capital of any company
in the State in this business. It commenced

|

shipbuilding in 1836, under the firm name of

Betts, Pusey and Harlan. Mr. Pusey retired

in 1841 and Mr. Elijah Hollingsworth became
a partner. In 1849 Mr. Betts withdrew, and

in 1858 Mr. J. Taylor Gause entered their firm.

Mr. Hollingsworth died in 1866, and the fol-

lowing year the company was incorporated

under the present name. It has grown up from

small beginnings to its present colossal pro-

portions in less than fifty years. Its reputation

is world-wide, and it constructs many of the

largest steamships afloat.

They also build railroad cars of every de-

scription, employing in all departments about

1,200 men. The officers are, Samuel Harlan,

Jr. .President; J. Taylor Gause, Vice-President,

and Harry.Gause, Secretary and Treasurer.

Pusey & Jones is also an old and prominent

iron ship-building company in Wilmington.

The last iron steam ship launched by them,

August 21, 1882, was the Albatross of 800

tons burden, for the U. S. Fish Commission.

The officers of this company are Wm. G. Gib-

bons, President
;
W. W. Pusey, Secretary and

Treasurer, and Charles Hill, Superintendent.

The Jackson and Sharp Company build the

largest wooden vessels of any company in the

State.

The building of vessels is carried on to a

considerable extent at Frederica, by Gov. John
W. Hall, and N. Lank. Most of these are

large sized schooners, some of them reaching

a capacity of 1,400 tons. Gov. Hall is the

owner,in whole or in part, of over thirty vessels,

all of which have been built under his personal

supervision, several of which are engaged in

foreign trade.

In Milford several firms are engaged in the

construction of vessels of Delaware oak, which

is unsurpassed for its durability and strength.

These firms are J. W. Abbott and Co., Mr.

Scribner, T. R. Carlisle, J. R. Cahall & Co.,and

W. J. Simpson. The first firm consists of Mr.

Abbott and Wm. Marshall, M.D., of that town.

The yards of all these builders are eligibly

located on the south side of Mispillion creek,

where they build large schooners, principally,

and have the reputation of producing vessels, of

their class, unsurpassed by any constructed on

the continent.

At Milton, D. H. Atkins, Black & Brothers

and C. C. Davidson, are engaged in construct-

ing the same class of vessels. Here, as at
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Milford, the building of vessels has been in !

continuous operation for nearly two centuries.

Small vessels are also built on Indian river,

and in early times were constructed on the

Nanticoke river at Seaford.

The first Marine Railway in the State was

constructed by Messrs. E. & C. Moore, the

.next by Mr. Harris, and another by the

Thatchers, and finally a first class Railway

was built at the yard of the Jackson & Sharp

company.

By this brief sketch of one of our great indus-

tries, it will be seen that Delaware, and par-

ticularly Wilmington, has furnished her full

share of enterprise in the ship-building busi-

ness. She has had her whaling interest,

pearl fishing, European, West India and

coasting trade, and now is one of the greatest

Iron Ship-building ports in the United States.

CAR BUILDING.

ILMINGTON enjoys the distinction of

having early taken a foremost place in

the construction of Railway carriages,

and there is nothing which tends to

give her greater fame as a manufacturing city-

In fact it may be said that it is her chief in-

dustry next to ship building, as there are

more cars of every description built in

Wilmington, than in any other city in the

United States. There are four large establish-

ments in the city, in part or in whole engaged

in the manufactory of railroad cars, the largest

of which is known as “The Delaware Car

Works,” belonging to the

“Jackson & Sharp Company.”
This Company was established early in the

year 1863, by Job H. Jackson and Jacob F.

Sharp, and although then comparatively

modest in extent, new additions and improve-

ments were made, until now, the “Delaware

Car Works” constitute the largest Passenger

Car Manufactory in the country. It covers

about twenty-five acres of land, outside the

ship yard and marine railway and immense
lumber yards of this Company. The shops of

the Company are situated at the confluence of

the Brandywine creek and Christiana river,

having wharfage on each, and with the Phila-

delphia Wilmington & Baltimore Railroad

track directly in front
;

a location, which

affords them every facility and advantage of

transportation both by land and water. These

works have a capacity for over 75 passenger

cars undergoing construction at the same time,

the paint room alone holding thirty. Between
800 and 1000 men are constantly employed,

and the weekly pay roll averages between

$7,000 and $10,000, and for several years

during seasons of great activity, the wages
frequently exceeded $12,000 per week.

This Company exhibited a specimen car at

the Cotton International Exhibition at Atlan-

ta, Ga., in 18S1, and was awarded a Gold
Medal and special mention for elegance in de-

sign and superior workmanship. Another en-

terprising firm is

Bowers, Dure & Company,
which began business in 1871, locating their

works on the Brandywine river and on the

east side of the Philadelphia, Wilmington and

Baltimore Railroad. The works occupy about

21 acres of ground, the shops are fitted with

every possible convenience for the execution

of the finest work, and in every respect they

are so complete as to have deserved the title

bestowed upon them of “MODEL WORKS.”
The cars are all most elegantly finished inside

and out, and are not excelled in this or any
country, either in design, workmanship or ap-

pearance. Every facility for shipping is en-

joyed, and for receiving by water or rail, all

necessary supplies. Steam power drives a

great variety of machinery
; 350 hands are

employed, and a large number of standard and
narrow gauge and city passenger railway cars

are turned out annually.

The Harlan & Hollingsworth Company,
has already been referred to as the largest

ship building Company in the State; but their

extensive car building interest, which they
conduct in addition to iron ship building, de-

serves a notice in this paper. Their car works
are at the foot of Orange street, between the

railroad track and the Christiana, and are not

a small branch of their establishment
; their

operations in this department being very ex-
tensive. They have furnished cars not only

[

to many roads in the United States, but also

!
to most of the principal railways of Canada,

!

Cuba and South America. The various de-

|

partments are under the charge of skilled

}

mechanics, who have been in the employ of
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the Company for many years. Every thing

connected with the works moves with military

precision.

The Philadelphia, Wilmington & Balti-

more Railroad Car Works
are located at Fourth and Church Streets.

This establishment was built about i860, in

which are constructed the freight and pas-

senger cars, and also the locomotives used on

that line, and the Delaware and other branch

roads that the Company operates under lease.

They employ about 400 hands, and are com-

plete in every respect.

Auxiliary to car-building, are the specialties

of manufacturing car-wheels and car-springs
;

the former of which is conducted by

The Lobdell Car-Wheel Company,
located at the foot of Lombard street, the

works lying on both sides of the Christiana.

This company has a reputation which extends

to all countries where railroads exist. It is

the oldest establishment of the kind in the

country, having been established in 1831 by

Jonathan Bonney & Co., changed to Bonney
& Bush in 1836, to Bush & Lobdell in 1839,

and after twenty years, in 1859, Mr. Geo. G.

Lobdell became the proprietor. In 1867 the

present company was formed with Mr. Lob-

dell as President
;
N. P. Brennan, Treasurer;

and Wm. W. Lobdell, Secretary. They em-

ploy about 500 men, and the capacity is over

300 car-wheels daily, which are shipped to va-

rious parts of this country and Europe, and

are in use by all the leading railroad compa-

nies, and have become famous for their sound-

ness and durability. At the centennial, the

Company exhibited a set of wheels which had

run under a locomotive tender 250,000 miles,

and others that had been in use from 20 to

25 years, and have now on their premises a

number that have been taken from cars on the

Philadelphia, Wilmington and Baltimore Rail-

road, that have run 200,000 miles.

The other industry auxiliary to car-building is

the manufacture of locomotive and car-springs,

which is conducted by James P. Hayes & Co.,

another of Wilmington’s enterprising and suc-

cessful firms. This business was established

in 1844 by E. J. Homer, Mr. Hayes becoming

its head in 1872. It is located at the foot of

Eighth street. They employ thirty men, and

a thirty horse power steam engine drives their

machinery, which is complete for turning out

the best work. They enjoy a high reputation

among railroad men and car-builders.

The advance in car-building during the past

twenty-five years has been enormous. The
reason for this is clear

;
in 1863 there were

32,470 miles of Railroad in the country
;
in

18S1, 104,813 miles, and 15,000 miles are

under construction in 1882. This and the

greatly increased number of trains over each

road daily, both freight and passenger, will

show the multiplied demand for cars during

the past few years.

J. E. TYGERT AND COMPANY’S STAR
BONE PHOSPHATE WORKS,

S an industry at Smyrna, Del., with

a business office at 42 South Delaware
Avenue, Philadelphia, Pa. It was be-

gun in 1870, by John E. Tygert. on
his farm near Harrington, Del. He used and
sold, the first year, ten tons ot phosphate, but

the following year, removing the business to

the town of Harringto^ he manufactured about

four hundred tons. In 1873, his brother, Her-
man S. Tygert, joined him, and their business

enlarging, they removed in the autumn of the

same year to Smyrna, where they opened an

office, locating their factory on the navi-

gable waters of Duck creek, two miles from

Smyrna. This location is a most eligible one,

being only four miles from the Delaware Bay
and on the line of the Bombay Hook Rail-

road. There they erected a building suit-

able for their needs, but the increase of their

business has required yearly additions till now
they have at that point over 16,000 square feet

under roof. This whole structure contains

400 feet wharfage. In addition to this, they

have, between two and three miles below their

factory, on Duck Creek, a wharf covering one

hundred feet, with a suitable storehouse for the

use of their line of steamers employed in this

interest, and for passenger travel and freight

to Philadelphia. They also have a large ware-

house at Clayton, used exclusively for the stor-

age of their goods. The business was small at

first, but has steadily increased to the present

time.

In 1873, their first year in Smyrna, they only

employed about eight hands and sold about
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500 tons of phosphate : also they obtained

their material, already ground, from Philadel-

phia, in sailing vessels. This method they

found too slow and uncertain, and in 1S75 pur-

chased the steam barge, “ W. C. Pierrepont,"

which they supplied with passenger accom-

modations and run tri-weekly to Philadelphia.

This purchase greatly facilitated their interest,
j

and now requiring a location in that city, they

obtained an office and ware-house at 42 South

Delaware Avenue. During 1875, they manu-

factured and sold about 1,500 tons of phos-

phate. Their steamer ran regularly, and was

soon so crowded with the general freight and i

passenger business that increased facilities

were found indispensable. They accordingly

built, in the spring of 1S79, the fine double-

deck iron steamer, John E. Tygert, of 288 tons

burden, government measurement, which

made its first trip, July 4, 1879. The firm of

J. E. Tygert and Company, in the spring of

1878, introduced into their works machinery for

manufacturing phosphate from the crude ma-

terial. Among that machinery are mills for

breaking and grinding bones, plaster, salt-cake

and all the materials used in their manufactory.

They are thus enabled not only to produce

their phosphate at less expense but can insure

the perfect purity of their goods. They have

five elevators, each forty feet in height, and

two that are shorter. They also have mixers

and all the most improved machinery for

handling and manipulating their material.

During the last season the firm have em -

1

ployed from seventy five to one hundred hands

in the works, on the two steamers and in the

different offices. Besides manufacturing from

the crude material and selling ten thousand

tons of phosphate, they have shipped and sold

large quantities of prepared material to other

manufacturers. They manufacture an article

for early vegetables,one for wheat, another for

corn, and another specially suited for peach

trees. All their phosphates enjoy a high reputa-

tion, and command the best prices in the market.

MARVIL’S BASKET & CRATE FACTORY
-

HE Delaware Fruit-Crate and Basket

Factory was established in the year

1871 by Joshua H. Marvil who is sole

Proprietor and owner. This Factory
J

is located in Laurel, Del., on the south side ofj

Broad Creek, occupying the space of 6000

square feet, ground floor, on which the works

stand. The factory and machinery are worth

about $25,000. From the first year, in which 600

thousand strawberry baskets were made, the

manufacture of two millions baskets, boxes,

and crates, annually, are turned out, as the

result of both skilled labor and improved

machinery. So perfect is the skill employed

that two berry baskets are made in a minute,

and one peach basket in two minutes, and

the capacity of the works is equal to the

making of 35,000 berry baskets per day. For

the safe transportation of fruits and vegetables

Mr. Marvil has obtained six patents, the im-

proved parts of which are made at the factory

in Laurel. He also has invented and patented

two “ Improved Watchman's Time Detectors”

for the protection of his works. The different

kinds and sizes of baskets, boxes, and crates

number about forty, and range from the

capacity of pints to bushels. The baskets are

made with and without lids and handles, so

as to meet any want in the business. T he de-

mand for these wares of Mr. Marvil is such as

to give employment to 40 agents besides sub-

agents and contractors, who dispose of them
in the several States of the Union, from Massa-

chusetts to Texas. To accommodate the trade,

numerous warehouses are already established

in the chief centres of the country, and a

healthy growrth in the trade is everywhere

manifest. These wrares are all cheap and com-
paratively inexpensive, hence their rapid sale

and the constantly growing demand.

THE MILFORD BASKET COMPANY,
MILFORD, DELAWARE.

JANUARY, 1876, Theron H. Camp and
°&1 Charles A. Blair, the present proprietors,

began this business, the firm assuming the^ name of Camp & Blair.

Their purpose was at first simply to manu-
facture fruit packages, as peach baskets, berry

baskets and crates. They rented and occupied

a portion of Mr. Barber’s Mill, and their enter-

prise proving successful, they erected, in the

first of the following year, their present fine

buildingson Front street near the depot. These

are the main mill, which is forty feet front and

runs back fifty-five feet, and the storehouse,
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which is thirty by fifty feet. They manufacture

in a season about a million of strawberry bask-

ets, for which they have all the latest and most

improved machinery. The boxes are made
from the poplar and gum trees. The logs,

after being cut into pieces about two feet in

length, are steamed, and then placed in the

veneer cutter. There a stationary knife feeds

up against the log while it revolves, and

shaves it down to the centre. Over the knife

are spurs which cut into the log and cut the

veneer the right length. On the opposite side

is an impression roller which cuts into the log

the shape of each piece for the basket. The
works are driven by a forty-five horse power
engine. The Company also manufacture

about five thousand berry-crates a year. In

July 1877, they added a Fruit Drying Depart-

ment, and for that purpose introduced The

Alrien Evaporator
,
of which they used two;

and their business increasing, they added two

more in 1879. They now (1882) put up about

sixty thousand pounds of fruit, apples and

peaches, mostly the latter. Their fruit has

the best reputation, and stands high in the

market. The firm is one of the most enter-

prising and successful in the State, and its

standing is first class in every respect.

W. M. ROSS & COMPANY,
SEAFORD, DEL.,

A MPORTERS and Manufacturers of Fer-

C&iiM tilizers and Supplies,—Raw-bone Super-

Phosphate,Acidulated Charleston Rock,

Fish Guano, Sulphate of Potash, Pure

Ground Bone, Sulphuric Acid, Sulphate and

Nirate of Soda, Pure Nova Scotia Plaster, Mu-
riate of Potash, and Pure Dissolved Raw-Bone.

This business was begun in 1873 by Messrs.

Ball and Ross, and it was conducted by this

firm until 1875, when, by the retirement of Mr.

Ball, the firm-name was changed to the present

one. This firm consists of W. H. Ross, W. M.

Ross and E. C. Ross.

At the time of their forming the present

partnership the building was 40 by 60 feet in

dimensions, with the addition of an engine

room not attached to the main building. In

a very short time, owing to increase of business,

the Messrs. Ross enlarged their building to 60

24
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[by 120 feet, besides erecting three storage

j

rooms, covering 10,800 square feet
;
also two

sets of acid chambers, their capacity being 150
leet, one of 100 and one of 50 feet, the build-

ing covering them being 47 by 113 ft.

This firm manufacture or import all their

goods and their business is large and remuner-
ative. In the manufacture of their goods they
employ all the latest improved machinery,
crushers, disintegrating machines for grinding
bone, two sets burr stones for grinding South
Carolina Rock, etc. This extensive machinery
is run by a 40 horse power engine, and the
factory is first-class in every particular. The

i
business of this firm is increasing annually,

j

During the first year of their business they
sold 30 tons of Phosphate, and in 1S79 sold

4,000 tons, and this year, 1SS2, expect to in-

crease their already large sales. This is the

only manufactory of chemicals south of Wil-
mington. It is situated on the Nanticoke River,

and adjoining the Delaware Railroad, and Dor-
chester and Delaware Railroad, and they have

j

a track laid connecting with the main line run-
ning from their factory

;
thus giving them

great facilities for loading and shipping their

goods. They have also large wharves on the

river front, used in shipping their productions

by vessels. The reputation of their goods is

of the highest character, and the members of

the firm enjoy the confidence of their large and
growing trade.

J. PARKE POSTLES’ MOROCCO WORKS,
WILMINGTON,

RE located on 4 th, between Orange and
Tatnall Streets, Nos. 204 to 208, and

r
were erected by Messrs. Baynard &
Postles in 1855 ,

having 4,000 feet under

roof. The structure is of brick with Mansard
roof. In 1857 Mr. Stephen Postles became
sole proprietor, and the business continued

until 1866 when the firm-name was changed
to S. Postles & Sons. In 1877 Mr. Stephen

Postles retired, his son Genl. J. Parke Postles

taking the management. He has conducted

the business to the present time with great

energy and success, increasing the manufacture

from five dozen skins per day in 1866, to

seventy-five dozen at the present time. Gen.
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Postles is prompt, energetic and thorough, con-

ducting the affairs of his large establishment

on the most liberal and honorable principles.

He is a gentleman of culture and integrity and
greatly respected in the community.

CANNED MEATS, FRUIT AND VEGE-
TABLES.

Richardson & Robbins.

N the year 1856, Mr. Alden B. Richard-

% son and Mr. James W. Robbins, of

0 i T’? Dover, Del., commenced the business of

jrj canning Fruit and Vegetables under the

firm-name of Richardson & Robbins. They

were previously engaged in the tin -ware,

stove and furnace business, in the same town.

[See sketch of each partner in this book
. ]

As
early as 1847, Mr. Richardson had experi-

menieu m ^irescrvinsr fruit in aD-tio-Rt cans.o ~ Q >

but he was not satisfied with his success. He
continued his experiments, however, with

more or less encouragement, year after year,

until 1856 when the firm of Richardson & Rob-

bins put their first goods in the market, which

consisted of600 cans. Encouraged by the favor

they had received, the next year their business

amounted to 1800 cans. The third year to

9000 cans. During those years they had used

for their purpose a common cooking-stove, to

prepare their goods for the cans. Feeling

assured they were on the right track, they

built a Heater, which enabled them to increase

their business that year to 20,000 cans, which

found a ready market.

It must be borne in mind that the business

in which they had embarked had already been

established several years, in various cities of

the Union
;
yet the goods put up by them,

marked by their brand of “ R. & R.,” imme-
diately took the lead for superiority with the

dealers and consumers of canned goods. So
far their success had been won after many
severe trials, for difficulties had to be over-

come that could be accomplished only from a

knowledge of the laws that govern the chemi-
cal changes which follow in all fruits and
vegetables after their ripening, and when
packed as an article of food for future use.

Labor saving contrivances had to be in-

vented
;

facilities for producing certain results

in the quickest manner were sought for and
brought to a success

;
and ingenious methods

of preparing the goods had to be discovered
;

all of which they accomplished. The demand
for their products increased much faster than

they could supply them
;
when in 1862 they put

in a 2-horse-power Boiler, by which they were
enabled to increase their business to 40,000
cans. In 1863, only seven years from the

commencement of their undertaking, they
were compelled to purchase a large building,

situate at the junction of State and King
streets, put in an 8-horse-power Boiler, and fit

up the entire building with all appliances and
conveniences necessary for their purposes,

which allowed them to send out that year up-
wards 100,000 cans of fruit and vegetables.

From the first, their determination had been
to put up none but the very best goods to be
obtained, and use the nicest quality of mate-
rial in their preparation Located in the heart
of the peach and fruit-growing districts of

Delaware, they could receive their fruit direct

from the producers, in its perfection,—an
advantage over those packers doing business

in cities.

From time to time, additions had to be made
to their factory, until their entire ground was
covered

;
the 8-horse-power Boiler was re-

moved to give place to one of 90-horse-power,
and their business had reached a point in mag-
nitude far beyond what either partner had ever
imagined. At their commencement, Mr. Rob-
bins had attended to the purchase of all the
fruit and other goods required, while Mr. Rich-
ardson superintended their preparation and
packing, which required an accurate knowledge
of the articles used, and the secret of their

detail, by which the goods had made their

famous reputation in the trade. While rejoic-

ing in their prosperity, after 20 years of suc-

cess, their partnership was suddenly dissolved

by the death of Mr. Robbins, in the Summer
of 1876. It was a great loss to Mr. Richard-
son, as the enterprise and excellent business

capacity of his partner, united with himself,

had earned for the firm a world-wide reputa-

tion for the superiority of their goods. Before

his decease he requested that the firm-name
should never be changed. Mr. Richardson
then took his son, Harry A. Richardson, into

the concern, as partner. At the time, and for
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several years, he had managed their corres-

pondence and financial affairs, besides assist-

ing in any other department that required his

services.

During the year 1876, Mr. Richardson ex-

perimented in the putting up of his Boneless

Cooked Hams, which was received by the

trade and the public with universal favor, and

acknowledged the most important invention

in the history of canned preparations. Their

immediate demand was far greater than the firm

could then supply. The Rolled Ox Tongues

was another original success of Mr. Richard-

son’s
;
and also the whole Boned Turkey and

Chicken ;
the Galantines of Game and Poul-

try
;
Chicken Livers, truffled

;
besides other

canned preparations of the firm, (Ham, Tongue,

Beef, Chicken, Game, &c.,) now accepted as

indispensable articles for the table, in every

household. Their Plum Pudding was another

great “hit,” the demand for which, last Fall,

exceeded thirty tons in weight.

The exhibits of the firm at the late Centen-

nial Exposition, and the award of two Medals,

were the means of creating a foreign demand

for their goods which has already become co-

lossal
;
and the display of their canned goods

at the French Exposition of 1878, received the

commendations of the most distinguished bon

vivants of Paris, and won for Messrs. Richard-

son & Robbins the only Gold Medal awarded

to American exhibitors of canned fruit. And
since then the firm have also been awarded a

Gold Medal by the London Food Exposition

of 18S0.

With their rapidly-increasing business their

large P'actory was found inadequate for their

wants, and in the Spring of 1881 the firm pur-

chased about nine acres of land, a short dis-

tance from their former stand, on which they

erected probably the most perfectly-appointed

Canning Factory now in the world.

FARMERS’ FRUIT PRESERVING COM-
PANY, RISING SUN, DEL.,

• AS organized in 1872, the incorpora-

tors being William H. Ridgaway, James

Green, Thomas Pickering, Absalom

H. Carey, Jacob G. Brown, James

W. Green, John C. Durborough and George

187

H. Gildersleve. The capital stock was

$18,000, and the company was organized

with the following officers: James Green, Presi-

dent
;
Thomas Pickering, Treasurer; G. H.

Gildersleve, Secretary; and Jacob G. Brown,

General Superintendent. They built the same
year their large and commodious works at

Rising Sun, now covering ten thousand square

feet of land, and also built three stores. They
have two Alden Steam Evaporators, each con-

taining three thousand feet of coil pipe. The
Alden Evaporator is said to be the best and

most successful of any used in the state. The
Canning department of the company, for can-

ning fruits and vegetables is complete, and fur-

nished with every modern improvement and

device, and has a capacity of nearly a million

cans a season. They have two steam boilers,

one a sixty and one a forty horse power, and

have a twenty-five horse power engine to run

their works. Their goods are first class in

every particular and are put up principally from

the farms and orchards of the stockholders.

Every where they command the highest market

prices, and are sent to all parts of the United

States and even to Europe. In January, 1876,

William H. Ridgaway was elected President of

the Company, and George H. Gildersleve Gen-

eral Superintendent, which offices they still

hold. Mr. Pickering has been Treasurer from

the time of its incorporation. The success and

prosperity of this industry has been steady

from the first, and no other holds a higher

place in the confidence and esteem of the

business community. It gives employment in

the busy season to about three hundred hands,

and has already become the center of a thriv-

ing little community, the nucleus, no doubt, of

a future town. It is located in a portion of the

state which is unsurpassed for growing fruits

and vegetables, and the shipping facilities are

unequaled. The company also^manufactures

field firtilizers and phosphates for the use of

the stockholders, besides supplying a consider-

able demand in the locality.
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DIAMOND STATE SUPER PHOSPHATE
WORKS.

WkDESSA and Middletown. Victor Lord

(
S anc^ George W. Polk, manufacturers.

UyJ In t

S

78 Mr. Victor Lord commenced

the manufacture of fertilizers at Odessa,

making a specialty of two brands known as

the “Diamond State Super” and “Diamond

State Acid” Phosphates. The business was

carried on in a small way, the product of the

first season amounting to only forty tons.

But his fertilizers pleased the farmers, and he

found it necessary to increase his facilities.

By so doing he was enabled the following

season to turn out six hundred tons. The
next year associating himself with Mr. George

Polk, they took the firm-name of Lord and

Polk, with greatly increased capital and manu-
facturing facilities. One-half mile from

Odessa, on Appoquinimink Creek, they pur-

chased what was known as the “old store-

house property,” and some adjoining land, in

all about eleven acres, where they eiecLed

their new two-storied factory, fifty by seventy-

two feet, and supplied it with all the approved

machinery necessary to the business. Adjoin-

ing the factory they put up a smaller building

for storing the manufactured phosphate. The
machinery is driven by a sufficient horse power,

and one hundred and fifty tons of fertilizers

could, in 1S80, be mixed ready for the drill

every twenty-four hours. The factory has

since been further enlarged, the buildings

doubled in number, and the facilities greatly

increased. In 1881 three thousand tons of the

fertilizers were sold by the firm and it was
with difficulty they could keep ahead of the

demand. Besides the two brands above men-
tioned, they make a Peach Tree Phosphate, a

Sugar Beet Phosphate and a Corn Fertilizer.

The Beet Phosphate has been remarkably suc-

cessful and has surpassed everything of the

kind thus far introduced.

They also prepare a special fertilizer lor

peanuts, for the southern trade, and Truxillo-

Guano, a high grade of goods for truck farms,

and much used further south. They have a

landing where materials can be unloaded di-

rectly from vessels or steamers into the build-

ings, at little expense. This firm has a large

trade among the farmers of their own and ad-

jacent communities, and their phosphates find

a ready market in various sections of the Pen-
insula and in the adjoining counties of Penn-
sylvania. They have an office at Odessa and
one at Middletown, which are connected with
each other and with the factory by a tele-

phone. The factory is under the personal

supervision of Mr. Victor Lord, the senior mem-
ber of the firm, while Mr. Polk looks after the

financial interests. They are young and ener-

getic, and such has been their enterprise and
industry that their success is now fully assured,

and their business has become one of the es-

tablished and leading industries of Odessa.

LAUREL MILLS. ADAMS & CO.,

LAUREL, DEL.

HE Laurel Saw, Planing and Grist

Mills owned by Isaac J. W. Adams and
Co., came into the possession of the

present owners in 1871. At that time

the entire mill property was in a state of niti-

able dilapidation, and the old saw mill and
grist mill have given place to structures

adapted to the business now being done.

The building known as the Saw and Planing
Mills and Stave Manufactory occupies five

thousand seven hundred and sixty-three feet

under roof. The mill is run by water power
alone, and contains planers, circular saws, stave

saws, jointers and headers for the manufacture
of large quantities of staves for nail Kegs,
Kegs for R. R. spikes, bolts, nuts, rivets, etc.

Several car-loads of staves are sold and
shipped each week.

The new Grist Mill, built in 1873, was con-

sumed by fire in March, 1878. This building

was four stories high, had four run of stones,

and cost twelve thousand dollars. It had been
insured to the amount of fifty-five hundred
dollars. The loss above the insurance was
eight thousand dollars.

Mr. Adams soon afterward erected the pres-

ent Mill, whose product is known as Merchant-
flour. This manufactory contains four sets of

stones, stones for middlings, and smut ma-
chines. It is thoroughly fitted for neighbor-

hood and merchant service.

Mr. Adams is a practical miller, having a per-

fect understanding of mill machinery. These
mills are among the largest of Laurel's inter-

ests and industries.
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THE FELTON STEAM SAW MILL.

R. JOHN M. WALDEMAN is the

proprietor of this large mill, built in

1872, on the site of the old Penny-
packer mill, which was burned in 1871.

Mr. Waldeman purchased the site and the

ruins, and erected the present mill. It has a

stationary engine of thirty-five horse power
which drives an upright and also a circular

saw. It is one of the best mills in the State,

and is constantly engaged in manufacturing

ship timber, and sawing frames for buildings.

The average run is 300,000 feet a year,

which is sent to various ship building yards of

the Peninsula, Pennsylvania, New Jersey and

Newr York. Mr. Waldeman’s reputation is

high in the business community, and his works

of great importance to the town of Felton.

His sales amount to nearly ten thousand dol-

lars a year.

SMITH’S MILL AND BASKET WORKS,
LINCOLN, DEL.,

WNED by Thompson R. Smith. He
manufactures Eureka Fruit Carrier,

Peach Baskets, Peach Crates, Berry

Baskets, Berry Crates, and has a Steam

Saw and Planing Mill at Lincoln, Delaware.

This manufactory was built in 1S68 by

Smith and Whitehead
;
afterward Mr. White-

head sold his interest to Mr. William J. Hiscox

in 1871. They continued the business for two

years, when Mr. Smith purchased the whole

interest, and in 1879 came into possession

of the entire business.

The mill was 95 x 30 with an addition of 60 x

30, and was run by steam power. The whole

building, upon which there was no insurance,

was consumed by fire, December 1878; the loss

amounting to about four thousand dollars.

It was rebuilt in 1879 by Mr. Smith, he hav-
j

ing purchased the ground, and remains from

the fire. The dimensions of the new mill are

93 feet long by 30 in width, with a wing

attached 12 x 60, and has about 6,000 feet
j

under roof. It is run by an engine of 30 horse
j

power and is capable of cutting 8,000 feet of

lumber per diem. The machines used by Mr.

Smith are of late invention, including a 24 inch

1 89

j

Surfaceror Planer, a 30 inch re-sawing machine,

!

one 50 inch Circular Saw,a 24 inch Veneer Ma-
chine, two cut-off Circular Saws, and two Rip-
ping Saws. This mill is extensively engaged

jin the manufacture of Mouldings, Flooring, also

j

Peach and Berry Baskets and Crates, &c &c.

Mr. Smith ships large portions of his work
to New York and Philadelphia, and a great

quantity is used in the neighborhood, for

building purposes.

Du PONT’S GUNPOWDER WORKS.
Revisedfrom the “ Great Industries ofthe United States,”

Hartford, 1872.

MKlEUTHERE IRENE Du PONT was

Aww ^le *"oun d er immense Works dis-

cs' tinguished as the “Brandywine Powder
%• Works,” near Wilmington, Delaware.

He was a native of France, and emigrated to

the United States in the tali of 1799, landing
at Newport, Rhode Island, January 1st, 1800.

Having noticed the poor quality of the Gun-
powder then made in America, he resolved to

engage in its manufacture, of which he had a

knowledge, having been a pupil of the cele-

brated French chemist, Lavoisier, who had
charge of the “ Bureau du Poudres et Sal-

I

petres” under the French Government. After

some time spent in selecting a location. Mr.
Du Pont established himself on the Brandy-
wine Creek, about four miles above the town
of Wilmington, in the State of Delaware,
where he prosecuted the business with such
success that, at the time of his decease, at the

United States Hotel in Philadelphia, in 183.4,

his establishment was .he most extensive of

its kind in this country, as it now is in the

world. Since the decease of its founder, the

business has been managed by his sens and
grandsons, who maintain the old firm-style of

E. I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co.

The works of the firm comprise fourteen

complete manufactories,—four on the Brandy-

wine, two in Luzerne County, Pa., seven in

Schuylkill County, Pa., and one in Northum-
berland County, Pa. The original works, on

the Brandywine, commenced operations in

1802, and have a capacity for producing five

thousand pounds of Sporting Powder per day.
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The middle, or Hagley Works, commenced
in 1812, comprise two complete sets of works,

in one enclosure, under a fall of twenty-two

feet—so arranged that both can work on the

same description of powder
;

or, if required,

one set can manufacture one kind of powder,

and the other set another kind; the two com-

bined having a capacity of twenty-five thous-

and pounds of Blasting Powder per day. The
lower works, commenced in 1S36, are under a

fall of twelve feet, and have a capacity of five

thousand pounds of Sporting Powder per day.

The Saltpetre Refinery, with Laboratory at-

tached, is two hundred and fifty-eight feet, by

ninety-six feet, with ample appliances for sup-

plying all the nitre required for the fabrica-

tion of Powder, and also considerable quanti-

ties for the market, for such purposes as re-

quire an article chemically pure. In proxim-

ity to the Refinery are large warehouses for

the storage of saltpetre. The Charring Houses,

for the preparation of charcoal—three in

number—are capable of furnishing all the

coal required for the mills, the wood being

stored and seasoned in extensive buildings

adjacent.

The firm have two shipping points—one on

the river Delaware, with magazines, and a

wharf at which large vessels can lie
; the other

on the Christiana Creek, with ample wharfage

for coasters, and for landing coal, wood, &c.

They have, also, a station and siding for the

works on the Wilmington & Northern Rail

Road, which passes through the property, in-

tersecting the Pennsylvania Rail Road at

Coatesville, and uniting with the Philadelphia

& Reading Rail Road at Birdsboro. A Pass-

enger Railway has been established between

the city of Wilmington and the property of

the Messrs. Du Pont. Attached to the Powder

Works are extensive Machine and Millwright

Shops, where all repairs are made, and most of

the machinery is built
;
also a Saw-mill, Plan-

ing-mill, Carpenter and Blacksmith shops,

and capacious buildings for the manufacture of

wooden and metallic kegs and barrels, and of

powder canisters. Railroad tracks are laid

through the Powder Works, and the bulk of

the transportation of powder, in its various

stages of manufacture, is done in cars drawn

by horses, and the transportation to and from

tide-water and Rail Road Station is done in

wagons by horses and mules, of which the firm

1

1

'

I

I

1

I

have over one hundred at their Delaware and

Pennsylvania Mills.

Besides the Powder-mills, the firm own over

two thousand five hundred acres of land,

that stretch for a distance of three miles on

both sides of the stream
;
and on the property

there are three Woolen-mills, a Cotton-mill, a

Merchants’ and Grist mill, and a population of

nearly four thousand persons. The aggregate

fall of the various water-powers of the firm

on the Brandywine, including two which are

as yet unimproved, is ninety-one feet. The
farms attached to the works are in a high

state of cultivation, and the roads are all

macadamized for ease of transportation. The
buildings on the estate are mostly of stone,

and very substantial, and the machinery is of

the best and most costly character. The
Luzerne County Mills have about seven hun-

dred acres of land on the Big Wapwallopen

Creek, with an aggregate fall of over one

hundred feet, and a capacity for twenty-five

thousand pounds of Blasting Powder per day.

The Pennsylvania Canal, and the Lackaw'anna

& Bloomsburg Rail Road pass through a part

of the property. The Schuykill and Northum-
berland County Mills, situate near the Rail

Road connections of the Philadelphia and

Reading Rail Road, have about nineteen

hundred acres of land, and an aggregate

water-power of one hundred and seventy-five

feet fall
;

Mining Powder for the collieries

being largely made.

The high reputation so long maintained for

the Brandywine Powder is due to the care

bestowed on its manufacture, and to the con-

stant personal supervision of the owners. The
production, (including the Pennsylvania Mills,)

in the year 1 88 r ,
was over 14,500,000 pounds.

The machinery in operation for the manufac-

ture of Gunpowder is driven by fifteen steam-

engines and ninety-three water-wheels, of

which the greater part are Turbines. The
manufacture embraces all descriptions of Pow-
der, viz : Hexagonal, Square, Mammoth, Can-

non, Mortar, Musket, and Rifle, for army and

navy ordnance service
;
Diamond- grain, Eagle,

and the various grades of Canister and Sport-

ing Powders; Shipping, Blasting, Mining, and

Fuse Powders. The production of the mills is

principally consumed in the United States,

the firm having agencies and magazines at all

the most important points, with a principal
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depot for the Pacific States at San Francisco,

and agencies in South America, and in the

East and West Indies.

To illustrate the progress which has been

made in the manufacture of Powder in the

United States, it is only necessary to recall

the fact that during the Crimean war, the

Allies, to enable them to prosecute the siege

of Sebastopol, were obliged to procure large

supplies of Gunpowder in the United States,

(one-half of which was furnished by the

Brandywine Power-mills,) and that the

American Powder compared favorably with

the best they could procure in Europe.

THE DEAN WOOLEN FACTORY, NEW-
ARK, DELAWARE.

HIS industry was founded in 1845, by

„ Mr. Joseph Dean, who bought the grist-

mill then located where the factory

now stands, on White Clay Creek, near

Newark, and converted it into a woolen

mill. He then built a dye-house, warehouse,

and several other houses for the workmen em-

ployed, and his business steadily increasing,

he built in 1853 a mill of 4 stories. In 1847, he

took into partnership his son, William Dean,

Esq., and the firm was known as Joseph Dean

& Son, under which name it continued until

within a recent period. After the death ofMr.

Joseph Dean, a new firm was established by

William Dean and John Pilling, still under the

same name. This firm has carried on business

with wonderful success, having run the mill

night and day, without intermission (except

for a short time at one period) up to the pre-

sent date. The Kiamensi Woolen Company
has also been under the entire management of

these two gentlemen for many years. During

the war large contracts were allotted to the

firm by the government which were filled with

fidelity. This establishment has been of

great value to the town and its vicinity,

furnishing steady employment and prompt

pay to a large number, and livelihood, com-

fort and, in some instances, actual wealth,

to the employees. During the time the mill

has been in operation, wages to the amount

of a million and' a half of dollars have been

paid. In the latter part of 1881 the firm de-

1

cided to increase their working facilities and

capacity, and a joint stock company was or-

ganized with a capital of $200,000, at $50 per

share of stock.' The object was doubling the

present capacity, putting up new build-

ings and introducing the latest and most im-

proved machinery. The capital stock was
soon all taken, and with characteristic energy

Mr. Dean and Mr. Pilling went to work to

make the necessary changes and additions

required under the new organization. When
all are finished there will be required almost

double the present number of employees, and

it is expected that a saving on the cost of the

manufacture of the goods will be secured

equal to the interest on $100,000 of capital.

There will also be a saving in the more effec-

tual use of the water power of from $1,000 to

$2,000 per annum. The Corporation went
into active operation July 28th, 1882, by the

election of John Pilling, Esq., as President,

and William Dean as Secretary and Treasurer.

The Board of Directors are, John Pilling, Au-
gustus Thomas, Andrew J. Hassenger, Joseph

Dean, Jr., and William Dean. The capital

stock is all paid up, and it is expected that

all will be completed and the new machinery

in operation in October, 1882. Mr. Dean is

also building nine three-story brick houses for

the new employees. He has had an act of

incorporation granted by the Court to the New-
ark Brick Manufacturing Company, of which
he is the principal stockholder. This was
called into existence in April, 1882, by the

needs of the Dean Woolen Company, and is

now in full operation
;
a half million of brick

having been made, all of which have been
used to supply the home demand. Joseph E.

Johnson is President and Manager of the

Company, William Dean is Secretary, and J.

C. Johnson, William Dean, Joseph Dean and
William K. Dean comprise the Board of Man-
agers.

SMALL’S SAW MILL AND FACTORIES,
LINCOLN, DEL., ^

¥

AS inaugurated in 1872, and is run by
a 2 5 h°rse Povver engine. It cuts ship-

- timber and house lumber, and man-
ufactures flooring, peach baskets, crates

and packing boxes for canned goods. It has
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machines for flooring boards, planing, mould-

ing, steaming and cutting veneers for peach

and strawberry baskets and is also a mill for

grinding feed.

A. S. Small & Son, Packers “ Lincoln
Brand.”

This industry was begun in 1874, by a com-

pany known as the Lincoln Canning Com-
pany. It was merged into its present name in

1879. The goods prepared here have a high

reputation, and consist of Peaches, Corn,

Tomatoes, Whortle and Blackberries, Aspargus

and Pumpkins. The first year there was put

up 50,000 of canned fruits, and since 1879 has

increased to more than 400,000 in canned goods

annually.

A. S. Small & Son—Evaporator.

There are more evaporators in this part of

Delaware than in any other part of the LInited

States. It has been claimed that this process

has paid the fruit grower, year by year, 33 per

cent, more than he could obtain hv shipping

his fruit. The Evaporator Building has in it

what is known as the Pacific Evaporator and

turns out immense quantities per diem, finding

a ready market for its products. The Packing

House of A. S. Small and Son has 5688 feet

under roof
;
a 60 horse-power boiler is used

;

they manufacture their own cans, and in order

to have the best solder, manufacture it them-
selves, of the best quality. Immense cellars are

under their large buildings for storing peach
and other evaporated and canned goods.

THE HOUSTON CANNERY.

D. Scott & Company, Proprietors,

II'if
AS organized and put into opera-

tion in 1879. The buildings were

erected that year, and in them were

put machinery of the latest and most

improved kinds. They did a good business

the first year, putting up over one hundred

thousand cans of small fruit and, also, a large

quantity of peaches and fifty thousand cans of

tomatoes. In 1880 they put up overone hundred

thousand cans of small fruit and two hundred

thousand cans of tomatoes. Their goods are

all first class and stand high in the market.

DELAWARE.

BARKLEY’S STEAM BAKERY,
WILMINGTON, DEL.

GGO
MJaRKLEY, J. and Brother, Steam Cake

and Cracker Bakery and Candy Works,

Wilmington, was established at Sixth

Cg and Spruce Streets, in 1868 by James

and Samuel Barkley, the present proprietors.

The present imposing and commodious struc-

ture, three stories high, and 32 x 56 feet area,

was erected by them in 1875. Improvements

in machinery have also been constantly added,

till it is now unsurpassed in convenience and

facilities for the business to which it is devoted.

They have a twenty-five horse power boiler

and a fifteen horse power engine which drives

all the machinery throughout their works.

Their Exton Trenton Cracker Machine, capa-

ble of converting eight barrels of flour a day

into crackers, is the only one in the State, and

they have a McCallum Cutting Machine, for

Soda and Oyster Crackers, Knick-knacks,

Ginger Nuts, and all articles in that line.

To this they have added two Steam Basins,

a Steam Stirrer for Cocoanut Work, capable

of working up in a day six hundred pounds of

that confection, a Steam Cocoanut Grater, a

Strip Cutter and a Candy-Toy machine. The
three last were exhibited at the Centennial by
Thomas Mills & Brother, and are said to be the

best machines ever made. They combine all

the latest improvements. The Toy-Candy
machine is capable of turning out one thousand

pounds of toy candy a day. They have, also,

many other machines and contrivances for the

manufacture of the various kinds of confections

which they produce in endless variety. Their

Steam Hoisting Machine hoists from the street

to the several stories of the building.

The Messrs. Barkley confine themselves,

mainly, to the wholesale business, and on them
the trade down the Peninsula,chiefly depends, as

also Chester and Delaware counties, Pa. They
keep three two-horse wagons,and two one-horse

wagons constantly running,to supply those por-

tions of the country which cannot be reached by

railroad, besides shipping large quantities of

their manufactures to various other points.

Their stables are first-class brick buildings

and are reached from French street between

Third and Fourth streets. The business of the

Barkley Brothers continues steadily to increase

and is daily growing in favor with the trade.
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CHAMBERS’ HERMETICALLY SEALED
GOODS, DOVER, DEL.

0 X ? HIS Industry was established in 1871

1 by Joseph M. Chambers, of whom a

biographical account will be found in

(Vp this work. His success was very

marked from the first, and his goods obtained

a wide-spread popularity in a surprisingly brief

space of time. The following year, in 1872,

he was shipping them to Europe, and the year

succeeding that, 1873, they were exhibited at

the Exposition in Vienna, Austria, where they

were awarded a gold medal for their superior

excellence. Very ingenious in contriving

ways and means to accomplish his objects,

and very thorough in all that he undertakes,

Mr. Chambers has devoted himself to his

business, and has succeeded in the art of put-

ting up and preserving fruits, meats, vege-

tables, etc., in as perfect a manner as it seems

possible, yet every year he brings out some-

thing new, and pleases and surprises his cus-

tomers with some improvement in his line

that no one would have thought of but himself.

At the Centennial in 1876 his exhibit of

canned goods was pronounced the handsomest

there, and they received the highest premium,

and medal for superior quality and excellence.

Among them was a glass jar of whole Bartlett

pears, packed by Mrs. Chambers, in 1872, and

which, with others, was shipped the same year

to a customer in Hamburg, Germany, and the

year following, in 1873, one of the jars was

exhibited at Vienna, and to which was awarded

the premium of a gold medal. This particular

jar was shipped back to this country by re-

quest of Mr. Chambers, to be exhibited in his

collection at the Centennial, where it was

again among those that received the highest

award. It is now in his office and is in as per-

fect condition as when it was packed and

shipped to Hamburg, ten years ago. A firm

in Charleston, South Carolina, wrote to Mr.

Chambers under date of December 23rd, 1880 :

"We are pleased to announce to you that we
have had awarded to us, for ‘Chambers’

Canned Peaches,’ a silver medal, highest

prize over all competitors, at our late fair

here.” All his specialties are original with

Mr. Chambers, such as “ Peaches for Cream,”

"Wine Sauce for Plum Pudding,” "Panned
Oysters,” etc. He expects the present season
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to bring out other new articles of manufacture,
for which, judging by the reception of those
above named, there is every reason to expect
an unlimited demand. He has also invented
and had constructed, intricate machines for

preparing various articles, which does the
work that would otherwise require from fifty

to seventy-five persons to do by hand. These
machines and the specialties he has manufact-
ured, as well as those in contemplation, will

be patented and copyrighted. Being desirous

of enlarging the business as the increasing

demand for his goods required, he was granted
a charter from the State Legislature in 1881,

and is now about to merge into the Corpora-
tion under the corporate title of The "J. M.
Chambers Packing Company.” These goods
cannot be too highly praised

;
they must be

tasted to be appreciated,and the beauty of their

appearance is also a feast to the eye. They
are well known and received with the highest

favor in every part of the United States and
throughout Europe, and also in nearly all

ulhci countries, including China. Java and
Egypt.

HUXFORD AND COMPANY’S VENEER,
BOX AND BASKET FACTORY,

FRANKFORD, DEL.

N 1877, Mr. Charles H. Treat came to

„ ^ Delaware and leased in the above

place the Gum Steam Mill, which he

stocked with the most approved ma-
chinery for making a patent ventilated produce

barrel, and which he ran successfully for 18

months. But very soon after coming, the

native woods of the State, the sweet Gum, the

Holly, the Laurel, the Maple, etc., attracted

his attention as remarkably adapted for the

making of veneer boxes
;
especially the Sweet

Gum, a wood entirely unknown to northern

manufacture, and which had previously never

been profitable for any purpose. He made
numerous experiments which all proved suc-

cessful, and soon decided to engage in his

present business. Associating with himself

Messrs. James M. and Norman B. Huxford,

under the firm-name of Huxford and Company,

the foundation of the factory was laid in Feb-

ruary 1878. Within five weeks after breaking
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ground the main Basket Factory building was
j

constructed, furnished with steam works and !

I

machinery, and in successful operation. Two
|

other large and strong buildings were added
i

the following autumn, one being a saw and

planing mill, and the other used as a box fac-

tory, and equipped with the latest inventions

of small wood- working machinery. In De-
1

cember they began the manufacture of Veneer
j

boxes and plates for grocers’ use, known as
!

Butter and Lard dishes, which articles have 1

now become almost as universally used and as

indispensable as the paper bag. This factory

turns out more of these than all other estab-

lishments in the United States. In the spring

of 1880 the company engaged with the Smith
|

and Stevens Manufacturing Company, New
York, to make, exclusively for them, a patent

single and three-ply wooden plaque made from

their veneer
;
the first being for grocers’ and

bakers’ use, and the three-ply—made of the

rarest selected woods, the black walnut, holly,

bird-eve maple and ash, all finished and polished

to the highest artistic point— are used exclu-
j

sively for artistic purposes. They possess

great strength and are in high favor with

amateur and professional artists, and have

given an impetus to art -culture super-

seding to a. considerable extent the rage

for pottery and porcelain. The demand for

these goods has largely exceeded the supply.

They are eagerly sought for, not only in

America, but large and repeated orders come
from Italy and Germany, as well as France and

England. The plaques are made of different

sizes, from six and a half to ten inches in dia-

meter, and one should visit the sales-room of

the Company at 176 Fulton street, N. Y. to

see the variety of artistic uses to which they

are adapted. The factory buildings cover ten

thousand square feet under cover and are of

the strongest and most substantial character.

They have a sixty horse-power engine and

three boilers with one hundred and twenty-

five horse-power capacity. They have one

hundred and twenty machines besides their

two large veneer machines, and all their equip-

ments are most complete, and do exquisite

work. Besides their berry baskets, attaining a

product of three-quarters of a million yearly,

and their peach and grape baskets, they make
'

immense quantities of splints, used for fancy
j

and ornamental purposes and cigar lighters,
j

They have on their pay roll in the busy season

as high as one hundred and thirty operators.

Their veneer boxes, in cheapness, beauty,

strength and durability, far exceed the paste

board box so universal in all departments of

commerce and business, and can be made in

all sizes from the tiny jewelers case to the

largest box. They can also be made most

beautifully of fancy woods and highly polished.

To enable them to fill their orders the com-

pany will soon commence manufacturing on a

larger scale. This factory is an important in-

dustry in the town, affording constant busi-

ness and employment to many people, and is

also important to the State, giving impulse to

business in many directions, and drawing at-

tention to-this Peninsula from all parts of the

world. The proprietors contemplate soon add-

ing a reading room and library for the use of

the operators. In the summer of 1882 C. H.

Treat & Co. purchased the Fruit Packing and

Evaporating Establishment, at Georgetown,

which it is operating with success as a Plaque,

Basket and Venering Factory.

THE DIAMOND CROWN PHOSPHATE
WORKS, SMYRNA, DEL.

HIS industry was established in 1878

by A. Lee Cummins, the present

proprietor. The works were first

started in the fall of that year at

Smyrna Landing, one and one half miles from

the town of Smyrna, by Mr. C. erecting a small

building, twenty by forty feet, and commenc-
ing the manufacture of super-phosphate, of

which in the first season he sold one hundred

and twenty tons. In the summer of 1879 he

erected buildings at Clayton, near the Rail-

road depot, and his sales in the autumn
amounted to six hundred and twenty tons.

The fact of this great increase in the demand,
amounting to five hundred tons more in one

year, fully attests the great popularity, so

quickly attained, of The Diamond Crown
Phosphates, and their immense value to the

agricultural community". The Diamond Crown
Phosphate works manufacture two kinds of fer-

tilizers, viz: “The Diamond Crown Super-

phosphate for wheat,” and “The Diamond
Crown Nitro-Phosphate for corn the former

containing ingredients which have proved the
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best food for wheat, and the latter, besides food

for corn, containing elements which retain the

moisture of the ground even through the se-

verest droughts. In every place in which these

fertilizers have been used, they have produced

excellent results, and their popularity has be-

come established. They are made of only

first-class materials and are standard in the

market, the demand for them being lar^e and

constantly increasing.

ADAMS & BROTHER, VARIETY STORE,
WILMINGTON.

R. JOSEPH K. ADAMS, in 1858

came to Wilmington and entered, as

Clerk, the Variety Store, 506 Market

Street, in which also his brother,

William B. Adams, became a Clerk in i860.

An account of both these gentlemen will be

found in our biographical department. Steady,

upright and industrious, they applied them-

selves diligently to master all the details of

the business, and by their prudence and

economy were enabled, in September 1S66, to

purchase of their employer the fixtures of the

store for $700. With this as a capital they

continued the business in their own name.

Their upward progress was steady and sure,

and in time needing greater room to accom-

modate their increasing tr. de, they purchased

the adjoining building, four stories in height

and twenty-four feet wide, by one hundred

and seventeen feet deep. This they re-

modeled, and have made of it now the largest

wholesale and retail Variety Store in Dela-

ware. The first floor, which is lighted by three

skylights, seven by ten feet, making it the

lightest store in the city, is used for dry-

goods, floor and table coverings, and almost

every kind of articles for household use too

varied and numerous to mention; while

the second story is equally crowded with

every variety of foreign and domestic toys,

besides children’s carriages, etc., etc. The
proprietors claim that any kind of toy

known can here be found. Every child in

Wilmington knows the place
;

it is the very

first place outside of home that they learn to

talk about, and its wonders are a subject of daily

rehearsal in the ears of parents and friends.

j

Adams & Brother are the acknowledged
! leaders of the toy trade in Delaware. They

j

do a large jobbing trade in this and every line

j

of their goods. The second story is reached

by a large closed stairway, about seventy-five

feet back from the main entrance. The base-

ment, w’hich runs the entire length of the

building, is of great use in such an establish-

ment as a place for general storage, and for

lamp chimnies. Mr. Joseph K.Adams attends

to the finances, while his brother devotes him-

self to the general management of the busi-

ness,which, together, they have made a grand
success. Their fine place of business, costing

about $23,000, is all paid for, they owe no one,

and are always ready and willing to meet all

their obligations.

THE WILMINGTON DENTAL MANU-
FACTURING COMPANY.

BOUT fifteen years ago this industry

<7*-V was originated by Dr. E. Shelp, and

vvas located on the corner of Ninth and

<2> Market streets. It passed into the

hands of Dr. Tantum, who had his factory at

No. 10 Girard street, and conducted it alone

till 1870, when Dr. J. F. Frantz became his

partner. The growth of the business was

from that time very rapid, and the capacity of

the building was twice enlarged, and a third

story added,

of the w'orld.

building

The work was sent to all parts

In 1881 they erected their large

on King street above Tenth and

opposite the Court Flouse.

In January 1S82 Dr. Tantum disposed of his

interest to H. C. Robinson and S. J. Willey,

and the Company was incorporated by charter

under the title at the head of this notice.

They have all the needed machinery and

appliances, and have greatly increased their

business, which is the third largest of its kind

in the country. It is carried on with great

enterprise and success, giving employment to

nearly sixty hands, and has a capacity of

manufacturing two million artificial teeth a

year. This business is yet in its infancy but

is destined to be one of the important indus-

tries of the city.
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JOHN A. WILSON'S AGRICULTURAL
WAREHOUSE, WILMINGTON, DEL.

(( N all acres of the world the human
family has chiefly depended for its

maintenance upon the cultivation of

the soil
;
and no department of indus-

try has made greater advancement, or been

the recipient of larger benefits from the inven-

tive genius of the age than agriculture. Men
are still living who can remember when the

harvests were gathered with the primitive

sickle, and the only plows, hoes and forks in

use were made at the neighboring blacksmith

shop. No wonder this slow, laborious and

clumsy system required almost the entire

laboring force of the population to produce

the necessary supply of bread. The revolution

that has been effected in the methods of tilling

the soil can hardly be conceived till one goes

through a first class establishment like that of

Mr. John A. Wilson, in Wilmington. There

he will find the evidences of improvement in

every step and process of agriculture, from

the preparation of the soil to the final disposi-

tion of the crop.

This house is the oldest of its kind in the

city, having been established by S. and M.
Pennock in 1850. After undergoing several

changes it was purchased October 7th, 1867,by
John A. Wilson and Howard P. Walton; being

conducted under the firm-name of Wilson and

Walton till 1872, since which date Mr. Wilson

has been the sole proprietor. Under his able

and enterprising management the business has

greatly increased till it extends not only over

the state of Delaware and the Peninsula, but

also into Maryland and Pennsylvania.

His stock is so full and complete that every

farmer in the range of his trade can find there

whatever he desires, and of the latest and

most desirable improvements. To enumerate
all his articles, embracing engines, machines,

implements and tools for farm use would re-

quire space far beyond our limits
;
but for the

interest of the present and the curiosity of th e

future we will mention a few of the more prom-
inent. Westinghouse’s steam threshers and
cleaners have been sold by this house for

twenty-five years and still holds the- first rank-

They also sell the Westinghouse agricultural

steam engine, invented by the same family

whose Air Brake for railroad cars has come

into general use. They sell the Syracuse

Chilled plow in immense numbers
;

the Iron

Age cultivator
;
the Keystone corn planter;

Buckeye Riding or Walking cultivator;

Wheeler No. 6, mower and reaper, combined
;

Osborne’s self-binding harvester
;

Osborne’s

single reaper, also his single mowers, front or

rear cut; Tiger hay rake; Bullard’s hay tedder;

new Buckeye lawn mower; Faust’s hay loader;

Pennock’s double harpoon horse hay forks
;
the

Van Wickle grain fans
;
Buckeye iron turbine

wind engine
; the Buckeye force feed grain

drill with fertilizer attachment
;
the Pennock

corn-sheller
;
the Silver and Denning feed cut-

ter
;

the Buckeye force pump
;

besides the

best farm wagons, tools and agricultural hard-

ware of all descriptions, and seeds of all kinds

required in this latitude. He also manufactures

John A. Wilson’s Delaware Super-Phosphate,
a standard fertilizer of which he sells several

hundred tons annually. Mr. Wilson has two
large warehouses, one at Front and Market,
;mrl the other at Tatnall and Front Streets.

He keeps traveling salesmen constantly em-
ployed, and his personal popularity and well-

known character for fair and liberal dealing

have secured for him an extensive trade and
deserved prosperity.

JOSEPH BANCROFT & SON’S COTTON
MILLS AND BLEACHING WORKS,

RE located on the west side of the

Brandywine, about one and one half

miles north of Wilmington. They date

1(9 from 1831, when Joseph Bancroft pur-

chased the water-power, and land adjacent,

of the Rockford Manufacturing Company.
There was at that time an old building which
had been used first as a grist-mill and after-

ward as a machine-shop. In this building

Mr. Bancroft commenced the manufacture of

cotton goods in a small way.

In 1848 he made an addition to the building

and put in a number of improvements.

The works were several times enlarged, and
in i860 he added Bleaching and Dyeing to

that of manufacturing. In 1865 he took into

partnership his two sons, William P. and
Samuel, and the firm-name became Joseph
Bancroft & Sons.
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The works were greatly extended in 1874-5.

Joseph Bancroft died in 1874, but the business

has been continued under the name of Joseph

Bancroft & Sons. It has enjoyed great pros-

perity, and has in operation 5600 spindles, and

a capacity of Bleaching and Dyeing 50 tons of

cloth a week, equal to from 500,000 to 600,000

yards. A large part of the cloth is bleached

for window-shades.

Their buildings are of the most substantial

character being mostly of granite, which they

have in abundance on their own property.

Besides their water-power which is about 350

horse-power, they have steam engines aggre-

gating 200 horse power.

They reside on the high banks of the

Brandywine near the Works, and their neat

cottages for their workmen and mill hands

constitute a considerable village, which is

known by the name of “Bancroft’s Banks.” The
proprietors have the respect and confidence

of the community. In conversation with the

foreman of one department of their works, he

remarked, “ I have been with them nearly

thirty years, and have never yet heard an

unpleasant word from either of them
;
better

men to work for I never knew.”

PUBLIC OFFICERS IN DELAWARE.
United States Senators.—Eli Saulsbury,

term expires 1883 ;
Thomas F. Bayard, term

expires 1887. United States Representative,

Edward L. Martin.

U. S. Circuit Court.—Associate Justice of

the Supreme Court and Justice of the Circuit.

Court.—Joseph P. Bradley. Circuit Judge.

—

William McLennan. District Judge.—Edward
G. Bradford. Clerk.—S. Rodmond Smith.

Court room in the Custom House, Sixth and

King streets, Wilmington. Terms commence
on the third Tuesday in June and October.

U. S. District Court.—Judge.—Edward
G. Bradford. Clerk.— S. Rodmond Smith.

Crier.—John R. Gallaher. District Attorney.

—John C. Patterson. U. S. Marshal.—H. H.

McMullen. Courtroom in the Custom House,

Sixth and King streets, Wilmington. Terms
commence the second Tuesday in January,

April, June, and September.

U. S. Customs.—Collector of the Port of

Wilmington.—Lewis Thompson. Deputy Col-

; lectors.—J. B. Clarkson, Wilmington
;
John C.

Higgins, Delaware City. Inspectors.—Benja-

min T. Bye. Wilmington
;
W. W. Hoopes,

New Castle
;

N. H.' Brown, Seaford
;

H. R.

Burton, Lewes.
U. S. Internal Revenue.—Collector.—J.

Mclntire
;

office, No. 9 E. Fifth street, Wil-

mington. Chief Deputy Collector and Cashier.

—CM. Leitch. Clerk.—J. P. Belville, Wil-

mington. Deputy Collectors.—I. Leonard

Adkins, Wilmington, New Castle and Kent

counties
;
James F. Anderson, Milford, Sussex

county.

DELAWARE STATE GOVERNMENT.
Governor.—John W. Hall, Frederica. Sec-

retary of State.—James L. Wolcott, Dover.

Treasurer.:—R. J. Reynolds, Petersburg. Audi-

tor.—James F. Staats, New Castle. Librarian.

—R. R. Kenney, Dover. Chancellor.—Willard

Saulsbury, Dover. Chief Justice.—Joseph P.

Comegys, Dover. Associate Justices.—John

W. Houston, Dover
;
Edward Wooten, George-

town : Leonard PL Wales, Wilmington. At-

torney-General—Deorge Gray, Wilmington.

Deputy Attorney-General.—Alexander B.

Cooper, New Castle. Insurance Commissioner.

—John R. McFee, Georgetown. Superintend-

ent of Schools.—James H. Groves, Smyrna.

—

Assistant Superintendent.—H. C. Carpenter,

Lewes.

COUNTY OFFICERS.
New Castle County.—County Treasurer.

—William Herbert. Sheriff.—Philip R. Clark.

Deputy Sheriff.—George Clark. Coroner.

—

Rayworth Weldin. Prothonotary.—George A.

Maxwell. Recorder of Deeds.—Thomas Hol-

comb. Register in Chancery and Clerk of

Orphans’ Court.—Jas. M. Houseman. Register,

of Wills.—S. C. Biggs. Clerk of the Peace.

—

E. R. Cochran. Jail Commissioners.—Israel

H. Fols, Robert Sutton, vacancy. Jail Physi-

cian.—John J. Black Levy Court Commis-

sioners.—Wm. R Bright, (chairman), Amos
Sharpless, L. Frank Ellison, Henry C. Mahaffy,

Samuel Silver, Christian Febiger, Wm. A.

Morrison, Wm. Polk, Wm. L. Wier, Jas. T.

Taylor, Henry H. Wells. Trustees of the Poor.

—Thos. G Bird, chairman
;
W. F. Lane,

treasurer
; J. W. Cooch, clerk. Trustees.—C.

Hill Brinton, S. Springer, M. Lackey, J. W.
Cooch, H. D. Hickman, D. P'arra, J. P. Arm-
strong, G. L. Jemison, Columbus Watkins,

S. A. Armstrong, James PI. Ray, Thomas G.
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Bird. Attorney.—Walter Cummins. Superin-

tendent of Alms House.—M. Barlow.—Physi-

cians,—Drs. Ploward O. Ogle and Willard

Springer. Matron.—Mrs. Annie D. Barlow.

Matron Insane Department.—Mrs. R. Emer-

son. Superintendent Small-pox Hospital.

—

Charles C. Fisher.

Kent County —Levy Court Commission-

ers.—David S. Wilds, (President,) John Farrell,

Peter E. Lowber, Geo. N. Collins, Daniel V.

Hutchins, Jos. S. Burchenal, Peter K. Mere-

dith, John P. Curtis, Silas T. Jenkins. Trustees

of the Poor.—John N. Fenimore, (Treasurer,)

Wm. M. Jones, Chas. M. Wharton, Abner Dill,

John C. Stockley, Martin R. Ford, Wm. H.

Harrington, Joshua Bennett, Peter K. Meredith.

Sheriff.—Thomas T. Lacy. Deputy Sheriff—
John Reynolds. Coroner.—J. W. Jackson.

County Treasurer.—David Rees. Prothonotary.

Joseph Burchenal. Recorder of Deeds.—John

C. Gooden. Register in Chancery and Clerk

of Orphans’ Court.—Henry Todd. Register of

Wills Tohn G Ppnrtpwili Gl^rU nf t'np ppacP
J

— Robert Raughley. Jail Commissioners.—A-

J. Wilson, Robert B. Jump, James L. Smith.

Jail Physician.—L. H. Bishop. Superintend-

ent of Alms Plouse.—Eli Layton.

Sussex County.—Levy Court Commis-
sioners.—Geo. H. Draper, (President,) John J.

Morris, Wm. P. Thompson, Joseph B. Lingo,

Joshua J. Derrickson, Wm. E. Davis, Nathaniel

H. Watson, Edward Owens, James T. O. Day,

Nathan J. Barwick, Wm. T. Moore, Samuel

Bacon, Elijah Hudson. Trustees of the Poor.—

Thomas Dukes, President
;
Nehemiah M. Stay-

ton, Clerk
;
Isaac Connaway, Treasurer. Trus-

tees.—Marshall Smith, Joseph Waples, Hosea

Dawson, Edward Burton, James H. Willey,

Robert B. Robinson, John E. Hazzard, An-
drew J. Holland, Zachariah Deputy, Ezekiel

Timmons, Jacob W. Cannon. Physician.

—

Charles H. Richards. Overseer.—John Stock-

ley. Sheriff.—Samuel J. Martin. Deputy

Sheriff. Levin T. Saulsbury. Coroner.

—

George W. Hatfield. County Treasurer.

—

Cyrus J. Wood. Prothonotary.—Joseph T.

Adams. Recorder of Deeds.—W. H. Boyce.

Register in Chancery and Clerk of Orphans’

Court.— Philip C. Penuel. Register of Wills.

—

William A. Polk. Clerk of the Peace.—Wil-

liam B. Tomlinson. Jail Commissioners.—Jos.

T. Adams, Kendal B. Wingate, James Jones.

Jail Physician.—Joseph B. Waples.

DELAWARE.

CENSUS STATISTICS.

Area in square miles.

New Castle ..... 43°

Kent 630

Sussex 900

Total 196°

POPULATION IN I S80 BY COUNTIES AND HUN-

DREDS.

New Castle County.

Appoquinimink Hd 2,351

Blackbird Hd 1,778

Brandywine Hd 3-549

Christiana Hd 6,149

Mill Creek Hd 3,474

New Castle’ Hd 5,268

Pencader Hd 2
> 35°

Red Lion Hd 2,480

St. George's Hd 5-°73

White Clay Creek Hd 2,775

Wilmington Hd 42,496

Total 77.749

.

Kent County.

Dover Hd 7>594

Duck Creek Hd 4 -
24 [

Kenton Hd 2,817

Little Creek Hd 1,878

Milford Hd 3 -429

Mispillion Hd 4,334

North Murderkill Hd . 4,078

South Murderkill Hd. 4,5°6

Total 3 2 ,877

•Sussex County.

Baltimore Hd 3,752

Broad Creek Hd 2,772

Broadkiln Hd 2,677

Cedar Creek Hd 4,198

Dagsborough Hd 3 >° 2 I

Georgetown Hd 2,273

Gumborough Hd 1
, 5 11

Indian River Hd 1,813

Lewes and Rehoboth Hd 3,103

Little Creek Hd 3-457

Nanticoke Hd 2,100

NorthWest Fork Hd 2,193

Seaford Hd 3, 161

Total, 36,031
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WILMINGTON
T;,

S situated above the junction of the

Christiana and Brandywine, and three

miles from the waters of the Delaware

Bay. The eastern portion of the city

now occupies the ground on which the early

Swedish colonists erected their first village

west of Fort Christina, and called it Chris-

tinaham. West from Christinaham, Thomas
Willing laid out streets at right angles, with a

view to the erection of a town. From him it

came to be called Willing Town and in 1735

when William Shipley removed from Ridley,

Pa., with his wife Elizabeth Shipley, it con-

tained about twenty houses. To Mr. Shipley

it was indebted for rapid growth until, in 1739,

the inhabitants asked for a town charter of

Governor Penn. The first ordinance passed

by the authorities was dated March 31st, 1740.

It had a Chief Burgess and High Constable,

and Town Clerk, and was known as the

Borough of Wilmington. It contained 2,500

inhabitants in 1793. The City Hall was erected

in 1798. In 1832 a charter constituting Wil-

mington a city, was obtained from the Legis-

lature; and ship-builders, iron and paper manu-

facturers began to multiply. Its population

now (1882) is probably 47,000 for the city pro-

per, and for the suburbs 5,000 making 52,000

in all.

The capital employed in the various manu-

factures may be put at fifteen millions of dol-

lars, and the value of articles manufactured,

annually, at twenty-five millions, distributed

as follows :

A rticles Manufactured. Value.

Powder and chemicals $1,200,000

Paper 1,400,000

Cotton goods 1,100,000

Railroad cars, 1,900,000

Iron ships 1,200,000

Machine work, 2,300,000

Morocco, 2,100,000

Carriages, 1,400,000

Flour, corn meal, &c., 1,200,000

Leather, other than morocco, 300,000

Iron 1,700,000

Foundry work and car wheels, 1,600,000

Tobacco, snuff, spices and parlor

matches, 900,000

Sash, blinds, &c., ' 300,000

Bricks, 300,000

Boots and shoes, 150,000

Barrels, cooperage, &c., 150,000

Fertilizers, 550,000

Miscellaneous, (not above enum-
erated,) 5,250,000

$25,000,000

The enumeration of the various articles

manufactured gives an idea of what the indus-

tries are which employ the 52,000 people

residing in the city and suburbs.

In 1880 the city of Wilmington became the

seat of Justice for New Castle County, being

removed from New Castle by the action of the

proper authorities. New Castle which had so

long been the Shiretown of New Castle

County obtained its present name on the con-

quest of the Delaware Colony by the English

in 1664.

Before this it was called New Amstel by
the Dutch who founded it, and the point of

land on which it was located had been called

by the Swedes Sandhuken. It is now a city

and is the only one beside Wiimingion in the

State of Delaware.

The County Court house at Tenth and
Market sts. Wilmington, completed in 18S0 is

a commodious and beautiful stone structure

costing $130,000, an ornament to the city and

an honor to the County.

A new depot at Front and King streets just

completed by the Philadelphia, Wilmington
and Baltimore Railroad Company, affords evi-

dence of the liberal provision made by that

Company for the comfort of passengers and

the transaction of its large and growing busi-

ness.

Among the attractive edifices of the city,

the Opera House, and the Clayton Hotel are

objects of deserved notice. Private residences,

evincing enlightened taste and architectural

beauty, abound in the western portion of the

city; among which is to be noted that of

William Bush, known as “ Greystone,” a beau-

tiful steel plate engraving of which is in this

volume.

The Soldiers and Sailors’ Monument, stand-

ing at Delaware Avenue and Broome streets,

speaks favorably of the patriotism of the citi-

zens of Wilmington and the State.

To Eli Crozier, an aged and patriotic citizen

of Wilmington, it now stands a monument of

his unselfish devotion to secure payments for
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its erection, and when he dies it should do

honor to his life by an inscription which

should link his name in deathless memory
with the heroes whose fame it perpetuates.

DOVER, THE STATE CAPITAL.

HE Capital of the State of Delaware

and seat of Justice of Kent County,

was so called from the “ Dover river

a name given by the earlier settlers of

the colony in that part of the State. The

later settlers are supposed to have come from

the County of Kent, England, and given the

name Kent to the County, and Dover to

the Creek, which before that time had been

called St. Jones’ County. Byorderofthe Court,

Wm. Clark, county surveyor, laid out the town

of “Dover" in 1682. A warrant for 1200 acres

of land was given byWm. Penn, 1683, and giv-

ing authority to said Clerk to lay out the town

in lots of one and a hall acres, giving also full

instructions as to streets, Court House and

Prison. The State House was built in 1 787,

and was used as a Court House until the erec-

tion of the present handsome structure.

In 1850 Rev. T. B. Bradford came into pos-

session of land belonging to the old Govert

Loockerman estate. He had the land divided

into lots. These lots were in that portion of

the town lying north of Loockerman street, and

west of King. The town grew rapidly in this

direction. Chief Justice Jos. P. Comegys pur-

chased the land west of Governor’s Avenue to

the Rail Road and sold the lots as a further

addition to the town. It is a beautiful town,

needing only that its streets should receive

the like attentions bestowed upon its buildings,

to make it as noted for its cleanliness, as it

has long been noted for the morality and in-

telligence of its inhabitants. The Richardson

House, a hotel of the highest class in all re-

spects, just completed, is an additional orna-

ment to the Capital of the State.

The United States Post Office Building,

costing $75,000, just completed and enclosed,

attracts attention by reason of its conspicuous

position and adaptation to public needs.

GEORGETOWN,

V PLEASANT and thriving village of
~ ,N %) 2, -co inhabitants, located in the center

Viy :V of Sussex County, and is its County

Town. Originally, Sussex was called

Dale county, and Lewistown was the Seat of

Justice from the organization of the Courts

till about the year 1S00, when the county seat

was removed by law to Georgetown, first

known as Dale’s Cross-roads. Besides contain-

j

ing the Court House, Jail and other county

;

buildings, it is the connecting point of two

railroads, viz; the Junction and Breakwater

: and the Breakwater and Frankford, besides
’ being the center of business and political in-

fluence in -the county.

The Georgetown Academy is one of the

oldest educational institutions in the State.

The town is noted for the culture and intelli-

gence of its leading citizens, and as being the

principal resort of the people of the County,

and its chief Railroad center.

NEWSPAPERS.
Daily Gazette

,
published at Wilmington

every afternoon, except Sunday, by Bell &
Taylor, editors and proprietors. Subscription,

$3.00 per annum. Democratic in politics.

416 Market st.

Daily Republican
,
published at Wilmington

every afternoon, except Sunday, by George

W. Vernon & Sons. Subscription, $3.00 per

year. Republican in politics. King st. cor.

3rd.

Every Evening, published at Wilmington
daily, except Sunday, by Every Evening Pub-

lishing Co. $5.00 per annum. Independent

in politics. Market cor. 5th.

Mornifig News, published at Wilmington
every morning, except Sunday, by the News
Publishing Co. Subscription, $5.00 per annum.
Republican in politics. 51 1 Market street.

Delaware State Journal, published at Wil-

mington every Thursday by the Every Even-
ing Publishing Co. Subscription, $1.00 per

annum. Independent in politics. Market
i cor. 5th.

Delaware Republican, published at Wilming-
ton every Thursday by Geo. W. Vernon &
Sons. Subscription, $2.00 per aunum. Repub-

I

lican in politics. King st. cor. Third.



i

;,i I

'

.

‘



HISTORY OF DELAWARE. 201

Delaware Pionier

,

(German,) published at

Wilmington every Saturday by Francis Scheu,

editor and proprietor. Subscription, $2.00 per

annum. 404 Market st.

Delaware Gazette, published at Wilmington
every Thursday, by Bell & Taylor, editors and

proprietors. Subscription $2.00 per annum.

Democratic in politics. 416 Market st.

Conference Worker, published at Wilming-

ton every Saturday by C. H. Sentman, editor

and proprietor. Subscription, $1.00 per an-

num. Published in the interest of the Wil-

mington M. E. Conference. Shipley st. cor.

6th.

Wilmington Freie Press, (German,) published

at Wilmington every day, except Sunday, by

Francis Scheu, editor and proprietor, 404 Mar-

ket st. Independent in politics.

Sunday Star, published at Wilmington every

Sunday morning by J. B. Bell, editor and

proprietor. Neutral in politics. Subscription,

$1.50 per year.

State Sentinel, published at Dover every

Saturday by H. W. Cannon, editor and pro-

prietor Subscription, $2.00 per annum.

Republican in politics.

Delazuarean, published at Dover every

Saturday by Eli Saulsbury. Subscription, $2. 50

per annum. Democratic in politics.

Middletown Transcript,published at Middle-

town every Saturday by W. Scott Way, editor

and proprietor. Subscription, $2.00 per annum.

Democratic in politics.

Milford Chronicle, published at Milford

every Friday by Corsa & Townsend. Sub-

scription, $1.00 per annum. Independent in

politics.

Peninsular News and Advertiser, published

at Milford every Saturday by H. L. Hynson,

editor and proprietor. Subscription, $2.00

per annum. Independent in politics.

Smyrna Times, published every Wednesday
at Milford by Robert D. Hoffecker, editor and

publisher. Subscription, $2.00 per annum.

Sussex Journal, published at Georgetown

every Friday by Marvel, Downham & Clark.

Subscription, $2.00 per annum. Democratic in

politics.

Delaware Ledger, published at Newark every

Saturday by Egbert G. Handy, editor and

proprietor. Subscription, $1.50 per annum,
Independent in politics.

26

Delaware Democrat, published at George-
town every Saturday by the Delaware Demo-
crat Publishing Co. Subscription, $ 1.00 per

|

annum. Democratic in politics.

Breakwater Light
.
published at Lewes every

Friday by I. H. D. Knowles, editor and pro-

prieter. Subscription, $1.50 per annum.

BANKS.
FARMERS BANK.

By Henry Ridgely, M. D.

8
N ACT incorDorating the Farmers’ Bank

> by the name and style of “The Presi-

dent, Directors and Company of the

> Farmers’ Bank of the State of Dela-

ware” was passed by the Legislature, Febru-

ary 4th, 1S07. The principal bank was estab-

lished at Dover, with branches at New Castle

and Georgetown, having a capital of $500,000

divided between them. The bank was after-

|

ward authorised to increase its capital to a

sum not exceeding one million of dollars. In

1810 the Legislature permitted it to effect in-

surance against fire and also on lives, but this

business was very soon abandoned. On the

22nd of January, 1813, another branch was

established at Wilmington.

The capital of the whole Institution is now
$680,000, of which the bank at Dover holds

$186,000, the branch at Wilmington $236,000.

the branch at New Castle $138,000, and the

branch at Georgetown $ 120,000. At the clos-

ing of the bookson the 16th day of December,

1879, the surplus of the whole institution

amounted to $122,430,76, the deposits to

$722, 104,25, and the discounts and loans to

$1,215,18045 All funds belonging to the

State, the three Counties,and the School Fund
are deposited in' the Farmers’ Bank. During

its long existence the Bank has not lost a

single dollar by the dishonesty of any of its

officials. A defalcation was discovered at the

,
branch in Wilmington in 1867, but the sureties,

of the defaulting cashier were compelled to

pay the whole loss The Bank is still under

its State charter.

Henry M. Ridgely was elected the first

' President of the bank at Dover, and continued

to fill that position until, after nearly forty

years of service, failing health compelled him
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to resign in January, 1S47, when Jonathan

Jenkins, long a useful and prominent director,

was elected to fill his place. He died suddenly,

Ilth July, 1S4S, and in the following Janu-

ary, 1849. Henry Ridgely was elected. He
still continues to fill the position. The Cash-

iers have been Peter Coverly, James Harper,

Joshua G. Brincle, Cornelius P. Comegys (after-

ward Governor of the State,) John Manlove,
j

James P. Wild, and now Walter Morris. Mr.

Wild died in September, 1879, after serving

the Bank fifty years and eight months as Clerk

and Cashier. He was an honest, efficient and

devoted officer, and a man of high social posi-

tion and unimpeachable integrity and morality

Few men were more respected by his numer-

ous acquaintances and friends.

The Presidents of the branch at New Castle

have been Kensey Johns, afterward Chancel-

lor. James R. Black, afterward Judge. James

Booth, afterward Chief Justice, Thomas Jan-

vier, and Andrew C. Gray. Mr. Gray was

eiecteu in 1049, and has now served thirty con

tinuous years. The Cashiers at New Castle

have been Francis L. Cooch, James Couper,

Howell J. Terry and Charles Kimmey.
The Presidents of the branch at Wilmington

have been John Rumsey, Louis McLane,

John Rumsey again, 1818, Dr. Allen McLane,
Allan Thompson, James A. Bayard, David C.

Wilson, Chas. I. DuPont, Francis Barry, and

now George Richardson. Louis McLane rep-

resented Delaware in Congress, held two posi-

tions in General Jackson’s cabinet, was minis-

ter to England, and President of the Balti-

more & Ohio Railroad. James A. Bayard was
an eminent lawyer and Senator. The Cashiers

at Wilmington have been Peter Coverly (sent

from Dover,) John Rumsey, James Harper,

John Torbert. Allan Thompson, Robert D.

Hicks, Joseph A. Heston and now, Aquila G.

Robinson.

The Presidents of the branch at Georgetown
have been Thomas Cooper, James Anderson,

Gardiner H. Wright, and now Chas. C. Stock-

ley. The Cashiers have been Isaac Tunncll,

James Anderson,and now Gardiner H.Wright.

Mr. Anderson was connected with the bank
for a long time as Director, President and
Cashier. Mr. Tunnell lived to the advanced
age of ninety-three years. He was Cashier

from 1807 until 1862, when he resigned after a

long service of fifty-four years and six months

On accepting his resignation, the General

Board passed resolutions of a highly compli-

mentary character to him.

The present directors ol the bank at Dover

are Henry Ridgely, George W. Cummins,

Caleb S. Pennewili, Edward Ridgely, Edwin
M. Stevenson, Governor John W. Hall, Dr.

John A. Moore, Edward Lord and Thomas K.

!

Taylor. Walter Morris, Cashier; Samuel T.

Jones, Clerk; John S. Collins, Teller
;
Edward

Ridgely, Attorney.

The Directors at Wilmington are George

Richardson, T. F. Crawford, George H. Bates,

George G. Lohdell, Judge Ed. G. Bradford,

E. Tatnall Warner, William Bright, Edward
S. Moore. Aquila G. Robinson is Cashier

;

Thomas E. Young, Teller; John Mt Carswell,

Clerk; Geo. H. Bates, Attorney.

The Directors at New Castle are Andrew
C. Gray, Thomas Holcomb, John H. Rodney,
Dr. John J. Black, James T. Eliason, Caesar

Rodney, David Boulden and Albert H. Silver.

Jv. i c li cird G. Cooper is Co

s

1 ° ^ " ^,Tm p' T ^ n p

Teller
;
John H. Rodney, Attorney.

The Directors at Georgetown are Charles

C. Stockley, H. Hickman, John R. McFee,
Charles H. Richards, Edwin R. Paynter, Ex-
Governor James Ponder, Dr. Hugh Martin,

Ebe W. Tunnell and Charles B. Houston.
Gardiner H. Wright is Cashier, and John L.

McKim, Teller, and E. R. Paynter, Attorney.

The State elects three directors for each

part of the institution.

NEW CASTLE COUNTY NATIONAL
BANK OF ODESSA, DEL.,

^ P Ml*
AS incorporated under the title of the

Hew Castle County Bank, March 2d,
cjw 1853, and was organized in 1854, with

Charles Tatman, as President
;

Dr.

Benjamin F. Chatham, Cashier
; John Zelefro

as Teller, and the following Directors : Cyrus
Polk, Charles Beaston, Henry Davis, Garrett

Cox, David J. Cummins, George W. Karsner,

John Appleton, and Richard Semans.

This Bank continued to transact business

under the above title with a capital stock of

$50,000 until June, 1865, when by vote of the

i Stockholders it became a National Bank with

an increased capital of $75,000.
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Dr. Chatham acted as Cashier until January,
j

1S67, when lie resigned, and Joseph L. Gibson

was made Cashier, which position he still oc-

cupies. John Zelefro was Teller until June 7th,

1S54, John Janvier until July 3d, (866, Eugene

L. Ellison until June nth, 1867, and Joseph

G. Brown is the present occupant of that posi-

tion.

Its present board of directors are as follows
;

President Charles Tatman, John Appleton,

Henry Davis, Horatio N. Willetts, Sereck F.

Shallcross. Samuel Pennington, William Polk,

John C Corbit and Columbus Watkins. This

Bank has a surplus fund of $30,000, is a sound

institution, and in a very flourishing condition.

FIRST NATIONAL BANK, OF MIL-
FORD, DEL.,

AS incorporated July 27, 1876, and

holds charter No. 2340. Officers : H. B.

Fiddeman, President
, J. B. Smith,

<£>2 Cashier
;
Isaac S. Truitt, Teller

;
who

all still hold their positions. The Directors

are H. B. Fiddeman, President
;
C. S. Watson,

M. R. Carlisle, Jas. R. Lofland, Geo. Russell,

Thos. J. Davis, John C. Truitt, Jas. M. Hall

and C. J. Harrington.

The capital stock is $60,800, and has a

bank note circulation of $54,000. The bank

is in a healthy condition and has a surplus of

$20,000. and the confidence of the people in

the institution is shown by the fact that the de-

posits now, (April 1S80,) amount to $170,000.

THE CITIZENS NATIONAL BANK OF
MIDDLETOWN,

^AS organized January 23rd, i860, under

_ , the title of the Citizens Bank of the

State of Delaware, at Middletown.

The first Board of Directors were Geo.

Derrickson, President
;
Thomas Murphy, Vice

President
;

John Eliason, Benjamin Gibbs,

Richard Lockwood, Richard Seamans, Albert

Pennington, William C. Eliason and Robert

A. Cochran. James B. McDowell was elected

Cashier and John S Crouch was elected and

served as Teller. The capital stock of the

Bank was $50,000.

The Bank continued under this organization

and name until June 5th, 1865, when, by a

vote of the stockholders it was changed to a

National Bank, called “The Citizens National

Bank of Middletown,” also the capital stock

was increased to $So,ooo. Mr. James V.

Crawford was at that time elected President,

who was succeeded by Mr. Henry Clayton,

son of Colonel Joshua Clayton, which posi-

tion he still occupies. Mr. Hall is the present

Cashier and John S. Crouch is the Teller. The
Board of Directors now (1882) are H. Clayton

,

John A. Reynolds, Benj. T. Biggs, Jas. Culvert-

son, Martin E. Walker, Joseph Biggs, Jacob

B. Cazier and Edward C. Fenimore. The
Bank issues $72,000 in bank notes furnished

by the Government, but bearing the name of

the Bank. It has afine three-story brick build-

ing on Broad street, near the center of the

town, erected in 1870. The Bank has the con-

fidence of the community as a most solid in-

stitution. It has never lost a dollar through

any of its officers.

OTHER BANKING INSTITUTIONS.

RTISANS’ Savings Bank, Wilmington,

Incorporated Feb., 1861. President,

George W Bush : Vice President,
‘

qj/s George S. Capelle : Treasurer and Sec-

retary, E. T. Taylor: Auditor, J. M. Mather:

Managers.—Geo. W. Bush, Geo. S. Capelle,

Clement B. Smyth, M. L. Lichtenstein, Wm.
H. Swift, Edward Pusey, Chas. W. Howland,

N. R. Benson, Job H. Jackson, Henry F. Dure,

Edward Darlington, Anthony Higgins, Wash-
ington Hastings.

The Newport National Bank, Newport, Del.,

Incorporated March 14, 1865. Capital, $75,000

Surplus, 16,000. President, David Eastburn :

Cashier, Joseph W. H. Watson : Teller and
Notary Public, Daniel Green : Directors.

—

David Eastburn, Jacob Rubencame, James
Cranston, John Mitchell, John A. Cranston,

Chas. M. Groome, Enos. E. Wood.
Delaware City National Bank. William D.

Clark, President
;
Francis Mclntire, Cashier.

Authorized capital, $100,000. Paid in capital,

$60,000. Surplus, $10,800.
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First National Bank of Dover. N. B. Smitli-

ers, President
; J. H. Bateman, Cashier. Paid

in capital, $100,000. Surplus, $24,000. Dis-

count days, Thursdays.

First National Bank of Seaford. Daniel

Hearn, President
;
M. J. Morgan, Cashier. Paid

in capital, $50,000. Surplus, $3,400. Discount

days, Thursdays.

First National Bank of Wilmington. Edward

Betts, President
;
Geo. D. Armstrong, Cashier.

Paid in capital, $500,000. Surplus, $100,000.

Discount days, Mondays and Thursdays.

National Bank of Newark. Joel Thompson,

President
;
Geo. VV. Lindsey, Cashier

;
Paid in

capital, $50,000. Surplus, $12,300.

National Bank of Smyrna. D. J. Cummins,

President
;
W. M. Bell, Cashier. Paid in capi-

tal, $100,000.

Fruit Growers’ National Bank of Smyrna.

George Id. Raymond, President
;
N. F. YVilds,

Cashier. Authorized capital, $100,000. Paid

in, $80,000. Discount days, Tuesdays.

National Bank of Delaware at Wilmington.

Henry G. Banning, President
;
Richard H.

,
Ewbanks, Cashier. Paid in capital, $ 1 10,000.

! Surplus, $1 12,800.

National Bank of Wilmington and Brandy-

!

wine. Washington Jones, President
;
Otho

j

Nowland, Cashier. Paid in capital, $200,000.

Surplus, $85,000.

Union National Bank of Wilmington. Vic-

I

tor DuPont, President
;
John Peoples Cashier.

I Paid in capital, $203,175. Surplus, $60,000.

Wilmington Savings I'und Society, 8th and
1 Market Sts., Wm. M. Canby, President

; J. E.

I
Smith, Treasurer.

POLITICAL PARTIES.
BY .HON. GEO. P. FISHER.

EITHER history nor tradition furnishes

any accurate account as to the names

or existence of party divisions in the

CD3 colony of Delaware, prior to the few

years immediately preceding the revolutionary

period. Tradition does inform us, however,

that when the King and Parliament of Great

Britain had commenced to impose upon the

colonies a system of unjust and oppressive

taxation without representation, there sprang

up in the colony of Delaware, two partisan

divisions, one of which was known as the

Court party, and the other as the Country

party. The former, which favored and upheld

the government of Great Britain in its onerous

and tyrannical exactions, was composed, in a

large degree, of the wealthier classes, whose

instincts were inclined to aristocracy, and

members of the Society of Friends, the ten-

dency of whose teachings was always in the

direction of loyalty to the legally constituted

governmental authority.

The Country party consisted mostly of the

middle and laboring classes whose active de-

sire of bettering their condition in life, led

them naturally towards progress, a larger lib-

erty and home rule. Who were the leaders of

these divisions, respectively, we have no means

of ascertaining, as even the fact of their exis-

tence has no other proof except as the oldest

men now living have learned it in their youth

from the lips of old men of a generation then

nearly extinct. When the really revolution-

ary period of our Country’s history began
;

when Paine wrote his Crisis, and John Dickin-

son indited his “American Farmer” letters on

the banks of St. Jones! River, very much the

same classes of men as made up the Court and

Country parties, respectively, became more
compacted and crystalized, more sharply de-

fined, and the Country par.y certainly more

spirited and more aggressive against the kingly

invasions of the peoples’ rights. They then

became known, the Court party as Tories, and

the Country party as Whigs, names which they

imported from across the water.

In New Castle County the Whig party was

very largely in the ascendant
;

in Kent it was
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somewhat less preponderant, while in Sussex

the Tories and their secret sympathizers were

numerically the greater, though the strength

and aggressive spirit of the Whigs, the non-

resisting doctrines of the Quaker element and

the success of the Whigs in New Castle and

Kent, rendered the Tory party a passive and

defensive rather than an aggressive power;

still, the Tories of Sussex were a very formid-

able body and so remained till the close of the

war.

The Whigs, however, after the successful

close of the Revolution, through the prestige

of victory and by their legislative enactments

of banishment and confiscation, succeeded at

last in stamping out the fires of Toryism, so

that it was no longer an organization
;
but the

embers continued to smoulder for another

generation to such an extent that even fifty

years after the war of the revolution had

closed successfully, a new political organiza-

tion found itself handicapped in Sussex County

by there assuming the old name. The
leading spirits of the old Court and Country

parties have not been handed down to us even

by tradition
,
and perhaps now at this remote

period it might be regarded as invidious to

designate in a paper like the present the

names of those who, tradition informs us,

were the prominent actors among the Tories

of the revolution. We doubt not, however,

that they were honest in their convictions of

right. Some of them were men of large means
for those times who like the monied interests

in all ages, are keenly sensitive to their own
welfare and fearful and suspectful of changes,

the results of which can rarely be clearly

foreseen
;
others were men who honestly

believed, no doubt, that loyalty to the Crown
was duty to God. Could the foresight of these

Conservatives have correctly cast the horo-

scope of the future for the feeble little Colo-

nies of America, unfolding to their vision the

magnificent panorama of a mighty nation

spreading in less than a century, from the Rio

Grande to the lakes of the North, and from

the Atlantic to the Pacific with a population

of 50,000,000 ever increasing and bound to-

gether with bands of iron and chains of silver

and gold, their political opinions would doubt-

less have worn a different complexion, although

admiration for the men of those days,

who were brave in their advocacy of what

they sincerely believed to be right, and a deli-

cate regard for the feelings of their posterity,

which furnishes much of the best blood and

brain of both the present political parties of

the state, would suggest a respectful silence

as to the names of the old Tory leaders, yet

no such restriction should suppress the men-
tion of those great and good patriots who
dared to stand in the fore-front of the grand,

moral, political and military struggle which

we call the Revolution. The names of Rod-

ney, Read, Bedford, McKean, Dickinson,

Clayton, Hazlett, Caldwell, Kirkwood and a

host of others are familiar as house-hold words

to the readers of American history, and will

go down through the remotest ages as bright

exemplars of patriotism.

The successful close of the revolution ended

the mission of the Whig party, and the Tory

party had been buried out of sight by the

achievement of our independence. The Colo-

nies finding themselves not only free from

Great Britain but in a large degree indepen-

dent of each other, soon discovered also that

the latter independence was by no means a

boon, but a burthen. For a few years the old

Whig party kept up its organization after a

sort, but as the Tories had been completely

crushed out and men, more than measures be-

came the lines of partisan divisions, the elec-

tions were decided by individual popularity

and influence rather than by political senti-

ment. This state of things continued from

the conquest of our independence through the

quasi union of the States under the Articles

of Confederation, and until the convention of

the States had promulgated the result of its

labors.

Upon the question of the adoption of that

instrument, the people in all the States again

arranged themselves into distinctive political

parties. The ratification of that instrument

was not achieved by the labor of an hour or a

year, for although many of the distinguished

Statesmen and Soldiers who had been leaders

in the revolution were members of the Con-
vention, although Washington, who had then

already acquired the title of Father of his

Country, presided over its deliberations, and

though Hamilton and Madison and Jay and

other eminent jurists had most forcibly ap-

pealed to the people in behalf of its adoption,

there was still a large body of citizens in all
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the States who believed it too centralizing and

undemocratic in its provisions, and that by its

adoption the States would surrender too much
of home rule and States’ rights. At the head

of this class stood Thomas Jefferson, the

draftsman of the Declaration of Indepen-

dence.

In Delaware, however, there was but a small

and insignificant number who opposed the Fed-

eral Constitution, framed by the Convention in

1787, and she led off in its adoption in advance

of all the other States. The friends of the

instrument became known as Federalists, while

the objecting party assumed the name of Re-
publicans at first, and later adopted the name
of the Democratic Party. Of course the Fed-
eral became the dominant party in Delaware,

and so continued, with a very few slight re-

verses, from the adoption of the Constitution

down to 1827.

In the summer or autumn of that year the

old party lines were obliterated entirely and
new party organizations were formed. Up to

this period the population of the three coun-

ties was nearly equal, and they were, as now,

equally represented in the two Houses of the

General Assembly. From {he earliest forma-

tion of these parties the representation in the

Legislature from New Castle County was
almost uniformly Democratic, and that from

the other two Counties, Kent and Sussex, was
as uniformly Federal. The Federal majorities

in the popular vote at the election in the two
lower Counties, also very generally out-num-
bered the Democratic majority in New Castle.

Hence of the sixteen governors of the State

under the State Constitution of 1793, thirteen

were Federal, including Charles Polk, the last

governor elected under the old Federal regime.

These old party lines had been wiped out

more than a decade before, when the Demo-
cratic party throughout the Union had grown
so powerful, that at the election of Mr. Mon-
roe in 1816, of the seventeen States then com-
posing the Union, there were but three in

which the Federal party predominated, Dela-

ware being one of the three.

In 1827, the country all over was in a state

of fervent political excitement. There had,

three years before then, been four candidates

for the presidency of the United States before

the people—General Andrew Jackson of Ten-

nessee, Henry Clay of Kentucky, John Quincy

Adams of Massachusetts and William H.

Crawford of Georgia, all of whom had been

allied with the old National Democratic party.

The vote of Delaware had been cast in part

for Adams, and in part for Crawford, by elec-

tors appointed by a Legislature, a majority of

which, were old Federalists, because there

was no Federal candidate in the field. None of

these four candidates commanded a majority

in the Electoral College, but General Jackson

led them all by a considerable plurality. Not-

withstanding this, however, as is nearly always

the case, the weaker candidates—two of them

at least, Clay and Adams —combined against

the stronger and defeated Jackson, and elected

Adams by that combination. Mr. Adams ap-

pointed Mr. Clay Secretary of State, and im-

mediately the battle cry of “bargain and cor-

ruption” was rung out by the friends of General

J ickson from one end of the Union to the

other.

The last political fight between the old

Federal and Democratic parties in Delaware,

was made on the second Tuesday of October

1826, when the old Federal party elected

Charles Polk of Kent County, Governor, and

Louis McLane of New Castle County, Repre-

sentative in Congress. They also elected a

majority of the General Assembly. A large

majority of the old Federal leaders had, in the

meantime, espoused the cause of General Jack-

son. Under the influence of these leaders, the

Legislature elected in 1827, passed what was

known as the militia law, the object of which,

as was afterwards discovered, was the creation

of a military spirit among the young men,

that might redound to the benefit of the mili-

tary hero, General Jackson. The Bayards,

Booths, Johns, Rogers, McLanes of Newcas-

tle County, the Claytons, Ridgelys, Raymonds

and Cummins of Kent, and the Robinsons, Rod-

neys, Coopers, Dunnings, Laytons, and Payn-

ters of Sussex County, had been the leading

families in the old Federal party; and all these

except the Johns, the Claytons, the Rodneys,

and the Laytons, now took position at the head

of the Jackson party, while most of the old

Republican or Democratic leaders joined com-

pany with them.

Late in the summer or early in the Autumn

of 1827, the two old parties called mass meet-

ings at the county towns with the view of

j

disbanding and taking sides in the new organi-
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zations about then to be formed, not so much
on questions of policy in the conduct of gov-

ermental affairs as in reference to personal

preferences between the two candidates then

prominently before the country for the presi-

dency. Up to that time fo’ir presidents out ol

the five who had preceded Mr. Adams, had

filled the office two terms, and probably they

all would have been re-elected but for the

passage by Congress of the alien and sedition

law on the recommendation by President

Adams, the father of John Quincy. Wash-
ington had set the precedent and two terms

of four years had become the limit fixed by

the people by a sort of unwritten law. Mr.

Crawford who had been a candidate in 1824,

had been struck with paralysis and was out

of the question as a candidate in 1828, and

Mr. Clay, who had also been a candidate in

1824, was Mr. Adams’ Secretary of- State and

of course declined to be an aspirant against

his chief. Candidates for the presidency had

up to this time, been presented to the people

generally by Congressional caucus instead of

National Conventions, as now. The friends

of Mr. Adams’ administration in Congress,

had presented him, and the admirers of the

old hero of New Orleans, had done the same

for him. There were no outside candidates.

The campaign had already commenced in

1827, a year in advance of the election, when

the old parties in Delaware met for the last

time, in their respective mass meetings for the

purpose of dissolution and taking sides in new

parties, the one in favor of, and the other op

posed to, the Adams Administration. The
party supporting the administration adopted

the name of “American Republican” and that

adopted by its opponents was “The Republi-

can Party.” The former were called, by the

latter, the Administration party, and were in

turn called, by their opponents, “ Jacksonites.”

The National Republican party had for its

leaders, in New Castle County, Kensey Johns

Jr., afterwards for many years Chancellor of

the State, John J. Milligan and Dr. Arnold

Naudain, men of ability and popularity, then

in the early prime of their manhood
;

in Kent

it was led by John M. Clayton, a young man
scarcely more than 30 years old but who, with

a splendid and imposing presence, combined

the most winning manners, towering intellect

and a marvelous knowledge of human nature.

Though so young he had already come to be

regarded as the ablest lawyer and must elo-

quent orator the State had ever produced. In

Sussex nearly all the leading men of both the

old Federal and Democratic parties had in-

clined to favor the election of General Jack-
son, the Hon. Caleb S Layton who is still liv-

ing at the advanced age of 84 years, being the

only member of the bar in that county who
sided with the Administration of Mr. Adams.
The writer remembers an amusing circum-

stance which occurred on the Green, in Dover,

at the time of the division of the forces of the

old Democrats, between the Adams and Jack-

son parties. A gentleman named Coombe,
residing in Smyrna, had long harbored a dis-

like against a fellow Democrat in Dover,

named Abel Harris. While the two lines

were drawn out across the square from the

State House to the old Farmers' Bank, the

one line taking position for Jackson and the

other for Adams, the Smyrna Democrat was
observed by old Doctor John Adams, of Dover,

who had been a leading democrat, to be

searching up and down both lines without

taking his stand with either, and on being

asked the reason why he did not stand in with

one or the other, he replied that he was wait-

ing to ascertain “ where Abe Harris had taken

his1 stand, as he was determined to take the

other side and so he did
;
and unto the day

of his death he lived an ardent Adams man
and died in the Whig faith.

The contest at the general election in Dela-

ware, in 1827, was intensely bitter, and was
even more so in the presidential election in

1828. The young leader of the Administration

party—for so John M. Clayton was at once
acknowledged—though he had never, until

1827, taken any active part in politics, with

his allies above named, handled the forces of

the Administration, or the American Republi-

can party, with magnificent skill, and the re-

sult both years v/as a triumph for Mr. Adams
in Delaware, though General Jackson was
elected President in 1828 by an overwhelming
majority, both in the electoral college and on
the popular vote. The two parties continued

to bear the names of “Republican” and
“American Republican,” respectively, until

shortly after the veto of the LTnited States

Bank Charter by General Jackson, and various

other acts of alleged usurpation by the old
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hero, the almost kingly power which his oppo-

nents charged him with assuming, suggested

to them the changing of their party name and

taking that of “Whig” under which their

fathers had fought against the usurpations and

tyranny of George III. About the same time

the Jackson or Republican party dropped the

latter name and assumed that of the “ Demo-
cratic” party, and by that name has continued

down to the present time. The Jackson party

of Delaware, however, was slow to accept the

change, especially in the two lower counties,

and even as late as 1840, they frequently called

themselves the Van Buren party, and the Re-

publican party, while owing to the circumstance

which occurred at a Democratic meeting in

New York, the whigs dubbed them with the

sobriquet of the Locofoco party. It happened

in this wise
;

at a meeting held by the demo-

crats at night in one of the public buildings,

the discordant elements were about to come

to blows, when somebody turned off the gas,

and instantly hundreds of locofoco matches

were set off all over the room and kept burn-

ing till the gas was turned on again. The
fact that so many democrats were in the habit

of carrying matches in their pockets thus

gave rise to a nickname, which stuck on the

party for a quarter of a century, and indeed

still continues to cling to it.

The campaign of 1828 resulted in a great

victory for the old hero of New Orleans

throughout the country
;
but in Delaware the

administration or American Republican party

led by Mr. Clayton was triumphant, and as an

acknowledgment of his eminent services and

abilitv.thc Legislature elected him to the Sen-

ate of the United States, although he had

scarcely reached the age required by the con-

stitution as one of the qualifications for a mem-
ber of that body. He at once took rank with

Clay and Webster as one of the great leaders

of his party. For an uninterrupted period of

ten years he held his party in the ascendant

in the State until in 1838 while he occupied

the position of its Chief Justice and could not

take part in political strife,when some discon

tented whigs in Sussex made up a Reform

party and elected their ticket in that county.

A majority of the Reform members joined the

Democrats of New Castle county and thus

gave them control of the State Senate, the

whigs still having control of the House of

Representatives. The mode of electing a

LT nited States Senator had not then been pre-

scribed by the Congress of the United States,

but there was a law on the State Statute-book

which provided that such elections should be

by joint ballot of the two Houses of the Gen-
eral Assembly. The Democratic Senate re-

fused to obey this law, knowing that as there

was a majority of only one for the democrats

in that body, while the whigs had a majority

of two or three in the lower house, the result

would be the election of a whig to the United

States Senate. As a consequence the State

was only represented in the Senate chamber
by one member for the succeeding two years.

In 1840 the hard times throughout the whole

country, the suspension of specie payments, and

the unpopularity of Mr. Van Buren, then
-

Presi-

dent, and a candidate for re-election, produced

a political tornado, which swept the country

from Maine to Louisiana, only seven States out

of the twenty-five voting for Van Buren, and
the others, including Delaware, voting for

Plarrison and Tyler. No prior political cam-
paign had ever witnessed a tithe of the ex-

citement of that of 1S40. It was opened in

Delaware on the 3rd of March, at Dover, by an

immense mass meeting, and was kept up with

increasing spirit till the night of the election

on the first Tuesday in November, when the

whole whig ticket was elected in all the

counties; New Castle for the first time giving

a whig majority. The majority in the State

reached upward of a thousand votes out of a

total of only about 10,000. F'rom one end of

the country to the other, and from one end of

this State to the other, the people for six or

eight months had been wild with enthusiam

for “Tippecanoe and Tyler too,” as the whig
candidates had been called in the songs and
speeches of the campaign. Early in May a

young men’s ratification meeting was held in

Baltimore, which was said to have been at-

tended by 100,000 people from the whole
country, not a single State being unrepre-

sented. One of Mr. Van Buren’s organs early

in the canvass had denounced Gen. Harrison,

the hero of the terrible Indian battle of Tip-

pecanoe, as a weak and womanly old gentle-

man, totally unfit for the Presidency, and had
recommended that he be left to remain at

home in his log cabin at North Bend, Ohio, to

regale himself with a barrel of hard cider, and
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his corned hominy and raccoon meat. Im-

mediately a paper was started in Baltimore

and New York called the “The Log Cabin

Advocate,” and the changes were rung from

the Atlantic to the Mississippi in favor of the

log cabin candidate. Thousands of log cabins

were built all over the country decorated with

barrels of hard cider, and strings of herrings

outside, with raccoons disporting themselves

on the roof and chimneys
;
these were set on

wheels and figured in all the processions,

some of which were often several miles long,

consisting of carriages, wagons, carts and

vehicles of every kind, and hundreds of men,

young and old, mounted on horseback and

always accompanied by brass-bands and

choirs of singers. Hard cider was dealt out

in gourds and tin cups all along the line, and

song-books with their “yaller kivers ” as they

were called, were vade-mecums with almost

every young whig in the State, and many of

the older ones, also. Meetings at night were

held in mammoth log cabins erected for the

purpose, and there was scarcely a day during

the campaign in which the groves were not

made to resound with the melody of campaign

songs and the eloquence of political orators.

For the first time in this State the women
came in crowds to swell the throngs at politi-

cal gatherings. Even old ladies of three score

years were not unfrequently seen comfortably

seated in the log cabins drawn by horses, and

sometimes, even by men, in the processions.

The song-singing and log cabin processions

were at first and for several months met by

ridicule from the democratic press and speakers

;

but towards the close they, too, attempted,

feebly, very feebly, however, to get up a little

music and song-singing, but there was no spirit

in it, and their ballads and bands were shelved

before the campaign ended.

At the Baltimore Convention there was a

mammoth ball brought from the remote west-

ern county of Maryland, and offered by the

young men as a present to the whigs of that

State which should show the largest delegation

to the convention. Delaware won the ball,

some 15 or 20 feet in diameter, and it was

rolled all the way from Baltimore to Wil-

mington, and afterward rolled from Wil-

mington along with the log cabins and cider

barrels, all over the State, and finally was

carried off, after the election in November,

27

by Baltimore, the Banner Whig Hundred of

the State.

In 1842, Mr. Tyler having succeeded to the

Presidency by reason of the death of General

Harrison, undertook to set up a Tyler party to

re-elect him to another term. That weakened
the whig party considerably in Delaware, but

it pulled through successfully,and in 1844 went

largely for Mr. Clay, the whig candidate for

President, and Mr. Clayton was again elected

to the Senate of the United States to succeed

Hon. Richard H. Bayard, who had become a

whig after the veto of the United States Bank
Bill, and filled one term in the Senate, but

failed to be re-elected in 1839 by reason of the

Reform movement in Sussex County and the

action of the Senate of the State in refusing to

go into joint ballot as above stated. The
State then became represented in the National

Senate by two cousins, John M. and Thomas
Clayton. In 1846 the whig party was again

successful in electing a majority of the Legis-

lature, but Mr. Tharp, the democratic candi-

date for Governor, was elected by a small

majority, and again in 1848 Delaware voted
for Gen. Taylor who was the whig candidate

for President, and elected a majority of the whig
candidates for the Legislature and the Repre-

sentative in Congress. In 1850 a small party

was organized by the advocates of Legislation

for the prohibition of the sale of intoxicating

liquors. This party, which though compar-
atively very small in numbers, nominated a

candidate for Governor, Mr. Thomas Lock-
wood cf Frederica, Kent County, who had
always before then been a warm and decided

democrat
;
and Doctor Waite, of New Castle

county, was also selected as its candidate for

Congress. Most of the whigs who had joined

it remained true to their pledges to support

this ticket, but the large majority of the dem-
ocrats who professed to operate with it could
not withstand the temptation to go back to

their old love, and the result was the defeat of

the whig candidates for Governor and Con-
gressman, although by very small majorities,

that of Mr. Ross the Democratic governor
candidate having only about 20 votes, and
that of Mr. Riddle the candidate for Congress
not much more. The Temperance party also

aided the election of a majority of democrats
on the Legislative ticket. For the first time
in the history of the two parties the democrats
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had now control of both the Executive and

Legislative Departments of the State Govern-

ment and the Representative in Congress, and

one democratic United States Senator, James

A. Bayard, the father of the present Senator,

Thos. F. Bayard.

In 1852 Mr. Clayton, who had withdrawn

from active participation in politics since his

retirement from the office of Secretary of State

on the death of President Taylor in 1850, again

came to the front of the Whig party and took

the leadership. The democratic Legislature

had provided by law for the holding of a con-

vention to amend the Constitution of the

State. The mode provided for in the law was

different from that recommended in the con-

stitution of 1831 which was largely made by

Mr. Clayton. He opposed the holding of a

convention, unless called in the manner recom-

mended in the constitution of 1831, and fought

the democratic party on that issue. The

whigs succeeded in electing to the House of

Representatives a majority of three (3) in that

body, but in consequence of the holding over

of six members of the Senate, the democrats

had a majority of one in that branch. Mr.Clay-

ton was named in the caucus of the whigs as

their candidate for United States Senator, but

as had happened fourteen years before, the

democratic majority in the State Senate re-

fused for several weeks to go into joint ballot.

Sometime during the month of January, 1853,

however, a most virulent and unjustifiable

personal attack was made upon Clayton on

the floor of the United States Senate by Gen.

Cass, Stephen A. Douglass and Mason of Vir-

ginia, charging him with duplicity towards his

own government and a cowardly truckling to

Great Britain, in the negotiation of what has

passed into celebrity and been known as the

Clayton-Bulwer treaty; negotiated ostensi-

bly for the purpose of giving the protection of

the two most powerful nations on earth to a

canal which an American Company had ob-

tained(from Nicaragua, )the privilege of cutting

between the Atlantic and Pacific oceans
;
but

really, also, more for the purpose of compell-

ing England to abandonher protectorate over

the Mosquito Indians, and her encroachments
j

under that pretext upon the territory of the

weak republics of Central America. When the

speeches of Messrs. Cass, Douglass and Mason

had been published, John Sorden, Esq., a dem-

j

ocratic member of the Senate, but a life long

personal frienchof Mr Clayton, openly avowed

his intention, to go into joint ballot, and to

vote for him if necessary, that he might go

back and defend himself. The dead-lock was

thus broken and Mr. Clayton took his seat at

the extra session called by President Pierce

upon his inauguration. How he achieved his

triumphant vindication has passed into history.

The campaign of 1852 was the last in which

the whig party engaged in this State or in

the nation. Gen. Winfield Scott, its candidate

for the Presidency, had only carried four out of

the thirty-one States then in the Union. Del-

aware was not one of those four. They were

Vermont, Massachusetts, Maryland and Ken-

tucky.

In 1854, a new organization was built upon

the ruins of the Whig party. It started with se-

cret societies called Know Nothings which were

gotton up all over the country and of course

in Delaware. In these lodges most of the old

whigs were gathered with large numbers of

democrats. The principles of the party were

opposition to foreign influence, and opposition

to the influence of the Catholic Church in

political affairs expressed in their watchword,

“Place only Native Americans on guard.”

These affiliated societies very soon became

crystallized with what was afterwards called

“The American Party.” It was very success-

ful in this State in the campaign of 1854,

electing its entire ticket throughout the State

by an aggregate majority of about 1000 votes.

It only survived the one campaign in any of

the States, but it might have achieved an-

other victory in Delaware in 1856 but for the

passage of a prohibitory liquor law by the

Legislature in 1855, the effect of which was so

paralyzing to the party that in 1856 its candi-

dates were beaten by a majority aggregating

in the State about 2000 out of about 14,000

votes.

In the Northern States the action of Mr.

Pierce’s administration in attempting to force

!
slavery into the newly organized territories of

Kansas and Nebraska, led to great discontent

among the democrats, a great many of whom
were opposed to the planting of that institution

on free soil. In 1856 the Republican party was

organized by the old whigs mainly, but with

quite a large proportion of democrats—in

! fact it embraced the entire free soil demo-
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cracy who had voted against General Cass in

1848, with many other new converts. In Dela-

ware, however, it could scarcely he said to

have had at that day any organized existence.

It placed in nomination for the presidency Col.

John C. Fremont. The democrats nominated

James Buchanan, and the odds and ends ol the

old whig party and its successor, the Ameri-

can party, met in Baltimore and nominated

Millard Fillmore as the candidate of the old

Whig and American parties. The fight in

Delaware during this campaign was, as has

been shown, completely disastrous to the

American party, and the republicans who sup-

ported the state and county candidates nomi-

nated by the Americans, only cast 305 votes

in the entire State for Mr. Fremont. The
American and Republican parties were buried

;

the former not to rise again probably in the

present century, possibly never.

In 1858, the people of Delaware who had

been opposed to the Democratic party, again

organized what was called “The People’s

party,” which gave promise of success, as it

drew to it not only the old whigs but quite a

number also of disaffected democrats, who
had become, for various causes, dissatisfied

with the methods and management of their

party. In the first campaign, 1858, they failed

to elect their governor candidate by only 203

votes. In 1 860 they divided upon the question

as to whether they should send delegates to

the Republican Convention, to be held at

Chicago, only, and support the nominees of

that party, or send to the convention to be

held at Baltimore by a new party then just

formed and called the “ Constitutional Union

Party.” Finally, in State Convention, they

agreed that those members of the People’s
;

Party, who were inclined to support the can-
!

didates for President and Vice President, nomi- !

nated by the Republican Party, should send

delegates to Chicago, and those who favored

the Constitutional Union Party, should have

themselves represented in the Baltimore Con-

vention
;
and this was done, and at the presi-

dential election in November, although it was

supposed in the early part of the campaign

that Lincoln, the republican candidate, would

get the vote of only a small portion of the

People’s party, he was the second highest out

of the four candidates in the field in Delaware, !

viz : Lincoln, Breckenridge, Bell and Doug-
j

: lass. Those democrats who nominated Breck-

enridge, made up that wing which was in favor

of Free Trade and the Dred Scott decision

of the Supreme Court of the United States

I which had declared that “the negro had no
1 .

=*

j

rights which the white man was bound to re-

spect that he was a mere chattei and that his

master had the right to carry him into any
territory or state in the Union, without for-

feiting his right of property in him. The sup-

porters of Douglass were for squatter sover-

eignty—allowing the settlers in the territories

to decide for themselves whether they would

tolerate the institution of slavery; the disciples

of Bell went for the Union, and Constitution

as it was, and for the enforcement of the laws

—

meaning the enforcement of the fugitive slave

law and the Dred Scott decision—differing

from the Breckenridge party only on the sub-

ject of protection to American Industry and

some minor measures, while the republicans

advocated such legislation as would confine

the institution of slavery strictly to those

states where it already existed, and free discus-

sion upon the question of the gradual but final

extinction of slavery. The People’s party in

Delaware had also agreed among themselves

to support the same state and county ticket,

with the privilege to each individual to support

Lincoln and Hamlin, or Bell and Everett, as

they might individually prefer. The Breck-

enridge party nominated Benjamin T. Biggs,

of New Castle county, for Congress, the

Douglass men nominated Elias Reed, of Kent,

and the People’s party nominated George

P. Fisher, of Kent. In the midst of the cam-

paign a small portion of the Bell-Everett

wing of the People’s party split off from the

rest with the view of making sure the defeat

of Fisher by nominating another candidate,

but not being able to find one who was dis-

posed to run on that basis, the effort proved

a failure and Fisher was elected by a plurality

of some two hundred and fifty votes.

The breaking out of the rebellion in 1860-61

added great strength to the Republican party

in the border, as well as in the northern states.

In Delaware, however, the people who sus-

tained the war for the suppression of the rebel-

lion—which included all those who had voted

for Lincoln, the great bulk of those who had

voted for Bell, as well as of
a
those who had

supported Douglass—were apprehensive that
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if they should assume the name of “Republi-

can" it would drive away from them many who

were not yet ready to fight under the banner

of the Republican party, and they, therefore, in

1862. combined all who were favorable to the

suppression of the rebellion, by force of arms,

under the name of “The Union Party," which

re-nominated Fisher for Congress and William

Cannon, of Sussex, who had been all his life a

leading democrat, for the office of Governor.

Meantime the state had raised and sent into

the field three regiments of about a thousand

men each, one-.third of which, at least, were

men entitled to vote in the state and gener-

ally would have voted the Union ticket, but as

there was no law of the state authorizing their

votes to be taken in their camps, and as the

Secretary of War would not permit them to

return home to vote, the democracy succeeded

in electing a majority of the Legislature by

very small majorities, and their candidate for

Congress, William Temple—an old slave-

holding whig ;—while W. Cannon’s popularity

with his old party pulled him through by a

majority of about one hundred in the state.

Fisher was defeated by thirty-six votes. Tem-
ple died before taking his seat, and in Novem-
ber, 1863, Nathaniel B. Smithers, Republican,

of Kent, was chosen at a special election in

his stead.. In 1864, Mr. Smithers was re-

nominated, but was defeated by John A.

Nicholson, of Kent, by a majority of some four

or five hundred.

In 1866 the Union party adopted the name
of Republican and have continued to bear

that name to the present time, acting always

in union with the national party of that name.

The republican candidate for governor that

year was James Riddle, of New Castle, and

for Congress they selected Rev. John McKim
of Sussex. The democratic candidates, how-
ever, Mr. Nicholson, and Dr. Gove Saulsbury,

were elected by a large majority of some
twelve hundred. From that time down to

the present the Democratic party have had
i

departments of the state, continuously.

Governor Cannon, the first, last, and only

republican governor ever elected in the state,

died in March, 1865, having filled the office

about two years and two months, and Dr
Gove Saulsbury, the speaker of the Senate, by

virtue of that office, became the governor.

Such was the hostility in the minds of many
people to the name Republican, that had Mr.

Cannon’s party assumed that name in 1862 he

would no doubt have been defeated. In 1868

the majority against Gen. Grant, the Republi-

can candidate for the presidency, and Gen.

Torbert, the candidate for Congress.amounted

to more than three thousand.

In 1870 a new factor in politics appeared in

the enfranchisement of the colored race, under

the amendments to the Federal constitution

and the laws of Congress enacted for their

enforcement. The colored people, some three

thousand in number, almost without a single

exception, voted the republican ticket, but the

defection of the white votes from the Republi-

can ranks was so large in consequence of the

enfranchisement of the African race, that the

state ticket nominated by the democracy was
triumphant by some two thousand or up-

wards.

The National Democratic party, in 1872,were

badly divided in sentiment in regard to the

nomination ot a presidential candidate. There
had been, also, much dissatisfaction in the re-

publican ranks, resulting in the formation of a

third party calling itself the Conservative or

Liberal Republican party. It was small, but

active and quite aggressive. It held a National

Convention at Cincinnati, early in thatyear, be-

fore either the Republicans proper or the Dem-
ocrats, and nominated for president, Horace
Greeley, the life-long advocate of protection to

American labor, and the life-long opponent
of slavery, even in the slave States. He had
perhaps said harder things in his paper, the

New York Tribune
,
of slave-holders and dem-

ocrats than any other man in the nation
;
but

he had been frightened out of his senses, in

the opinion of many, by the magnitude of the

civil war
;

had annoyed President Lincoln

with his wild and pragmatical propositions for

peace on almost any terms
;
so that our “way-

ward sisters” the seceding states might go in

peace, and had finally crowned the climax of

his folly by volunteering to become the bail of

Jefferson Davis—the ex-president of the ex-

confederate government. It was thought by

the Liberals that these latter day vagaries

would commend him favorably to the Demo-
cratic party which had been out of power for

some twelve years. At the Democratic Na-

.
tional Convention held in Baltimore in June,
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1S72, Greeley was accepted as the presidential

candidate, and Gratz Brown, another original

abolitionist, was also accepted as tire candidate

for the vice presidency, along with the plat-

form of the Liberal or Conservative Republi-

cans.

The Democracy of Delaware, however, which

had been regarded as strongly pro-slavery, did

not take kindly to Greeley and Brown, and

such was their disaffection that many cut off

the head of their tickets containing theelectoral

candidates, and others even voted for General

Grant, who carried the State by quite a hand-

some majority, and Major James R. Lofland,

the Republican candidate for Congress, was also

elected over Custis B. Wright, the democratic

nominee, by a small vote.

At all the elections held since then the

Democratic party has been in the ascendant.

Ever since the death of John M. Clayton, the

State has been represented on the floor of the

United States Senate by two democratic

Senators from Delaware, except during a

period of some six or eight weeks, when Hon-

Joseph P. Comegys, the present Chief Justice

held the position of Senator by appointment

of Governor Causey, to fill the vacancy occa-

sioned by Mr. Clayton’s death in November,

1856.

-The Democratic Legislature, in 1873, passed

certain enactments which have been known as

the assessment and collection laws, denounced

by the Republicans as “the infamous tax laws,"

the object of which, as is alleged, was to pre-

vent the negro population from voting as

largely as possible, by an indirect method,

which would not be held to be repugnant to

the amended constitution of the United States,

by placing impediments in the way of their

getting their names on the assessment list in

the first place, and of paying their taxes when

they should be assessed
;
the State constitu-

tion requiring the pre-payment of a county

tax as one ef the qualifications of a voter.

I

As a consequence, many negroes and others

were thereby without a vote, and in 1874, the

democratic majorities were increased. Lofland

was defeated of his re-election to Congress, and
Dr. Isaac Jump, the republican nominee for

Governor also. The Democratic party claims

that, inasmuch as this legislation was the same
for all parties and colors, it is in itself just and
proper.

In 1876 the Republican party rallied again

but with no prospect of success. For many
years back it had been divided in Delaware into

two factions, which as soon as the election was
over, fell to abusing and fighting each other

more than the democrats, thereby daily

diminishing their strength to oppose the party

in power in the state. Such was the effect of

this factional spirit, that the assessments and

payment of taxes to qualify voters, were ut-

terly neglected, or attempted in a half-hearted

method
;
each faction fearing that it might be

working only for the benefit of the other; so

that in 1878 the republicans nominated no

candidate for Governor, or for Congress, nor

any county ticket except in New Castle, which

was of course doomed to utter defeat. The
elections went by default.

In 1880 the Republican party again mustered

their forces, under the leadership of a few skill-

ful and energetic men in each county, who man-
aged to get a pretty full assessment and general

payment of taxes for that year; though they

were still short on their voting list by at least a

thousand votes as they claimed. The canvass of

that year served to re-organize and crystallize

the party, and at the present writing the out-

look wears the appearance of a better show of

success for that party at the coming election

in November next. At any rate its ehances of

success are vastly improved, and every thing

gives promise of a hard and severe coming
political struggle. What will be the out-come ?

“Nous Verrons."

August, 1882.
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LAYTON, JOHN MIDDLETON, law-

yer and statesman, was born in the

village of Dagsborough, Sussex county,

July 24, 1796.

ton, was a man of

intellect. He was

His father. Tames Clay-

superior character and

large and imposing in

appearance, and his wife, Sarah (Middleton)

Clayton, was also distinguished in person and

features, and possessed rare social gifts. Her

fine powers of conversation she transmitted to

all her children. She was of Virginia ancestry

and a native of the eastern shore of Maryland.

Her husband wras descended from Joshua

Clayton, a Friend, who came to this country

with William Penn. He left two sons, John

and Joshua. John also left two sons, James

and John. James left five sons, the eldest of

whom was Governor Joshua Clayton, father of

Chief Justice Thomas Clayton. John Clayton,

a brother of Governor Joshua, was a distin-

guished political personage in colonial and

later times, Judge in Admiralty under the

Constitution of 1776, Sheriff of Kent and

Associate Judge of the Court of Common
Pleas. The father of the subject of our

:

sketch was James, the youngest of the five

sons of James Clayton. He was born March

24, 1761, was married August 18, 1791, and

died November 24, 1820, leaving six children
;

Lydia, who married John Kellum of Accomac
county, Virginia; John M.; Harriet, who be-

came the wife of Walter Douglass, and after

his death married Plenry W. Peterson
;
Eliza-

beth, who never married
;
Mary Anne, who

was the wife of George T. Fisher
;
and James

H. M. Clayton, who died unmarried in 1837.

These sisters and this brother of John M.
Clayton, all died in his lifetime, only one of

them, Harriet, having left any issue now living.

Mr. Clayton entered Yale College at the

age of fifteen, and graduated September 12,

1815, with the first honors of his class. It is

stated that during these four years, he never

missed a single recitation, never once absented

himself from prayers, was not once absent

from church, and never, upon any occasion,

violated a single rule of the college. Upon
his return to Delaware, he commenced the

study of law with his cousin, the Hon. Thomas
Clayton. He also spent a year and eight

months at the then celebrated Law School at

Litchfield, Connecticut, studying sixteen

hours a day. After an unusual preparation

and training, he was admitted to the bar at

Georgetown, in October, 1819. His splendid

examination gave early promise of his future

eminence and success, and in less than a year

his fame as a lawyer and an advocate became
well known. Before three years had passed he

was sought after and engaged in every import-

ant cause in the State. Every litigant was
anxious to procure his services, thinking his

aid sufficient to secure certain success. The
late James A. Bayard affirmed that he did not

believe a jury lawyer superior to Clayton had

ever lived in this country. Nature had en-

dowed him with every personal charm as well

as intellectual gift. When full of his subject and
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bending his energies to the accomplishment of

of his object, his appearance in the court-room

was grand
;
his tall, commanding, finely-de-

veloped figure, and handsome, expressive

countenance, lending their effect to his ease

and grace of manner, his skill in handling his

case and the wonderful displays of the re-

sources of his great mind. On such occasions

the room was always filled. His splendid

voice, elegance and force of language, and

powers of illustration, all remember who wit-

nessed or heard them, and have never been

equaled in the State.

The death of his father in 1S20, left him to

provide for the support of his mother, two sis-

ters and a young brother. This the lavish

generosity of his nature gave him great de-

light in doing, and the incentive to labor still

further inspired all his powers.

He was married September 12, 1822, to Miss

Sally Ann Fisher, an heiress and daughter of

Dr. James Fisher of Camden. To his young
and lovely wife he was passionately devoted,

but after little more than two years of domes-

tic happiness she was taken from him, Febru-

ary 18, 1S25, leaving him two sons, the young-

est but a few days old. The shadow of this

great sorrow rested upon him for many years.

He never fully recovered from it, and would

never listen to any suggestion of a second

marriage. His youngest son grew to be a

young man of great promise, but he died in

January, 1849, when in his twenty-fourth year,

and the other son two years afterwards.

It was felt that but for these added afflic-

tions, and the failure of his health under them,

he might have lived many years longer to con-

tinue his inestimable services to his country.

His first public offices were as clerk of the

House of Representatives, from 18 16 to 1819,

and of the Senate in 1820. In 1821 he was ap-

pointed State Auditor. The business of this

office he found in great confusion, but soon re-

duced it to a perfect system. In 1824 he was

elected a member of the Legislature, and sub-

sequently filled the office of Secretary of State.

In 1829 he was elected to the United States

Senate, as a whig. On taking his seat, March

4, 1829, he found himself the youngest member
of that body, at a time when such mem as Web-
ster, Clay, Calhoun and Benton were at the

zenith of their power and influence
;
yet he

rapidly acquired a national reputation, and be-

came one of the great leaders of his party.

Although only thirty-five years of age he was

acknowledged the leading member of the

convention that framed the present constiution

of the State, in 1S31. He was re elected to

the Senate in 1835, but becoming weary of

political life he resigned his place in December,

[836, and resumed the practice of law. In

January, 1837, he retired from the bar, and ac-

cepted the office of Chief Justice of the State,

tendered him by his friend, Governor Polk. In

this position he had no superior
;

his great

learning, his quick intuitions of the truth and

right, his patience and impartiality, peculiarly

fitting him for its requirements. He resigned

it in little more than three years, and here his

professional life virtually ended, although he

occasionally took part in important cases.

In March, 1842, he was again elected to the

Senate, and on the accession of General Tay-

lor to the Presidency in 1849, the office of

Secretary of State was tendered him and ac-

cepted. In April, 1850, he negotiated the famous

Clayton-Huiwer Treaty wii.h Great Britain. On
the death of President Taylor, in July of the

same year, he returned to private life. On the

6th of January, 1853, a wanton attack on the

above treaty and on Mr. Clayton was made
in the United States Senate. So great was

the indignation of the people of Delaware,

that, although the State Senate was Demo-
cratic, a joint meeting ol both houses of the

the Legislature was speedily arranged, and on

the 12th he was returned to the United States

Senate that he might meet his assailants on

equal ground. This he did in so masterly a

manner as to overwhelm and silence his oppo-

nents and triumphantly vindicate the princi-

ples of the treaty he had inaugurated. Mr.

Clayton remained in the Senate till his death,

which occurred in Dover, November 9, 1856.

His once robust health had been failing for

several years. Not only was his death felt

to be the loss of Delaware’s most distinguished

citizen, but a national calamity.

An appropriate marble monument marks his

last resting place in the Presbytdrian church-

yard in Dover, he having been a consistent

member of that church.

To the history of his country and of his State

belongs the more full and complete enumera-

tion of his public services, only the briefest

outline of which has here been attempted.
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More than this is rendered almost supurduous

by the constant, daily mention of him and the

acts of his life, in the press and the literature

of the times. He was one of those grand

characters whose memory ail men delight to

recall, and of whom every item that can be

gathered up is invested with interest.

AYARD, JAMES A., a distinguished

American Statesman, was born in the

city of Philadelphia, July 28, 1 767. He
was the second son of Dr. James A.

Bayard, a physician of promising talents and

increasing reputation, but who died Jan-

uary 8, 1770, at an early period of life. Dr.

Bayard was the brother of Colonel John

Bayard, who, during the revolutionary war,

was a member of the Council of Safety, and

many years speaker of the legislature of Penn-

sylvania. He commanded the artillery at the

battle of Brandywine, and distinguished him-
c i-i u i-R 1— u:~ ^^A3C11 till UU^il Cll^ VV CXI uy 11 1 D XUUiu^v, unu V- w i i

! Bayard, crowning a hill which commands one

of the noblest prospects in that romantic

region, mark what is regarded as the cradle of

the race. During the persecutions which fol-

lowed the massacre of St. Bartholomew, three

brothers, Jacques, Thomas and Philippe Bayard,

who had embraced the Huguenot faith, fled,

with thousands of their fellow-believers, from

France, and took refuge in Holland, where
their descendants still exist. One of these,

i Samuel Bayard, early in the seventeeth cen-

tury, married Anneke, or Anna, daughter of

Balthazar Stuyvesant, and sister of Peter Stuy-

i vesant, Governor of New Amsterdam. Anna
Bayard, being a widow at the time of her

i

brother’s appointment, accompanied him to the

New World, with her three sons, Balthazar,

Nicholas and Petrus, and a daughter Catherine
;

j

landing at New Amsterdam, May 11, 1647.

i

From these three brothers all the Bayards in

|

the United States are descended. The de-

i scendants of the two elder are still living in

i
New York. Petrus, the youngest, became a

convert of tHe Jw2.t?2,dist mission9. ries q n r i n o*

duct. Bancroft pronounces him “ a patriot of

singular purity of character and disinterested-

ness
;
personally brave, pensive, earnest and

devout.” The Bayards, in both the Old

World and the New, trace back their illus-

trious descent to the time when centuries ago

the term, “ a Bayard ” became the synonym
for bravery, purity and nobility of character,

i

Romance and history owe to one of their

'

number, Pierre du Ferrail, Seigneur de Bayard,
“ the Knight without fear and without re-

proach,” its ideal of a perfect Knighthood.

He was the famous captain of Charles VIII,

Louis XII, and P'rancis I, the latter of whom,
after the battle of Marignano, would receive

the honor of knighthood from no hand but

that of Bayard. In 1 505 he, single-handed,kept

the bridge of the Garigliano against the Span-

iards, and saved the whole French army. In

the wars between Francis and Emperor Charles

V, he was the most trusted French leader, and

fell by an arquebuse-shot while conducting the

retreat of the passage of the Sesia, April 30,

1524. For generations earlier still the Bayards

were distinguished for courage in war and

fidelity to their sovereign. In the province of

Dauphine, now the department of the Isere, in

the southeast of France, about six leagues

from Grenoble, the ruins of the Chateau
;

their short stay in New York, and with his

family accompanied them to Cecil county,

Maryland, where a tract of land had been

given them, between the Elk and the Bohemia
rivers, forming part of the great Bohemia
Manor grant of Augustine Herrmann, the

magnate ol that region, and a conspicuous

personage in the early history of Maryland.

The land was given them by Ephraim Plerr-

mann.son and heir of Augustine, and tvho also

had been made a convert by the missionaries

in New York. It contained about 3,750 acres,

which was conveyed in August, 1684, to five

persons, one of whom was Petrus Bayard.

He passed nearly all the rest of his life in

j

Maryland, but died in New York in 1699.

,

The Labadist community was not of long con-

tinuance, and in July, 1698, a partition of the

land took place, Samuel Bayard, the eldest

son of Petrus, receiving a considerable tract

as his share. He spent his life on his Bohemia
Manor farm in the ease and abundance 'which

characterized the open-handed life of the

Maryland gentlemen of those times, and

built himself a large brick house, in which he

and his descendants lived till 1789. He died

in 1721, leaving three sons, Samuel, Peter and

James, and one daughter, Mary Ann. James
the third son, married Mary Asheton, of Vir-



'

_



^ <*

-.r~^.h>*





BIOGRAPH ICAL DEPARTMENT. 21
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ginia; and of this marriage were born two sons,

John and Dr. James Asheton, mentioned in

the beginning of this sketch. James Asheton

Bayard, the second, and the subject of this no-

tice,was but two years old at the time of his

father’s death. He also had one elder brother,

John. He was placed under the guardianship of

his uncle, Col. Jno. Bayard who resided in Phila-

delphia,and in whose family he lived for several

years. His education was first entrusted to the

Rev. Mr. Smith, of Lancaster county.with whom
he remained sometime, but eventually returned

to his uncle’s family, and pursued his studies

uuder a private tutor until his admission to

Princeton College. He graduated with the

highest honors,September 28, 1784. He pur-

sued his legal studies in Philadelphia, on con-

cluding which he resolved to practice his

profession in the adjoining State of Delaware,

and was admitted to the bar in New Castle

county in August, 1797. The first years of his

professional life he devoted to severe study,

during which time he attained that familiar and

exact knowledge of the principles of political

science, and of general jurisprudence which

in after life were alike serviceable to him at

the bar and in Congress. On the nth of

February, 1795, he was married to Miss Bas-

sett, the eldest daughter of Richard Bassett,

Esq., who was subsequently governor of Dela-

ware. Shortly after his marriage Mr. Bayard
became actively connected with the dominant

party in the State, and in October, 1796, was
elected a member of the fifth Congress, in

which he took his seat May 22, 1797. He at

once became prominent for his zeal, industry,

ability and knowledge. In 1801, it was the

vote of Mr. Bayard that decided the election

of Mr. Jefferson as president of the United !

States. In February of that year he was ap-

pointed minister to P'rance by John Adams,
whose presidential term did not expire until

the 4th of March following. Nothing could,

under any other circumstances have been more
gratifying to his feelings

;
but from the deli-

cate situation in which he had been placed by
the late election he instantly declined the

appointment. During the followiug adminis-

tration he was called the Goliah of the feder-

alist party, and sarcastically denominated the

high priest of the constitution. He was pow-
erful and eloquent in opposing what he deemed
wrong and in advocating what he believed

28

would subserve the best interests of the coun-

try. In November, 1S04, he was elected by
the legislature of Delaware a senator of the

United States, for the unexpired term of Mr.

Wells, who had resigned that office
;
and on

P'ebruary, 1805, was again elected for the en-

suing six years. Our hasty sketch will not

permit more than a passing notice of the

most prominent events of his life. In 1811,

he was re-elected to the United States Senate.

War was declared with Great Britain on the

8th of June, 1812. Mr. Bayard had strongly

urged its postponement till the following win-

ter, arguing that then the elements would

assist in protecting us from the enemy, but

now was prompt in advising such measures

and such a line of conduct as the safety and

honor of the country demanded. Pie was the

chairman of the committee of safety in Wil-

mington, his place of residence, and at the

head of his fellow citizens, was the first to as-

sist with his own hands in the erection of the

temporary defences of the town. Shortly after,

the Emperor of Russia offered his uicd citiG'ii tG

both nations, to promote the restoration of

peace, and the President accepting the offer

without waiting to know whether Great

Britain would do so likewise, appointed, April

17, 1813, Mr. Bayard, together with Mr. Galla-

tin and Mr. Adams, ministers plenipotentiary,

for the purpose of negotiating a peace, with

further power, in case of a successful issue, to

make a treaty of commerce. Mr. Adams was

then the American minister at St. Petersburg,

at which place Mr. Bayard and Mr. Gallatin

arrived July 21, 1813, and where they remained

six months. Becoming satisfied that the

British Government did not mean to accept

! the mediation, they left it January 25, 1814,

and traveling by land through Berlin to Am-
sterdam, arrived at the latter place on the 4th

of March following. There they received dis-

patches from the government, apprising them
that Great Britain had refused the mediation

of Russia, but had offered to negotiate directly,

either at London or Gottenburg. Ghent was

finally substituted for the latter place, and

there after many tedious delays, the treaty of

peace was signed, December 24, 1814.

Mr. Bayard left Ghent on 7th January, 1815,

and arrived in Paris on the nth of the same
month : here he designed to remain until it

should be necessary to repair to London, to
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assist with other members of the mission, in
j

the negotiation of a treaty of commerce with
!

Great Britain, with which they had also been
]

charged. On the 4th March, however, he was !

attacked with the disease which was to prove
|

fatal to his life. After severe suffering and a

confinement for most of the period to his

chamber, he left Paris in a state of great de-

bility on the 10th of May, and embarking im-

mediately on his arrival at Havre, the vessel

sailed for Plymouth, where she arrived on the

14th of the same month. Plere, in daily ex-

pectation of the arrival of Mr. Clay from

London, who was to take passage in the same

ship, he was detained for five weeks, during

which time he was unable to leave his berth,

but remained in a state of excessive suffering

and alarming debility. The appointment of

minister to Russia had been conferred on him

by the President, and confirmed by the Senate
;

but he promptly declined its acceptance. At
length the ship was ordered to sail, and arriv-

ing in the Delaware on the 1st of August, Mr.

Bayard found himself once more, after an ab-

sence of more than two years, in the bosom of

his family. But it was only to receive their

welcome, and to mingle the tears of joy at his

return with those of grief for their final sep-

aration. He expired on the 6th of August,

1815, at the age of forty-eight years, and that

Providence which saw fit to remove him from

this life, in the maturity of his powers and the

highest capability of usefulness, indulged the

fond wish of his heart, to embrace once more

his wife and children, and draw his last breath

in the land of his nativity.

COTT, REV. LEVI, A. M., D. D„ late

senior Bishop of the Methodist Episco-

pal Church in the United States of

North America, was born near Odessa,

New Castle county, Delaware, on the nth
day of October, 1802, and on the farm where

he resided at the time of his death, July 13,

1882. This was his home after 1862, having

left it in 1826 to begin the life of a Methodist

Itinerant Minister. He was the youngest of

three children of Rev. Thomas and Ann
(March) Scott They were from early life

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church,

and Thomas Scott, after serving as a local

preacher, joined the itinerant ranks and trav-

eled Queen Anne’s Circuit, Md., in 1S03, and

departed this life June II, of that year. His

race was brief, but he won the goal, dying in

great triumph in the 31st year of his age. He
was remarkable for his zeal and devotion to

Christ’s cause, and was a most useful minister

of the M. E. Church. His ashes repose, as it

is believed, under the present Church, Centre-

ville, Md. He was united in marriage to Mrs.

Anne (March) Lattomus, widow of Jno. Lat-

tomus, March 22, 1796.

Their children were Thomas, who died in

1874, in his 74th year
;

Sarah, who died in

early childhood, and Levi, afterwards Bishop

Scott. The Scotts were of Irish lineage
;
the

grandfather and grandmother of the Bishop

having both been emigrants from that country.

Their names were Thomas and Lydia. His

grandparents on the mother s side—the Marchs

—were emigrants from England who settled

in Kent count}", Md.

The mother of Bishop Scott was a woman
of uncommon endowments. Though widowed

a second time, she undertook the manage-
ment of the farm, freed it from a debt, even

bought more land, and reared her children

carefully and respectably.

She was a woman of great energy of char-

acter, of large business capabilities and a

faithful Christian. She died August 20, 1848,

and is interred in the burial ground of the

Union M. E. Church, a short distance from her

home of over half a century. Levi grew up on

the farm and had, when a boy, very limited op-

portunities for obtaining an education, going to

school but a short time in winter and working

on the farm in other seasons of the year.

At the age of 16 years he began, much
against his own tastes, to learn the business of

a tanner with a cousin, but after four months,

was induced by a relative to go to George-

town, D. C., and learn, in his employ, the

business of a carpenter and builder. This busi-

ness proving too great a tax on his strength,

he, by the advice of his medical attendant,

abandoned it and returned home He was

fond of mechanical pursuits, and soon after his

return engaged in working at the business of a

cabinet maker with John Janvier, in Odessa,

with whom he continued until of age. The
event upon which his life turned occurred

when he was twenty years old : this was his
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conversion, which took place October i6,
j

1821, in the house of a colored man named
j

Isaac Carter, at Fieldsboro, in a meeting under

the supervision of Christian women.

This event loosened his attachment to

mechanical employment, as well as to worldly

pursuits. For his trade and for merely worldly

gain, he no longer evinced his forme^ enthu-

siasm, and although he still followed his busi-

ness until 1824. his ardor had taken a new

direction. Soon after his conversion he felt

impelled to husband his time and resources,

for the purpose of mental improvement. In

1825, he engaged in teaching near Middletown.

In this period of his life he was the subject oi

peculiar trial resulting from a sense of duty,

which had followed him from the first year of

his conversion
;
the duty of devoting himself

to the work of the holy ministry. His strug-

gles arose from his sense of the high mental

and spiritual attainments required of one en-

gaging in the work of the Christian ministry.

His modesty and humility, characteristics

which accompanied the Bishop through iile,

caused him to shrink from obtruding himself

upon the church. The church, however, did

recognize the abilities of young Scott, and the

Quarterly Conference of Smyrna Circuit re-

commended him in the Spring of 1826, to the

Philadelphia Annual Conference 11
as a suitable

person ” to be received into the itinerant min-

istry. He was so received, and appointed with

Rev. Charles Reed, to Talbot Circuit, Mary-

land. In 1827, was sent with Rev. Jas. Bate-

man to Dover Circuit. In 1828, was admitted

into full connection, and ordained Deacon by

Bishop George and appointed with three others

to the St. George’s Charge, Philadelphia. This

charge then consisted of four white and two

colored churches. Here he had better oppor-

tunities for study. He diligently pursued,

under competent instructors, his Latin and

Greek in connection with theology and other

scientific and classical studies, acquiring those

habits of thought and reflection which he per-

severingly continued until he was more than

fifty years of age. But all this was too much

for a constitution which had never been robust;

and although greatly enfeebled, St. George’s

Charge, the next year, asked for his return,

kindly saying that inasmuch “ as Bro. Scott’s

health has become impaired in serving us, we

want him returned that we may nurse him back

2 19

to health.” He was so returned in 1829, and

was given a vacation from April until August.

In 1S30 and 1831 he was in charge of West
Chester and Marshalton. In the year 1830 he

married Miss Sarah A., daughter of Ralph

H. and Grace (Hancock) Smith. It was

during this period that great success attended

his ministry, and among others brought into

the church during these two years, who have

become well known to Methodism, was Rev.

John S. Inskip. His excessive labors and

study however, told on his health and

he was compelled to ask for a Supernumer-

ary relation. This, however, lasted but nine

months, for the health of Rev. James Nicholls

of Smyrna Circuit, having failed, he wras in-

duced by Rev. Lawrence McCombs, P. E., to

take his place, having for a Senior Colleague

Rev. R. M. Greenbank. At the Conference of

1833, he made a request for light work for one

year, the only request he ever made in his life,

to the appointing power. He was placed on

Kent Circuit, Md., a charge with eleven ap-

pointments, and had tor Junior Coiieague, Rev.

Benjamin Benson. Here he remained but one

year, being made Presiding Elder of the Dela-

ware District 1834, and serving for two years.

This was most unexpected as only the older

preachers were then given such a charge, and

Mr. Scott was at this time regarded as still a

young man. In 1836 Bishop Hedding re-

moved him from the District, and appointed

him to Franklin Street, Newark, N. J.

In this year the Conference, then embracing

Eastern Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Delaware

and the Eastern Shores of Maryland and Vir-

ginia, was divided and the New Jersey Con-

ference was created, when he asked to be re-

turned to the Philadelphia Conference. This

was granted him and he was appointed Pastor

of the Old Ebenezer Church, Philadelphia.

He was re-appointed the second year, and

during his pastorate the church building was

thoroughly modernized. In 1839 he was ap-

pointed to the St. Paul’s charge, Philadelphia,

and in the spring of 1840, at the earnest solici-

tation of Dr. Durbin, then President of Dickin-

son College, he was appointed Principal of

Dickinson College Grammar School. Here

he served with great acceptance for three

years, and during the last one was assisted by

Rev. Geo. R. Crooks, D. D., and during the

preceding two years by Thomas, now Bishop,
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Bowman. In 1840 the degree of A. M. was

conferred by the Wesleyan University, and in

1846 the College of his native State, (Dela-

ware,) conferred on him the deserved honor of

Doctor of Divinity. In 1843 he became pas-

tor of the Union Church, Philadelphia, serving

for two years. At the close of his term, 1845,

was appointed Presiding Elder of the South

Philadelphia District, and after three years, at

the General Conference of 1848, was elected

x by that body assistant Book Agent of the

Methodist Book Concern, New York.

.Bishop Scott was first sent as Delegate from

the Philadelphia Annual Conference to the

General Conference of 1836, and was at every

General Conference either in the capacity of

Delegate or Bishop to the time of his decease.

This is a historical fact as unique as it is unus-

ual, and illustrates how greatly he has been

beloved and honored by his brethren in the

ministry. In 1852 the General Conference

met in Boston, and Dr. Scott was elected to

the most honored position of the church—that

of the Methodist Episcopacy.

Soon after Bishop Scott made the first offi-

cial Episcopal visitation to the Church in

Liberia, Africa, appearing in its conference as

the first of the Board of Bishops of the Metho-
dist Episcopal Church. From that period he

presided in the Annual Conferences, North

and South, as well as on the Pacific Coast, and

until 1878 performed his full share of the labor-

ious duties of the office he so long and so

honorably adorned, by a wisdom and purity

which the Church has never questioned.

In 1879, November 25, Mrs. Scott died after

three weeks’ illness. She had been for nearly

half a century the sharer of his labors and suc-

cesses. Seven children were born to them of

this marriage: Rev. Alfred T. Scott, Professor

in the Wesleyan Female College, Wilmington
;

Emma Irving, who became the wife of Rev.

Dr. Mitchell, now of the Georgia Conference,

and who died on the 21 of August 1871, and

Cornelia Janes, now the wife of Geo. Lybrand
Townsend, of whom see sketch in this volume.

On ,the 20th of May 1880, Bishop Scott had

a stroke of paralysis, which disabled one of his

arms, but his general health continued good,

and although deprived by increasing years and

this affliction from leading the hosts of Israel

in batttle, he stood to the last in his tent door

looking on and cheering, by his words and

example those who go forth into the conflict

for the Master and for victory.

He was interred in the graveyard of the

Union Methodist Episcopal Church, near his

home, and sleeps beside the dead mother he

honored, and the wife of his affection.

Bishop Scott’s knowledge of theology was

wide and profound, his knowledge of church

history extensive, whiie in the department of

the Greek language, all that related to sacred

literature was critically and profoundly

appreciated
;

yet, above all his rare and

amiable characteristics and acquirements, an

acquaintance of many years, impressed the

writer of this sketch with the thought that,

beyond all else, was his rare spiritual insight

and experimental knowledge of the word of

God. Here he was indeed a master in Israel,

and his exegesis of texts teaching a religion

of experience, however profound or difficult

to others, seemed to him familiar and easy by

reason of his own deep experience of a self

demonstrative Christianity. It was this that

gave him his greatest power in the pulpit, and

by which he will be longest remembered by

the Methodist Episcopal church.

ARRINGTON,SAMUEL MAXWELL,
Chancellor, was born in Dover, Febru-

ary 5, 1803. On his father’s side he was

of English descent,—on his mother's, of

German extraction. His academic studies

were completed at Washington College, Mary-

land, of which Dr. Francis Waters was Presi-

dent. He was graduated in 1S23, with the first

honors of his class. During his minority, the

death of his father imposed upon him the
' charge of his mother and two sisters. His first

I public employment was in the office of the

Clerk of the Supreme Court, of Kent county.

By the invitation of Henry M. Ridgely, he

entered into his office as a student
;
and, sub-

sequently, finished his legal studies with

j

Martin W. Bates. He was admitted an attor-

ney of the Supreme Court at the October

! Term, 1826. In 1828, upon the retirement of

John M. Clayton, as Secretary of State, he

was appointed his successor by Gov. Polk, and

was subsequently re-appointed by Gov. Haz-

zard. A vacancy having occurred in the office

I
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of Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, Mr.

Harrington was selected, in 1830, to fill that

position
;

and, upon the abolition of the

Supreme Court and the Court of Common
Pleas, by the Constitution of 1831, he was ap-

pointed one the Associate Judges of the

Superior Court. Then, as now, the peculiarity

of the judicial system of Delaware, rendered

the position of an Associate Judge exception-

ally important, the administration of every

branch of jurisprudence falling directly within

his functions. In this situation he continued

until April 3, 1 S 5 5 ,
when he was made Chief

Justice, in place of James Booth, and occupied

that station until May 4, 1857, when he was

appointed Chancellor, which place he held

until his death, on Tuesday, November 28,

1865, at the Washington House in the city of

Philadelphia. From 1832 to 1855, he was the

official Reporter of the judicial decisions of

the State. In 1849 he was appointed by the

Legislature, in connection with Joseph P.

Ccmegys and Daniel M Bates, to revise the

public Statutes then in force, with general dis-

cretion to omit such provisions as they should

consider unnecessary, and to vary whatsover

they might deem proper to render the general

system consistent, or more perspicuous, or

better adapted to circumstances. This delicate

and responsible duty was faithfully performed

by the Commissioners
;
and the Revised Code

was passed by the unanimous vote of both

Houses of the Legislature, February 27, 1852.

In 1853 the honorary degree of LL. D. was

conferred upon him by Delaware College.

Without any extraordinary advantages of

social or political influence, a career so remark-

able could have been accomplished only by the

manifestation of unusual merit. At a time

when the Bar was filled with lawyers of the

highest eminence, that a practitioner of three

years’ standing, and only twenty-seven years

of age, should have been elevated to the dig-

nity' of Chief Justice of the Supreme Court,

might reasonably have appeared a wanton ex-

periment upon public forbearance
;
but that

he should have maintained his position with

credit, discharging its duties with admitted

capacity, gaining public confidence and profes-

sional esteem, and steadily advancing to the

attainment of the highest judicial station,

amply vindicated the wisdom of his selec-

tion.

A recapitulation of his professional labors

would be a summary of the judicial history of

the State for more than one-third of its exis-

tence. The written law was largely compiled

by his hand, and the unwritten is evidenced

by his Reports. Other men may have obtained

a wider reputation and achieved more brilliant

success, but there are few to whom it has been

given to confer more substantial benefits upon

a whole community.

For the position of a judge he was, by

nature, admirably adapted. With a mind re-

flective rather than suggestive, he was not

prone to indulge in legal speculations, but was

content to found his judgment upon the law

as it had been established. The maxim, “ stare

1 decisis ,” which he adopted as the motto of his

Reports, constituted the index to his judicial

character. Patient of toil, his diligence was

unremitting. Desirous to be informed, he was

willing to hear both sides. Possessed of a

kindly disposition, he was uniformly courteous

in his deportment. Scrupulous in his integrity,

to use his own words in the case of Rice vs.

Foster
,
he would “much rather be right than

be consistent.” His whole life was a system

of labor, and in this respect each day was but

a repetition of the former. Stricken with

paralysis, he was for two years almost pros-

trated
;
but so unconquerable was his determi-

nation to do something, that disease could not

overcome it
;
and with him to cease to work,

was to cease to live.

In the midst of his judicial labors he was

not forgetful of the material interests of the

people. He found time to advance a system

of internal improvement
;
and, intense in what-

soever he undertook, to him, perhaps, more

than to any other, we are indebted for the

completion of that line of travel and transpor-

tation which has done so much to enhance the

value of our lands and develop the resources

of the State. Had he effected nothing else,

the Delaware Railroad ought to endear his

memory to this people, and endure as a monu-
ment of his wisdom and perseverance in secur-

ing this instrument of their prosperity. Though
a judge, he was not unmindful of his duty as a

citizen
;
and his views of the relation subsist-

ing between the States and the National Gov-

erment induced him to take a decided stand

with reference to the conflict that threatened

the disruption of the Union. The measures
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of the administration for the suppression of the

rebellion found in him a warm supporter. He
regarded secession as rank treason, and he had
neither toleration for the act nor sympathy
with the actors.

Thus faithful to his Government, he did not

neglect the higher obligations which he owed
to his God. A member of the Methodist Epis-

copal Church, he was unobtrusive in his devo-

tions and unostentatious in his piety. Ac-
knowledging his dependence upon a Higher

Power, he manifested, in his life, that his

actions were governed by the principles of a

religion which he was not ashamed to confess.

A useful citizen, a true patriot, an upright

judge, and a sincere Christian, those among
whom he was born, with whom he dwelt and

for whom he wrought, are not insensible of his

merits, nor will they be forgetful of his labors.

OCkWUUU, RlCHARD, iate a mer-

f
chant of Middletown, was born in Kent
county, April 14, 177S. His parents

were John and Ann (Kirkly) Lockwood;

the former, who was a farmer, was born Octo-

ber 15, 1759, and died October 8, 1811. Mrs.

Lockwood, born December n, 1766, died July

30, 1791, when her son Richard was but three

years and three months old. Just previously,

on the second day of the same month, she lost

her youngest son, Samuel, born October 10,

1789. Besides these she had two children

older, Letitia, born January 3, 1785, married

Matthias Day—her death not recorded—and

William Kirkly, born Ootober 24, 1786, mar-

ried Miss Hayes. He died in January, 1872.

The grandfather of the subject of our sketch

was Richard Lockwood, born November 29,

1735. His wife, Margaret, was born February

8, 1737 .
and died July 14, 1814. Armwell

Lockwood was the father of Richard, and his

wife’s name was Mary; no dates or other par-

ticulars in regard to them have been preserved.

The subject of this sketch grew up on his

father’s farm, receiving only the plain English

education, generally considered sufficient at

that day. In 1810, when in his twenty-second

year, he came to Middletown and engaged as

a clerk in the dry-goods store of Joseph White,

whose partner he afterward became. In the

war of 18 12 he enlisted as a private soldier,

and was stationed at old Fort Cassimer, at

New Castle, where he became noted as a

musket shot. He killed, with a flint-lock

musket, loaded with ball, a crow flying over-

head.

On returning to his business, he was very

successful as a merchant till 1830, when the

firm failed through the dishonesty of a clerk

whom Mr. Lockwood had made a partner, and
he was left without any other property than a

farm belonging to his wife. But redoubling

his energies he paid off all the indebtedness of

the firm and commenced anew. He was
prospered, enabled to bring up well his large

family of ten children, and left at his death a

landed estate of over twelve hundred acres in

Maryland and Delaware, besides considerable

personal property. His course of conduct

through life was such as to win the good will

of all, and the entire respect of the community.
When not actively engaged in business he

loved the retirement of home, and was averse

to holding office, but was devoted to the inter-

ests of the Whig party, and never voted any
other ticket till 1861, when he became a

Republican. From that time, however, he

ceased to take an active part in politics He
was warm in his advocacy of the society of

Free Masons, having joined Union Lodge,
No. 5, soon after his arrival in Middletown.
He passed the chairs soon after the war of 18 12.

He was a member, and for a long time vestry-

man, of old St. Anne’s Protestant Episcopal

Church,' and in its- adjoining burial ground
his remains now repose. Mr. Lockwood was
married, October 28, 1817, to Mary R.,

daughter ol Edward and Lydia R. (Rothwell)

Wilson, of the Levels, near Middletown.
Their children were Lydia Ann, who married

Samuel Price of Maryland; Edward W,;
Mary R., married John M. Naudain

;
Martha

E., married Col. Joshua Clayton, son of Hon.,

T. Clayton
;
William K

;
Sarah Francis, mar-

ried Cyrus Tatman
;
Letitia Louisa, married

Professor A. M. Goldsborough of Philadelphia
;

John J.; Richard T
;
and Margaretta R., who

married Henry Clayton.
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g^ll&RAME ROBERT, late Secretary of

State and Attorney General of Dela-
r
-*GvCf) ware, was born in Sussex county in

;

the year 1800. His parents were

Robert and Mary (Vaughan) Frame. His father

was a large land owner in the above county.

His mother was from an old Virginia family,
j

for many years resident on the Eastern Shore.
|

The Frame family is numerous in Sussex
;

county and highly respectable. The subject
j

of our sketch graduated at an early age from

Princeton College, New Jersey, after which
j

he studied law in Dover with Hon. John M.

!

Clayton, and was admitted to the bar in 1821.
J

He practiced law in Dover with great success
|

and became one of the most eminent men in

his profession in the State. John M. Clayton

said of him that his was one of the soundest

and ablest legal minds of the State. He was

Secretary of State under Governor Polk, and;

was afterward Attorney General of the State

for one term. He removed to Wilmington in

1846, where, after having practiced his pro-

fession one year, he died, and was interred in

the church yard of the First Presbyterian

Church. His wife, whom he married in 1827,

was Jeannette Macomb Clayton, daughter of!

Chief Justice Thomas Clayton. She survived

her husband only three months. They left
I

three children
;
Robert, a physician, practicing

;

in Milford, Thomas C., also a physician, prac-

ticing at Wyoming, Kent county, and Julia,

living in Bridgeton, New Jersey. Mr. Frame
was for many years a member of the Presby-

terian Church. His wife was an Episcopalian.

1.ATTERSON, JOHN CUNNINGHAM,
Attorney-at-Law, and United States

g District Attorney, Wilmington, was

born in that city, October 24, 1815,

being the eldest child of John and Elizabeth

(Jefferies) Patterson. His father and grand-

father, Robert Patterson, emigrated from New-
ton Stewart, county Tyrone, Ireland, to Wil-

mington, in 1793. Robert Patterson died in

that city in October, 1798, in his sixty-sixth

year, and his wife, Mary, October 28, 1816, in

her eightieth year. They are buried, with

all the older members of the family, in the

grounds of the First Presbyterian Church of

Wilmington. John Patterson became a dry
goods merchant in that city several years before

the war of 1812, and continued this occupation
to the period of his death, in 1836, He was a

man of high character and an elder in the

church mentioned above. He married first,

Margaret, daughter of John Ross, of Chester
county, Pennsylvania, by whom he had two
children, Robert and Ross. His wife died

March 31, 1813, in her twenty-ninth year. His
second wife was Elizabeth, a descendant of the

Jefferies of Chester county, Pennsylvania. By
this marriage he had seven children

: John C.,

Mary Y., Margaret R., Samuel G., Henry G.,

Amelia R
,
and Thomas L. The subject of

this sketch received his early education at the

old Academy, in Wilmington, and was pre-

pared for college at the Academy at New
London, Chester county, Pennsylvania. In

183 1,when in his sixteenth year,he entered the

Freshman class at Nassau Hall, from which
he graduated A. B., in 1835, receiving the

third honor, and standing the fifth in scholar-

ship in a class of forty-eight. 1 hree years

later he received from the same college the

degree of A. M. During the six months fol-

lowing, and until the death of his father, he
was a student in the Theological Seminary at

Princeton. The next six months he spent as

an assistant in the academy in that place, and
was afterwards, for more than a year, a private

tutor in the family of Mrs. Conover, in Mon-
mouth county, New Jersey; his pupils being

her two sons, William and Charles. This part

of his life he regards as one of his most pleas-

ant experiences. He was next, for three years,

teller and book-keeper in the old Bank of Wil-

mington and Brandywine. He commenced
during this time, the study of law with Edward
W. Gilpin, Esq., then Attorney-General of the

State, and afterwards Chief Justice. After

the usual term of studyr

,
he was admitted to

the bar in Georgetown, Sussex county, to

which place he had accompanied his preceptor.

Soon after he was examined at New Castle

and admitted to practice as a Solicitor in the

Courts of Chancery. He has also been admit-

ted to, and has been a practitioner in, the

various United States courts for the District

of Delaware. From the time of his admission

to the bar, in 1842, to the present, Mr. Patter-

son has been actively engaged in the business

of his profession in the city of Wilmington,
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and the State Reports show his name con-

nected, as counsel and attorney, with a large

proportion of the civil cases tried or heard in

the county, and several in the Court of Errors

and Appeals. From 1S65 to 1870, he was City

Solicitor for the city of Wilmington. During

the Legislative session of 1847 he was Clerk

of the State Senate. He was appointed

United States District Attorney, by President

Hayes, March 27, 1880. Mr. Patterson is an

elder in the Hanover Street Presbyterian

Church. He was first married to Miss Helen

L. Sherron, of New Jersey, by whom he had

two children
;
Wilfred, now attorney-at-law

in Leadville, Colorado, and James, who is in

business in Philadelphia. In 1861, Mr. Patter-

son was married to Miss Laura A., daughter

of Captain John A. Webster, of Harford county,

Maryland. Their children are Webster, John

C., Jr., Malcolm and Mabel. Mr. Patterson is

highly esteemed as a citizen
;

is an able, safe

and learned lawyer
;
effective as an advocate,

and enjoys a reputation for honor and legal

attainments, which rank him among the fore-

most members of the Delaware bar.

RAY, ANDREW C., Lawyer and Presi-

dent of the Chesapeake and Delaware

Canal, and President of the Farmers’

Bank at New Castle, was born in Kent

county, May 25, 1804. His parents were

Andrew and Rebecca (Rodgers) Gray, and

their home was one of the most cultivated

and refined, as well as one of the happiest in

the state. His father ranked with the first

men of his time in the state, and his mother

worthily represented one of the most noted

historic families of the country. • Every advan-

tage of education and culture was bestowed

upon their son, who through all his long iife has

reflected the highest credit on the training he

received. He pursued his preparatory studies

at the Newark (Delaware) Academy and en-

tered the Junior class of Princeton College in

1819, graduating A. B. in 1821, at the age of

seventeen. His law studies he pursued with

the late Judge James R. Black, then at the

bar, and was admitted to practice in 1826. Mr.

Gray settled for the practice of his profession

in New Castle, where he has since resided.

He soon rose to eminence in his profession and

has always been one of the leading members
of the Delaware bar. Notwithstanding the

claims of his large and lucrative practice, he

has still found time for the faithful performance

of every duty as a citizen, and has taken a

deep interest in the advancement and pros-

perity of the State. He was for a long time

Counsel of the Chesapeake and Delaware
Canal Company, and has from 1853 been its

President
;
elected every year by the Board of

Directors. Mr. Gray was also one of the orig-

inal projectors of the Delaware Railroad, and
walked repeatedly over every foot of the pro-

posed route, which he was principally instru-

mental in locating. He has been a Director

ever since the organization of the Company,
and was offered but declined the Presidency.

He was actively interested in its construction,

and all monies for the land and for the mak-
ing of the Road passed through his hands :

He was President of the Frenchtown and New
Castle Railroad, and effected its junction with

the Wilmington Road. Since 183S Mr. Gray
has been connected with the Farmers’ Bank of

New Castle as a Director, and has been its

President since 1849. Although so much in-

terested in public affairs he has never allowed

his name to be presented as a candidate for

office. He has several times been urged to

accept the nomination for Congress but has

steadily declined.

Mr. Gray is large in stature, and his whole
appearance, as will be judged by the accom-
panying portrait, is at once striking and
handsome. He enjoys excellent health, is in

fullest possession of all his faculties, and bears

the promise of much longer continuance of his

useful and happy life. He possesses a re-

markable memory and is a most entertaining

conversationalist. As a man he enjoys the

highest respect and regard wherever known.

Mr. Gray was married in 1833 to Miss Elisa-

beth M. Schofield of Connecticut, daughter of

P'rederick Schofield, Esq., and granddaughter

of Major Starr of the same State, famous in the

annals of the Revolution. They have had five

children
;
Maria, now Mrs. Samuel Marsh, of

New York city. George Gray, a leading mem-
ber of the Delaware bar, and Attorney Gen-

eral of the State. Annie, wife of Major Hamil-

ton Hawkins, of the United States Army,
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whose father was a distinguished surgeon in
,

the Army ;
Emily S. Gray, who died December

26, 1863, Andrew Gray, the youngest child of

the family.

r , 'AO AYMOND, JACOB, son of James Ray-

'jrf
' tnond, a farmer of Raymond’s Neck,

t county, was born March 18, 17S8.

(£7“ fie was reared upon the farm and had

but few advantages of early education. He

came to Smyrna in boyhood and entered a

store to learn merchandizing. When a young

man he accepted a position as clerk in the

store of John Cummins which he continued for

three years. At the end of this time he

formed a co-partnership with Mr. Cummins

which lasted for five years. This partnership

was disolved in 1835, when Mr. Raymond went

into business upon his own account. He
largely engaged in buying grain, staves, etc.,

which he shipped to Philadelphia, New York,

and Boston upon his own vessels. He was a

systematic business man, very conservative

and very successful, and from 1830 until 1844

was one of the leading business men of his

town. In 1844 he retired from business and

became largely interested in agricultural pur-

suits, possessing a large estate of 600 acres

in Md. and 400 acres in Kent county, Del.,

besides valuable town property. In 1833 he

was elected, on the democratic ticket, as a

member of the house of Representatives, in

which capacity he served one session. On the

4th of May, 1843, he was elected a director of

the Bank of Smyrna, and was its President at

the time of his death, having been elected to

that position March 18, 1847. Mr. Raymond
was also for many years a director of the

Farmers Bank of Dover. He departed this

life August 6, 1852, in the sixty-fifth year of

his age. He was united in marriage June 22,

1814, to Miss Eliza, daughter of Ebenezer

Blackiston, of Kent county. She died April

28, 1855, in her sixty-third year. There were

nine children born of this marriage, seven of

whom were boys and two girls. Three only

survived their father : Susan H., who died

September 13, 1876, in her sixtieth >ear, un-

married
;
Martha A., widow of Daniel Cum-

mins, Esq., of Smyrna, and George Henry
Raymond, President of the Fruit growers’

National Bank of Smyrna, Del.

29

, AUDAIN, REV. ARNOLD S., a local

Vp.|L preacher of the Methodist Church, and

an extensive agriculturist, was born in

'~'Q*3 New Castle, in 1776. His father, Elias

Naudain, born in the same place in 1750, is sup-

posed to have a been a farmer, and also his

grandfather, Arnold Naudain, born in New
Castle county in 1723. The last named was

buried at Drawyer’s Church Cemetery. United

States Senator, Arnold Naudain, was the first

cousin of the subject of our sketch. The lat-

ter was a man of much force and native superi-

ority of character, a conscientious Christian,

and left a decided impress on the minds ot his

day and generation. He was also successful

in business, and his landed estate at his death

was large
;
each of his children being appor-

tioned a valuable farm. He married Miss

McComb, and their eleven children all grew to

maturity. The eldest, Elias S., married a

daughter of Christopher Brooks, of Newark,

and had seven children. Dr. Christopher

Brooks Naudain of Jennerville, Pennsylvania;

Arnold S. and Joseph C. Naudain of New Cas-

tle county
;

Alexina, Laura, Estella and

Mary.

The second son, Jacob V., married Miss Van
Horn of New Castle county, and had four

children ;—Rebecca, L., Annie, Henry C. and

Mary. Rachel married William Wilson of the

“Levels,” of whom see sketch; Ann married

Mr. Short of Sussex county, by whom she had

one son. Mr. Short dying, she married Benja-

min M. Crawford of Cecil county, Maryland,

and had by him seven sons, five of whom are

living ;—Benjamin, Samuel, Dr. Edward, Ab-

raham and Harry. The next daughter, Re-

becca, died young
;
Emeline M. lives with her

sister Mary, near Middletown : John M. mar-

ried Mary R. Lockwood, of Middletown, and

had four children ;—Richard, Mary, John M.

and Louise. Abraham died young and unmar-

ried
;
Mary E. married Rev. Mr. Norwood of

Baltimore, who died the next year. She was

afterwards married to John McCrone, Junior,

of New Castle county, and had six children :

Louise, John, George, William, Mollie and

Eugene. Lawrence M., who died at the age of

twenty-eight, unmarried, and Lydia who died

in her youth, were the remaining children of

Arnold S. Naudain. He died in 1846, and is

buried in the family burial ground on the old
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homestead, two miles south of Middletown,

now the residence of his grandson, Richard L.

Naudain.

OWNSEND, WILLIAM, a retired

merchant of Frederica, was born July

28, 1809. His father was James Town-
send, a farmer and merchant of Kent

county, who bore the reputation of an upright

Christian gentleman, and was a member of

the Methodist church. He died in 1812. He
married Miss Mary, daughter of William

Townsend, a farmer of Sussex county. She

was an active member of the Methodist Epis-

copal church and died in 1817. The grand-

fathers of the subject of this sketch, on both

sides, were named William Townsend and

both died comparatively aged. William was

only permitted attendance on the public

schools of the village of Frederica until he

was sixteen years of age, when he entered the

wholesale and retail house of Hugh Macurdy of

Philadelphia, where he remained four years.

He then returned to Delaware and engaged

in general mercantile business.

He was prosperous in this business, and for

ten years continued the same at Fork Landing,

Kent county. This was the happiest part of

his business life. With a very limited capital

and scarcely any money in the county, specie

payment suspended,and business confidence de-

stroyed, he was still very successful and happy.

Corn was selling from 20 to 25 and 31 cents

per bushel. The first corn he bought was on

a speculation, in which he lost money. These

were the “hard times” of our history. On the

1st of January, 1840, Mr. Townsend came to

Frederica where he again went into business

and began to speculate in corn, wheat, staves,

wood, etc., which he shipped to the Philadel-

phia and New York markets in his own vessel.

To this he added an extensive lumber trade.

He was one of the earliest to introduce and

encourage the use of guano on the lands of

Kent county. He soon after became a land

owner and was a gratified observer of the

great improvement on the farms around him.

He was one of the pioneers in pear culture

in his vicinity. In this part of the state the

people are largely engaged in fruit culture, and

Mr. Townsend has encouraged it both by pre-

cept and example. He retired from business

in 1864, and engaged in managing his estate

of three hundred acres, and looking after his

numerous investments. He has always been

a liberal supporter of the educational and

religious institutions of his county and state.

He connected himself with the M. E. Church

in 1831, and has been an official member most

of the time, being teacher in the Sunday

School, a Steward and Trustee of the church,

and has been faithful in the discharge of his

duties in these several relations. Mr. Townsend
has been a democrat from his earliest manhood.

He was a firm and outspoken supporter of the

Union cause in the last war, and was opposed

to secession, believing it revolutionary and

suicidal of the best interests of the south. He
was one of the State Commissioners during

the war to relieve drafted men,and distribute the

aid of the state for their relief, about one mil-

lion dollars being distributed for this purpose

by the three gentlemen of that commission.

He has been opposed to having his name
used for any political purpose, and though al-

most everything which the state could give

has been offered him, he has always refused

office.

On the 2nd of January, 1831, he was united

in marriage to Miss Elizabeth, daughter of

John Barrett, son of Judge Barrett who built

the historic Barrett's Chapel. Six children have

been born to them of whom three survive, viz :

John, born November, 1831, died in 1853 ;
John

West, who now resides in New York
;
Mrs.

Mary S., widow of Joseph Smithers, who died

in 1870 She married Hon. N. B. Smithers of

Dover in 1882. Her son William T. is a student

of Law with Mr. Smithers. The youngest

living is Mrs. Anna T., wife of Rev. J. S. Wil-

lis of Milford, see sketch and plate in this vol-

ume. The other two died in infancy.

.
AUDAIN, HON. ARNOLD, M. D„ was

t| %> prominent in all the public affairs of

Delaware fifty years ago. It is proper,

Q?-* therefore, that some account of his

family, of so much American antiquity, should

accompany a brief sketch of its best known
descendant. For nearly two hundred years,

its numerous offshoots have been residents of

this State
;
respected for intelligence, enter-
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prize and integrity. The broad acres of many
of them show that the rural tastes of its

founder have not been lost in those who at

present inherit the name, or are of its con-

nection.

The common ancestor of the Naudains was

a native of Nantes, Brittany, in France. In

religion, a Huguenot, a follower of Conde and

Coligny
;
by occupation, a mariner. In the

latter months of the year, 1681, Elias Naudain,

his wife, Gahel Arnand, with three children,

were forced to flee their native land by re-

ligious persecution. They found refuge in

England. The official record informs us that

after a few months’ residence in London, he

and his family were naturalized. In the gen-

eral form of a patent, dated “The XXII year

of “Charles II., viz
;
on the 8th of March

1682, “Elias, father, Arnauld, (son,) Mary and

Elizabeth, (daughters,”) were made citizens of

Great Britain. A daughter, Francoise, and a

son, Elias, were born in London, and “baptized

1686-87. in the French Church in Thread-

needle street.” This son, the second Eiias

Naudain, came to America early in the reign

of Queen Anne, making permanent settlement

in New Castle county, Delaware. The farm

he owned and the mansion he erected in 1711,

is at present the property of a lady whose

mother was a sister of the subject of this

sketch. In 1715-16, this Elias was an Elder

in the Presbyteriam Church at Drawyer’s. In

1717 sat in the first synod of that religious de-

nomination, from which its present influential

General Assembly descends. Elias married

and had five sons : Elias, Cornelius, Samuel,

Andrew, Arnold. All married and had families.

The second Elias (emigrant) is buried where

he originally located. His son Arnold was

born 1723; died 1796; buried at Drawyers.

His children were Elias, Arnold, John, Andrew,

and several daughters. Andrew was born

1758, died 1819. His wife was Rebecca Snow,

whose ancestry came to Maryland in 1635.

He is buried at “Naudain’s Landing.” His

sons were Arnold, Elias, and Andrew
;
daugh

ters, Lydia, who married John Eddowes
;

Anne married AlexanderV. Murphey
;
Mary

married Daniel Cowgill
;
Eliza married Daniel

Corbit
;
all leaving descendants.

Of this family, Arnold is the subject of this

brief biography. He was born January 6, 1790,

at “Snowland,” Kent county, Delaware, the

eldest of his father's children. At an unusu-

ally early age he was prepared for and sent to

Princeton College,from whence he was gradu-

ated in 1808. He studied medicine at the

University of Pennsylvania; took his Diploma

and established himself at Cantwell s Bridge,

(now Odessa). He soon married Mary Schee,

only daughter of Hermann Schee, and Mary
Naudain,who was the granddaughter of Ar-

nauld Naudain.

Dr. Naudain’s first public service was given

to his country in the war of 1812, when he

was surgeon of the Delaware Regiment. In

1822 he was nominated for Congress; his op-

ponent was Louis McLane, who was elected.

In 1824 and in 1828, the political race between

these distinguished gentleman was run again

and with the same result. At each contest the

vote was nearly equal. In 1825, Dr. Naudain

was elected to the Legislature, a member from

New Castle county, sitting with his brother

Elias, who represented Kent county. The for-

mer was chosen speaker, serving with great ac-

ceptability. In 1828, he was commissioned a

judge of the Court of Common Pleas by Gov.

Charles Polk
;
the bench consisting of Thomas

Clayton, Arnold Naudain and Jacob Stout.

In 1829 Louis McLane resigned his seat as

United States Senator, and in January, 1830, Dr.

Naudain was appointed to fill the vacancy,

taking his seat the day he entered the forty-

first year of his age. In 1832, while occupying

this eminent position, he was nominated for

Governor, although earnestly protesting

“against a step so impolitic,” he was persuaded

to allow the contest to go on. The canvass

was a very lively one, and the vote unusually

large, resulting however in the choice of

Governor Bennet, by a vote of 4220 against

4166. In 1833, so acceptably had Dr. Naudain

performed his duty as a Senator, that he was

again chosen for the next term. He fully ap-

preciated this mark of high confidence, but

his private business was suffering from his ab-

sence
;
and after deliberate consideration he

decided to resign his public position, and re-

sume his professional avocation. He resigned

June 17, 1836. In 1841, he again entered pub-

lic life as Collector of the Port of Wilmington,

and Superintendent of the Light-houses on

the Delaware. His residence had been in

Wilmington for some years previously. In

1845 he removed to Philadelphia, resuming and
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continuing the practice of his profession, until,

.on the approach of old age, he retired to his

native State.

As he advanced in life he practiced more

and more the duties of a Christian. He was

one of the founders, and the first elder in the

Green Hill Presbyterian Church in Philadel-

phia. In the same capacity his father, his

grandfather and his great-grandfather, had

given their services to the cause of religion.

Dr. Naudain was several times a commis-

sioner to the General Assembly of the Presby-

terian Church. In 1857 he took formal leave

of the active affairs of this church, leaving

Philadelphia and returned to Delaware. He
died in Odessa, January 4, 1872, at the age of

82, and is buried at Drawyers.

A great crowd of friends and relatives was

present at his funeral, all his living children

and several great-grand children. Addresses
j

upon his life and character were made by

Revs. Dr. Crowell and Patton of the Presby-

terian church, and Rev. Bishop Scott of the

Methodist church.

Dr. Naudain was a most courteous gentle-

man, commanding in person, handsome in

feature,and neat in attire
;
an evenly balanced

temperament
;
an humble, sincere Christian

;

a delightful companion, as winsome and inter-

esting in old age, as in the hey-day of youth.

His intellectual and professional acquirements

were of the first order, and as a medical prac-

titioner he was eminently successful. This

notice would be incomplete without some
account of his immediate family. His son

James Shee married Anne Elizabeth Blackis-

ton of Maryland. Andrew Snow married

Mary P. Corbit of Odessa, Delaware. His

daughter Rebecca A
,
married Hugh Alexan-

der of Chicago
;
Mary H., married Dr. William

Newell Hamilton of Delaware
;
Elizabeth R.

married Dr. James E. Ellis of West Chester,

New York
;
Catharine Louisa married A.

Boyd Hamilton, of Harrisburg, Pennsylvania
;

Lydia F., married Dr. Clayton A. Cowgill, of

Dover, Del.

ALL, HON. JOHN WOOD, Governor

(1882) of Delaware, was born January

I, 1817, in Frederica, where his father,

qy*' John Hall, a successful merchant, passed

the greater part of his life. He was born

January 30, 1785, and served in the war of

1S12. In early life he was a merchant in Mil-

ford, and married Henrietta, daughter of Na-
thaniel Bowman, a farmer of Milford Neck.

He was greatly esteemed for his high moral

character and the good influence he exerted.

His parents were Winlock and Mary Hall.Win
lock Hall was born in Milford Neck, and was

one of the largest landholders and most pros-

perous farmers in his county. The descen-

dants of his three sons, Henry, Winlock and

John, and of his three daughters, are now-

living in Delaware. The ancestors of the

family came from England to Delaware,during

the early history of the State, and have always

ranked among its most worthy citizens. John
Hall died January 1, 1S26, and his wife, Sept.,

17, 1834, i n her forty-third year. They had
five children, of whom Governor Hall alone

survives. Mrs. Hall was a woman of great

piety. She trained her children strictly in the

paths of virtue and honesty,and to all the ob-

servances 01 religion. Her son, the present

Governor, was but nine years of age when he
had the misfortune to lose his father, after

which he resided with his uncle and guardian,

Elias Fleming, who was easy and careless, and
the property of his ward melted away, with his

own, till there was nothing left but the land.

He would willingly have afforded his nephew the

advantages of a thorough education, had Mr.
Hall realized the need sufficiently to ask the

privilege
;

as it is, it has been a matter of

life-long regret that he failed, while yet they
had ample means for the purpose, to secure so

great a benefit.

His age was sixteen years and five months
when he obtained his uncle’s consent to be-

come a clerk in the store of Clement Maston,
in Frederica, engaging to stay eight months
for the sum of twenty dollars, with the privi-

lege of selling confectionery on his own ac-

count. He was next with Samuel Townsend,
where he had the same privilege. In time he
bought out with his savings the tools and
stock in trade of a cabinet maker who was re-

moving West, and placing journeymen in the

shop, he continued clerking as before. The
first mahogany side-boards that were sold

in Frederica were made under his supervision,

and until he became of age he made this a

flourishing business, while at the same time he

faithfully served his employer, Mr. Townsend,
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with whom he remained till the first of Janu-
!

ary, 1838. lie had then completed his twenty-

first year, and the same day bought out his
'

employer. He sold his cabinet shop to a man, 1

who, in exchange, built him the house in which

he lived for many years afterward
;
his specu-

lation as a candy boy proving the means,

ultimately, of providing him a home. He now
launched boldly out into a most prosperous

and successful business career, dealing largely

in grain, produce, wood, lime, and making a

specialty of lumber and all kinds of fertilizers.

Finding he had need of vessels to ship his pur-

chases, he built one the first year, and has

built one or more nearly every year since. He i

is now the largest vessel owner in Delaware,

his vessels ranging in size from eight to twelve

hundred tons, and sailing to all parts of the

world. In 1861, Mr. Hall took into partner-

ship Mr. James B. Anderson, who took charge

of the business, Mr. Hall furnishing the capital.

He retired from mercantile business in 1867, '

his sou, John W., taking his place. The firm

of Anderson and Hall still pursues a course of

uninterrupted prosperity. Mr. Hall has for

many years been largely and successfully en-

gaged in agriculture. He inherited two farms

from his father, and one from his uncle, Colonel

John Wood, for whom he was named. To
these he has added others from time to time,

till now he is one the largest land owners in

Kent county. Most of these farms he has

brought to a high state of cultivation. His

last purchase was the old Warren-Mansion

farm, which belonged to his wife’s grandfather,

and which has been in the family for over one

hundred years. He was married November

15, 1842, to Miss Caroline, only child of Samuel

and Sarah (Sipple) Warren, of Kent county.

They have four children, viz : Samuel Warren
Hall, residing in Dover

;
John Wood Hall, Jr.,

of the firm of Anderson and Hall, Frederica,

and a large vessel owner
;
Sarah Henrietta,

wife of Charles C. Lester, a prominent lawyer

in Philadelphia, and Caroline Warren Hall, who
died, September 9, 1858, in her third year.

The ancestors of Mrs. Hall were of English

origin and among the early settlers of Kent
county, the family having always been wealthy

and prominent. She inherited a large estate

in her own right'. Her father was born in the

year 1800, and died June 15, 1869. He was

an excellent man, kind and liberal to the

poor and highly esteemed. He owned a large

real and personal estate. The grand-father

of Mrs. Hall, Samuel Warren, senior, served a

number of times in the Legislature. He had
several children, of whom the only one now
living is Mrs. Mary Darby, widow of John M.
Darby, a nephew of John M. Clayton. Gov-
ernor Hall united, March 26, 1846, with the

M. E. Church, in which he has been for many
years an official member. He was a State

director of the Farmers’ Bank, at Dover, from

1 86 1, to January, 1879, at which time he was
inaugurated Governor of Delaware, and has

since been a stock-holder director. He was
always interested in politics and was a mem-
ber of the old Whig party till it ceased to

exist, when he became a Democrat. In 1866

he was elected State Senator, leading the

ticket in the county and for four years was a

prominent member of that body.

In 1876 he was a delegate to the National

Democratic Convention which met in St.

Louis, nominating Samuel T. Tilden for Presi-

dent. His friends urged his name in the State

Convention of 1874 for the gubernatorial

office, and he came within three votes of

receiving the nomination, notwithstanding it

was the turn of New Castle county to furnish

the candidate. In 1878 he was the choice of

all the counties, was nominated Governor by

acclamation, and was elected by an almost

unanimous vote. Governor Hall has adminis-

tered the affairs of his high office with great

firmness and unquestioned integrity, and has

gained great popularity by his excellent

appointments and patriotic course. A thorough

man of business, faithful and conscientious,

the State is honored in his wise and able

administration.

Robinson, thomas, son of judge

Peter and Arcada (Robinson) Robin

-

son, was born in the year 1800. He
Cv graduated at Princeton College, and

studied law in Georgetown, with his father.

He became a lawyer of distinction, and was

elected to Congress as a Democrat, in 1838.

Afterwards he was defeated by George B.

Rodney. He died unmarried.
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(f|fl°UNG ,
MAJOR NATHANIEL, the

YVjj subject of this sketch, was born in

Sussex county, Del., October 14, 1794,

and was the youngest of several chil-

dren. His father, Nathaniel Young, son of

Robert and Christiana Young, was born Sep-

tember 10, 1 74 r ,
and married Esther Fassit of

Snow Hill, Maryland. He was a native of

Sussex county, Del., and owned an estate there,

upon which he lived until his death, which 1

occurred June 2, 1804, when Major Young wras 1

but a child. Having previously lost his mother,
j

who died December 1, 1802, the orphaned boy
j

then went to reside with his eldest brother,
j

Robert Young, who lived in Frederica, Del,

and under whose care he remained for several

years, until he was placed by his brother with

Robert Earp, Esq., of Philadelphia, to learn the

mercantile business. Having evinced a desire

to enter the Army, through the influence of

his brother-n-law, Joseph Hazlett, who was
r' /v** 1 ^ r- 1 o iito r\ V* o. uro o o nnOmf o f>ViWLi nut KJ i lyviux un., uv- »» w*. »

*

Ensign in the United States service, and

received his commission, October 19, 1813.

He was first assigned to duty at Fort Mifflin

Pa., but was soon afterward transferred to

Canada. He was appointed third Lieutenant,

March 8th 1814, and second Lieutenant in the

2d regiment of U. S. Infantry June 2, 1814,

and on January I, 1819 received a commission

as Captain of the 7th regiment of U. S. Infantry.

Several years of the army life of Major Young
were passed in the South, in Louisiana and

Mississippi, and also in Arkansas, where he

made many warm personal friends, and to his

association with whom he ever looked back

with great pleasure.
m
He was also stationed

for some time at Fort Gibson in the Indian

Territory, and was brought into daily contact

with the chiefs, and others of the tribes in

that neighborhood, of whom he W'ould relate

many amusing, and sometimes touching inci-

dents. Among his oldest iriends in the U. S.

service, were Gen. Winfield Scott, Gen Worth,

Gen. Samuel Houston and Gen. Zachary Tay-

lor. With the two latter he corresponded for

years, and had in his possession letters received

by him from Gen. Taylor during the Mexican

war, and also views of some of the battle fields,

and maps showing the operations of our Army
in Mexico. Major Young was appointed

Major by brevet, on January, 1829, and re-

received his commission of Major of the 3rd

regiment of U. S. Infantry, December 25, 1837.

During the rebellion in Canada in 1838 he was

stationed at Buffalo, N. Y., in command of the

troops on the Niagara frontier, Lord Durham
being Governor General of Canada. He often

recalled incidents connected with this event-

ful period, and referred with pleasure to the

kindness and courtesy of the English Officers

in command of the troops on the Canadian

side. Major Young remained in the U. S.

Service twenty-five years and one month
;
he

then resigned his commission, and settled in

New Castle, Del. We have inserted a few lines

copied from a letter received by him, October

3, 1838 from Adjutant Gen. R. Jones, in accept-
ance of his resignation.

“In announcing to you the acceptance of

this your voluntary separation from the Army
in which you have so long and faithfully

served, be assured that there is no Officer of

your length of service, more justly entitled to

the high consideration of the Department, or

to whom any indulgence consistently with the

rules of service, would be more cheerfully ac-

corded.” Major Young received the commis-
sion of Major General of State Militia, which

office he resigned a few years previous to his

death. While stationed in Philadelphia he

became conected with the Masonic Order, and

received the degree of Master Mason from

Concordia Lodge, No. 67. In April, 1835,

Major Young was married to Mrs. Elizabeth

Maxwell, widow of Dr. John Maxwell of

Delaware, and daughter of Judge Thomas
Clayton. He survived her sixteen years, and

died in New Castle, May 12, 1863. He was a

true gentltman of the old school, one whose

amiability, kindness of heart, and courtesy of

manner, endeared him to all with whom he

was associated.

AZZARD, HON. DAVID, late Gover-

nor of Delaware, was born in Broadkiln

cfrcgs Neck, Sussex county, May 18, 1781.

His parents, John and Mary (Houston)

Hazzard, were among the earliest Metho-

dists in the state. John Hazzard was appointed

a Major of State Militia by Governor Joshua

Clayton, in 1794, and held the position for

seven years. He was first a farmer, and



5
.

'

-

.







BIOGRAPHICAL DEPARTMENT. 23I

removed to Milton in the latter part of the
j

1 St h century. Then he became a merchant,
'

and was interested in vessels and vessel build-

ing’. He had two sons, Governor David and

John Hazzard, and also two Daughters ;
Ann,

who married Rev. Hugh McCurdy of Philadel-

phia, and Mary, who first married Rouse

Young, and afterwards, Henry P. Fisher, half

brother of Judge George P. Fisher of Dover.

Governor Hazzard lost his mother when he

was quite young. His father afterwards

married Miss Hannah Horseman,and had again

a third wife, Mrs. Elizabeth Wolf. Mr. John

Hazzard died in 1825, at the age of seventy-

two years. Coard Hazzard was the first of

the name to come to Delaware
;

probably

about 1700, or soon after. The family tradi-

tion is that he had emigrated from England to

Virginia some years previously. He settled in

Sussex county. The name of his wife was

Rachel and they were members of the Protes-

tant Episcopal church. Their second son,

Joseph, berr. June 4, 1728, and his wife Marv.

were the parents of John, the father of Gover-

nor Hazzard, born April 28, 1754, Coard

Hazard the eldest son of Joseph and Mary,

born January 27, 1750, was the first Sheriff of

Sussex county, after the Revolutionary War.

Governor Hazzard united with the M. E.

Church, in 1S02, and was ever after a zealous

and prominent member. He filled the office

of steward for over half a century. He was

married July 12, 1803, to Miss Elizabeth Col-

lins, born November 23, 1783, daughter of

Captain John, and Sarah (Houston) Collins.

Mrs. Collins was the daughter of Robert and

Priscilla Houston, and was born in 1758. In

the war of 1812 Governor Hazzard was an

ensign in Captain Peter Wright’s Company,
and served during the campaign in Delaware,

receiving for his services a warrant for govern-

ment land. John Ponder, father of Governor

Ponder, was in the same company with Gover-

nor Hazzard. The latter was appointed Justice

of the Peace, while still quite young, and

proved an impartial, efficient, and very judi-

cious civil officer. In 1829 he was elected

Governor of the State. His decision of char-

acter came to be well known during his admin-

istration. No instance is remembered in

which he reversed the decisions of the court

and jury in criminal cases, by granting re-

prieves and pardons. Yet, while he advocated

a faithful execution of the law, he would often

open his purse to supply the needs of the

families of persons held in durance for crime.

He was distinguished all his life for kindness

and liberality. Towards his tenants, his

neighbors, and the widows and orphans, this

was specially shown. He was elected State

Senator in 1831. In 1844, the appointment of

Associate Judge of the State of Delaware

was conferred upon him by Governor Cooper,

which office he resigned in 1847. 1° 1852 he

was elected a member of the convention to

alter the Constitution of the State, and served

his constituents with a vigor unabated by

gathering years. His mental faculties re-

mained perfect to the close of his life. His

intimate knowledge of the leading events in

the history of our country, and his memory,
were most remarkable. Pie spoke of presi-

dents, cabinets, and acts of congress, naming
day and date with more facility than most

men could recall the doings of last year. In

the last war he was happy in having not less

than three grandsons go forth to the service

and defence of the country. The briefest out-

line of his life and character can only here be

given, but he was one the sight of whom
brought, involuntarily, to the minds of many,
the words, “A prince and a great man in

Israel.” He came to the ending of his days

full of years and honors, July 8, 1864, and was
buried with every token of affection and
esteem. The funeral services were conducted

in the M. E. Church, in Milton, his place of

residence, July 13. His wife, with whom he

spent over fifty years of happiness, had died

nearly ten years before, February 25, 1854.

They had four children
;
Ann, who married

Dr. William W. Wolf, a distinguished physi-

cian of Milton
;
Maria, who married Erasmus

D. Wolf, a wholesale merchant of Philadelphia
;

John Alexander, now of Milton, and William

Asbury Hazzard, Esq., also of Milton.

ISTON, MORRIS, of Liston High
Woods and Liston’s Point, a well known
landmark on the western shore of the

(S? Delaware Bay, came to America from

England with his brother, John Liston, in the

early part of the last century. They each pur-

chased 1200 acres of land from the indians.
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John’s land was in Thoroughfare Neck. The
brothers were both members of the Society of

Friends. Morris Liston died in 1756. Both are

supposed to have been buried on the high

ground known as the Old Burial Ground, near

the residence of Robert Derrickson. Morris

Liston had four sons
;
Morris, Thomas, Eben

and Abraham. Abraham settled on what is

known as Eleazer David’s farm and after his

death his six sons sold his land and emigrated

toPreston county Ya. From them the Liston’s

of Virginia are descended,but in Delaware the

name has become extinct. Eben Liston left

children, two of whom were, William, the

grandfather of Robert Derrickson, of whom
see sketch in this volume, and a daughter

who married a Mr. Townsend, grandfather

of Samuel Townsend, of “Townsend,” on the

Delaware railroad. William Liston left two

sons, William and Thomas, and two daughters,

Ann and Sarah. Sarah married Robert Der-

rickson, father of the present Robert, and had
eight children. The house built by the emi-

grant Morris Liston in 1725, is still standing

(1881). It is of brick, and the mortar used

was made from shell lime. The house in which

Robert Derrickson lives was that of Eben
Liston, and was built .in 1739. It is a two-

story brick house, hip roof, and the original

window and door casings are still intact. It

was quite a pretentious structure for that day.

Its walls are still unbroken, and the old rived

oak laths upon which the plaster was put are

yet to be seen. These houses, and indeed the

entire locality,are of interest to the historian.

l

ATES, HON. MARTIN WALTHAM,
lawyer and Statesman, was born Feb. 24,

1786, in Salisbury, Conn., of an humble

but sterling New England family. At
eight years of age he removed with his father

to Berkshire Co., Mass. It was the purpose of

his father to send him to Williams College,

but he was unable to accomplish this when the

proper time came, and at the age of nineteen

the son found it necessary to determine the

course of his future life. Well balanced, self

reliant and possessed of a good character, he

left his New England home, and without

means or influence entered upon the real work

of his life. For some years he taught school

in Delaware and Maryland, in the neighbor-

hood of the town of Warwick. While teach-

ing, he studied medicine and attended the

Pennsylvania University, where he roomed
with Dr. William Burton, late Governor of

Delaware, and between them there sprang up

a life-long friendship. Upon leaving the Uni-

versity he successfully engaged in the practice

of medicine in the town of Smyrna, and while

there, in 1811,married a most estimable woman,

Mary, daughter of Charles Hillyard, of a well-

known Delaware family. The exposure, inci-

dent to the life of a physician in that early

day, broke down his health. He abandoned

the profession, removed to Dover and engaged

in mercantile life. By reason of the financial

crisis induced by the war of 1812, he failed in

business and became involved in debt which,

for the time, he was unable to pay. About this

time he became an active member of a deba-

ting society, in Dover, and displayed such sig-

nal ability as to attract the attention of Hon.

Thomas Ciayton,and H011. Henry M. Ridgely,

by whom he was urged to study law, and

Thomas Clayton generously tendered the use

of his office and library. The opportunity was,

upon reflection, embraced, and he entered into

the study of law with an assiduity and

throughness rarely excelled. In 1823 he was
admitted to the bar, and at once secured a

large and lucrative practice for that day and

place. For thirty years he was one of the

leaders of the bar, and enjoyed perhaps the

largest practice of any of the lawyers of Kent
County. He was originally a Federalist but

on the breaking up of that old party he became
a Democrat, and although his party was in the

minority in the State during the greater part

of his active career, he was a member of the

State Legislature in 1826 and of the consti-

tutional convention in 1852. In the latter

body, he was made chairman of the standing

committee on the judicial Department, and
was also a member of those on the legis-

lative department, and on future amendments
to the Constitution

;
and the report of the

proceedings shows that he took an active

part in the debates. He was in 1832 and 1836

the candidate of his party for Congress, though

as a matter of course not elected, the whigs

being then and for many years thereafter

largely in the ascendency. In 1857 he was
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elected United States Senator, to fill the unex-

pired term of Hon. John M. Clayton. Had
misfortune not intervened just as his party

had elevated Mr. Bates to the Senate of the

United States, in 1857, he would have been as

distinguished in the National forum, as he was

at the bar of his State. But a fall, from slip-

ping upon the ice, produced a very bad frac-

ture of the limb and partial paralysis of the

side for a time, which caused him so much suf-

fering that retirement was necessary. He,

therefore, retired in 1859 at the close of the

term for which he was elected. In his quiet

home, respected and honored by all who knew
him, he spent the evening of life in unosten-

tatious usefulness and benevolence. From
childhood up to thirty-seven years of age it

was a continuous and well fought battle with

adversity. The stout heart yielded not a whit

of its purpose, and failures only taught the

way to success. In the school of adversity he

had learned “ to labor and to wait." The re-

sult was that from his thirty-seventh year to

his death, his life was a complete success, of

which he alone was the architect, for he wrung

victory from defeat. These were but the out-

croppings of hislife, and teach, perhaps nothing

more than the lives of many other men, who

like him were self-made. It is in the analysis

of his life and character that we must seek for

instruction and example.

He possessed a clear and discriminating

mind, one of great analytic power and richly

stored with learning. A marked feature of

his knowledge was accuracy of detail. He
v. as a man of strong convictions and of indom-

itable will. With him, a conscientious con-

viction of the right, not expediency, was the

rule of action. This was evidenced in his

political life. He was a Democrat because of

his sympathy with the masses and his firm

belief in the principle of local self-govern-

ment, and he adhered to the party in all its

varying fortunes. In the Avar between Gen-

eral Jackson and the United States Bank, when

most of the leading men in the State deserted

the Hero of New Orleans, and indeed all

through the long minority of the party in

Delaware, his was the active and controlling

mind in its interest, at the capital.

So too in religion
;
although nurtured in the

discipline of New England Congregationalism,

his independent mind seized upon Methodism as

30

: the expression of religious belief and worship

:
congenial to his nature. He joined the Church
in 1814, and thenceforth he was thoroughly a

Methodist
;

his house, his purse and his heart

|

were ever open to the calls of the church.

He was prudent and economical; perhaps, iri

some measure, the result of early necessity,

but his heart was not seared
;
on the contrary

he was a man of large charity, and reduced

benevolence to a system. He gave a tithe of

his income yearly to charitable purposes and

carried this rule even into the testamentary

disposition of his estate.

Possessed of a keen perception of the ludi-

crous, a readiness at repartee, and an incisive

sarcasm peculiarly his own, he was a ready

and pungent debater; in his hands these quali-

ties became trenchant weapons of offense, and

often gave him great pain because of an uncon-

trolable propensity to use them on friend or

foe, and yet few men had really a kinder heart,

or more sincerely sorrowed for wounds thus

unwittingly made. These qualities he often

lamented and in after years greatly controlled.

Conscientiousness was a strongly marked

trait of his character. He carried it into all

the relations of life. As a man, citizen and a

christain, he was prompt, faithful and method-

ical. As soon as he secured the means, he

discharged, to the last cent, the indebtedness

entailed by his failure in mercantile life.

As a lawyer Dr. Bates ranked among the

first in the State. He was the cotemporary

at the bar of Willard Hall, Henry M. Ridgely,

Thomas Clayton, John M. Clayton, Robert

Frame, and others whose names are indelibly

written in the legal annals of Delaware.

Among such men he stood an acknowledged

peer. He brought to the practice of his pro-

fession a sound and discriminating judgment,

untiring industry, strict method, and withal a

sympathy so pervading that the interest and

cause of his client became his own, and he

worked with an ability, energy and zeal that

soon gave him the highest standing. His mind

was richly stored with legal lore, and his

thorough familiarity with pleading and prac-

tice, made his forms precedents of great value,

and his opinions on these branches authority

long after he had retired from active practice.

The private life of Dr. Bates was without

blemish; a member of church for fifty-four

years, his Christian character was so uniform
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and consistent that he commanded the respect

and veneration of all who knew him. He
filled a large and useful space in the commu-
nity in which he lived. His death left a void

which still reminds his friends that a great and

good man has fallen.

Dr. Bates was no ordinary man. The truth

that each man “makes his own stature, builds

himself”, was never more clearly illustrated

than in his life
;
a life so full of quiet but

heroic struggles, of unconquerable will, be-

nevolence, and earnest purpose that we shall

do well to consider his ways, and seek the at-

tainment of the same goal.

A careful review of his life and character

leads to the conclusion that while Delaware

has had more brilliant men, men who have

filled a larger space in the State and National

councils than he, she has had few better or

more truly great.

On Friday, January 1, 1869, at his residence

in Dover, he died at the ripe age of eighty-two

years
;
and on the next Tuesday his remains

were loilowed to the grave by the Governor,

the Legislature in a body, and by a large con-

course of mourning relatives and friends,

numbering many of the most distinguished

men of Delaware, who were gathered together

to pay the last tribute of respect to the

memory of the distinguished man who had

passed away. The General Assembly had

convened on the morning of his funeral, and

immediately upon its organization, passed

resolutions of respect to his memory, and ad-

journed over the day. His body was buried

in the Presbyterian Church yard at Dover, in

the midst of many of the friends he knew and

loved in life. In the same yard lie the remains

of Hon. John M. Clayton, and other men
whose names are household words in Dela-

ware. They were his peers and competitors

in life, and in death they sleep in the same

quiet enclosure. Of all the honored dead who
sleep so quietly in that yard, it may be doubted

if there is one whose life, character, and ex-

ample, are more full of instruction and en-

couragement than those of the subject of this

sketch.

^MONWILL, WILLIAM G. A., D. D. S.,

was born in Camden, Delaware, on the

£4^ 4th day of October, 1833. He is the

(h) son of Dr. William W. Bonwill and
Louisa, his wife, nee Baggs. His father was a

physician of large pra ike, a gentleman of the

old school, and a man of wonderful mechanical

genius, which the son inherited. The latter

received only such education as could be ob-

tained in the schools in this State, which

although comparatively liberal, was not such

as his active, inquiring mind demanded. He
was never engaged in any active pursuit until

about 18 years of age, when he lelt his home
in Camden, Delaware, and for six months had

charge of a country school near Burlington,

Newr Jersey. From a c hild he improved every

opportunity for acquiring informat ion, especially

in mechanics, for which he had a marvelous

talent. He desired to become a physician, but

in this aspiration he was discouraged by his

father, who, knowing from experience, the

hardships and difficulties of a country practi-

tioner of medicine, and mistakenly supposing

that his boy was of a constitution too delicate

to undergo the hardships of his own profession,

advised him to adopt some other occupation.

From a somewhat singular coincidence, he de-

cided to become a dentist, in which selection

of a profession he again met the opposition of

his father, wrho failed, however, to divert him
from his fixed resolution. Having laid by a

I small sum of money which he made by teach-

ing, and being aided to a limited extent by his

father, he commenced the study of dentistry

;
in Camden, New Jersey, April, 1 S 5 3 ,

and in

; less than six months his marvelous mechanical
1 genius enabled him to completely master the

mechanical part of his profession
;
the opera-

tive branch, he perfected under the instruction

of Doctors Chapin A. Harris and Blandy, of

Baltimore, in July, 1854, and in August of the

same year he opened an office in Dover, Dela-

ware, where he continued to practice his pro-

fession with remarkable skill and success for

nearly seventeen years. While residing in

Dover, following the bent of his genius, he in-

vented the first self-binding reaper, in connec-

tion with A. B. Richardson, Esq., of that place.

A newspaper reporter in the town made public

a description of the machine, and before it had

been entirely perfected, others had seized upon
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that and similar inventions, and rather than

incur the delay and expense of protracted

litigation, their application for a patent was
abandoned. It was when in Dover, also, that

he devised the first electro-magnetic mallet

for filling teeth, which is universally acknowl-

edge to be the most scientific instrument used

in dental surgery. For this he was awarded
the highest gold medals, and the recognition

of its merit is its adoption by first-class dent-

ists all over the world.

The dental engine was likewise brought out

here simultaneously with that of another in-

ventor, though entirely unlike it. It was here

too, that he first observed certain phenomena
that led to the original discovery of “ rapid

breathing” as an anaesthetic for alleviating

pain in all operations of minor surgery, instead

of ether, which has received the approbation

of the medical press.

When he had practically perfected his dental

inventions he determined to seek a wider field

for his inventive talent, and accordingly re-

moved to Philadelphia in February, 1871,

where he at once took rank with the most
skillful and accomplished of his profes-

sion, having no superior in Philadelphia, if

indeed in any other city in the world. It is

needless to add that immediately upon his

settlement in Philadelphia, though encounter-

ing much opposition from professional jealousies

and rival inventors, his practice became a con-

stantly growing success.

Though literally overwhelmed by the labors

of his profession, his inventive energy could

not be repressed, and since his removal to

Philadelphia, he has found time to give to the

world, two other inventions of the very highest

utility; “The Surgical Engine,” and “The
Artificial Tooth Crown.” By the former, every

|

operation necessary to be performed on the

human body ran be accomplished with almost

incredible celerity and unerring accuracy and
by it the science of surgery has been stripped

of its last relic of barbarism. “The Tooth
Crown,” makes it possible for any Dentist of

even ordinary ability to insert an artificial

crown upon the root of a tooth without pain

and with perfect firmness, so that the extract-

ing of a tooth or the insertion of artificial

plates i t the mouth may be said to have be-
j

come necessities of the past.

Among his many minor inventions may be
|

|

noticed the protective pointed pin in 1854,

used upon the under garments of women and
j children and which has gone into universal

use in all countries, and his improvement on
kerosene lamps for preventing the fracture of

s himnies, which has proved to be a blessing

to so many thousand families.

Notwithstanding his constant and ceaseless

devotion to the arduous labors of his profession,

his remarkably temperate, systematic, and
philosophic life, has brought him through four-

teen hours of labor, daily, into his 4Sth year
with a marvelously youthful, not to say an
almost boyish, appearance.

In his 28th year he married Miss A. E. War-
ren of Dover, a most estimable lady of brilliant

wit and admirable social qualities. They have
an interesting family consisting of two daugh-
ters and one son.

}'§> cKEAN, HON. THOMAS, was born
in Chester County, Pennsylvania

ZJ iviarcn 19,1734. He received a liberalMarch
education, and adopted the profession

of law, in which he attained great eminence.

In 1762 he was elected to the Delaware
Assembly, and continued in that office for

eleven years. He served as a Delegate to the

New York Congress in 1765 and was appointed

Chief Justice of Pennsylvania the same year
;

while in this position he was elected a Delegate

from Delaware to the Continental Congress

and served from 1774 to 1776, again from 1778
to 1783. He was a signer of the Declaration

of Independence from this state and of the

articles of Confederation
;
was a Judge of the

Court of Common Pleas in Delaware and
served in the Army as Colonel. Mr. McKean
was a member of the Convention which formed
the Constitution of Delaware in 1876, and is

claimed as the author of that instrument He
was also a member of the Convention which
formed the Constitution of Pennsylvania in

1790. He was elected Governor of Pennsyl-
vania in 1789 and remained in that posi-

tion for nine years. He was ‘ the only man
who served through all the sessions of the

Continental Congress, and was President of

that body in 1781. He died in Philadelphia

June 24, 1817, leaving a high reputation for

patriotism and ability.
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^gTf^RIFFlTH. JOSEPH, was born in 1793,
in Pencader hundred, New Castle

^ -J
;

county, on a farm one mile east of

Coochs bridge. His father, James
Griffith, was a farmer and of Welsh descent

;

his ancestors landing at New Castle from
Wales in 1-701 On his mother’s side Joseph
Griffith was of English extraction. He grew
up in his native place, working on the farm in

summer and going to school in the winter, till

he was sixteen, when he went to Philadelphia

and bound himself as an apprentice to learn

the house carpentering trade
;
at this he served

faithfully till he had reached the age of twenty,
when he was released by the death of his em-
ployer. He then, with four or five other young
men, chose a master mechanic, named Henry

j

Lytle, and left the city looking for work as
j

they proceeded through the state
;
and stop-

ping finally in the Cumberland valley, where
they found all that they could do in building

large barns. Here, in 181S, he married Agnes
Irving, and remained working at his trade tiii

1822, when his father having died, he returned

at the earnest solicitation of his mother, to

the home farm in Delaware. He had done
well at his trade but now found that the life of

a farmer was much better suited to his tastes,

as was proved by his success. He found the old

farm almost a wilderness of swamp, branch

and woods, but went bravely to work, cutting,

clearing and ditching
;

and having seen in

Pennsylvania the benefits of lime and clover,

he commenced using these fertilizers, and soon

made the old place blossom as the rose. He
carted the lime from the Nevin quarries, above

Newark, and is believed to be the first who
ever brought a load of lime into the neighbor-

hood for the above purpose. He became the

leading spirit in increasing the productiveness

of the land, and nothing delighted him more
than to be able, as he said, to make two blades

of grass grow where one grew before. In 1839
he inherited, on the death of a half-uncle, a

small amount of money, with which he bought
a farm in Kent county, Maryland, at the head
of Sassafras river. .This land originally of good
quality, was much worn out. Upon it there was
a bed of green sand marl. He at once com-
menced seeding down, and on this he used lime

and marl, the results of which greatly aston-

ished the old inhabitants. He brought his lime

from the Schuylkill, and his vessel load of that

fertilizer was the first that was ever discharged
on Sassafras river, if not anywhere on the

Eastern Shore, south of Cecil county. To him
is due the credit of giving the first impetus to

the improvement of land, which has since

made Kent county, Maryland, famous for her
agricultural products. In 1845 he sold the old

home farm and moved to Newark, where he
resided two years, when, having purchased the

Nathan Watson farm, he removed to it and
lived there till his death, August 25, 1879. As
an agriculturist his life was a success, and he
left a very considerable estate to his children

and grandchildren. He had a family of seven

sons and one daughter, all of whom, with the

exception of one son, who was killed at the

age of nine years, grew to maturity, viz :

Caleb, a farmer, died in 1865, aged thirty-three

years
;
Wm. J. died about 1872, leaving four

children. He was a farmer and had been a

member of the Maryland Legislature
;
David

B., a merchant, died at Easton, Md., in 1871 ;

Elizabeth Irving, wife of Wm. K. Lockwood :

Robert S.
;
Irving G., a farmer on Bohemia

Manor, and Joseph T. Griffith who died in

1866 in his twenty sixth year. His wife, to

whom he was fondly attached, and who was
every way worthy of his affection, lived with

him fifty-four years from the time of their

marriage, departing this life three years prior

to his decease. They lived together a long

and useful life. In his religious views Mr.

Griffith was a primitive Baptist, and a member
of the Welsh Tract Baptist Church. In all his

views on any subject he was very decided, and
in the early part of his life rather intolerant

of those who differed from him, but this

characteristic mellowed with age, and his

spirit in his later days was very childlike and
gentle. No one in his neighborhood was more
respected, deferred to and honored, but re-

tiring in his disposition he could not be in-

duced to accept any public position. His life

was, in the sight of all, pure, consistent and
faithful, and he left to his descendants the

priceless legacy of a spotless name.

ITCHELL
-
HON. NATHANIEL.

lr

£»
He serve ^ as a delegate from Dela-
ware to Continental Congress from

.j I U 1786 to 1788. One can but regret that

W?* so little is known of those whose hands
laid the foundations of our temple of freedom.
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j>j;|EATH, JAMES, the owner of exten-

sive tracts of land on Bohemia Manor
and in New Castle county, Delaware, a

,y
d part of which, known as St. Ignatius,

was sold by him to Father Mansell the founder

of the Jesuit Mission near Warwick. James

Heath had taken up and patented this land

about the year 1700, This tract at the time

of sale was known as St. Inigo and was con-

veyed to Father Mansell in 1811. It was in

part a portion of Worsell Manor, patented by

Col. Saver, and consisted in all of 335 acres :

The other part, known as Woodbridge, was

sold by D. McKenzie the patentee, to Darby

Nowland, and by his son Dennis there was sold

75 acres, to James Heath, which also went

into the hands of the owners of the Jesuit

Mission from James Heath, making 335 acres

at this time. The name of Nowland is yet

among us and a lineal descendant of the first

purchaser of this land lives on his fine farm in

Appoquinimink hundred. See Nowland in

this volume. The tomb of James Heath is

still to be seen at Heath’s Mansion farm and

is in a good state of preservation, on land in

the possession of the heirs of Wm. Wilson,

about two miles from Warwick and four from

Middletown. It bears the following inscrip-

tion.

“Here Lyes The Body of

Mr. jAmes Heath Who was
Born Att Warwick on

the 27” Day of Jvly 1658
And Dyed The 10th Day of

Novem: 1731 in The
Seventy Fovrth year of

His Age
Reqviescat in Pace”

The Warwick spoken of was Warwick, Eng-
land, not Warwick. Cecil county, Md., as that

village was founded afterward by his son, Jno.

Paul Heath, who died in 1746. His grandson

was Daniel Heath, still remembered, and this

old name is perpetuated in the tract of land

known as “Heath’s Range.”

John Paul was a large land-owner and was
engaged in merchandizing in Warwick. He
also owned vessels trading from Sassafras river

to the West Indies. He was a zealous Catho-

lic and directed in his will that his sons Daniel

and James should be educated at St. Omer’s

and that all his children should be brought up

in the Roman Catholic religion.

i

AVIS, COLONEL GEORGE, late of

<0$% Smyrna, was born in that place, Jan-

nary 1, 1806. He was the fifth son

Ql)
3

and seventh child of Judge Isaac

Davis of whom a portrait and sketch will be

found in this volume.

Colonel Davis engaged in business in

Smyrna, and was an extensive land owner in

this state and in Maryland. He was a promi-

nent and valued citizen, and was well known
throughout the state. He was a democrat,

and strongly attached to his part}'. Kind
hearted and generous to an extreme, his wil-

lingness to assist and oblige all who applied

to him for assistance greatly reduced, in his

later years’, his once large means. He married

February 6, 1828, Miss Mary J., daughter of

Dr. John D. Perkins, of whom also see sketch.

His five daughters survived him. He died

greatly regretted, April 12, 1 877.

t -

1
-y)OB INSON ,

PETER, Associate Judge

TyCy* of the Superior Court, and son of Thos.

Robinson, the Loyalist, was born in

(2/ Sussex county, October 14, 1775. He
read law with the Hon. Nicholas Ridgely,

Chancellor of the State, and upon his admis-

sion to the bar, began the practice of his pro-

fession in his native county. He became the

leader of the bar in his section of the State,

and continued to have a lucrative practice

until he was appointed Associate Judge of

the Superior Court at its organization under

the present Constitution in 1832. Before his

appointment as judge he took an active part

in politics, was the acknowledged leader of his

party in Sussex, and was appointed three

several times Secretary of State, in 1805, by
Governor Nathaniel Mitchell in 1814, by
Governor Daniel Rodney, and in 1822, by Gov-
ernor Caleb Rodney. He married his cousin,

Arcada, daughter of his uncle Peter Robinson

;

Died in 1S36, and left to survive him three

children; Thomas Robinson, Jr., Alfred P. Rob-
inson and Mary, wife of Hon. Edward Wootten,

the present Associate Judge of the Superior

Court. Mr. Robinson was a man of ability, of

great integrity, and highly respected by both

friends and opponents.
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fJE AULSBURY, HON. GOVE, M. D., late

Governor of Delaware, was born in

in Mispillion Neck, Kent county, May
Got 29, 1815, and died in Dover on Sunday

July 31, i 83 r. His father, William Saulsbury,

was a man of commanding influence, and irre-

proachable conduct, being sought after by his

fellow citizens, as eminently trustworthy, for

positions of honor and responsibility. His

mother, Margaret Saulsbury, daughter of

Captain Thomas Smith, and sister of Rev.

James Smith, a distinguished Methodist Min-

ister, and member of the Philadelphia Confer-

ence, was conspicuous for her piety, force of

character, and mental power. She was the

mother of five sons and one daughter. Of the

sons, Gove was the third, and with two of his

brothers, became distinguished in public life,

attaining to a national reputation. The eldest

son, James, and the second, William, died,

the former, in his thirty-eighth, and the latter

in his twenty-fifth year.

Dr. Sauisbury, received instruction in the

ordinary branches of education in schools sup-

ported by private subscription; the free school

system of the State then not having been es-

tablished. He subsequently went to Delaware

College for a brief period, after which, in 1839,he

commenced the study of medicine, and was

graduated M. D., in 1842, from the University

of Pennsylvania. He located in Dover the

same year, and was a practising physician

during the remainder of his life.

He became a skillful and successful physi-

cian, and had an extensive practice, the hard-

ships of which, being heroically endured, de-

veloped his physical powers, so that from a

spare-built and corporeally frail man, he be-

came a man of large proportions and com-
manding presence.

He was married, November 1, 1848, to Miss

Rosina Jane Smith, of Snow Hill, Md., by

whom he had five children,only one of whom,
William, the youngest, survives him. Mrs.

Saulsbury, was a woman of exemplary piety:

she died in 1875, April 29th, aged 47 years.

Their daughter, Rosa, was a young lady of

rare accomplishments, became devotedly pious,

and died November 30, 1876, aged 23 years!

and 4 days. The other children, Margaret,

the eldest
;
Olivia Smith, and Gove Jr., all

died in early childhood.

Though greatly interested in the affairs of

State, and an influential leader of the Demo-
cratic party, he resisted all solicitations to

hold office until 1S62, when he was elected to

the State Senate. Of this body he became the

Speaker in 1S65, and,by virtue of his office,was
constituted Governor of the State the same
year, a vacancy having been occasioned by the

death of Governor William Cannon. In 1S66
he was elected to the Governorship by the

popular vote, and during the whole period of

his official life exhibited the rare abilities,

qualities and endowments of a good states-

man. By many, including members of the

party opposed to him, he has been character-

ized as the ablest Governor the State has had
since the formation of the Federal Union. His
State papers were regarded as able produc-
tions, being written with clearness, force and
great discretion. As a political leader he pos-

sessed unusual ability
;
being a man of decision

and firmness, and yet possessing personal in-

tegrity, nobility of nature, suavity of manner
j r 1 -U ~ 1 ~ j :c u 4. ^CXllGl gLHCi U31L| U1 5UU1, lie itva Alien ClZD 11 UU1 11 L

that commanding position. His death is con-

sidered by many to be an irreparable loss to

his party.

In word and action he was a friend to the

cause of education, seeking evermore to raise

the standard higher, and to place the school

system of the State on a more commanding
basis. In the interests of the Wilmington
Conference Academy, located at Dover, (a

history of which will be found in this volume,)

he labored so constantly that by his untiring

energy, wise counsel and practical suggest-

ions, he lived to see it one of the best institu-

tions of learning in the State. He was
President of its Board of Trustees from its or-

ganization until the time of his death, and did

all that he could to promote it and place it on

a solid basis, and free it from financial embar-
rassment. He was also a Trustee of the

Delaware College, located at Newark.

Uniting with the Methodist Episcopal Church
in 1843, he had her interests at heart, serving

in the local offices of the church, and attaining

such a character as to be named as one of the

American delegates to the Ecumenical Coun-
cil of Methodism, recently held in London.
In private life he was a man of stainless in-

tegrity. He was open, frank, sincere, thought-

ful, considerate, warm hearted and generous.
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As a husband and father he was tender, affec-

tionate, and full of sympathy; as a friend to

the poor, lie won the esteem of his neighbors

by reason of his many acts of kindness to them,

and as a lover of his friends, many, surviving

him, are willing to testify to his sincerity and

firmness of attachment. geo. a. phcebls, d. d.

PMvrton, governor, william,

V,
' 'vas born October 16, 1789. His

father was John Burton, a farmer of

Sussex county, who had one other son,

John, who was at one time Speaker of the

House of Delegates. The elder John Burton

married Miss Mary Vaughan, who, after his

death, became the wife of Robert Frame, and

their son, the celebrated Robert Frame, of the

Delaware bar, was accordingly the half brother

of Dr. Burton. Governor Burton studied med-

icine in the office of the elder Dr. Sudler, of

Milford, and graduated M. D. from the Uni-

versity of Pennsylvania, in the class of 1800.

After a short time he settled in Milford in

the practice of his profession, and continued,

with the exception of four years during

which he was sheriff, to attend to the duties

of his profession until elected Governor of

the State, which occurred in 1858. He was

twice married, first to Mrs. Eliza Walcott, the

daughter of William Sorden of Kent county.

There was one child of this marriage, Wil-

liam Sorden Burton, who died in early man-
hood. After the death of Mrs. Burton, he,

in 1830, was married to Miss Ann C., daugh-

ter of Robert and Rhoda (Davis) Hill. Mrs.

Burton is the daughter of the sister of Judge

Isaac Davis, of whom see sketch and engrav-

ing in this book.

Governor and Mrs. Ann C. Burton had one

daughter who became the wife of Alfred R.

Wootten.at one time Attorney General of the

state : see engraving and sketch of him in this

volume. After Mr. Wootten’s death she mar-

ried Clinton Roudebush, Esq., ot New York.

Governor Burton died August 5, 1866, and is

interred in the grave-yard of the Protestant

Episcopal Church in the town of Milford. 1

The widow of Governor Burton is a resident

of Milford, and enjoys excellent health, and

promises to live many years.

AYNTER, COLONEL SAMUEL,Gov-
ernor of Delaware, was born in 1768,011

the old family estate at Paynter’s Draw-
bridge. He spent his life on this estate

which became his inheritance on the death of

his father, Samuel Paynter, who was an Eng-
lishman by birth. Colonel Paynter received

his education in the common schools. He be-

became a merchant, and in his mature years

was active and influential in politics. He was

elected Governor of the State on the Federal-

ist ticket in 1823. In 1844 he was elected to

the Blouse of Representatives on the Demo-
cratic ticket. He married Elizabeth Rowland
of Sussex county, by whom he had a large

family of children. The eldest of these, born

in 1801, was Samuel Rowland Paynter, the

father of Hon. John Paynter and Edwin Row-
land Paynter,lawyers of Georgetown,of whom
sketches will be found in this book. Governor

Paynter died in 1848, at the ripe age of seventy-

seven years.

J\eJd^USTON, REV. ALEXANDER, son of

Samuel Huston, was born in Dublin,

Ireland, and came to Delaware in the

4 '" early part of the eighteenth century.

He graduated at Princeton College, New Jer-

sey, in 1760, and received his license from the

Presbytery of Lewes, Delaware, about 1763.

He was ordained in 1764 and installed as

pastor of Murderkill and Three Run churches,

where he remained until his death, January 3,

1785. He was a man greatly beloved, and a

most earnest and laborious minister. In con-

nection with the historical incidents of the

State he bore a conspicuous part, and it was
his custom during the Revolutionary war to

pray “That the Lord would send plenty of

powder and ball to greet their enemies with.”

One Sabbath while he was engaged at his

church, a detachment of British soldiers came
to his house and left their compliments by
boring their bayonets through the panels of

his doors, and destroying more of his property

than was congenial to the feelings of his heart.

His granddaughter,now living in Philadelphia

is the relict of the late Solomon Townsend,
formerly of Delaware, and of whom a sketch

will be found in this volume.

i

I
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^It cCAULLEY, WILLIAM, a retiredQj »yAo merchant, Real Estate Broker, Phi-

lanthropist, ect., of Wilmington, was

born in Cecil county, Md., Feb. 7, 1797.

His father was Alexander McCaulley, a lead-

ing citizen of Kent county, Maryland, who re-

moved to New Castle county, Delaware, while

William was yet a child. He secured a good
English education at the schools of his vici-

nity which he attended until the age of four-

teen years. He began his business career at

this time as clerk in a general country store

at Odessa, where he remained until he reached

his twenty-first year. In 1818 he removed to

the city of Wilmington, Del., where he en-

tered the employ of the late Thomas Lea,

Esq., in the capacity of clerk. Mr. Lea was

largely engaged in the flour manufacturing

business, and the duties of Mr. McCaulley were

of such a nature as to employ all his time and

attention. In 1820 he formed a partnership

w1i.11 a nomas ana engaged in the busi

ness of general merchandising at Brandywine

Village, now apart of the city of Wilmington.

This business was conducted successfully until

1831, when Mr. McCaully abandoned it. He
was elected the same year as a member of the

Legislature of Delaware, which position he

filled with great credit to himself and ren-

dered valuable service to his constituents.

He was appointed Magistrate about the same

time, and was reappointed to the same office

in 1838. He resigned in 1842, and has since,

until a very recent period,been engaged in the

Real Estate business in Wilmington, and has

become one of the largest Real Estate owners

in that city.

Mr. McCaulley is one of the directors of the

Wilmington Navigation Company, and is con-

nected with several benevolent institutions.

He is widely and favorably known for his be-

nevolence, and is a supporter of every charita-

ble and moral enterprise in the city of Wil-

mington. He is highly respected and enjoys

the confidence of the people. Although past

four-score years, his age has not incapacitated

him in the least; he is as vigorous and as

active, mentally and physically, as most men
in the prime of life. He is a man of fine busi-

ness tact, and has been very successful in

acquiring an enviable competency for himself

and family.

Mr. McCaulley was married, first, in 1827,

to Miss Sarah L. Sinclair, of New Garden,

Pennsylvania; she died in 1852. Six children

were born to them of whom four are yet living.

The living are, Mary, now widow of Joseph R.

Jefferis, and mother of Rev. Prof. William Jef-

feris, of Delaware College, and Joseph R,,

largely engaged in manufactures in Philadel-

phia. Samuel S., a resident of Philadelphia,

and Elizabeth, wife of Rev. P. Coombe, of the

Philadelphia Conference of the M. E. Church
;

William S., deceased, of whom see sketch and

plate in this volume, and Annie McCaulley,

who died in her eleventh year. He was mar-

ried a second time, in 1854, to Miss Hannah B.

Brinton of Chester county Pa., who died in

1864. He was again married to Mrs. Sybilla

Chambers of Brooklyn, New York, who is still

living.

^JOyDDLE, HON. GEORGE READ, of
Bui t\t r’*

\ _ u ^ _w caaut, w do uwl

1817. He was a graduate of Delaware

College, Newark, and studied engineer-

ing in which he was engaged for many years,

locating and constructing railroads and canals

in Pennsylvania, Delaware, Maryland and
Virginia, the last of which was the great work
at Harper’s Ferry. He afterward studied law

and was admitted to the bar in 1848. He was
appointed Deputy Attorney General for New
Castle county, and served in that position with

credit for two years. In 1850 Mr. Riddle was
elected to the 32d Congress, and re-elected

to the 33d Congress, serving on the' com-
mittee on Roads and Canals. He was made
chairman of the committee on Engraving,

and served in the same position upon a special

committee on the Peruvian guano question.

In 1 849 he was appointed by the Governor of the

State a commissioner on the part of Delaware,

to retrace the celebrated “Mason and Dixon’s

line, the report of which was printed by the

Legislatures of Pennsylvania, Delaware and
Maryland, in 1850. He was also a Delegate

to the Democratic National Conventions of

1844, 1848, and 1856. In 1864 he was elected

United States Senator from Delaware and
served in Congress for the term ending in 1869.

Fie was a member of the Committees on the

District of Columbia, Private Land Claims,

Manufactories, and Printing.
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ANCROFT, JOSEPH, late of Wilming- !

ton, was born April 7, 1803, at Man-

j

H'-O Chester, England, his parents being
j

John and Elizabeth (Wood) Bancroft.

They were members of the Society of Friends.

The mother, some years before her marriage,

accompanied a minister of the Society who

came to this country on a religious visit-

Joseph Bancroft received his education at

Ackworth (Friends) School, which he left at

fourteen, and was apprenticed to his uncle,

Jacob Bright, father of the celebrated States-

man, John Bright, of England. During his ap-

prenticeship, which lasted seven years, his

family removed to this country and settled in

Wilmington, where he joined them in the

spring of 1824. Though he was the second of

thirteen children, the night he arrived was the

first time they had all been gathered under

one roof. He found his father and brothers

engaged in the manufacture of flannel, in

which ho assisted them for a year or twn and

then took charge of the cotton mills of the

Young family, at Rockland. In the spring of

1831 he bought the property where the Rock-

ford mills and village, (frequently called Ban-

croft’s Banks,) near Wilmington, now stand.

There .were then on the place only two small

houses, the third his own residence, while now

there are about eighty, besides extensive mill

buildings, library, etc. His upward struggle

from small beginnings was not easy, but he

met every difficulty with courage and faith.

The flood of 1839 carried away his dam, and

seriously damaged his stock. Then he felt

overwhelmed and offered to surrender the

whole property to the late Thomas Janvier,

who had furnished him largely with the means

for starting the business, but that gentleman

refused to permit any such sacrifice, and assisted

him to a new start. In his business Mr. Ban-

croft was enterprising, and always seeking

improvements. He introduced in his mills

some of the first “self-acting mules;” and some

of the first fly-frames made in America, were

built under his direction. In his mills, also,

the finishing process for some descriptions of

goods was first brought up to the English

standard of excellence, after many years of

experiment and study on his part, involving a

journey to England in 1854 for the purpose of

31

inspecting the mills there. His relations with

those in his employ were peculiarly honorable

and Christian. He had seen the evils of store

pay, and immediately on starting his mills

commenced the practice of paying his hands,

himself, in cash, which he kept up throughout

his business career. At the same time he

encouraged the men to leave as much of their

wages as possible in his hands, allowing them
interest on their balances. Many of the men
who came to the mills with nothing but the

clothes they wore, went West with sufficient

of their earnings to buy and stock a farm. The
utmost care for the comfort and welfare of his

men always marked his dealings with them,

and a library was established for their use. The
result was - the establishment of most kindly

relations between the employer and the em-
ployed, and during the whole forty-three

years of his ownership of the mills there were

very few strikes, and they were so rarely stop-

ped in either good times or bad, that it came
to be a saying, “Bancroft never stops.” In

1029 air. i^aiieiujL nidi 1 iCu Sarah, daughter of

William and Sarah Poole, of Wilmington, by

whom he had two sons, Wm. P., and Samuel,

who became his partners in 1865, forming the

firm of Joseph Bancroft & Sons, and who,

since his decease, continue the business under

the same name. He always maintained his

connection with the religious society of which

he was a birthright member, and adorned his

profession of its doctrine of peace on earth,

good will toward men, by an earnest and con-

sistent life. At the time of the division of the

society he went with the branch commonly
called “Hicksites,” but he never approved of

the separation, which he deplored as a griev-

ous mistake, and in the latter part of his life,

devoted a great part of his time to indefatiga-

ble efforts to effect a reconciliation and reunion.

He published a book on the subject entitled,

“A Persuasive to Unity.” He was also the

author of many religious tracts. His labors

to restore unity to the society were so great

as to hasten, it is believed, the disease which

finally caused his death, on the 8th of Decem-

ber, 1874. The press and the public hastened

to pay just tribute to his noble life and char-

acter. Says one who knew him, “He stands in

our mind as the best realization of manliness

and sweetness, strength and tenderness, it has

ever been our privilege to know, and whose
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benignant face and commanding form will
]

ever stand fixed indelibly in our memory as

those of one who realized, and typified in his
i

person and life, the character of a true chris-
j

tian gentleman.”

ACDONOUGH, COMMODORE
r P THOMAS, was born in the county of

New Castle, in December, 1783. His

kSP father, Thomas Sr., was a physician,

but inspired with a love of liberty, he entered

the army of the revolution as a major. He
did not, however, remain long in the service,

but returned to private life. After the war he

was made a Judge, in which office he remained

till his death in 1795. He left three sons:

the eldest, James, was a midshipman under

Huxton, when he took the Insurgent. In

that battle he was so severely wounded that

it was necessary to amputate his leg. He
soon after left the navy with the reputation of

a brave officer. In 1798 the subject of tiiis

memoir obtained a warrant as a midshipman,

and commenced his career as a naval officer.

He was soon recognized by his superiors as a

young officer of great promise, and was

selected by the gallant Decatur to accom-

pany him in his hazardous expedition when he

undertook the burning of the frigate Philadel-

phia. When Macdonough was first lieutenant

of the Siren
,
under the command of Captain

Smith, a circumstance occurred in the harbor

of Gibraltar, sufficiently indicative of the firm-

ness and decision of his character. An Ameri-

can merchant brig came to anchor near the

United States vessel. Macdonough, in the

absence of Captain Smith, who had gone on

shore, saw a boat from a British frigate board

the brig and take from her a man. hie instantly

manned and armed his gig and pursued the

British boat, which he overtook just as it

reached the frigate, and without ceremony

took the imprisoned man into his own boat.

The frigate’s boat was twice the force of his

own, but the act was so bold as to astound

the lieutenant who commanded the press-

gang, and no resistance was offered. When
the affair was made known to the British cap-

tain he came on board the Siren in a great

rage, and inquired how he dared to take a

a man from on board his boat, and swore that

he would bring his frigate alongside the Siren

and sink her. “ This you may do,” said Mac-
donough, “but while she swims, the man you

will not have.” “ Would you venture to in-

terfere, sir.” demanded the English captain,

if I were to impress men from that brig?”

“You have only to try it, sir,” was the pithy

answer. The English officer returned to his

ship, manned his boat and made his way
towards the brig

;
Macdonough did the same

;

the English officer saw that he had to deal

with no ordinary man, and taking a circuitous

route returned to the ship. With his great firm-

ness of character. Macdonough united the

Christian virtues. He was reserved, temperate,

and circumspect, and his moral worth was as

conspicuous as his professional ability. In the

latter part of his life he suffered much from ill-

health, but at the same time he was one of

the most active and athletic officers of the

navy, and was dexterous in the use of his

sword.

After the declaration of war with England

in 1

8

i 2
,
he was ordered to Lake Champlain.

This was an important station, for through this

lake a communication could most readily be

had with the most powerful portion of the

Canadas. For the first two years of the war

the armies on both sides were busy in other

directions, but towards the close of the sum-

mer of 1814 the warlike preparations on Lake

Champlain and its vicinity, indicated the ap-

proaching attack, and the fleet of Macdonough

was put in readiness. He had only four ships,

such as they were, and ten gallies
;

in all

eighty-six guns. The British force was larger;

they had four ships and thirteen gallies, mak-

ing a total of ninety-five guns, and their com-

plement of men was much greater. The

American fleet was commanded only by a

young lieutenant, and the British by an expe-

rienced officer. On the land, too, the British

had gathered large bodies of troops, the veter-

ans of Wellington’s army, and were confident

of a signal victory. The battle commenced at

eight o’clock on the morning of September 11,

and lasted two hours and twenty minutes.

The British ships surrendered, three of the

gallics sunk, and the rest pulled off; all in a

very shattered condition. On the land, the loss

of the Americans was fifty-two killed and

fifty-eight wounded, while the British had

eighty-four killed and one hundred and ten
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wounded. The prisoners taken exceeded the

whole number of the Americans in action.

The victory was hailed by the whole nation

with great joy. The State of New York in

justice and gratitude, gave the gallant com-
modore a thousand acres of valuable land

;
and

Vermont gave him two hundred acres, delight-

fully situated within a short distance of the

battle ground, and commanding a fine view

of the lake. Also, the city of New York gave

him a valuable lot of land, and Albany followed

the example. Festive honors were offered

him in all places he chanced to pass through,

but they were not often accepted. For this

victory he was promoted to the rank of post-

captain. To the time of his decease he shared

the honors of the home and foreign service

with his compeers. He was an excellent

member of courts-martial, for he brought to

these tribunals a candid mind, ever ready to

see what was in favor of the accused as well

as against him. For several years before his

death he resided in Middletown Connecticut,

where he married Miss Shaler, a lady of highly

respectable family in that place. He died of

consumption, November 10, 1825. His wife

had died a few months previous. In person he

was tall, dignified and commanding, with light

complexion, hair and eyes, and pleasing

features. His look was firm and steadfast, and

his manner, even when talking with an excited

opponent, was calm and polite. His taste was

refined, his principles pure, and his religion

sincere.

SjKoWNSEND, SOLOMON, son of Solo-

mon and Margaret (Parker)Townsend,

was born near Dover, September 6,

(SP 180S. He was left an orphan at seven

years of age and lived with an uncle who had

been appointed his guardian. On attaining

his majority he became a partner with his

brother Job Townsend who was engaged in

mercantile business in Frederica. In 1840 he

removed to Philadelphia, where he was one of

its prominent merchants for over a quarter of

a century. He retired from business about ten

years before, his death, which occurred June

28, 1877, in the sixty-ninth year of his age.

He was greatly esteemed for his integrity and

exemplary Christian character.

EDFORD, GUNNING, was a Revolu-

tionary Patriot, and a delegate from

Delaware to the Continental Congress

0 from 1783 to 1787. He was a member
of the convention that formed the U. S. Con-

stitution and signed that instrument. He was

elected Governor of Delaware in 1796, and

was afterwards appointed District Judge of

the United States Court, in all of which posi-

tions he served with great distinction. He
was a graduate of Princeton College in 1771,

and died in 1797. Additional particulars of

the patriot will be found in the historical de-

partment, also of his cousin Col. Gunning

Bedford, of the Revolutionary Army. His

tomb is to be seen in the grave-yard of the

F'irst Presbyterian Church in Wilmington.

rtG|[-|ICKINSON, JOHN, a distinguished

\ Revolutionary Patriot and Statesman.
VY7 J

U y
was k°rn in Maryland in 1732, his

AT parents soon after removing to Dover,

Delaware. He began the study of Law in

Philadelphia, but spent three years at the

Temple in London, England, and upon his

return entered upon the pratice of his profes-

sion in the city of Philadelphia. In ij6j\.he was

elected a member of the Assembly, and in

1765, of the General Congress. Pie was a

Delegate to the Continental Congress from

Delaware from 1774 to 1776, and opposed the

Declaration of Independence, fearing the

strength of the country insufficient to take so

importaut a stand, but was the only member
of Congress to face the enemy a few days after

the publication of the Declaration. He was

again elected to Congress and served from

1776 to 1777 and again from 1779 to 1780, and

signed the Articles of Confederation, as well

as the Constitution in 1787. In 1781 he was

made President of Delaware, and filled that

position for one year. In 1782 he was chosen

to the same position for the state of Pennsyl-

vania, and continued in that office until 1785.

In 1767 he began to publish his celebrated

“ Farmers Letters” against taxation, and wrote

the greater portion of the State papers of the

first Congress. His collected writings were

published in 1801. He died in 1S08 at the age

of seventy-five years.
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A/T*
ALL, HON. YVILLARD, lawyer, legis-

lator, Judge, and philanthopist, was

born in the town of Westford, Middle-

sex Co., Mass., December 24, 1780. His

father, Willis Hall, was born and died in that

town. His mother, Mehitable (Pool,) Hall,

was of Hollis, N. H.

He inherited from his ancestry a constitu-

tion singularly sound in all its parts, physical

intellectual and moral. It is not surprising to

find that his progenitors, in all lines of descent

which can be traced, were of strong mental

and moral characteristics, and kept even pace

with the culture of the age in which they lived,

many of them leaders in the thought and en-

terprise of their day. His mother was of a

highly respected and influential family of

Hollis, N. PI One of her brothers was a dis-

tinguished political leader. On his father’s

side, Judge Hall was connected with the Wil-

lards, from whom he derived his Christian name,

and probably the controiing elements of his

character. They were an ancient English

family, seated originally in the county of Kent,

England.

The progenitor of the Willard family in this

country, was Major Simon Willard, who, with

his sister, Margaret Willard, emigrated to

America and settled in Cambridge, Mass., in

1634. He was a military leader in the Indian

wars, a legislator, and Judge. He died in

Charlestown, 1676, leaving a family of seven-

teen children whose descendants now count

by thousands. Our subject is the fifth in

descent, from Margaret Willard, who became

the wife of Captain Dolour Davis, whose only

daughter married Stephen Hall.

Judge Hall received his early mental train-

ing in some directions from his grandfather,

Rev. Willard Hall, an eminently pious and

distinguished divine of that day. He after-

ward attended the Academy of Westford,

where he remained three years. He entered

Harvard College in 1795 and graduated in 1799.

Harvard was then under the presidency of

Rev. Jos. Willard, his kinsman. He was ad-

mitted to the bar in March, 1803, in Hills-

borough county, N. H. A speech of the elder

James A. Bayard at that time attracting his

attention, he wrote to Mr. Bayard, whose

courteous and favorable answer induced him to

make choice of Delaware as his future home.

On the 7th of April, 1S03, he left his father’s

house on horseback, and arrived at Wilming-
ton on the 1 6th of the same month. He was
examined by Mr, Bayard and James P. Wilson,

then at the Georgetown bar, and admitted
an attorney and counselor of that court.

James A. Bayard, George Reed,C. A. Rodney,
Nicholas VanDyke and James P. Wilson, (after-

ward a distinguished clergyman of Philadel-

phia,) were then the leaders of the Delaware
bar.

As a counselor Mr. Hall became distin-

guished for his legal learning, sound judgment
and fidelity to his clients. In 1812 he was ap-

pointed Secretary of State by Gov. Haslet,

and served for a term of three years. In 1816

he was elected a Representative to Congress,

and was re-elected in 1818, but Congressional

life was distasteful to him, and he declined

further service. In 1821 he was again ap-

pointed Secretary of State under Gov. Collins.

In 1822 he was elected a member of the State

Senate. May 6, 1823, on the decease of Tudpre

P'isher.he was appointed by President Monroe,

District Judge of the United States for the

District of Delaware. Soon after his appoint-

ment he removed to Wilmington, where he

resided until his decease, and retired from pro-

fessional labors after twenty years toil, having

won a record such as few may attain.

This appointment brought congenial em-
ployment, and much leisure for maturing those

plans of larger usefulness which he had already

begun to meditate. He held the office for the

long term of forty-eight years, retiring from

it in 1871, when in his ninety-first year, having

combined in the office all the requisites of

learning, exalted purity, dignity and the pub-

lic confidence. He discharged the duties of

his high station with promptness, impartiality

and a peculiarly sensitive consideration for the

feelings of all with whom his duties brought

him in contact.

The only decision of Judge Hall which

was ever criticised was his discharge of the

prisoners held by the military in Delaware in

[866, and that after the partisan excitement of

t lie time had died away was very generally

approved. In 1S31 he was elected a delegate

for New Castle county to frame a new Consti-

tution for the State. In the Convention he, with

John M. Clayton, James Rodgers and George

Reed, Jr., were the master spirits. Judge Hall
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was the organizer and maturer of the present

school system of the city of Wilmington. It

was said of him that his life and the life of the

school system in the state, its growth and

prosperity, were so interwoven that neither

could be mentioned without the other. He
presided over the Wilmington school board

from its first organization in 1852, till 1870.

His actual service in the cause of education

commenced in 1822, when he was Secretary

of State. To the Delaware State Bible Society

Judge Hall gave nearly half a century of ser-

vice. He was thirty years its president, and

in all these thirty years the society never met

without him but once, when he was detained

at home by sickness. He was President of the

Wilmington Savings Fund Society from its

organization in 1832 until disabled by his great

age. The Delaware Historical Society was

probably the latest social institution with which

he connected himself, then in his eighty-fourth

year. Judge Hall united with the Hanover

Street Presbyterian Church. March 8, 1827, and

was elected a ruling elder September 23, 1829,

which office he held until his death. He taught

the Bible class connected with the Sunday

school, over forty years. A pamphlet from his

pen. entitled “ A plea for the Sabbath, ad-

dressed to the legal profession,” and his address

on the same subject, before a convention held

in Baltimore, in 1844, are regarded as among
the ablest papers on the subject. He was,

during his whole life, an earnest supporter of

the cause of temperance, and was for many
years President of the Delaware State Coloni-

zation Society.

Soon after his admission to the bar in Kent
county, he was married to a daughter of the

late Chancellor Killen. She died in 1824,

leaving one daughter, the late Mrs. Lucinda

H. Porter, who died in 1869, and from this be-

reavement in his old age, he never fully re-

covered. In 1826 he was married to his second

wile. In the winter of his ninetieth year he

withdrew from all active duties, and on the

evening of the 10th of May, 1875, passed to

his great reward.

•|Jh\REEN, GENERAL JESSE. The his-

tory of General Jesse Green belongs to
•vv'-b
ej. Delaware, that of his ancestors to

Li) Maryland. He wras a lineal descendant

!

of the first Lord Baltimore, whose daughter,

Helen Calvert, married Thomas Green. Their

son, Thomas Green, came with his uncle, Leon-
ard Calvert, to Maryland in 1634, and after-

wards married Winifred, daughter of Cecil

Calvert, second Lord Baltimore. Thomas
Green, who was Lieutenant-Governor of Mary-
land in 1647, had three sons

;
one of these,

Leonard, had one son, Thomas. In the early

colonial history this Thomas Green is spoken

of as “a great and good man.” His son,

Thomas Dudley Green, married Mary Simms,
and their eldest son, Jesse, the subject of this

sketch, was born June 12, 1766. The family

estates lay mostly in Charles and St. Mary’s

counties. Md., where large tracts of land had

been granted them by patents from Lord Bal-

timore; there they lived and preserved the

religion and the virtues of their illustrious an-

cestors. In June, 1790, General Jesse Green

removed from the District of Columbia to

Sussex county, Delaware
;
here he married,

his first wife being a widow, Mrs. Sarah Buch-

anan. This lady lived but a siiort time,and in

1797 he was united in marriage to Miss Eliza-

beth Gunby, a granddaughter of Col. Gunby
of Revolutionary fame. Miss Gunby was de-

scribed by her contemporaries as “ a beauty, an

heiress and a belle,” and seems to have been a

worthy companion to this honored gentleman.

During the war of 1812, General Green was in

active service and was present with his troops

at the bombardment of Lewes. He filled

many offices of public trust, was for thirty ses-

sions a member of the Delaware Legislature,

and was once a candidate for Governor, ran

but was defeated. Like all of his ancestors,

General Green was a devoted Catholic, and

during his long and useful life, never neglected

the duties of his religion. General Green

died at Concord, in August, 1834, and is inter-

red in the family burying ground at that place.

He had twelve children
;
of these, five now sur-

vive—Mrs. Henry Long of Oakland, California,

Col. George W. Green, Mrs. Charles Ross and

Mrs. Joseph Ford, all of Baltimore, and Mrs.

Benjamin Burton of Georgetown, Delaware.

General Green was of a retiring and studious

disposition, and spent much of his time with

his books, his library being the finest at that

time in Sussex county. He was a kind and

humane master to a large number of slaves, a

friend to the poor, and it was ever his delight
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to assist young men of talent whose means i

would not afford them the benefits of scholas-
j

tie training. Among those thus generously
!

aided byhim were names whose history adorned

the annals of Delaware and shed lustre upon

their profession.

ISHER, HON. GEORGE PURNELL,
lawyer and ex-United States Judge

of the Supreme Court for the District

of Columbia, was born at Milford,

October 13th, 1817. His father was General

Thomas Fisher, of whom see sketch in this

volume. His mother was Nancy, daughter of

Robert and Sally Owens of Sussex county, a

woman of great vigor of mind and one of the

early and distinguished Methodists of the

State. Judge Fisher was the only child of

this union, but as both his parents had been

married before, eacl* of tfiem ^ ^ ^ V»v

the first marriage.

He, after attending the schools of the coun-

try from an early age, was sent to St. Marys
College, Baltimore, Maryland, by his parents,

when in his seventeenth year. At the end of

one year spent in this institution, he went to

Dickinson college, Carlisle, Pa., then under

the direction of the distinguished and eloquent

John P. Durbin, D. D. Entering the Sopho-

more class, he graduated in regular course

from that institution in July 1838.

He then having decided on his profession,

entered the law office of Hon. John M. Clay-

ton, at Dover, Delaware, who had married a

distant relative of Judge Fisher. Mrs. Clay

ton was Sally Ann, daughter ot Doctor James
Fisher, of Camden. Pursuing his legal studies

he was admitted to the Bar of the Superior

Court of the State, in April 1841, and settled

in the practice of law in Dover. He met with

marked success from the beginning, and, for

a young man, had a large clientage. Upon
the election of President Taylor, that gen-

tleman gave to Hon. J. M. Clayton the port-

folio of Secretary of State in his cabinet,

and Judge Fisher was unexpectedly invited

to take a position in the State Department of

the United States. He was appointed by

President Taylor to advocate certain claims of

the citizens of the United States against the

Brazilian Government, which commission he

fulfilled in such a manner as to elicit the warm
commendation of Hon. Elisha Whittlesey at

that time Hirst Comptroller of the Treasury.

After the completion of this service, he, in

1S52, returned to Dover and resumed the prac-

tice of his profession.

In March, 1855, he was appointed by Gov.
Causey to the position of Attorney General

of the State of Delaware, a position which he

occupied with marked ability and advantage

to the State, for five years. In i860 much
against his personal preferences he was nomi-

nated by the Union Party as their candidate

for Congress. Although the Democrats were

largely in the majority in the State he suc-

ceeded in calling out more than the usual

strength of his party in his support. In 1862

he was nominated on the ticket of the Repub-
lican Party for a seat in the House of Repre-

sentatives,and, as he claims, was elected, but

by fraudulent returns was kept out of his seat

in that body. His competitor did not live tc»

serve his constituents, having died before the

assembling of Congress. At the close of the

short session of Congress, March, 1863, without

his knowledge or solicitation he was appointed

by President Lincoln to the position of Asso_
ciate Justice of the Supreme Court of the D s-

trict of Columbia. After serving in this position

with ability and credit until 1870 he resigned

his seat on the bench and accepted the ap-

pointment of United States District Attorney

for the District of Columbia, tendered him by
President U. S. Grant. This office he contin-

ued to fill until the autumn of 1875, when he

resigned and returned to his native State and

is now engaged in the practice of law in Dover,

Delaware. In the course of a life so greatly

in the public eye, and with position and out-

spoken convictions on all political questions,

it is not to be wondered at that his political

opponents have evinced great bitterness

toward him. His has been the unpopular

side in politics in Delaware since the death of

the old Whig party, in the State : but if

unselfish devotion to the interests of friends,

and of helpfulness toward all of whatever

political creed who have asked for his aid in

obtaining position, be traits of character to be

commended in those who occupy conspicuous

position, then is George P. Fisher, indeed, one

of a thousand.
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His patriotism at the beginning of the late

civil war was conspicuous. He was deeply in-

terested in having his State send her full

quota of soldiers to the field, and was made
Colonel of the 1st Delaware Cavalry, and gave

his time and means to its being recruited and
j

organized, and his Colonelcy was resigned

only when President Lincoln appointed him to

a position on the bench, of the District of Co-

lumbia. To the soldiers of Delaware and other

States who met him in Washington, he was an

unfailing adviser, and friend
;
and we know of

no one after an acquaintance of thirty years

who deserves a higher place in the esteem of

those to whom he is intimately known.

In 1840, Judge Fisher married Miss Eliza A.,

.

daughter of Hon. and Rev. T. P. McColley of

Milford, Del., whose portrait and sketch are

in this volume. Four children survive, of this

marriage.

HIPLEYS, The, of Wilmington. Wil-

mmigrant, was bornHam Shipley, the i

f 5-'W in Leicestershire, England, in 1693.

Married Mary Ann, daughter of Robert

and Ann Tatnall
;

had three children,

Thomas, Ann and Elizabeth. He embarked

at Bristol, England, early in 1725, arrived at

Philadelphia in July, and settled at Ridley,

Pennsylvania. His wife died soon after, and he

married Elizabeth Levis, daughter of Samuel

Levis of Springfield, Pennsylvania. A few

years afterwards he purchased 12 acres of land,

in what is now the most populous part of the

city of Wilmington, and removed there. He
was a wealthy and enterprising man, and ex-

erted his influence successfully to induce emi-

grants to settle in Wilmington. He built the

market house at the cornor of Fourth and

Market streets, and was the first Burgess of

the town. In the year 1740 he, with others,

built the first vessel for foreign trade that

sailed from that port. He died in the year

1768, aged 76.

Thomas Shipley
,
son of William and Mary

Shipley, was born in Leicestershire, an inland

county of England, in the diocese of Lincoln,

24th, 4th month, 1718. Married Mary Marriott,

daughter of Thomas and Martha Marriott,

15th, 9th month, 1743. He settled in Wilming-
ton, and purchased a part of the water-power

of the Brandywine, of which he and others

recognized the value, and which for so long

a time became a source of wealth to his family.

He had nine children, of whom three died in

infancy; the others were William, Mary, Joseph,

Sarah, Ann and Anna. William, first son, was
born 9th, 3d month, 1746 ;

died 14th, 2d month,

1816, aged 69 years. Mary, second daughter,

was born 2d, 2d month, 1750, married Phineas

Buckley. Died in New York 9th month, 1795.

Joseph, fourth son, was born nth, Ilth month,

1752. Married Mary Levis, daughter of Samuel
Levis of Springfield, Delaware county, Penn-

sylvania. Died in 1832, aged 80 years. He
inherited the mill property on the Brandywine,

and persued the business with energy and suc-

cess, leaving an honorable name as a legacy

to his children, who prized his memory to their

latest days. His wife, Mary, died ilth, 12th

month, 1843, aged 87 years. Sarah, fourth

daughter, was born 6th, 9th month, 1755,

Married Cyrus Newlin of Wilmington, Dela-

ware, and died 1834, leaving two children,

Mary and ihomas. Ann, fifth daughter, was
born 29th, 1st month, 1758. Married John

Jones. Died 1808, leaving two children, Cyrus

and Lydia. Anna, the sixth daughter, was

born 27th, 9th month, 1760. Married William

Byrnes. Died 1805, leaving one son, Thomas,
who married his cousin, Lydia Jones. The
above are the children of Thomas and Mary
Shipley.

The children of Joseph and Mary Shipley

were as follows : Samuel, Mary, Thomas, John,

Rebecca, (died in infancy,) Anna, Elizabeth,

Sarah, Margaret, Joseph and Hannah.

Samuel, the first son of Joseph and Mary,

was born 12th, 2d month, 1777. He married

Elizabeth Jefferis, the daughter of Captain

James Jefferis. He engaged in the milling

business with his father, and continued it ac-

tively and successfully, until the failure of his

health obliged him to retire. He died in the year

1844, leaving two children, Thomas and Sarah.

Mary, the first daughter, was born 27th, 12th

month, 1778; married John Dixon, a respect-

able Friend of Wilmington. Died 1844, aged

64 years, leaving six children, Joseph, Isaac,

Samuel, Thomas, Mary Anna and Emma.
Thomas, the second son, was born 9th

month, 30, 1780. He was engaged early in

life, in the flour and shipping business, in Phila-

delphia, and persued it with remarkable energy

1'
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and ability. While making a visit, on business, !

to the south of France, he was prostrated by

a sunstroke, from the effects of which he never

recovered, and died at the age of 32 years, of

apoplexj', regretted by all who knew him.

He died in the year 1813. John Shipley, third

son of Joseph and Mary Shipley, was born 25th,

12th month, 1782. He possessed excellent

business ability, and was associated with his

father in the milling business on the Brandy-

wine for a number of years. He died 7th

month, 1st, 1863, aged 80 years. Anna, the

third daughter of Joseph and Mary Shipley*

was born 26th, 7th month, 1788. Died in *1852.

She never married. Elizabeth, fourth daugh-

ter, born 10th, 6th month, 1789 Died July,

1865. She never married. Sarah, fifth daugh-

ter of Joseph and Mary Shipley, was born 3 of

3rd month, 1791; died 27 of 8th month, 1872:

Never married. Margaret, sixth daughter,

was born 1 8th, 12th month, 1793; died, 1832:

Not married. Hannah, seventh daughter, was

born 3d. s;th month, 1801. Resides at Rock-

wood, Brandywine hundred, the residence of

her brother, Joseph Shipley.

Joseph
,
fourth son of Joseph and Mary

Shipley, was born 4th month, 12, 1795. At

the age of 18, he entered the counting-house

of Samuel Canby, in Philadelphia, and in the

year 1819 he went to England on business for

John Welch, the father of the late United

States Minister to England. While there he

was invited by William Brown, of Liverpool,

to a partnership in the commission business

Having obtained permission from John Welch,

to leave his employ, he accepted the propo-

sition of William Brown, and the firm took

the title of Brown, Shipley & Co. In that

business he continued thirty years
;
the firm

having meanwhile established a most honor-

able name throughout the business world

Finding his health failing, he resigned his in-

terest in the company, and in the year 1851,

returned to his native place, Wilmington.

Having purchased a large property in Brandy-

wine hundred, he built an elegant mansion,

where he lived in quietude, contrasting strongly

with his accustomed activity, but rendered

necessary by the instability of his health.

Here he spent his time in literary pursuits, in

improving and beautifying his home, and in

the converse of his friends and relations,

several members of whom he invited to occupy

neighboring farms which he had bought. The
reputation of the Liverpool house is a suffi-

cient evidence of his character and ability, for

his importance to the firm was shown not only

in prosperous times, but in adverse and trying

circumstances, and his worth as a merchant

and a citizen, was recognized by the commu-
nity in which he so long resided in England.

Mr. Shipley never married. He died 5th

month, 9, 1867.

, _,v /R eynolds, Robert w., late of
V3 g: ij 'I'O;v Kent county, Delaware, was born on

the old homestead, “Golden Ridge,”

December 5, 1S03. This estate on

which he spent his life, and where his remains

now repose, descended to him from his father,

Thomas Reynolds, who in turn inherited it

from Michael Reynolds, the grandfather of the

subject of our sketch. It was willed to the

last named by his maternal grandfather,

Michael Lowber, son of Peter Lowbcr, who
came from Amsterdam, Holland, and died in

1698. Michael Reynolds was the son of Daniel

Reynolds, who married Grace Lowber, daugh-

of Michael Lowber, above mentioned. 7'he

father of Daniel Reynolds was John Reynolds,

who came to this country from England about

the close of the seventeeth century, and died

in 1729. Robert W. Reynolds received but a

limited education in the county schools. His

natural taste inclined him to surveying, but in-

surmountable difficulties seemed to lie in his

way. He did not possess even the preliminary

knowledge requisite for the accomplishment

of his purpose, and an instructor could not be

obtained. He grew to manhood still unable to

gratify the desire of his heart, but, finally, de-
.

termined that he would succeed, he obtained

the necessary books with which he shut him-

self up for six weeks; at the end of that time

he announced himself prepared to take the

field as a practical surveyor, which he did

with marked success. He remained through

life enthusiastically devoted to his profession.

As a man he possessed unusual ability, and

was the acknowledged adviser of the com-

munity in which he lived. At the early age

of thirty years he was appointed by Governor

Caleb P. Bennett, November 15, 1833, Sheriff

of Kent county, to fill a vacancy that had oc-
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curred. He was afterwards elected to the

same office by the Democratic party, of which

he was a member all his life, and to whose in-

terests he was devoted. In his later years, on

the fifteenth ot March, 1853, he was appointed

by Governor William H. Ross, Register of

Wills in and for Kent county, which position

he filled with great credit. The ability here

displayed, together with his well known high

character, suggested him as an eligible can-

didate for gubernatorial honors. When the

State convention met in 1862 to nominate a

candidate for the office of Governor, upon

counting the votes it was found that Samuel

Jefferson of New Castle county had received

seventy-six, and Robert W. Reynolds of Kent

county sixty-seven
;
the convention consisting

at that time of one hundred and fifty mem-
bers. Mr. Reynolds was a consistent member
of the Methodist Church from his early man-

hood. He was married, March 13, 1823, to

Miss Sarah G., daughter of David Marvel.

The date of her birth was June 25, 1803. Their

children, six in number, all living at the time

of his death, were Luther M. Reynolds, a

leading member of the Baltimore bar
;
Eliza-

beth Carter
;

Sarah G. Culbreth
;

Frances

Clough
;
Thomas G. Reynolds, and Robert J.

Reynolds. Mr. Reynolds was a man of fine

appearance, being six feet and two inches in

height, and well proportioned, his weight

averaging two hundred pounds. He died,

widely lamented, February 15, 1863.

^RUBB, IGNATIUS C., Ex-Secretary of

State, Wilmington, Delaware, was born

April 12, 1841, at Grubb’s Landing,

Brandywine hundred, New Castle

county, in the old homestead of his family,

called “ Stockdeals,” which had been in the

continuous possession of his paternal ancestors

from the date of the original Penn patent con-

veying the property. He was the son of a

farmer whose ancestors were of English line-

age, and had been prominent and influential

landholders from the earliest colonial period.

They were descended from John Grubb, who
came from England and settled at LT pland,

now Chester, upon the Delaware river, in Dela-

ware county, Pennsylvania, in 1679, two years

before the arrival of Penn in 1681. He was a

32

farmer and member of the Church of England,
and had severel sons from whom descended

the Delaware, Pennsylvania and New Jersey

families of the name. His eldest son, Emman-
uel, noted in the early histories of the colony,

as the first male child of English parentage

born in the Province of Pennsylvania, settled

in Brandywine hundred about 1699, and was
the first Delaware progeniter of the subject of

this sketch. The latter removed to Wilming-
ton with his parents, in 1848, and has since

resided there. He received a classical educa-

tion at the Delaware Military Academy, in

that city, under the direction of Col. Theodore

Hyatt, now President of the Pennsylvania

Military Academy, at Chester, Pennsylvania.

He there completed the course of study pre-

scribed for the junior and preceding classes in

Yale College, with the intention of entering

its senior class, but abandoned that design and

commenced the study of law under his guar-

dian, Victor DuPont, Esq., a leading lawyer

of Wilmington, and was admitted to the Dela-

ware bar in 1863. Since that date he has been

actively engaged in his profession, and also in

political life and public affairs. As an ardent

democrat, he has taken a zealous interest in

the conduct and success of his party, and has

been prominent both as a political speaker and

party leader. In recognition of his political

services, he has received several serviceable

and honorable appointments. In 1865 he was

appointed Notary^ Public to fill the vacancy

occasioned by the resignation of Hon. George

Read Riddle, upon his election to the United

States Senate. In 1867 he was elected Clerk

of the House of Representatives of his State.

In 1869 he was appointed Deputy Attorney

General of the State, for New Castle county,

by Hon. John H. Paynter, Attorney General,

and held the office until the resignation of the

latter. February 15, 1875, he was commis-

sioned Aide-de-Camp to Governor James

Ponder, with the rank of Colonel. July 3,

1871, he was elected City Solicitor (Corpora-

tion Counsel) for the city of Wilmington, to

succeed Samuel M. Harrington, Esq., whose

term had expired. June 30, 1875, he was

elected a Fellow of the American Geographi-

cal Society, New York City, and on February

17, 1879, was appointed a member of the

National Democratic Campaign Committee of

twenty-one, created to take the place of the
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National Democratic Congressional Commit-
tee. During the summer and autumn of 1874,

he was prominent and influential in shaping

the events which led to the nomination and

election of Hon. John P. Cochran, Governor

of Delaware. Accordingly, as an express

recognition of his acknowledged services, he

was appointed Secretary of State by Governor
j

Cochran, January 19, 1875, and filled the office
J

until the close of his term in January, 1879.
j

Throughout this entire period he zealously and
j

efficiently supported the Governor in the var-
j

ious public measures which distinguished his !

administration He especially evinced a warm !

interest in Delaware’s proper and creditable
i

participation in the centennial exhibition at
j

Philadelphia
;

in the success of the public
j

school system of the State, as 3. member of I

the State School Board
;
in the reduction of

taxation and the decrease of the State debt;

and, generally, in all public measures truly

conducive to the real improvement and per-

manent welfare of the State and its institu-

tions. Since his retirement from office he has

devoted himself to the practice of law in the

city of Wilmington, where he continues to

reside.

sm ESSICK, MILES, farmer of Nanticoke

hundred, Sussex county, was born in

Broad Creek hundred, Sept. 14, 1815,

being the eldest son of Samuel Mes-

sick, who was a farmer in independent circum-

stances, owning over nine hundred acres of

land. He was one of the leading men of his

locality. He was born October 28, 1791, and

died April 16, 1841. His wife was Elizabeth,

daughter of Philip and Luranah (Wingate)

Matthews. Eight of their ten children grew

to maturity ;
their names being, Miles; John;

James; Luranah, who married Robert P. Barr,

both now deceased
;
Samuel T.; Sarah Eliza-

beth, wife of R.ev. William W. Morgan
;
Julia

A., widow of John C. Cannon, and Eliza Jane,

who married Rev. J. Pastorfield, of the M. E.

Church. She died in August, 1852.

The father of Samuel was Covington

Messick, farmer, of Broad Creek hundred,

and who occupied the old homestead, con-

taining 600 acres of land, which has been in

the possession of the family for over one hun-

dred years. He was born in 1755, and died

December 17, 1828. He married Hannah
Tindal, a woman of great physical strength

and vigor. Their nine children ail grew to

maturity, their names being, Minos T.; Lovey,

third w'ife of Adam Short
;
Covington, Junior

;

Miles
;
Samuel

;
Leah, who married John Mat-

thews
;
Nancy, who married Thomas Knowles,

and moved to the West
;

Betsey, who was

burned to death in early womanhood, and

Holland, who married Matthews Penton, and

went to live near Winchester, Illinois. Isaac

Messick, also a large land owner, was the

father of Covington, and lived in the same

neighborhood. By his first wife he had three

children. By his second wife, a Miss Windsor,

he had three sons and two daughters, who all

lived to be over sixty years of age. Their

names were, Covington, John, Isaac, Bethany,

and another daughter, who married Hales

Spicer. Isaac was the first of the family who

settled in Delaware, his early home having

been in Wicomoco county, Maryland. Miles

Messick attended the public schools during

the winter season, and worked on his faLlici’s

farm till he was twenty-one. At the age of

twenty-three, he attended, for one session, the

academy in Laurel. He then superintended

for three years the farm of his uncle, Kendall

M. Lewis, near that place. This was followed

by his marriage, and he began farming in the

lower part of Nanticoke hundred, on land

which he purchased of his father, and which

was part of the estate of his great grandfather,

Samuel Tindal, all of which consisted of about

ioooacres. Here twenty-seven happy and pros-

perous years were spent. In 1858 he purchased

the farm on which he now resides, called

“Pleasant Plain,” and to which he removed,

December 24, 1867. It consisted at first of

three hundred and twenty-three acres, but ad-

ditions have been made, till now it numbers

! over one thousand acres, and is divided into

five farms. Mr. Messick owns, beside, two

other farms, which, together, contain two hun-

dred and fifty acres. These lands he has, by

unsparing industry aud good management,

brought to a high state of cultivation, and he

is one of the leading agriculturists of the

j
county. It is worthy of mention that neither

j
he nor any of the ancestors mentioned in this

|

sketch, ever lived a day in a rented house, all

|

owning their own rooftree and the soil on

i which it stood. His father and grandfather
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were Federalists, and he adhered to that faith;

afterwards he became a Whig. Since i860 he

has acted with the Democratic party. When
a young man he was appointed Constable for

two years. In 1864 he was elected, by a heavy

majority, a member of the Legislature and

served acceptably for two years. In 1870 he

was appointed a member of the Board of

Trustees for the Poor of Sussex county, and

in 1875 was made Treasurer for two years.

In 1876 he was again elected to the Legis-

lature and served the following year. He
was in. 18S0, a United States Supervisor of

Registration and Election. He has always

been a temperance man, having joined one of

the original Total Abstinence Societies in

1833. He has been a faithful worker in the

Temperance cause, and to such good purpose

that no liquor is now sold within ten miles of

his home. While in the Legislature he la-

bored to secure a strong temperance law, and

was largely instrumental in procuring the

amendment which works better in Delaware

than the old law.

Mr. Messick is a man of high character, in-

telligence and good judgment, and is in-

fluential both in business and political mat
ters. His immediate ancestors were devoted

Methodists, and he united with that denomi-
nation in 1 S4 1 , and is now a trustee. He was
for many years a Steward of Asbury Church
on Laurel circuit; also was for eighteen years

superintendent of the sabbath school.

H e was married, December 3, 1840, to Miss

Sarah Eliza, daughter of William and Lavinia

Bell of Sussex county, Broad Creek hundred.

Only two of their six children, ali sons, are

now living
;
Samuel Harrington and Albert

Messick. The eldest child died in infancy, and
the third, William Kendall, born, March 22,

1847, died, October 4, 1852, his death being

occasioned by an accident. They lost two sons

who had grown to man’s estate
;
Miles Edwin,

born Septem 15, 1843, died June 23, 1863, and
Willard Irving, born, January 14, 1855, died,

August 22, 1876.

ifmP|vANS, JOHN served as a Delegate to

the Continental Congress from Dela-

ware, from 1776 to 1777. He was a dis-

% tinguished citizen, a staunch patriot and
a man of sterling integrity of character.

,|1}|
0CKW00D, RICHARD THOMAS,
a farmer of Middletown, was born on

V/jJ the 19th of February, 1838. He is a

(Ly1 son of Richard Lockwood, Esq., late of

;

Middletown, of whom there is a steel plate

portrait and sketch in this volume. His mother

was Mary, daughter of Thomas Lockwood.

He, after attendance on the schools of Mid-

dletown, was sent to Burlington college at

Burlington, N. J., in his 15th year, and in

1854, entered the N. J. Conference Seminary

at Pennington, devoting his attention to

the mathematical course and particularly to

surveying. This occupied two years and in

all he was four years in this institution of

learning. Desirous of becoming an engineer,

he, on his return from the Seminary, placed

himself under the instruction of E. O. Sewell,

engineer of the P. W. & B. R. Road for some
time, and expected to take work on the Miss. &
St. Joseph’s R. R., but obstacles then inter-

!
posed to his leaving home, and he began farm-

ing on the estate now occupied by him and

known as Kildee Lawn, near the old parish

church of St. Ann. It consists of 160 acres of

valuable land, being what is known as a

“quarter section,” and is rectangular in shape,

and beautifully located. Mr. Lockwood had

at one time as many as 9000 peach trees on
,

this place, and has been a fruit grower ever

since i860. Has been successful to some ex-

tent, but of recent years this interest, in his

judgment, has not been a paying one. He
joined with a number of others, among whom
was Gov. Cochran, Dr. H. Ridgly, and Samuel

Townsend, in the attempt to place peaches in

the English markets by steamers from Phila-

delphia; their preservation to be accomplished,
: while on the way across the ocean, by the pro-

cess of refrigeration. Mr. Lockwood was se-

lected to act as agent for the shippers and to

accompany the experimental trip to Liverpool

on the steamship Ohio, one of the American

line of steamers from Philadelphia. He yet

believes that the experiment would have been

a success, the cargo of peaches being lost from

not having a supply of ice needed for the re-

! frigerator. In 1862 he enlisted in Co. H, of

the 5th Delaware Volunteers and was muster-

;

ed as Lieutenant of that company. It is

proper to say of this company that it consisted

|

of drilled men who were uniformed by the
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generosity of the Union men of Delaware.

j

They served on the Gunpowder river, Mary-
land, and afterward were on duty in Balti-

more. This company was mustered out of

the service at the close of its period of enlist-

ment, in the city of Wilmington. He then en-

listed in the 7th Delaware Volunteers and was
!

commissioned Lieutenant by Gov. William

Cannon, and served with that command to the

close ol its term of enlistment. At the close

of the war he resumed the life of an Agricul-

turist, and has conducted the business and

labors of his excellent farm.

Mr. Lockwood is a member of the Masonic
;

fraternity, having been made such in Union
j

Lodge, No. 5, which tradition says is, perhaps,
j

in order, the fourth organized by order of the
j

Grand Lodge of the Province of Penna. Of
this Lodge, his father Richard Lockwood was

j

master as far back as the year 1808. He has

served in all the chairs of the Blue Lodge and
;

is a Knight Templar.

He was reared in the Protestant Episcopal '

church h n,r ’ r' rr f'*^ p n Viv flip vpner^hle ;~— *
1 -j

Stephen H. Tyng, D. D. He was united in

marriage on the 8th day of January, 1870, to

Mrs. Anna M., widow of William Wygant,

Esq., of Pennsylvania, and daughter of Mr.

George T.McIlwain of the city of Philadelphia.

Mr. Lockwood is a man of intelligence, and

possesses a heart filled with kindly and gen-

erous impulses, and is qualified for extensive

usefulness in civil and political life.

O

Whatman, Charles, of Odessa, Presi-

dent of the New Castle County Nation-

al Bank, at that place, was born near
j

<yp Greenwood Station, Sussex county, May
j

5, 1792. His father, Purnell Tatman, a farmer !

in moderate circumstances, a man of intelli-
j

gence and superior character, was born, July 1,
j

1766, on the farm on which he spent his life,

and where he died, September I, 1826. His

wife was Bathsheba, daughter of John Griffith

of that county. They had nine children, six

of whom — Cyrus, Eliza, Charles, Purnell,

Bathsheba and Eunice, lived to have families

of their own. Mitchell Tatman, the grand

father of the subject of this sketch, was also a

farmer, and also passed his days on the old

homestead, which had probably been in pos-

session of the family from early colonial times.

He had several children, his wife being Mary,

daughter of John Collins of Sussex county,

and cousin of Governor Collins of Delaware.

Mr. Charles Tatman commenced attendance

,

at five years of age, at a pay school kept in a

neighboring dwelling, but the greater part of

his education wras obtained at the common
school-house of the neigborhood, which boast-

ed neither floor, window's nor chimney. He
relates how the children suffered on winter

days, when the ground, even in the school-

house, would be soaked with water, and was

often frozen solid in the morning. The chil-

dren would brings in pieces of wood, or any-

thing on which to keep their feet from the ice.

The fire of logs was built on the ground at one

end of the room, the smoke escaping through

a hole in the roof. Leaving school at fifteen, he

remained on the farm, assisting in the support

of the family till he reached the age of twenty-

four years. He then was clerk in the store of

William Polk, the husband of his eldest sister,

at Cantwell’s Bridge, with whom he made his

home, faithfully serving him three or four

years, after which he engaged in mercantile

business with Mr. Manlove Hayes of that town,

the firm assuming the name of Tatman and

Hayes. The partnership continued with suc-

cess till 1825, when the two gentlemen separ-

ated and divided their goods. During the

next five years Mr. Tatman conducted business

by himself, enjoying an unusual degree of

prosperity.

About the year 1827 he largely increased

his business and commenced the purchase of

grain, wood, staves, and every kind of country

produce, shipping his goods in his own vessels

to Philadelphia, New York, and other ports.

He exhibited in every department very un-

common zeal, enterprise and judgment, and in

1834 his business had assumed such propor-

tions, that he found it necessary to take a

partner, and was most happily associated with

Daniel B. McKee for nine years, after which

the firm dissolved, and Mr. Tatman retired

from active business. He was but fifty-one

years of age, but had accumulated a handsome
! fortune, insuring him comfort and abundance,

during the remainder of his life.

For several years following he was largely

;

interested in real estate, and owned consider-

able property in Odessa, besides numerous

!
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farms in the vicinity. He has long since
|

disposed of all these farms, and keeps all his

business affairs in perfect order. Mr. Tatman
was Secretary of the Farmer’s Mutual Fire

Insurance Company from 1851 to 1877. In

1854, at the first meeting of the Directors, he

was elected President of the New Castle

County Bank of Odessa, just incorporated,

which office he has held to the present time.

He was originally a Federalist, was after-

wards a Whig, and on that ticket was a can-

didate in 1842 for the Legislature : his party,

however, were defeated. He took strong

ground for the Union, in x 86 r ,
and used freely

his means and his influence to sustain the

Government in all its measures to put down
the rebellion. Always indifferent to political

distinction he has ever been an efficient and

disinterested worker for the good of his coun-

try and state. From the time of its organiza-

tion he has been an active and useful member
of the Republican party.

His family, have for an hundred years, been

conspicuous in the M. E. church, and in 1S67

he united with that denomination, in which

he has since been made a Trustee. Mr. Tat-

man was married, March 30, 1847, to Mrs.

Harriet Brinton Corbit, widow of John C.

Corbit, and daughter of Joseph Trimble, late

of Concord, Pa., all of the Society of Friends.

She had no children, and died at the age of

seventy-one, March 23, 1873.

Mr. Tatman, now over ninety years of age,

has the appearance of a man many years

younger. His sight is still good, his hearing

perfect, and he goes about the town and

attends to the duties of the Bank. He is ex-

cellent company for the young, and children

love to visit at his house. He has occupied

for the last thirty-three years his present

simple and unostentatious home. He has lived

under the administration of all the Presidents

of the United States, and still retains the place,

long since won, of one of the first, most upright

and honored citizens of the town and county.

old Presbyterian Church of White Clay Creek,

and ol that celebrated family of Morrisons

who have given so many men of talent to the

pulpits of the Presbyterian church and to in-

stitutions of learning in Delaware, Maryland
and Pennsylvania

Dr. Henry received his primary education at

the public schools of his county, and his acad-

emic course of two years at Blairstown

Academy, New Jersey. His early life was de-

voted to agricultural pursuits, but he never

manifested any special interest in the labors

of the farm, and in 186S decided to enter upon

the preparation for the Medical Profession.

He read medicine and taught school for six

months, and in the fall of 1868, entered the

Medical Department of Yale College,and com-
pleted the session of 1868-9. In the fall of

1869 he entered the university of Pennsylvania,

and graduated from that institution in 1871.

He immediately entered upon the practice of

his profession in Newark, and in 1873 united

with it the business of druggist.

In May 21, 1873, he was married to Agnes
E. Griffith,a daughter of Caleb and Mary E. B.

Griffith, and a granddaughter of Joseph Grif-

fith, Esq., of Newark, Del., of whom see sketch

and plate. They have two children, Edna,
five years old, and George G., one year old, 1880.

Dr. Henry has always taken an active part

in the affairs of his community and State.

During the Civil War he was mustered into

service in Co. B. 9th Regt., Del., Volunteers,

and was mustered out with the Regiment,

January 23, 1865. He is a member of Dela-

ware State Medical Society, and a member of

the State Board of Medical Examiners. He has

been an active member of both the Masonic
and Odd Fellows’ Fraternity, and for several

years the President of the Building and Loan
Association of Newark. In all these various

positions he has discharged his duties faith-

fully, and to the entire satisfaction of his fellow

citizens.

ENRY, COLUMBUS, M. D., a resident

of Newark, Delaware, was born in New
J Castle hundred, New Castle county,

December 8, 1843. His parents, James

Henry and Matilda Morrison were of Scotch

descent and among the early founders of the

ATTIMER, HON. HENRY, was a

^ Representative in Congress from Dela-

ware from 1794 to 1795. He served as

a U. S. Senator from 1795 to 1801 when

he resigned. Mr.Lattimer was able and upright,

and his services conferred distinction on the

State sending him to the National Councils.
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AULL, DAVID WILLIAM, physician
and surgeon, of Wilmington, Dela-

3f\^ ware, was born in Georgetown. Sussex
county, May 1 6, 1831. His father, Dr.

George W. Maull still lives in that place, and
has been in the active practice of his profession
for fifty-three years. His mother, whose
maiden name was Julia Ann Hobbs, was of an
English family. Dr. D. W. Maull has one
brother, James Henry Maull, who is the post-

master at Georgetown, and a sister, Emma,
who is the widow of Edwin G. Parker. Dr.
Maull passed his boyhood in the place of his

birth, where he attended the academy, and re-

ceived, under excellent instructors, a good
education in the English branches, besides

acquiring a sufficient knowledge of Latin and
Greek, to aid him in the study of medicine,

upon which, even in his school days, he had
resolved to enter. It was a subject always
uppermost in his mind, and all his studies were
pursued With this end m View. Armr^inorlv

upon leaving school, at the age of eighteen,

he at once commenced his professional studies

in his father’s office, where he continued till

he began to attend lectures at Jefferson Medi-
cal College, graduating from that institution

in 1853. He then returned to his native town
and engaged in practice with his father, with

whom he remained till the breaking out of the

war, with the exception of a few months spent

on board an emigrant ship, plying between

Philadelphia and Liverpool. The event of the

war roused the patriotic ardor of his nature,

and in May, 1S61, he enlisted as a private in

Company G, of the First Delaware Volunteers

for the three months’ service. At the organi-

zation of the company he was made First

Lieutenant, and, subsequently, Captain, this

being his rank at the time the regiment was

mustered out in August of that year. This

company was stationed, part of the time, at

Elkton, and part of the time at Perryville,

doing guard duty. On being mustered out.

Dr. Maull returned at once to his native county

and assisted in raising Company E, for the

First Delaware regiment, reorganized for the

three years service
;
and on bringing the com-

pany to the headquarters in Wilmington, was

mustered in as surgeon of the regiment. After

a brief encampment at Hare’s Corner, the regi- 1

ment was sent, September 16, 1861, to Fort-
j

|

ress Monroe, remaining until May, 1862, when

|

i* wa s sent with other regiments to assist in

the capture of Norfolk. He witnessed, while
at Fortress Monroe, the famed naval engasre-
ment between the Monitor and Merrimac, and
the burning of the Congress. When the vari-

ous regiments at the fort were ordered to the
attack on Norfolk, President Lincoln was on
the wharf, personally superintending the em-
barkation of the troops. The regiment re-

mained at Norfolk doing provost duty for

several weeks. A hospital being a necessity,

Surgeon Maull took the large academy and
fitted it up in a suitable manner r and it became
the resort of all the sick at that station. In

all these different places Dr. Maull found his

medical experience considerably augmented,
there being much sickness among the soldiers;

measles prevailed to a great extent, and cere-

bro-spinal meningitis, typhoid fever, and a

disease called the Dismal Swamp fever, taxed
his skill. Also, in addition to his duties among
the troops, he was much occupied with sickness

among the contrabands, who were then flock-

ing into the vicinity of Fortress Monroe. From
Suffolk he was sent with his regiment to Wash-
ington, and thence to Maryland, in time to be
present at the battle of Antietam. The regi-

ment was now attached to the third division

of the second army corps, and was present at,

and engaged in, most of the battles fought by
the army of the Potomac from Antietam to

the surrender of Lee at Appomattox. At the

battle of Gettysburg Dr. Maull was surgeon

in charge of the Division Hospital, and was
Chief Operator and Surgeon in Chief of the

Second Division, Second Army Corps, during

the campaign, from the Rapidan through the

Wilderness, in front of Petersburg, and up to

the time of the surrender. He was in Fred-

ericksburg at the first fight, when the enemy
was shelling the town. He had his Division

Hospital along the banks of the river, and was
obliged to send all his wounded on stretchers

across the stream, bridged by pontoons, while

the enemy were firing from their batteries upon

the bridge. This was preparatory to the

evacuation. All the wounded were safely re-

moved. On the fifteenth of February, 1864,

he was, by special orders to the Second Army
Corps, assigned to duty' as Surgeon in Chief of

the Third Division of that corps, and on the

thirteenth of September, in the same y
rear, was
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assigned to duty as Surgeon in Chief of the

Second Division of the same corps. On the

27th of December he was made Acting Medi-

cal Director of the corps in the absence of the

Medical Director
;
he being at that time the

Senior Surgeon of that large corps. During

his military life, Dr. Maull was on the staff of

Maj. General Gibbon, Maj. General Barlow,

Brig. General Alexander Hayes, Brig. General

Will iam Hayes, Brig. General Carroll, and

Brig. General Smith. In virtue of his position

as Division Surgeon, he was, during the various

campaigns and many engagements, possessed

of unexceptionallv fine opportunities for acquir-

ing a rare surgical experience. Almost daily

he was brought in contact with wounds of

varied extent and character, necessitating

amputation or resection
;
and during some

campaigns, capital operations occupied him

entire days for many consecutive days. This

almost daily familiarity with wounds gave him

not only confidence in himself, but a certain

facility of operation which it would have re-

quired one in civil practice, a long time to

reach
;
and the nature of the work also served

to give him that quality of resource in emer-

gency' which is essential in surgery. Some of

the operations performed by him were done

perforce at night, in order that the wounded
might be transported safely, and some “under

fire." On the 20th of April, 1865, the war

having virtually ended, he resigned and came
home. On his doing so, the medical officers

of the division met and drafted a set of reso-

lutions commendatory' of Dr. Maull and his

services, and forwarded them to him. He had

been in the service a period of four years, lack-

ing one month, and with his large and varied

army experience, meeting disease in camp,

hospital and field, in many forms, and almost

constantly observing wounds of nearly every

possible character, he was well prepared for

the pursuit of his profession in civil life, upon
which, indeed, he entered with a skill and

reputation that few could boast. He settled in

Wilmington, in May, 1865, where he has since

remained, actively engaged in medicine and
surgery, and devoted to his professional duties.

A few weeks after his return to civil life he was
appointed, without any application on his part,

United States examining surgeon for pensions,

which position he still retains, and was presi-

dent of the examining board of surgeons, as

long as the board was in existence In the

same year he was appointed city vaccine

physician and was reappointed each y’ear for

about six years. He was a member of the board

of public education for five y'ears, and for one

year was surgeon of the Delaware Division of

the Philadelphia, Wilmington and Baltimore

railroad. He has been for three years, and is

at present, one of the vice presidents and

managers of the Society for the Prevention of

Cruelty to Animals, of which he has been an

active member. In 1880 a State Society

for the Prevention of Cruelty' to Children

being instituted, with head quarters at Wil-

mington, Dr. Maull was elected president, and

was re-elected at the next annual meeting.

He was Medical Director of the Mutual Life

Insurance Company as long as it continued

—

about five years—and has been and is medical

examiner for a number of the leading Life In-

surance Companies. His commodious offices

are equipped with nearly everything that goes

to make up the armamentarium of the surgeon

and physician ,—a library of choice mediral

literature, a large collection of surgical instru-

ments and appliances, microscopic and ana-

tomical preparations, and models, and patho-

logical specimens. He has performed some
of the major operations in surgery, as excision

of the head of the humerus, removal of the up-

per jaw, larymgotomy, visico-vaginal fistula,

lithotomy, and has performed many amputa-

tions of the thigh and resections of various

bones. In that voluminous work. “The
Medical and Surgical History of the War of

the Rebellion," issued from the Surgeon Gen-

eral’s office, his name figures largely, he being

credited with numerous operations in the field.

He built up his practice in Wilmington stead-

ily and surely, by strict attention to his duties

and by conscientious care for his patients. In

view of his army experience it was natural

that in a growing and manufacturing city' his

practice should be much in the surgical line,

and that with increasing success and reputa-

tion it should grow upon him. He also seeks

to perfect himself still further by constant

study and observation, and has that confidence

in himself, and facility and skill, that comes

from long experience. He, moreover, has a

natural gift and inclination for this branch of

his profession. Dr. Maull has always evinced

considerable literary taste. In his youth he
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assisted in editing a weekly newspaper in

Georgetown. In i860 he was the Delaware
correspondent of the New York Daily Tribune

for one year, and received from Horace
Greeley a carte blanche to write on any theme

j

that occurred to him. He also wrote occa-

sionally for a medical journal. In 1865, after

his removal to Wilmington, he was solicited

by the Delaware State Historical Society, of

which he is a member, to write the memoir of

Brigadier General Thomas A. Smythe, with

whom he had been very intimately associated

while in the army. This biography made a

small volume, which was published by the

Society. It is well written, and is a worthy

memoirial of the services and character of that

distinguished patriot. Dr. Maull was married

April 28, 1870, to Mary K. Buck, daughter of

the late Jeremiah Buck, and a niece of Dr. L.

P. Bush, one of the most prominent physi-

cians of Wilmington. Thev have two children,

Jul ia Frances Maull,and Mary B. Maull who is

about two years old. Dr and Mrs. Maull are

members of the Central Presbyterian Church.

AVIS, HON. ISAAC, was born near

the town of Milford, in Kent county,

State of Delaware, on the 20th day of

February, in the year 1765. His father,

Jehu Davis, was an officer of the local militia

during the Revolutionary war, and also a mem
ber of the committee of Public Safety. He
afterwards represented the county in the Gen.

Assembly, and for many years presided as

speaker of the House, in which capacity, he,

for a time, acted as Governor of the State.

He also served as a Judge of the Board of

Property, for granting, and settling titles of

vacant land, and was for many years a Judge

of the Court of Common Pleas for Kent county.

The public duties of his father requiring him

to be frequently absent from home, upon Isaac

Davis, as the eldest of a large family, there

devolved, at an early age, an unusual share of

responsibility. The interests submitted to his

care did not suffer from his inexperience, for

while availing himself of what facilities for

education the times afforded, by devotion to

business he laid the foundation of the metho-

dical and energetic habits which, through life,

characterized him. The alarms and privations

J of the Revolutionary period, during which his

youth was passed, made a deep impression on

his mind, and he often expressed his gratifica-

tion, that peace and prosperity, had resulted

to the country, from the sufferings of that

time of trial. After attaining manhood, while

engaged in agricultural pursuits, in which he

continued through life to be interested, Mr.

Davis was called to fill various public posi-

tions. In 1793, he was elected to the House
of Assembly, and the next year to the Senate,

of which he wras soon after made Speaker.

The independence of his course as a Legisla-

tor often brought him in conflict with influen-

tial men of his party, but continuing true to

his convictions of public duty, he retained the

confidence of the people. In 1799, he was ap-

pointed Register of Wills for Kent county,

which office, he held for five years, residing at

Dover. After the expiration of his term of

office, he removed to the town of Smyrna,

where he continued for the remainder of his

life, a period of over fifty years. In January,

1814, he received from Governor Haslet a

commission as one of the Judges of the Su-

preme Court for the State of Delaware. He
discharged the duties of this office, until the

adoption of the new Constitution, in 1832,

caused a reorganization of the judiciary of the

State. He had no fondness for military pur-

suits, his mind being of a different cast, but

circumstances having in a measure forced him

into the militia service of the State, he served

first as Major and Colonel, and finally, for

some years, as Brigadier General of the

second Brigade of Delaware militia. After

the town of Smyrna became his residence,

Judge Davis was closely identified with the

social and business interests of that com-

munity. He was one of the organizers of the

Bank of Smyrna, of which institution he acted

as President, until his resignation, a few years

previous to his death. At an early period, he

had become a member of the Methodist

Episcopal Church, and continued through life

to give it an earnest and devoted support.

From the commencement of its ministrations

in Delaware, through all the stages of its pro-

gress, he had watched its development, taken

part in its work, and enjoyed the friendship

and respect of its ministry. A vigorous con-

stitution, preserved by moderate and regular

habits, enabled Judge Davis to sustain his

I
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varied labor, and maintain to the last his facul-

ties unimpaired. He did not lose his interest

in life, after retiring from • its more active

duties. His assistance, his great practical

wisdom, and his influence were constantly at

the command of those needing his aid, while

his conversation enriched by graphic details

of former times, was of unfailing interest to

his friends. He died on the thirtieth of March,

1856, in the ninety-second year of his age.

Of his children, there died during his lifetime,

his sons, James Davis and Isaac Davis, and his

daughters Rhoda Corbit and Mary L. Budd,

and there survived him, his sons Joshua Davis,

Henry Davis and George Davis, and his

daughter Ann Eliza Budd. B.

For native intellect, possession of a judicial

mind, an amazing memory, and executive

ability, he had few equals
;

and had early ad-

vantages and opportunities been given him, he

could, had he so desired, have ranked among
the first men of any land.—

E

ditors.

rrMALE, JOHN, Civil Engineer,of Bridge-

' ville, was born June 25, 1814, in Odessa.

His father was Dr. Richard Colgate
<

*(£y Dale, a leading physician for many
years, in New Castle county. The Doctor was

commissioned captain of a company which he

raised in his county in the war of 1812.

Afterwards he was made a captain in the Reg-

ular army and served with General Scott as

his ranking officer at that period. He resigned

his position in the army, resuming the prac-

tice of his profession in Wilmington, where he

died in 1817. He w'as buried in the grounds

of the Old Swedes church. He was a man of

courage and honor and had a great reputation

for benevolence and sympathy. He was a de-

voted member of the Democrat party and was

elected as Sheriff of New Castle county. He
was a master mason of influence, and died

highly respected and deeply mourned by the

community in which he resided. Dr. R. C.

Dale married Margaret, daughter of Thomas
Fitzgerald, who was a lineal descendant of

Thomas Fitzgerald, the son of a young brother

of the Earl Fitzgerald, who traces his lin-

eage back to the Earl of Kildare, who came to

Britain with William the Conqueror. The sub-

ject of this sketch was the fourth son and fifth

33

child of this marriage, and attended various

select schools in Philadelphia, (where his

family had removed in 1818 after the death of

his father,) until he was eighteen years of age.

He received a superior English and classical

training and was especially well versed in the

higher mathematics. His desire to become a

civil engineer led to his being placed on the

staff of J. Edgar Thompson, president of the

Pennsylvania Central railroad, and at that

time a widely known civil engineer. Mr. Dale
served upon various canals and railroads, among
others the Union and South Schenectady. In

1849 Mr Dale made a rough survey of the

San Juan river, extending from the Atlantic to

lake Nicaragua, and on this survey his boat

carried the first American flag that ever passed

over its inland course, starting from Greytown
and terminating at Granada; Fort Collis being

the actual termination of the survey. The
party then passed through lake Nicaragua to

Granada and thence by of the town of Nicaragua

to Sun Juan, on the Pacific. In 1849 the party

arrived ui oun l'ictij cisco aiiCi a five months
voyage in a sloop chartered for that purpose

The vessel had only been provisioned for a

sixty-days’ voyage, and the sufferings of this

party and crew can be readily imagined, having

been ninety days without either bread or salt.

Arriving in San Francisco he visited the Mar-
iposa mines. He returned to the east in 1S50,

and was employed in his profession on the

Baltimore and Ohio railroad until 1853. He
then had charge of the survey of the contem-

plated railroad known as the Wilmington and

Brandywine, and was next employed on the

Delaware railroad for some time. He then

went to Minnesota where he was employed on

the Minnesota and Pacific railroad. In 1857

he returned to his native State and took charge

of the survey of the Junction and Breakwater

railroad. At the breaking out of the war his

health failing him he removed to his farm near

Bridgeville and for fourteen years was an in-

valid suffering greatly from chronic rheumatism.

In 1876 he removed to the town of Bridgeville

where his health has gradually improved. Mr.

Dale was elected in 1S40 on the Whig ticket a

member of the State Legislature, serving one

session. He was the youngest member of the

House and served with much credit on several

important committees. He lias frequently been

solicited to serve as a candidate for office by



'

.



25 $ HISTORY OF DELAWARE.

the Democratic party with which he has acted
|

since 1842. He was united in marriage in

Philadelphia, October 18, 1837, to Miss Ellen

Francis, daughter ol Copeland Boyd of Beth-

lehem, Pa. Eleven children have been born to
1

them, viz. James Wilkinson, a Lieutenant in
|

the Confederate service, and was killed at the

battle of Winchester
;

Richard, the railroad!

agent at Harrington
;
John, who died in 1869; ;

Gerald and Horace of the Reading Hardware
works; Eliza, wife of John Dilworth, Berlin,

Md.; Letitia, wife of Col. Manuel Eyre, attor-
j

ney at law, San Francisco, California
;
Mary and

Margie Fitzgerald, at home with their parents.

UNCAN, JOHN A
,
late President of

the National Bank of Wilmington and

Brandywine, was born in Wilmington,

April io, iSo5 . He was the second

son of John and Elizabeth (Woolston) Duncan.

John Duncan was by vocation a farmer. After

the birth of John A., he removed to Baltimore

and engaged in the carriage business. He was

afterwards a successful agriculturist in Harford

county for many years. In the latter part of

his life he returned to Wilmington, where he

died, September 30, 1852, aged seventy-six

years. His father, also named John Duncan,

was a native of Glasgow, Scotland, and came

to America prior to the Revolutionary war.

He married a Miss Corner of Baltimore, and

was a prosperous farmer on the eastern shore

of Mar) land, leaving at his death quite a large

family. Several of his descendants now reside

at Cincinnati, Ohio. The subject of this

sketch was the second son in a family of five

children, the eldest of whom was Benjamin,

a farmer of Mill Creek hundred, near Brandy-

wine Springs. He died in March, 1870, leav-

ing one son, B. Frank Duncan. After John

A., the younger children of the family were,

Jeremiah W., Elizabeth M. and Hannah.

John A. Duncan received a good English edu-

cation. His parents were members of the

Society of Friends and he was brought up in

that faith. He was naturally very active and

enterprising, and early sought a thorough ac-

quaintance with business as a clerk in the

hardware store of Newlin and Woolston, who
occupied the same building, 214 Market street,

in which his nephews now continue the busi-

ness. He was here engaged for a number of

years till, in 1830, in partnership with his

brother, Jeremiah W. Duncan, he purchased

the business of the above firm. The brothers

were successful and continued together several

years, when Jeremiah W. withdrew, and Mr.

John A. Duncan continued the business till

[860, when he retired. But full of public spirit

he was actively interested, also, during all

these years, in many enterprises for the gen-

eral good. He was for many years a director

in the Philadelphia, Wilmington and Balti-

more Railroad, and also in the Delaware Rail-

road. He was a director in the New Castle

county Mutual Fire Insurance Company; in

the Wilmington Savings P'und
;

and also in

the National Tank of Wilmington and Bran-

dywine, of which he was President at the time

of his death and for a number of years pre-

vious. He was one of the founders of the

Wilmington Coal Gas Company, in 1S51, and

was its first Secretary, holding this office dur-

ing the remainder of his life, and also that of

Treasurer from 1852. tie was one of the orig-

inal incorporators of the Wilmington and

Brandywine Cemetery, and was a member and

Treasurer of a whaling company, besides

being connected with many other enterprises.

In all these multitudinous duties his consum-

mate ability shone conspicuously, while his

character commanded the entire respect and

confidence of all his associates. He was

regarded with affection and admiration by all

who came within his circle of acquaintance,

and his death was an occasion of the profound-

est sorrow. In politics he was a member of

the Republican party, and was twice a mem-
ber of the Legislature on that ticket, serving

|

his constituents in the very able and thorough-

! ly business-like manner that characterized

i him in whatever he undertook. He was never

married. His death occurred August 5, 1 868.

cCOMB, HON. ELEAZER was a dele-

gate to the Continental Congress from

Delaware, from 1782 to 1784. In the

xf? period of struggle and calamity, when

the destiny of the nation took the current that

I

led to the freedom and greatness now ours, he

was among the foremost to' advocate and vote

J

for the measures making up our early history.

1
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^SjTOCKLY, AYRES, Ex-Cashier and

President of the Rank of Smyrna, was

born in Accomac county, Virginia,

tfc/ March 2, 1800. The family are of Eng-
glish descent, several parishes bearing the

name stiil existing in the northern counties of

England. Their origin in Virginia, tradition

preserves, as follows : About the year 1608, a

party of emigrants, originally from England,

who had settled at Jamestown, made, with

Captain Smith at their head, a voyage of ex-

ploration up the Chesapeake Ray, and one of

the party of the name of Stockly, attracted

by the beauty and fertility of the soil of

the peninsula, settled on the Eastern Shore

of Virginia. He is supposed to have been

the progenitor of the family in America,

and his son Charles is said to have been

one of the first Anglo Saxons born on the

Eastern Shore of Virginia. From the latter

descended a son, Nehemiah, and a grandson,

Colonel Charles Stockly, born in 17 ^7 or s8.

an officer in the revolutionary war and father

of the subject of this sketch. He was a Lieu-

tenant of the 9th regiment of the Virginia

line, acting as paymaster of the regiment,

with the rank of captain. Reing taken prisoner

at the battle of Germantown, he was confined

on Long Island and elsewhere, until peace was

declared in 1782. Returning, he married in

1784, Margaret, daughter of Edmund Allen,

of Accomac county, who died soon after

the birth of her first child; and in 1788 he

married Anne Taylor, also of Accomac county.

She died in 1802, leaving six children, of whom
Ayres was the youngest. Soon after, in 1805,

Colonel Charles died of an illness contracted

in the performance of his duty as Magistrate

of the county, and, at the age of five, Ayres

was left an orphan, in the care, first, of his

grandmother, the widow of Nehemiah Stockly,

and afterwards of his brother-in-law, Doctor

Thompson Holmes, of Accomac county, who
had married his eldest sister, Eliza. His op-

portunities for education were not large, but

he was for two summers at Snow Hill

Academy. Dr. Plolmes was possessed of a

good library, and young Stockly had great fond-

ness for books. At 18 years of age he went to

Philadelphia to learn merchandizing with John

B. Cowell,and after remaining five years, remov-

ed to the town of Smyrna, Delaware, where

he has ever since resided. Mr. Stockly here

entered into business in 1823, the firm being

Stockly & Rowland, which continued for

three years. He then entered on the same
business on his own account, and continued

ten years, when he closed it out, and was ap-

pointed to the post of cashier of the Bank of

Smyrna in 1836. The institution, which was

then in its infancy, with a paid up capital of

little more than $50,000, became, during his

cashiership, a wealthy and extensively useful

corporation, whose aid was fully given, and

whose influence was strongly felt, in all efforts

where its means could be made effective to

advance the welfare of the community
; and

its capital was the reliance of the people of a

large part of the Eastern Shore of Maryland,

as well as of the entire lower portion of New
Castle county, and of lower Kent and upper

Sussex counties, for there was then no other

bank south of Wilmington, except the Farm-

ers’ b ink and its branches. In the develop-

ment of its business and usefulness, Mr.

Stockly was untiring, and when, in 1856, after

twenty years service as cashier, he resigned

that post, he became President, retaining that

position until his resignation in 1876. He was,

also, during this period, much interested in

agriculture. During the first half of the pres-

ent century, the land in parts of the State

became so poor and exhausted, as almost to

produce famine, and depopulate whole sections

by emigration West. The success which at-

tended the first experiments with lime as a

fertilizer inspired the farmers with new hope,

and Mr. Stockly was the first man to bring

lime to Duck Creek for this purpose. At that

early day the State was also suffering from

want of convenient communication with the

commercial centers. A stage line carrying

the mail three times a week from Wilmington

to Eastville, Virginia, furnished the only mode

of travel except private conveyances and the

sloops trading out of the creek. Seeing this

difficulty in the way of prosperity, he took an

active and most efficient interest in the forma-

tion and subsequent management of the com-

pany, which, in 1S38 or 39, built and ran be-

;

tween Smyrna and Philadelphia, the steam-

j

boat Kent, the first venture of the kind made
i in this State, south of Delaware City. This

was a most useful and successful enterprise.

The same company afterwards substituted for
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the old Kent, the fast and excellent steamer

Zephyr, and extended her trips, below Smyrna,

to Dona Creek. To connect with this steamer

at Dona Landing, a railroad was projected,

but the plan soon enlarged into a railroad

through the entire length of the State, and

thus the Smyrna Steamboat Company became

the nucleus of the Delaware railroad. Mr.

Stockly was one of the incorporators of the

Smyrna and Delaware Bay railroad, and sec-

retary for several years. Though interested

in public affairs, he usually declined office, but

consented to serve one term in the Legisla-

ture, in 1S30-31, being elected by the Adams
party. He has held all the local offices he

would accept, and several times been Presi-

dential elector. Plis life is one of the few re-

maining links between the early period of

primitive habits, undeveloped resources, unim-

proved land, and almost impracticable com-

mercial intercourse, and the present
;
and

these wonderful changes and improvements
- r l;, „ U «• 1 ; 4- t .W 1 iilO .ne nas aiueu 10 me calciU

1832 he was married to Margaret, only child

of John Offiey, a descendant of Michael Offley,

who, in 1680, came to this country with Wm.
Penn, and settled in New Castle county, where

he took up land, the original patents from

Wm. Penn and the Duke of York, being

still preserved by the family. Her mother,

Jane Clarke, was the sister of Governor John

Clark, and daughter of Captain William Clark,

of the revolutionary army. The death of Mrs.

Stockly occured March 23, 1875, in her 80th

year. They had two sons, John Clark now a res-

ident of Smyrna, and Ayres Holmes Stockly,

who died April 20, 1S79, at the age of forty- one.

ARTIN, LUTHER, manufacturer,

Philadelphia, was born in Seaford,

Sussex county, Del., Oct. 30, 1824.

His father was Captain Hugh Martin,

a well known and influential citizen of the

State, residing at Seaford, who in the earlier

part of his life, was a sea captain, and of whom
see sketch in this volume.

Luther Martin, so named for the great Mary-

land lawyer, was the second son and third child

of his parents. His mother was Sophia Willis,

of an old Delaware family. He attended

the academy at Seaford until ten years of age,

when he was sent to the well known school of

John Bullock, at Wilmington. He was an or-

thodox Friend, a successful teacher, and Mr.

Martin retains a sense of great obligation to

him for the pains he took in his moral and

mental training during the five years he was

under his care. After this he attended for one

year the academy near St. Michaels, Talbot

county, Marlyand. He then entered as clerk

in the general merchandizing business with

the firm of William L. Hearn & Co., Laurel,

Del., and continued in their employment until

1841, when he went to Philadelphia, where he

has continued to reside ever since with the

exception of the short period he spent in Cal-

ifornia. On going to the Quaker City he en-

gaged as bookkeeper, and followed this em-
ployment until the year 1849, when he joined

the “ Argonauts” for the newly discovered

land of gold on the Pacific coast. Having be-

come a member of the William Penn mining

company, he with that company left New York,

Febuary 5 ,
f8/io. on the steamer Crescent city.

This vessel arrived at Chagres on the 14th of

that month, and thence the company crossed

the isthmus from Gorgona to Panama. They
were compelled to cross the isthmus ten times,

making five several trips in the transportation

of their effects. He remained on the isthmus

until the first day of May, when he left with

his company on the whale ship, Niantic, Cap-

tain Cleaveland. There were 350 passengers,

and two hundred dollars was paid by each for

the trip to San Francisco. The passage took

sixty-five days, arriving at the Golden Gate,

July 5, 1849. During his journey to California,

and after his arrival, Mr. Martin was the author

of letters published in the “Methodist Protes-

tant” of Baltimore. These were full of striking

incidents, the narration of which, in his style,

made them exceedingly popular and enjoyable.

|

Indeed Mr. Martin from early life has been pos-

sessed of literary abilities of a high order, and

though his life has been a busy one, he has

found leisure to make large acquaintance with

the best authors, and has acquired an exten-

sive knowledge of most subjects connected

with science, art and theology. His well se-

lected library, and his tastes, fit him for most

intelligent and agreeable companionship. On
the arrival of the company at San Francisco their

tents were pitched in a spot they called Happy
Valley, and it is still recognized by the name
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then given. It is worthy of remark also that

the Niantic served as a store ship at her an-

chorage until the wharf was built out to and

beyond it, and her hull is used as a store on the

wharf at San Francisco; the last voyage of

the Niantic being that which carried the Wil-

liam Penn mining company to California. On
leaving San Francisco, Mr. Martin went on

the first steamer which ever made the voyage

from San Francisco to Sacramento City. This

was the side wheel steamer, Senator, which

had come around Cape Horn. Where the city

now stands there stood a number of oak trees,

and the inhabitants were dwellers in tents,

and under these trees he joined in worship

with the first Protestant congregation ever

gathered there for worship- The religious

services were conducted by Rev. Dr. Deal, of

Baltimore city, a well known Methodist

preacher of that day. The company with

which he was associated began mining opera- I

tions on the North Fork of the American river,

where in consequence cf their finding human 1

remains, the locality was named “ Dead Man's

Bar” by which it still continues to be known.

After two months of hard work, out of the

fifteen or twenty persons who at that time

formed the company, he was the only one who
had not used spirituous liquors, and the only

one who had not lost a single day from sick-

ness. The company met with success, but in

consequence of premonitions of failing health

he returned to Sacramento city and engaged

for five months in merchandizing. He then

left San Francisco, December 9, 1849, in the

barque “Paoli”, belonging to Captain Jacob

Hugg, of Baltimore, which stopped for a few

days in Acapulco for provisions. He came
home by way of Chagres and the Gulf, to New
Orleans, thence up the Mississippi until Cin-

cinnati was reached, and arrived at home,

March 28, 1S50. In May of that year he be-

gan the business in which he has earned such

a notable triumph, that is, the manufacture of

Lamp Black, and in which he has been en-

gaged up to the present time. Mr. Martin has

the largest manufactory of this article in the

world, and his goods are known and appre-

ciated in every civilized country. This success

in his business he attributes, under the Divine

blessing, to his having made an honest article

from the first, and being careful to maintain

its standard of excellence. His factories are

located in the 29th Ward, Philadelphia, and
occupy two whole squares lying between
Columbia Avenue and Oxford, and 28th and
30th streets. Plis residence is No. 1522 Girard

Avenue, he having built it in 1854, and after

living twenty-five years therein, a large gath-

ering of two hundred of his friends, celebrated

the event at his home with congratulations

over his business success, and the health and
happiness of his household. Mr. Martin joined

the Methodist Protestant church in Laurel,

Delaware, in 1839, and on coming to Philadel-

phia joined the church then under the pastor-

ate of the late eloquent Thomas H. Stockton,

1 1 th and Wood street. He is now a worshipper

and attendant at the Baptist church, of which

Rev. Dr.’ Magoon is pastor. In politics Mr.

Martin has always been a Democrat, but has

had no fondness for political or public life;

yet for three years (from 1862 to 1865) he

served as one of the Directors of Girard Col-

lege, Philadelphia. It must be confessed,how-
ever, that his high character and abilities ad-

mirably qualify him to serve the public,and he

alone of the brothers seems insensible to the

calls of party. Hon. Ed. Martin is Congress-

man from Delaware, and Dr. Hugh Martin of

Seaford, his brothers, are to some considerable

extent engaged in furthering the success of

their party, but the subject of this sketch has

evinced the utmost shrinking from public po-

sition, though admirably qualified to render

good service to his constituents in any ca-

pacity. He was united in marriage on the 1st

of May, 1845, t° Miss Emma, daughter of

Wm. Roderfield, Esq., of Philadelphia, who is of

patriotic ancestry; her father having served in

the war of 1812, and her grandfather in that

of the Revolution. Six children have grown

to maturity of this marriage
;
Luther Martin,

Jr., and Robert Willis Martin, in business

with their father
;

Ida, now wife of W. H.

Williams
;
Sophia, now Mrs. R P. Stelwagen,

both of Philadelphia; Emma R., and Alice

Virginia Martin.

EERY, HON. WILLIAM, served as a

delegate from Delaware to the conti-

nental congress from 1785 to 17S6. He
was an intelligent and honorable gen-

tleman, greatly respected by his many friends.
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SifelLTON. JAMES, M. D., Surgeon Gen-

P eral of the L T nited States, was born in

Kent county, June i, 1746. His clas-

(Cp sical studies were pursued at Notting-

ham, Chester county, Pennsylvania, under

Samuel Finley, D.D., afterwards President of

Dickinson College. Dr. Charles Ridgelv of

Dover, was his medical preceptor, and he re-

ceived his degree at the University of Penn-

sylvania, graduating with the first class of that

institution. He first began the practice of

medicine in Dover, where his nobility* of char-

acter and great medical skill soon secured him

the recognition and eminence they deserved.

Being strongly imbued with the prevailing en-

thusiasm, he, in 1776, became surgeon of the

Delaware regiment, serving with it during the

first campaign, but was soon called to the

hospital department of the army. Here he

was of inestimable service in correcting abuses

and instituting necessary reforms. So great

was his reputation that he was, in 1781
,
elected

a professor in the University of Pennsyrlvania
)

but preferred to remain in the service of his

country. In 1782 he submitted in writing, to

the Medical Committee of Congress, his obser-

vations on the principles to be observed in con-

ducting military hospitals, a treatise inspired

by the inhumanity and sufferings he had wit-

nessed. This paper was placed in the hands

of the distinguished Drs., John Jones, Hutch-

inson and Clarkson, who coincided with him,

and his proposed measures of amelioration

were adopted, and have constituted the out-

line of hospital arrangements to the present

time. In 1782 he was elected to congress, and

afterwards was repeatedly a member of the

legislature. Finding that the climate of Kent
county was making inroads upon his constitu-

tion, he removed to Wilmington, where he

practiced his profession with great success for

some years, when he removed to a small farm

in the vicinity. On the outbreak of the war

of 1812, he was appointed Surgeon General of

the United States, and the following year un-

dertook a journey to the northern frontier,

examining, as he proceeded, all the hospitals

in his route. His administration of the medi-

cal service was most beneficial, and the rate

of mortality greatly lessened. In 1814, the
!

loss of a limb greatly impeded his usefulness. :

Dr. Tilton departed this life May 14, 1822,
j
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aged seventy-seven years. As a physician, a

patriot, and a man, he was most eminent, and
his whole life afforded an example of the effect

ot sound principles and moral rectitude, in

|

both public and private life.

S PPLETON, JOHN, of Odessa, was born

A?' *7* in New Castle county, in June, 1804.

'ulA His father, Rev. John Appleton, mar-

GJa5 ried a Miss Hackett. He was a local

preacher in the M. E. Church. The grand-

father of the subject of our sketch, came from

England and settled near Smyrna. His

two sons, William and Rev. John, went into

Dorchester county, Maryland. The latter died

in 1832, and his wife in 1836. Mr. John Apple-
ton married, in 1824, Rachel, daughter of

Daniel Hoffecker, by whom he had three sons

and one daughter; Henry H., John M., Cap-
tain W. E., and Annie E., wife of John Hof-

fecker, of Smyrna. Mr. Appleton lost his wife

in 1859, a°d afterwards married M“ r
r
T' n r Vi n

(Derrickson) McKee, and after her death, he,

in 1S67, married Eliza Cantrell. By his second

and third wife he had no children Mr. Apple-
ton is a man of means, and of high respect-

ability. He is one of the solid men of the

county, and all his life a Methodist.

AZZARD, JOHN ALEXANDER, Jus-

tice of the Peace, Milton, was born in

that place July, 1810. He was the old-

est son of Governor Hazzard, of whom
see sketch in this volume. At eighteen years

of age Mr. Hazzard began attending the Milton

Academy, and at the same time began the

study of the classics with Mr. Wolfe, a cul-

tured gentleman of Milton. On reaching his

twenty-first year he was made a partner with

his father in the general merchandising and

shipping business. This business embraced

the building o( vessels and the dealing in

grain, wood and staves. In 1836, upon the

withdrawal of Governor Hazzard, a younger

son became interested in the business, and

the firm name was changed to J. A. Hazzard

& Co. This partnership was dissolved five

years later, and Mr. Hazzard removed to

Milford where he resumed the same business in

conjunction with Jno. R. Draper, under the
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firm name of Draper and Hazzard. In

1843 retiring from this business he was, in

November, appointed Magistrate and Notary
Public by Governor Cooper. In 1851 Mr.
Hazzard was elected, from Sussex Co., as

State Senator on the American ticket, serving

for four years. From the year 1851 until t86i

he was engaged in the manufacture of Quer-
citron Bark at Milford Delaware. In 1S64 he

returned to Milton and engaged in farming.

Mr. Hazzard was appointed magistrate by
Governor Saulsbury in 1870 and was reappoin-

ted to the office which he now holds, in 1877,

by Governor Cochran. He has been a promi-

nent member of the M. E. church since 1
Q
45

.

During the early part of his life, Mr. Hazzard
was a Whig, and voted with that party until

its demise. After that event he acted with

the American party, and during the late war
wasa pronounced friend to the Union cause. Mr.

Hazzard was married in 1833, to Miss Sarah

Sipple, daughter of Walker Sipple, Esq., of Mil-

ford, Del. Five children have been born to

them, of whom four survive : Rachel, wife of

Geo. W. P. Coates, of Baltimore,Md.
;
William,

who was Commissary Sergeant of Company F,

First Delaware Cavalry, and who died in 186S;

Captain David Hazzard, formerly of the nth
U. S Infantry; Alice, wife of I. M. Hafleigh

of Philadelphia, and Gertrude, a younger

daughter, residing with her parents. He has

been one of the most useful and influential

citizens of Sussex county for many years, and

while quiet and retiring, has been none the

less an earnest worker for the best and highest

interests of the community in which he re-

sides.

ILSON, THOMAS BELLERBY, M. D„
a distinguished scientist, and patron

and founder of scientific institutions in

Philadelphia, was born in that city,

January 17, 1807. His parents, Edward and

Elizabeth (Bellerby) Wilson, were both na-

tives of England, but came to this country

prior to the year 1800, and were married in

1802. Being people of means and culture the

education of their son received the careful con-

sideration and attention to which his uncom-
mon abilities—evident even in childhood

—

were entitled. He attended a Friends’ school

in his native city, during the years 1818 and

I 1S19, and in 1820 accompanied his father to

1

England, where he was placed in a school in

Darlington, Durham county. He returned to

America in the spring of 1822, and did not

again enter school, but impelled by his strong

!

desire to engage in practical scientific pursuits,

j

became an apprentice in the study and practice

of pharmacy, in the establishment of the late

Mr. Frederick Brown, on Chestnut street, and
improved to the utmost, the opportunities

afforded him. After six years spent in the

!

pharmacy he decided to give up its peculiar

I

duties and to devote himself to a wider range
of study and research. In the autumn of

1828 he set out with two or three young
friends on an excursion for geological in-

vestigation, through the coal regions of

Pennsylvania, all traveling on horseback.

Returning, he entered, the same autumn, the

University of Pennsylvania, as a medical
student, and was fortunate in securing the very
eminent Dr. Physic as his private preceptor.

He graduated in the spring of 1830, and again

crossing the Atlantic, arrived in Paris ten days
before the revolution in July of that year.

There he listened to the lectures of Cuvier and
other professors, who gave the University of

Paris its celebrity
;
and besides his medical

studies, paid much attention to Botany, Zoology
and Geology. The following summer, in com-
pany with a young friend and fellow-student,

he made a tour on foot, traveling extensively

thr ugh France and Switzerland. They went
with their knapsacks on their backs and their

geological hammers in their hands. He also

visited England and Ireland, attending a course

of medical lectures in Dublin. After an ab-

sence of two years, he returned to his native

city. Except as a matter of benevolence he

paid no attention to the practice of medicine,

but the Asiatic Cholera reaching our shores

soon after his arrival home, and having studied

thoroughly and practically its mode of treat-

ment while in Europe, he gave all that sum-
' mer, gratuitously, to a hospital for the poor.

|

His excessive labors impaired his health and

|

he visited Berks county, Pennsylvania, and

j

New Castle county, Delaware. He sought

j

his rest and recreation only, in a change of

employment. He was most busy all the hours

;

of daylight, in botanical and ornithological

! pursuits, collecting, pressing and drying

I

plants, and arranging them systematically in
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his herbarium
;

and with his gun securing

birds, of which he made laborious anatomical

preparations, forming a collection of specimens

for his own private study, but, which after-

ward aided to enrich the Musuem of the

Academy of Natural Sciences, in Philadelphia.

In that city he spent the winter of 1832-3, but

in the Spring removed to New London town-

ship, Chester county, Pennsylvania, where he

resided with his brother Rathmell eight years.

He here purchased a farm which he ever after-

ward continued to Hold
,
and was busily em-

ployed as a naturalist in the study of objects

around his home, or in frequent tours to

distant parts of the republic, and to the

neighboring British Provinces. He had

purchased, before leaving Europe, a choice

medical library, and an excellent set of

surgical instruments
;
but now resolving to

be entirely devoted to science, he gave the

former to the Medical Society, and the latter

to Wills Hospital, in Philadelphia. Dr. Wilson,

on his long walks, along the brooks and

through the fields, groves and woods, with

his botany-box on his back, his entomological

net in bis hands, and his hat covered all around

with beetles, butterflies and other insects which

he had pinned .thereon, became a familiar sight

to the people of the vicinity. This was the

beginning of that large Entomological col-

lection of more than twenty thousand speci-

mens which he afterwards presented to the

Entomological Society of Philadelphia. Still

Geology was his favorite study, and in these

walks received a large share of attention. He
often made excursions of several days, some-

times extended to weeks and even to months.

When these journeys were long he went on

horseback, taking with him only a small valise.

He made three more visits to Europe
;
one in

the spring of 1842, in company with his brother

Charles, traveling through England, France,

Switzerland and Italy, and returning to

America only a short time before the death of

his father, in December, 1843. Again, in 1844,

he went to England accompanied by his

brother William. His last voyage across the

Atlantic was in 1851. Previous to these three

voyages, in the spring of 1841, he removed,

with his brother Rathmell, from New London,

Pennsylvania, to the vicinity of Newark, Dela-

ware, and this was his home the remainder of

his life. But he at all times kept either a

34

house or a suite of rooms in Philadelphia, where
he spent a few days every week. The
principal institutions established by Dr. Wil-

son were the Academy of Natural Sciences,

and the Entomological Society of Philadel-

phia. The former of these, founded in 1812, by
a few men of very moderate means, owes its

building, its scientific library and magnificent

collection of objects of Natural History chiefly

to two individuals, William Maclure and Dr.

Thomas B. Wilson. Mr. Maclure gave to the

Library of the Academy 5,232 volumes
;
Dr.

Wilson more than 12,000, and his brother,

Edward Wilson gave 3,662. Mr. Maclure gave

$25,000 toward the building of the Academy,
and Dr. Wilson probably more. Also his

brother, W. S. Wilson, contributed liberally.

But the Museum of the Academy is mainly

the donation of Dr. Wilson, assisted consider-

ably by his brother, Edward Wilson. The
collection of birds presented by him numbered

26,000, besides 2,000 unmounted skins, while

that previourly owned by the Academy com-
prised only about 3.000 specimens. It is now
one of the most complete Ornithological

Museums extant, and is in fact one of the four

great collections of birds in the world. The
entire amount which Dr. Wilson from time to

time donated to the Academy of Natural

Sciences, in the form of books, specimens and

money, has been computed by those who
know best, to be about $200,000. To all these

must be added his entire time and energies

during his whole life. To fully describe his

gifts would require a large volume. The
department most enriched by him next to

Ornithology is that of Geology, consisting of

rare, beautiful and costly minerals, and the

fossil remains of plants and animals. Upon
the formation of the Entomological Society of

Philadelphia, he entered at once with all the

devotion of his nature into its labors, and con-

tributed most liberally towards all its objects.

He lived to see there, also, another rich col-

lection of his own making. The number of in-

sects there preserved at the time of his death

was 50,000. The amount of his donations to this

Society as far as can be ascertained was about

$26,000. The religious beliefs of Dr. Wilson were

mainly those of the Society of Friends of which

his father was a member, yet he was one of the

chief subscribers in the erection of an Episco-

pal church at Newark. He was a man of
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great kindness, benevolence, gentleness and

modesty. He never married. He enjoyed

good health,and was capable of a large amount
,

of intellectual labor. Always industrious dur-

ing the day, it was his habit to sit up till one

or two o’clock in the morning actively engaged
in study. His final illness was very brief.

He was confined to his room but four days,

and his beautiful life closed on Wednesday,

March 15, 1865. His remains were conveyed

to the city residence of his brother, Rathmell

Wilson, Esq., in Philadelphia, where his funeral

was attended the following Saturday. Besides

his relatives, the chief mourners were the

scientific gentlemen of that city. His last

resting place is the cemetery at South Laurel

Hill.

LOKE, JOHN, late of Belmont Hall,

near Smyrna, was the eldest son of

Ebenezer Cloke, an English gentleman

$ who came to this country some years

before the revolutionary war and settled in

the Delaware Colony. He warmly espoused

the cause of American independence, and

with others fitted out a privateer, which he

commanded, and being taken prisoner by the

enemy, died of ship fever in one of the English

prison ships in the port of New York. He had

married in this country, Elizabeth Cook,

daughter of John Cook, whose wife was a rela-

tive of Governor Thomas Collins, and left two

children, John and Ebenezer Cloke. The
youngest son, born during the revolution, he

never saw. Elizabeth Cook was also a sister

of the wife of Governor John Clark. When a

young lady she used to ride over on horse

back from the old Cook farm to Belmont Hall

to assist Governor Collin’s daughters to mould

bullets for the soldiers of the revolution. In

1821, her son, John Cloke, the subject of this

sketch, purchased Belmont Hall from Dr.

William Collins, a descendant of Governor

Collins, who erected it in 1773. It is still

(1882) in an excellent state of preservation

and is now the residence and property of

Mrs. J. H. Peterson, the eldest and only sur-

viving child of Mr. John Cloke. An engraving

of this old historic structure will be found in

the historical part of this volume. It is of

brick and was built in the most substantial

manner, its architecture evidencing taste ,

much in advance of the date of its erection.

It stands on elevated ground in a most pictur-

esque location, surrounded by a grove of

maple, locust, Norvvay-pine and other choice

trees. During the revolution a sentinel

stationed in the balcony was shot by a British

rifleman. It was headquarters at that time

for the patriots of that part of the state, and

in its spacious apartments the first sessions of

the Legislature were held after Delaware

became a state. Mr. John Cloke also pur-

chased the old Cook farm, adjoining Belmont

Hall, from Dr Robert Cook, his mother’s

brother. On this farm her father, John Cook,

a prominent and highly respected citizen and

farmer, spent his life. Mrs. Elizabeth (Cook)

Cloke died - in 1847, being then past eighty

years of age. Mr. John Cloke married, May 5,

1841, Miss Sarah Louisa Piper, by whom he

had two children. The eldest, Carrie Eliza-

beth, married, in 1862, Mr. J. Howard Peter-

son, a merchant of Philadelphia, who died in

1875. The younger daughter Emily, F., mar-

ried Dr. Charles Mahon of Bridgeton, New
Jersey. She died in April, 1877. Mr. John

Cloke died at a good old age in July, 1866, and

his eldest child is now the owner and occupant

of Belmont Hall.

JIBaYTON, ELBERT WILSON, Mer-

chant of Bridgeville, Sussex county,

Eyi) was born in that town, December 31,

1835. His parents were Mitchell and

Harriet A. (Wilson) Layton. His father, who

was a builder by occupation, died April 1,

1839, at the age of fifty, and his mother, April

1, 1878, at the age of seventy-three. His

grandfather, Purnell Layton, was the owner of

large tracts of land within half a mile of

Bridgeville, and was one of the first settlers

of that locality, to which he removed from

Virginia, it is supposed, soon after the Revo-

lutionary war. The Indians were still numer-

ous in the vicinity when he came. He died

about 1840, at the age of eighty-five. Mr.

Elbert W. Layton received a good English

education in the schools of his native place.

He spent four years of his youth with his

uncle, Burton Layton, who resided on the old

homestead. There he worked on the farm

and attended school in the town. In 1856 he

became a clerk in Bridgeville. He rose rap-
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idly in business, and was for a number of years

chief clerk and book-keeper for Mr. James 1

Prettyman. In 1864 he became a clerk in the

store of Governor William Cannon
;
Governor

Cannon died in March, 1S65, and in May of

the same year, Mr. Layton entered into part-

nership with Mr. Richard W. Cannon in the

general merchandising business, which they

conducted very successfully for five years.- In
\

1870, Mr. Layton bought out his partner, and

took his brother, Mitchell Layton, into part-
j

nership, the firm assuming the name of “ Lay-
j

ton & Brother,” and entered at once upon an
;

uninterrupted course of prosperity. The
;

brothers Layton have probably the largest
j

stock of dry goods in Bridgeville, and are
j

doing a most flourishing business. 1 hey also
1

deal largely in ready made clothing, furniture,
j

general merchandise, and in grain and cross-
j

ties. With characteristic forethought and

good judgment they have invested considera-

bly in real estate, and own together over three

hundred acres of land. Mr. Elbert Layton
;

owns beside, thirty-six acres at the railroad

depot, covered with peach trees, blackberries

and raspberries, which are very profitable.

He also owns a good dwelling house on this

property, and five dwelling houses and lots in

Bridgeville, besides the store and several

buildings on that lot. For the last eight years

he has been a director in the First National

Bank of Seaford. He is a man of weight and

influence, and highly regarded wherever known.

He joined the M. E. Church, in February,

1870. He was married, December 10, 1S67, to

Miss Mary E., daughter of John Richards, a

prominent citizen and large landholder near

Brideeville. Two children were born to them;
o

Philip Richards and Robert Reese Layton.

Mr Layton had the misfortune to lose his wife,

May 8, 1873. She was a lady of lovely char-

acter, superior abilities and education, and a

conscientious member of the same church with

her husband. Mr. Layton was married a

second time, December 26, 1880, to Mrs.

Lillie P. Heydrick, widow of Captain Charles

Heydrick, and daughter of the late Governor

William Cannon.

(/S’*
.MffjATTON, HON. JOHN was a Delegate

%M)j to the Continental Congress in 1785 and

, 1786, and a Representative in Congress
e
c^jP from Delaware, from 1793 to 1794.

ICHARDS, CHARLES HENRY, M.

D., was born at Georgetown, Novem-
ber 22,1827, His father,John Richards,

was for a generation or more interested

in the tanning business of that town, in con-

nection with Judge Peter Robinson and his

brother Thomas, having learned the business

under Mr. James Clayton, of Dagsborough, at

the boyhood home of Hon. John M. Clayton.

The mother of Dr. Richards, Martha (Ham-

mond) Richards, was brought up in Milford,

in the family of her uncle, Lowder Layton,

father of Judge C. L. Layton. The father

of Mr. John Richards also bore the name

of John Richards. He resided near Berlin,

Worcester county, Maryland. The family

was of English origin and one of the first

to settle on the eastern shore of Mary-

land. Dr. Richards received his early scholas-

tic training at the Georgetown Academy, and

at the age of twenty-one, having completed

the academic course, entered as a medical

student, the office of Dr. Wm. M. L. Rickards,

then of Lewes, and the following year ma-

triculated at the University of Pennsylvania.

While there, he was at the same time, the

private pupil of Drs. Neill and Reese
;
both

well known and prominent in Philadelphia.

Graduating with the class of 1851, he returned

to his native town and entered at once on the

practice of his profession which he has contin-

ued to the present time. This practice became

very large, and as his popularity increased he

was often called upon to serve the community

in other capacities. He has been for twenty

years county physician at the Alms House and

Insane Asylum, and has repeatedly represented

j

the county in the State Medical Society, of

which he was elected president in 1868. He

has also represented the state in the Ameri-

can Medical Association, in which he has for

years held appointment on the Necrological

committee. In 1861, he was appointed by

Governor Burton, Prothonotary of the Superior

Court, but his professional engagements and

partiality for private life have since effectually

precluded his acceptance of further political

preferment. In 1878 he declined the nomina-

tion— itself equal to an election—as State

Senator, conferred by the Democratic party,

in which he acted as chairman of the State

Central Committee. He was one of tne Com-
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missioners appointed by the Legislature to
[

represent the state in the Centennial Exhibi-

tion, to which he made a special contribution

in an exhibit of native woods He was many
years a director of the Farmers Bank of Dela-

ware, and was for fifteen years Treasurer of

the Sussex county Bible Society
;

is also a

life member of the American Bible Society.

Dr. Richards succeeded his father in the manu-
facture of leather

;
and inheriting the old

homestead, it, in 1878, gave place to his present

commodious and elegant residence. He is

the possessor of large tracts of farming and

timber land, comprising in all, an area of about
j

1200 acres. Several of his farms furnish a !

great variety of large and small fruits, and '

one is devoted to raising stock. He has fre-

quently contributed papers of political and

scientific interest to the public journals, and

has published others in pamphlet form. Fie

was married, in 1875, to Elizabeth, daughter of

James Anderson, who for half a century served

the Farmers’ Bank in the capacity of Cashier

and President. Dr. Richards joined, in early

manhood, the order of Odd Fellows, and later

became a member of the Masonic fraternity.

He has been through life an active member of

the M. E. Church.

^® ppLET°N, JOHN MARTIN, farmer

near Odessa, was born on the John

Atlen farm near the above place, March

3, 1835. A sketch of his father, John

Appleton, has been given. He attended the

best schools of Odessa till the age of eighteen,

when he was sent to the New Jersey Confer-

ence Academy at Pennington, then under the

Presidency of the celebrated Rev. J. Townley

Crane, D. D. At this excellent school he

spent two years and acquired a good English

and business education, and returning to Dela-

ware in 1835, commenced life as a farmer. He
settled on what has been known for a century

as Hangman’s farm, two miles south of

Odessa, and so called from the circumstance

that soon after the revolutionary war the then

owner committed suicide by hanging. It is a

fine farm of good land, under excellent culti-

vation. Mr. Appleton had at one time two

thousand peach trees in bearing, and his apple

"orchard is probably the largest in that part of

the state. Eleven thousand baskets of the

latter fruit were sent to market in 1879. A
considerable part of the farm is devoted to

grain and grass. The family were Whigs and

he grew up in that faith. I
7or generations

they were opposed to slavery and their creed

was essentially that of the Republican party of

to-day, and in whom ranks at the time of its

organization they at once took their place.

Of course, therefore, Mr. Appleton was a

strong Union man during the war. He en-

listed in the “Home Guard” in place of his

father, and spent a few months at fort Dela-

ware. Devoted to his agricultural interests

his tastes have always inclined him to avoid

anything like official position. He has always

been a faithful attendant on religious services,

and his house might be called the ministers

home, but he made no public profession till

1876, when he united with the M. E. Church at

Odessa. Mr. Appleton and Mary, daughter

of Alexander and Mary (Wright) Vail, of Mid-

dletown, were united in marriage, December

29, 1875 ;
Bishop Levi Scott performing the

ceremoney. They have but one child, Mary
Appleton.

SOTHWELL, MAJOR WILLIAM, far-

[
mer of the “ Levels,” near Middletown

"^^5 was born on the old homestead, June
<L

(£p 8, 1783. His father, William Rothvvell,

was the son of Thomas Rothwell, whose fa-

ther, Thomas Rothvvell, the first, came with

his wife Alice from England, and settled near

St Georges, New Castle county, early in the

eighteenth century. He afterwards purchased

several thousand acres of land, comprising

nearly the whole of what is now known as the

“Levels.” He was very wealthy and univer-

sally respected. He died in 1752 and was

carried to his grave by his four sons, Thomas,

Jared, Henry and John, as he had desired in

Shis will. His wife died in 1742. They had
' eleven children

;
Thomas, the eldest, born No-

|

vember 15, 1706, married Lydia Peterson, and

1 had ten children, William being their fifth

! child and second son. He was born in 1 747 and

! lived and died on his farm on “ The Levels.”

I

He died in May, 1791, aged forty-four years.

His wife, Ann Moody, was born November 22,

j

1752. Their children, were eight in number, of
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whom Major William Rothwell was the third !

son and fifth child. His natural endowments

were superior and he supplemented a good

common school education by a wide course oft

reading, and became one of the best

informed as he was one of the most intelligent

men of the community. He was a major in

the State militia, and was very prominent and

popular. He spent his life on the farms which

he owned on the “Levels,” and over the line

in Maryland
;

in all about ten in number and

containing about two thousand acres. He

kept them all under good cultivation, devot-

ing them mainly to grain, and to sheep rais-

ing, and was very successful. He was a strong :

friend of Hon. John M. Clayton, and an ardent

supporter ot the principles of the Whig party,

but would never accept official position. He

attended the Presbyterian church, to which he

contributed, and was for many years a trustee,

and was, also, one of the building committee

at the time of the erection of the “Forest

church” in Middletown. He was mairied Sep-

tember 25, 18 [6, at the age of thirty-three

years, to Ann K. Emory, by whom he had six

children ; Gideon Plmory, who is a farmer near

Smyrna Landing, married Catherine Collins,

and had nine children
;
Ann Elizabeth, wife

of David J. Murphy, farmer near Newark;

Mary, who married James B. Crawford, farmer

near Clayton, had four children and died

in 1855, and William, who went to California

in 1849, and died soon after Mrs. Ann K.

Rothwell died in February, 1826, and was

buried on her father’s farm on Thoroughfare

Neck. On the 29th of November, 1827, Major

Rothwell married Lydia Rebecca, daughter of

Jesse Pryce, a neighboring farmer. She was a

niece of Rev. William Pryce, many years

rector of Old Swedes’ Church in Wilmington.

Of the twelve children of the last marriage,

eight grew to maturity
;
Robert Richard Rey-

nolds, of Wilmington ;
John Moody, of whom

see sketch; James Pryce of St. Georges;

Martha Christiana, widow of William Rey-

nolds of Wilmington ;
Thomas Highland, far-

mer on “ The Levels,” married Irene Beaston

;

Winfield Washington; Lydia Frances, wife of

George Derrickson, living on Bohemia Manor,

and William Reynolds Rothwell. Major

Rothwell was a man of sterling character,

widely influential and greatly respected. Al-

though he had reached the age of seventy-two

years, his death, July 20, 1855, was felt to be

a great loss. His widow is still living in Mid-

dletown.

f^l&ENNIMORE, JOSHUA BISPHAM,
miller, of St. Georges hundred, near

Middletown, was born in Philadelphia,

June 2, 1803. His father, David Fen-

nimore, was born at old Derricks Ferry, Bur-

lington county, New Jersey He learned in

his youth the carpenters’ trade, but kept

public house most of his life
;
first the hotel on

Delaware Avenue, between Market and Front

streets, Philadelphia
;

in 1804 he went to

Lumberton, N. J.
afterwards to Bordentown, .

and finally to Crosswicks, where he died in

1810, at the age of thirty-five years He

married Ruth, daughter of Joshua Bispham,

also of Burlington county, N. J., and had four

children; William, who died in 1827; Joshua

B., the subject of this sketch; Joseph, who

died in November, 1881, aged seventy-seven

years, and Margaret Bishpam, who married

Benjamin Ridgeway, and is still living, in her

seventy-sixth year. After the death of David

Fennimore, his widow married Joseph English,

and had one child
;
she died in 1847 Joseph

Fennimore, the great grandfather of Joshua B.

F'ennimore, emigrated, it is said, from Wales

to this country, probably about the year 1700,

and settled at Derricks Ferry, which he owned

and of which he always had charge, and his

son, also named Joseph Fennimore, after him.

The last named was born and lived there all

his life His child en were Joseph
;
Abraham,

a farmer; Sarah,who married Timothy Bishop;

Isaac, a farmer
;
Samuel, a brick-mason

;
David,

already mentioned
;
Richard, a carpenter, and

Daniel, who died in early manhood. Joseph,

Isaac, David, and Sarah had families. Abra-

ham had no children, the others died single.

They were a remarkably hardy and energetic

family, large, healthy and long-lived, some

of them reaching nearly a century in age.

After the death of his father, Joshua B.

Fennimore went to live with his uncle Abra-

ham, about four miles from Camden, N. J., in

Gloucester county. He attended the common

schools and worked on the farm, and after his

unde died, in 1821, spent one year at the

academy in Burlington which afforded supe-

rior advantages, for that time. After working
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I

i

on a farm by the month, from the age of

twenty, he undertook the livery business on

his own account at Camden, in 1S26, but the

following' year he bought a farm and returned

to an agricultural life, which he has followed

most of the time since. His farm in New
Jersey he sold March 25, 1847, an d bought a

large one near Odessa. He brought with him

to Delaware three thousand peach, trees, and

in time had two hundred and fifty acres of his

farm covered with this fruit. He was one of

the first to engage in peach culture below

Delaware City, and was very successful. His

farm was like a garden, so highly was it culti-

vated. He also bought another farm of one

thousand acres, on which his son, Edward C.,

now lives, and covered one hundred and fifty

acres of this with peaches. This he sold to

his son some years since. In 1866 he pur-

chased property in Middletown, where he re-

sided ten years, and did much to improve the

place. He bought eighty acres adjoining the

village, which he divided into building lots,

and to forward the work, kept a lumber yard,

and organized a Building and Lean Associa-

tion. The impetus which he gave to building

and improvement in the place is still felt.

He is remarkably energetic and capable, and

success has generally attended his efforts.

In 1876 he purchased the Willow Grove

Grist Mill which he has managed most of

of the time since. Though now seventy-nine

years old he still attends to business with the

freshness and capability ol middle life. He is

in perfect health and has taken medicine but

once in sixteen years. In politics Mr. Fenni-

more has always been a Union man and a

Republican. He is a member of the Protestant

Episcopal Church of Middletown, and was

many years a vestryman. He was married in

1825 to Miss Sarah M., daughter of Edward

Collins of Gloucester, now Camden county, N.

J. They had the following children
;
Caroline,

wife of John A. Reynolds, retired merchant of

Middletown
;
Abraham, living with his father

;

Edward C., of whom see sketch; William died

in infancy
;
Rebecca A., married Edward C.

Collins of Camden, N. J., and died in Decem-

ber, 1880
;
Joshua B. Jr., married Lydia Crowley

by whom he had one child,Julia B.Fennimore.

His wife died January 10, 1865, and he next

married Miss Anna Venable, by whom also he

had one child, Ida J. Fennimore. He died in

February, 1868. The seventh child, Sarah

E. M., married Charles T. Stratton and died in

November, 1881, leaving three children; Sarah

F.
,
Joshua Fennimore, and Margaret Rebecca

Stratton. The eighth, Margaret Ridgeway,

married Gideon E. Heukill of Middletown,

and died May 29. 1874, leaving one child,

Jesse M. Heukill. The youngest is Samuel

Fennimore who resides on the farm his father

first purchased on coming to Delaware. Mrs.

Fennimore died May 27, 1876. The family

were originally Friends, and those in New
Jersey still adhere to that faith, but the sub-

ject of our sketch and his family attend the

Protestant Episcopal church. It is recorded

in the history of the F'ennimores that none of

them would ever accept office of any kind,

though often urged to do so. They have

always been thrifty and prosperous, quietly and

faithfully pursuing their business life and attain-

ing means, years and honors.

DE, SAMUEL DEWEES, farmer, was

born at Roesville, Kent county, Sep-

tember 1, 1833. His father, William Roe,

was born in Caroline county, Mary-

land, but came to Kent county, Delaware

in childhood, with his father, who was a

farmer in comfortable circumstances. He
followed the business of manufacturing agri-

cultural implements, but later in life he pur-

chased extensive tracts of land in that locality,

and became a practical farmer. He was a

•leading member of the Methodist Church, and

a gentlemen greatly respected for his intelli-

gence, strength of character, and upright life.

He died in May, 1856, in the sixty-ninth year

of his age, leaving a large landed and personal

estate. He married Miss Elizabeth, daughter

of Samuel Dewees. Of their ten children, six

grew to maturity; viz: Sallie A., widow of

Joseph George, of Philadelphia
;

Elizabeth,

who married Stephen Postles,of Camden, Dela-

ware, and died in 1848 ;
Rachel D., wife of

Rev. William E. England
;
Mary, wife of Wm.

M. Satterfield of Felton, Del
;
Amor J., who

married Henry Harrington, and died in 1865,

leaving three children
;
and Samuel D., the

j

subject of this sketch. After attending the

common schools till fourteen years of age,

|

Mr. Roe was sent to the academy at Frederica
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for several terms, and for one term to the

academy at Newark. In the fall of 1852 he

entered the middle class at Delaware college,

graduating Bachelor of Philosophy with the

class of 1854. After teaching one year he

271

business and in the care of his valuable farms,

of which he had a number. About the year

1837, he went into business with his uncle who
had a store in Delaware City, and continued
with him several years, after which he re-

was engaged in settling up his father’s estate
[
turned home and superintended his father’s

till 1858, when he went to St. Louis, where
j

farms. A large share of this landed property
for a time he engaged in mercantile business,

j
became his own on the death of his father, in

He afterwards resided in the central part of

Missouri till i860, when he returned home
and settled on the farm which he inherited

from his father, and where he now resides.

His farm contains 334 acres gf good land

mostly devoted to grain, and under a high

state of cultivation. Besides the home farm

he owns about one hundred acres, in two

tracts. He has a peach orchard of 2,000

trees, and an apple orchard. In 1866 he

rented his farm, and for three years engaged

in the manufacture of Agricultural implements

in partnership with P. L. Bonwill. Not meet-

ing with the success he expected, he resumed
farming, in which vocation he now occupies

the front rank. Formerly Mr. Roe was a

member of the Whig party, but has acted with

the Democratic party since 1862. In 1S64 he

was elected a member of the Levy court of

Kent county which office he filled acceptably

for four years. In 1878 he was appointed tax

collector for South Murderkill hundred, serving

for two years. Mr. Roe has been a member of

the Independent order of Odd Fellows since

1861. He was married in 1861 to Miss Kate,

daughter of Samuel and Sallie A. (Moore)

Harrington. They had one child Imogene
Roe. His wife died, July 27,1869. In 1S72 he

was again married to Miss Zella M., daughter

of Dr. S. P. Briggs of Millville N. J. He also

has one child by this marriage, William Stan-

ton Roe. Mr. Roe is one of the leading and
substantial men of Kent county, and highly

respected as a man and a citizen.

.OLK, CHARLES TATMAN, merchant

FIT'A
anc^ agriculturist, of Odessa, New Castle

)

county, was born in that county,Novem-
ber 18, 1818, being the youngest son of

n Polk, of whom an account is preserved

in this volume. During the childhood of Charles

Tatman Polk, his father removed to Odessa
On leaving school he assisted his father in

1852, and in the same year he was united in

marriage with Miss Sarah Eliza White, daugh-
ter of George White, a wealthy farmer near
Milford. He continued his interest in agri-

culture during the remainder of his life, mak-
ing of the pursuit a study and an art, and de-

voting to it the resources of his fine mind and
energetic nature. All the new and improved
methods, as they successively appeared, he
was one of the first to appreciate and under-
stand, and make use of, whenever practicable.

His judgment was rarely at fault, and being a

man of great enterprise and ability, his suc-

cess in any undertaking seemed assured from

its commencement. He was strictly honorable
and conscientious in all his dealings, and en-

joyed the fullest esteem and confidence of all

with whom he came in contact. Throughout
the State he was known and honored as one
of its most prominent and useful citizens. The
name of Polk, so wide-spread in the United
States, suffered no dishonor in this repre-

sentative of the family. Mr. Polk was a

Director in the Bank at Odessa, and one

of the incorporators. In early life he was an

old line Whig in politics, and was several

times a member of the State Legislature.

He was a strong union man during the

war, and in his later years a member of the

Republican party. For many years he was a

trustee of Drawyers Presbyterian church, and
one of its most devoted and useful members.
His four childred are, Cyrus, born in Odessa,

June 15, 1853, a successful farmer in the

vicinity of Middletown
;
George White, born

September 23, 1854, in the Phosphate business

in Odessa; Charles T., born March 27, 1856,

in the Commission business in Philadelphia;

and William, born November 19, 1857, also a

farmer near Middletown. Most exemplary in

all the relations of life, the character of

I

Mr. Polk never appeared to greater advantage

J

than in the home circle. He died in the

triumphs of the Christian faith on Saturday,

|

March 21, 1863.
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^jjd-ERKINS, WILLIAM CHARLES, M.

r|^D., of West Philadelphia, was born in

s ^Smyrna, Delaware, May 24, 1826. His

parents were Dr. John D. and Elizabeth

(Bradshaw) Perkins. A sketch of his father

will be found in this volume. Dr. Perkins re-

ceived his primary education at the public

schools and the academy at Smyrna, and was
prepared for college at the grammar school

attached to Dickinson College, Carlisle, Penn-

sylvania, then in charge of Rev. Levi Scott,

D.D., afterwards Bishop of the M. E. Church.

In October, 1841, he entered Dickinson Col-

lege, where he remained two years, after which

he commenced reading medicine in his father’s

office, in Smyrna. He matriculated at the

Jefferson Medical College, November 1, 1844,

and graduated M. D. with the class of 1847.

Dr. Perkins commenced the practice of his

profession in Smyrna, where be remained three

years, and in 1850, removed to Sassafras, Kent
county, Maryland. Here he continued for

seventeen years, and was very successful as a

physician, while he at the same time superin-

tended the culture of his large farm in that

vicinity. In December, 1867; he removed to

West Philadelphia, where he has since resided,

becoming one of the leading physicians and

surgeons of that city. During his residence

there he has witnessed the growth of the city

from a few scattered houses to a compact city,

extending more than a mile west of his house.

This fine property, which he purchased in 1877,

is No. 58 North 38th street. Dr. Perkins had

a desire to hold a diploma from the time-hon-

ored institution from wffiich his father graduated

and accordingly, in 1869, he also graduated

from the University of Pennsylvania. He has

since that time devoted himself most assidu-

ously to his calling, never turning aside for

the allurements of political honors, or for the

promise of wealth in other paths. The skill

to which he attained, and his devotion to, and

conscientious discharge of his duties were soon

recognized and appreciated, and gained him a

large practice. It has been of a general char-

acter, but many cases of special interest to

the profession have come under his treatment,

and he has published the history of a number

of these in the leading medical journals of the

country. Dr. Perkins is a man of high charac-

ter and enjoys a wide popularity, both as a

I

citizen and a physician. In 1876, his health

: having become much impaired by long and
close application to his professional duties, he

1 spent four months in Europe, traveling

through England, Ireland, Scotland, France

Switzerland and Italy. In politics he is not a

partisan, and votes for those whom he con-

|

siders the best men in either party. His

sympathies, however, incline him to the

Democratic side, and he was elected by that

party, in February, 187S, a school director for

’ eight years for the Twenty-fourth ward, in

|

which he lives. He was married, November

;
5. 1850, to Miss Susan A., daughter of J.Vesey

:
and Ann (Knowlar.d) Price, of Cecil county,

I Md. They have had no children.

p.f
Raymond, george henry, Presi-

vf'A dent of the Fruit Growers’ National
i Bank of Smyrna, was born in that town,

G / November 22, 1833. A sketch of his

father, Jacob Raymond, late president of the

Bank of Smyrna, precedes this. Mr. Raymond
attended the public schools of his native place

till 1846, when he was sent for four years to

' the excellent boarding and classical school of

Rev. Z. H. Mansfield, in Wilmington. At
the age of seventeen he returned to Smyrna,

; and, till he attained his majority, was a clerk

in the store of James L. Bewley, where he re-

ceived a thorough business training. He then

embarked in mercantile life in which he con-

tinued till March, 1861, since which time he

has not been in business. He became admin-

istrator of several estates, which occupied his

time for some years, and has also been much
occupied in the care of his own landed estate,

and that of his sister. In 1867 he was elected

to the House of Delegates of Delaware on the

Democratic ticket, and was one of the most

prominent and efficient members. He has

been for twelve years a member of the Board

of school commmissioners of the united dis-

tricts, Nos. 5 and 107, and was president of the

board for five years, resigning, July 1, 1881.

In the duties of this important office, he has

taken a deep interest, and devoted to them a

large share of his time. To him is chiefly due

the efficient and advanced condition of the

public schools of Smyrna, which will compare

[

favorably with any schools in the State. He
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was, in 1874, elected a Director, and in 1875,

was elected President of the Bank of Smyrna,
holding the position one year. In 187G, he

became one of the incorporators of the Fruit

Growers’ National Bank, which was then or-

ganized with eighty thousand dollars capital,

and of which he was made President, holding

this office to the present time. Mr. Raymond
was, from 1865 to 1870, a member of the Board

of Commissioners of the town of Smyrna, and

from 1866, was Secretary of the Board. It

was during that period that the Town Flail

was erected, and he was made chairman of the

building committee. Mr. Raymond has been

a prominent member of the Protestant Epis-

copal Church for many years, and was for

eight years a member -of the Diocesan Con-

vention. In 1874, he was elected one of the

lay delegates to the General Convention of

the Church, which sat in New York city, and

in 1877, was again elected to the General Con-

vention, which met that year in Boston. He
was married, April 23, i860, to Miss Caroline

J., daughter of the late Hon. D. A. J. Upham,
of Milwaukee, Wisconsin. They have had

four children
;
Alonzo Schutzenbach

;
Mary

Blackiston, who died in infancy
;

Laurence

Bewley.who died, April 14, 1S80, and Clarence

Blackiston Raymond.

OFLAND, HON. JAMES RUSH,
member of the forty-first Congress from

0 Delaware, was born in Milford, Nov-
ember 27, 1823. His father was Dr.

P. Lofland a leading physician of great

He was a student of the celebrated Dr.

of the city of Philadelphia. Dr. Lof-

land served several terms in the State Senate,

and was Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of

Masons of the State of Delaware. He was
very successful as a physician, and died greatly

1

respected in August, 1851. He married Miss !

Mary, daughter of Peter Lowber of Kent
county, who is still living, in the seventy-fifth

t

year of her age. James R. Lofland was the I

first child of his parents and was carefully
!

reared. He attended the Milford Academy 1

taught at that time by Rev. William Backus,
|

who, afterward, was a missionary to China.
1

He continued at this Academy until he was
j

seventeen years of age, when he was sent to
j

35

Delaware College at Newark and graduated
with great credit from that institution tn 1844.
He soon after commenced reading law with
Robert Frame of Kent county, who removed
to Wilmington before Mr. Lofland had finished

his legal studies. He then entered the office

of Martin W. Bates of Dover, and was admit-
ted to the bar in 1848. In 1849 he was elected

;

Secretary of the Senate of Delaware and
'served in that position until 1S51. He was
elected to the State Convention in 1852, called
for the purpose of amending the Constitution

I

°f the state, serving as a member of the Judi-

1

ciary Committee and taking prominent part in

the proceedings of that body. In 1855 he was
appointed Secretary of State by the Governor,

|

P. F. Causey, and served in that capacity for

four years with great honor to himself and
profit to the state. Fie was a strong supporter
of the party which nominated Bell and Everett
in 1S60, but on the breaking out of the war
Mr. Lofland placed himself with all his inter-

ests on the side of the Union, supporting the
<au liiiiiiSti cltiGn Ci President 3LmCO^ n warmlv

« >

using all his personal and social influence
' against secession. He was appointed in 1862
by Mr. Lincoln one of the Board of Visitors

to the United States Military Academy at

West Point, and though the youngest mem-
ber of that body he was made its Secretary.

In the autumn of 1862, desirous of serving his

country in the field, he became the Major of

the first Delaware Cavalry, of which Hon.
George P. Lisher was the first Colonel, but in

Lebruary, 1863, having been tendered by the

President the position of Paymaster with the

rank of Major of United States troops, he
accepted the appointment and reported at once
to Paymaster General Andrews, and was im-
mediatly ordered on duty at New Orleans.

Major Lofland arrived in that city May 3, 1S63,

and reported to Major Bringham, Paymaster
in charge, and served in the Gulf Department
until August, 1864. He was then relieved and
ordered to report to the Paymaster General at

Washington, and after a short leave of absence,

was ordered to Columbus,Ohio, for the purpose

of assisting in paying off volunteers whose
term of enlistment had expired. At the end
of a few days he returned to Washington as

his headquarters, and served as Paymaster in

the army of the James, that of the Potomac
and the army of the Shenandoah. In Sep-
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tember 1S64 he was again ordered to New
[

Orleans and upon his arrival there was sent
j

by the paymaster in charge to Vicksburg Miss,
i

as Post-paymaster. He remained at Vicks- :

burg for ten months being engaged in paying
;

off troops who were being mustered out of!

service. He then returned to New Orleans

and was engaged in paying off the troops in

M ississippi, Louisiana and Texas until 1867.

He had previously been brevetted Lieutenant

Colonel for faithful and meritorious service, and

his commission signed by President Lincoln.

The war now being ended,Colonel Lofland sent

in his resignation and returned to Milford.

He again resumed the practice of law and de-
j

voted his leisure time to agricultural pursuits.

In 1868 he was sent as a delegate to the Na-

tional Republican Convention at Chicago,

which nominated General Grant for President.

He served as chairman of the Delaware Dele-

gates in 1872 which renominated General

Grant as a candidate for a second term. In

the Autumn of 1872, Colonel Lofland was!

nominated as a candidate for Congress from
j

his State on the Republican ticket. He was
\

elected and served as a member of the forty-
j

first Congress. He was on the committee

!

of the District of Columbia, and was an ac-

tive and faithful representative. He was again
|

nominated by his party for a second term in
|

Congress, but was not elected. He was chair-
j

man of the Republican Delegation to Cincin-

nati National Convention in 1876 and voted

throughout for James G. Blaine as the Presi-

dential nominee. Colonel Lofland was also

chairman of the Delegates from Delaware to

the Convention at Chicago in 1880, and was

chairman of the Republican State Convention

the same year. He is a firm adherent of the

Republican party, and is at all times in-

terested in its success. He was married,May
27, 1852, to Miss Sallie B., daughter of Joseph

|

Brown Esq., of Philadelphia
;
his wife,however,

being a native of Kent county. One daughter

who was born in 1853, survives. She is the

wife of Mr. Joseph E. Bruff, a leading mer-

chant of Baltimore, Maryland

ROWN, ADOLPHUS, General Freight

and Passenger agent of the Junction and
j

Breakwater, the Breakwater and Frank-
j

ford, and Worcester railroads, was born
j

in Cumberland county, near Portland, Maine,

in 1824. His father was David Brown, a

farmer, an upright man and an a honest citizen,

who died at the age of fifty-seven years. He
married Miss Dorothy Pierce who died in 18S2.

Three children were born to them of whom
one alone, the subject of this sketch, survives.

The grandfather of Mr. Brown was Captain

David Brown, who commanded a company in

the battle at Concord, April 19, 1775. It is a

matter worthy of historical record that the

first blood shed in this engagement was on

the same day of the month as that shed in

Baltimore in the late war, and that in both

cases Massachusetts men gave their lives for

their country. Mr. Brown has in his posses-

sion the musket carried by his ancestor in the

battle of Concord. Major Butterick of the Rev-

olutionary war, was his maternal grandfather,

whose descendants still reside in Concord,

Massachusetts. Mr. Brown was reared

upon a farm and attended the school of

his native town six months of the year until

the age of eleven years. After that time only

three months of the twelve could be devoted

to study. When sixteen years of age he was

sent to a private school in Baldwin, Maine, for

one term each year, for three years. He then

taught in the Public Schools of Maine and Mas-

sachusetts, till thirty years of age, when, at the

solicitation of Judge Willard Hall, he took

charge of the Public School, No. 7, in Wil-

mington, Del. In 1856 he was employed by

the P., W. & B. Railroad and served as Gen-

eral Freight agent of the Delaware Division

for fourteen consecutive years. In 1870 Mr.

Brown went to New Orleans and served as

General Freight agent on the “ N. O., Jackson

and Great Northern Railroad This road was

then under the management of Col. H. S.

McComb, of Wilmington. In the capacity of

General agent he served for two years, and in

1S75 he assumed the agency of the several

railroads named at the head of this sketch.

These roads are operated in connection with

the Old Dominion Steamship Company. In

politics Mr. Brown is a Republican. He is

a gentleman of culture and wide information,

and an able, conscientious businessman. He was

united in marriage, October, 1863, to Miss

Elizabeth Stewart, of Wilmington. P'ive chil-

dren have been born to them, of whom Marion,

Stewart and Herbert, survive.
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OFLAND, DR. MARK GREER, son

of Dr. James P. Lofland and Mary his

wife, of Milford, was born in Milford,

\y May 17, 182Q, and died suddenly of par-

alysis at his residence December 4, 1881

leaving a wife, the daughter of Col. Henry B’

Fiddeman of the same place, and six children.

Dr. Lofland came of a race of doctors and

was, so to speak, a natural physician. After a

thorough training in the best schools the coun-

try possessed, he began his medical studies

under his father, the late Dr. James P. Lofland,

who, for thirty years, stood at the head of his

profession on this Peninsula. After due prep-

aration in the office of his father, he entered

the Jefferson Medical college in Philadelphia,

from which he graduated with high honors

after a three years’ course. But his father

dying on the very eve of his graduation, he, in

accordance with an oft expressed wish of his

father, continued his studies under the cele-

brated Drs. Milter and Pancoast, both of

whom bore high testimony to his fitness and
equipment for the arduous and responsible

profession to which he had devoted himself,

and it was the expressed wish of both that the

young graduate who had left college with

such high honors should remain in Philadel-

phia and there develop his rare professional

attainments. But the thought that his wid-

owed mother and younger brother would

need his care and attention, and a laudable

ambition to fill his Father’s place in the

community in which he was born, caused

him to disregard the flattering assurances of

his friends in Philadelphia and to settle at his

birthplace. Soon after he began practicing,

by his success he acquired the large and varied

practice of his father, and with truth may it be

said that the mantle of the father descended

upon no unworthy son. He was an enthusiast

in his profession and fully appreciated his

noble calling. He was singularly quick and
accurate in his diagnosis of a case

;
prompt to

act, almost unlimited in resourses, with a clear

judgment and steady nerve, he proved himself

eminent in his profession and a valuable

citizen in the community in which he lived

Dr. Lofland united to his professional acquire-

ments the accomplishment, rare among physi-

cians, of being an excellent nurse, and by his

kind and genial manner always carried a gleam

of sunshine into the chambers of sickness and
suffering. His practice was extensive and suc-

cessful
;
his skill and experience were at the

command of all, rich and poor, white and
black, the exalted and the lowly, who re-

ceived alike his faithful and unremitting ser-

vice, and many a tear bedimmed eye and aching

heart attested the high regard felt for him when
the Great Arbiter of the universe called him to

his home.

f% RIFF'ITH, IRVING GALBRAITH,
farmer of Bohemia Manor, was born

near Newark, March 13, 1833. He is

the son of Joseph (of whom see plate

and sketch in this volume) and Agnes (Adams)
Griffith. He was reared upon the home farm,

attending school at Jones’ School house near

his home, until fourteen years of age, when
for two years he was sent to Newark Academy,
then under the direction of Prof. William

Meigs. After leaving school he assisted upon

the farm for three years. At the age of twenty-

one he went to Baltimore county, Maryland,

and engaged in farming upon his own account,

which he continued for three years, when he

returned to Delaware. In 1857 he purchased

the farm known as “Bacon Hall,” formerly the

property of John M. Clayton, near the village

of St. Augustine, Maryland, where he now
resides. This farm contains three hundred and

ten acres of valuable land,and this year(iSSi)

over one hundred acres are devoted to wheat.

Mr. Griffith has been engaged in rearing sheep

for several years and has found them a good
investment. At one time he had some three

thousand peach trees in bearing, but now cul-

tivates but nine hundred, which have paid him
well. His attention has been devoted more
especially to stock and grain, and he has been

eminently successful as an agriculturist. Mr.

Griffith has been decidedly opposed to en-

trance upon political life and, though a Dem-
ocrat, is not a partizan. He is a member of

the M. E. Church, having joined that commu-
nion some years since, and has served as a

steward for two years past. He was married

December 15, 1858, to Miss Araminta Maria,

daughter of John and Caroline (Seamans)

Frazier, of Kent county, Maryland. Five

children survive of this marriage, viz : Caro-
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line S., now wife of Clayton E. Ellison, a

farmer of Cecil county, Maryland
; Joseph S.;

Irving G. Jr. ;
Harry M., and Elva S. Griffith.

u,
(

OLLINS, GOV. THOMAS, President,

Captain General, Governor and Com-
mander-in-chief of the State of Dela-

ys'
5

ware, Sheriff of Kent county, four years

a member of the Council, Brigadier General

of Militia from 1776 to 17S3, member of the

Assembly and Chief Justice of the Court

of Common Pleas, was of English lineage,

his ancestors having settled early in this

country. He received the best education

his locality afforded in his youth. His thirst

for knowledge was intense and his mind su-

perior, while his great benevolence and amiable

disposition, won him the affections of the

majority of his fellow-citizens, by whose suf-

frages he was elected to the office of High
Sheriff of Kent county, a post, at that early

period, of considerable honor and advantage.

After the expiration of his term of four years

he was successively delegated to the important

trust of a legislator till the Revolutionary war.

It was while thus serving his State, in 1773,

that he erected Belmont Hall, near Smyrna,

in which he resided the remainder of his life.

In 1776 Mr. Collins was appointed one of the

Council of Safety for the Delaware State, the

only executive power then in being, and after-

wards was chosen a member of the conven-

tion for the purpose of framing a new constitu-

tion, under the authority and auspices of

Congress. His next appointments were to

the chief command of one of the first regi-

ments of militia, and military treasurer for

the State. In the beginning of 1777, having

succeeded to the command of the county

brigade, General Collins led his native Militia

to the camp and head-quarters at Morristown,

New Jersey, and endured, in common with

his fellow-soldiers, all the fatigue and hard-

ship of that memorable campaign. During

the same year when the troops, under Sir

William Howe, passed through the upper part

of New Castle county, he commanded a small

army of observation and picket on the lines of

Maryland and Delaware, and so hung upon the

flank and rear of the enemy as to effectually

protect the country below from the ravages

of the marauders
;
all these military services

being at his own private cost. He was succes-

sively elected to the House of General As-
sembly and the Legislative Council, of which
last he was chosen speaker, continuing as such

until removed to the office of Chief Justice of

the Court of Common Pleas
;
and from thence

was, by the unanimous voice of both Houses
of Assembly, exalted to the presidency and

supreme command of the State. In this emi-

nent position he lived,without pride, governed

with ability, and died beloved and lamented,

March 29, 1789, at the age of fifty-seven. He
was a member of the P. E. church and the

principal contributor towards the building of

St Peter’s church at Duck Creek. Though his

salary as Co-mmander-in-chief was not large,

yet he resigned the emoluments arising from

marriage and tavern licenses (being part of

that salary equal to the yearly interest of

nine or ten thousand pounds,) to the use of

the State, to be applied to public and benevo-

lent purposes. He left a widow, a son and

three daughters to mourn his loss.

Mffl|cMULLEN ,
HENRY PI., United

States Marshal for the District of Dela-

ware, was born in New Castle county,

XjF September 25, 1831. His great grand-

father,Samuel McMullen, emigrated from Scot-

land about the middle of the eighteenth cen-

tury and settled near Glasgow in the province

of Delaware which was then attached to Penn-

sylvania and known as the three lower coun-

ties on the Delaware. The grandfather of our

subject, Robert McMullen, an only son, lived

and died in New Castle county, as did his only

son, Samuel McMullen, the father of Marshal

McMullen. The family have been chiefly de-

voted to agricultural pursuits, and greatly

respected in the community, never aspiring to,

and rarely accepting, public office. Mr. Mc-
Mullen was educated in the common schools

of his native county. His father died in 1S4.5,

when he was only in his fifteenth year, and he

was obliged to take upon himself the respon-

sibility of assisting his mother in managing

the affairs of the farm. He however continued

to attend school during the winter months,

until he reached his nineteenth year, when he

turned his entire attention to the farm of which
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he took sole charge upon attaining his major-
ity. At the death of his mother, Mary (Hugg)
McMullen, in 1760, he and a younger brother

inherited the paternal estate. That part which
fell to his share, still remains in his possession,

and he there resided until after his appoint-

ment as United States Marshal. He was
married, May 22, 1S61, to Eliza W., daughter

of Joseph S. Atkinson, Esq., of Philadelphia.

He has from his youth taken an active inter-

est in public affairs, and upon attaining his

majority was elected Road Commissioner of

his hundred, which position he held for four

years. In 1869, he was appointed Assistant

Assessor of Internal Revenue, by President

Grant, and continued to exercise the functions

of that office until it was abolished in 1871.

He was the Republican nominee for Sheriff of

New Castle county, in 1876, but shared the

general defeat of the ticket. April 27, 1878,

he was appointed United States Marshal, and

in 1882, was re-appointed by President Arthur.

He has discharged the duties devolving upon

him with rare fidelity, and without fear or favor,

securing the just commendation of the entire

community. Always a Whig and Republican

he has been an active and zealous partisan,

but has never failed in gentlemanly courtesy

towards his opponents. He ranks as one of

the leaders of his party in the state, and his

keen foresight and superior judgment are fully

recognized by all.

XffHILLIPS, WILLIAM SHARP, farmer,

i \
mill-owner ?nd ex-legislator, was born

YUq in Dagsborough hundred,Sussex county,

July 27, 1836, being the eldest son of

Joshua Phillips, who was occupied through

life as a farmer, mill-owner and manufacturer

of lumber, accumulating considerable property.

He died September 17, 1857, in the fifty-eighth

year of his age. His wife was Betsey, daugh-

ter of Wingate and Nancy Short. They had

six children who grew to maturity; William

S.; Elizabeths., who died in 1877, in her fifty-

fourth year
;
Joshua, a farmer

;
Spencer A., a

farmer and miller
;

Louisa, wife of Minos G.

Truitt, and John W. Phillips, a farmer and

miller. The grandfather of the subject of this

sketch, was Spencer Phillips, a farmer, and a

leading citizen of Sussex county. He was

277

: several times a member cf the Legislature,

and served also two terms as Justice of the

Peace, and was twice a member of the Levy
Court of his county. He possessed an estate of

seven hundred acres of land. He died December
^27, 1851, when in his seventy-ninth year. His

first wife was Elizabeth, daughter of William
I and Betsy Sharp, of Dagsborough hundred.

They had four children, who grew to maturity
;

Joshua, mentioned above
;
Nathaniel, a farmer,

' who died in 1S80, on his- seventy-seventh

birthday, leaving issue
;
Elizabeth, who mar-

!
ried Philip Truitt, and is now deceased; and

Spencer, a farmer and merchant of Phillips

Hill, Dagsborough,who died in 1845 at the age

of thirty-eight. Spencer Phillips married, sec-

ondly, -Eunice Givens, who is still living in her

ninety-fourth year. By her he had two sons

and four daughters. His father was John !

Phillips, a farmer, also born in Sussex county,
j

According to the family tradition two brothers
j

came from England and settled in North
j

Carolina, but one of them afterwards removed]

to Sussex county, Delaware, and from him

are descended the families there who bear his

name. John Phillips, the great-grandfather of

the subject of this sketch is believed to be the

son of the original emigrant to Delaware. Mr.

Phillips received a good English education in

the excellent public schools of his neigh-

borhood, which he attended regularly till

he was twenty years of age. He afterwards

studied surveying under William B. Ewing,

at Georgetown, and followed this vocation

for several years. He was also at the

same time, from 1847, engaged in teaching.

In 1855 he entered the store of Levin and

Samuel B. Hitch, at Laurel, with whom he

remained till the death of his father. He then

returned home and took charge of the estate,

remaining till 1867. In 1863 he opened a store

for general merchandise at Phillips' Hill, half

a mile from the old homestead, in which he

did a prosperous business till 1869, when he

sold it out. At the same time he was largely

engaged in the manufacture and sale of lum-

ber, having a mill on his land. The estate

left by his father comprised twenty-five hun-

dred acres of land, which at the time of his

death was a forest. Mr. Phillips and his

brothers cleared, drained and improved this

land and now have it in a good state of culti-

vation. Mr. Phillips is an enterprising and
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leading agriculturist of Sussex county. He
owns six farms,aggregating eight hundred and
eighty-two acres of land, in Uagsborough hun-
dred, which he keeps well improved, devoting
them mostly to wheat and corn. He is a gen-
tleman of intelligence and culture and is widely
respected. He was reared an old time Whig-
and has been a republican since the organiza-
tion of that party in Delaware. He strongly

supported the government during the war and
has been active and influential in public mat-
ters for many years. He was elected to the

Legislature in i860, and served during the reg-

ular session of 1861, and the called session of

1S62, with great credit to himself and satisfac-

tion to his constituents. In 1863 he served as

enrolling officer of Dagsborough hundred. Mr.
Phillips was elected a director of the Break-
water and Frankford railroad in 1872, and has
held that position to the present time. The
family are attached to the P. E. church.

|ECK, SAMUEL LYMAN, farmer, near

Felton, was born in Colerain, Frank-

ij n county. Massachusetts, November
28, 1817 ;

being the eldest child of

Samuel and Sarah (Wilson) Peck. His father

was brought up on a farm, but was a natural

mechanical genius, an inventor, and was the

originator of many ingenious devices and pat-

ents that came into general use. He was a

Lieutenant in the war of 1812, and was three

times married. By his first wife, Sarah Wilson,

he had four sons and five daughters, by his

second wife one son
;

also by his third wife

one son. His father was Abraham Peck, born

in Coleraine, and also died there at the age of

sixty-four. His wife was Arathusa Bullard, of

English origin. The father of Abraham Peck

lived to be over ninety years of age. He was

one of three brothers who came from England

early in the eighteenth century, and settled,

one in Massachussetts, one in Vermont, and one

in New Hampshire. Mr. Peck had in his child-

hood the advantages of the good common
schools of his native State, but the family

removing when he was eleven years old, to

Luzerne, Pennsylvania, his opportunities after

that were few. On reaching manhood he en-

gaged in the flouring-mill business. He was

also interested in a sash factory, and later

owned, conjointly with his brother, two stores
: one at Peckville, and one at Oliphant, Pennsyl-

i

vania. He was very enterprising, a man of
large business views, and conducted his

;

affairs with so much judgment as to make
!

them all successful. In 1866 he sold out his

interest in his various lines of business, re-

taining his landed property, and moved to

the vicinity of Felton, Del. There he pur-
chased a farm of four hundred acres, on which
he has since resided. It was then worn out
land, a desert sand forest. He at once com-
menced to enrich and improve it, and it is now
in a good state of cultivation : more can be
raised on one acre than formerly on ten He
has had ten thousand peach trees at one time,

but now has only four thousand. He has six

acres in grapes and berries, but devotes his

farm principally to raising wheat and corn. He
has sixty head of stock. Mr. Peck has never
been very active in political matters. He
came of a Whig family, and has been a Repub-
lican since the organization of that party, and
a strong Union man. He is master of ihe

County Grange of the Patrons of Husbandry
;

is one of the leading farmers of his county,

and active and influential in all measures to

advance the agricultural interests of the state.

He united with the Presbyterian church in

1833, but his parents were Congregationalists.

He was ordained a ruling Elder in 1849. He
has been a Trustee of the Presbyterian church

in Felton for ten years. Mr. Peck was married

in 1848, to Miss Harriet Wilson, of Colerain,

Massachusetts. Of her three children, only

one, Charles Wilson Peck, survives. She died

January I, 1865. Mr. Peck was married again,

March 22, 1866, to Miss Hester A., daughter

of Joshua and Theresa (Tilberry) Pugh. Mr.

Pugh was from Connecticut, and in his daugh-

ter are conspicuous, the mind, character and ex-

ecutive ability, for which the women of New
England have so long been famed. There are

three children living of this marriage
; John

Lyman, Robert and Mary Lillian.

YffiREEN ,
REV - DANIEL, Teller of New-

port National Bank, was born in Kent
county, December 5, 1838. His father

X? was James P. Green, a farmer of that

county
;
he died January 7, 1S55. His mother,
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before marriage, was Hester Ann, daughter of

Tilghman Conley, of the same county. The
tamily on both sides were among the early

settlers of the State, and both grandfathers

were leading and official members of the M.
E. Church. The subject of this sketch received

his early education at the common schools of

his vicinity. In the spring of 1 S 5 7 he entered

the Fairfield Seminary, Herkimer county, New
York, where he continued for three years.

After leaving school in 1861, he engaged in

teaching at Moorton. In June of 1862, he en-

listed in the Fourth Regiment, Delaware

Volunteers, under command of Colonel A. H.

Grimshaw. He was known as a brave man
and an excellent soldier. He was in the battles

of Chickahominy in 1863, at Bethesda Church,

and Cold Harbor, and was severely wounded
by the loss of a limb in the action before

Petersburg, June 19, 1864. He was mustered

into the service as sergeant of Company G.,

Captain VV. PI. McGarey, commanding, who
was killed in action about the close of the

war. Sergeant Green was taken to the hos-

pital where he remained for one year, and was

urged to become chaplain of his regiment after

his discharge from the hospital. Mr. Green
has been a member of the M. E. Church since

his eighteenth year, and has been an office-

bearer a greater portion of the time. He was
ordained a Local Minister and Deacon of the

M. E. Church by Bishop Scott, at the Confer-

ence at Dover, March 18, 1871. He was ap-

pointed Teller of the Newport National Bank,

August 28, 1865, and has acted in that capa-

city with much credit and success, up to the

present time. Mr. Green is a faithful and ex-

perienced officer, a christain gentleman, and

enjoys the respect and confidence of all who
know him. His services are greatly sought

after as a preacher, and his life is one of marked
usefulness in the community. He was married,

September 13, 1870, to Miss Mary Drusilla,

daughter ofJoseph Kilgore, Esq., and a sister of

Rev. Dr. Kilgore, of the M. P. Church. Two
children have been born of this marriage, only

one of whom is living, Mary Watson Green.

ODWIN, SAMUEL PAYNTER,of the

firm of Wood, Marsh & Co., Market
street, Philadelphia,was born in Milford

on the 16th day of October, 1828.

Delaware has sent many of her sons to other

States, and the story of their lives, were they

written, would show a record of which the

State would be justly proud. The subject of

this sketch is one among a multitude of such

now beyond her limits, reflecting credit on the

the State in which they were born. His father

was Rev. Daniel Godwin, a local preacher of

the Methodist church for over half a century.

He died in Milford, in the ninety-second year

of his age. He was a man of genial, Christian

character, and widely known and respected,

having, during a long life, won and retained

the high appreciation of a large circle of

friends. His mother was Elizabeth, daughter

of Nehemiah and Rachel Davis of Prime

Hook. They were among the early Metho-
dists of Delaware. She died in the 80th

year of her age. The grandfather of Samuel
P. Godwin, was a Marylander by birth and

came from Talbot county to Delaware in

early life. Mr. Godwin’s early education was
received at the old Masonic Academy in Mil-

ford, under the direction of Rev. Grin R.

Howard and Alfred Emerson, but his atten-

dance was discontinued at twelve years of age.

Early inclined to mercantile pursuits, he at

that early period came to Philadelphia and

entered the store of Messrs. McNeil & Moore,

No. 23, North 3d street, and continued with

this firm four years, until their retirement from

the business. He, at the age of sixteen years,

was employed by the firm of Vogel & Virden

as book-keeper, continuing with them until

1848, when he returned to Milford, Delaware,

and entered into business with his father and

brother Daniel : the firm name being Godwin
& Co. Mr. Godwin here joined the order of

Odd Fellows, and the organization, conscious

of his worth and abilities, successively elected

him to high positions of honor and trust until

he filled the position of Deputy Grand Master

of the State of Delaware. He also attached

himself to the order of masons, and was made
a member of Temple Lodge A. Y. M., Milford.

In the spring of 1851, releasing himself from

business in his native town, he returned to

Philadelphia, and connected himself with the

firm of Hamman, Snyder and Co., where he

remained until 1857, when he entered the old

and well known house of Atwood & Co., and

in the autumn of 1861, became connected with

the oldest wholesale dry goods house in Phila-
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delphia. It was then known as Wood, Marsh
and Hayward, and since then, as Wood,
Marsh & Co. In this firm he has been ever
since. Mr. Godwin, though known as a lead-
ing business man, is still more widely known
for his philanthropy. He is a man of wide,
Christian and humanitarian sympathies, and his

readiness to afford counsel and substantial help
to the inebriate, the poor, and even the out-
cast, have occasioned his being prominent in

many of the eleemosynary institutions for

which Philadelphia is famed. In the cause of

temperance, as identified with Christianity, he
has been an able, eloquent and successful

worker. By addresses delivered on this sub-
j

ject in Delaware, Maryland, Virginia, New i

Jersey, New York, as well as in Pennsylvania,
he has become very widely known. In 1872,

being deeply impressed with the thought that

a home for those who wished to reform and
j

abandon intoxicating drinks, would greatly as-

sist these unfortunates, he joined with others

in providing the Franklin Reformatory Home,
of Philadelphia. It is locate^ a^ ^ * t t nnri

15 Locust street, houses which were formerly

quite aristocratic private residences. This
institution, of which Mr. Godwin has been
President from its foundation, has up to this

time (1882) cared for more than 1,600 unfortu-

nate ones and their families. The property is

owned by this society, and the home is capa-

ble of caring for seventy persons at a time,

within its walls. It has been not only a suc-

cess in financial management, but its influence

in permanently reforming the man given to his

cups, is well known to-day on both sides of
j

the Atlantic. Beside these, Mr. Godwin holds

official position in many other societies and

churches. He is one of the Vice Presidents !

of the Bedford Street Mission, of Philadelphia,

whose work is among the miserable outcasts
j

of the city, and is also Vice President of the
j

Philadelphia Society for the suppression of the

Sunday liquor traffic, and Vice President of the

society to prevent cruelty to children. The
motto of the Franklin Reformatory Home,
“ By the Grace of God I am what I am,” seems

not less the sentiment of Mr. Godwin's exper-

ience than that of his personal history. At
twelve years of age he joined the M. E. Church

in his native town, and on coming to Philadel-

phia, became a member of the class led by

Solomon Townsend, in the Union M. E. Church,
(

Fourth street. In 1859, he felt it his duty to

connect himself with St. Andrew’s Protestant
Episcopal Chuch, and was a member of its

Vestry for many years, as well as teacher of a
young man’s Bible class numbering at one time
as many as 240 members. He has taken great
pleasure in serving as a vestryman in many of
the humbler churches of Philadelphia, among
the colored people as well as those of the
whites. He is now a member of St. Luke’s
Church, (Rev. Dr. Currie, Rector,) and to its

services himself and family are greatly attached

;

he being what is known as a Lay-reader in that
communion. In politics, though possessed of
positive opinions, he has been conservative,
never either being a strong partisan or desir-

ing political office. Mr. Godwin was united in

marriage with Miss Emma G., daughter of the
late John Eisenbry, Esq., of Philadelphia,

December 16, 1857, the ceremony being per-
formed in Grace P. E. Church, Philadelphia.
Two children have been born to them of this

marriage, Annie E. and W. Harrison Godwin.

ARSHALL, AARON, born at Lewes,
December 30, 1790, was a merchant in

the village of Milton, Sussex county.

VCF* He was also extensively engaged in

shipping, principaly grain and iron ore to

Philadelphia and New York. The bog ore of

Sussex county is the best found in the United
States, the mining of which from the early

settlements to the first part of the nineteenth

century constituted a large and important

industry. Mr. Marshall was a light horse-

man, in the war of 1S12, and assisted in the

defense of Lewes. In politics he was an Old
Line Whig. During the Reform movement, in

1S38, he was a member of the Legislature.

Later in life he joined the Republican party,

and voted for Mr. Lincoln. He owned slaves

but manumitted them at the commencement of

the troubles in 1861, making the sacrifice freely

from love to his country. Mr. Lincoln appointed

him Collector of Customs at Lewes, in 1862.

Mr. Marshall was brought up among the Meth-
odists, but became a Presbyterian and was an

Elder in that church. He was a true Christian,

an honorable man and universally respected.

He married Jane Paynter. He died February

28, 1865, at the age of seventy-five.
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(^ K INNER, ROBERT H, A M„ Prin -

1

c *pal °f the Wilmington Conference;

( Academy at Dover, was born October,
Ov

,

23, 1S37, in Queen Anne’s county, Md.
;

(srJ His father, Richard W. Skinner, was a

farmer of that locality. Mr. Skinner was
i

educated at Port Edward Collegiate Insti-

tute, in Washington county, New York. On
the breaking out of the rebellion, he entered

Company D, of the 77th regiment, New York
Volunteers, mustered at Saratoga, served with

McClellan throughout the Peninsular cam-

paign, and took part in all the great bat-

tles before Richmond. He was also in the

second battle of Bull Run, and at South

Mountain and Antietam. In the last, Sep-

tember 17, 1S62, he received a severe gunshot

wound which disabled him from further service,

lie enlisted as a private soldier, but in nine

months rose to the rank of Second Lieutenant,

and was, at the time of his injury, serving as

commanding officer of company H. On re-

turning to civil life, Mr. Skinner married Miss

Anna Mast, of Lancaster county, Pa. and settled

on a farm near Greensboro, Md. In 1866 he re-

moved to Felton, and opened a seminary of

learning. In 1S75 he was called to the posi-

tion of Vice-Principal of the Wilmington
Conference Academy, at Dover, and in 1878

was elected Principal of the same institution.

This school Mr. Skinner has made a decided

success. He is popular with the students and

the people, and is a man of high character and

excellent executive and administrative ability.

p. ROWN, JOHN R., Dentist of Wilming-

ton, was born in New Garden Town-

^ ship, Chester county, Pa., April 16, 1839.

His parents were Thomas IT, and

Martha Matilda (Ray) Brown His father was

a merchant-miller and country store-keeper

for many years, in the village of Landenburg,

and vicinity. His son, John R., received his early

education at the public schools of that locality,

spending some years at Hopewell Academy in

the same county. His proficiency was not

remarkable, in fact his mind, now so keen,

ready and active, did not seem to wake up till

brought into contact with the sharp competi-

tions of life. Leaving school when past six-

teen years of age he entered his father’s store

36
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and remained till he was eighteen, when he
went to learn his profession, paying one hun-
dred and fifty dollars for his instructions, also

pa)-ing for his board and purchasing his own
material. His instructor was Dr. John Ander-
son of Kennett Square. This gentleman, a

blacksmith originally, was a natural mechanical

genius. Taking up the art and science of den-

tistry, he become very eminent and the teacher

of many of the most celebrated professors,

men who were the creators of dental science.

He was the originator of the stamped plate,

which was at that time generally adopted.

Under his careful and thorough training young
Brown, himself a natural mechanic, made rapid

progress. He spent his time not so much in

reading as in unremitting endeavors to acquire

skiil and dexterity in the art. Completing his

course of study he settled, when only nineteen,

in his native place, where, by hard work and
faithful attention to business, he gained a good
practice. After two years he concluded to

seek a larger field and removed to New Cas-

tie, Delaware, whcic he remained three years;

gaining a good and lucrative practice. At the

end of this time the confinement necessary to

his business becoming irksome, he was induced

to join his father in the milling business, to

which his mechanical turn of mind seemed
particularly well suited. After continuing in

this for some years with varied success, he

again took up his legitimate calling to which

he now brought well formed business habits

and a mind improved and awakened by con-

tact with a sharp business community. He
found that great advances had been made in

dentistry, and that to take the position he

desired would require much hard study. But

determined to place himself in the very front

ranks, he applied himself with unremitting

zeal. He read the best journals and all the

most valuable dental literature. His memory
was retentive, and having thoroughly mastered

the fundamental principles during the former

years, he had a good foundation on which to

build. He gave himself wholly to his work,

not sparing any pains or trouble to please and

satisfy his patrons, and gained his reward in

an extensive practice. The beauty, strength

and durability of his work was soon recog-

nized, while his high character and genial

manners made him hosts of friends. While he

has no superior as an operative dentist, the



-



282 HISTORY OF DELAWARE.

skill and success of Ur. Brown in the mechani-

cal department is unsurpassed. In that per-

haps is his specialty. He keeps himself well

abreast with every advance of dental science,

and his success is a happy illustration of what
years of devotion to a profession can accom-
plish. Now in the ripeness of his manhood he

is in the zenith of his popularity, and his pro-

fessional standing is unquestioned in the city

which he has chosen for his home. Such is

his mechanical genius that he seems to be able

to make anything however delicate or difficult

in the most artistic manner. Dr. Brown was

married, in 1859, to Miss Francis E., daughter

of the late James Draper of New Castle, a

lady of fine appearance, and of very superior

social attainments. They have three children,

Lulu Elma, Harry Elmer and John Draper

Brown.

Cc\s

LLMOND, JOHN BECKWITH, Mer-

chant and ex-Mayor of Wilmington,

u.auuj ,..uv. uu ..

(Fas the ninth ward of that city. May 6,

1835. His ancestors, a hardy and long lived

race, of French origin, have for many genera-

tions been residents of this state, having set-

tled early in the eighteenth century upon ex-

tensive tracts of land along the Delaware river

between Edgemoor and the Philadelphia turn-

pike. His great grandfather attained the ex

treme age of ninty-six, and his father,Wm. All-

mond,is now living at the age ofeighty-six. His

mother was Phcebe (Jefferis) Allmond. He at-

tended in his boyhood the village academy, and

later the Friends’ school, where he acquired a

good English education. Having a great fond-

ness for the sea, as soon as he was large enough

to be so employed, he spent his summers in the

coast service, continuing his studies during

the winter. At the age of seventeen he bound

himself for a four years apprenticeship to Mr.

Gregg Chandler to learn the wood turning

business. When he had served three years

and mastered his trade, he bought the remain-

ing year, and also purchased the interest and

business of Mr. Chandler, and at the age of

twenty-one commenced life for himself. He
met with good success, but at the end of a

year sold out and engaged in the grocery bus-

iness, in which he has continued to the present

time with constantly increasing prosperity.

Mr. Allmond is o'ne of the most popular, en-

terprising, and public spirited citizen of Wil-
mington, and has acquired a wide influence in

' public affairs. In March, 1869, he secured the

incorporation, by the Legislature, of the Bran-

i
dywine Loan Association, the object of which

|

was to enable men of limited income to secure

|

for themselves a home by the payment of a

j

small monthly stipend. The duration of the
1 association being limited to ten years, it closed

its existence in April, 1879. During the entire

period Mr. Allmond was its president, filling

the office with great credit to himself and ben-

efit to the association, by whose beneficent oper-

ations, many now possess homes who could not

have secured them without its agency. Since

1856 Mr. Allmond has been a member of the ma-
sonic fraternity and is Past Grand Secretary and
Past Grand Master of the Grand Lodge. He
early became deeply interested in securing the

erection of the Masonic Temple, laboring in-

cessantly and with much influence for that

result, till finally the efforts of himself and
j ii-oo,uuu

now possess one of the most magnificent

structures in the State. He was chairman of

the committee on Plans, and also one of the

Building Committee. In 1S77 he was elected

by the Legislature a member of the Board of

Construction for the completion of the Cool

Spring Reservoir, which is one of the great

public works of the city and the pride of its

people. In September 1878, he was elected

Mayor of Wilmington by a larger majority

than was ever given to an incumbent of that

office since the city was incorporated. His

popularity is well demonstrated in the vote

for his nomination, which was more than one

thousand over all his competitors. In the

winter of 1881 his term of office and that of

the other city officers, was extended by the

Legislature to July, 1882. His administration

was signalized by an able management of

municipal affairs and by a firm adherence to

the principles of his party. Mr. Allmond was
married June 24, 1856, to Miss Sarah M.,

daughter of Moses and Mary Palmer of Bran-

dywine village, prominent and highly respec-

ted members of the Society of Friends. Mr.

and Mrs. Allmond have had ten children, of

of whom seven are now living: Mary, William

Stewart, John P., Charles M., Hettie P., Sallie

M., and Florence Allmond.
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<^?i 0NDER - HON. JOHN, formerly a

Merchant and Vessel Owner of Milton,
E

.^4' was born on the Ponder farm, one mile

ysyV northwest of that village, in August,
S A
c 1791

.

His father, James Ponder, was

a large farmer and land owner of Broadkiln

hundred, Sussex county. He married Miss

Sarah Warren of Cedar Creek hundred. The
father of James Ponder was John Ponder,

who patented the family estate, now in the

possession of Governor Ponder, and was the

first of his name who came to Delaware,

removing probably from Virginia. He was

of English origin. The subject of this sketch

was the only son of his parents. He had

three sisters
;

Eleanor, who married John

Rowland, a farmer of Sussex county, whoes

sister was the wife of Governor Samuel Payn-

ter ;
Elizabeth, who married Rev. S. Ferry

of the Presbyterian church, and Mary, who

married Mr. John Gray, and in 1842 re-

moved tQ Iowa. Mr. Ponder received a good '

common school education, living on hie !

father’s farm until the age of eighteen, when

he became a clerk in the store of Major

John Hazzard, father of the late Governor

Hazzard. In the war of 1812 he served the
;

cause of his country, and received land

warrants in reward for his services. After

this he formed a partnership with Mr. Arthur

Milby in the general merchandise business,

connecting with it the purchase and shipping

of iron ore. This ore was obtained at a dis-

tance of from six to twelve miles from

Milton, from which point thousands of tons

were shipped each year, principally to the,

furnaces of Milville, Great Egg Harbor and

other places in New Jersey. The firm of Mil-

by and Ponder owned several vessels which

they used in their trade. They dealt also in

lumber, grain, wood and quercitron bark, used

in tanning and coloring. This partnership,

which continued for a number of years, was

dissolved in 1830, after which Mr. Ponder con-

ducted the business in his own name till 1843,

when his son, afterwards Governor Ponder,

was taken into partnership. This continued

till Mr. Ponder's death, in [863, a period of

twenty years. He was very successful as a

business man and accumulated a large personal

and landed estate. He was also a man ex-

tremely popular with all classes, and was

called to serve in various public positions of

trust. In politics he was always a Democrat
and an enthusiastic friend and admirer of Gen.

Andrew Jackson, and his administration. He
served several times as Levy Court Commis-
sioner of Sussex county, and in 1852 was

elected State Senator from that county, serving

in the sessions of the four years following.

He was a Vestryman and a Warden in the

St. Matthews Protestant Episcopal Church in

Cedar Creek. In 1816 he married Miss Hester

Milby, a niece of his partner in business, and

daughter of Captain Nathaniel Milby of Indian

River hundred, the master of a coasting

vessel,and who died of Yellow Fever at Ports-

mouth, Virginia, where he is interred. Mrs.

Ponder died in 1827, leaving an infant of less

than a month—who also died—and two chil-

dren, James, afterward Governor Ponder, and

Anna, now Mrs. Chancellor Saulsbury. Mr.

Ponder died of paralysis when in his seventy-

second year.

’aREY, ABSALOM PIALLOCK, Far-

mer and Fruit Grower of Camden, was

'W bom in Orange county, New York, July

30, 1831. His father, Absalom Carey, a

farmer, was born in the same place in 1802.

In January, 1832, he moved to Chemung county,

in the same State, in which place his son grew

to maturity. Absalom Carey married, in 1827,

Elizabeth, daughter of Zebulon and Bethiah

(Booth) Hallock. Zebulon was born in 1767,

and his wife in 1765. His father, also named

Zebulon, was born in 1727, and his wife Eliza-

beth, 1745. The Hallocks were originally from

England and among the early settlers of New
England. General Hallock was from this stock.

The paternal grandfather of the subject of this

sketch, who also bore the name of Absalom,

was a native of Orange county, N. Y., from

which place he removed to Chemung, where

he died at the age of eighty. He was a lineal

descendant of Sir Robert Carey of England,as

was also the father of Alice and Phoebe Carey

the celebrated poetesses. Absalom H. Carey

attended the common schools, and for two

years the academy at Factory ville. In 1848

he went to work in a nursery, and was shortly

made collector and financial agent of the busi-

ness. In 1851 he visited the Western States in

the interest of his employers, and purchased

land in La Crosse, Wisconsin, with a view to
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establish a nursery there, but on his way back

he was captivated with the wonderful accounts,

then just received, of gold discoveries in Aus-
tralia, and embarked with three hundred and

sixty-four others, on the second ship that ever

sailed from New York for the Australian gold

fields. Arriving in Melbourne, August io, 1852,

he spent a few months in mining at Ballarat,

after which he opened a boarding house at the

mines which succeeded well. The next year

he, with another man, built the United States

Hotel, then the largest and finest on the gold

field, in which they were prospered
;
but in

1855 it was burned, and all that he had made
in the three years was swept away. Greatest

kindness, however, was shown them
;
friends

helped them most generously, and the house

was rebuilt. This enterprise Mr. Carey con-

siders the greatest success of his life, and

the personal regard and consideration then

evinced toward him is a source of great pride

and pleasure with him yet to recall. But his

health failed after three years more of hard

work and confinement, and for two years he

turned his attention to buying and exporting

wool to England. During all this time he had

still much to do with mining, and upon the

discovery of gold in New Zealand, he disposed

of his business and went to that island. Here

he erected the Commercial Hotel and Amer-
ican Bowling Saloon, and made money rapidly.

In August, 1S64, he sold out and started for

home by the way of Sidney, New South Wales.

Reaching San Francisco, he traveled some-

time in California, and bought an interest in

the celebrated silver mine, “Yellow Jacket.”

He arrived in New York by way of the Isth-

mus, July 30, 1865, landing at the same wharf

from which he had embarked, in March, 1832.

Finding now that the climate of his native

state was too severe, he removed to Delaware,

and purchased the farm on which he has since

resided, and which he has greatly improved

and enriched. It is devoted to fruit, of which

he has all the varieties in the greatest profusion.

In 1865 he bought another large farm, which

is also devoted largely to fruit, and he has be-

side given much attention to the nursery busi-

ness. He is, moreover, interested to a very

considerable extent, in blooded cattle. He
purchased Jersey stock at considerable cost,

and has now a fine herd. He has all the im-

proved dairy conveniences, and his butter is of

the best. He is very successful in his under-

takings
;

is fair and upright in all his dealings, i

and highly esteemed. In politics he has

always been a Republican, and in the war was
deeply interested in the success of the Union
cause. His father and three brothers were in the

northern army. He was made a Mason in

1862, in Queenstown, New Zealand, and in

i860, had become a member of the Ancient

Order of Foresters. When lie left the above

country he was Past Chief Ranger, the highest

office in the order. He brought with him a

certificate, numerously signed, attesting the

high esteem in which he was held as a member,
and also as a citizen. Mr. Carey married at

Ballarat, January 6, 1855, Miss Dorette Hahn,

a native- of Hanover, Germany. They have

had eleven children. The three eldest, one

son and two daughters, born in Australia, died

in New Zealand, of diphtheria, in March, 1861.

Wilhelmina, Clutha and Matalana Elizabeth,

were born in Queenstown. The others born

in Delaware, are Albert, Marianna Dorette,

Charles Otto.F'anny Julianna, Edith Eliza, and

Robert Absalom. Mr. and Mrs. Carey united

with the Baptist Church, in Wyoming, in 1872,

and in 1875 Mr. Carey was elected a deacon.

MITH, CAPT. RICHARD E., of Mid-

«
dletown, was born in Wilmington, Octo-

ber 28, 1828. His father was John

Smith, a member of Captain David C-

Wilson’s Company of Wilmington, and served

jn the war of 1812
;
and died in 1840, aged 45

years. His mother, who is still living, now in

her 78th year, was Miss Anna Maria, daughter

of Richard and Anne Bradshaw. Anna Brad-

shaw was the daughter of Wm. Short, who

served in the Continental Army, and distin-

guished himself for brave conduct in the battle

of Brandywine. The father of John was

Thomas Smith, who married Miss Hannah

Kirk. His paternal ancestors were among the

early settlers of this State: his maternal,

among those first coming to Maryland under

Lord Baltimore. The subject of this sketch,

after attendance upon school, at 16 years of

age learned the trade of coach and orna-

mental painting. He married in August, 1S55,

Miss Emeline Brown of Woodstown, New

Jersey. He continued to work at his trade
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until 1857, when, his health failing, upon the

recommendation of Ids physician, he traveled

through several of the western States. On
his return he located in Middletown, New-

castle County. The Delaware Railroad was

then completed as far as Dover, and Mr.

Smith started the railroad restaurant at Mid-

dletown, which he has conducted successfully

up to the present time. When the Rebellion

commenced and Fort Sumpter was fired on in

April of [861, his patriotic feelings were

aroused, and he took a decided and uncom-

promising stand for the Government. He was

the first man in his community to hoist the

stars and stripes, and this act was one of great

daring in a community, many of w-hose lead-

ing men were out-spoken sympathizers with

the South. Among these sympathizers were
j

some of the baser sort, who, by threats and
|

bravado, tried to suppress the exhibition of

every patriotic declaration. They threatened

with death any one who should rear aloft the

ensign the United States. Mr. Smith se-

cured a suitable pole, had it set up before his

door, and from it, hoisted by his own hands,

floated the emblem of unity and freedom.

Soon it was observed and crowds gathered to

tear it from the flag-staff. Mr. Smith with his

double-barreled gun, heavily charged, stood

by the flag-pole, and with a face and manner
that showed he was in deadly earnest, told the

crowd that he defied them, and pointing to the

flag said, '‘the man who attempts to haul

it down, dies." By his previous gentlemanly

conduct he had become much respected, and

now by his firm stand he developed the latent

sentiment of Unionism in that community.

No hand was found daring enough to attempt

the work of removing from before Richard E.

Smith’s door the emblem of our nation’s sov-

ereignty. In the autumn of 1861, he com-
menced to recruit volunteers for the Govern-

ment. In April, 1862, was mustered into the

three years’ service as first Lieutenant in the

3rd Regiment of Delaware Volunteers, (Infan-

try). He served in all the campaigns in which

his regiment was engaged, until 1S64, when
he received an appointment on the staff of

General E. B. Tyler. On the 15th of Sep-

tember of that year, so great was his appre-

ciation of the services rendered by him, that

the General addressed a letter to Gov. Win,
Cannon of Delaware asking that he interest
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himself to secure his promotion to a higher
rank. This letter is dated as above from
Headquarters of First Separate Brigade and
was accompanied by a letter from Colonel
Crane, Chief Commissary of Subsistence, eighth
army corps, urging the claims of Lieutenant
Smith to the rank of Captain and Commis-
sary of Subsistence. Such had been the ser-

vice rendered by him during the trying times
of the rebel raids, as to enlist the hearty efforts

of his superior officers in his behalf as a tes-

timonial of their appreciation At the battle of

Monocacy he served as volunteer aid on the

staff of General Lew Wallace. He rejoined

his regiment in November. 1864, then lying in

front of Petersburg, and at the close of the

war was mustered out, April 2, 1865. Cap-
tain Smith on his return to civil pursuits be-

came active in political affairs as an outspoken
Republican. He was sent as a delegate to the

soldiers and sailors’ convention held in Chicago,

which nominated General Grant for President.

He served also as delegate to the National

Republican Convention of 1872, held in Phila

delphia. He is now (18S2) a member of the

Republican State Central Committee of Dela-
ware, and also of the New Castle County Re-
publican Committee. In 1869, he began to

interest himself, as a land owner, in agriculture

and in fruit-growing. He is the owner of 7S7

acres of valuable land in Chapel district, Tal-

bot county, Md., in three farms, devoted to

grain and peaches. His farms are in a high

state of cultivation, and he has found fruit-

growing a paying interest and owing to care

and attention, his orchards and lands have not

failed to bring him in a good income each

year. Mr. Smith is, in the best sense, a self-

made man, and by uprightness and integrity in

his intercourse with all, has secured a place of

high consideration in the esteem of the com-
munity.

ORSEY, HON. OUTERBRIDGE, a

native of Delaware, was born in 1777.

After completing his classical education,

he studied law under James A. Bayard,

and rose to eminence in his profession. He
was for many years Attorney General of the

State, and was a Senator in Congress, from

Delaware, from r8io to 1821. He died at

Needwood, Maryland, June 9, 1842.
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